Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445 Álvaro Rocha Ana Maria Correia Hojjat Adeli Luis Paulo Reis Marcelo Mendonça Teixeira *Editors*

New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies



Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing

Volume 445

Series editor

Janusz Kacprzyk, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland e-mail: kacprzyk@ibspan.waw.pl

About this Series

The series "Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing" contains publications on theory, applications, and design methods of Intelligent Systems and Intelligent Computing. Virtually all disciplines such as engineering, natural sciences, computer and information science, ICT, economics, business, e-commerce, environment, healthcare, life science are covered. The list of topics spans all the areas of modern intelligent systems and computing.

The publications within "Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing" are primarily textbooks and proceedings of important conferences, symposia and congresses. They cover significant recent developments in the field, both of a foundational and applicable character. An important characteristic feature of the series is the short publication time and world-wide distribution. This permits a rapid and broad dissemination of research results.

Advisory Board

Chairman

Nikhil R. Pal, Indian Statistical Institute, Kolkata, India e-mail: nikhil@isical.ac.in

Members

Rafael Bello, Universidad Central "Marta Abreu" de Las Villas, Santa Clara, Cuba e-mail: rbellop@uclv.edu.cu

Emilio S. Corchado, University of Salamanca, Salamanca, Spain e-mail: escorchado@usal.es

Hani Hagras, University of Essex, Colchester, UK e-mail: hani@essex.ac.uk

László T. Kóczy, Széchenyi István University, Győr, Hungary e-mail: koczy@sze.hu

Vladik Kreinovich, University of Texas at El Paso, El Paso, USA e-mail: vladik@utep.edu

Chin-Teng Lin, National Chiao Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan e-mail: ctlin@mail.nctu.edu.tw

Jie Lu, University of Technology, Sydney, Australia e-mail: Jie.Lu@uts.edu.au

Patricia Melin, Tijuana Institute of Technology, Tijuana, Mexico e-mail: epmelin@hafsamx.org

Nadia Nedjah, State University of Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil e-mail: nadia@eng.uerj.br

Ngoc Thanh Nguyen, Wroclaw University of Technology, Wroclaw, Poland e-mail: Ngoc-Thanh.Nguyen@pwr.edu.pl

Jun Wang, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong e-mail: jwang@mae.cuhk.edu.hk

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/11156

Álvaro Rocha · Ana Maria Correia Hojjat Adeli · Luis Paulo Reis Marcelo Mendonça Teixeira Editors

New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies

Volume 2



Editors Álvaro Rocha DEI/FCT Universidade de Coimbra Coimbra Portugal

Ana Maria Correia ISEGI Universidade Nova de Lisboa Lisbon Portugal

Hojjat Adeli College of Engineering The Ohio State University Columbus, OH USA Luis Paulo Reis DSI Universidade do Minho Guimarães Portugal

Marcelo Mendonça Teixeira Universidade Federal Rural de Pernambuco Recife Brazil

 ISSN 2194-5357
 ISSN 2194-5365 (electronic)

 Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing
 ISBN 978-3-319-31306-1

 ISBN 978-3-319-31306-1
 ISBN 978-3-319-31307-8 (eBook)

 DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8

Library of Congress Control Number: 2016934044

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG Switzerland

Preface

This book contains a selection of papers accepted for presentation and discussion at The 2016 World Conference on Information Systems and Technologies (WorldCIST'16). This Conference had the support of the Federal Rural University of Pernambuco, IEEE Systems, Man, and Cybernetics Society, AISTI (Iberian Association for Information Systems and Technologies/Associação Ibérica de Sistemas e Tecnologias de Informação), and GIIM (Global Institute for IT Management). It took place at Recife, Pernambuco, Brazil, March 22–24, 2016.

The World Conference on Information Systems and Technologies (WorldCIST) is a global forum for researchers and practitioners to present and discuss recent results and innovations, current trends, professional experiences, and challenges of modern Information Systems and Technologies research, technological development and applications. One of its main aims is to strengthen the drive toward a holistic symbiosis between academy, society, and industry. WorldCIST'16 built on the successes of WorldCIST'13, held at Olhão, Algarve, Portugal, WorldCIST'14 held at Funchal, Madeira, Portugal, and WorldCIST'15 which took place at São Miguel, Azores, Portugal.

The Program Committee of WorldCIST'16 was composed of a multidisciplinary group of experts and those who are intimately concerned with Information Systems and Technologies. They have had the responsibility for evaluating, in a 'blind review' process, the papers received for each of the main themes proposed for the Conference: (A) Information and Knowledge Management; (B) Organizational Models and Information Systems; (C) Software and Systems Modeling; (D) Software Systems, Architectures, Applications and Tools; (E) Multimedia Systems and Applications; (F) Computer Networks, Mobility and Pervasive Systems; (G) Intelligent and Decision Support Systems; (H) Big Data Analytics and Applications; (I) Human–Computer Interaction; (J) Health Informatics; (K) Information Technologies in Education; (L) Information Technologies in Radiocommunications.

WorldCIST'16 also included workshop sessions taking place in parallel with the conference ones. Workshop sessions covered themes such as (i) Communication

and Journalism in Online Social Networks, (ii) Computer Supported Qualitative Analysis, (iii) Emerging Trends and Challenges in Business Process Management, (iv) Healthcare Information Systems Interoperability, Security and Efficiency, (v) Human–Machine Interfaces in Automation, Robotics and Mechanics, (vi) Innovation in Information Management, (vii) Intelligent Systems, (viii) Internet, Business and Social Networks, Pervasive Information Systems, (ix) Semantics for Humanities Resources.

WorldCIST'16 received contributions from 41 countries around the world. The papers accepted for presentation and discussion at the Conference are published by Springer (this book) and by AISTI (another e-book) and will be submitted for indexing by ISI, EI-Compendex, SCOPUS, DBLP and/or Scholar Google, among others. Extended versions of selected best papers will be published in relevant journals, including SCI/SSCI and Scopus indexed journals.

We acknowledge all those who contributed to the staging of WorldCIST16 (authors, committees, and sponsors); their involvement and support is very much appreciated.

Pernambuco March 2016 Álvaro Rocha Ana Maria Correia Hojjat Adeli Luís Paulo Reis Marcelo Mendonça Teixeira

Organization

Conference

General Chairs

Álvaro Rocha, University of Coimbra, PT Ana Maria Correia, University of Sheffield, UK Hojjat Adeli, The Ohio State University, US Luis Paulo Reis, University of Minho, PT

Local Chairs

Marcelo Mendonça Teixeira, Federal Rural University of Pernambuco, BR Ivaldir H. de Farias Júnior, Federal Rural University of Pernambuco, BR Tiago Alessandro E. Ferreira, Federal Rural University of Pernambuco, BR

Advisory Committee

Alessandra Russo, Imperial College, London, UK Chris Kimble, KEDGE Business School and MRM, UM2, Montpellier, FR Cihan Cobanoglu, University of South Florida Sarasota-Manatee, US Constantine Stephanidis, University of Crete, GR Eva Onaindia, Polythecnic University of Valencia, ES Frada Burstein, Monash University, AU Florin Gheorghe FILIP, Romanian Academy, RO Gerry Stahl, Drexel University, US Janusz Kacprzyk, Polish Academy of Sciences, PL Jeroen van den Hoven, Delft University of Technology, NL João Tavares, University of Porto, PT Karl Stroetmann, Empirica Communication and Technology Research, DE Ladislav Hluchý, Slovak Academy of Sciences, SK Robert Kauffman, Singapore Management University, SG Sandra Costanzo, University of Calabria, IT Shi-Kuo Chang, University of Pittsburgh, US

Program Committee

Adnan Amin, Institute of Management Sciences Peshawar, PK Adrian Florea, 'Lucian Blaga' University of Sibiu, RO Adriana Fernandes, ISCTE-IUL, PT Ahmad Bakhtiyari Shahri, IR Ahmed El Oualkadi, Abdelmalek Essaadi University, MA Alberto Freitas, University of Porto, PT Alexandra Martínez, University of Costa Rica Ana Paiva, University of Porto, PT Anabela Tereso, University of Minho, PT Anacleto Correia, CINAV-EN, PT André Fabiano de Moraes, Federal Institute Catarinense, BR André Marcos Silva, UNASP, BR António Abelha, University of Minho, PT António Gonçalves, Polythecnic Institute of Setúbal Antonio Jiménez-Martín, Technical University of Madrid, ES Armando Mendes, University of the Azores, PT Arun Sundararaman, Accenture, IN Avireni Srinivasulu, V.F.S.T.R. University (Vignan's University), IN Babak Darvish Rouhani, Payame Noor University, IR Benedita Malheiro, Polytechnic Institute of Porto, PT Bernard Grabot, ENIT, FR Bin Zhou, University of Maryland, Baltimore County, US Carla Pinto, Polytechnic Institute of Porto, PT Carlos J. Costa, ISCTE-IUL, PT Cédric Gaspoz, University of Applied Sciences Western Switzerland, CH Cristian García Bauza, PLADEMA-UNCPBA-CONICET, AR Christos Bouras, University of Patras, GR Ciro Martins, University of Aveiro, PT Conceição Tavares, University of Minho, PT Cristian Mateos, ISISTAN-CONICET, AR Cristina Alcaraz, University of Malaga, ES Daniel Castro Silva, University of Porto, PT David Cortés-Polo, Fundación COMPUTAEX, ES Dirk Thorleuchter, Fraunhofer INT, DE Dohoon Lee, Pusan National University, KR Donald Davendra, VŠB-Technical University of Ostrava, CZ Dorgival Netto, Federal University of Pernambuco, BR Dusan Petkovic, Faculty of Computer Science, Rosenheim, DE Zahoor Jan, Islamia College University Peshawar, PK Dumitru Dan Burdescu, University of Craiova, RO Edna Dias Canedo, University of Brasilia, BR Eduardo Santos, Pontifical Catholic University of Parana, BR Eriks Sneiders, Stockholm University, SE Evandro Costa, Federal University of Alagoas, BR

F.G. Filip, The Roumanian Academy of Sciences, RO Fabrizio Montezi, University of Southern Denmark, DK Farhan Siddiqui, Walden University, US Fernando Bobillo, University of Zaragoza, ES Fernando Moreira, University Portucalense, PT Fernando Ribeiro, Polytechnic Institute of Castelo Branco, PT Filipe Portela, University of Minho, PT Fionn Murtagh, University of London, UK Francesco Bianconi, Università degli Studi di Perugia, IT Francisco Ortin, University of Oviedo, ES Frederico Branco, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, PT Fu-Chien Kao, Da-Yeh University, TW Gamini Perhakaran, Universiti Tenaga Nasional, MY George Suciu, University Politehnica of Bucharest, RO Gonçalo Paiva Dias, University of Aveiro, PT Goreti Marreiros, Polytechnic Institute of Porto, PT Habiba Drias, LRIA/USTHB, DZ Hanlie Smuts, MTN, ZA Hartwig Hochmair, University of Florida, US Hector Fernando Gomez Alvarado, Technical University of Loja, EC Hélia Guerra, University of the Azores, PT Hemilis Joyse Barbosa Rocha, Federal Institute of Alagoas, BR Herlina Jayadianti, UPN "Veteran" Yogyakarta, ID Hernani Costa, University of Malaga, ES Hing Kai Chan, University of Nottingham Ningbo China, CN Igor Aguilar Alonso, Technical University of Madrid, ES Inés María González Vida, Federal University of Alagoas, BR Isabel Lopes, Polytechnic Institute of Bragança, PT Isabel Pedrosa, Polytechnic Institute of Coimbra, PT Ivan Luković, University of Novi Sad, RS Jason Ding, Hewlett Packard Enterprise, US João Carlos Silva, Polytechnic Institute of Cávado e Ave, PT João Paulo Pereira, Polytechnic Institute of Braganca, PT Joao Tavares, University of Porto, PT Jorge Esparteiro Garcia, Polytechnic Institute of Viana do Castelo, PT Jorge Gomes, University of Lisboa, PT Jorge da Silva Correia-Neto, Federal Rural University of Pernambuco, BR José Braga de Vasconcelos, Universidade Atlântica, PT Jose C. Valverde, University of Castilla-La Mancha, ES José João Almeida, University of Minho, PT Jose Luis Garrido, University of Granada, ES José Luis Herrero Agustin, University of Extremadura, ES José Luís Pereira, University of Minho, PT José Luís Reis, ISMAI, PT José Machado, University of Minho, PT

х

José Martins, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, PT José Neves, University of Minho, PT Kevin Ho, University of Guam, GU Khalid Benali, LORIA-Université de Lorraine, FR Kuan Yew Wong, Universiti Teknologi Malaysia, MY Laura Alcaide Muñoz, University of Granada, ES Lea Skorin-Kapov, University of Zagreb, HR Leonardo Botega, UNIVEM, BR Linchuan Chen, Google Inc., US Luis Mendes Gomes, University of the Azores, Portugal Marius Cioca, "Lucian Blaga" University of Sibiu, RO Manuel Mazzara, Innopolis University, RU Manuel Perez-Cota, University of Vigo, ES Manuel Silva, Polytechnic Institute of Porto, PT Maria José Sousa, BRU-ISCTE/IUL, PT Maria Lee, Shih Chien University, TW Mário Antunes, Polytechnic Institute of Leiria, PT Martin Henel, Stockholm University, SE Martín López Nores, University of Vigo, ES Martin Zelm, INTEROP-VLab, BE Matthias Galster, University of Canterbury, NZ Mijalche Santa, Ss Cyril and Methodius University, MK Mircea Georgescu, "Al. I. Cuza" University of Lasi, RO Miroslav Bures, Czech Technical University in Prague, CZ Mohammed Serrhini, University of Mohammed First Oujda, MA Mounir Kehal, American University in the Emirates, AE Mu-Song Chen, Da-Yeh University, TW Noemi Emanuela Cazzaniga, Politecnico di Milano, IT Nuno Melão, Polytechnic Institute of Viseu, PT Panos Balatsoukas, University of Manchester, UK Paula A. Rego, Polytechnic Institute of Viana do Castelo, PT Paulo Maio, Polytechnic Institute of Porto, PT Paulo Novais, University of Minho, PT Patricia Zachman, National University of the Chaco Austral, AR Paweł Karczmarek, The John Paul II Catholic University of Lublin, PL Pedro Henriques Abreu, University of Coimbra, PT Pedro Sousa, University of Minho, PT Phoey Lee Teh, Sunway University, MY Radouane Yafia, Ibn Zohr University, MA Radu-Emil Precup, Politehnica University of Timisoara, RO Rahim Rahmani, University of Stockholm, SE Ramayah T., Universiti Sains Malaysia, MY Ramiro Gonçalves, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, PT Raul M.S. Laureano, ISCTE-IUL, Portugal Riccardo Cognini, e-Lios, IT

Roberto Montemanni, University of Applied Sciences of Southern Switzerland, CH Roman Popp, TU Wien, AT Ruben Gonzalez, International University of La Rioja, ES Rui Jose, University of Minho, PT Rui Pitarma, Polytechnic Institute of Guarda, PT Rui S. Moreira, University Fernando Pessoa, PT Sajid Anwar, Institute of Management Sciences Peshawar Pakistan, PK Salama Mostafa, Universiti Tenaga Nasional, MY Salim Bitam, University of Biskra, DZ Sandra Costanzo, University of Calabria, IT Sarvjit Singh, Panjab University, IN Sathish Kumar, Coastal Carolina University, US Sergio Albiol-Pérez, University of Zaragoza, ES Shaowu Cheng, Harbin Institute of Technology, CN Slawomir Zolkiewski, Silesian University of Technology, PL Sugam Sharma, Iowa State University, US Tzung-Pei Hong, National University of Kaohsiung, TW Victor Alves, University of Minho, PT Vitalvi Igorevich Talanin, Zaporozhye Institute of Economics and Information Technologies, UA Wolf Zimmermann, Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, DE Yair Wiseman, Bar-Ilan University, IL Yuhua Li, University of Salford, UK Yuwei Lin, University for the Creative Arts, UK Yves Rybarczyk, University Nova de Lisboa, PT

Workshops

Communication and Journalism in Online Social Networks—CJOSN Organizing Committee

Andrea Valencia, University of Santiago of Compostela, Spain Francisco Campos Freire, University of Santiago of Compostela, Spain

Program Committee

Ana Isabel Rodríguez Vázquez, University of Santiago of Compostela, Spain Ana López Cepeda, University of Castilla-La Mancha, Spain Eva Amboaxe, University of A Coruña, Spain Ivan Puentes Rivera, University of Vigo, Spain Jenny Yaguache, Technical University of Loja, Equator Nancy Ulloa Erazo, Pontifical Catholic University of Ibarra, Equator Óscar Juanatey, University of A Coruña, Spain Sabela Direito Rebollal, University of Santiago of Compostela, Spain Valentín Alejandro Martínez Fernández, University of A Coruña, Spain Xosé Antón Vila Sobrino, University of Vigo, Spain Xosé López García, University of Santiago of Compostela, Spain Xosé Rúas Araujo, University of Vigo, Spain

Computer Supported Qualitative Analysis—CSQA Organizing Committee

António Pedro Costa, University of Aveiro, Portugal Francislê Neri de Souza, University of Aveiro, Portugal Luís Paulo Reis, University of Minho, Portugal

Program Committee

António Moreira, University of Aveiro, Portugal Brígida Mónica Faria, Polytechnic Institute of Porto, ESTSP-IPP, Portugal Catarina do Vale Brandão, University of Porto, Portugal Celina Leão, University of Minho, Portugal César Cisneros Puebla, University of Metropolitan Autonomous, Mexico David Lamas, Universidade of Tallinn, Estonia Dayse Neri de Souza, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal Deise Juliana, Federal University of Alagoas, Brazil Jaime Ribeiro, Polytechnic Institute of Leiria, Portugal Pericles Loucopoulos, University of Manchester, UK

Emerging Trends and Challenges in Business Process Management—ETCBPM

Organizing Committee

Rui Dinis Sousa, University of Minho, Portugal José Luis Pereira, University of Minho, Portugal Pascal Ravesteijn, HU University, Netherlands

Program Committee

Ana Almeida, School of Engineering-Polytechnic of Porto, Portugal Armin Stein, University of Muenster, Germany Barry Derksen, NOVI University of Applied Sciences, Netherlands Daniel Chen, Texas Christian University, USA Daniel Pacheco Lacerda, UNISINOS University, Brazil Edward van Dipten, NOVI University of Applied Sciences, Netherlands Elsa Cardoso, ISCTE Business School, Portugal Fernando Belfo, ISCAC Coimbra Business School, Portugal João Varajão, University of Minho, Portugal Jorge Coelho, University of Minho, Portugal Jorge Oliveira Sá, University of Minho, Portugal José Camacho, NOVA Information Management School, Portugal Luis Miguel Ferreira, University of Aveiro, Portugal Marie-Claude Boudreau, University of Georgia, USA Manoel Veras, Federal University of Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil Marcello La Rosa, Queensland University of Technology, Australia

Marlon Dumas, University of Tartu, Estonia Pedro Malta, Lusófona University, Portugal Rafael Paim, Federal Center for Technical Education (Cefet-RJ), Brazil Ramiro Gonçalves, University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal Raffaele Conforti, Queensland University of Technology, Australia Renato Flórido Cameira, Federal University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Sílvia Inês Dallavalle de Pádua, University of São Paulo, Brazil

Healthcare Information Systems Interoperability, Security and Efficiency—HISISE Organizing Committee

José Machado, University of Minho, Portugal António Abelha, University of Minho, Portugal

Program Committee

Anastasius Mooumtzoglou, European Society for Quality in Health-Care, Greece Ana Azevedo, Polythecnic Institute of Oporto, Portugal Brígida Mónica Faria, Polythecnic Institute of Oporto, Portugal Costin Badica, University of Craiova, Romania Daniel Castro Silva, University of Oporto, Portugal Filipe Portela, University of Minho, Portugal Hasmik Osipyan, Université de Genève, Switzerland Joaquim Gonçalves, Polytechnic Institute of Cavado e Ave, Portugal José Neves, University of Minho, Portugal Juliana Zinaider, INF UFG, Brazil Júlio Duarte, University of Minho, Portugal Helia Guerra, University of Açores, Portugal Henrique Vicente, University of Évora, Portugal Luís Mendes Gomes, University of Açores, Portugal Manuel Filipe Santos, University of Minho, Portugal Mas Sahidayana Mohktar, University of Malaya, Malaysia Mauricio Almeida, UFMG, Brazil Renato Rocha Souza, Fundação Getulio Vargas, Brazil Victor Alves, University of Minho, Portugal Wilfred Bonney, University of Dundee, Scotland

Human–Machine Interfaces in Automation, Robotics and Mechanics—HMIARM Organizing Committee

Slawomir Zolkiewski, Silesian University of Technology, Poland Leszek Chybowski, Szczecin Maritime University, Poland

Program Committee

Artur Bejger, Maritime University of Szczecin, Poland Jakub Montewka, Aalto University, Finland Jean-Bernard Tritsch, Ecole Polytechnique Universitaire de Lille, France Katarzyna Gawdzińska, Maritime University of Szczecin, Poland Krzysztof Jamroziak, Gen. Tadeusz Kosciuszko Military Academy of Land Forces Leszek Chybowski, Maritime University of Szczecin, Poland Mariusz Ptak, Wroclaw University of Technology, Poland Mariusz Pyrz, Warsaw University of Technology, Poland Nikolaos Ventikos, National Technical University of Athens, Greece Niksa Fafandjel, University of Rijeka, Croatia Piotr Michalski, Silesian University of Technology, Poland Piotr Moncarz, Stanford University, USA Ricardo Alves de Sousa, University of Aveiro, Portugal Robert Banasiak, Lodz University of Technology, Poland Robert Zalewski, Warsaw University of Technology, Poland Serhiy Prokhorenko, Lviv Polytechnic National University, Ukraine Slawomir Zolkiewski, Silesian University of Technology, Poland Tanguy Messager, Université Lille 1, France

Internet, Business, and Social Networks—IBSN Organizing Committee

Ramiro Gonçalves, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto-Douro, Portugal José Martins, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto-Douro, Portugal

Program Committee

Frederico Branco, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal Henrique Mamede, Universidade Aberta, Portugal Jezreel Miranda, CIMAT, Mexico Jorge Pereira, Infosistema S.A., Portugal Luis Barbosa, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal Manuel Cota, University of Vigo, Spain Maximino Bessa, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal Tânia Rocha, Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal Vítor Santos, NOVA Information Management School—New University of Lisbon, Portugal

Innovation in Information Management—IIM Organizing Committee

Jorge Oliveira e Sá, Universidade do Minho, Portugal Vitor Santos, NOVA IMS/European University, Portugal

Program Committee

Aldemar Santos, UFPE, Brazil Claudio Sapateiro, EST-IPS, Portugal Claus Kaldeich, TTC, Saudi Arabia Hermano Perreli, UFPE, Brazil Jairo Dornelas, UFPE, Brazil Jorge Correia, UFPE, Brazil Jose Cavalcanti, Universidade Federal de Pernambuco, Brazil José Luís Pereira, University of Minho, Portugal Luís Amaral, University of Minho, Portugal Manuel Cota, University of Vigo, Spain Maria Jose Sousa, Universidade Europeia, Portugal Pedro Ruivo, NOVA IMS, Portugal Ramiro Gonçalves, UTAD, Portugal Tiago Oliveira, NOVA IMS, Portugal

Intelligent Systems—IS Organizing Committee

Brígida Mónica Faria, Polytechnic Institute of Porto, Portugal Pedro Henriques Abreu, University of Coimbra, Portugal Daniel Castro Silva, University of Porto, Portugal

Program Committee

Armando Sousa, University of Porto, Portugal Alan Kalton, University of Nairobi, Quénia Alessandra Alaniz Macedo, University of São Paulo, Brazil Antonio Moreno, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Tarragona, Spain Artur Pereira, University of Aveiro, Portugal Germán Rodríguez-Bermudez, Centro Universitario de la Defensa, Spain Henrique Lopes Cardoso, University of Porto, Portugal João Fabro, University Federal Tenológica do Paraná, Brazil Joaquim Gonçalves, IPCA, Portugal João Mendes-Moreira, University of Porto, Portugal José Manuel Torres, University Fernando Pessoa, Portugal Josemar Rodrigues de Souza, State University of Bahia, Brazil Luís Mota, ISCTE-University Institute of Lisboa, Portugal Luís Paulo Reis, University of Minho, Portugal Marcelo Petry, University Federal of Santa Catarina, Brazil Marcelo Becker, University of São Paulo (São Carlos), Brazil Nuno Lau, University of Aveiro, Portugal Nuno Silva, Polytechnic Institute of Porto, Portugal Paulo Novais, University of Minho, Portugal Pedro Martins, University of Coimbra, Portugal Pedro Miguel Moreira, Polytechnic Institute of Viana do Castelo, Portugal Rosaldo Rossetti, University of Porto, Portugal

Pervasive Information Systems—PIS Organizing Committee

Carlos Filipe Portela, University of Minho, PT Manuel Filipe Santos, University of Minho, PT

Program Committee

Achilles D. Kameas, Hellenic Open University, Greece Alexandre Santos, University of Minho, Portugal António Abelha, University of Minho, Portugal Carlo Giannelli, University of Bologna, Italy Christos Tjortjis, Int'l Hellenic University, Greece Cristina Alcaraz, University of Malaga, Spain Daniele Riboni, University of Milano, Italy Fabio A. Schreiber, Politecnico Milano, Italy Filipe Mota Pinto, Polytechnic Institute of Leiria, Portugal Frederico Lopes, Federal University of Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil Frederique Laforest, Télécom Saint-Etienne, France Gabriel Pedraza Ferreira, Universidad Industrial de Santander, Colombia Jorge Sá Silva, University of Coimbra, Portugal José Machado, University of Minho, Portugal Juan-Carlos Cano, Universidad Politécnica de Valencia, Spain Klaus de Geus, Universidade Federal do Paraná, Brazil Kostas Kolomvatsos, University of Athens, Greece Manuele Kirsch Pinheiro, University of Paris 1, France Muhammad Younas, Oxford Brookes University, UK Nervo Xavier Verdezoto, Aarhus University, Denmark Nuno Marques, New University of Lisboa, Portugal Paulo Cortez, University of Minho, Portugal Rajeev Kumar Kanth, University of Turku, Finland Saravanan Muthaiyah, Multimedia University, Malaysia Sergio Ilarri, University of Zaragoza, Spain Somnuk Phon-Amnuaisuk, Institut Teknologi Brunei, Brunei Spyros Panagiotakis, Technological Educational Institution of Crete, Greece Teh Phoey Lee, Sunway University, Malaysia Víctor Hugo Medina García, Universidad Distrital Francisco José de Caldas, Colombia

Semantics for Humanities Resources—SHR Organizing Committee

Giovani Rubert Librelotto, Universidade Federal de Santa Maria, Brazil José Carlos Ramalho, Universidade do Minho, Portugal Alberto Simões, IPCA and Universidade do Minho, Portugal Ricardo Giuliani Martini, Universidade do Minho, Portugal

Program Committee

Alda Lopes Gançarski, TELECOM SudParis, Evry, France José João Almeida, Universidade do Minho, Portugal Maria João Varanda Pereira, Instituto Politécnico de Bragança, Portugal Mario Marcelo Berón, Universidad Nacional de San Luis, Argentina Mónica Guimarães, Arquivo Municipal de Fafe, Portugal Nuno Carvalho, Universidade do Minho, Portugal Pedro Rangel Henriques, Universidade do Minho, Portugal Rosario Girardi, Universidade Federal do Maranhão, Brazil

Contents

Part I Health Informatics

Using Mobile Technology to Improve Nutritional Information	2
Saad Masood Butt, Karla Felix Navarro, Mohammed Shorab, Shahid Masood Butt and Azura Onn	3
Monitoring Indoor Air Quality to Improve Occupational Health Rui Pitarma, Gonçalo Marques and Filipe Caetano	13
Towards Paperless Hospitals: Lessons Learned from 15 Health Facilities in Uganda. Benjamin Kanagwa, Jenard Ntacyo and Sam Orach	23
Performance Improvements to a Large Scale Public Health Data and Analytics Platform: A Technical Perspective Arun Sundararaman, Suresh Pargunarajan and Srinivasan Valady Ramanathan	33
An mHealth Remote Monitor System Approach Applied to MCC Using ECG Signal in an Android Application	43
The Impact of the Security Competency on "Self-efficacyin Information Security" for Effective Health InformationSecurity in IranAhmad Bakhtiyari Shahri and Shahram Mohanna	51
Evaluating the Use of Gamification in <i>m-Health</i> Lifestyle-related Applications	63

Serious Games for Balance Improvement: A Systematic Literature Manning	73
Rafaela Bosse, Antônio Vinicius Soares and Marcelo da Silva Hounsell	
Information Systems and Technologies Maturity Models for Healthcare: A Systematic Literature Review	83
Reducing Computation Time by Monte Carlo Method:An Application in Determining Axonal OrientationDistribution FunctionNicolás F. Lori, Rui Lavrador, Lucia Fonseca, Carlos Santos,Rui Travasso, Artur Pereira, Rosaldo Rossetti, Nuno Sousaand Victor Alves	95
Enabling Data Storage and Availability of Multimodal Neuroimaging Studies—A NoSQL Based Solution Filipe Fernandes, Paulo Marques, Ricardo Magalhães, Nuno Sousa and Victor Alves	107
Towards Automatic Screening of Idiopathic Scoliosis Using Low-Cost Commodity Sensors—Validation Study Dejan Dimitrijević, Đorđe Obradović, Marko Jocić, Zečević Igor, Petar Bjeljac, Vladimir Todorović and Jelena Dimitrijević	117
Part II Information Technologies in Education	
Singularities of the University Spin-off in Northern Argentina Patricia Paola Zachman and Andrés Redchuk	129
Integrated Technological Resource in the Construction of the Teaching and Learning of Technical Nursing Course Heitor Hermeson de Carvalho Rodrigues, Janimere Soares da Silva, Cicero Cardozo de Almeida Filho, José Vilson Martins Filho, Yara Pereira de Brito, David Wilber Silva Daltro, Isis Magrid Koehler, Vicente Machado Neto and Miguel Antonio Sovierzoski	137
Dictionaries on Smartphones: Learners' Assessment of Features and Potential of Dictionary Apps as Pedagogical Tools	143
Collaborative Learning Supported by Mobile Devices: A Case Study in Portuguese High Education Institutions Fernando Moreira, Maria João Ferreira, Carla Santos Pereira and Natércia Durão	157

Contents

Calculation of Sleep Indicators in Students Using Smartphones and Wearables	169
Francisco de Arriba Pérez, Juan Manuel Santos Gago and Manuel Caeiro Rodríguez	
Design of a Programming Paradigms Course Using One Single Programming Language Francisco Ortin, Jose Manuel Redondo and Jose Quiroga	179
Data Mining in Academic Databases to Detect Behaviors of Students Related to School Dropout and Disapproval José Antônio da Cunha, Elionai Moura and Cesar Analide	189
PHABRIKA: Teaching Financial Techniques to Sell Through Serious Game Ari Freund and Pollyana Notargiacomo Mustaro	199
Education Challenges in a Hyperconnected Society Based on the National Survey #ConnectedYouthBrazil Brasilina Passarelli and Fabiana Vetritti	209
TTATI—Three-Dimensional Technological Approach to Teaching Innovation: Prospects for Successful Teaching and Learning	219
Systematic Review of Literature: The Contributions to the Learning Process by Digital Technologies and Pedagogical Architectures Patricia Fiuza and Roberta Ribas Mocelin	225
Exercise Composition: From Environment Properties to Composed Problems Isabel Araújo, José João Almeida and Georgi Smirnov	235
Digital Games for Math Literacy: A Systematic Literature Mapping on Brazilian Publications Mayco Farias de Carvalho, Isabela Gasparini and Marcelo da Silva Hounsell	245
An Approach that Support Multiple Linked Representations Within an Intelligent Tutoring System for Helping Students to Develop Skills on Designing Digital Circuits Evandro de Barros Costa, Hemilis Joyse Barbosa Rocha, Rômulo Afonso Luna Vianna de Omena, Marcus Aurélio Cordeiro Piancó Júnior, Henrique Ferreira Alves, Marcos José Ferreira Neto and Aleksander Toledo	255

Open Course Ware (OCW) as Support to the Socialand Collaborative Learning.Samanta Cueva, Germania Rodriguez and Oscar Marbán	265
A Hypermedia-Based Online Educational System for Assisting Accounting Students in Systems and Information Technology Course Inés Maria González Vidal, Evandro de Barros Costa, Leandro Dias da Silva, Fabrísia Ferreira de Araújo and Rafael Ferreira	277
Part III Information Technologies in Radiocommunications	
A Sum-Rate Maximization Scheme for Ultra-Dense Network Bei Liu, Jie Zeng, Xin Su, Xibin Xu and Limin Xiao	289
Mobility Load Balancing with Multi-Cells for Parameter Control Resolution in Ultra-Dense Network Qi Zhang, Xin Su, Jie Zeng, Xibin Xu and Limin Xiao	297
Empirical Model for the Design of Printed Butterfly Antennas Sandra Costanzo, Antonio Costanzo, Antonio Borgia and Fabio Scalise	303
SDN-Enabled C-RAN: An Intelligent Radio Access Network Architecture	311
Environmental Effects on the Performances of a UHF Passive Tag-Based Commercial RFID System Sandra Costanzo, Antonio Costanzo, Antonio Raffo and Antonio Borgia	317
Software-Defined Radar System for Landslides Monitoring Sandra Costanzo, Giuseppe Di Massa, Antonio Costanzo, Antonio Borgia, Antonio Raffo, Giuseppe Viggiani and Pasquale Versace	325
Equivalent Circuit Modeling of Active Reflectarray Element with Varactor Loaded Radial Phasing Line Francesca Venneri, Sandra Costanzo and Giuseppe Di Massa	333
Next Generation Network (NGN) Challenges on Access Networks João Paulo Ribeiro Pereira	341
Part IV Internet, Business and Social Networks	
The Security Policy Application Process: Action Research Isabel Lopes and Pedro Oliveira	353
Broadband Access and Digital Divide	363

Recommendations for a New Portuguese Teacher Placement System	369
Danilo Santos, Jorge Oliveira e Sá, Luís Paulo Reis and Brígida Mónica Faria	507
Computer Supported Cooperative Work—Exploratory Study on CSCW and Groupware Technologies and its Applicability in the Health Area	379
Frederico Branco, Ramiro Gonçalves, José Martins, José Bessa and Ana Baptista	517
How Ill Is Online Health Care? An Overview on the Iberia Peninsula Health Care Institutions Websites Accessibility Levels José Martins, Ramiro Gonçalves, Frederico Branco, Jorge Pereira, Carlos Peixoto and Tânia Rocha	391
Part V Communication and Journalism in Online Social Networks	
Iberian Local Online Media as a Space of Sociability in the Network Society María Cruz Negreira Rey and Xosé López García	403
The Use of Social Networks in Interactive Documentary Jorge Vázquez Herrero and Xosé López García	413
Study of Political Campaign Ads from Ecuador EmployingHeart Rate Variability (HRV)José Rúas-Araújo, Pedro Cuesta-Morales and Xosé Antón Vila-Sobrino	421
Contents in the Television of Ecuador. Incidence of the Digital Transition and the Regulation	431
Looking for a Place in Social Media Without Getting Trapped in Networks	439
Competing Tourist Destinations and Their Positioning on the Social Medium <i>Facebook:</i> Ecuador, Colombia and Peru María-Magdalena Rodríguez-Fernández, Clide Rodríguez-Vázquez, Christian-Stalin Viñán-Merecí and Valentín-Alejandro Martínez-Fernández	449
The Importance of Social Capital in Higher Education. A Study of the Facebook Fan Pages Mercedes Teijeiro-Álvarez, Clide Rodríguez-Vázquez and Félix Blázquez-Lozano	461

Management of Social Networks of the Audiovisual Project "EnchufeTV"	471
Carlos Ortiz, Geovanna Salazar and Abel Suing	
Leading Ecuadorian Companies in the Wine Tourism Sector and Their Positioning on the Social Medium <i>Facebook</i> María-Magdalena Rodríguez-Fernández, Eva Sánchez-Amboage, Ronald-Kleiner Toledo-Macas and Valentín-Alejandro Martínez-Fernández	479
Innovation as the Key for the Future of Public Service Media Tania F. Lombao, Andrea Valencia-Bermúdez and Francisco Campos	489
Data, Native Advertising and Ad Blockers Revolutionizethe Media Business ModelsFrancisco Campos-Freire, Laura Seijo Vigo and Sabela Direito-Rebollal	497
Possibilities and Limits of Virtual Ethnography as a Research Technique for Political and Corporate Communication Pablo Vázquez-Sande and Andrea Valencia-Bermúdez	507
Digital Convergence in Ecuadorian Media: Some Strengths and Weaknesses Diana Rivera-Rogel, Claudia Rodríguez-Hidalgo and Mayra Gonzales	515
Part VI Pervasive Information Systems	
Pervasive Patient Timeline for Intensive Care Units André Braga, Filipe Portela, Manuel F. Santos, José Machado, António Abelha, Álvaro Silva and Fernando Rua	527
iRecomendYou: A Design Proposal for the Development of a Pervasive Recommendation System Based on Student's Profile for Ecuador's Students' Candidature to a Scholarship Filipe Mota Pinto, Mireya Estefania, Natalia Cerón, Ramiro Andrade and Mauricio Campaña	537
Pervasive Decision Support to Predict Football Corners and Goals by Means of Data Mining	547
Towards a Pervasive Data Mining Engine—Architecture Overview Rui Peixoto, Filipe Portela and Manuel F. Santos	557
Pervasive Adaptive Data Acquisition Gateway for Critical Healthcare Sérgio Oliveira, Filipe Portela, Manuel F. Santos, José Machado and António Abelha	567

Contents

Part VII Healthcare Information Systems: Interoperability, Security and Efficiency	
Predicting Triage Waiting Time in Maternity Emergency Care by Means of Data Mining Sónia Pereira, Luís Torres, Filipe Portela, Manuel F. Santos, José Machado and António Abelha	579
Critical Events in Mechanically Ventilated Patients Filipe Portela, Manuel F. Santos, José Machado, António Abelha, Álvaro Silva and Fernando Rua	589
Optimization Techniques to Detect Early Ventilation Extubation in Intensive Care Units Pedro Oliveira, Filipe Portela, Manuel F. Santos, José Machado, António Abelha, Álvaro Silva and Fernando Rua	599
Comorbidity Coding Trends in Hospital Administrative Databases Alberto Freitas, Isabel Lema and Altamiro da Costa-Pereira	609
Part VIII Intelligent Systems	
Social Simulation of Rescue Teams' Dynamic Planning João Ulisses, Rosaldo J.F. Rossetti, João E. Almeida and Brígida Mónica Faria	621
Monitoring Clusters in the Telecom Industry	631
An Approach for Assessing the Distribution of Reporting Delay in Portuguese AIDS Data Alexandra Oliveira, A. Rita Gaio, Joaquim Pinto da Costa and Luís Paulo Reis	641
Part IX Semantics for Humanities Resources	
OntoMP, an Ontology to Build the Museum of the Person Ricardo G. Martini, Cristiana Araújo, José João Almeida and Pedro Rangel Henriques	653
Part X Emerging Trends and Challenges in Business Process Management	
Towards Ontology-based Anti-Patterns for the Verification	
of Business Process Behavior	665

Part XI Computer Supported Qualitative Analysis	
Building a Relationship with the Supervisor: An Exploratory Study Catarina Brandão, Cláudia Henrique and José Miguez	677
Part XII Human-Machine Interfaces in Automation, Robotics and Mechanics	
On the Present State-of-the-Art of a Component Importance Analysis for Complex Technical Systems Leszek Chybowski and Katarzyna Gawdzińska	691
On the Possibilities of Applying the AHP Method to a Multi-criteria Component Importance Analysis of Complex Technical Objects Leszek Chybowski and Katarzyna Gawdzińska	701
Proactive Failure Prevention by Human-Machine Interface in Remote-Controlled Demolition Robots Damian Derlukiewicz, Mariusz Ptak and Sebastian Koziołek	711
Gamota-Filisko Model for Vacuum Packed Particles	721
Designing Process of the Drone's Passive Safety System Piotr Bartkowski and Robert Zalewski	729
Machining Interface and Adapter for Industrial Robots	739
Modelling of a Moveable Beamlike Complex System	749
Part XIII Innovation in Information Management	
Public Relations in Ecuador: Exploratory and DescriptiveResearch About Career Development.Alejandro Alvarez Nobell, Jenny J. Yaguache and Fanny G. Paladines	761
Author Index	771

Part I Health Informatics

Using Mobile Technology to improve Nutritional Information of Diabetic Patient's

¹Saad Masood Butt, ²Karla.FelixNavarro, ³Mohammed Shorab, ⁴Shahid Masood Butt, ⁵Azura Onn ^{1,2}Faculty of Engineering and Information Technology University Technology Sydney, Australia ³Faculty of Medicine, Health and Molecular Sciences, James Cook University, QLD, Australia ⁴Hamdard Institute of Management Sciences, Hamdard University Islamabad, Pakistan ⁵Department of Management and Human Resource, Universiti Tenaga Nasional, Malavsia ¹(saad.butt@student.uts.edu.au,saadmasoodbutt668@yahoo.com), ²karla.felixnavarro@uts.edu.au, ³drmshorab@gmail.com ⁴shahidmasoodbutt@hamdard-isb.edu.pk

⁵azura@uniten.edu.my

Abstract. In recent years the use of mobile technology has become very common and popular. It is important to provide correct and useful nutritional information to diabetic patients, which can be easily accessed by mobile technology. However, providing such information to patients using mobile application is limited. One method is to use mobile technology, which is a very effective method in the expansion of information process visually, especially in health-related areas by using mobile devices. Therefore, the integration of mobile application with Diabetes management can provide useful nutritional and health information in order to improve the lifestyle of diabetic patients. This paper presents a comprehensive review of the state of the art in mobile application for Diabetes management.

Keywords: Diabetics, Health information, Android Technology, Nutritional Information, Mobile health, Type 1(T1DM) and Type 2 (T2DM).

1 Introduction

The growing population of diabetic patients will continue to increase pressure on healthcare systems. Multidisciplinary research fields that integrate both Information and Communication Technologies (ICT) and healthcare disciplines are thus looking at advances to transform our personalized healthcare. Significant advances in the field of mobile technology deliver cost-effective solutions to patient health management, anyone, anywhere, and anytime [1].

With rapid growth in mobile technology, interaction with mobile device is gaining momentum. This is to support users and increase application usability, thus mobile Augmented Reality (AR) is state-of-the-art technology that has modernized the mode

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_1

of accessing and interacting with information. This invokes new experiences for users globally [2]. The precision of AR shifts the focus of research from technical to user interaction that generates a likelihood to implement mobile AR in more innovative ways [3]. For AR technology, a concept of visual environment integrated with real environment [4], is defined as the integration of computer-generated images with the real world including 3D and 2D form or video overlapped with real time; a scene which is very popular at present.

Software developments have made this technology accessible using webcam, mobile phone camera, computer and/or sensor, so the program users can view and ultimately experience the 360 degree or 4D images and places in real time. Recently, the use of AR technology has become very popular and is currently used in many other fields especially in medicine. In the last few years, food has appeared in Human Computer Interaction (HCI) research in everyday activities. In its own right, HCI research on food, or 'Human-Food Interaction' (HFI), has emerged as an area of significant interest in the HCI community. HFI is a new field where technology helps in growing, cooking and eating food in a sustainable environment.

In this paper, we review the literature on current Mobile Application, AR technology and discuss about the use of Augment Reality in nutritional information.

2 Literature Review

Diabetes Mellitus is a complex condition caused by either lack of production of Insulin in the beta cells of the Islets of Langerhans in the pancreas or the body cells fail to respond to the Insulin so that there is excess glucose in the blood. Glucose, is a 'simple' sugar, obtained from the enzymatic breakdown of starch and carbohydrates. It is an essential energy source required by the body cells to function. Since there is a lack of Insulin or insulin resistance, the cells begin to starve due to lack of glucose. Diabetes is often called 'starvation in plenty'. There is excess glucose in the blood circulation but not available to the cells to facilitate optimal function. Since the cells are not functioning at optimal capacity, critical tissue and organs are adversely affected. In the case of the eye, due to poor retinal blood vessel intercellular adhesion integrity there is a tendency in poorly controlled Diabetes Mellitus, for retinal bleeding to occur. If left untreated this can lead to blindness. Similar haemorrhage in the brain and heart can lead to stroke (Cerebrovascular accident) and Myocardial Infarcts (Heart Attacks), respectively. In the case of the lower limb peripheries, this can lead to gangrene and foot amputations. It must be noted that there is no cell in the body that is immune to the adverse effects of Diabetes mellitus.

Diabetes mellitus has become quite prevalent at a global level. In Australia, 1.1 million people have been diagnosed with diabetes [8] and is prevalent in the Aboriginal and Torres Island population. There are two types of Diabetes Mellitus, Type 1(T1DM) and Type 2 (T2DM). Australian statistics have revealed that 120,000 people have suffered from Type 1 diabetes and 956,000 have Type 2 diabetes [9].

T1DM occurs when the body produces no insulin and is occasionally referred to as Juvenile Diabetes or Early-Onset Diabetes. It mostly occurs during teenage years or before the age of forty. Patients with T1DM need to take insulin injections for life and

must ensure that their blood glucose levels stay balanced by eating a healthy diet, an effective exercise programme and carrying out regular monitoring of their blood glucose with blood tests. Whereas in T2DM, there is inadequate insulin and thus the cell does not work effectively.

In order to manage the blood glucose level, Diabetes patients need to maintain a balance between the quantity of food they eat, their physical activity and insulin medication. People with diabetes were placed on rigid diets and were given a list of dos and don'ts about eating. Some of the food restrictions were advised friends or family, which works sometimes but some of their advices may be out of date and inaccurate. It is difficult for Diabetes patients to find a food in the market which ensures that it not harmful for their health. As mentioned [5], poor diet and physical inactivity are the key factors in developing chronic diseases in humans.

For diabetes patients it is important to assess the consumption of sugar by establishing a link between the diet and disease. However, it is currently challenging as people have moved away from traditional homemade food to more Take-Away food and eating out. Consumption of such food makes it difficult for people to accurately assess their food intake and food composition. Advancement in ICT has brought essential health related information for Diabetes patients. Parallel to this growth, mobile devices provide different applications in the field of health that improves communication between health practitioners and patients [6]. It provides feedback on individual eating habits, which may enable people with diabetes to better manage their condition [7]. Previous research has developed tools that can support dietary management for Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes patients. Findings suggest that greater growth is required for mobile dietary and nutritional support in Diabetes patients. Mobile applications that support healthy eating habits should be integrated with applications for managing blood glucose and physical activity data, as well as medication data [5] [6]. However, mobile applications-based self-management is not a quick solution for the problem and it is critical to understand that its effect is based on strong behavioural change by the patient. Some patients encounter difficulties managing technical problems and others cannot afford the cost. Therefore, the adoption and use of user-centred and socio-technical design principles is highly needed to improve usability, perceived usefulness, and, ultimately, adoption of the technology [8].

There are numerous diabetes management applications available [9], however, the dominant ones offer comparable functionalities and have one to two functionalities in one application. Patients and doctors alike should be included in the application improvement and clinical application procedures to ensure ongoing review as well as research and development. The usability of these diabetes apps for patients aged 50 or older was moderate to good. Besides this outcome applied mainly to apps offering a small range of functions. Multifunctional applications performed significantly more terrible in terms of usability. In addition, the presence of documentation or examination function brought about fundamentally lower usability scores. The operability of accessibility features for diabetes apps was quite limited, except for the feature "screen reader" [10]. As specified in [11] that interest in mobile health applications for self-management of diabetes mobile health applications is rare. Furthermore, the potential impact of social media on diabetes mobile health

applications is largely unexplored. Choosing healthy foods and being active will help manage blood glucose levels and body weight. Adhering to a good diet for people with diabetes is similar to recommendations for everyone. Therefore, there is no need to prepare separate meals or buy special foods. The entire family can enjoy healthy eating. Managing blood glucose levels for a person with T1DM requires matching the amount of insulin to the carbohydrate foods they consume.

In [12] proposes a methodology for automatic food recognition, based on the bagof-features (BoF) model and this is a first step toward the development of a portable application and providing dietary advice to diabetic patients through automatic carbohydrate counting. For the design and evaluation of this application, a visual dataset with nearly 5000 food images was created and organized into 11 classes. In these mobile applications designed for diabetes, usability is a persistent issue and can cause severe health problems if not managed properly. Diabetes is very common in ages 60 and above therefore they may have memory limitations, poor vision, or declining motor and cognitive skills, which may impair usability [13].

According to [14] predictions of information technology research and advisory firms, such as Gartner, hybrid HTML5 applications will be the future in mobile application development. Furthermore, exploring the feasibility of using HTML5 and related web application standards in the development of mobile e-health applications by using a diabetes monitoring application, as a practical use case. In this paper [14] practical experiences with using HTML5 and related web technologies to deliver context-aware personal health assistance applications, and the challenges with targeting such smart e-health applications to mobile devices was reviewed. Mobile technologies have matured to the point where healthcare services for chronic disease could be provided beyond hospital borders [15]. The usage of mobile-health technologies has the potential to enhance a patient's self-care ability, thereby modify their lifestyles and improve metabolic conditions. Despite the fact that the benefits of mobile health interventions for diabetic patients are well established, the impacts on diabetes self-care practices have not been extensively validated. Most mobile health studies have emphasized on assessing clinical metabolic outcome, such as decreased level of Glycosylated Haemoglobin (HbA1C), rather than validating self-care processes from the patient's perspectives. Little is known about the effect of m-health on self-care processes [16]. Outcomes of self-care ability enhancement can be categorized as immediate (knowledge and skills acquisition), intermediate (behavioural change) and long term manifestation (improved health status). Studies have suggested adding focus on identifying immediate and intermediate outcomes.

From the research review it is clear that mobile phones are becoming a popular and powerful platform, and many healthcare-related applications have been explored, such as remote health monitoring, SMS medical tips, fitness coaches, and diabetes guides outcomes [17]. Obesity, where mobile phone aided healthcare can assist, is becoming an epidemic in most developed countries. In the past three decades, obesity rates for both adults and children in the developed countries have increased significantly [18]. The continuing rise in overweight and obesity patients has attracted increasing research interest to explore practical new technology to prevent these conditions [19]. However, the usual case is that individuals with potential obesity problems are more likely to ignore their food intakes and regular exercise. Efforts have been made to record calorie contents without user awareness or knowledge by processing chewing

sounds of the user with on-body sensors [20]. Novel obesity management applications arise as mobile phones are becoming more powerful for people-centric computing. The fact that mobile phones are necessary and used by people almost everywhere makes them perfect devices for information gathering and delivering.

Some commercial applications have appeared in recent years, such as MyFoodPhone by Sprint, Diet Fitness Diary by Verizon, and Sensei. These existing academic and commercial systems rely heavily on manual data analysis and labor intensive user interaction. Automatic dietary monitoring has been developed by analysing chewing sounds detected by on-body sensors. However, it is not possible for people to wear sensors all the time and it is not accurate enough to estimate the food intake only with chewing sounds [18]. Researchers have used mobile phones as tools for encouraging physical activity and healthy diets, for symptom monitoring in asthma and heart disease, for sending patients reminders about upcoming appointments, for supporting smoking cessation, and for a range of other health problems [21]. In [22] presented a mobile application that aims at supporting sustainable weight loss by leveraging established behaviour change theories. Three interfaces were designed and implemented: A messaging system, a personal goal achievement system and a group goal achievement system. The application was validated through a usability testing experiment. Seven young female adults, native Arabic speakers, tested the Android application in the smart phones and were asked to perform tasks relevant to each interface. Understanding that Augmented Reality offers information visualization, which creates a system that serves as an interactive e-Ordering system for ice dessert. The prototype was created and was evaluated as a good alternative to the traditional ice dessert purchasing. In addition, this mobile AR system is expected to improve the user interfaces and system usability [23].

In [24], authors successfully demonstrated how mobile Augmented Reality can be helpful in capturing and translating one language to another for language learning. This application has to be tested with more users to know efficiencies of mobile augmented reality for language learning. Also, there is a need to modify and enhance the application.

There are many features that are discussed above but we only select those features which have importance and are still under research. Following are the features that are extracted from the literature 2008 till now which includes: Real time, User Centred Sociotech Design, Functionalities, Augmented Reality, Usability, User, Estimate CHO, Measure meal composition, Independent Life Style and Clinically Accurate. We plotted all these features in the graph where X-axis is the time and Y-axis is the importance of these features. The plus sign indicates the importance and still under research.



Fig. 1. Time graph of most useful features

3 Future Work

In this paper we discussed about Diabetes, food nutrition and mobile technology. Some mobile application are discussed in the literature review section to understand how mobile application is playing their role in the field of Diabetes management to reducing hospitalization and supporting an independent lifestyle in Adult Type 1 Diabetics. Nevertheless, all of these applications are lacking usability, user involvement and less consideration of real time features. At present, mobile applications are widely used in Medicine to handle health issues. However, as per discussion, the majority offer similar functionalities and combine only one to two functions in one app. Patients and physicians alike should be involved in the application development process to a greater extent. Despite the growth, research on both the design and the use of health applications is scarce. Furthermore, the potential influence of social media on health applications is largely unexplored. There are no studies evaluating social media concepts in diabetes self-management on mobile devices, and it's potential; remains largely unexplored.

4 Proposed Idea

Based on the important factors as mentioned in section 2, we proposed an idea called BIG-GLUCON-HERO. The proposed idea is to develop a diabetic's application to reduce hospitalization and support independent lifestyle in Adult Diabetics. This application is based on user-centred and sociotechnical design principles that can monitor patient food intake to control obesity, provide real time feedback from doctors and parents, support in decision making and interaction with outside world using social media and provide help in case of emergency.



Fig. 2. BIG-GLUCON-HERO

5 Conclusion

The paper discussed the role of using mobile technology in nutritional information. Although the use of mobile technology is getting more advanced and its use seems common in many fields especially medicine. In this paper, we reviewed the literature relating to using mobile applications to help diabetes patient in selecting nutritious food and avoid obesity. From the literature it seems that some applications are available for diabetes management whereas some application use mobile AR in food making. Despite the fact there is rapid growth in mobile technology, usability, real time support, clinically accuracy and interface design are still major concerns in mobile health applications. Finally Big-Gulcon-Hero is a proposed idea to reduce hospitalization and support independent lifestyle in Adult Diabetics.

References

- Kikuno, "Why do software projects fail? Reasons and a solution using a Bayesian classifier to predict potential risk", 11th IEEE Pacific Rim International Symposium, 2005.
- M. Z. Bayu, H. Arshad, and N. M. Ali, "Nutritional Information Visualization Using Mobile Augmented Reality Technology," *Proceedia Technol.*, vol. 11, no. Iceei, pp. 396– 402, 2013.
- 3. S. Irshad, "User Experience Evaluation of Mobile AR services," 2014.
- F. Zhou, H. B. L. Dun, and M. Billinghurst, "Trends in augmented reality tracking, interaction and display: A review of ten years of ISMAR," in Proceedings - 7th IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality 2008, ISMAR 2008, 2008, pp. 193–202.
- D. Bunma, "Using Augment Reality to Increase Capacity in QR Code," IEEE, pp. 440–443, 2014.
- M. H. Rahman, M. Pickering, M. Frater, D. Kerr, C. Bouchey, and E. Delp, "Food Volume Estimation in a Mobile Phone Based Dietary Assessment System," 2012 Eighth Int. Conf. Signal Image Technol. Internet Based Syst., pp. 988–995, Nov. 2012.
- 7. W. T. Leader, "Designing Mobile Applications to support type 1 diabetes education," 2012.
- E. Arsand, J. T. Tufano, J. D. Ralston, and P. Hjortdahl, "Designing mobile dietary management support technologies for people with diabetes." J. Telemed. Telecare, vol. 14, no. 7, pp. 329–332, 2008.
- O. El-Gayar, P. Timsina, N. Nawar, and W. Eid, "Mobile applications for diabetes selfmanagement: status and potential.," J. Diabetes Sci. Technol., vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 247–62, 2013.
- A. P. Demidowich, K. Lu, R. Tamler, and Z. Bloomgarden, "An evaluation of diabetes selfmanagement applications for Android smartphones," Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare, vol. 18, no. 4. pp. 235–238, 2012.
- 11. M. Arnhold, M. Quade, and W. Kirch, "Mobile applications for diabetics: A systematic review and expert-based usability evaluation considering the special requirements of diabetes patients age 50 years or older," Journal of Medical Internet Research, vol. 16, no. 4. 2014.
- 12. T. Chomutare, L. Fernandez-Luque, E. Arsand, and G. Hartvigsen, "Features of mobile diabetes applications: Review of the literature and analysis of current applications compared against evidence-based guidelines," Journal of Medical Internet Research, vol. 13, no. 3. 2011.
- M. M. Anthimopoulos, L. Gianola, L. Scarnato, P. Diem, and S. G. Mougiakakou, "A Food Recognition System for Diabetic Patients Based on an Optimized Bag-of-Features Model," IEEE J. Biomed. Heal. Informatics, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 1261–1271, Jul. 2014.
- 14. A. C. Valdez, M. Ziefle, A. Horstmann, and D. Herding, "Mobile devices used for medical applications : Insights won from a usability study with diabetes patients," Int. J. Digit. Soc. (IJDS), vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 337–346, 2011.
- D. Preuveneers, Y. Berbers, and W. Joosen, "The future of mobile e-health application development: Exploring HTML5 for context-aware diabetes monitoring," Procedia Comput. Sci., vol. 21, pp. 351–359, 2013.
- S. H.-M. Guo, H.-K. Chang, and C.-Y. Lin, "Impact of Mobile Diabetes Self-Care System on patients' knowledge, behavior and efficacy," Comput. Ind., vol. 69, pp. 22–29, 2015.
- 17. D. K. King, D. J. Toobert, J. D. Portz, L. a. Strycker, A. Doty, C. Martin, J. M. Boggs, A. J. Faber, C. R. Geno, and R. E. Glasgow, "What patients want: relevant health information technology for diabetes self-management," Health Technol. (Berl)., vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 147–157, 2012.
- K. Patrick, W. G. Griswold, F. Raab, and S. S. Intille, "Health and the Mobile Phone," American Journal of Preventive Medicine, vol. 35, no. 2. pp. 177–181, 2008.
- F. Kong and J. Tan, "DietCam: Automatic dietary assessment with mobile camera phones," Pervasive Mob. Comput., vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 147–163, 2012.

- 20. A. G. Ershow, J. O. Hill, and J. T. Baldwin, "Novel engineering approaches to obesity, overweight, and energy balance: public health needs and research opportunities.," Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc., vol. 7, pp. 5212–5214, 2004.
- O. Amft and G. Tröster, "On-body sensing solutions for automatic dietary monitoring," IEEE Pervasive Comput., vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 62–70, 2009.
- 22. P. Klasnja and W. Pratt, "Healthcare in the pocket: Mapping the space of mobile-phone health interventions," J. Biomed. Inform. vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 184–198, 2012.
- 23. S. L. Mansar, S. Jariwala, M. Shahzad, A. Anggraini, N. Behih, and A. AlZeyara, "A Usability Testing Experiment For A Localized Weight Loss Mobile Application," Procedia Technol., vol. 5, pp. 839–848, 2012.
- 24. N. Wiwatwattana, S. Sukaphat, and T. Putwanpen, "Augmenting for Purchasing with Mobile : Usage and Design Scenario for Ice Dessert," vol. 2557, no. 095, 2003.
- P. Meda, M. Kumar, and R. Parupalli, "Mobile Augmented Reality Application for Telugu Language Learning," pp. 183–186, 2014.

Monitoring Indoor Air Quality to Improve Occupational Health

Rui Pitarma^{1,i}, Goncalo Marques¹ and Filipe Caetano¹

¹ Polytechnic Institute of Guarda – Unit for Inland Development, Av. Dr. Francisco Sá Carneiro, nº 50, 6300 - 559 Guarda, Portugal ⁱrpitarma@ipg.pt, {goncalosantosmarques, fkaetano}@gmail.com

Abstract. Indoor environments are characterized by several pollutant sources. As people typically spend more than 90% of their time in indoor environments. Thus, indoor air quality (iAQ) is recognized as an important factor to be controlled for the occupants' health and comfort. The majority of the monitoring systems presently available is very expensive and only allow to collect random samples. This work describes the system (iAQ), a low-cost indoor air quality monitoring wireless sensor network system, developed using Arduino, XBee modules and micro sensors, for storage and availability of monitoring data on a web portal in real time. Five micro sensors of environmental parameters (air temperature, humidity, carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide and luminosity) were used. Other sensors can be added for monitoring specific pollutants. The results reveal that the system can provide an effective indoor air quality assessment to prevent exposure risk. In fact, the indoor air quality may be extremely different compared to what is expected for a quality living environment.

Keywords: Indoor air quality, indoor environment, air quality monitoring, wireless sensor network, ZigBee, gas sensors, smart cities.

1 Introduction

Indoor environments are characterized by several pollutant sources. Thus, indoor air quality (iAO) is recognized as an important factor to be controlled for the occupants' health and comfort. This issue is more important if we take into consideration that today most people spend more than 90% of their time in artificial environments [1]. But is also important that health problems and diseases caused by poor indoor air quality can negatively affect the productivity. According to the United States Environmental Protection Agency [2], human exposure to indoor air pollutants may be 2 to 5 times occasionally more than 100 times higher than outdoor pollutant levels, because a home's interior accumulates and concentrates pollutants given off by finishes, furnishings and the daily activities of the occupants [3]. In fact, indoor air pollutants have been ranked among the top five environmental risks to public health. Ventilation is used in buildings to create thermally comfortable environments with acceptable IAQ by regulating indoor air parameters, such as air temperature, relative humidity, air

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,
speed, and chemical species concentrations in the air [4]. In this study the authors present some numerical predictions of pollutants dispersion in a ventilated room.

An indoor air quality assessment system helps in the detection and improvement of indoor air quality. Local and distributed assessment of chemicals concentrations is significant for safety (gas spills detection, pollution monitoring) and security applications as well as for to effectively control heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) system for energy efficiency [5]. In fact, the indoor air quality measured in the built environment provides a continuous stream of information for seamless controlling of building automation systems, and provides a platform for informed decision making [6]. However, the monitoring systems presently available are normally very expensive and only allow to collect random samples.

Recently, several new systems have been developed for monitoring environmental parameters, always with the aim of improving the indoor air quality efficiency [7]. Actually, the availability of cheap, low power, and miniature embedded processors, radios, sensors, and actuators, often integrated on a single chip, is leading to the use of wireless communications and computing for interacting with the physical world in applications such as air quality control [8]. A wireless indoor air quality monitoring in order to provide real time information for assisted living is proposed by [9]. The proposed system has carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, propane and methane sensors. Another study involving wireless sensor networks for indoor air quality monitoring was proposed by [10].

This study describes the iAQ system, developed by the authors, which aims to ensure, autonomously, accurately and simultaneously, the indoor air quality monitoring of different building rooms. The system consists of a low cost indoor air quality monitoring wireless sensor network system, developed using Arduino, XBee modules and micro sensors, for storage and availability of monitoring data on a web portal in real time. This system collects five environmental parameters (air temperature, humidity, carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide and luminosity) from different places simultaneously. Other sensors can be added for monitoring specific pollutants. Currently, in the preliminary laboratory tests, only two remote modules were used.

2 Technical Solution

2.1 Implementation

The iAQ system is an automatic indoor air quality monitoring system that allows the user, such as the building manager, to know, in real time, a variety of environmental parameters as air temperature, relative humidity, carbon monoxide (CO), carbon dioxide (CO2) and luminosity. Other sensors for specific pollutants can be added.

The parameters are monitored using the **iAQ Sensor** system that collects data and sends it to the **iAQ Gateway** system that records the data in a MySQL database using web services developed in PHP.

The end user can access the data from the web portal **iAQ Web** built in PHP. After login, the end user can access the **iAQ Web** and can get all the information about environmental parameters. The monitoring data are shown as numeric values or in a chart form. This portal also allows the user to keep the parameters history. Providing a history of changes, the system helps the user to analyze precisely and detailed the air quality behaviour. This is very important to decide on possible interventions to improve the air quality in the building. The **iAQ Web** is also equipped with a powerful alerts manager that advises the user when a specific parameter exceeds the maximum value.

2.2 Wireless Sensor Network Architecture

The wireless communication is implemented using the XBee module what implements the IEEE 802.15.4 radio and ZigBee networking protocol [11]. The IEEE 802.15.4 standard specifies the physical and medium access control layers for low data-rate wireless personal area networks. ZigBee is a low-cost, low-power, wireless mesh networking standard built upon 802.15.4 [12,13].

Communication signals are transmitted from the **iAQ Sensor** to the base station **iAQ Gateway** use XBee. The modules operate within the 2.4 GHz frequency band and outdoor RF line-of-sight range up to 4000 ft. (1200 m) and RF data rate 250,000 bps. These modules use the IEEE 802.15.4 networking protocol for fast point-to-multipoint or peer-to-peer networking. They are designed for high-throughput applications requiring low latency and predictable communication timing. XBee modules are ideal for low-power, low-cost applications. XBee-PRO modules are power-amplified versions of XBee modules for extended-range applications [14].

2.3 Hardware and System Architecture

The **iAQ** system is composed of one or several **iAQ Sensor's.** They are used to collect and transfer environmental factors from the different rooms where they are installed. The **iAQ Sensor's** send the data to the **iAQ Gateway** (Fig.1), which is connected to the Internet with an Arduino Ethernet Shield, for recording data in the database.



Fig. 1. iAQ GATEWAY Architecture.

Therefore, it is made possible to construct a modular system that can monitor one or more spaces simultaneously. Figure 2 schematically illustrates the system architecture used in the **iAQ**.



Fig. 2. iAQ System Architecture.

The **iAQ Sensor** is built using the embedded Arduino Mega system, an open source platform that incorporates an Atmel AVR microcontroller [15,16]. In order to allow communication between the iAQ Sensor's and iAQ Gateway, the ZigBee technology was applied with the use of Xbee modules.

The **iAQ Sensor** is equipped with multiple sensors, a processing unit (Arduino MEGA), and a wireless communication and mesh networking module as schematically shown in Fig. 3 (see also [17]). Currently, the **iAQ Sensor** is equipped with five sensors (Fig. 4): air temperature, relative humidity (RH), carbon monoxide (CO), carbon dioxide (CO2) and luminosity.



Fig. 3. iAQ Sensor



Fig. 4. iAQ Sensor Hardware

A brief description of the used sensors is presented below.

- Sensor SHT10 it is a low power, stable and fully calibrated Relative humidity and Temperature sensor [18]; Measurement range: 0-100% (humidity), -40°C ~ 120°C (temperature); Accuracy: ±4,5% (humidity), ± 0.5 °C (temperature); Response time < 30 seg.
- MQ7 Sensor it is a high sensitivity CO (carbon monoxide) sensor with several many features [19]: high sensitivity, fast response, wide detection range (20 to 2000 ppm), stable performance and long life, simple drive circuit; Requires manual calibration.
- T6615 CO2 Sensor it is a low power, good performance CO2 (carbon dioxide) sensor (designed for HVAC purposes), with the following main specifications [20] Measurement range: 0-5,000ppm; Accuracy: ±50 ppm ± 3% of Reading; Response time: 2 minutes; Automatic calibration (every 24h).

LDR 5 mm Sensor – it is a sensor that allow to detect light; it is basically a resistor that changes its resistive value (in ohms) depending on how much light is shining onto the squiggly face [21]; Since it is low cost but inaccurate, they shouldn't be used to try to determine precise light levels in lux; instead, we can expect to only be able to determine basic light changes. Resistance range: 200K ohm (dark) to 10K ohm (10 lux brightness); Sensitivity range: CdS cells respond to light between 400nm (violet) and 600nm (orange) wavelengths, peaking at about 520nm (green).

2.4 Software

The firmware of the **iAQ Sensor** and **iAQ Gateway** was implemented using the Arduino platform language in the IDE ARDUINO. It belongs to the C-family programming languages.

The **iAQ Web** was developed in PHP and MySQL database. Web services that allow data collection are also built in PHP [22].

3 Results and discussion

The **iAQ Web** allows viewing the data as numeric values or in a chart form. A sample of experiment data for a selected room is shown in Figures 5 to 7. As examples, the graphs of relative humidity (Fig. 5), air temperature (Fig. 6) and CO2 (Fig. 7) were chosen.



Fig. 5. Data visualization: Relative Humidity (%)



Fig. 6. Data visualization: Temperature (°C)



Fig. 7. Data visualization: carbon dioxide (CO2) concentration (ppm)

The graphic display of the environmental factors allows a greater perception of the behaviour of the monitored parameter than the numerical display format. On the other hand, the Internet portal also allows the user to access the historical data, which enables a more precise analysis of the detailed temporal evolution of environmental parameters. Thus, the system is a powerful tool for the detection of problems and decision making on possible interventions to improve air quality in the building.

The iAQ system is in the testing phase. At this stage the main goal is to make technical improvements, including their calibration. Among other advantages of the iAQ system, it stands out for its modularity, small size, low cost of construction and ease installation. Improvements to the system hardware and software are planned to make it much more appropriate for specific purposes such as hospitals, commercial buildings or factories.

4 Conclusion

This work aimed to present an effective indoor air quality monitoring system to prevent exposure risk. The system is developed using low-cost micro gas sensors and an open source microcontroller development platform Arduino. Five micro sensors of environmental parameters were used in each module, but other sensors can be added as needed. The system was tested by monitoring two classrooms. The results obtained are very promising, representing a significant contribution to indoor environmental studies. Nevertheless, the system needs further experimental validation in real environments, in particular with the assembly of more than two remote modules as used in laboratory tests, in order to verify and calibrate the system more accurately. In addition to this validation study, physical system and web portal improvements have been planned with a view to adapt the system to specific cases or problems, such as schools, kindergartens or shops.

Compared to existing systems, it has great importance due to the use of low cost and open-source technologies. Note that the system has advantages both in ease of installation and configuration due to the use of wireless technology for communication between the IAQ sensor and IAQ Gateway, but also due to its small size, about 20x10 cm2, compared to other systems.

This system is extremely useful in monitoring air quality conditions inside buildings to better understand the current status of air quality as well as to study the behavior of environmental parameters. Thus, the system can be used to help the building manager for proper operation and maintenance to provide not only a safe and healthy workplace, but also a comfortable and productive one.

References

- Spengler JD, Sexton K.: Indoor air pollution: a public health perspective. Science. 221, 9--17 (1983)
- USEPA United States Environmental Protection Agency: Questions About Your Community: Indoor Air, http://www.epa.gov/region1/communities/indoorair.html
- Mukhopadhyay, K., Ramasamy, R., Mukhopadhyay, B., Ghosh, S., Sambandam, S., Balakrishnan, K.: Use of Ventilation-Index in the Development of Exposure Model for Indoor Air Pollution—A Review. Open Journal of Air Pollution. 3, 33—41 (2014)
- Pitarma, R., Lourenço, M., Ramos, J.: "Improving ocupational health by modelling indoor pollutant distribution". Facilities (in press)
- De Vito, S., Fattoruso, G., Liguoro, R., Oliviero, A., Massera, E., Sansone, C., Casola, V. Di Francia, G.: Cooperative 3D Air Quality Assessment With Wireless Chemical Sensing Networks, Procedia Engineering. 25, pp. 84--87 (2011)
- Preethichandra, D.: Design of a smart indoor air quality monitoring wireless sensor network for assisted living. In: conference record – IEEE Instrumentation and Measurements Technology conference (2013)
- Yu, T., Lin, C.: An intelligent wireless sensing and control system to improve indoor air quality: monitoring, prediction, and preaction. International Journal of Distributed Sensor Networks (2015)
- Al-Haija, Q., Al-Qadeeb, H., Al-Lwaimi, A.: Case Study: Monitoring of AIR quality in King Faisal University using a microcontroller and WSN. Procedia Computer Science. 21, pp. 517—521 (2013)
- Preethichandra, D.: Design of a Smart Indoor Air Qiuality Monitoring Wireless Sensor network for Assisted Living. In: IEEE Instrumentation and Measurement Technology Conference (I2MTC2013), pp. 1306—1310. IEEE press, NY (2013)
- 10.Yu, T., Lin, C., Chen, C., Lee, W., Tseng, C., Liu, S., Lee, R.: Wireless sensor networks for indoor air quality monitoring, Medical Engineering & Physics. 35, pp. 231--235 (2013)
- 11.IEEE 802.15 WPAN Task Group4 (TG4), http://www.ieee802.org/15/pub/TG4.html
- 12.ZigBee Alliance, http://www.zigbee.org/
- 13.Digi International Inc., http://www.digi.com/
- 14.Embedded System for Automatic Irrigation of Cardamom Field using Xbee-PRO Technology
- 15.Michael, M.: Arduino Cookbook. O ReiLLY, USA (2012)

16.Arduino Website, http://www.arduino.cc

- 17. Abraham, S., Li, X.; A Cost-Effective Wireless Sensor Network System for Indoor Air Quality Monitoring Applications. Procedia Computer Science. 34, pp. 165--171 (2014)
- 18.Datasheet SHT10, http://www.sensirion.com/fileadmin/user_upload/customers/sensirion/ Dokumente/Humidity/Sensirion_Humidity_SHT1x_Datasheet_V5.pdf
- 19.MQ7 Datasheet, https://www.sparkfun.com/datasheets/Sensors/Biometric/MQ-7.pdf
- 20. Telaire T6615 Datasheet, http://www.ge-mcs.com/download/co2-flow/920-474C-LR.pdf
- 21.LDR 5mm Datasheet, https://www.robocore.net/upload/attachments/sensor_ldr_gl5528_145.pdf
- 22.Deployment of Wireless Sensor Networks for Air Quality Monitoring, Wang, M., Wang, Y., Li, Q.: Deployment of Wireless Sensor Networks for Air Quality Monitoring, Advanced Materials Research, 712-715, pp. 1851—1855 (2013)
- 23.Liao, Z., Peng, Y., Li, Y., Liang, X., Zhao, Y.: A Web-based visual analytics system for air quality monitoring data. In: 22nd International Conference on Geoinformatics (GeoInformatics), pp. 1—6, IEE Press, NY (2014)

Towards Paperless Hospitals: Lessons Learned From 15 Health Facilities In Uganda

Benjamin Kanagwa¹, Jenard Ntacyo², and Sam Orach²

¹ School of Computing and Informatics Technology Makerere University, P.O.BOX 7062, Kampala, Uganda bkanagwa@cis.mak.ac.ug
² Uganda Catholic Medical Bureau* P.O.BOX 2886, Kampala, Uganda jntacyo@ucmb.co.ug, sorach@ucmb.co.ug

Abstract. This paper presents action research results on critical features that impact the implementation and acceptance of Electronic Patient Records Management Systems (EPRMS) by health facilities. The paper also discusses automation approaches as well as initial benefits reported by health facilities. The EPRMS is in use by over 15 health facilities in Uganda. The goal is to create a paperless environment for a group of health facilities in a resource constrained environment. The EPRMS incorporates features for Electronic Patient Records (EPR), Electronic Medical Records (EMR) and Hospital Management. A phased-roll out approach was used as a way to ease challenges of insufficient resources such as computers, unstable local area network, frequent power outages and skills-gap among others. The first phase covered Outpatient Departments (OPD) for production deployment while Inpatients, Maternal and Child Health(MCH), HIV/AIDS care centres are setup in training mode awaiting the next phase of roll out. After a year of use, we administered a questionnaire to understand the impact and challenges of EPRMS. The respondents were hospital administrators and managers. In addition to the questionnaire, the Uganda Catholic Medical Bureau (UCMB) has its internal annual reporting process. The results reported are from the questionnaire, UCMB internal reporting, our observations and interactions with key stakeholders during implementation. Our finding indicate EMR and EPR functionality are not highly rated by hospital managers while Hospital Management features are considered important.

1 Introduction

Manual hospital management, manual patient and electronic records are time consuming especially during collating and coding of data for local government and national reporting requirements. Auomation of hospital processes has seen increased attempts in the recent years [14, 5, 18, 16]. EPR and automation of hospital processes relate to the management of hospital transactions including patients through capture and use of electronic data as the patient consumes services. There is conensus that automation of hospital facilities can breed efficiency and improve patient satisfaction [3]. ndeed Governments and Non-government Organisations are willing to invest in ICT-enabled Health are [10]. Despite evidence that EPR is crucial in provision of quality medical services [9], most hospitals in Uganda are still manual. Barriers that hinder implementation of EPRMS include the

^{*} This work was funded by CORDAID http://cordaid.org as part of funding to UCMB under the Connect for Change Consortium (C4C).

time involved for a practice to convert to EPRs from paper records, the training of health professionals on the new systems, and computer literacy [10]. Other challenges also include financial cost associated with purchasing the new EPR system and availability of technical sup

The Uganda Catholic Medical Bureau (UCMB) [19] is one of the key players in the Ugan heath sector. UCMB coordinates Catholic health units in Uganda, assists in personnel training the evaluation of facilities, and represents and advocates for Roman Catholic health care ser nationally and internationally. At the moment UCMB counts 32 hospitals (2 of them are specia service providers) with 12 training schools, 2 laboratory training school and 252 Lower Lever U (LLU), with over 8,225 health workers. The UCMB health service infrastructure constitut sizeable component (about 40%) of the public health system in Uganda.

UCMB envisages that the benefits of automation are much more than the cost and effort ne to address the challenges. With automation, UCMB aimed to help facilities to benefit from effe delivery of health services through fast access to information that supports planning, monito and evaluation of healthcare programmes. The information includes patient bio-data, insur records, as well as critical medical information. To facilitate the operation of these heath ce UCMB considered a robust management information system that can operate under the var environments across different parts of the country. The Hospital Information System that deployed is a heavily customised version of Care2X [2] renamed HeleCare2x [4].

The health facilities under the UCMB network differ in size, capabilities, resources, loca and are autonomous. Each facility is managed independently to best suit local needs and f innovation by facility managers. For instance rural based facilities use different billing struct and offer community based medical services. Consequently, the facilities share common core EPR features but need a number of unique features and customisation. The rollout process also ne to appreciate local technical and human resources to operate and manage the EPRMS.

The rest of the paper is organised as follows: In section 2, we review related work, Sec 3 describes the methodology used and Section 4 describe the key features prioritised by he facilities. Section ?? describes the challenges and initial benefits and a conclusion is given in Sec 6.

2 Related Work

In Uganda, many systems have been proposed by the Ministry of Health. Currently the min health operates a comprehensive manual Health Medical Information System (HMIS) [12, 7]. hospital facility is required to fill a given set of reports on a daily basis, monthly, quarter annual. Some of the information is sent to the local government authorities while the other is to the Ministry of Health Headquarters. Some of the nation wide automated systems focusin specific aspects include DHIS2 [1], IQCare [8]. At the moment, there is no official EMR or system recommended for use at the facility level.

DHIS2 was adopted at the Uganda National national level in January 2011. The system initially piloted in 4 districts, before it was rolled out to all the 112 districts by July 2012. As of the roll-out process, 35 training workshops targeting 972 users were conducted throughout country [11]

IQCare is a robust Electronic Medical Records (EMR) package designed by the Futures G International³ specifically for HIV/AIDS care facilities. IQCare was adopted by PEPFAR fu

 $^{^3}$ www.futures group.com

Towards Paperless Hospitals ...

project under the AIDS relief. It has been deployed in over 100 locations in Kenya, Uganda, Nigeria and Zimbabwe. IQCare is flexible and scalable with features to create multiple departments and orms; set up facility and patient home page reports and queries.

Through the Uganda National eHealth Technology framework [13] over 50 e-health related nitiatives were reported by the Ugandan Ministry of Health. The initiatives include mobile enabled ools such as Mtrack[15], web-based, decision support systems and surveillance tools. However, most nitiatives especially those related to EPR have not seen wide-adoptability or sustained usage for by health facilities.

3 Methodology

Our approach is based on action research process [17] in which we are monitoring and spearheading he implementation, deployment and use of EPRMS at 15 health facilities in Uganda. The implementation started in January 2013 and initially targeted five facilities for piloting and a phased oll-out to another 10 facilities before a future full-scale deployment to over 200 facilities under the UCMB network. However, our efforts at 2 of the pilot facilities and 3 of the 15 roll-out facilities were met with administrative and skill-gap challenges. New facilities within the UCMB network were selected.

The implementation started with an open source EPRMS that was customised and extended o fit the needs of health facilities in Uganda. To speed up implementation, requirement elicitaion and initial training were combined. The training started with the open source EPRMS as the first version. Care2x was chosen as the starting platform because is a Integrated Hospital Informaion System including Surgery, Nursing, Outpatient, Wards, Labs, Pharmacy, Security, Admission, Schedulers, Repair and Communication among others. It is Multilanguage, with WYSIWYG forms, Modular & scalable among others. Care2x is a mature product and has been implemented in other ountries including Kenya [6]. In addition there is a large number of programmers in Uganda familiar with key technologies such as Php and MySQL used in the development of care2x.

The customisation followed a detailed requirements gathering process from a representative set of hospitals. The hospitals were selected based on the location, nature of services provided and type of patients catchment. The catchment targeted is a combination of rural, peri-urban and urban health acilities. A comprehensive requirement analysis was undertaken to understand the current practices within the hospital facilities. The training and requirements elicitation were group based and in ome cases one-on-one. The training was in two parts: - one on the use of EPRMS and the other for ystems administrators. The systems administrators were considered as key stakeholders and their raining including Linux systems administration. The first round of training lasted between 3 to 4 days per facility. The initial training allowed intimate interaction with key stakeholders such as nurses, clinicians, doctors, pharmacists, managers and systems administrators in oder to understand heir needs. Before launch another round of 1 week training was conducted at UCMB headquarters or systems administrators. After the initial training, two setups we made, one for production and another for training.

A phased-roll out approach was used both on the number of the health facilities to be automated and the number of departments to automated at each facility. The pilot started with five facilities, and later scaled to10 health facilities. Within each facility, the EPRMS was first installed at the OPD which accounts for a larger percentage of the patients. The OPD deployment covers EPR, EMR, and related services such as laboratories, billing, pharmacy and reception/triage. After a year of use, we administered a questionnaire to understand the impact and challe of EPRMS. The respondents were hospital administrators and managers. In addition to the q tionnaire, UCMB has its internal annual reporting process. The results reported are from questionnaire, UCMB internal reporting, our observations and interactions with key stakeho during implementation.

4 Core Features and Services

Health facility administrators are among the key stakeholders required for successful implement tion and sustainability of EPRMS. In all facilities, hospital managers ranked patient and reso management features above EPR and EMR features. Key issues of concern included minim revenue loses and increasing patient satisfaction through faster service delivery.

4.1 Existing Process and Patient Flow

Figure 4.1 is a high level view of the common flow of patients as they move from one service p to another. It is expected that all patients flow from the registration desk to cashiers, clinic and so on. In the majority of the OPD cases the flow will include: Entry $A \to$ Registration, pay consultation, $C \to \text{go}$ for examination by Clinicians/Doctors, $D \to$ Pay for Investigation, go for investigation, $F \to$ interpretation of results, Diagnosis, prescription by Clinicians/Do $D \to$ pay for Medicine, $G \to$ Receive Drugs from Pharmacy, $H \to$. However in a number of c a patient may skip the registration desk and proceed to the doctors. This is common for emerg cases where no time must be wasted at the registration. In other scenarios, patients may just in for lab tests recommended by clinicians from other facilities. In all these scenarios, the sy must be able to take critical data at the first point where it interfaces with the patient.

Other categories of patients such as Pregnant Mothers, HIV patients and Maternity case usually managed separately from the rest of patients and the data needs to be captured at the point of contact with the hospital staff for subsequent use in the rest of the patients visit.

To enforce data capture, no billing is possible unless a patient has a minimal set of data rec In normal usage, the bill is generated as the patient moves from service points such as lab t consultations at physicians desk, prescriptions and so on. We have discovered that staff man some of the service points may not enter the data immediately either due to electricity/p challenges or inefficiency by the staff thereby making it hard for other tasks to proceed. The bi points and server room are installed with power backups and this ensures billing functionalit continue even when other points have no power. Because of this challenge, the system is desi to capture varying levels of data at each of the possible service points. For instance, the bi point allows capture basic information such as bio-data and service consumed in case they are already in the system. Hospital managers required that the system supported all existing pa flows. However some facilities have been able to find optimal path that speed up service deliv

4.2 Drug Distribution Framework

Drugs and other consumables are a critical resource in hospitals. Their acquisition, management tracking must be monitored and audited for hospital managers to realize the benefits of autom hospital management information.



Fig. 4.1: Standard Flow of patients in health facility. .

In most hospitals, when drugs are purchased, they are first stored and recorded in the main pharmacy or medical deport. From the main pharmacy, drugs are then distributed to the dispensng departments. A dispensing department may serve one or more medical units. However, some dispensing units can also distribute drugs to other dispensing units. At the same time, drugs can be lost through damages and as such there is a need for a reconciliation between stocks in the dispensaries and those in the main pharmacy.

Tracking of batches is one important aspect. It would be nice to have code readers at the dispensing units to track batches up-to the patient. However due to cost implications, a provision or manual capture of such information is provided. A key design decisions was taken to enable or disable strong coupling between pharmacy inventory, ability to prescribe or dispense drugs on the ystem in case of low inventory levels in pharmacy/dispensaries. This design decision was based on need to capture medical data without strong emphasis on drug auditing logs. Drug management was needed as key feature to allow sustainable of the system by hospital administrators and managers.

4.3 Knowledge Management

During pilot deployments, the use keyboard as the main data capture device proved to be consuming for physicians and draw attention away from the patients during consultations. Also typing speed of most users was still low. A design decision was taken to minimise typing by u Information such as drugs and their dosages, symptoms, diagnosis, lab tests and interpretatio findings, test result ranges among others are part of the system initialisation with provision the systems administrator to add, remove and edit the details. Whereas there was a tempta to allow clinicians or doctors to edit these lists, a decision to allow centralized control of the through the systems admin was considered. The advantages allows consistence in data analysi symptoms, diagnosis, allergies and other medical information. Also a centralized list improved speed of data capture since users just pick without typing as indicated in Figure 4.2 that shows of the interface for prescription of drugs. The knowledge on drugs is already captured and man within the system. To speed up data entry, a browser based search was implemented.

```
ispensary: Select

    specify the dispensary for the prescription

naesthetics And Smooth Muscle Relaxants
 Atracurium 🛛 Bupivacaine Dextrose 🗋 Ether Anaesthetic 🔂 Halothane 🔂 Ketamine 🗔 Lignocaine
Neostigmine 🛛 Suxamethonium 🕒 Thiopental Sodium
nalgesics, Nsaids And Related Drugs
Antihaemorrhoid Aspirin Ocodeine Phosphate Diclofenac Ibuprofen Indomethacin
 Morphine 
Paracetamol 
Pethidine 
Piroxicam 
Tramadol
ntibacterials
🛛 Amoxicillin 🗆 Amoxicillin/Clavulanate 📄 Ampicillin 📄 Ampicillin/Cloxacillin 📄 Ampiclox Suspension
🗅 Azithromycin 🛛 Benzathine Penicillin 🕞 Benzyl Penicillin 📄 Cefixime 📄 Ceftriaxone 📄 Cephalexin
Chloramphenicol 🗆 Ciprofloxacin 📄 Clindamycin 📄 Cloxacillin 📄 Co-trimoxazole 📄 Dapsone
 Doxycycline 🗌 Erythromycin 🗋 Flucloxacillin 🗋 Gentamicin 🗋 Levofloxacin 📄 Nalidixic Acid
 Nitrofurantoin 🕞 Pefloxacin 🕞 Penicillin 🕞 Procaine Penicillin 🕒 Streptomycin 📄 Tetracycline
CAF 🗆 X-Pen
nticancer Drugs
```

Fig. 4.2: Screen short of the drug prescription interface. The interface allows medical offers to select o more drugs and proceed to provide additional prescription details. Typing of drugs by medical offic eliminated to avoid mistakes and allow more precise analysis and reporting. Drugs missing on the lis be added by through a back end interface

One of the key concerns by clinicians was was that excessive typing districted them from tending to patients. Therefore any reduction on the time spent on the computer by adding feat such as searching, drop-down options, and so grately increase acceptance.

4.4 Familiar and Faster Interfaces

Through practice, medical personnel are accustomed to specific documents such as Form 5 to cap treatment details for a given patients' visit. Data capture cards for outpatients, inpatients, anten and many other documents are well understood by most medical personnel. Paper-like inter such as in Figure 4.3 were developed to ensure smoother transition from paper to electronic. De similarity between paper-based forms and the electronic versions, users mainly from rural faci still required more time and patience to train them to use computer and appreciate the interf The Ugandan Ministry of Health in its HMIS manual [12, 7] specifies over 200 paper-based templates or data capture and reporting.

New person Sean	ch Advanced search Admis	sion	
PID Nr.	10000006		4 -:
Registration date	21/01/2013		Admit-Inpatient
Registration time	08:58		Care Persons
amily name	kitutu		Qx Insurance P3 Appointments
aiven name	paul		Encounters' list
Pate of birth:	21/01/1996 male	Age: 18 yrs 11 mths	Medocs
Catchment Area	Inside System		Diagnostic Results
ddress: Ditizenship/Country	Uganda		Measurements DB Record's History
District	MBALE		Family History
fubcounty/Division fillage/Cell	Matsanza		Make PDF document
ddress particulars Registered by	admin		Goodinam
Lindata Dill Socion	Register a new person Print Form	5 Print Form5 With Data	Mot Name Search patient's da

Fig. 4.3: Paper like look and feel for patient registration with links to standard forms such as Form 5

Routine inspection by Ministry of Health Officials still require specific layouts of certain reports and registers. So for acceptance, all efforts were made to make electronic versions of reports and orms similar to paper versions

4.5 Billing and Payments Automation

Most hospitals provide all or some services at a fee. The modes of billing vary from facility to facility. General billing systems charge according to what has been consumed. However, some hospital acilities provide for flat rate services. A flat rate is where a set of drugs and services require a ingle fixed fee regardless of the actual overall cost of the items consumed. 3 of the 15 facilities apply flat rate services.

Management of insurance schemes together with flat rate schemes poses another automation hallenge. An account for each insurance scheme must be kept and patients must be properly dentified to belong to the right insurance scheme. Some insurance schemes also cover dependants who must be identified and billed accordingly. Similar to flat rate schemes some insurance schemes have a limit on the amount to be consumed within a given period. The time periods for the ceiling ange from a single visit, to daily, monthly or annual. The limit may be applied on specific services uch dental or plastic surgery. This makes it important for the system to establish which medicines or services have to be paid for by the patient.

5 Benefits and Challenges

This section contains preliminary findings on the benefits and challenges of using EPRMS.

5.1 Challenges Encountered

The main challenges encountered are lack of resources such as computers, unstable Local Network (LAN), and frequent power outages. All facilities are connected to national power however the power grid is on and off. Alternative power sources such as generators or solar p are not yet affordable by most facilities.

The EPRMS runs on Local Area Network (LAN) and the perceived speed and availabili the EPRMS is much dependent on the quality of the LAN. One challenge that was noticed is most LAN setups at the healthy facilities were very unstable mainly due to poor networking low technical skills by IT staff. Some facilities try to cut cost and use indoor Cat 6 cables as out cables to connect distant departments and wards.

Another challenge is that technical skills in computer use and maintenance, internet use low in the health facilities. Despite the training it was noticed that it takes time for the trai to translate into good level of skills. Related to computer skills, the new Windows 8 and o 2010 user interface was confusing for users trained using older versions. Fear of technology by s health workers also affected utilisation and adoption for routine activities.

Introduction of new costs to the facilities implementing EPRMS such as timely replacem of spoilt parts of equipment was another challenge. For instance, lightening affected/destr equipment in five of the fifteen facilities. Lightening arresters were installed at all facilities to a reoccurrence.

Last but not least, implementation of EPRMS was also face with a challenge of poor inte connectivity in many rural areas where the majority of the facilities are located. This affected ability to download new updates, provision of online technical support and need to download definitions.

5.2 Initial Benefits Reported

During the June 2014 UCMB reporting, of the 14 hospitals that were asked to provide info tion on changes brought about by EPRMS, 60% noted that Patients receiving services from t facilities trust receipts produced by the system more and complained when issued with summ receipts from receipt books whenever there was an interruption to the system. Such interrup are common due to power load shedding. Printed receipts have information for the patient to v and this contributes to patients satisfaction because of the detailed breakdown of the charges as consultation charges, lab tests requested, drugs prescribed. This improves patient to hos relationship and eventually increases service utilization because of recommendations by sati patients to friends and relatives.

There is a reported increase in revenue collection by some facilities. St Johns Paul Aber St Josephs Kitgum hospitals have reported at least 3% increase in user fees. The increme attributed to the ability to capture and bill all patients that visit the facilities.

A reduction and reuse of stationary has been observed at some facilities. Receipts and o outputs such as treatment forms for patients are printed using ordinary ink and in some cas the back of already used paper with minor prints.

6 Conclusion and Future Work

We have been able to deploy and monitor the EPRMS for at least 15 facilities. Initial benefits include ncreased revenue, minimal stationary usage, improved decision making at the hospital level, and more trust by patients due to detailed information provided to them on the receipts. Our unique etup required a system with multiple configuration to allow flexibility especially during billing. As more options were provided to accommodate the variations, the system inevitably grew bigger and more complex requiring more training on the side of system administrators. We hope to extend usage of EPRMS other 200 health facilities in the country under the UCMB network. In addition, we plan to active EPRMS usage beyond the OPD to cover Inpatient department, Maternal and Child Health Units and HIV/AIDS care centres among others.

Observations and interactions at facilities indicated that preparation of reports for local authorties and national reporting is time consuming. Therefore integration of helecare2x with existing national reporting systems such as Dhis2 [1] is one of the future tasks to be carried out. More tudies and support for decision making at hospital level will be carried out in order to increase the benefits of EPRMS for hospital managers who are the key drivers for sustainability of EPRMS.

References

- 1. BRAA, J., AND HUMBERTO, M. Building collaborative networks in africa on health information systems and open source software development–experiences from the hisp/beanish network. *IST Africa 3* (2007).
- CARE2X.ORG. The open source hospital information system, August 20015. http://care2x.org.
 CHETLEY, A., DAVIES, J., TRUDE, B., MCCONNELL, H., AND RAMIREZ, R. Improving health con-
- necting people: the role of icts in the health sector of developing countries.
- DECIMALWORKS.COM. Helecare hospital information system, August 20015. http://www.ucmb.co.ug/.
 DESROCHES, C. M., CHARLES, D., FURUKAWA, M. F., JOSHI, M. S., KRALOVEC, P., MOSTASHARI, F., WORZALA, C., AND JHA, A. K. Adoption of electronic health records grows rapidly, but fewer than half of us hospitals had at least a basic system in 2012. *Health Affairs* (2013), 10–1377.
- DRURY, P., AND DAHLMAN, B. Open source approaches to health information systems in kenya. World Hospitals and Health Services 41, 3 (2005), 36.
- GLADWIN, J., DIXON, R., AND WILSON, T. Implementing a new health management information system in uganda. *Health Policy and Planning 18*, 2 (2003), 214–224.
- 8. INTERNATIONAL, F. G. Iqcare, 2015. Website. https://fgiqcare.codeplex.com/.
- JENSEN, P. B., JENSEN, L. J., AND BRUNAK, S. Mining electronic health records: towards better research applications and clinical care. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 13, 6 (2012), 395–405.
- KHAN, S. Z., SHAHID, Z., HEDSTROM, K., AND ANDERSSON, A. Hopes and fears in implementation of electronic health records in bangladesh. *The Electronic Journal of Information Systems in Developing Countries* 54 (2012).
- KIBERU, V. M., MATOVU, J. K., MAKUMBI, F., KYOZIRA, C., MUKOOYO, E., AND WANYENZE, R. K. Strengthening district-based health reporting through the district health management information software system: the ugandan experience. *BMC medical informatics and decision making* 14, 1 (2014), 40.
- 2. KINTU, P., NANYUNJA, M., NZABANITA, A., AND MAGOOLA, R. Development of hmis in poor countries: Uganda as a case study.
- LUTWAMA, A. K. Uganda national e-health technology framework, 2012. Website. http://library.health.go.ug.
- MCINNES, D. K., SALTMAN, D. C., AND KIDD, M. R. General practitioners' use of computers for prescribing and electronic health records: results from a national survey. *Medical Journal of Australia* 185, 2 (2006), 88.

- 15. ORGANIZATION, W. H., ET AL. Strengthening accountability chains for maternal, newborn and health in uganda–mtrac.
- RAGHUPATHI, W., AND TAN, J. Strategic it applications in health care. Communications of the 45, 12 (2002), 56–61.
- 17. REASON, P., AND BRADBURY, H. Handbook of action research: Participative inquiry and practice. 2001.
- RIBIÈRE, V., LASALLE, A. J., KHORRAMSHAHGOL, R., AND GOUSTY, Y. Hospital information sys quality: a customer satisfaction assessment tool. In Systems Sciences, 1999. HICSS-32. Proceedin the 32nd Annual Hawaii International Conference on (1999), IEEE, pp. 7–pp.
- 19. UCMB.CO.UG. History of uganda catholic medical bureau, May 2015. http://www.ucmb.co.ug/.

Performance Improvements to a Large Scale Public Health Data and Analytics Platform: A Technical **Perspective**

A Case Study of a Large Public Health Data and Analytics **Program for a State Government in India**

Dr. Arun Sundararaman, Suresh Pargunarajan and Srinivasan Valady Ramanathan

Health Analytics Solution Factory, Accenture, India {arun.sundararaman, suresh.pargunarajan, srinivas.ramanathan}@accenture.com

Abstract. Public Health planning and administration comprises 3 broad functions viz., health needs assessments, policy development, and administration of services. Health Informatics plays a significant role for effectiveness of each of these functions. This paper presents practical technical learnings from implementation of performance improvement measures for a large Open Source based Data Analytics platform for Public Health. This paper is unique in its attempt to categorize the problem on the above lines. The authors present a study of a real-life large data warehouse and public health data mining implementation that has faced significant challenges and discuss solutions to address those challenges. With rapidly changing technology landscape, specifically in data and analytics space, dynamic changes to population composition and the resultant expectations from public health, research focused on public health data integration and data mining needs higher attention. The paper concludes with summary of best practices discussed and future directions.

Keywords: health informatics . public health metrics . KPI . data mining . insights . challenges . solutions . implementation . data quality . public health data research. Decision support systems. Open source stack.

Introduction 1

Public Health is the collective action taken by Society to protect and promote the health of the entire population. Public Health is broad and inclusive, although it is often considered from only a narrow medical perspective [1].

Public health accrues innumerable measurable indicators. Key performance indicators represent a set of measures focusing on organizational performance and outcomes that are most critical for the current and future success of the organization. KPIs are highly relevant in management of public health. They act as flags drawing attention where required, bring in accountability, enhance scrutiny, and help channel public resources to areas of need [2].

This paper is organized in 4 Chapters. Chapter 1 discusses literature on the topic of health analytics, public health data collection and analysis. Chapter 2 introduces

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

the context of the project discussed in detail in this paper as a case study i.e. State Health Data Resource Centre (SHDRC). Chapter 3 lists out the technical challenges faced & solutions implemented in this large scale public health data warehouse. Chapter 4 concludes the discussions with summary of learnings from the case study.

Public health informatics necessitates collection of data from primary health care organization to tertiary organization inclusive of different federal and private bodies. The very fact attributes to multiple data sources and standards thereby adding to the complexity of data collection. OSS is rapidly becoming part of more public health applications [3]. The reasons are multifold viz., policy, lower total cost of ownership, version upgrades, auditability, flexibility and freedom.

Published literature explains how Public Health Surveillance moved from mere counting of death to more advanced data collection and comprehensive information management as Health Informatics [4]. Another published report lists that the key challenges to be addressed in future will be lack of skilled workforce for analytics, database management, and inadequate computing resources [5]. It is in this backdrop that this paper presents as case study of a large scale data collection and analytics program in public health in India that aligns with published literature on the need for such works and addresses the growing domestic health intelligence expectations while aligning to the global recommendations described above.

2 Overview of State Health Repository

2.1 Program Background

Healthcare delivery in India follows a very unique and balanced model. It follows a hybrid concept where it is neither completely market driven as in the US nor is it entirely public funded as in UK or Canada. Healthcare in India is a State subject. Each State gets to set up and run its healthcare delivery infrastructure independently. This is supported by National level programs that focus on a specific disease or a section of the population. The system follows a hub and spoke model for primary, secondary, and tertiary care. This is supplemented by various other networks like those of Medical Education, Revised National Tuberculosis Control Program (RNTCP), Indian Medicine (AYUSH), National AIDS control organization (NACO), ESI (Employees State Insurance), etc.

With each of the arms providing a whole range of services, it is difficult to get a comprehensive view of population health statistics; however, each function is necessary for the valuable services they provide and to cater to the high population numbers in the country. Universal access and affordable health are the key drivers currently directing the health set up in the country [6]. While the country is focusing on providing its citizens access to basic healthcare, the need for data and analytics is all the more pertinent. It needs to focus on optimization of resources in the most appropriate manner to get the best program outcomes. As more and more people gain access, it is now encountering a situation called Double Burden of Disease [7] where

it has to handle communicable diseases as well as a growing number of noncommunicable diseases and injuries.

The State of Tamil Nadu, the sixth most populous state in India with a population of 72 million [8], has always been proactive in improving its health situation. Today it is one of the healthier states in the country [9]. It has an Infant mortality rate of 21 against the country average of 40, similarly the maternal mortality rate stands at 90 against India's 178 [10].

The State Government of Tamil Nadu has taken various steps to make its public sector health services more accessible and equitable to the general public and the poor alike through "Tamil Nadu Health Systems Project" (TNHSP). In order to promote research, improve health outcomes, initiate evidence based actions at State, District, Directorate & other Institutions and to enable research insights based policy formulation, TNHSP embarked on a progressive move to establish a comprehensive state-wide health data repository named State Health Data Resource Center (SHDRC). This progressive initiative is funded by The World Bank, State Government of Tamil Nadu, National Rural Health Mission, and Indian Council for Medical Research.

Accenture is the System Integration partner responsible for infrastructure planning, design / build and implementation of this large Data Warehouse. Functional and technical Experts from Accenture Health Analytics Solution Factory architected the Solution and were steering end-to-end implementation. Open Source BI was the chosen platform for all layers of the Technical Solution (PostGRE SQL for RDBMS, Pentaho for ETL, Pentaho for Dashboards / Reporting / Visualization and Weka as the data mining and predictive Analytics engine). This project is successfully implemented and currently extensive organization wide adoption is taken up with training and enhancements.

2.2 Program Objectives

The primary objectives of establishing SHDRC are listed below:

- Health data consolidation at the state-level from various health data sources.
- Implement, maintain and support the technical infrastructure required for the state data resource center.
- Devise and implement strategies for data quality improvement and data validation
- Develop and maintain health information management related policies and standards.
- Develop, implement/recommend training/capacity building strategies related to data monitoring and evaluation.
- Liaise and provide support to various Directorates in ensuring that the mandated data reporting requirements (such as the notifiable diseases reporting) from public and private institutions.

• Strengthen health system research through independent research as well by providing mentorship to directorates and other stakeholders at various levels.

2.3 Conceptual view

Fig. 1 provides a view of the Data Warehouse System (DWH) built with the various layers from source systems to staging to DWH and end user consumption layer.



Fig. 1. Conceptual view of the DWH System SHDRC

3 Challenges and Solutions

This section covers the challenges faced & solutions implemented in the process of consolidation, cleansing, integration and reporting of data in a large scale public health initiative, based on the implementation experiences of the project being presented as a case study i.e. SHDRC introduced in Section 2. The challenges are categorized as given in Table 1

S. No	Category	Description
1	Definition	Challenges related to defining the data sets or defining the Key
		Performance Indicators required to meet the program objectives
		etc.
2	Data Challenges related to collection of large scale public health da	
	governance	or their consolidation and integration.
3	Design &	Challenges related to application design, solution & information
	Performance	architecture, development and consistency across health
		directorates; application, database, user interface, network,
		OLAP cube performance and tuning the former.

Table 1. Category of Challenges

3.1 Definition Challenges

Requirements. Being a pioneer project in the country, lack of precedence resulted in a huge challenge in arriving at requirements of the project. The health directorates were traditionally used to paper work. The skill and comfort level of the directorate to adapt to information technologies has been an additional effort to them, leaving them to expend very little time for requirement discussions.

Data diversity. Data was sourced from 9 different sources and from ~300 web forms in different formats. ~900 Extraction/Transformation and loading routines are used for cleaning and integrating data.

Data Volume. 5000+ indicators were rolled up into 300 KPIs. 3+ TB of data was sourced from 2200 hospitals and other institutions serving ~5 million beneficiaries.

Dataset Definition. The challenge was to decide how to group the incoming data to facilitate storage as well as keep them malleable to various analyses.



Fig. 2. Logical groupings of KPI's

Solution. The KPIs were organized logically into 5 categories as in Fig. 2 viz., input, process, output, outcome, and impact metrics. More than 10,000 indicators were analyzed along with more than 300 key reports to identify the few indicators which

would provide the exact picture of inputs, process, output and outcomes of any program/directorate.

The problem of plenty was solved through an approach of "Divide and focus". SHDRC was designed to streamline the analytics offerings organized into 6 layers explained in Table 2

S. No	Layer	Description
1	Dashboard Zone	Summary view of KPI performance against targets / thresholds with color schemes to highlight under or over performance. This layer was targeted at very senior level policy decision makers.
2	Reports Zone	Detailed reports with drill down at granular level data available for middle level management.
3	Indicator Zone	Micro level indicators (several thousands) available for reference including history for comparison targeted at operational level personnel
4	Analysis Zone	Pre-defined analytical templates that present insights for medical officers and research professionals
5	Freehand Zone	Key data elements grouped as data sets and provided as palette for users to define their own templates and analysis views.
6	Predictive Zone	Scientific analysis, data mining and predictive analytics leveraging Weka predictive engine, targeted at Policy research and medical outcome research.

Table 2. Presentation Layer by Zones

3.2 Data Governance Challenges

Data Availability. The first challenge faced here was to ascertain data availability. Data is collected reaching out to grass-roots level and setting up appropriate processes.

Data Integrity. At most locations, data capture was being done by public health practitioners who face practical challenges of huge patient turnaround, hence poor attention is given to capture of complete and in many occasions correct data. This resulted high levels of data quality issues at the source systems itself. Due to the vastness of the system and speed of response and treatment being the primary objective at the field level, it was also a challenge to implement incremental checks and balances at the data capture stage to ascertain the integrity of the data.

Data Duplicity. India is still in the process of setting up a universal identification number. This meant that the chances of data duplicity were high as there were very limited means of defining unique patient identifiers. The likelihood of one patient

visiting multiple times for the same or different illness getting clocked as different patients was very high. This meant potential anomalies in analyses and research insights.

Solution. While Data integrity was maintained by training and education programs, we can manage to maintain the integrity for advanced analytics needs by applying imputation techniques like hot deck imputation etc. Data de-duplication by identifying a patient across visits using contact number, address, name helped reduce duplicates by 75%.

3.3 Design and Performance Challenges

Portable design. The application had to cater 21 health directorates collecting data from compound sources. Design has to be maintained consistent, seamless and portable across directorates where system of records vary greatly. Schema objects and design components has to be mutually exclusive and finally integrated. Open source software was the preferred tool stack. Tool selections have to be made consciously to ensure security, features, interact with legacy systems and external/Third party application for data exchange needs.

Simplified user interface. Design simplicity has been an admirable challenge. Data entry points should be at the comfort level of users. Designing complex UI will lead users to skip entries and thereby data capture loss. Presentation Layer consistency across directorates is very much appreciated since training across directorates is much easier and transfer of employees between directorates do not require big learning curve.

The Design and performance challenges and solutions are given in Fig. 3 and Table 3.



Fig. 3. Performance Optimization

Pre-Optimization	Proposed Solution	Post-optimization	
BI reports refresh took ~4-5 minutes	Prompt Filters	BI reports refresh in ~30-40 sec	
OLAP cube failure on data volume	Dynamic schema processing top parameterize OLAP cubes	Parameterized OLAP cube was able to handle large volume of data	
Slow DB response	Partitioning, indexing, Aggregate tables	Data retrieval within a minute	
External data load took more time	Foreign data wrapper	FDW made external data access local to the system	
Unrestricted access	Role restriction filters	Improved data security	
Data retrieval across directorates took ~6 minutes to load	Virtual cubes	Consolidation of common data across directorates reduced load time ~1 minute	

4 Conclusion

This Paper presented a summary view of experiences from a real-life, large scale public health data consolidation and integration project, presented as a case study. Besides data collection, integration and consolidation, this project also involved data summarization and consumption of data i.e. insights generation and their adoption through structured analysis of key performance indicators.

This Section provides a conclusion summarizing the key learnings presented in this paper as below:

- The approach to rank and prioritize the focus key performance indicators from a long list of indicators that public health administrators require for administration of public health service.
- Approach to categorize information requirements in the structure of Input-Process-Output-Outcome-Impact metrics and how they are mapped to the data elements.
- Approach to handle key design and performance challenges in the capacity of database, user interface, OLAP cube and presentation layer.

Performance Improvements to a large Scale Public Health Data ...

- From a technology perspective, it is interesting to note that Open Source BI Technologies can be effectively used for large scale data integration and analysis in public domain.
- In future, tremendous scope exists for exploring data quality assessment and measurement methods integrated as part of large data and analytics initiatives for public health.
- Predictive analytics, even though still in nascent form in public health, is essentially the future of public health and the same needs to be developed systematically.

Acknowledgment

The Authors would like to thank the Government of Tamil Nadu for the opportunity provided to Accenture to partner with this noble initiative. Thanks are also due to Shri. M.S.Shanmugam, IAS for his dynamic leadership and excellent guidance in his role as Project Director, Tamil Nadu Health Systems Project. Our sincere thanks to the Heads of all the participating Directorates for their excellent cooperation in ensuring success of the initiative.

References

- R. Beaglehole, and R. Bonita, Public Health at the cross roads Achievements and prospects, 2nd ed. Cambridge University Press, pp.34-36 (2004).
- 2. Developing Key Performance Indicators A Toolkit for Health Sector Managers, USAID.
- 3. Erin Hahn, Sheri Lewis, and David Blazes, The Use of Open Source Software to Enhance Public Health Initiatives
- 4. Bernard C. K. Choi, The Past, Present, and Future of Public Health Surveillance
- 5. CDC's Vision for Public Health Surveillance in the 21st Century pp 36
- 6. India Embarks on Universal Health Coverage during 12th Plan, Press Information Bureau, Government of India
- 7. The Double Burden: Emerging Epidemics and Persistent Problems The World Health Report (1999)
- 8. Census Report Censusindia.gov.in
- 9. National Health Policy, 2015, pp. 5
- 10. National Health Mission, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of India, http://nrhm.gov.in/nrhm-in-state/state-wise-information/tamil-nadu.html#health_profile

An mHealth remote monitor system approach applied to MCC using ECG signal in an android application

Francisco Muller Machado^{2,4}. Isis Magrid Koehler³, Marlon Silva Ferreira¹ Miguel Antonio Sovierzoski^{2,4}

¹ Federal University of Pernambuco - UFPE, Pernambuco - Brazil ² Graduate Program in Biomedical Engineering – PPGEB-UTFPR ³ Pre-Graduate in Eletronic Engineering - UTFPR ⁴ Federal University of Technology - Paraná - UTFPR, Av. Sete de Setembro, 3165, Curitiba, Paraná - Brazil www.ppgeb.ct.utfpr.edu.br, fmachadomm@gmail.com

Abstract. Nowadays some mHealth paradigms are being subject to changes with the emergence and advances in Mobile Cloud Computing (MCC) using low power data exchange systems like Bluetooth for sensors. This paper shows a different approach of MCC applied to mHealth by introducing a new architecture developed to an application for mobile devices, treating ECG signals using Cloud Data storage and a specially developed frame architecture between the sensor and the mobile device to detect and correct as many errors as possible. The proposed approach not only shows the convergence of MCC, but also focuses on the mHealth scenario to show some benefits of its use in the modern world. A secure link algorithm was also developed between mobile devices and the ECG sensor transmitter.

Keywords: IoT; Mobile Cloud Computing; Bluetooth; ECG monitoring; Error Control

1 Introduction

In many ways smartphones have turned out to play a major role in our modern world, breaking paradigms not only for mobile health (mHealth) systems, but also in many other circumstances of our daily lives. Almost every day, new applications for mobile devices come up to solve problems in different areas. This way, smartphones have become part of an increasing revolution when using several different services since calling a taxi, booking hotels, up to more specific tasks such as remotely monitoring elderly people's health conditions as it is the proposal of this paper.

The contribution of this work is to provide means of using the available hardware present in most of mobile devices to have a safe link to an ECG node, combined with

- Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_5

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

new services recently available on the Internet that allows remote users to access any data stored on a remote server with the format defined by the system's designer.

2 Related work

Many recent studies have proposed solutions considering IoT and cloud computing for different scenarios. Some of them are related to the smart city concept [1-4], others to mobile health (mHealth) as the one in [5] that discusses about the Virtual Cloud Carer Project which has health and social proposals as objectives and presents an overview of the architecture that they developed using intelligent mobile devices able to integrate with many biosensors and the data processor cloud. Another example is a detailed platform by Pereira et al. in [6] based on the Mobile Cloud Computing where sensors interact with a mobile device by Bluetooth and access the cloud via Internet. What differs from this work is that another specific goal is aimed, which is the supervision of an ECG signal with specific requirements concerning sampled data rate and error control.

3 Internet of Things and Cloud Computing

New web services are influencing all aspects of new businesses model on today's life [7]. Nevertheless, only in 2005 the first article about this theme [8] was published by the ITU about this theme. By that time, ITU explained IoT as "a new dimension has been added to the world of information and communication technologies (ICT): at anytime, any place connectivity for anyone, we'll now have connectivity for anything." Since then, many new definitions for IoT has appeared like the one in 2009 from the Cluster of European Research projects on the Internet of things (CERP-IoT) that states: "a dynamic global network infrastructure with self capabilities based on standard and interoperable communication protocols where physical and virtual things have identities, physical attributes, virtual personalities, use intelligent interfaces and are seamlessly integrated into the information network" [9].

In this world of information with different network objects, according to [10] new definitions come up like Machine-to-Machine (M2M) communications related to the connection between two entities that don't need any human intervention, Mobile Cloud Computing (MCC) that is a combination of Cloud Computing and mobile networks as well as Smart Objects that are related to the objects like sensors, mobile devices or any other object on the network.

4 Application scenario and implementation

In this paper a solution is proposed to find a way for establishing a link between an ECG sensor and a local mobile device with flow and error control, as well as connecting the so called local mobile device with an extra remote device using cloud data storage, like showed in figure 1.



Fig. 1 Main idea of Cloud Computing

Among mobile devices on the market, most of them are equipped with android operation system. That is the main reason why this operational system was chosen. However most devices still have a simple Bluetooth hardware, they do not implement an appropriate Bluetooth protocol with flow control in asynchronous mode communications. Although Bluetooth has been developed to be implemented in many different scenarios, when a kind of oriented connection is necessary, its data flow control is handled only by the operational system, but not by the application itself. That's why one of the prior tasks to be implemented in this work was a data flow control algorithm, not only running on the sensor side but also implemented in the android device.

4.1 The ECG sensor

The first challenge faced by this work concerned an electrocardiographic (ECG) signal to be sent from a sensor physically connected to a microprocessor, more precisely an Arduino Nano board, that sends the ECG signal to a local mobile device like a mobile phone or tablet by Bluetooth, either with no errors or warning signals telling that the sensor is either far from the device or having problems sending the data. Signal loss must be prevented at all costs, because the project takes into account that the ECG must be appropriately sent, frame by frame, and in order to avoid the android screen from stopping responding or eventually even freezing.

The ECG waveform is first treated and conditioned to a 1 Vpp signal that is applied to an input pin of the Arduino board. Afterwards, the microprocessor's analog to digital converter (ADC) circuitry sample the input samples at a rate of 500 samples per second, storing the data internally before sending.



Fig 2. Frame Format

Within each four samples, a frame is generated as shown in figure 2 for further transmission. This frame contains a preamble, an index corresponding to the frame number, the four sampled data and a checksum code generated for the 4 samples. Within the time while the other three samples are only being stored for further transmission, the algorithm verify if there is any other frame that has not been correctly received yet by the android device, still then to be transmitted. This is shown in figure 3. In this case an error code is generated by the comparison between the checksum received with the one calculated from the received four samples. This code corresponds to the frame index number itself and it is sent back to the Arduino board that puts it into a buffer waiting for retransmission. This buffer is organized by an internal routine in ascending order, so that the oldest frame always has the priority to be retransmitted.



Fig 3.Sequence of four frames

This scheme of transmission was developed as a sort of oriented connection communication between the two parts involved as a simple solution for correcting few transmission errors that may happen by chance in low noise environments. The amount of errors handled by the Arduino board is limited to five frames as a fixed parameter. This means that no more than five frame indexes retransmitted back from the android device can be stored in the error vector in the Arduino side. The equivalent of a maximal 20 samples can be retransmitted. After that, a signal loss is shown in the screen and the transmission starts from the beginning.

The microcontroller keeps sending data frames to the android device and at the same time the interrupt service routine (ISR) receives data from the mobile device also by Bluetooth. Whenever an error code is detected by the local application, it is sent back to the Arduino board. The following figure 4 shows the timeline description of this procedure between the two parts.



Fig 4. Timeline between the microprocessor and the Arduino

4.2 The Android application side

In the Android application side, a specially designed thread exists to process the data received from the Bluetooth internal hardware, not mentioning the main activity responsible for showing it on the screen display. The thread treats each received frame, taking the four samples from it apart, for further checksum calculation. The calculated checksum is then compared with the one sent within the frame and if they differ from each other, the just received frame number is sent back to the Arduino asking for further retransmission by Bluetooth. In such case, this index frame number is stored by the local application in a local vector of errors still to be received correctly. Only when that same frame number is received correctly, the vector of errors storage is then reset.

The android screen is renewed every second corresponding to 500 samples that are contained in 125 frames. The 500 samples are sent at once to the main activity together with the number of errors count by the thread.

The user interface also lets the user decide whether or not to store the data in the cloud. For this purpose, parse cloud was selected because of its easy usage. In order to do so, the user simply has to click on the respective button at the main window user application. Parse.com deals with many sorts of data types, like strings, bytes, vectors of bytes, integers, etc, but unfortunately not with word vectors. As each sample corresponds to a 16-bit word, existing in this case a vector of 500 words to be sent to the remote cloud server, this vector must be split into two parts: the most significant byte vector and the least significant byte vector, both of size 500. The storage process works by storing these 2 byte vectors. The parse cloud focuses on making easier for the application developer to store data on its remote server, working as a backend for android applications.

Another thread in the local application works in android devices as a timer in order to prevent the application from stops responding. It counts until 1 second in 100ms steps. If for any reason the transmission fails or stops responding for more than 900ms, the system starts all over again, as the previous screen was lost. Figure 5 shows the flowchart of it.



Fig 5. Timer routine

4.3. The remote android application

The remote android application was simply designed to read the appropriate formatted data from the cloud server whenever it exists. When started, it waits for 10 seconds until some data arrives, otherwise an error message appears on the display. If there is data in the cloud, it starts reading and displaying 500 samples per second. There is also a rewind button that allows to start the reading from the beginning and another button to freeze the reading, working like a time-shift. In this last case, by pressing the resume button, it continues displaying from the point where it had stopped.

5. Final Comments

This article showed a new proposal for a more controlled communication between an ECG sensor node and a local android application concerning flow and error control, as well as proposes a way of easily sending data to a remote IP address linked to another specially designed android application, highlighting the convergence of mobile cloud computing and mobile health systems. In our approach, a secure connection algorithm was developed to establish the appropriate link to the local android application that displayed the ECG signal on the device screen, as well as let the data available at a remote cloud server, either for an online reading by a specially developed remote application or for a future reevaluation of the prestored signal whenever needed.

References

- 1. Fox,G. C., Kamburugamuve,S., Hartman, R. D.: Architecture and measured characteristics of a cloud based internet of things, In: 2012 International Conference on Collaboration Technologies and Systems (CTS 2012), pp. 6-12. DOI 10.1109/CTS.2012.6261020.
- 2 Soldatos, J., Serrano, M., Hauswirth, M.: Convergence of Utility Computing with the Internet-of-Things. In: 2012 Sixth International Conference on Innovative Mobile and Internet Services in Ubiquitous Computing (IMIS 2012), pp. 874-879. DOI 10.1109/IMIS.2012.135.
- 3 Zeng, W., Huang, C., Duan, B., Gong, F.: Research on internet of things of environment monitoring based on cloud computing. In: International Conference on Automatic Control and Artificial Intelligence (ACAI2012), pp. 1724-1727. DOI 10.1049/cp.2012.1320.
- 4 Zhou, J., Leppänen, T., Harjula, E., Ylianttila, M., Ojala, T., Yu, C., Jin, H., Yang, L.T.: CloudThings: A common rchitecture for integrating the Internet of Things with Cloud Computing. In: 2013 IEEE 17th International Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work in Design (CSCWD 2013), pp. 651-657. DOI 10.1109/CSCWD.2013.6581037.
- Gachet, D., de Buenaga, M., Aparicio, F., Padron, V.: Integrating Internet of Things and Cloud Computing for Health Services Provisioning. The Virtual Cloud Carer Project. In: 2012 Sixth International Conference on Innovative Mobile and Internet Services in Ubiquitous Computing (IMIS 2012), pp. 918-921. DOI 10.1109/IMIS.2012.25.
- Pereira, P. P., Eliasson, J., Kyusakov, R., Desling, J., Raayatinezhad, A., Johansson, M.: Enabling Cloud Connectivity for Mobile Internet of Things Applications, In: 2013 IEEE 7th International Symposium on Service Oriented System Engineering (SOSE 2013), pp. 518-526. DOI 10.1109/SOSE.2013.33.
- Fahim, M., Fatima, I., Sungyoung, L., Young-Koo, L.: Daily life activity tracking application for smart homes using android smartphone, In: 2012 14th International Conference on Advanced Communication Technology (ICACT 2012), pp. 241-245. INSPEC Accession Number: 12656592.
- 8. International Telecommunication Union: ITU Internet Report 2005: The Internet of Things, International Telecommunication Union, Geneva, 2005.
- Jain, A. K., Hong, L., Pankanti, S.: Internet of Things Strategic Research Roadmap, Tech. rep., Cluster of European Research projects on the Internet of Things, September, available in: http://www.internet-of-things-research.eu/pdf/IoTClusterStrategicResearchAgenda2009 .pdf
- 10.Vinh, T. L., Bouzefrane, S., Farinone, J.-M., Attar, A., Kennedy, B. P.: Middleware to Integrate Mobile Devices, Sensors and Cloud Computing. In: The 6th International Conference on Ambient Systems, Networks and Technologies (ANT-2015), DOI 10.1016/j.procs.2015.05.06.

The impact of the Security Competency on "Selfefficacy in Information Security" for Effective Health **Information Security in Iran**

Ahmad Bakhtivari Shahri^{1,1}. Shahram Mohanna¹

¹ Faculty of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Sistan and Baluchestan, Zahedan, Iran

Bakhtiyari@ece.usb.ac.ir

Abstract. The security effectiveness based on users' behaviors is becoming a top priority of Health Information System (HIS). In the first step of this study, through the review of previous studies 'Self-efficacy in Information Security' (SEIS) and 'Security Competency' (SCMP) were identified as the important factors to transforming HIS users to the first line of defense in the security. Subsequently, a conceptual model was proposed taking into mentioned factors for HIS security effectiveness. Then, this quantitative study used the structural equation modeling to examine the proposed model based on survey data collected from a sample of 263 HIS users from eight hospitals in Iran. The result shows that SEIS is one of the important factors to cultivate of good end users' behaviors toward HIS security effectiveness. However SCMP appears a feasible alternative to providing SEIS. This study also confirms the mediation effects of SEIS on the relationship between SCMP and HIS security effectiveness. The results of this research paper can be used by HIS and IT managers to implement their information security process more effectively.

Keywords: Health Information System; Security Effectiveness; Security Competency: Self-efficacy in Information Security.

1 Introduction

Health information system (HIS) is defined by the World Bank [1] as "system for the collection/processing of data from various sources, and using the information for policy making and management of health services"; in fact, HIS is the "key component of any health system".

However, the use of HIS is caused to reduce clinical errors and improve the quality of patient care; the importance of securing HIS increases progressively.

Healthcare organizations spend more on security technologies, both software and hardware and focus mostly on external attacks. However, the use of new security technologies does not minimize the number of security incidents. Literature on HIS

¹ Corresponding author.

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

security and data security has shown that cautious and unintentional users' behaviors may cause a threat to IS [2].

Some researchers identify and organize the significant threats related to HIS and found that the majority of HIS security incidents occur as a result of human factors and HIS users' behaviors [3-6], whereas some of the studies have identified users are a key threat to overall IS security [7-10].

Although the information security literature contains an abundance of studies, which have identified factors that mitigate information security risks [11, 12], very limited research has focused on studying HIS security and risks in the healthcare sector [4, 13] and less data exists on the nature and extent of security incidents in HIS; and most of the existing methods were based on technical viewpoint [14-16]. Therefore, it is important to focus on the HIS security effectiveness related behaviors of existing and possible HIS users [13, 17].

This study uses the definition of IS Security effectiveness that provided by Straub [18] based on people behaviors and introduces HIS security effectiveness as the ability of HIS security measures to protect the HIS assets against different threats by users' behaviors.

While some researches address the deterring bad end user behavior, there is a little study on promoting good end user behavior in security of information, particularly in healthcare domain [19, 20]. For example, Appari and Johnson [7] conducted a critical survey on importance the information security and privacy in healthcare organizations. They found that Accidental Disclosure, Insider Curiosity, Data Breach by Insider, Data Breach by Outsider with physical intrusion, and Unauthorized Intrusion of Network System that related or refer to user behavior s are the organizational threats to HIS.

Some researchers also focused on the human factor and proposed framework based on the criminological theory of General Deterrence (GDT) which provides theoretical justification for the use of security countermeasures as mechanisms to reduce IS misuse [18]. The most important thing about this theory is that the theory assumes that potential violators have malicious intentions. They also become aware of efforts to control anti-social behavior s such as punishment [19].

Since, users with low ability to protect IS' assets through negligence are one of the weakest security loopholes HIS [21] so, it is important for HIS user to exercise control over the information security events as a defense against threats to IS. Moreover, the IT managers need to understand the factors influencing end users' control-enhancing behavior [22]. To address this need, this study suggests that the self-efficacy of HIS users in information security can promote good end user behavior to reach HIS security effectiveness by affecting on users' motivation and action.

'Self-efficacy in Information Security' (SEIS) was defined by Rhee and et al. [8]. They suggested that users with SEIS can transform from the weakest link of IS to the first line of defense. In addition, because of the importance of end-user behavior on overall security, understanding factors influencing self-efficacy of HIS users in information security could provide helpful benefits for IT and HIS managers and information security professionals to assess the effectiveness of an information security program. This paper also covers the current understanding of self-efficacy in a new domain, health information security.
2 Self-efficacy in Information Security

Self-efficacy is defined as "the belief of people in their abilities to organize the motivation, understanding of resources, and courses of action needed to exercise control over occurred events" [23]. This belief allows people to exert difficult tasks as challenges to be solved and not as a threat that should be avoided [23].

Davis et al. [24] first discussed Computer Self-efficacy (CSE). Computer selfefficacy is an individual judgment of one's capability to utilize a computer [25]. Moreover, as CSE is the key factor in the adoption of technology in the every environment [26] therefore, some researchers have investigated the security selfefficacy in terms of computer self-efficacy [6], data security self-efficacy [27], selfefficacy on security behavior [28], and security professional effectiveness.

The study by Lending and Dillon [27] found that self-efficacy is used to facilitate the identification of the user's grasp of the privacy of confidential information and its effect on the implementation of HIS. They used a survey questionnaire from 600 hospital nursing staff. The results indicated that perceived confidentiality of health records and self-efficacy are concerned. Therefore, hospitals should consider steps to improve self-efficacy by enhancing confidentiality training.

Another study [8] provided a specific definition of 'Self-efficacy in information Security' (SEIS) as belief in people's ability to protect IS' assets from different internal or external threats such as unauthorized disclosure, modification, loss, destruction, and lack of availability. They also assessed the SEIS of 415 graduated students in the field of business in the U.S., and discovered that SEIS is widely different among the users. People with high self-efficacy use more security software for protection of their information. They strongly intend to apply more attempts to gain more powerful their information security not simply in terms of technology use but also in security aware care behavior.

The function of the human's psychological aspects such as self-efficacy for the security of the human technological environment was emphasized in another study [29]. Through evaluation of the SEIS of end users, the study demonstrated that self-efficacy in security varies extensively among the users. People with high self-efficacy use more security protection software and have stronger decisions to strengthen their data security. Furthermore, the study demonstrated that the past general computer and Internet experience have good influence, and previous security incidents have a negative effect on users' belief in self-efficacy in the security.

As discussed above, SEIS can be a significant factor to improve of the HIS users' behaviors in the information security issues. Therefore, it is introduced as an effective variable on the 'Security Effectiveness' construct in the research model. As such, the following hypothesis is suggested:

Hypothesis 1: 'Self-efficacy in Information Security' positively affects security effectiveness in health information systems.

3 Security Competency

Competency was defined by Rodriguez et al., [30] as "a measurable pattern of knowledge, skill, abilities, behaviors, and other characteristics that an individual needs to perform work roles or occupational functions successfully." Based on this definition, Mussa [31] defined 'Security Competency' (SCMP) as a model to measure the knowledge and other individual characteristics such as skills, abilities, and behaviors, which are needed to protect information against different threats. He developed a model with integration of the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) and the Health Belief Model (HBM) to measure and examines the health care professionals' prudent access control behavior.

Additionally, Yeratziotis et al. [32] evaluated the effectiveness and usability of security in two online health social networks and discovered that merging Human Computer Interaction, and Information Security can influence positively on their adoption by the patients.

Recent studies show that previous experiences about computer, and the Internet have a positive effect on users' self-efficacy and also previous security incidents could have negative influence on users' SEIS [8, 29]. Users, who have experienced using computers, are more knowledgeable about the threats to HIS; and when a threat had been received by users, experience causes the users to have a better understanding of this threat, and it would help decrease the effects of threats to IS.

It is important to note that there is a difference between SEIS and SCMP. SEIS reflects the belief in the person's capability to protect the information assets [8] whereas Security Competency is related to the actual knowledge and skills about protecting information assets [33].

Therefore, improving users' competence in security can improve the confidence of employees when a user places in adverse condition of using the IS assets [13]. It also makes the users feel that their behavior will not have any bad consequences [22].

The study predicts the effect of security competency on the users' SEIS base on Mussa' study and develops and adopts this relation for security of HIS and offers the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 2: 'Security Competency' is related to the perceived 'Self-efficacy in Information Security' of HIS users towards HIS security effectiveness.

4 Research Methodology

Through the review of previous studies and based on secondary data this study identified SEIS as the significant factor that improve the HIS users' behavior in security issues. In addition, the study predicts the effect of SCMP on the users' SEIS. Therefore, a conceptual model is proposed taking into the mentioned constructs for HIS security effectiveness.

A quantitative research design was established for this study. The data were gathered using a survey instrument from HIS users of eight hospitals in Iran, in 2015. The Analysis of Moment Structures (AMOS) software was employed in testing the research hypothesis (Fig 1).



Fig. 1. The Concept Model of the HIS Security Effectiveness based on Self-efficacy of user in Information Security

4.1 Instrument

The study constructed a survey instrument by adopting measures from previous research [31, 33-36] and modified for health information systems.

The survey validation review process was done by experts from the field of information technology as well as the health industry. Ahead of the data analyzing process, the survey instrument was validated through pilot study. The pilot test was done by random distributing of 34 questionnaires among HIS users in a hospital.

4.2 Data Collection

This research was done in eight hospitals in the province of Sistan and Baluchetan in southeast of Iran. The survey instrument was distributed among 500 HIS users and 367 questionnaires (approximately 75%) were delivered to the researcher. After preanalysis data screening and outlier detection process, 263 usable questionnaires (76%) were available for final analysis.

5 Data Analysis

The structural modeling approach is implemented to test the relationships among the constructs.

The model fit indicators that were used for model fit in this study are normal chisquare (CMIN/df), goodness-of-fit index (GFI), adjusted goodness-of-fit (AGFI), comparative fit index (CFI), Tucker Lewis Index (TLI), and the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA). Briefly, the fit is acceptable if TLI, CFI, and GFI are 0.90 or greater and RMSEA is 0.10 or less [37].

The overall qualities of model fit indicators for modified constructs are presented in Table 1.

CMIN/DF	CFI	RMSEA	GFI	AGFI	TLI
1.790	0.974	0.055	0.945	0.912	0.965

Table 1. Summary of Final Model Fit Values

The test of the hypothesis is the second step in model estimation. The significance of two offered hypotheses was measured by a multiple regression analysis test.

The model also confirms significant associations between Information HIS Security Effectiveness (SEFF) and Self-efficacy in Information Security. The relationship between Information Security Competency (ISCM) and Self-efficacy in Information Security is also significant at p < 0.001.

6.1 Relationship between 'Self-efficacy in Information Security' and 'Security Effectiveness'

The first hypothesis is:

H1: 'Self-efficacy in Information Security' positively affects HIS security effectiveness.

The findings in Table 3Error! Reference source not found. indicated that SEIS significantly and positively predicted 'HIS Security Effectiveness' with a standardized regression coefficient of 0.191. HIS users who possess an experience in the use of more security software for protection of their information are more knowledgeable about the threats to HIS. It would help diminish the effects of threats to HIS [8].

6.2 Relationship between 'Security Competency' and 'Self-efficacy in Information Security'

The second hypothesis analyses the relationship between SCMP and SEIS. The Hypothesis is:

H2: There is a strong relationship between 'Security Competency' and 'Selfefficacy in Information Security'.

As illustrated in Table 2 the standardized regression coefficient between SCMP and SEIS was statistically significant (0.304, p<0.001) and had a positive relationship. Therefore H2 was supported, i.e., SEIS will be increased by improving the security competency of HIS users. The outcome is consistent with prior empirical study [31]. The results demonstrate that both hypotheses were supported.

Hypothesis		Variab	le	Estimate	Sig.	Supported
H1	SEFF	<	SEIS	0.191	<.001	Yes
H2	SEIS	<	SCMP	0.304	<.001	Yes

Table 2. Hypothesis Tests

6.3 Analysis of Mediation Effect of SEIS on the Relationship between SCMP and 'HIS Security Effectiveness'

However, the best-fitting model test yielded support for the mediating role of the SEIS, to address the extent of the relations between SCMP (independent variables) and 'HIS Security Effectiveness' (dependent variable), additional tests were necessary. According to the SEM analysis that is shown in Table 3, there is a significant direct and indirect effect of 'Security Competency' on 'HIS Security Effectiveness'. Thus, the unmediated relationship is significant as well as SCMP to SEIS as the mediator and the mediator to 'HIS Security Effectiveness' relationships. In fact, three direct effects are individually significant. The results therefore support the partially mediating of SEIS in the relationship between SCMP, and 'HIS Security Effectiveness'. The outcomes also confirm the hypothesis 2.

Table 3. Mediating Effect in the Relationship between SCMP and 'HIS Security Effectiveness

Relationship	Direct effect		Direct with Mediator	Type of Mediator
SCMP-SEIS-SEFF	SCMP-SEFF	0.42 (0.001)		
	SCMP-SEIS	0.45 (0.001)	0.25 (0.001)	Partial Mediation
	SEIS-SEFF	0.56 (0.001)		Wiedlation

Fig 2 presents an illustration of the final model fit tests with path diagram of the final model. The model has one dependent variable ('HIS Security Effectiveness') and two independent variables (SEIS and SCMP) with direct impact on the dependent variable. The result indicates that all values are shown fit model indicators are very good (Fig 2).



Fig. 2. The Final Model for HIS Security Effectiveness

7 Discussion

The purpose of this section is to provide the findings of all analyses performed and the results of the two research hypothesis. The paper presented the results of an empirical examination designed to assess the contribution of SEIS and 'SCMP to 'HIS security effectiveness' in Iran.

The proposed model was tested to achieve the research objectives based on a quantitative methodology that involves fitting a hypothetical model to the observed data and examine the hypothesized relationships.

SEM using AMOS was used to analyze the research hypotheses. The research results showed that SEIS significantly and positively predicted HIS Security effectiveness, while 'Security Competency' significantly predicted 'SEIS'.

Therefore, it becomes a critical contributor to achieving the security effectiveness of HIS. Moreover, by the use of two different mediator tests for SEIS, it found that SEIS has a mediating effect between SCMP construct and 'HIS Security Effectiveness'. This shows that users with high 'SEIS' have more conscious of safety and security, and have strength intentions to exert more effort to make stronger their information security.

8 Implication

The findings of this study validate previous studies on all positive antecedents toward HIS security effectiveness. It provides evidence to support the promotion of HIS security effectiveness based on user behaviors besides technological solutions. There is a paucity of study on users' behavior especially in the healthcare domain. In spite of that, this study concentrates on user behaviors of Iranian HIS users from eight hospitals. Hence, this study is timely and adds empirical evidence to HIS security research.

From practical perception, this study has the potential to contribute hospital administrator particularly the HIS administrators in Iran. Results from this study will facilitate a better understanding of the causes of some HIS security incidents, thus HIS administrators can examine the HIS security effectiveness from the perspective of users' behavior. Moreover, HIS administrators may be able to assess the strengths and weaknesses of their HIS security. The research outcomes may also assists HIS administrators in addressing IT strategies, to design the policies and regulations to establish effective security in HIS taking into consideration HIS users' behaviors. This implies that insights on HIS users' behavior play a role in enhancing HIS security effectiveness, which will ultimately assist health organizations in providing secured patient data.

9 Conclusion

The users have been identified as the weakest link in the chain of security of HIS. In order to transform HIS users to the first line of defense in the security of HIS, this research proposed a model for HIS security effectiveness. It examined the impact of SEIS and SCMP on HIS security effectiveness in Iran.

However, SEIS has never applied in HIS security effectiveness; and past studies have investigated the security self-efficacy in terms of computer self-efficacy [6], data security self-efficacy [27], self-efficacy on security behavior [38]. Brady [39] used 'Computer Self-efficacy' construct in the proposed model for HIPAA security compliance, but he could not find a strong relationship between it and predicting HIPAA security compliance. Therefore, following a comprehensive literature review, this study identified 'Self efficacy in Information Security' that suggest by Rhee and et al. [8] and 'Security Competency' suggested by Mussa [31] as possible contributing factors to HIS security effectiveness.

In an effort to better understand how these variables interact and impact each other, a predictive study was designed to investigate the incorporation of SCMP and SEIS, and their effect on HIS security effectiveness in Iran. SEIS was also examined as a mediator variable.

This study made significant contributions to the body of literature in terms of variables and the population under investigation. The proposed model in this study has not been tested before in the real health information system with actual HIS users. The result shows that SEIS is one of the important factors to cultivate of users' behavior s toward HIS security effectiveness. However SCMP appears a feasible alternative to providing SEIS.

The paper shows that, SCMP influence SEIS of HIS users, and further impact HIS security effectiveness. This study also confirms the mediating effects of SEIS on the relationship between SCMP and 'HIS security effectiveness'.

The results of this research paper will provide some guidance and insights to both researchers and professionals of information security in the health care domain. It can also be used by HIS and IT managers to implement their information security process more effectively.

References

- Health Information Systems, 27 07 2009. [Online]. Available: http://go.worldbank.org/ XFTO56S8S0.
- Chu, A.M. and P.Y. Chau, Development and Validation of Instruments of Information Security Deviant Behavior. Decision Support Systems, 2014. 66: p. 93-101.
- Hagen, J.M., The Contributions of Information Security Culture and Human Relations to the Improvement of Situational Awareness, in Situational Awareness in Computer Network Defense: Principles, Methods and Applications. 2012, Cyril Onwubiko: UK.
- Appari, A. and M.E. Johnson, Information Security and Privacy in Healthcare: Current State of Research. International Journal of Internet and Enterprise Management, 2010. 6(4): p. 279-314.

- Asai, T. and S. Fernando, Human-Related Problems in Information Security in Thai Cross-Cultural Environments. Contemporary Management Research, 2011. 7(2): p. 117-142.
- Ma, Q., A.C. Johnston, and J.M. Pearson, Information Security Management Objectives and Practices: A Parsimonious Framework. Information Management & Computer Security, 2008. 16(3): p. 251-270.
- 7. Sedlack, D.J. and G.P.S. Tejay. Improving Information Security Through Technological Frames of Reference. in Southern Association for Information Systems Conference. 2011. Atlanta, GA, USA.
- Rhee, H.S., C. Kim, and Y.U. Ryu, Self-Efficacy in Information Security: Its Influence on End Users' Information Security Practice Behavior. Computers & Security, 2009. 28(8): p. 816-826.
- 9. Al-Omari, A., O. El-Gayar, and A. Deokar. Security Policy Compliance: User Acceptance Perspective. in 45th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS). 2012. USA: IEEE.
- 10.Doherty, N.F., L. Anastasakis, and H. Fulford, Reinforcing the Security of Corporate Information Resources: A Critical Review of the Role of the Acceptable Use Policy. International Journal of Information Management, 2011. 31(3): p. 201-209.
- 11.D'Arcy, J. and A. Hovav, Does One Size Fit All? Examining the Differential Effects of IS Security Countermeasures. Journal of Business Ethics, 2009. 89: p. 59-71.
- Knapp, K.J., et al., Information Security Policy: An Organizational-Level Process Model. Computers & Security, 2009. 28(7): p. 493-508.
- 13. Rindfleisch, T.C., Privacy, Information Technology, and Health Care. Communications of the ACM, 1997. 40(8): p. 92-100.
- 14.Dimitropoulos, L. and S. Rizk, A State-Based Approach to Privacy and Security for Interoperable Health Information Exchange. Health Affairs, 2009. 28(2): p. 428-434.
- 15.Benhocine, A., L. Laouamer, and H. Hadji, Toward an Efficient Security: A New Methodology for Information Security. Journal of Economics and Administration, 2011. 1(1).
- 16.Yoon, C. and H. Kim, Understanding Computer Security Behavioral Intention in the Workplace: An Empirical Study of Korean Firms. Information Technology & People, 2013. 26(4): p. 401-419.
- 17.Aydın, Ö.M. and O. Chouseinoglou, Fuzzy Assessment of Health Information System Users' Security Awareness. Journal of Medical Systems, 2013. 37(6): p. 1-13.
- 18.Straub, D.W., Effective IS Security. Information Systems Research, 1990. 1(3): p. 255-276.
- 19.Stanton, J.M., et al., Analysis of End User Security Behaviors. Computers & Security, 2005. 24(2): p. 124-133.
- 20.Sandoval, R., Information Technology Change and the Effects on User Behavior and Cyber Security. 2015.
- 21.Farzandipour, M., et al., Security Requirements and Solutions in Electronic Health Records: Lessons Learned from a Comparative Study. Journal of Medical Systems, 2010. 34(4): p. 629-642.
- 22.Bandura, A., Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. 1986, Englewood Cliffs NJ: Prentice Hall.
- 23.Bandura, A., Perceived Self-Efficacy in the Exercise of Control Over AIDS Infection. Evaluation and Program Planning, 1990. 13(1): p. 9-17.
- 24.Davis, F.D., R.P. Bagozzi, and P.R. Warshaw, User Acceptance of Computer Technology: A Comparison of Two Theoretical Models. Management Science, 1989. 35(8): p. 982-1003.
- 25.Madhavan, P. and R.R. Phillips, Effects of Computer Self-efficacy and System Reliability on User Interaction with Decision Support Systems. Computers in Human Behavior, 2010. 26(2): p. 199-204.
- 26.Thatcher, J.B., et al., Individual and Human-Assisted Computer Self Efficacy: An Empirical Examination. Wirtschaftinformatik Proceedings 2007, 2007. Paper 68: p. 199-216.

- 27.Lending, D. and T.W. Dillon, The Effects of Confidentiality on Nursing Self-Efficacy with Information Systems. International Journal of Healthcare Information Systems and Informatics, 2007. 2(3): p. 49-64.
- 28.He, W., X. Yuan, and X. Tian. The Self-Efficacy Variable in Behavioral Information Security Research. in Enterprise Systems Conference (ES), 2014. 2014: IEEE.
- 29.Enrici, I., M. Ancilli, and A. Lioy. A Psychological Approach to Information Technology Security. in 3rd Conference on System Interactions Human. 2010. Torino, Italy: IEEE.
- 30.Rodriguez, D., et al., Developing Competency Models to Promote Integrated Human Resource Practices. Human Resource Management, 2002. 41(3): p. 309-324.
- 31.Mussa, C.C., A Prudent Access Control Behavioral Intention Model for the Healthcare Domain, in Computer and Information Sciences. 2012, Nova Southeastern University.
- 32.Yeratziotis, A., D. Van Greunen, and D. Pottas. Recommendations for Usable Security in Online Health Social Networks. in 6th International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Applications (ICPCA). 2011. Port Elizabeth: IEEE.
- 33.Taneja, A., Determinants of Adverse Usage of Information Systems Assets: A Study of Antecedents of IS Exploit in Organizations, in Faculty of the Graduate School. 2007, THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT ARLINGTON.
- 34.Brady, J., An Investigation of Factors that Affect HIPAA Security Compliance in Academic Medical Centers. 2010, Nova Southeastern University: Florida, USA. p. 219.
- 35.Workman, M., W.H. Bommer, and D. Straub, Security Lapses and the Omission of Information Security Measures: A Threat Control Model and Empirical Test. Computers in Human Behavior, 2008. 24(6): p. 2799-2816.
- 36.Chan, M., I. Woon, and A. Kankanhalli, Perceptions of Information Security in the Workplace: Linking Information Security Climate to Compliant Behavior. Journal of Information Privacy and Security, 2005. 1(3): p. 18-41.
- 37. Hair, J., et al., Multivariate Data Analysis. (7th). 2010, New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- 38.Ng, B.Y., A. Kankanhalli, and Y.C. Xu, Studying Users' Computer Security Behavior: A Health Belief Perspective. Decision Support Systems, 2009. 46(4): p. 815-825.
- 39.Brady, J.W. Securing Health Care: Assessing Factors That Affect HIPAA Security Compliance in Academic Medical Centers. in 44th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences. 2011. Kauai, HI: IEEE.

Evaluating the Use of Gamification in *m-Health* Lifestyle-related Applications

Marcílio Souza-Júnior¹, Laize Queiroz¹, Jorge Correia-Neto², Guilherme Vilar² ¹ IFAL, R. Dr. Odilon Vasconcelos, 103 - Maceió – AL – Brazil - 57035-660 ² UFRPE - PPGIA, Rua Dom Manoel de Medeiros, s/n, Recife – PE – Brazil - 52171-900 marcilio@ifal.edu.br, lalasq@hotmail.com, {jorgecorreianeto, guilherme.vilar}@gmail.com

Abstract. The concept of applications (apps) as medical devices emerges as an important one in the field of mobile health (m-health). Within this field, apps have been used as tools that can drastically change the quality of healthcare on a global scale, as well as radically alter the reach of medical investigation. The use of gamification techniques to inspire the experience of app users has also stimulated the field of m-health, using the mechanics of games to improve the thought processes of app users. The article evaluates four m-health apps from the standpoint of the gamification of their functionalities. To this end, we have adopted the analytical framework of Werback and Hunter and used a six-step system. Our results empirically confirm some of the evidence found in the current literature; that is, the majority of apps that use gamification elements aim to achieve publicity as a secondary objective.

Keywords: m-health; gamification; wellness applications.

1 Introduction

The rising use of smartphones – given the improvements in their connectivity and usability, as well as reduction in their $\cot -$ has made it so that mobile connectivity surpasses the time that people spend watching TV [1]. Through their smartphones, individuals can manage their finances, travel plans, entertainment, health, and education [2, 3], particularly by using increasingly interactive applications (apps). As of 2012, there were over 40.000 health-related apps in operation.

The alignment between mobility, mobile devices, and health led to the emergence of the field of mobile health (m-health) [4]. The Global Observatory for eHealth (GOe) defines m-health as the practice of medicine and public health supported by mobile devices, which have portable sensors that can turn these mobile devices into diagnostic tools capable of processing medical information - such as glucometers or heart rate / blood pressure sensors. These devices collect real time data and are backed by automated clinical tools that support decision-making [5].

In this context, the concept of "apps as medical devices" emerges as an important one in the field of m-health. Within this field, apps have been used as tools that can

- Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies,
- Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_7

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

drastically change the quality of healthcare on a global scale, as well as radically alter the reach of medical investigation [1, 2].

On the other hand, gamification techniques can improve the experience of app users in m-health because gaming mechanics engage and stimulate the users' desire to solve problems (including health ones) [6], as long as these mechanics are carefully and correctly implemented [7].

First introduced in early 2000, the term gamification describes the use of the structural elements of games for some purpose beyond pure entertainment, using these elements to stimulate desired behaviors and practical results. By 2020, it is estimated that up to 85% of individuals' routines will be based on common gamification elements [8]. Common examples are business fidelity programs, which use the mechanisms of rewards, return, and challenge to keep costumers motivated [9].

As Deterding et al. [10] explains, for a process or a product to be gamified, it must display at least four basic game characteristics: objectives, defined rules, feedback systems, and voluntary participation. In this manner, it is possible to transform user experience in a fun, involving practice.

In the field of m-health, the techniques of gamification emerged as a way to add value to apps, allowing users to realize that improving their health is not only their responsibility, but is also as a way for them to achieve wellness [9], which is more motivating and personalized [11].

However, certain aspects of usability, the idea of being monitored, or using an app that does not create a compromise are still challenges for m-health [12]. Considering the growing need for mobile apps that are user-friendly and inter-operable in the field of health, wellness, and lifestyle [1, 13], we posited the following research question: which techniques of gamification are currently being used in lifestyle-related mhealth applications to maximize user engagement and experience?

The present study aims to evaluate m-health apps from the standpoint of the gamification of their functionality, identifying the elements of gamification used in them. This study focuses on mobile apps related to user's physical activity, wellness, and lifestyle. To this end, we adopted the analytical framework of Werbach and Hunter [14]. This article is structured in the following manner: the following section describes the current literature in the field, section 3 describes the methodology adopted in this study, section 4 describes the study results, and section 5 discusses final considerations.

2 Literature Review

This section discusses concepts related to mobile technologies and gamification, with a focus on its health applications, which underlies theoretically this study.

2.1 Mobile technologies and health

The use of mobile technologies is increasingly a part of global culture because "the contemporary practices linked to technology and cyber-culture have configured contemporary culture as a culture of mobility" [15, p. 10].

Focusing on health information, McCallum [11, p. 2] ponders that this demands the "registering of all actions taken by other professionals that are involved in this field, beyond those that directly or indirectly contribute to the quality of patient care", even when this involves technological aspects, such as e-health and m-health.

E-health involves the use of information and communication technologies (ICTs), especially the internet, to improve health and healthcare. This is an emerging field at the intersection between medical informatics, public health, and businesses, and refers to health services and health information delivered or reinforced through ICTs [16]. Besides that, it supports several groups of people, as particularly communities in need, due to its easy scalability [5].

As a subfield of e-health, m-health is defined as the practice of medicine and public health through mobile devices that collect community data and deliver health information to healthcare professionals, researchers, and beneficiaries, monitoring in real time the vital signs of users and the delivery of direct services [17].

There is a wide range of uses for apps in the field of health, from simple text message reminders that remind an user to apply sunscreen to more sophisticated apps that help an user manage diabetes. The most popular categories of apps are related to drug use, to the support for clinical decision-making and communication, and to electronic registries of medical materials and health education [2, 3].

Even though there is currently no evidence of its efficacy, there are factors that call for studying the use of m-health in terms of increasing quality of care, access to care, health outcomes data, particularly in places where those were previously scarce or inexistent [4], such as the African continent – where the mobile devices have reached 433 million users [18].

2.2 Gamification and health

Gamification techniques that motivate, engage, and develop loyalty are very common in the fields of business, education, and health [8, 11]. However, games and gamification are not the same thing. Games are "related to ways of playing in a free and spontaneous manner, controlled by their own rules (which are different from the real world), and exist in a fictitious reality, voluntarily created for the purposes of playing" [19, p. 9]. Therefore, the mission that a gamer must accomplish in a game does not fulfill any significant purpose, and also has a defined beginning and a defined end to be reached.

In this manner, gamification is usually different because its objectives are presented in a non-ambiguous manner as the interaction happens. That is, as the design is developed, it aims to achieve goals, experiment new strategies, and address new challenges [9, 11]

Despite the polysemy, Deterding and colleagues [19, p. 2] describe gamification as "the use of the design elements of games in non-game contexts" to the end of addressing human motivation. On one hand, motivation can be thought of as extrinsic to the person or the task, such as external rewards and status; on another hand, it can be though of as intrinsic, emerging from the inside in search of novelty, entertainment, or new abilities [11].

In sum, the seven main elements of games are [11, 14, 20]: points, levels, leaderboards, badges, challenges, onboarding loops, and engagement loops.

Several scholars [9, 11] have presented gamification models; this study, however, adopted the framework proposed by Werbach and Hunter [14]. They provide a schematic of gamification techniques in the shape of a three-level pyramid: dynamics (theme and storyline told to promote user interaction), mechanics (details of the interaction, gears, paths, and rewards), and components (elements such as unlocking levels or visual representations through avatars).

At the level of dynamics, there are the emotions (happiness, achievement, or sadness, all of which can encourage users' continuing engagement), the narrative (structure of ideas and consistency of the path), progression (measures the efforts and the results obtained by the user), and relationships (interaction with other users).

At the level of the mechanics, there are challenges (objectives that users aim to achieve), luck (random results that can cause surprise or uncertainty), winner status (indicative of whether a user has or has not won), feedback (progress), resource acquisition (items that can be collected to aid in achieving the user's objective), rewards (received for enacting a certain action), and turns (actions and moments).

Finally, at the level of the components, there are attainments (objects received when the user completes a task), avatars (visual representations of the users), medals (visual representations of the user's status), challenges (complex challenges between the last remaining users), collections (pieces that must be grouped to achieve a goal or transaction), combat (duel), unblocking (possibility of accessing a certain space within the game), leaderboard (of users and their point counts), levels (progress aimed at engaging), and teams (teamwork in achieving an objective).

In this manner, Werbach and Hunter [14] have defined a six-step framework for implementing gamification in a system:

- 1. Define objectives: to have performance objectives with measurable goals, ranked by importance in order to prioritize ends;
- 2. Define desired behaviors: identify what actions are expected from the users and relate them to the actions users must do while interacting with the system;
- 3. Describe users: collect fundamental information, including how users understand the gamified system, as well as their behaviors within the game – such as: what kind of person will use the system? How can we motivate them? What is the difficulty involved in completing these tasks without gamification?
- 4. Define engagement loops: the objective is that the users, as they learn from their own mistakes, will be motivated to try again. When defining levels to finish a challenge, there can be a feedback that inspires the user to get additional points or discover new sceneries;
- 5. Entertainment: propose rules and elements while at the same time allowing for fun, making it so that the user voluntarily chooses to engage with the system, and making the system attractive whether the user gets something in exchange for participating or not;

6. Correct use of tools: verify which are the best elements to use in the system, given that there are a wide range of elements that can be applied depending on which is the target public and the issue that the system desires to address.

In the health field, the topic of interest for the present study, there are internal barriers that individuals try to overcome such as confidence, anxiety, frustration, etc. This makes it so that individuals feel stuck and fail to improve or achieve their intended objectives. However, by using components of gamification, health apps can engage their users in ludic, interactive situations that seek to improve their clinical status [2].

In m-health apps, we add the idea of turning the smartphone into an auxiliary device (that can, as an example, collect blood measurements to identify blood sugar levels), and therefore obtain several benefits to the patients and to healthcare (as an example, through the reduction in potential hospital visits and stays).

The merge between the fields of gamification and m-health is starting to present relevant results. One example is a pilot study done with adolescents with diabetes type 1, which demonstrates that using gamified elements leads to an increase in daily blood sugar measurements that are needed to control the condition [21].

3 Methodology

This study aimed to explore which gamification techniques are used in m-health wellness apps, and how these techniques are used. To that end, this study employed a qualitative, exploratory design; we assume that there is a dynamic relationship between the real world and its subjects, that is, an unbreakable bond between the objective world and the subjectivity of individuals that cannot be translated into numbers [15]. That is, the evaluation of m-health apps can be charged with the beliefs and values of the researcher, even if these are mitigated by a scientifically rigorous and internally valid study design.

Initially, we conducted a literature review on the topic of gamification which allowed us to identify the framework by Werbach and Hunter [14] as the analytical strategy to be adopted for the evaluation of gamified m-health apps, because it defines a schematic model of gamification techniques.

Then, the selection of apps to be evaluated in this study also followed specific steps. First, we defined the operational system and the app store to be used in the search; we selected the Android system because is available in 70% of all mobile devices [1]. We conducted a search in the virtual store of Google© Play Store using the search strings "gamified health apps", "best gamified apps", "gamified wellness apps", "health apps using gamification", and "m-health apps with gamification"; this search resulted in a list with 200 apps. A second filter was applied to this list, focusing on lifestyle and wellness apps, and adopting a research instrument for data collection which contained the following inclusion criteria: Google[©] screens apps submitted for distribution through the store for objectionable content and categorizes them based on functionality and developers' descriptions. We analyzed apps in the "Health & Fitness" Google[©] Play Store category, which are further grouped on the basis of popularity and other attributes. This new list contained 15 apps: Atari, Couch-

to-5k, Dieta e saúde, Fitocracy, FitBit, GymPact, Nike+ Training Club, MapMyFitness, Meu Orientador de Dietas, MyFitnessPal, Runtastic butt trainer, RunKeeper, Strava, TecnoNutri e Zumbies. Finally, we elected 4 (four) apps for the final analysis considering the number of cumulative downloads and positive reviews from users; two of these supported physical activity and two other focused on eating habits: FitBit (in English and free), RunKeeper, Meu Orientador de Dietas (from hereon, My Diet Guide), and MyFitnessPal (these three were available in Portuguese and were also free).

4 Results and Discussion

Figure 1 illustrates four main screens of the FitBit, My Diet Guide, MyFitnessPal, and RunKeeper, in this order. It is noteworthy that the researchers themselves installed and tested each of the selected apps, according the research design. Moreover, in the discussions that follow, gamified elements identified were grouped into categories: dynamics, mechanics and components.



Fig. 1. Main screens of the four evaluated apps in this study.

The **FitBit** app has the <u>objective</u> of evaluating user performance through measurable goals, which are represented in graphs and icons throughout the app. Regarding the <u>definition of desired behaviors</u>, the app shows the user which exercises can be practiced, associating them to eating habits and heart rate. This app connects with "wearables". When using the smartphone, the option of measuring heart rate was not shown, but it did allow for entering how much liquid was ingested during the day.

As far as <u>describing its users</u>, we could not locate any kind of definition of which users should engage with this application; it was assumed that any individual without physical limitations (i.e.: inability to walk or run) can use the app.

Regarding the <u>engagement loops</u>, motivation was provided through badges, which can be shared with friends through social networks. <u>Entertainment</u> was inferred from the elaborated structure of icons and user interaction through the use of vibrant colors.

Evaluating the Use of Gamification ...

In regards to the <u>correct use of tools</u>, the app shows user progress. In addition, connecting with other tools makes the exercise less exhausting, allowing the user to develop his or her own achievable goal. Table 1 summarizes the elements identified in this app, according to the framework by Werbach and Hunter [14].

Table 1. Gamified elements identified in FitBit.

Dynamics	Mechanics	Components
Progression, Relationship	Challenge, Competition and	Achieving Goals, Avatar,
	Cooperation, Feedback,	Medals, Collections,
	Acquisition of Resources and	Leaderboard, Levels, Points,
	Rewards	Social Graph

The app **My Diet Guide**, in its <u>objectives</u>, demonstrates the users' performances and goals through images of the users themselves; in addition, it also uses avatars and pre-defined incentive messages through multiple systems from which users can select the one that better fits their profile.

Regarding the <u>definition of desired behaviors</u>, the app presents – in an interactive manner – how and when the user should eat healthy foods, ingest a specific amount of liquids, engage in physical activity, etc. Icons and alert messages can be programmed by the users themselves.

When <u>describing its users</u>, the app focuses on women of all ages that want to follow a diet. To <u>define engagement loops</u>, it tries to motivate users through the use of incentive messages, throught pictures of the users themselves (before and after), through avatars that implement wardrobe changes (each completed goal earns the user a new clothing item or accessory), and through incentives to eat fresh fruits/vegetables and practice physical activities.

As far as <u>entertainment</u> goes, the app shows icons and tips, in addition to the user's progress – the latter is shown using the avatar, which can lose or gain weight. Regarding the <u>correct use of tools</u>, the system uses knowledge of its target audience to develop the app and to motivate users. Table 2 summarizes these elements.

 Table 2. Gamified elements identified in My Diet Guide.

Dynamics	Mechanics	Components
Restrictions, Progress	Challenges, Feedback	Achievements, Avatar,
	Resource Acquisition, Turns	Rewards, Points

The **MyFitnessPal** app presents its objectives, in a summarized manner, as achieving the goals set by the users themselves, along with information on eating habits and friends in common.

As far as <u>defining desired behaviors</u>, the app demonstrates what is expected from the users; however, the first time around, the app can seem confusing because it offers limited guidance and information. The main screen contains a couple news/tips about eating habits and trackers that start at zero. This makes the app somewhat simplistic and intimidating, given that it does not offer help to users as they take their first steps; as an example, when a user wants to add a food item to their food diary, the plus (+) item is not immediately shown on the screen, and only appears after the user touches the screen. Another issue regards the list of food items, which has only one explanation – located at the bottom of the screen, where it can be hard to see.

Regarding the <u>description of the users</u>, the app does not offer any indication as to who constitutes its target audience, indicating that any individual who might need a food diary can use the app for that purpose. <u>Motivation</u> happens through different notifications either at meal times or inform users about how many days have passed since they last filled their food diary.

While evaluating this app, it was not possible to identify <u>engagement loops</u> or <u>entertainment</u>. The app also lacked the characteristic of <u>correct use of tools</u>. The element of gamification most employed in this app was <u>motivation</u> generated through social media connection and user evolution. Table 3 summarizes these elements.

Table 3. Gamified elements identified in MyFitnessPal.

Dynamics	Mechanics	Components
Progression, Relationships	Challenges, Competition,	Avatar, Leaderboard, Social
	Cooperation, Feedback	Graph

The **Runkeeper** app, in its <u>definition</u>, exhibits goals achieved over time, graphs, and a map of the user's running trajectories. Regarding the <u>definition of desired</u> <u>behaviors</u>, the app displays the logo in the main screen, what it expects the users to do, and the options of exercise users can choose from.

It was not possible to identify any description of who should use the app, therefore indicating that the app may be used by anyone that wishes to keep track of physical activity. <u>Motivation</u> in this app comes from the self-imposed goals that users set for themselves, can evaluate through statistics and share through social media – including their trajectory, the music they listened to, and the pictures taken during their run.

This app does not include a definition of the <u>engagement loop</u>, given that the users themselves set goals and sceneries – such as the places where they will exercise, a congratulatory message for feedback – and the app offers feedback through messages that praise users for achieving their goals.

<u>Entertainment</u> in this system happens through the use of colorful graphs and the trajectory maps created by users as they run, as well as the functionality of listening to music and taking pictures while exercising. Regarding the <u>correct use of tools</u>, there is not a clear definition of the intended target audience. Elements of gamification most commonly used were sharing running routes and maps with friends on social media. Table 4 summarizes the elements identified in this app.

 Table 4. Gamified elements identified in Runkeeper.

Dynamics	Mechanics	Components
Progress,	Challenges, Competition, Cooperation,	Attainment, Avatar,
Relationships	Feedback	Leaderboard, Points, Social
_		Graph, Teams

In summary, Table 5 illustrates the general evaluation of the four apps included in this study. My Diet Guide app was the one that most fulfilled the gamification elements adopted and MyFitnessPal was the weaker one.

	FitBit	My Diet Guide	MyFitnessPal	Runkeeper
Objective	Y	Y	Y	Y
Definition of desired behaviors	Y	Y	Y	Y
Description of the users		Y		
Engagement loops	Y	Y		
Entertainment	Y	Y		Y
Correct use of tools	Y	Y		

 Table 5. Summary of the evaluation of four m-health lifestyle-related apps.

Furthermore, we found that there is a trend in the mechanics of gaming apps; however, we identified an emphasis on a single element, namely, the sharing of user data in social networks as a way to raise interest among other users and as a means of free publicity for the app. Results have also empirically confirmed the evidence found on the literature indicating that the majority of apps use gamification elements as a way to get publicity, to the exclusion of other elements from the literature model [14].

5 Final considerations

The present study was motivated by the need for further studies on the theme of mobile health, especially as it concerns its use of gamification. Despite the fact that there are models for the use of gamification in the literature, we found that there are still deviations in the ways used to engage users through gamified techniques. Most apps emphasize social interaction; this happens when users share data with each other; while it creates a competition of sorts, it also works as advertising – because it encourages others to use the same app.

We indicate that there is no regulating office that promote app health policies, despite the existence of a wealth of apps focused on health and wellness. We also must note that we lack methods to measure the utilization and the quality of these apps. However, we observed a great demand for m-health apps, which indicates a concern among users with their well-being and quality of life.

Our analysis and results indicate that dissemination of apps aimed at supporting healthcare is, in large part, related to physical activity conditioning. In addition, even without public policies, the apps that display the most gamified techniques have reached broader acceptance and utilization levels and are well rated among users – as indicated by comments posted on the virtual app stores. Suggestions for future studies include validating the Werbach and Hunter model in the field of m-health alongside other health professionals in experimental research or survey.

References

- 1. Millward Brown, Ad reaction: Marketing in a multiscreen world, http://www.millwardbrown.com/adreaction/2014/#.
- Boulos, M. N. K., Brewer, A. C., Karimkhani, C., Buller, D. B., Dellavalle, R. P. Mobile medical and health apps: state of the art, concerns, regulatory control and certification. Online Journal of Public Health Informatics, 5 (3). (2014).
- 3. Conn, J. Most-healthful apps. Modern Healthcare Journal. 42 (50), 30-32. (2012).
- Steinhubl, S. R., Muse, E. D., Topol, E. J. Science Translational Medicine. 7 (283), 283rv3. DOI: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa3487. (2015).
- GOe. Global Observatory for eHealth series Volume 3 mHealth: New horizons for health through mobile technologies. < http://www.who.int/goe/publications/en/> (2011).
- Law, F. L., Kasirun, Z. M., Gan, C. K. Gamication towards sustainable mobile application. In: Software Engineering (MySEC), 5th Malaysian Conference, 349--353. (2011).
- Cugelman, B. Gamification: What It Is and Why It Matters to Digital Health Behavior Change Developers. JMIR Serious Games, 1. < http://games.jmir.org/2013/1/e3/> (2013).
- IEEE. Everyone's a Gamer. IEEE Experts Predict Gaming Will Be Integrated Into More than 85 Percent of Daily Tasks by 2020. http://www.ieee.org/about/news/2014/25 feb 2014.html> (2014).
- 9. Global Telehealth. Maeder, A. J., Mars, M., Scott, R. E. (Edts). (2014).
- Deterding, S., Dixon, D., Khaled, R., Nacke, L. From Game Design Elements to Gamefulness: Defining «Gamification». Proceedings of the 15th International Academic MindTrek Conference. (2011).
- McCallum, S. Gamification and serious games for personalized health. In: pHealth 2012: Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Wearable Micro and Nano Technologies for Personalized Health. Porto, Portugal: IOS Press, 85--96. (2012).
- 12. Lehong, H; Fenn, J. Hype Cycle for Emerging technologies. Gartner. (2013).
- 13. Laakko, T. J., Leppänen, J., Lähteenmäki, J., Nummiaho, A. Mobile Health and Wellness Application Framework. Journal Methods of Information in Medicine, 47 (3), (2008).

14. Werbach, K.; Hunter, D. For the win: How game thinking can revolutionize your business. Wharton Digital Press (2012).

- 15.Deleuze, G., Guattari, F., Nomadology, Semiotext(e) (1986).
- 16. Eysenbach, G. What is e-health? Journal of Medical Internet Research, 3 (2). 2001.
- Germanakos, P., Mourlas, C., Samaras G. A Mobile Agent Approach for Ubiquitous and Personalized eHealth Information Systems. Proceedings of the Workshop on 'Personalization for e-Health' of the 10th International Conference on User Modeling (UM'05). (2005).
- Mendoza, G., Okoko, L., Konopka, S., Jonas, E. mHealth Compendium, Volume Three. Arlington, VA: African Strategies for Health Project, Management Sciences for Health. (2013).
- Deterding, S., Khaled, R., Nacke, L., Dixon, D. Gamification: Toward a Definition. In: CHI 2011 Workshop Gamification: Using Game Design Elements in Non-Game Contexts. Vancouver, Canadá, http://gamification-content/uploads/2011/04/CHI 2011 Gamification Workshop.pdf> (2011).
- 20. Kapp, K. The Gamification of Learning and Instruction: Game-based Methods and Strategies for Training and Education. Pfeiffer. (2012).
- Cafazzo, J. A., Casselman M., Hamming N., Katzman, D. K., Palmert, M. R. Design of an mHealth App for the Self-management of Adolescent Type 1 Diabetes: A Pilot Study. Journal of Medical Internet Research. 14(3):e70 DOI: 10.2196/jmir.2058. (2012).

Serious Games for Balance Improvement: A Systematic Literature Mapping

Rafaela Bosse¹, Antônio Vinicius Soares² and Marcelo da Silva Hounsell¹

¹Santa Catarina State University (UDESC), Computer Science Department (DCC), Graduate Programm in Applied Computing (PPGCA), Paulo Maischitzki. s/n, 89219710 Joinville, Brazil

rafabosse@gmail.com, marcelo.hounsell@udesc.br

²Educational Association of Santa Catarina, Center of Research in Neurorehabilitation (NUPEN), São José, 490, 89202010 Joinville, Brazil <u>a.vinisoares@yahoo.com.br</u>

Abstract. Rehabilitation using video games is more motivating than standard rehabilitation. There are several games developed for balance rehabilitation however, they focus on different aspects, apply a variety of assessment and were developed using a myriad of approaches. In order to provide an overview about specially purposed games for balance rehabilitation, a systematic literature mapping was conducted to assess how they were developed, what software evaluation and clinical assessment were applied and the devices they used. A total of 514 studies were analyzed, but only 44 of them satisfied the inclusion and exclusion criteria. As a result, we verified that most studies used attachment based commercial devices; usability is the most used criteria to evaluate the game and questionnaires are used for it. There is no consensus on clinical assessment metrics and a remarkable lack of design methodology used. From the plethora of serious games found in the literature it is clear that much research need to be done but games can already be considered an acceptable approach for balance promotion.

Keywords: serious games, balance, rehabilitation, literature mapping.

1 Introduction

The increase in the elderly population in the world requires attention on the aspects that affect this age group and one of the most prevalent aspect is balance deficit. In fact, fall injuries have collaborated to increase health care costs [1]. Beyond age, there are other pathologies that require special balance attentions, such as [2]: chronic ankle sprains, chronic degenerative low back pain, scoliosis, paroxysmal positional vertigo, head injury, stroke, cerebellar disease, Parkinson's disease, vestibular deficits, peripheral neuropathies, amputation, and cerebral palsy. The common treatment for balance is rehabilitation in a specialized clinic with a physiotherapist. However, it is common for patients to loose motivation by repetitive and not very engaging exercises [3].

Therefore, the adoption of balance training with video game becomes an interesting choice for promoting health. There are two approaches that can be used for

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_8

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

this end: to use existing commercial video games to see if and how they affect balance, and to develop a brand new video game targeted specifically to balance training. Serious Games (SG) are games developed with a purpose from the very beginning and that go beyond entertainment [4]. The aim of this literature mapping is to identify games that have been targeting balance and not games that "somehow" can be used for such. Also, it is of concern how these games have been developed and how they have been evaluated.

2 Related Work

In recent years, many Systematic Literature Mappings (SLM) and Systematic Literature Reviews (SLR) have been done about health games. A high-level overview on the current state of health games research conducted by [5] shows positive progress towards adapting new gaming technology in specialized health contexts and important recommendations in promoting health games research were done. [6] presents a survey of SG for rehabilitation and proposed a classification to properly distinguish and compare SG for rehabilitation in fundamental characteristics, such as application area, interaction technology, game interface, number of players, game genre, adaptability, performance feedback, progress monitoring and game portability.

It was reported by [7], that many researches don't have health professionals involved in the development of video games and that the evaluation of the results has been carried out informally without methodologies and without the use of statistically meaningful samples, compromising the results. The SLR presented in [8] discussed applications that used Kinect in elderly care and stroke rehabilitation and concluded that the Kinect already shows notable potential in making therapy and alert systems financially accessible and medically beneficial; however, some significant technological limitations are still present. In another study about the Kinect, [9] verified that most of the studies have investigated physical rehabilitation of upper limbs and the most investigated system type was SG. [10] reviews the use of novel methods of rehabilitation using Virtual Reality (VR) interventions for people living with post-traumatic brain injuries and observed that the use of VR has the potential to provide alternative, possibly more available and affordable rehabilitation therapy and highlighted the importance of specific games for this audience.

Finally, [11] made a SLR comparing VR and standard rehabilitation. Although the benefits are small, they described that VR-based rehabilitation brings greater benefits in walking speed, balance and mobility in people after stroke than standard rehabilitation. None of the above mentioned reviews focused on SG designs and assessments which is the focus of the present SLM.

3 Search Method

The primary research question of this SLM is "how SG for balance have been designed?". To this end, devices, design methodologies, target population and, software and effectiveness evaluations will be analyzed. This SLM follows the guidelines described by [12] because it is from technology background, as the focus

of this research ACM Digital Library, ScienceDirect, IEEE Xplore, Engineering Village, Web of Science, Scopus, PUBMED and Lilacs databases were searched using the following search terms:

(("virtual reality" OR game OR games OR videogame OR "video game") AND (balance OR equilibrium OR "risk of fall" OR falling) AND (therapy OR rehabilitation OR diagnostic OR treatment))

A initial search (try out phase) was performed on paper's titles only on July 27, 2015. To be included, studies had (1) to present a SG; (2) to involve balance functions; (3) be in English; (4) to have been published between 2005 and 2015; (5) to be a full paper; (6) to be a primary study; (7) to be a research paper; (8) to be available. Papers were excluded if: (1) they do not describe a game, (2) present a commercial video game; (3) were a duplicate. Table 1 shows the data from the try out search.

Database	Papers	After Inclusion	After Exclusion	After Review
		Criteria	Criteria	Duplicates
PUBMED	19	16	6	6
IEEE	7	3	2	1
ScienceDirect	14	6	4	0
Web Of Science	30	21	15	0
ACM	2	0	0	0
Scopus	36	24	9	0
Engineering Village	14	10	8	0
Lilacs	2	2	0	0
Total	124	82	44	7

Table 1.Number paper hits returned in try out research in the titles.

Because of the few results in try out search, it was decided to apply the same search in paper's abstract but only in the following databases that had good performance in try out phase: PUBMED, IEEE, ScienceDirect and ACM. This search was performed on September 30, 2015 and the results are shown in Table 2.

Table 2.Number of paper hits while searching in the "abstract".

Database	Papers	After Inclusion	After Exclusion	After Review
		Criteria	Criteria	Duplicates
PUBMED	181	131	23	12
IEEE	75	66	18	12
ScienceDirect	113	95	12	3
ACM	21	19	4	3
Total	390	311	57	30

4 Results

Adding title and abstract searches, 37 different papers remained, and 7 already known papers from an ad-hoc search were added. A total of 44 full text papers were downloaded. Table 3 shows authors, paper's titles and year publication.

	Author	Journal/Event	Year
R 1	CHEN, Po-Yin et al.	Archives of gerontology and geriatrics	2012
R2	BETKER, Aimee L. et al.	Archives of physical medicine and	
R3	LLORENS R et al	rehabilitation Neurología (English Edition)	2006
R4	DA Daniel O Freitas Alana FE et	Engineering in Medicine and Biology So	ciety
	al.	EMBC	2012
R5	BARANYI, Rene et al.	Serious Games and Applications for Heat	lth
R6	LANGE, Belinda et al.	Topics in stroke rehabilitation	2013 2010
R7	BETKER, Aimee L. et al.	Physical therapy	2007
R8	DOWLING, Glenna A. et al.	Telemedicine and e-Health	2013
R9	GERLING, Kathrin Maria et al.	Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Advances in Computer Entertainment Technology	2010
R10	ALBIOL-PEREZ, Sergio et al.	Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare (PervasiveHealth)	2013
R11	ROSSITO, Gabriel Mesquita et al.	Proceedings of SBGames 2014	2014
R12	BOSSE, Rafaela. et al.	Proceedings of SBGames 2015	2015
R13	DE MORAIS, Wagner O. et al.	Serious Games and Applications for Heat (SeGAH)	lth 2011
R14	MCCONVILLE, Kristiina M. Valter et al.	Virtual Reality	2012
R15	UZOR, Stephen et al.	Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference of Human Factors in Computing Systems.	on 2012
R16	ALBIOL-PÉREZ, Sergio et al.	Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Interacción Persona-Orde	2012 nador
R17	LIU, Lin; XIE, Le; CAI, Ping.	Proceedings of the 4th International Convention on Rehabilitation Engineerin	g &
D18	EADIADIAN Amin Datal	Assistive Technology.	2010
R10	CHURCHNE Brenden et al.	Weershie and Implementable Dody Sensor	2013
K19	O'HUIGINN, Brendan et al.	Networks	2009
R20	BORGHESE, Nunzio Alberto et al.	Virtual Systems and Multimedia (VSMM	I) 2012
R21	NAKAI, Akihito et al.	Cognitive Infocommunications (CogInfo	Com) 2013
R22	ZHANG, Sen et al.	6th IEEE Conference on Industrial Electr	onics
R23	CANTU, Miguel et al.	and Applications 3D User Interfaces (3DUI)	2011 2014
	-		

Table 3. Authors and publishing journal/event.

R24	SEN, Sim Lee et al.	Control Conference (ASCC)	2015
R25	IMAIZUMI, Daichi et al.	Biomedical Engineering and Informatics (BMEI)	2010
R26	UZOR, Stephen et al.	Pervasive Computing Technologies for	
D 77	LAUME I CADO Antoni et el	Healthcare (PervasiveHealth)	2011
R27	JAUME-I-CALO, Antoin et al.	Engineering	2014
R28	MADEIRA, Rui Neves et al.	Electrical and Power Engineering (EPE)	2014
R29	DING, Ye et al.	Haptics Symposium	2010
R30	IM, Dal Jae et al.	Annals of rehabilitation medicine	2015
R31	LOZANO-QUILIS, Jose-Antonio	JMIR serious games	2014
R32	et al. SONG, Yoon Bum et al.	Annals of rehabilitation medicine	2014
R33	RADTKA, Sandra et al.	GAMES FOR HEALTH: Research,	
		Development, and Clinical Applications	2013
R34	BORGHESE, Nunzio Alberto et al.	Games for Health: Research, Developme	ent,
R35	GAINA Brook et al	and Clinical Applications	2013
100	Grillinn, Brook et al.	Journal of neuroengineering and reliability	2014
R36	CHEN, Po-Yin et al.	Journal of neuroengineering and rehabili	tation
D27			2012
K3/	USTINOVA, Ksenia I. et al.	Journal of neuroengineering and renabili	2011
R38	SZTURM, Tony et al.	Physical Therapy	2011
R39	GIL-GÓMEZ, José-Antonio et al.	Journal of neuroengineering and rehabili	tation
P 40			2011
R40	SAYENKO, Dimitry G. et al.	Spinal cord	2010
R41	FITZGERALD, Diarmaid et al.	Engineering in Medicine and Biology So	ciety
R42	SZTURM, Tony et al.	Gait & posture	2008
R43	YEH, Shih-Ching et al.	Computer methods and programs in	
		biomedicine	2014
R44	CAMPOS, Carlos et al.	Psychology of Sport and Exercise	2015

4.1 Characteristics of the devices being used

In this section the devices used with the video games for therapy, rehabilitation or training balance are analyzed. Some devices are commercially available but were presented in a paper with a new game. In total 59 devices were found, ones (some paper used more than one device) and 25 devices were noncommercial.

Devices can be divided into image-based (23) or attachment-based (36) according to the sensor technology used. Most papers used attached devices and the majority were produced or devised specifically for the video game being presented. Figure 1 and 2 details the type and number of devices found.



Fig. 1.Image-based devices used in games for balance. Fig. 2. Attachment-based devices used in games for balance.

4.2 Game Design Methodology

Only 11 publications reported applying some game design methodology. Methodologies used were divided: in categories: software engineering-oriented, 3 papers applied User-Centered game design (UCD) [R5,R6,R35] and one Model-View-Controller [R22] software design pattern; 4 papers applied Human-Computer Interaction Based-Design [R8,R9,R15]; 2 used a Game-Oriented Design Methodology (MOLDE) [R11,R12] and; one Health-Oriented Design [R27]. The remaining 75% didn't mention what design methodology have been applied, if any. Figure 3 shows the amount of game design methodologies used.



Fig. 3. Game Design Methodology.

4.3 Evaluation

In the following we provide details regarding software evaluation and clinical assessment.

4.3.1 Software-Oriented Evaluation

Papers were analyzed in order to identify what kind of evaluation was performed on the software and how they were applied. 21 papers conducted some software evaluation and one paper used three different criteria. It can be observed that usability was the major aspect considered. On gameplay evaluation, [R15] seniors participated in workshops to discuss game mechanics, and [R6] participants provided the research team with suggestions for improving the instructions for the game and gameplay elements (such as scoring and sound effects). Figure 4 shows what was evaluated and Figure 5 shows that questionnaire is the most common method of evaluation for usability or gameplay.



Fig. 4. Criteria used to evaluate the games.

Fig. 5. Instruments for software evaluation.

4.3.2 Clinical Assessment

Most of the papers that perform clinical assessment, applied more than one assessment. 18 papers included clinical assessment for balance evaluation, and there was a variety of tests, among them it was found: BBS (Berg Balance Scale); TUGT (Timed "Up & Go" Test); POMA (Tinetti Performance Oriented Mobility Assessment); CTSIB (Clinical Test of Sensory Interaction and Balance); FRT (Functional Reach Test); ART (Anterior Reach Test); 30SST (30-second Sit-to Stand Test); Fugl-Meyer and ABC (Activities-specific Balance Confidence Scale); Computerised Posturography tool NedSVE/IBV; Five Times Sit to Stand (FTSS); Unipedal Stance Time (UST); Timed 10-Meter Walking Test (10 MWT); Stepping Test (ST); Star Excursion Balance Test (SEBT); Isokinetic Dynanometry; Postural Assessment Scale (PASS); Romberg Quotient (RQ); Single Leg Balance test (SLB); Falling Index (FI); Stability Index (SI); Weight Distribution Index (WDI); Dizziness Handicap Inventory (DHI); Hospital Anxiety and Depression Score (HADS); Visual Analogue Scale (VAS); Dynamic Gait Index (DGI); Sensory Organization Test (SOT); Dynamic Visual Acuity (DVA); GaitRite; Senior Fitness Test (SFT); Brief Motor Scale; Digital dynamometer; Force Plate; Personal and Social Performance Scale; Balance Board (BB); Tandem Romberg (TR); One-Leg (OL); Simulator

Sickness Questionnaire (SSQ) and Pittsburgh Rehabilitation Participation Scale (PRPS). Figure 6 shows the distribution of clinical assessments in the SG found.



Fig. 6. Clinical assessments used with the video games.

4.4 Game Purpose

25 papers targeted specific pathologies. Figure 7 shows the targeted clinical context where the most common context were stroke.



Fig. 7. Clinical context.

The majority of papers did not specified what balance function was stimulated by the video game, as shown Figure 8, and did not specified what population the SG was recommended for, as shown in Figure 9.



Fig. 8.Balance evaluated.

Fig. 9. Targeted population.

Not

Specified

8

2

Elderly Children

2

Adult

32

Number of Papers

5 Conclusion

The present systematic literature mapping identified some serious games to improve balance, as well as, devices, evaluations (software and clinical), game design methodology and game purposes. In the mapping process, it was necessary to use the virtual reality term because searches in titles and abstracts did not have 'game' but actually were games as in the health area it is common to use virtual reality to refer to games, and many other computerized graphical systems [13].

Kinect was launched in 2010 and already is the most used image-based device for balance video games, while Wii, launched in 2007, is the most used attachment-based device. [4] described the potential of Kinect to become a future cornerstone of widely dispersed care and rehabilitation systems. Nevertheless, it was found that a wide variety of other devices have been used, the majority of video games to balance use some sort of device in order to assess the postural status of the player. It was remarkable to observe a lack of design methodologies mentioned to help to get to the games. There seems to be no consensus either on the clinical assessment of the effectiveness of the games among those few that did perform such assessment. On the other hand, regarding the software itself, the majority of games were analyzed against usability.

From this literature mapping, it was made clear that researchers are using serious games for balance improvement and are exploring all sorts of resources to make it become a reality. All seem to be promising but we will have to wait to see which ones pay-off.

6 Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the FITEJ – Fundação Instituto Tecnológico de Joinville, by financial assistance.

References

- 1. Maki, B. E., Mcilroy, W.E., Fernie, G. R.: Change-in-support reactions for balance recovery. Engineering in Medicine and Biology Magazine. pp. 20-26.IEEE (2003)
- 2. Winter, D. A.: Human balance and posture control during standing and walking. Gait & Posture. 3(4), pp.193-214 (1995)
- 3. Beattie, P. F., Pinto, M. B., Nelson, M. K., Nelson, R.: Patient satisfaction with outpatient physical therapy: instrument validation. Physical Therapy. 82(6), pp.557-565 (2002)
- 4. Boyle, E., Connolly, T. M., Hainey, T.: The role of psychology in understanding the impact of computer games. Entertainment Computing. 2(2), pp.69-74 (2011)
- Kharrazi, H., Lu, A.S., Gharghabi, F., Coleman, W.: A scoping review of health game research: past, present and future. Games for health: Research, Development, and Clinical Applications. 1(2), pp.153-164 (2012)
- Rego, P., Moreira, P.M., Reis, L. P.: Serious games for rehabilitation: A survey and a classification towards a taxonomy. In: Information Systems and Technologies (CISTI), 2010 5th Iberian Conference on. pp.1-6. IEEE (2010)
- Nunes, F.L., Machado, L.S., Moraes, R.M.: Evolution of Virtual and Augmented Reality in Health: A Reflection from 15 Years of SVR. In: XVI Symposium on Virtual and Augmented Reality (SVR), pp.220-229. IEEE (2014)
- 8. Webster, D., Celik, O.: Systematic review of Kinect applications in elderly care and stroke rehabilitation. Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation. 11(1), pp.108 (2014)
- Reis, H., Isotani, S., Gasparini, I.: Rehabilitation Usign Kinect and an Outlook on Its Educational Applications: A Review of the State of the Art. In: Anais do Simpósio Brasileiro de Informática na Educação. 26(1) pp. 802 (2015)
- Pietrzak, E., Pullman, S., McGuire, A.: Using virtual reality and videogames for traumatic brain injury rehabilitation: A structured literature review. Games for Health: Research, Development, and Clinical Applications. 3(4), pp.202-214 (2014)
- 11. Corbetta, D., Imeri, F., Gatti, R.: Rehabilitation that incorporates virtual reality is more effective than standard rehabilitation for improving walking speed, balance and mobility after stroke: a systematic review. Journal of physiotherapy. 61(3), pp.117-124 (2015)
- Petersen, K., Feldt, R., Mujtaba, S., Mattsson, M.: Systematic mapping studies in software engineering. In: International Conference on Evaluation and Assessment in Software. 17(1) sn (2008)
- Nunes, A., Oliveira, H., de Souza, M. D. L., Hounsell, M.: Jogos Digitais e a Dependência Química: Um Mapeamento Sistemático da Literatura. In: Anais do Simpósio Brasileiro de Informática na Educação. 26(1), pp.479 (2015)

Information Systems and Technologies Maturity Models for Healthcare: a systematic literature review

João Vidal Carvalho¹, Álvaro Rocha², António Abreu³

¹ Instituto Politécnico do Porto/ISCAP, S. Mamede de Infesta, Portugal caividal@iscap.ipp.pt ² Departamento de Engenharia Informática, Universidade de Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal

amrocha@dei.uc.pt ³ Instituto Politécnico do Porto/ISCAP, S. Mamede de Infesta, Portugal

aabreu@iscap.ipp.pt

The maturity models are instruments to facilitate Abstract. organizational management, including the management of its information systems function. These instruments are used also in hospitals. The objective of this article is to identify and compare the maturity models for management of information systems and technologies (IST) in healthcare. For each maturity model, it is described the methodology of development and validation, as well as the scope, stages and their characteristics by dimensions or influence factors. This study resulted in the need to develop a maturity model based on a holistic approach. It will include a comprehensive set of influencing factors to reach all areas and subsystems of health care organizations.

Keywords: Stages of Growth, maturity models, hospital information systems.

1 Introduction

Health institutions together with government organizations are realizing that a certain inability to properly manage the processes of health is directly related to technological infrastructure limitations and management inefficiency [1, 2]. Hospital Information systems managers usually look at the mistakes made in these organizations and ask themselves on what they should have done to prevent them. It appears that these errors are usually symptoms of natural growth and organizations maturation. It seems to be the result of the development of the organization to its current maturity [3, 4]. The changes that an organization experiences, from its beginning to maturity, fit perfectly into the principles of Stages of Growth theory. Also, they occur in the current context of healthcare IST.

The maturity models are based on the premise that people, organizations, functional areas, processes, etc., evolve through a process of development and growth towards a more advanced maturity accomplishing several stages [5]. Mutafelija &

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_9

Stromberg [6] reports that the concept of maturity has been applied to more than 150 areas of IST. Obviously, the maturity models have also been applied in various fields of IST in the health field.

2 Methodology adopted for the literature review

Aiming to conduct a comprehensive and wide literature review, it was necessary to define a strategy in order to identify and analyze systematically the available literature on maturity models of healthcare IST. An initial review provided criteria to choose the approach and establish the strategies to be applied to this project.

The first strategy by Webster and Watson [7] suggests a structured approach in three basic steps: to identify the relevant literature in main sources (i.e. "leading journals") and recognized conferences. Then, the authors suggest conducting a search in the reference section of the studies identified in the first step in order to identify potential works related; finally, it is suggested the search via Web of Science of works which cite the works identified in the previous two steps.

The second strategy proposed by Tranfield et al. [8] suggests five steps for a systematic review of the literature. The first stage defines terms, keywords and combinations to be used as criteria to be applied in the literature review. A second phase is to identify relevant works that contain the keywords and terms defined above. In the third phase, it is carried out an assessment of identified papers and made a selection of works that meet certain criteria of quality. In the fourth phase, it must be extracted the relevant information from the selected literature. Finally, in the fifth phase a synthesis of data is done.

The analysis of both strategies described above shown that the approach of Webster and Watson [7], although simple and easy to implement, is not completely suited to this work. The literature on maturity models of healthcare information systems is limited in major journals and conferences. With regard to Tranfield et al. [8] approach, it was found that there is not a clear procedure for the identification of relevant work in the second phase. On the other hand, when assessing the quality of studies, the authors state that it is a challenge to define quality criteria for qualitative work. It caused some apprehension due to the fact that most of the work in this area has a qualitative approach.

Despite the concerns referred above, the literature review was carried out based on this approach with minor modifications and simplifications. Therefore, the terms and keywords were defined as literature searching criteria, taking in account that most of the relevant literature on maturity models of health care information systems is written in English. "Maturity Model" and "Stages of Growth" combined with other terms of this knowledge area were used for the search iterations (Table 1).

The searching criteria were applied to the literature review. Given that Tranfield et al. [8] did not suggest any procedure for this stage, it was followed the approach proposed by Webster and Watson [7] introducing two changes: in the first step, the main sources were replaced by major web platforms of scientific literature; and in the third step of this approach, Web of Science platform was replaced by the search engines Google and Google Scholar.

Research criteria	
"Maturity Model" AND "Health"	
"Maturity Model" AND "Healthcare"	
"Maturity Model" AND "Hospital"	
"Maturity Model" AND "eHealth"	
"Stages of Growth" AND "Model" AND "Health"	
"Stages of Growth" AND "Model" AND "Hospital"	

Table 1.	Research	criteria	for	the	systematic	literature	review.
					2		

Then, we look for research works across the platforms AIS Electronic Library, ISI Web of Knowledge, SCOPUS, Springer, Elsevier/Science Direct and IEEE Computer Society Digital Library. Afterwards, we proceeded to a quick data analysis to identify related references, as suggested by Webster and Watson [7]. Finally, given that the disclosure of much of the information on Maturity Models of health care information systems has been accomplished through technical reports, research and white papers projects, we move to a more extended search through the search engine Google Scholar and Google to ensure identification of other relevant work for the study. It should be noted that our study found that research on overall maturity models is in increasing, however, much of the publishing related to health care are not present in the IST leading journals.

After identifying a wide range of work in this area, according to the approach of Tranfield et al. [8] it was necessary to define quality criteria for the selection of suitable studies for this research. However, despite the difficulty in defining quality criteria for qualitative work, it was found that few models presented details of their design process and decisions taken in its development [9]. It was understood that it was convenient to apply a simple and comprehensive criterion of quality. It was established to gather all the studies when it was possible to clearly identify the context (motivation, goal, results, and benefit) and where maturity models were mentioned directly or indirectly. The characterization of each model was done taking in account description, scope, identification of stages and their characteristics, size, influencing factors, methods adopted in the development and validation process.

In the end, after processing of all cases, to some extent conditioned by the perception of researcher on maturity models in the IST health field, we selected 14 models which are described below.

3 Maturity Models of IST in health care

In this section is presented a selection of fourteen maturity models for IST management in healthcare organizations.

Quintegra Maturity Model for electronic Healthcare (eHMM)

The Maturity Model for electronic Healthcare is a model that incorporates all service providers associated with the health process. It is adaptable to any provider at any level of maturity [2]. The eHMM Maturity Model provided by Quintegra illustrates the transformation of an e-health process from an immature stage to a nationwide stage. According to its authors, the stages of maturity of this model provide a roadmap for health organizations to adopt continuous improvement of healthcare processes. Based on the study conducted by Quintegra we have identified several features that illustrate the nature of the progression of maturity. According to this model, the areas that showed progression in maturity are: timeliness of process, data access and accuracy of data, process effort, cost effectiveness, quality of process results and utility or value to stakeholders.

IDC Healthcare IT (HIT) Maturity Model

IDC (Health Industry Insights) developed a maturity model that describes the five developmental stages of hospitals IS. Each step is supported by the capabilities of the previous stage. This maturity model, called Healthcare IT (HIT) Maturity Model, has been used worldwide by IDC to assess the maturity of the hospitals IS (HIS). Also, it has been used to compare the average maturity between regions and countries of different continents [10]. This model has five stages, namely: basic HIS, advanced HIS, clinical HIS, and digital hospital and virtual hospital.

IDC's Mobility Maturity Model for Healthcare

More recently, IDC Health Insights proposed a maturity model for health care organizations. It consists of stages, measures, results and actions to advance along the path of maturity in the context of mobility toward a mobile culture. This model resulted as consequence of new opportunities associated with the value of mobility. It is an answer to the need for exploring alternative technologies, reengineering of business processes, availability of qualified personnel and development and implementation management of platforms and mobile applications [11]. To help healthcare organizations achieving their mobility strategies, IDC Health Insights has developed a maturity model consisting of five stages (ad hoc, opportunistic, repeatable, managed and optimized) and four critical measures (strategic intent, technology, people, and processes). In addition to the model, IDC also has featured a guide with actions for healthcare organizations to move effectively through the stages of maturity model.

HIMSS Electronic Medical Record Maturity Model (EMRAM)

HIMSS Maturity Model for Electronic Medical Record is a model for the identification of various stages of maturity in the area of Electronic Medical Record (EMR) of hospitals [12]. In these times, understanding the performance of EMR in hospitals is a challenge in the health care context [12]. The HIMSS Analytics (Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society) developed an adoption model to identify the stages of maturity of the EMR from the limited ancillary department systems to paperless EMR environment [13]. The model proposed by HIMSS Analytics is named EMR Adoption Model (EMRAM) and consists of 8

stages. According to HIMSS Analytics, the structure of this model ensures that a stage is reached only when all their applications are operational.

HIMSS Continuity of Care Maturity Model (CCMM)

It was created to help the optimization of results in health systems and patient satisfaction. The HIMSS Continuity of Care Maturity Model (CCMM) goes beyond Stage 7 of EMRAM [14]. It consists of 7 stages and it is based on the EMRAM structure. This global maturity model addresses the convergence of interoperability, exchange of information, coordination of care, patient involvement. Its goal is the efficient management of health for the whole of the population and also at the individual level [14]. This model also has the ability to assess the implementation and use of IT by the health service providers in order to optimize clinical and financial outcomes. With regard to the benefits of using this model, we can highlight the guidelines for the design of a solid strategy, at national and regional levels. Appropriate measures are taken in a timely manner and include all stakeholders [14]. As an example of these guidelines, we highlight the standardization of: IT systems, privacy, patient involvement, etc.

Electronic Patient Record Maturity Model (EPRMM)

According to the NHS (United Kingdom National Health Service), there are six different stages of functionality implemented cumulatively until a complete and exhaustive Electronic Patient Record (EPR) [15] is achieved. The adoption of an ERP system has been seen as a goal of health care organizations. In fact, it is intended to improve the efficiency of the organizations in the treatment of patient information, timely provision and needs at the point of care. As it progresses, more information will be available in the information system, whether using traditional computers, mobile phones or portable devices. The EPR system functions as the main source of all patient information. It keeps the complete medical record and will be available online at the point of contact with the patient.

Patient Records/Content Management Maturity Model (Forrester Model)

Forrester Research Inc. has developed a model with three stages for the area of EMR. This model was developed in order to help health care providers to assess their systems, the way they collaborate and interact, the state of the workflow, and most important, determining the map to get to the next phase. According to Clair [16], this three stages model includes four dimensions or influencing factors: access, interoperability, content features and planning and strategy. In addition to the model itself, Forrester Research Inc. has also developed a manual to drive systems to the next stage. The three stages of this model are: Paper- or imaged-based patient records dominate, Access to standalone repositories improves and Access to the complete digital medical record is role-based.

NEHTA Interoperability Maturity Model (IMM)

The provision of health care involves many different stakeholders, including both the technical and organizational informational area. The ability of these actors to interoperate will have a strong impact on the delivery of health care safely and confidence along the stages [17]. The constant evolution of technology and the changes in clinical practice bring us to assess the ability to take advantage of these developments. The National E-health Transition Authority of Australia (NEHTA) produced an Interoperability Maturity Model (IMM) which is based on three components: five stages CMMI (Capability Maturity Model Integration), a set of interoperability goals, and an evaluation model focused at the national level. The five stages of this model are constrained by organizational, informational and technical dimensions at local, corporate and national level. Interoperability targets for reuse, evolution, standards, scope, scalability, configurability and explanation are shared between the three dimensions. The objectives associated with business and governance are set to the organizational dimension. Informational dimension targets are classified as: data format and semantics, meta-data, ownership and rights, common building blocks. Targets associated with the technical dimension are classified as: interface specification, functional decomposition, communication protocol. n-tier architecture and technical policy separation.

NHS Infrastructure Maturity Model (NIMMTM)

The NHS Infrastructure Maturity Model (NIMM) aims to provide a coherent framework for healthcare organizations. The organization will be able to measure its own current technological infrastructure capabilities in specific areas and consequently, to identify and prioritize activities that enhance these capabilities [18]. Therefore, the NIMM is a model of evaluation of maturity technological infrastructure. This model adopts the Key Capabilities Self-Assessment Tool to support IT organizations associated with NHS. It is used for preparing a selfassessment of technology infrastructure assessing the maturity of their capabilities. Furthermore, it helps in the identification of improvement maturity projects. The NIMM has a holistic approach: it takes in account technological and IT infrastructure organizational sides. In fact, it has 72 evaluation capabilities grouped in 13 categories. The categories are divided into technological aspects and organizational issues. The technological aspects are: Common Applications & Services; Operating Systems; Infrastructure Hardware Platforms; Network Devices & Services; IT Security & Information Governance: Infrastructure Patterns & Practices: End User Devices. The Infrastructure Governance; Business Alignment; organizational issues are: Procurement; People & Skills; Financial Management; Principles, Standards, Procedures & Guidelines.

Healthcare Analytics Adoption Model (HAAM)

Health care has moved through three phases of computerization and data management, i.e., data collection, data sharing and more recently data analysis. The data collection phase is characterized by the implementation of EMRs. It does not have a significant impact on the quality or the cost of health care [19]. According to these authors, it will be necessary to invest in practices associated with data analysis and use of data warehouses. In this sense, the HAAM model was developed to accelerate the progress of maturity analytical data in health care organizations. Healthcare Analytics Adoption Model (HAAM) is a model to measure the adoption and use of data warehouses and data analysis in health care [19]. This model was initially developed by Sanders in 2012 [20] as result of years of work in this area. He anticipated foreseeable needs of the healthcare industry. This model is based on

EMRAM model [12]. It received numerous contributions from several healthcare consultants resulting in an update version in 2013. This model has a similar approach as EMRAM to assess the adoption of data analysis in health. It is structured in 8 stages. Each one of them performs through several capabilities that define the path of health organizations to data analysis maturity. In addition, each stage includes a progressive expansion of analytical capabilities in the following four areas: new data sources, complexity, data literacy and data timeliness.

Hospital Cooperation Maturity Model (HCMM)

This model aims to conceptualize an evolutionary path for improving cooperation within hospital and between hospitals [9]. The authors felt the need to develop the model because of the real and observable changes hospitals are suffering. It was intended to cope with increased competition and market dynamics. The model application would force specialization and cooperation. The Hospital Cooperation Maturity Model helps hospitals in the evolution of strategic, organizational and technical capabilities in a systematic way. The model contributes to structures and collaborative processes become efficient and effective. HCMM consults a total of 36 reference points, reflecting three distinct organizational dimensions relevant to the ability to cooperate. On the one hand, the model can be used as the basis for comparative evaluation of the quality of cooperation between a specific hospital and their business partners; on the other hand, it may be applied as a common basis for sharing learning and improvement actions. As mentioned above, the HCMM is structured in three layers or dimensions. The first one is a strategic layer set to measure the ability of a hospital to cooperate with external partners. The second one is the organizational layer set to measure the ability to cooperate within the hospital (i.e., between different departments, divisions, etc.). Finally, the third layer is an information layer used to measure the technical capabilities of a hospital to provide the IT infrastructure needed for internal and external cooperation efficiently and effectively.

PACS Maturity Model (PMM)

The PACS maturity model (PMM) describes the process maturity of hospitals based on PACS. The analysis is developed in terms of functionality and integration of the work flow practice. PMM is a descriptive and normative model. It was developed as a guide for evaluation and strategic planning [21]. In this regard, the PMM can be used for strategic planning. The model incorporates growth paths to reach higher stages of PACS maturity. However, this model omits a relevant issue. The development used in this maturity model will be different in different areas of the same organization. Besides, the maturity maximization cannot be effective or "ideal" in all circumstances [22]. On the basis of 34 scientific papers literature review on PACS and subsequent meta-analysis, Wetering and Batenburg [21] identified three major trends in the evolution and maturity of PACS: (1) Radiological and hospital-wide process improvements, (2) Integration optimization and innovation, and (3) Enterprise PACS and EPR. From there, the authors defined five dimensions (strategy and policy, organization and processes, monitoring and control; information technology, and people and culture) and five PACS maturity stages that hospital can
achieve: infrastructure, process, clinical process capability, integrated managed innovation and optimized enterprise chain.

Telemedicine Service Maturity Model (TMSMM)

The authors [23] consider that this maturity model can be implemented to measure and manage the health system capability to provide clinical health care at a distance. Indeed, this model can be used to measure, manage and optimize all components of a telemedicine system and the health system in which it is applied. The term "telemedicine" was first used in 1970 and refers to the provision health services (medicine) at a distance (tele). The TMSMM model is based on three dimensions. The intersection of each pair forms a matrix, each one with specific meaning and function. First, five domains are defined to provide a holistic view of all the factors that impact the implementation of telemedicine services. Secondly, the telemedicine service dimension is built by five micro-level processes, a meso-level process and one macrolevel process per domain. The third domain is the maturity scale, which provides assessment standards for maturity measurement. The domain adopted by this model is the 5 M's ("Man - Users Communities", "Machine - Infrastructures ICT", "Material -EHR systems," "Method - Change Management" and "Money - Financial Sustainability"). The maturity scale is based on the stages indicators of CMM maturity model (Capability Maturity Model). There are 5 stages. Stage 1: ad hoc service is unpredictable, experimental, and poorly controlled; stage 2: managed - the service is characterized by projects and is manageable; stage 3: standard - the service is defined as a standard business process; stage 4: quantitatively managed - the service is quantitatively measured and controlled; stage 5: optimizing - focus on continuous improvement.

Healthcare Usability Maturity Model (UMM)

The Healthcare Usability Maturity Model helps healthcare professional to assess the usability stages of IST of organizations and how they can advance to the next stage [24]. The authors of this Maturity Model led a Usability Taskforce created by HIMSS [25]. Its objective was to develop a new model for identifying elements and main steps involved in successful integration of usability in a healthcare organization. The development of this model was based on the evaluation of the characteristics of three usability maturity models [26-28] and how they could be adopted in healthcare. In this model, each phase enables organizations to identify their current stage of usability and also includes guidelines to advance to the next stage. The five stages are: unrecognized, preliminary, implemented, integrated and strategic. Within each stage, these elements are taken in account: focus on users, management, process and infrastructure, resources and education.

4 Summary and closing remarks

After the selection of models which are synthesized in Table 2, it was found that the maturity models for health care IST are developed by different types of entities,

including national and international health care companies, research organizations in ICT as well as academic experts in this domain.

It was also found that there are two approaches: in one hand, the highly specialized models that have resulted in a health subsystem and in the other hand, the more comprehensive models, i.e. models representing the hospital IS as a whole. Also, it was found that most of the analyzed maturity models does not disclose the design process nor the research options for development and validation [9], thus compromising the researcher work.

It appears that CMM and CMMI his successor, is the reference model for the design of Maturity Models in the health sector. This model has served as inspiration for dozens of maturity models in the various areas of IST [29]. In fact, 6 of 14 identified models base its structure on the CMM model.

Regarding the number of maturity stages, there are models from 3 stages as the Forrester Model [16] up to 9 stages of HAAM [19].

It is noted that not all the identified maturity models with various dimensions or influencing factors have explicitly broken down the characteristics for each stage of maturity. In fact, from 11 maturity models with influence factors, only 5 discriminate characteristics for each stage [2, 9, 16, 23, 25]. With regard to influence factors, it was detected entries with the same name in different maturity models and entries with different names but with the same meaning or interpretation (result of using different terminology adopted by the authors). Also, the authors did not apply weights to each of the influencing factors, that is, in the assessing process of the overall maturity of health IST, all influencing factors have the same importance.

In the case of adoption of a tool for assessing the system maturity, it was found that most of the models, besides focusing on the assessment of the system's maturity, they pay attention to an improvement path of such maturity. However, not all have a properly systematized process to move to a higher maturity level.

Some maturity models are developed by health national and supranational organizations, mainly corporations, who are dedicated to technological developments, such as IDC Health Insights and HIMSS or even by national health organizations as the NHS or NEHTA. This fact complicates the process of search and analysis of their respective models, since access to information is restricted. Consequently, it is not possible to know the development methodology and validation adopted. Moreover, only a small part of the models were published in IS Journals ([9, 21], while the rest are published mostly in white papers, making it impossible thus attest to its validity in the context of peer review.

As a result of this study, none of the identified models has a sufficiently broad scope covering all areas and subsystems of health care organizations. In this sense, a maturity model with a holistic approach including a comprehensive set of influencing factors is missing. It should be supported by rigorous scientific methods of conceptualization and validation.

Acknowledgments. We acknowledge the financial support of AISTI (Iberian Association for Information Systems and Technologies), which permitted the registration in the WorldCIST'16 (4th World Conference on Information Systems and Technologies), held at Recife, Brazil, 22 - 24 March 2016, and consequently this publication.

healthcare
ISI
for
models
maturity
f
comparison (
and
Summary
ri
Table

Designation	Health Field	Stages	Research Method	Influencing factors / Dimensions	Assessment Tool	Reference Model	Author / Year
Quintegra Maturity Model for electronic Healthcare (eHMM)	General	7	n/a	Entities; Department, Infrastructure	n/a	n/a	Sharma, 2008
IDC Healthcare IT (HIT) Maturity Model	General	2	B/H	Types of IS	n/a	n/a	IDC, 2008
IDC's mobility maturity model for healthcare	mHealth	2	Survey, Case study	Intent, Technology; People; Processes	IDC's Mobility Maturity Model Guidance	CMM	IDC, 2013
HIMSS Maturity Model for Electronic Medical Record (EMRAM)	ENR	.00	n/a	Types of IS	EMR Penetration Assessment Tool	n/a	HIMSS Analytics, 2006
HIMISS Continuity of Care Maturity Model (CCMM)	General		n/a	Types of IS	n/a	EMRAM	HIMSS Analytics,2014
Patient records/content management maturity model (Forrester Model)	ENR	3	Interviews with US healthcare providers	Access; Interoperability; Content Features; Planning & strategy	Guidance To Get To The Next Phase	n/a	(Clair, 2010)
Maturity Model for Electronic Patient Record (EPRMM)	EMR	9	a/a	EPR System	n/a	n/a	(Priestman, 2007)
NEHTA Interoperability Maturity Model (IMM)	Interoperability	5	ODP standards (open distributed processing)	Organisation; Information; Technical	Yes	IMM / CMMI	(NEHTA, 2007)
NHS Infrastructure Maturity Model (NIMM)	Infrastructure IT	2	n/a	Process; People & Organisation; Technology; Security & Information Governance; Strategy Alignment & Business Value	Key Capabilities Self- Assessment Tool	CMM	(NHS, 2011)
Healthcare Analytics Adoption Model (HAAM)	Data Warehouse & Analysis	6	Data gathered by observation and learned in a structured educational curriculum, experts opinions	New Data Sources, Complexity; Data Literacy; Data Timeliness	Healthcare Analytics Adoption Model Self Inspection Guide	EMRAM	(Sanders et al, 2013)
Hospital Cooperation Maturity Model (HCMM)	Networking / Cooperation	4	Interviews, Focus Group, prototype	Strategic; organizational; Information	HCMM Instantiation	CMM	(Mettler & Blondiau, 2012)
PACS Maturity Model (PMM)	PACS	5	L iterature review, qualitative meta-analysis approach	Strategy and policy; Organization & Processes; Monitoring and Control; Information Technology; People & culture	Yes	CMMI	(Rogier Wetering & Batenburg, 2009)
Telemedicine Service Maturity Model (TMSMM)	Telemedicine	2	Literature review, workshop with health and IT professionals, case study	Man; Machine; Material; Method; Money	Yes	CMM	(Van Dyk & Schutte, 2013)
Healthcare Usability Maturity Model (UMM)	Usability	5	Literature review, case study	Focus on users, Management; Process & Infrastructure; Resources; Education	Yes	Schaffer UM, Nielsen UM, Earthy UM	(HIMSS, 2011)

J.V. Carvalho et al.

Information Systems and Technologies Maturity ...

References

- Freixo, J. and Á. Rocha, Arquitetura de Informação de Suporte à Gestão da Qualidade em Unidades Hospitalares. . RISTI - Revista Ibérica de Sistemas e Tecnologias de Informação 2014. 14: p. 1-18.
- 2. Sharma, B., *Electronic Healthcare Maturity Model (eHMM)*. Quintegra Solutions Limited, 2008.
- 3. Rocha, Á., *Evolution of Information Systems and Technologies Maturity in Healthcare*. International Journal of Healthcare Information Systems and Informatics, 2011. 6(2): p. 28-36.
- Carvalho, J.V., A. Rocha, and J.B. Vasconcelos, *Towards an encompassing Maturity Model for the Management of Hospital Information Systems*. Journal of Medical Systems, 2015. 39(9): p. 1-9.
- Rocha, Á. and J. Vasconcelos, Os Modelos de Maturidade na Gestão de Sistemas de Informação. Revista da Faculdade de Ciência e Tecnologia da Universidade Fernando Pessoa., 2004. 1: p. 93-107.
- 6. Mutafelija, B. and H. Stromberg, *Systematic process improvement using ISO* 9001:2000 and CMMI. Boston: Artech House, 2003.
- 7. Webster, J. and R.T. Watson, *Analyzing the Past to Prepare for the Future: Writing a Literature Review.* MIS Quarterly, 2002. 26(2): p. 13-23.
- 8. Tranfield, D., D. D., and P. Smart, *Towards a Methodology for De-veloping Evidence-Informed Management Knowledge by Means of Systematic Review.* British Journal of Management, 2003. 14: p. 207-222.
- 9. Mettler, T. and A. Blondiau, *HCMM A Maturity Model for Measuring and Assessing the Quality of Cooperation between and within Hospitals.* 25th IEEE International Symposium on Computer-Based Medical Systems (CBMS), 2012.
- Holland, M., L. Dunbrack, and S. Piai, *Healthcare IT Maturity Model: Western European Hospitals The Leading Countries. European IT Opportunity: Healthcare Healthcare Provider IT Strategies* Health Industry Insights, an IDC Company, 2008.
- 11. Dunbrack, L. and L. Hand, *A Maturity Model for Mobile in Healthcare*. IDC Health Insights: Business Strategy, 2013. Doc # HI241777.
- 12. HIMSS, *The EMR Adoption Model*. HIMSS Analytics: Innovative Research / Informed Decisions, 2008.
- 13. Garets, D. and M. Davis, *Electronic Medical Records vs. Electronic Health Records: Yes, There Is a Difference.* A HIMSS AnalyticsTM White Paper, 2006.
- 14. Etin, D., Quality of Care with IDC & HIMSS models Where are eHealth projects going in EMEA? EMC Spark. Available: <u>http://sparkblog.emc.com/2014/05/ quality-care-idc-himss-models-ehealth-projects-going-emea/</u>. [Accessed 28 Sep 2015]. 2014.
- Priestman, W., ICT Strategy 2007-2011 for The Royal Liverpool and Broadgreen University Hospitals NHS Trust. Trust Board Meeting 6th November 2007., 2007. Document Number: V1.4.
- 16. Clair, C.L., *Electronic Medical Records Need More To Support "Meaningful Use"*. Forrester Research Inc, 2010.
- 17. NEHTA, *Interoperability Maturity Model: Version 2.0.* National E-Health Transition Authority Ltd, 2007.

- 18. NHS, National Infrastructure Maturity Model [Online]. Available: <u>http://systems.hscic.gov.uk/nimm</u> [Accessed 16 Sep 2015]. 2011.
- 19. Sanders, D., D.A. Burton, and D. Protti, *The Healthcare Analytics Adoption Model: A Framework and Roadmap.* HealthCatalyst, 2013.
- 20. Sanders, D., A Model for Measuring Industry-Wide Adoption and Capability of Healthcare Analytics and Data Warehousing in the USA ElectronicHealthcare, 2012. 11(2).
- 21. Wetering, R. and R. Batenburg, A PACS maturity model: A systematic metaanalytic review on maturation and evolvability of PACS in the hospital enterprise. International Journal of Medical Informatics, 2009. 78: p. 127-140.
- 22. Wetering, R. and R. Batenburg, *Towards a Theory of PACS Deployment: An Integrative PACS Maturity Framework.* Society for Imaging Informatics in Medicine, 2014.
- 23. van Dick, L. and C.S.L. Schutte, *The Telemedicine Service Maturity Model: A Framework for the Measurement and Improvement of Telemedicine Services*. INTECH: open science/open minds, 2013. Chapter 10: p. 217-238.
- 24. Staggers, N. and M. Rodney, Promoting Usability in Organizations with a New Health Usability Model: Implications for Nursing Informatics. NI 2012: Proceedings of the 11th International Congress on Nursing Informatics, 396, 2012.
- 25. HIMSS, Promoting Usability in Health Organizations: Initial Steps and Progress Toward a Healthcare Usability Maturity Model. Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society, 2011.
- 26. Nielsen, J., Corporate Usability Maturity Stages: 1-4 and 5-8. 2006.
- 27. Earthy, J., *Usability Maturity Model: Human-Centredness Scale*. IE2016 INUSE Deliverable D5.1.4s, 1998.
- 28. Schaffer, E., Instituionalization of Usability: A Step-By-Step Guide. Boston: Addison-Wesley, 2004.
- 29. Becker, J., et al., *Maturity Models in IS Research*. 18th European Conference on Information Systems, 2010.

Reducing computation time by Monte Carlo method: an application in determining axonal orientation distribution function

Nicolás F. Lori¹, Rui Lavrador²; Lucia Fonseca^{3,4,5}; Carlos Santos²; Rui Travasso^{2,3}, Artur Pereira⁶, Rosaldo Rossetti⁷, Nuno Sousa⁸, Victor Alves¹

¹ Algoritmi Centre, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal. {Nicolas.Lori, Victor.Alves}@algoritmi.uminho.pt ² Institute of Biomedical Imaging and Life Sciences (IBILI), Faculty of Medicine, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal. {rui.lavrador@fmed, uc2005107121@student.fis}.uc.pt ³ Center for Physics Computation (CFC), Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal. rui@teor.fis.uc.pt ⁴ Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands. ⁵ Eindhoven University of Technology, Eindhoven Netherlands. L.T.Neto.Fonseca@tue.nl ⁶ IETTA, University of Aveiro, Aveiro, Portugal. artur@ua.pt ⁷ LIAC, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal. rossetti@fe.up.pt ⁸ 3B's, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal. njcsousa@ecsaude.uminho.pt

Abstract. Diffusion MRI (dMRI) is highly sensitive in detecting early cerebral ischemic changes in acute stroke, and in pre-clinical assessment of white matter (WM) anatomy using tractography, thus being an important component of health informatics. In clinical settings, the computation time is critical, and so finding forms of reducing the processing time in high computation processes such as Diffusion Spectrum Imaging (DSI) dMRI data processing is extremely relevant. We analyse here a method for reducing the computation of the dMRI-based axonal orientation distribution function h by using a Monte Carlo sampling-based methods for voxel selection, and so obtained a reduction in required data sampling of about 20%. In this work we show that the convergence to the correct value in this type of dMRI data-processing is linear and not exponential, implying that the Monte Carlo approach in this type of dMRI data processing improves its speed, but further improvements are needed.

Keywords: White Matter, Diffusion MRI, Monte Carlo sampling methods, optimization, axonal ODF.

1 INTRODUCTION

The goal of this work is to establish how much the use of the Monte Carlo method can increase the speed of complex and large numerical data processing. Specifically, we will consider the determination of the white matter (WM) neural circuitry in humans by use of diffusion magnetic resonance imaging (dMRI) data processing, which is often done using the diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) approach [1-2]. Despite the development of improved dMRI WM fiber tracking techniques [3–7], these results are still considerably behind the results that can be obtained using in-vitro data [8]; or in-vitro microscopic studies [9]. Thus, the acquired dMRI data has steadily increased in both size and complexity.

Different WM fiber tracking techniques have different capacities to accurately represent the anisotropic component of the axonal orientation distribution function (ODF). The bigger the amount of different diffusion-sensitizing parameters the data acquisition has, the more information can be obtained [10,11,12,13], but this increases the size of the data set and the corresponding data processing time. A typical example of advanced dMRI data acquisition and processing is Diffusion Spectrum Imaging (DSI) [12]. The end-result of the advanced dMRI data processing is often tractography, which consists on showing the WM connections more likely to exist. The final images of the tractography are typically a spaghetti of lines, Fig. 1(a) (e.g. Ref. [4]); and/or a colored anatomical image of connection probabilities, Fig. 1(b) (e.g. Ref. [5]).



Fig. 1. Examples of human brain dMRI data processing, shown are sagital slices of tractography final images. a) DTI-based spaghetti of lines, b) DTI-based connection probabilities with seed region in corpus callosum.

We used here the dMRI data processing for extracting the WM axonal ODF, h, with an improved estimation of its isotropic and anisotropic fractions. We then calculate how much the use of the Monte Carlo method can reduce the data size required to be within 1 standard error of mean (SEM) from the value obtained using the full data set.

Reducing Computation Time by Monte Carlo Method ...

2 METHODS

2.1 Theoretical considerations

To obtain the axonal ODF, h, it is necessary that the experimental dMRI signal is modeled by axons having a certain orientation, and those axons need to have physiologically reasonable properties so that the recovered axonal ODF accurately represents the physiological ODF. Using our model, we determine the parameters which give the best fit of the calculated theoretical dMRI signal to the experimental signal. From the best fit we obtain the experimental axonal ODF, h_{fit} . The experimental axonal ODF can then be separated into an isotropic and an anisotropic component. We proceed to calculate for each voxel the isotropic fraction and the integer k number of WM axes. Then, the number of WM axes in each voxel that are parallel to the WM axes of neighboring voxels is determined by a procedure we developed. which calculates in automatic fashion the WM axes obtained in ref. [7]. Comparing these axis numbers between neighboring voxels, we can quantify the existent number of equally oriented axes in neighboring voxels, we call it framography. This allows us to distinguish between 1-axis connections (k=1), which are lines identical to those obtained in DTI tractography; 2-axes connections (k=2), which occur when 2 fiber-axes at a voxel are compatible with 2 fiber-axes at a neighboring voxel; and 3 axes connections (k=3), which occur when 3 fiber-axes at a voxel are compatible with 3 fiber-axes at a neighboring voxel, similar to ref. [7] (see Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Example of DSI connections from one seed with colors depend on orientation. The lines are 1-axis connections (k=1), planes are 2-axis connections (k=2), and crossing planes are 3-axis connections (k=3).

2.2 Mathematical representation of dMRI signal

Using the multi-exponential representation of the dMRI signal in ref. [14], a parameter search is done (see 2.4 sub-section) where D_F denotes the diffusion tensor of apparent fast diffusion and D_S denotes the diffusion tensor of the apparent slow diffusion orthogonal to the direction of fast diffusion. If the highest eigenvalue of the diffusion tensor for a single axon is λ_{\parallel} , and the two smaller eigenvalues are both equal to λ_{\perp} , then based on ref. [14] the D_F and D_S for an axon with a $\hat{r}(\theta, \varphi)$ orientation expressed in spherical coordinates (θ, φ) , and where *I* is the identity matrix, are:

$$D_F(\theta, \varphi) = [\hat{r}(\theta, \varphi) \, \hat{r}(\theta, \varphi)^T] \lambda_{||} \tag{1}$$

$$D_{S}(\theta,\varphi) = [I - \hat{r}(\theta,\varphi)\,\hat{r}(\theta,\varphi)^{T}]\lambda_{\perp}$$
⁽²⁾

The $\lambda_{||}$ corresponds to diffusion parallel to the axon, and λ_{\perp} to diffusion perpendicular to the axon, and they were both collected from Table 1 in ref. [14]; corresponding, respectively, to the D_F and D_S experimental averages in that ref. [14] table.

If we consider \bar{q} as the q-vector given by the product of the proton gyromagnetic ratio γ , with the diffusion-sensitizing gradient duration δ , and the magnetic field gradient vector \vec{g} [10], \hat{q} as the unit-size q-vector, τ as the regularized diffusion-time, and ζ as a scalar between 0 and 1 (from Table 1 in ref. [14]), then the dMRI signal reduction for an orientation (θ, φ) is:

$$S(\theta,\varphi)_{\hat{q}} = \zeta e^{-|\hat{q}|^2 \tau \hat{q}^{\mathsf{T}} D_{\varsigma}(\theta,\varphi) \hat{q}} + (1-\zeta) e^{-|\hat{q}|^2 \tau \hat{q}^{\mathsf{T}} D_{\varepsilon}(\theta,\varphi) \hat{q}}$$
(3)

The q-vector has units of one over length, and that length expresses the diffusion spatial length scale-order the dMRI signal is probing. We model this dMRI signal reduction starting from the ODF of the WM fiber orientations, $h(\theta, \varphi)$. The WM fiber orientation ODF, h, is expressed as the sum of an isotropic and an anisotropic component, the first of which is given by a sphere of radius R, and the second by a number k of Gaussian-like peaks indexed by j and with standard deviation σ_j .

The theoretical dMRI signal equation E_T is obtained using Equations (1) and (2) on Equation (3) to define *S*, and then using the defined *h* to obtain:

$$E_{T}(\vec{q}) = \frac{\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi} h(\theta, \varphi) S(\theta, \varphi)_{\vec{q}} \sin \theta d\theta d\varphi}{\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi} h(\theta, \varphi) \sin \theta d\theta d\varphi}$$
(4)

If the experimentally obtained dMRI signal intensity is E_{exp} , then the difference G_{DSI} between the experimental and theoretical dMRI signal for DSI is obtained by the sum, over all the \vec{q} used in DSI, of the squared differences between E_{exp} , and E_T .

The E_T was compared to E_{exp} , and the parameters that give the best approximation were chosen. The optimal experimentally obtained R, L_j , and σ_j parameters are those that minimize the difference between E_T and E_{exp} for the used data acquisition method, and they define the h_{fit} for that acquisition method. The parameters combinations are described in Table 1 and are based on diffusion parameters from ref. [14], all parameter combinations were assessed for each voxel (Fig.3 is the example for one voxel).



Table 1: The parameters used in our search.

Fig. 3. Experimental (blue line) and theoretical signals (green line) along the corresponding q-vector number. The example voxel is on the position pointed by the green arrow near the ventricles (black triangular shapes) in the brain image overlaid by the isotropic fractions (yellow-red scale).

The isotropic and anisotropic fractions were obtained from the volume obtained from the h_{fit} . The total volume is calculated by:

$$V_{total} = \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^{\pi} h_{fit}(\theta, \varphi) \sin \theta d\theta d\varphi$$
(5)

The isotropic volume corresponds to the volume of the sphere with radius equal to the minimum value of $h_{fit}(\theta, \varphi)$; therefore $h_{fit}(\theta, \varphi)$ in Equation (5) is replaced by the minimum of h_{fit} :

$$V_{iso} = \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^{\pi} \min(h_{fit}) \sin\theta d\theta d\varphi$$
(6)

The anisotropic volume is the difference between total volume and isotropic volume: $V_{antso} = V_{total} - V_{tso}$ The ratio between the anisotropic fraction of WM fibers, and the total amount of WM fibers is: $\Xi_{antso} = \frac{V_{antso}}{V_{total}}$. The ratio for the isotropic fractions (only calculated for WM voxels) is thus:

$$\Xi_{iso} = \frac{V_{iso}}{V_{total}}$$
(7)

2.3 Processing of dMRI data

The Ξ_{iso} of each voxel was correlated with the *k* values obtained using the approach described in the next section. The study was performed on high quality DSI dMRI data from the Human Connectome Project (HCP). Henceforth, we will refer to these data as "HCP data". The HCP data used in the preparation of this work were obtained from the database of the MGH-UCLA section of the HCP (all the HCP data has been approved by the corresponding ethical committees and internal review boards) [15], the HCP data includes an anatomical T1-weigthed volume. The segmentation of the WM was performed in HCP data using FSL [16]. The anatomical data, and segmented maps were coregistered to diffusion space using FSL. There were available 2 subjects with data suitable for our analysis. Subject 1, was acquired using a maximum gradient of 300 mT/m, 2 mm isovoxels, 514 directions and b maximum of 15000 s/mm2. Subject 2 was acquired at a maximum gradient of 90 mT/m, 2 mm isovoxels, for 514 directions and b-value maximum of 10000 s/mm2.

3 RESULTS

The Diffusion Toolkit/TrackVis software [5] was used to obtain a 181 points ODF surface (not the axonal ODF). The obtained ODF data contains ODF peaks, which are the orientations for which the ODF is higher. The ODF peaks data binary data takes the value of 1 if the value of the ODF is a local

maxima, and zero otherwise. For each peak, there is a peak pointing in the opposite direction with almost equal amplitude. If the ODF contains more than 3 pairs of opposing peaks, only the 3 highest ODF pairs of opposing peaks will be used. Furthermore, we also used the anatomical labeling provided by FSL; so that WM can be distinguished from gray matter (GM), from cerebro-spinal-fluid (CSF), and from everything else that is not WM. The anatomical image had its intensity inhomogeneity corrected, contrast adjusted, voxel re-sampled, and co-registered to the dMRI data.

We call the orientation of a pair of ODF opposing peaks, an axis. In an axis, a connection to a neighboring voxel can be made by either advancing or retreating along that axis. We developed an automatic approach method based on previous works [7], which is a WM axis extension approach where for each WM point it is determined the number of axes parallel to the axis of another WM point. The obtained topological structure is a 3-plane crossing grid, such as occur in Fig. 2.

The number of coincident axes between two neighboring points is denoted by a non-negative integer k, implying that in the same voxel there can be different k values depending on which neighboring WM points are considered. The value of k between two neighboring points defines the number of parallel fiber axes between the two sets of 3 axes, one set per point. The axes extension and parallelism detection are only performed for WM voxels, Fig. 4.

The isotropic fractions are higher near the vicinity of GM, as it is expected, since the fibers theoretically become less organized and with a less defined main direction. The regions with lower Ξ_{iso} are mostly located in the Corpus Callosum (CC), superior longitudinal fasciculus, and corticospinal tracts (Fig. 4). The regions with lower isotropic fraction are in agreement with bigger k values from the tractography method. It is apparent that high k values correspond to low values of Ξ_{iso} . This was confirmed by calculating the mean values of the Ξ_{iso} for each group of voxels with a given k value, Table 2.

The relation between the percentage of voxels used (x-axis) and the value of Ξ_{iso} represented as a fraction of the Ξ_{iso} obtained when all voxels are used (y-axis) appears in Fig. 5. We obtain the relations between the percentage of voxels used (x-axis) and the percentage of sub-partitions whose averages are within 1 standard error of the mean of the true average (y-axis) (Fig. 6). These results were obtained for each of the three axis connections possibilities, specifically, k=1, k=2, and k=3. For both Fig. 5 and Fig. 6 the voxels are randomly sampled without replacement using a Monte Carlo method.



Fig. 4. Example of results using HCP DSI human data overlaid on HCP anatomical MRI.

Table 2. Isotropic fractions' Ξ_{iso} relation to k values for two subjects. Only k values with more than 5 voxels were considered statistically significant.

		k=1	k=2	k=3	k=1 V 2	k=1 V 3	k=2 V 3	k=1 V 2 V 3
ject 1	$\langle \Xi_{iso} \rangle \pm SEM$	63.1±0.5	41.3±0.8	38.7±1.8	43.0±1.4	53.7±6.2	35.9±2.4	N/A
Sub	Number of voxels	5777	2322	247	708	27	124	4
ject 2	$\langle \Xi_{iso} \rangle \pm SEM$	53.6±0.4	37.4±0.7	38.4±2.0	38.8±1.3	46.0±7.0	33.0±2.4	47.1±9.8
Sub	Number of voxels	8251	3342	280	867	29	146	12



Fig. 5. Comparison of Ξ_{iso} calculated with all the voxels (straight line ± 1 standard error of the mean) versus Ξ_{iso} calculated with a Monte Carlo fraction of the voxels (y-axis) as a function of the fraction of the Monte Carlo-selected voxels (x-axis) for k=2, the results for k=1 and k=3.are similar.



Fig. 6. Calculation using Monte Carlo method of the fraction of voxels with Ξ_{iso} within a standard error of the mean of the Ξ_{iso} calculated with all the voxels (y-axis) as a function of the fraction of the Monte Carlo-selected voxels (x-axis) for k=2 (results for k=1 and k=3 are similar).

4 CONCLUSION

The high processing time required for the search of the model parameters limited the search of more optimal parameters, e.g. larger variations of λ_{\parallel} and λ_{\perp} . Our model is simple, but it provides a good approximation to the real axonal structures in the brain.

We found that the regions with higher k values correspond to regions with lower Ξ_{iso} . An arrangement k=3 between voxels suggests a lower isotropic fraction, which means that the 3-axis arrangement of the axons is a good representation of the majority of the axons' distribution, in agreement with ref. [7]. The simpler the arrangement, respectively k=2 and k=1, the higher the isotropic component of axonal distribution.

The use of Monte Carlo voxel sampling obtained the correct result within 1 standard error of the mean 100% of the times using only about 80% of the data. Thus, using the Monte Carlo method is capable of reducing the computation time by about 20% without loss in result quality.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the financial support by QREN, FEDER, COMPETE, Investigador FCT, FCT Ciencia 2007, FCT PTDC/SAU-BEB/100147/2008, FCT Project Scope UID/CEC/00319/2013, and the ERASMUS projects (FCT stands for "Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia"). We are thankful the relevant scientific conversations with Alard Roebroeck, Rainer Goebel, Van Wedeen,

and Gina Caetano. Data collection for this work was in part from the "Human Connectome Project" (HCP; Principal Investigators: Bruce Rosen, M.D., Ph.D., Arthur W. Toga, Ph.D., Van J. Weeden, MD). HCP funding was provided by the National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research (NIDCR), the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH), and the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS). HCP data are disseminated by the Laboratory of Neuro Imaging at the University of Southern California.

REFERENCES

- Conturo, T.E., Lori, N.F., Cull, T.S., Akbudak, E., Snyder, A.Z., et al. Tracking neuronal fiber pathways in the living human brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 10422–10427. (1999).
- Lori, N.F., Akbudak, E., Shimony, J.S., Cull, T.S., Snyder, A.Z., et al. Diffusion tensor fiber tracking of human brain connectivity: aquisition methods, reliability analysis and biological results. NMR Biomed 15: 494—515. (2002).
- 3. Tuch, D.S. Q-ball imaging. Magn Reson Med 52: 1358-1372. (2004).
- Behrens, T.E.J., Berg, H.J., Jbabdi, S., Rushworth, M.F.S., Woolrich, M.W. Probabilistic diffusion tractography with multiple fibre orientations: What can we gain? Neuroimage 34: 144–155. (2007).
- Wedeen, V.J., Wang, R.P., Schmahmann, J.D., Benner, T., Tseng, W.Y.I., et al. Diffusion spectrum magnetic resonance imaging (DSI) tractography of crossing fibers. Neuroimage 41: 1267–1277. (2008).
- 6. Raffelt, D., Tournier, J.D., Rose, S., Ridgway G.R., Henderson, R., et al. Apparent Fibre Density: A novel measure for the analysis of diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance images. Neuroimage 59: 3976–3994. (2012).
- Wedeen, V.J., Rosene, D.L., Wang, R., Dai, G., Mortazavi. F., et al. The geometric structure of the brain fiber pathways. Science 335: 1628–1634. (2012).
- Dani, A., Huang, B., Bergan, J., Dulac, C., Zhuang, X. Superresolution Imaging of Chemical Synapses in the Brain. Neuron 68: 843–856. (2010).
- 9. Hawrylycz, M.J., Lein, E.S., Guillozet-Bongaarts, A.L., Shen, E.H., Ng, L., et al. An anatomically comprehensive atlas of the adult human brain transcriptome. Nature 489: 391–399. (2012).
- 10. Tuch, D.S., Reese, T.G., Wiegell, M.R., Wedeen, V.J. DMRI of Complex Neural Architecture. Neuron 40: 885–895. (2003).
- Hill, S.L., Wang, Y., Riachi, I., Schürmann, F., Markram, H. Statistical connectivity provides a sufficient foundation for specific functional connectivity in neocortical neural microcircuits. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109: E2885–94. (2012).

- 12. Wang, R., Benner, T., Sorensen, A.G., Wedeen, V.J. Diffusion Toolkit: A Software Package for Diffusion Imaging Data Processing and Tractography. Proc Intl Soc Mag Reson Med 15: 3720. (2007).
- Assaf, Y., Blumenfeld-Katzir, T., Yovel, Y., Basser, P.J. AxCaliber: A method for measuring axon diameter distribution from dMRI. Magn Reson Med 59: 1347–1354. (2008).
- 14. Milne, M.L., Conradi, M.S. Multi-exponential signal decay from diffusion in a single compartment. J Magn Reson 197: 87–90. (2009).
- 15. U.C.L.A. (n.d.) LONI Image Data Archive (IDA). Available: https://ida.loni.ucla.edu/login.jsp. Accessed 16 November 2012. (2012)
- Zhang, Y., Brady, M., Smith, S. Segmentation of brain MR images through a hidden Markov random field model and the expectation-maximization algorithm. IEEE Trans Med Imaging 20: 45–57. (2001)

Enabling data storage and availability of multimodal neuroimaging studies - A NoSOL based solution

Filipe Fernandes¹, Paulo Marques^{2,3}, Ricardo Magalhães^{2,3}, Nuno Sousa^{2,3}, Victor Alves¹

¹ Department of Informatics, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal ² Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal ³ ICVS/3Bs - PT Government Associate Laboratory, Braga/Guimarães, Portugal fernandesbiomed@hotmail.com {paulo.c.g.marques, ricardomagalhaes, njcsousa}@ecsaude.uminho.pt valves@di.uminho.pt

Abstract. Multimodal neuroimaging studies are of major interest in the clinical and research setting, enabling the combined study of the structure and function of the human brain. However, the amount of procedures applied, associated with the production of large volumes of data creates obstacles to the organization, maintenance and sharing of neuroimaging data. Taking this into account, we developed a NoSQL based solution that automates the process of organizing and sharing neuroimaging data. This system is composed by an application, which recognizes the files to be stored through the use of a standardized nomenclature of the files generated in the processing workflows. Additionally, the system is distributed in order to store data as documents enabling users to upload and retrieve files to/from the system in different locations. The prototype enhances the research process, through the simplification and reduction of the time spent organizing and sharing information.

Keywords: MRI, NoSQL, Storage, MongoDB, multimodal neuroimaging.

1 Introduction

Information sharing and storing is one of the fundamental practices in neurosciences research, in particular, and in modern society, in general. This paradigm, together with the vast amount of data continuously generated and requested, creates the need for specific tools to ease its management. The acquisition, processing and analysis of Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) data involves a vast set of processes and tools which eventually generate extra amounts of data. This type of analysis can be extremely important at different levels in the context of neuroscience research and clinical practice, from the definition of basic

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

concepts of brain functioning and organization, to the identification of hallmarks of several pathologies and even cirurgical planning [1,2,3].

Neuroimaging studies are usually group studies, tipically with one control group and another group having the condition under study, each of these composed by several participants/subjects. Each subject tipically undergoes a multimodal imaging protocol with several different imaging modalities, each of these tipically generating several 3D (e.g. structural acquisitions) or 4D (e.g. funtional acquisitions) datasets. In a typical neuroimaging study, composed of 100 subjects, each with a functional MRI (fMRI), structural MRI and diffusion MRI (dMRI) acquisition, more than 160000 files and 500 GB of data can be generated.

In addition to the large amounts of generated data, images commonly undergo several processing steps [4]. In this sense there are some specifically established processing streams for analysis of MRI brain images, such as the one used in BrainCAT application for joint analysis of fMRI and dMRI images [5], or Freesurfer workflow for the automated segmentation of structural MRI images [6]. This processes can also vary, depending on the analysis in question, and the same dataset can be used in several analysis, greatly contributing for the increase in the amount and dispersity of data to be managed.

The lack of standardized procedures, coupled with the inadequacy of data organization platforms, also makes the reuse, sharing and collaboration between projects and institutions oftenly difficult and counterproductive. This considerably increases the probability of information loss and loss of research potential, in addition to not providing secure and automatic means for storing, accessing and sharing data. The possibility of committing errors in the combination of studies and analysis techniques also increases, which could further compromise results. In this sense it is necessary an extra effort to maintain the coherence of the generated information [7].

Important work has already been done in establishing the foundations for this kind of platform. One available example for the management and storage of MRI like data is the ANIMA architecture [8]. ANIMA is an online repository of published meta-analysis neuroimaging results. The information is organized in individual studies, tipically stored in the NIfTI image format, along with essential information describing these studies. Any user can submit their own study information, which will be first analyzed by the administrators of the database (DB), for security and data integrity reasons. Finally, ANIMA has been developed in order to allow imported data to be easily queried and organized locally by the user. Another solution is the Extensible Neuroimaging Archive Toolkit (XNAT) [9]. Information can be entered in the system as XML or forms, being initially stored in a virtual quarantine until an authorized user validates it. Access to the repository is done via a secure web application, providing search capabilities for specific and combined data types, detailed reports, experimental data lists, import/export tools and access to laboratory processing streams. XNAT also includes an online image viewer for the neuroimaging formats DICOM (Digital Imaging and Communication in Medicine) and Analyze.

2 Processing MRI data

The lack of standardization of processes is a major obstacle to the organization and cooperation between researchers/clinicians, reducing efficiency, speed and increasing the likelihood of errors and consequent obtainment of incorrect results. In this regard it is common practice to define data processing pipelines [5]. In this section we intend to provide an example of a typical data processing workflow for structural, functional and diffusion analyses, from the acquisition of data to achieving results. Figure 1 presents an existing complex and structured processing pipeline intended to demonstrate the variety of steps present in the realization of multimodal brain MRI studies.



Figure 1. Example of a processing workflow for multimodal analysis of brain MRI. Black arrows within blue blocks represent streams of sequential data processing steps.

The process starts with the acquisition of the data (1), which is then exported from the MRI system and then transported offline to the data processing center (2). Then the images are converted from IMA to DICOM format (3) and then structured in folders, according to the type of acquisition (4). Images are then converted from DICOM to NIfTI format (5). The structural data enters two independent streams of data processing: region of interest segmentation using the Freesurfer workflow (6) and preprocessing and analysis of structural images for Voxel Based Morphometry (VBM) analysis (7). Regarding functional data, it can be preprocessed with the typical preprocessing steps, including normalization and smoothing steps (8.a) in order to undergo Independent Component Analysis (ICA) or task-related general linear model (GLM) analysis (10); or it can be preprocessed without smoothing (8.b) in order to be used for graph theory analysis (9). This kind of analysis might use the segmentation of the structural data in order to define the nodes of the functional brain networks, represented as 2D matrices of connectivity [10,11]. Similarly, the diffusion data is initially preprocessed (11) and then, the Diffusion Tensor Imaging (DTI) model is applied (12) generating the tensor data, which can be used in order to perform tractography (13), and scalar maps that can be analyzed with Tract-Based Spatial Statistics (TBSS) (14). The tractography can be combined with the segmentation of structural images in order to perform graph theory analysis of diffusion data (15) [12].

The completion of these steps results in a large amount of information that needs to be accessible to the researcher(s) involved in any particular study.

3 Hierarchy and File Nomenclature

The need for standardization in the processing of MRI studies is essential to maximize the organization of the large volume of data generated. In this regard, it was important to choose a solution that would facilitate the entire processing flow describe in Figure 1, as well as the organization, cooperation and sharing of the data. To this end we opted for the use of a file hierarchy similar to some existing workflows in order to facilitate the adoption of the proposed solution.

As stated above, multimodal MRI studies usually involve several subjects, various types of analysis and preprocessing steps that are reflected in the production of numerous files that matter to locate and reuse. In order for the adopted hierarchy to optimize the process of organization it is essential to understand the parameters that best define a file.

It is intended that the higher hierarchical degree of coverage for a file is the study to which it belongs. From this, diverge the subjects included in each study. To each subject may belong a set of analysis/acquisitions, involving the use of different software and files: MRIDCM - DICOM images resulting from structural acquisition; FMRIDCM - DICOM images obtained from functional acquisition; DTIDCM -DICOM images resulting from diffusion acquisition; FMRI – files obtained from the preprocessing of functional images; MRI – files collected from the preprocessing of structural images; DTI – files resulting from the preprocessing of diffusion images and production of vectors and tensors; TRKVIS – files needed in deterministic tratography via TRKVIS software; BEDPOSTX.bedpostx – files needed for probabilistic tratography via BEDPOSTX and PROBTRACKX software; Freesurfer– files resulting from the Freesurfer software for segmentation of structural images.

After defining the hierarchy of folders to use, it is essential to define for each file a specific nomenclature and description. The use of a strictly defined nomenclature, plays a fundamental role in the organization and sharing of studies. Through this, it is possible to identify automatically the contents of a file over the relationship between its name and what it represents. For such, a dictionary has been set. In order to better understand the usefulness and use of this dictionary some examples are shown:

- *Filename* : [*Id*]_diff_dtifit_FA.nii.gz;
 - *Context* : fractional anisotropy map (FA), obtained by using FDT *dtifit tool* in preprocessed diffusion images;
 - *Folder* : DTI;
 - *Description* : Fractional anisotropy map.
- *Filename* : [*Id*]_str_crop.nii.gz;
 - Context : file resulting from the conversion of DICOM functional images to NifTI;
 - *Folder* : MRI;
 - *Description* : Raw Data.

In the above list, *Id* is the identifier of a particular subject to which the file belongs. A total of 63 file types were defined in the dictionary, representing essential information obtained in the implementation of a multimodal processing pipeline. Once defined, this dictionary of files and respective folder structure, it is possible to integrate them into the developed computer application (BrainArchive).

In this type of studies it is often necessary to manipulate the existing files. As such it becomes imperative to have a local copy of the files that comprise the study to be performed. Thus it was decided to create a folder designated MyBrain. In this folder, each user can put all files resulting from the described processing flow, ideally fullfilling the folder hierarchy and nomenclature described. If this is satisfied the BrainArchive application here described will automatically recognize each file, more specifically the study, subject and analysis to which it belongs, as well as the type of file it represents. This folder allows the dual purpose of automatically add multiple files to a repository (described below), and create a local copy of a study in the repository that was not processed locally, keeping the structure in which it was originally included in the implemented repository.

4 BrainArchive

Given the need to develop an user interface to support the storage, organization and sharing of multimodal studies of brain MRI, a computer application was developed, named BrainArchive, using Python as programming language. Python was chosen due to several benefits that it presents compared to solutions like Java or C: scalable cross-platform development; simple syntax; high level language; powerful data structures; ease of implementation and a extensive standardized library [13]. For the development of the Graphical User Interface (GUI) we opted for the combination of PyQt and Qt Designer. Thus, customizing windows and dialogs is possible using a drag-and-drop approach, with testability in different styles and resolutions. Widgets are easily integrated with code via a signal mechanism, which allows the allocation of behaviors to graphical elements. The developed application consists of three key elements (Interface, Controller and MongoDB Driver) that establish correspondence with a development model in which the implementation of the interface is independent of the behavior and status changes of the objects that compose it.

The typical approach to store documents (e.g. images) consists in storing them in the file system while storing the documents' paths in one DB. Considering the large number of files and the size of those files, this solution would present several drawbacks in terms of scalability, availability and backup management. As such, for the development of the repository, an approach capable of being distributed and scalable was considered beneficial. This simultaneously discourages the use of relational DBs and benefits the use of document-oriented DBs. Due to the lack of standards in neuroimaging processing, the capacity of storing unstructured data is also a great advantage of document-oriented DBs.

Document-oriented DBs are one of the main categories of a group of nonrelational DBs designated NoSQL (Not only SQL) [14, 15]. In these systems, the DB is not organized in tables and generally SQL is not used for data manipulation. NoSQL architectures are developed for large-scale data storage (structured and unstructured) and massively parallel processing over multiple commodity servers. The data model in a NoSQL DB is tipically one of three types:

- A *Key-value* data model, where a key corresponds to a specific value, which allows higher query speeds, support for mass storage and high concurrency;
- *Column-oriented*, stores data in one extendable column of closely related data;
- *Document-based*, stores and organizes data as collections of documents in JavaScript Object Notation (JSON) or Extensible Markup Language (XML) format.

Taking into account the previous considerations, it was decided to use the document-based NoSQL DB MongoDB. This solution is ideal for file storage, saving objects in a binary format called BSON, presenting itself as an effective solution in the maintenance of large data volumes.

MongoDB has a flexible schema, that does not enforce document structure, unlike SQL DBs. This flexibility facilitates the mapping of documents to an entity or an object. Each document can match the data fields of the represented entity, even if the data has substantial variation.

Besides one can use advanced queries in order to filter files based on associated metadata thanks to the GridFS specification [16]. MongoDB also allows the horizontally scaling of the DB through the technique known as sharding. This allows distributing the data over several physical partitions, in order to overcome hardware limitations. It also supports the creation of replica sets, an automatically managed fault monitoring mechanism. Figure 2 illustrates the communication mechanism between BrainArchive clients and the MongoDB server.

Enabling Data Storage and Availability of Multimodal ...



Figure 2. BrainArchive global architecture.

The primary objective of BrainArchive is to implement an efficient and automated way of organizing, storing and sharing data of multimodal brain MRI studies, taking advantage of the hierarchy of folders and the defined file nomenclature. Thus it is possible to export (introduce local files in the MongoDB repository) a full study in a single step, for example. This same study may in turn be composed of a given number of subjects, each consisting of multiple files. Given this feature, the sharing process of data is facilitated, since it is not necessary to export or import (extraction of files from the repository to the local folder) each file individually. In addition, each automatically exported file, presents a set of information that characterizes it, without the need for manual setting by the user. The file export interface of the BrainArchive application is shown in Figure 3.

This same information allows the user to filter the files in the repository, using parameters that define them (e.g. study identifier, subject identifier, analysis and type of file). This way it is possible to extract only the desired data, depending on the purpose. The interface used for the filtering process and subsequent extraction of files is illustrated in Figure 4.

In addition to the presented features, security issues and access permissions to data were also considered. In this sense, besides the need of authentication to login in the BrainArchive application, it was intended to ensure the security of data transfer using Secure Sockets Layer (SSL), linking BrainArchive and the MongoDB. Moreover each user can in every moment, change other users' access permissions to the data exported by him. In this way it is possible to manage the availability of files in the repository, making it only accessible to user who inserted the data, specific users or to every user.

The developed interface is compact and with a simple aspect, focused on the features that it intends to address.

				Export Re	mote	
ame	Size	Date Modified				
Estudo_1x3		09/06/15 11:32	Study	Estudo 1x3		User Permission
v SW0081C		07/05/15 15:45				
BEDPOSTX		04/06/14 06:09	Subject	SW0081C		
BEDPOSTX.bedpostX		06/05/15 14:11	Type of Analysis			
BEDPOSTX.bedpostX.zip	226,8 MB	06/05/15 16:44		MRI		
DTI		07/05/15 18:16				B
DTIDCM		17/05/12 09:14	Type of File			
DTIDCM.zip	61,7 MB	06/05/15 18:00				
FMRI		02/04/15 11:58				
FMRIDCM		05/06/12 10:31				
FMRIDCM.zip	24,9 MB	06/05/15 18:00				
freesurfer		06/05/15 14:08		Chara		0
🗋 log	60 bytes	06/05/15 11:50	Permissions	Private		Export
V MRI		06/05/15 14:08	Permissions			
MPRAGESAGs002a1001.nii.gz	12,9 MB	28/05/14 18:56				
MPRAGESAGs002a1001.nii.gz	12,7 MB	28/05/14 18:56	Name	Siz	0	Date Modified
SW0081C_csf_stdspace.nii.gz	871 KB	11/09/14 18:24	h MPRAG	ESAGs002a1001 nii oz	12.9 MB	28/05/14 18:56
F SW0081C_gm_stdspace.nii.gz	1,4 MB	11/09/14 18:24	h oMPBA	GESAGs002a1001 nii gz	12.7 MB	28/05/14 18:56
SW0081C_mixeltype.nii.gz	392 KB	11/09/14 18:29	L SW008	1C cef etdenace nii oz	871 KB	11/00/14 18-24
I SW0081C_mni_warp_to_str.nii.gz	78,3 MB	26/02/15 16:52	L SW008	10 om stdspace nij oz	1.4 MB	11/09/14 18:24
E SW0081C_prob_0.nii.gz	4,5 MB	11/09/14 18:29	h SW008	1C mixeltype pii oz	392 KB	11/09/14 18:29
F SW0081C_prob_1.nii.gz	4,9 MB	11/09/14 18:29	L SW008	1C mpi warp to stroi	78.3 MB	26/02/15 16:52
I SW0081C_prob_2.nii.gz	4,8 MB	11/09/14 18:29	L SW008	1C prob 0 nij oz	4.5 MB	11/09/14 18:29
F SW0081C_pve_0.nii.gz	645 KB	11/09/14 18:29	h SW008	1C prob 1 nij gz	9 MB	11/09/14 18:29
SW0081C_pve_1.nii.gz	1,2 MB	11/09/14 18:29	L SW008	1C prob 2 nii gz	4.8 MB	11/09/14 18:29
I SW0081C_pve_2.nii.gz	772 KB	11/09/14 18:29	h SW008	1C ove 0 oii oz	645 KB	11/09/14 18:29
BW0081C_pveseg.nii.gz	363 KB	11/09/14 18:29	h SW008	1C ove 1 pil oz	1.2 MB	11/09/14 18:29
SW0081C_restore.nii.gz	4,6 MB	11/09/14 18:29	L SW008	1C ove 2 nil oz	772 KB	11/09/14 18:29
SW0081C_seg.nii.gz	364 KB	11/09/14 18:29	L SW008	1C oveseg pij oz	363 KB	11/09/14 18:29
SW0081C_str_2diff.mat	187 bytes	24/02/15 12:45	L SW008	1C restore nii oz	4.6 MB	11/09/14 18:29
SW0081C_str_2mni.mat	189 bytes	28/05/14 18:58	h SW008		364 KB	11/00/14 18:20
SW0081C_str_2nat.mat	184 bytes	11/09/14 18:24	- Swoos	1C etr 2diff mat	187 bytes	24/02/15 12:45
BW0081C_str_crop_bet_mask.nii.gz	73 KB	28/05/14 18:56	Swoos	1C etr 2mni met	189 bytes	28/05/14 18:58
F SW0081C str crop bet mni.nii.gz	881 KB	28/05/14 19:04	30008	io_au_Enniat	104 bytes	20/00/14 10:00

Figure 3. Logical division of the initial interface in BrainArchive (Repository tab). (A) Local studies for a user. (B) Export section of files/studies. (C) Structure of subfolders descendants from the location selected in (A).

					Re	pository	Query			
			Re	mote Archive						User: ff
				Study	Subject	Analysis	User	FileType	File	UploadDate
User				Estudo_1x3	SW0081C	DTI		Mean diffusivity map	Estudo_1x3/SW0081C/DTl/ SW0081C diff dtift MD.nii.gz	2015-08-08 15:10:4
study			2	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Diffusion weights	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C_diff.byal	2015-08-07 14:19:3
Subject			3	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Diffusion gradients	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C_diff_byec	2015-08-07 14:19:3
malysis	0		14	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Raw data	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C_diff.nii.gz	2015-08-07 14:21:2
ype of file			- 5	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Raw b0 image	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C_diff_b0.pii.oz	2015-08-07 14:21:3
rivate	Clear	Search		Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Brain Mask	Estudo 29z/SW0186C/DTl/ SW0186C diff b0 bet mask nil.gz	2015-08-07 14:21:3
	011.	0.0100	7	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Fractional anisotropy map	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C diff dtifit FA.nii.gz	2015-08-07 14:21:3
User	Estudo_29z	SW0186C		Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		First eigenvalue map	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DT// SW0186C_diff_dtift_L1.nii.gz	2015-08-07 14:21:3
rainMongoTestUse	Estudo_1x3	SW0081C	9	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Second eigenvalue map	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C_diff_dtift_L2.nii.gz	2015-08-07 14:21:3
			10	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Third eigenvalue map	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTl/ SW0186C_diff_dtift_L3.nii.gz	2015-08-07 14:21:
			11	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Mean diffusivity map	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C_diff_dtifit_MD.nii.gz	2015-08-07 14:21:4
			112	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Radial diffusivity map	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C_diff_dtifit_RD.nii.gz	2015-08-07 14:21:4
	Type of file		13	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		B0 image	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C_diff_dtift_S0.nii.gz	2015-08-07 14:21:4
			14	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Diffusion tensors	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C_diff_dtifit_tensor.nii.gz	2015-08-07 14:21:5
			15	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		First eigenvector	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C_diff_dtifit_V1.nii.gz	2015-08-07 14:21:5
			16	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Second eigenvector	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTl/ SW0186C_diff_dtifft_V2.nii.gz	2015-08-07 14:22:0
			17	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Third eigenvector	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C_diff_dtifit_V3.nii.gz	2015-08-07 14:22:0
			18	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Eddy current correction transformations	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C_diff_eddy.ecclog	2015-08-07 14:22:0
	Changes File Permise	ione	19	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI	-	Preprocessed data	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTI/ SW0186C_diff_eddy_bet.nii.gz	2015-08-07 14:22:4
To Public Add	Llear	10110	20	Estudo_29z	SW0186C	DTI		Rotated diffusion gradients	Estudo_29z/SW0186C/DTl/ SW0186C_diff_rotated.bvec	2015-08-07 14:22:4
TO PUBLIC Add	Ober 1		1.							
-	Change A	I Unange Selected							Import Selected File(s)	Import All File

Figure 4. Query and import interface in BrainArchive (**Query tab**). (A) Files filtering section. (B) Change file access permissions. (C) Display and import section of files present in the repository.

5 Discussion

Nowadays, images obtained from standard clinical MRI scanners are nearly always stored in Picture Archiving and Communications Systems (PACS) [17]. PACS store the image data, as well as other demographic and technical information in the DICOM format. However there is no widely accepted DICOM standard for a large number of complex MRI datasets [18]. Other systems use commercially available relational DB management systems to store the medical imaging data and to create data access interfaces to store, retrieve, modify and query the data present in that repository of data e.g. ANIMA, XNAT or Global Alzheimer's Association Interactive Network (GAAIN) [19].

Despite the existence of generic advantages among these solutions, BrainArchive was developed with the intention to facilitate the user throughout the organizational process and sharing of studies' data. The incorporation of a specific hierarchy and file nomenclature allows the identification/classification of large volumes of information, without requiring individual and manual setting what each file represents, thus significantly reducing the time required for this process. Simultaneously, it enables data recovery, reuse of information and simplifies collaboration among health entities. Additionally, our system also enables the access to the data independently of the system used or location, greatly simplifying the process of sharing data between researchers/clinitians and/or institutions.

In this sense, we believe this is a novel approach in neuroimaging archiving, since it grants the automatic distribution of brain MRI data to researchers and health professions, regardless of where they do the analysis. This might ultimately catalyze new findings in neuroscience research, foster the dissemination of relevant clinical finding and improve the adoption of complex multimodal neuroimaging techniques in the clinical settings. Although the projected system was primarily designed for brain MRI studies, it can be easily extended to other medical imaging modalities that deal with large number of data files.

Acknowledgments. This work has been supported by FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Project Scope UID/CEC/00319/2013.

References

- 1.Steen, R. G., Mull, C., Mcclure, R., Hamer, R. M., Lieberman, J. A. (2006). Brain volume in first-episode schizophrenia. The British Journal of Psychiatry , 510-518.
- 2.Sylvie Goldman, Liam M. Brien, Pauline A. Filipek, Isabelle Rapin, Martha R. Herbert, Motor stereotypies and volumetric brain alterations in children with Autistic Disorder, Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders, Volume 7, Issue 1, January 2013, Pages 82-92.
- 3.Filippi CG, Edgar MA, Ulug AM, et al. Appearance of meningiomas on diffusion-weighted images: correlating diffusion constants with histopathologic findings. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2001.
- 4.Rex, D. E., Ma, J. Q., Toga, A. W. (2003). The LONI Pipeline Processing Environment. NeuroImage, 19(3), 1033-1048.
- 5. Marques P, Soares JM, Alves V and Sousa N (2013) BrainCAT a tool for automated and

combined functional magnetic resonance imaging and diffusion tensor imaging brain connectivity analysis. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 7:794.

- 6.Dale, A.M., Fischl, B., Sereno, M.I., 1999. Cortical surface-based analysis. I. Segmentation and surface reconstruction. Neuroimage 9, 179-194.
- 7.Gregory A. Book, Michael C. Stevens, Michal Assaf, David C. Glahn, Godfrey D. Pearlson, Neuroimaging data sharing on the neuroinformatics database platform, NeuroImage, Available online 16 April 2015, ISSN 1053-8119.
- Andrew T. Reid, Danilo Bzdok, Sarah Genon, et al. ANIMA: A data-sharing initiative for neuroimaging meta-analyses, NeuroImage, Available online 29 July 2015, ISSN 1053- 8119.
- 9. Marcus, D., Olsen, T., Ramaratnam, M. and Buckner, R. (2007). The extensible neuroimaging archive toolkit. Neuroinform, 5(1), pp.11-33.
- 10.Magalhães, Ricardo, et al. "The Impact of Normalization and Segmentation on Resting-State Brain Networks." *Brain connectivity* 5.3 (2015): 166-176.
- 11.Magalhães, Ricardo, et al. "Construction of Functional Brain Connectivity Networks." Distributed Computing and Artificial Intelligence, 12th International Conference. Springer International Publishing, 2015.
- 12.Soares, José M., et al. "A hitchhiker's guide to diffusion tensor imaging." Frontiers in neuroscience 7 (2013).
- 13.J. Akeret, L. Gamper, A. Amara, A. Refregier, HOPE: A Python just-in-time compiler for astrophysical computations, Astronomy and Computing, Volume 10, April 2015, Pages 1-8
- 14. Moniruzzaman, Akhter Hossain (2013). NoSQL Database: New Era of Databases for Big data Analytics Classification, Characteristics and Comparison. International Journal of Database Theory and Application Vol. 6, No. 4.
- 15.Hecht, R., Jablonski, S. (2011, December). NoSQL evaluation: A use case oriented survey. In Cloud and Service Computing (CSC), 2011 International Conference on (pp. 336-341). IEEE.
- 16.Han, J., Haihong, E., Le, G., Du, J.: Survey on NoSQL database. 6th Int. Conf. Pervasive Comput. Appl. 363–366 (2011).
- 17.Teng, C., Mitchell, J., Walker, C.: A medical image archive solution in the cloud. 2010 IEEE Int. Conf. Softw. Eng. Serv. Sci. 431–434 (2010).
- 18.Costa, C.M., Silva, A., Oliveira, J.L., Ribeiro, V.G., Ribeiro, J.: Himage PACS: A New Approach to Storage, Integration and Distribution of Cardiologic Images. In: Ratib, O.M. and Huang, H.K. (eds.) Medical Imaging 2004. pp. 277–287. International Society for Optics and Photonics (2004).
- 19.Gaain.org, (2014). GAAIN Architecture. [online] Available at: http://gaain.org/platform/architecture/ [Accessed 8 Oct. 2015].

Towards Automatic Screening of Idiopathic Scoliosis using Low-cost Commodity Sensors – validation study

Dejan Dimitrijević¹, Đorđe Obradović¹, Marko Jocić¹, Zečević Igor¹, Petar Bjeljac¹, Vladimir Todorović¹, Jelena Dimitrijević²,

¹ University of Novi Sad, Faculty of Technical Sciences, Trg Dositeja Obradovića 6, 21000 Novi Sad, Serbia {dimitrijevic, obrad, m.jocic, zecevic.igor, pbjeljac, vladimir.todorovic}@uns.ac.rs

² Institute for Student Healthcare, dr Sime Miloševića 6, 21000 Novi Sad, Serbia jelena@outlook.com

Abstract. This paper presents some preliminary validation study results pertaining to our ongoing attempts to develop a noninvasive scoliosis and other spine disorder automated diagnostic solution implemented using commodity sensors only, thus limiting its overall cost, but still achieving adequate precision. The cost of many such commercial solutions is prohibitive to have them acquired and used by student healthcare institutes in countries such as Serbia, thus we are developing a low-cost one. If proven effective our solutions will be open-sourced.

Keywords: automated scoliosis screening, commodity sensors, low-cost.

1 Introduction

This paper presents a noninvasive scoliosis spine disorder automatic diagnostic solution implemented using commodity devices, limiting cost, but achieving adequate precision. Automated spine disorder diagnostic solutions can use various diagnostic methods. Some of those test methods used are based on manual deformity testing, topographic visualizations, or sensor inputs (such as laser, infrared, ultrasound scanners, etc.), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and/or radiographic imaging i.e. ionizing radiation. The most widely used are manual deformity tests done by sufficiently trained medical practitioners, that are conducted with or without additional aids (such as scoliometers [1]), but such tests take up valuable resources in terms of assigning personnel and time. Additionally, the second most widely used test method for spine deformity disorder diagnostic is radiographic imaging. However, since the recommended age for scoliosis testing is between ages 10 to 14, and testing is done twice within the same period for females [2] with a positive diagnosis rate of \sim 5%, avoiding radiographic imaging would be beneficial for non-positives. Also, the recommended number of radiographic imaging does not include potential post-diagnostic imaging follow-ups for positively diagnosed adolescents, thus the total amount of exposure to cumulative radiographic ionizing radiation could be greater. Obviously, development of alternative noninvasive methods and techniques came from a need to reduce negative effects of harmful cumulative ionizing radiation on adolescents when imaging exposure was still high [3].

117

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_12

1.1 Existing and prior work, literature and commercial products

Some of the first noninvasive methods for diagnosing scoliosis not using ionizing radiation or manual deformity tests came about 1970, with Moiré topography [4]. Moiré topography represents a morphometric method in which a three dimensional (3D) contour map is produced using the interference of coherent light, as the observed object gets flooded with parallel light projected from two or more sources. Depending on the particular amplitudes of light waves, their phase difference and their frequencies, the interference can cause illumination to either grow or dim in certain spots, which in turn produces darker or lighter lit zones. During the 70-ies and early 80-ies of the last century, methods that are more refined were developed for diagnostics of some spine deformity disorders using the aforementioned Moiré topography [5-7]. Those also triggered a rise in the research of modelling human spine surface curvatures [8, 9] initially measured from regular optical images. However, in the late 80-ies and the early 90-ies, advances in development of other sensor technologies and greater accessibility of more precise sensor devices, such as laser scanners, came about. That started substitution of silk fabric blinds and Moiré topography contour maps produced through regular optical means, with more precise 3D models of human back surfaces. Along with more point precise 3D models those advances also produced even more interests into research and formulation of trunk surface metrics and indices used for evaluation of scoliosis and other spine and posture deformities. Some such popular indices compared in a systematic review [10] are Posterior Trunk Symmetry Index (POTSI), Suzuki Hump Sum (SHS), Deformity in the Axial Plane Index (DAPI), etc. In the same review the two indices, POTSI and DAPI, were also compared by specificity and sensitivity. POTSI has high specificity and low sensitivity, whilst DAPI's case is viceversa, meaning that a high specificity index has a low rate of false positives, i.e. the number of normal patients classified as scoliotic is small. A high sensitivity index on the other hand has a low rate of false negatives, i.e. the number of scoliosis positive patients classified as normal is small. Additionally, those two indices are based upon back surface points measured in independent planes, coronal and axial, thus combining the two actually increases scoliosis screening accuracy for fringe patient cases as it did in [11]. Those same characteristics also made us investigate the use of combined POTSI and DAPI indices, however instead of building an average model of scanned back surfaces, we initially combined them along with some neural network approaches back in 2014 [12], during the IPA (cross-border cooperation program) project SpineLab [13]. The Faculty of Sport and Physical Education conducted that project locally in Serbia, using a commercial hardware and software solution for professional motion analysis named TEMPLO (Contemplas, Germany). Contemplas¹ solution was used to assess posture of over 800 school-aged children. That project was based on earlier estimates that the portion of school age children with scoliosis spine deformity in some Serbia's towns exceeds 15% [14]. The acquired commercial solution used multiple regular optical cameras which previously had to be calibrated to acquire visual data which could later be processed in software. Unfortunately, the process of camera calibration was lengthy, and because the solution had to be portable, used quickly at multiple

¹ CONTEMPLAS - Motion analysis software, http://www.contemplas.com/

school locations, Faculty of Technical Sciences' Department for Computer Science members were approached to investigate additional portable data acquisition methods.

After some research, another commercial solution named Formetric (Diers, Germany) was found. Diers² Formetric 4D was capable of scoliosis screening, but too expensive to acquire also. Thus, development of own solution based on a commodity sensor devices was actively pursued henceforth, at much lesser costs. Since the SpineLab collaboration started back in early 2014, one such locally available device at the time was the 1st generation Kinect³ (Microsoft, USA). So using that version of the commodity depth sensor alongside expensively acquired Contemplas solution, proved sufficient for capturing posture, but lacking for doing some more precise topographic body surface measurements, which will be explained more in the next chapter.

This paper's research continues that real-life need to develop and implement novel, effective and predominantly economical solutions for automated diagnostics of spine disorders such as scoliosis. Considering that various relatively low-cost smartphone platforms and sensor devices are currently available in Serbia and lesser developed regions of the world, this paper presents some of our efforts to build on top of such platforms and devices, aided by the Institute for Student Healthcare in Novi Sad. Our ultimate goals are to produce a suite of hardware and software solutions for automated diagnostics of various spine disorders, which could even be used by non-medically trained school personnel for the purpose of detection spine disorders early. That is because when physical therapy is applied early, along with braces, the two prove to be most effective, helping avoid other means of clinical therapy by noninvasive ones [15].

This paper is laid out in the following sections: this first section gave an introduction into the research being conducted, along with an overview of some related work either done, or identified, by us both in academic papers and available commercial solutions, as well as the historical and personal motives driving our such and similar research. Section 2 provides an overview of some methodologies and solution design choices. Section 3 goes over some implementation details, and Sec. 4 and 5 give some of our preliminary validation results and our conclusions and future plans.

2 Methods and Design

SpineLab research project unfortunately ended prior to acquiring consent from each assessed minor's parent to extend posture assessing into complete spine disorder exam, preventing us to use those scans here. So, a new collaboration with a local Institute for Student Healthcare in Novi Sad and their staff of more than a half a dozen general practitioners (GP) conducting daily health checkups on all University of Novi Sad students, was initiated. In addition, as all students of the University of Novi Sad are legally adult, that reduced consent acquisition for conducting the research to just their own and the Institute's, which was provided. However, considering amount of effort put in prior collaborative work on assessing posture of local elementary school-aged children, we were inclined to continue using that work's methods and design, such as using a depth sensor camera for scanning 3D surface topography. However, due to

² DIERS - Biomedical Solutions from Head to Toe, http://diersmedical.de/

³ Kinect - Windows app development, https://dev.windows.com/en-us/kinect.

noise in those topography scans introduced by the structured light pattern used for 1st generation Kinect depth sensing, and less successful attempts to reduce it using iterative closest point (ICP) algorithms such as KinectFusion [16], our new project ended up reusing just some of those methods. Mainly, the ones used to achieve better precision and increase 2nd generation Kinect's field of view (FOV).

Increased FOV was needed because 2^{nd} generation Kinect lacks a motorized tilt present in generation 1 sensor, to encompass the whole body of height-tall subjects, tall up to and even over a two meters (2m) from approximately 2m distance. That also required us to secure the sensor vertically using a tripod, instead of its regular horizontal position (fig. 1 left). That position allowed the 2^{nd} gen Kinect's specified horizontal 70° FOV to effectively be used as a vertical FOV and vice-versa. That minimized losses when scanning $\sim 2m$ subjects at the same distance (fig. 1 center) and a height of 1m, due to potential cut off and vignetting effects which occurred in the scan periphery using 2^{nd} generation Kinect's regular 60° horizontal FOV.

All subjects, university-attending students, were scanned standing upper back of trunk exposed for a simultaneous exam by the observing GP. For modesty purposes, all stood facing the wall of the examination practice (fig. 1 right), not exposing their frontal figure while being scanned in their regular posture stances, feet apart. Additionally, subjects were scanned three times in two slightly different standing poses. The initial regular standing pose was scanned twice, with and without markers placed by the observing GP on relevant body landmarks such as most protruding shoulder blades, the bulge of spinous process near C7 spinal vertebra, etc. As the latter protrusion varies and depends on muscular structure and BMI, the subject assumed additional pose prior to the third and final scan, bowing their head forward (fig. 3). That pose mimicks a typical procedure perfomed by medical personnel when locating the spinous process of C7 vertebra on subjects when the bulge is not protruding enough, or when it is not clear whether the bulge is being formed by other adjacent vertebrae, either C6 or T1 vertebra.



Fig. 1 - Kinect sensor position in the GP examination office illustrating its vertical FOV

To avoid having to resort to some empirically determined periods of standing still prior to starting the scan (such as approx. 15 second wait time used by our Faculty of Sport and Physical Education colleagues during their SpineLab project scans using the Contemplas solution), an additional feature integrating the Wii Balance Board (WBB; Nintendo, Japan) commodity sensor was developed. Scans in all poses could initiate only after the subject was being still or not moving enough to affect the quality of the scan. The WBB tracks standing subjects' center of gravity (COG) and its movements throughout scanning, disallowing initiation until the subject settles into their stance. Also, immediate visual feedback allowed us and observing GPs (fig. 3 top) to inspect the subject's posture, determining if the subject equally spread their weight, reducing scans performed with bad posture, serving as a replacement low-cost podoscope device [17], albeit providing lesser information than such more expensive commercial devices.

Finally, after completing all the scans, the screened subjects were instructed to assume the Adam's forward bend (AFB) test position [18], when the observing GP used their smartphone's accelerometer as a scoliometer estimating the angle of the trunk rotation (ATR). ATR of 5° or larger is considered cutoff for AFB tests [1], which are current golden standard tests for manual physical examinations detecting scoliosis, and its higher value suggests subject should be follow-up examined, usually via x-ray. To increase the precision of measurements some polystyrene extensions for placing small smartphone devices level were built, with grooves for accommodating placing and moving them along the spinous processes of vertebrae (fig. 2). Extreme ATR values were recorded for each subject measured usually by two observers in order to track inter-observer errors and on different types of either smartphone devices running our own or 3rd-party developed scoliometer smartphone apps to reduce intra-observer error.



Fig. 2 - Various polystyrene extensions for smartphones with own or 3rd-party scoliometer app

3 Implementation details

The idea to use various smartphone platforms and apps first came from our attempt to emulate a specific iPhone (Apple Inc., USA) app without programming Objective-C. The app named Scoligauge was used in a study published in 2012, validating it against a standard Scoliometer (Orthopedic Systems Inc., USA) screening aid, which found that app to be a near match in output to the actual aid [19]. Unfortunately, at the time when our screenings were conducted that app was not available in the AppStore, although the website of its publisher was [20]. However, another website reviewing that and various other scoliometer apps on iOS and Android smartphone platforms, was found [21]. So instead, we used those other available apps in our own attempt to develop comparable smartphone scoliometer apps. In our first iteration, since multi-platform compatibility was required, we investigated developing an HTML5-based application built on top of the Apache Cordova⁴ framework. That idea was abandoned because although it allowed for an easy development of an app working across most smartphone platforms, its performance on low-end devices was slow, achieving low framerates.

Alternative native development path then provided fewer frameworks, given support for top three platforms was wanted, so we decided upon using the Xamarin⁵ framework. That framework is available for free to students with access to Microsoft DreamSpark⁶ program, which made its use low-cost to us. Also, using a graphing control from the OxyPlot⁷ open-source plotting library made our app an easy-to-use visual aid with added calibration features not present in the actual aid. Prior to conducting ATR measurements, the observing GPs are instructed to perform a one-off calibration, making sure the platform subjects are instructed to stand on is level. The ATR measurement itself is calculated from the current smartphone accelerometer readings, which were accessed through a Xamarin extension plugin component, allowing for the same C# natively compiled code to be run across various smartphone platforms. Although we also investigated using more sensors, like magnetometer and gyroscope for increase of the angle reading accuracy via so called "sensor fusion" [22], adding a low-pass filter to accelerometer readings proved sufficiently accurate when placing the smartphone running our application in a still position for two seconds or more. This added feature is named "averaging mode" in our application and effectively averages accelerometer readings during a fixed time period calculating the ATR as:

$$ATR = \arctan\left(\frac{avrg(AccelX)}{avrg(AccelY)^2 + avrg(AccelZ)^2}\right).$$
 (1)

Finally, our ScolioMetro app has subsequently been open-sourced and published on Github, allowing for future improvements and new feature additions to be made by the public, including potential sensor fusion improvements if any new use case require it.

Although the smartphone application uses a simple implementation to average the accelerometer readings across multiple coordinate axis, at the time of development we were also considering using a functional reactive programming extension such as Rx.NET⁸ to accomplish the same more elegantly. However, as this brought some overhead to mobile applications it was dropped because of performance concerns on low-end smartphone devices, but Rx.NET was still utilized on the desktop Kinect Fusion scanning application (fig. 3). It allowed for integration of elegantly written piece of C# code into the desktop application that was responsible for tracking and measuring observed subject's COG movements, disallowing scanning initiation prior to the subject standing still enough so as not to affect the quality of the scan.

⁴ Apache Cordova, http://cordova.apache.org/.

⁵ Xamarin – Mobile App Development & App Creation Software, https://xamarin.com/

⁶ Microsoft DreamSpark, https://www.dreamspark.com/

⁷ OxyPlot, http://oxyplot.org/

⁸ Rx.NET - ReactiveX, http://reactivex.io/



Fig. 3 - Subject scanned standing with head bowed forward

As said, the desktop application provided near real-time positioning of observed subject's COG, giving observing GPs more feedback information on their standing posture. The WBB senses movement through 4 pressure sensors whose resolution is 100Hz [23], sending data wirelessly via Bluetooth to a desktop-class PC (Surface Pro; Intel Core is 3317U CPU with HD4000 GPU) which gets buffered and subsequently used to calculate the COG position and its movement, making sure the subject stands still prior to enabling the "Create Mesh" action. Since achieving interactive frame per second (FPS) speed using KinectFusion ICP algorithm requires a desktop-class GPU (not present in a Surface tablet which uses integrated GPU), we added a "Kinect Studio" feature to capture and locally save various Kinect sensor data streams in a file format suitable for repeatable playback through the Microsoft Kinect SDK application named the same. That way, instead of performing 3D point cloud reconstruction from live Kinect data streams on an ICP-underpowered PC, the creation and processing of suitable 3D meshes could be transferred onto another PC, or in our case the Azure⁹ cloud service. In case 3D mesh models were not suited for automated computer processing, but served for validation of body back surface landmark detection results by humans (preferably by medically trained personnel), the feature "Capture Color" influences the locally saved files by adding an uncompressed color data stream to the depth and IR data Kinect data streams captured by default. We found that creation of such 3D mesh models, containing color information (fig. 4) was best suited for human interaction when some non-present GPs were asked later to pick out body back surface landmarks by using MeshLab¹⁰ software, comparing their markings to the ones made by the observing GPs using actual markers. However, the size of locally saved files containing color information is much larger due to the uncompressed color stream size of ~120MB/s, compared to ~13Mb/s for recording depth or IR streams [24], making such files impractical for uploading and use with automatic algorithms.

⁹ Microsoft Azure: Cloud Computing Platform & Services, https://azure.microsoft.com/en-us/ ¹⁰ MeshLab, http://meshlab.sourceforge.net/



Fig. 4 - Subject scanned in normal standing position illustrating use of 3D mesh with color

The algorithm which processes color-free 3D mesh models produced by the scanning software, fit inside a virtual box whose volume is set by "Depth Threshold" and "Volume Voxel" features, attempts then to automatically detect the following body back surface landmarks needed to determine values of POTSI and DAPI: a) vertebral prominence of C7; b) the top of the intergluteal furrow (exposed by slightly lowering underwear); c) left shoulder (cross of the tangents to the shoulder and the arm); d) right shoulder; e) left axilla; f) right axilla; g) waist, left; h) waist, right; i) most prominent point of the left scapula; i) most prominent point of the right scapula; k) least prominent point of the waist line, left; l) least prominent point of the waist line, right. However, explaining that algorithm was not the subject of this but another paper, so we only listed the algorithm steps with short explanations here: 1. sagittal and coronal plane leveling of a box-fit 3D mesh (since Kinect stands vertically, its camera pose estimation feature must be done by us), 2. ICP artefacts and standing platform removal (the standing plane is identified using RANSAC [25] and subsequently removed along with any artefacts produced by KinectFusion's ICP integration of multiple point cloud scans in a mash), 3. detection of cusps and curvatures (used to detect some landmark points on axial, coronal and sagittal mesh plane slices - such as landmarks c, d, e, f, g, h), 4. height map and normals processing (used to detect landmarks such as b, i, j, k, l) and finally 5. ICP mesh registration and salient point detection (used to initially align two meshes of one subject scanned in normal standing and in head bowed forward positions, subsequently detecting salient points near the neck area sliced in the sagittal plane, thus identifying landmark a, whilst mostly disregarding the potential lack of C7 prominence in the normal standing position among subject's possessing large BMI or heavily developed musculature). Once the positions of all landmarks are detected, calculating POTSI and DAPI indices is as simple as calculating Euclidian distances among landmark pairs or projections and inserting those in their respectable definitions given in paper [11].

Values of DAPI \leq 3.9 and POTSI \leq 27.5 indicated absence of scoliosis, whilst either value exceeding their corresponding limits suggests a presence of scoliosis pathology.

4 Validation Results

To date, we have produced 3D meshes of student subjects attending physical examinations and their annual regular check-ups done on the Institute for Student Healthcare during workdays' fortnight period of late summer semester. In total 84 student subjects: 38 males and 46 females, mean age 21.07, height range 159-201cm, weight range 46-113kg, max BMI 31.3 were scanned. However, POTSI and DAPI value calculations were only performed on a single daily number of scanned student subjects manually first. The points corresponding to the body back surface landmarks were identified by consensus of several GPs within MashLab using its "PickPoints" feature on 3D meshes with color in a normal standing position manually (fig. 5). This was done prior to applying the mentioned automatic algorithm and calculating values of POTSI and DAPI automatically, to serve as a measure of indices' method validity compared to findings made by observing GPs and two specialists of physical medicine and rehabilitation or sports medicine, who were on-call at the time those students made their instructed referral specialist visits. In addition, the consensus of picking landmark points on 3D meshes was made between both GPs present and non-present during scanning, to estimate and reduce any effects of inter- and intra-observer errors.

Among such selected 8 student subjects, calculated POTSI and DAPI index values almost fully matched the GP's and specialists' findings, excluding one borderline nonpathologic case in which both POTSI and DAPI had values less than cut-off, but the specialists diagnosed scoliotic posture, thus functional and not structural scoliosis.

5 Conclusion and Future Plans

In order to continue our research, we first produced this compact validation study, corroborating usefulness of topographical indices as a valid alternative to screening methods usually administered by Institute's GPs and their specialists during visual and manual exams using AFB tests along with medical aids such as scoliometers. The correlation by which POTSI and DAPI do not greatly defer from findings of the medical personnel who conducted their own scoliosis screening visually or manually was encouraging, proceeding our study further towards developing automatic screening of idiopathic scoliosis using low-cost commodity sensors. We will further present our research in follow-up papers publishing results of a 3D mesh automatic processing algorithm attempting to achieve same results on body types, trying not to be influenced by factors such as BMI or muscular structure as other solution was [11].

Additionally, new features such as automatic assistance to scoliosis-diagnosed patients with prescribed noninvasive physical exercises and brace fitting will be further researched and possibly developed.

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to acknowledge help provided by the director and staff of the Institute for Student Healthcare in Novi Sad and especially Mrs. Gordana Bojić, M.D., physical medicine specialist.

References

- 1. Bunnell, W.P.: An Objective Criterion for Scoliosis Screening, JBJS (1984).
- 2. Editorials: Referrals from Scoliosis Screenings American Family Physician (2001).
- Nash, C.L., Gregg, E.C., Brown, R.H., Pillai, K.: Risks of exposure to X-rays in patients undergoing long-term treatment for scoliosis. J. Bone Joint Surg. Am. 61, 371–374 (1979).
- 4. Takasaki, H.: Moire Topography. Jpn J Appl Phys Suppl. 14–1 (1975).
- 5. Adair, I.V., Van Wijk, M.C., Armstrong, G.W.: Moiré topography in scoliosis screening. Clin. Orthop. 165–171 (1977).
- 6. Willner, S.: Moiré topography--a method for school screening of scoliosis. Arch. Orthop. Trauma. Surg. Arch. Für Orthop. Unf.-Chir. 95, 181–185 (1979).
- 7. Laulund, T., Søjbjerg, J.O., Hørlyck, E.: Moiré topography in school screening for structural scoliosis. Acta Orthop. Scand. 53, 765–768 (1982).
- 8. Frobin, W., Hierholzer, E.: Analysis of human back shape using surface curvatures. J. Biomech. 15, 379–390 (1982).
- 9. Drerup, B., Hierholzer, E.: Objective determination of anatomical landmarks on the body surface: Measurement of the vertebra prominens from surface curvature. J.Biomech. (1985)
- Patias, P., Grivas, T.B., Kaspiris, A., Aggouris, C., Drakoutos, E.: A review of the trunk surface metrics used as Scoliosis and other deformities evaluation indices. Scoliosis. (2010).
- Mínguez, M.F., et al.: Quantifier variables of the back surface deformity obtained with a noninvasive structured light method: evaluation of their usefulness in idiopathic scoliosis diagnosis. Eur. Spine J. Off. Publ. Eur. Spine Soc. Eur. Spinal Deform. Soc. Eur. Sect. Cerv. Spine Res. Soc. 16, 73–82 (2007).
- 12. Jocić, M., Dimitrijević, D., Pantović, M., Madić, D., Konjović, Z.: Linear Fuzzy Space Based Scoliosis Screening. ICIST 2014.
- 13. Projekat SpineLab 2014 YouTube, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=MqN61tHwuH4.
- Djokic, Z., Stojanovic, M.: Morphologic characteristics and postural status in children aged 9 to 12 years in Sremska Mitrovica municipality. Gen. Pract. 16, 41–49 (2010).
- 15. Torell, G., Nordwall, A., Nachemson, A.: The changing pattern of scoliosis treatment due to effective screening. J Bone Jt. Surg Am. 63, 337–341 (1981).
- Izadi, S., Kim, D., Hilliges, O., Molyneaux, D., Newcombe, R., Kohli, P., Shotton, J., Hodges, S., Freeman, D., Davison, A.: KinectFusion: real-time 3D reconstruction and interaction using a moving depth camera. In: Proceedings of the 24th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology. pp. 559–568. ACM (2011).
- 17. DIERS digiscan Foot Podoscope, http://diersmedical.de/ProductPage.aspx?p=10.
- 18. Adams, W.: Lectures on the pathology and treatment of lateral and other forms of curvature of the spine. Churchill (1882).
- Franko, O.I., Bray, C., Newton, P.O.: Validation of a scoliometer smartphone app to assess scoliosis. J. Pediatr. Orthop. 32, e72–75 (2012).
- 20. Scoligauge Home Page, http://www.ockendon.net/Scoligauge_Home_Page.htm.
- Review of Scoliometer Smartphone Apps, http://scoliosistreatmentalternatives.com/4120/review-of-scoliometer-smartphone-apps/.
- Abyarjoo, F., Barreto, A., Cofino, J., Ortega, F.R.: Implementing a Sensor Fusion Algorithm for 3D Orientation Detection with Inertial/Magnetic Sensors. In: Sobh, T. and Elleithy, K. (eds.) Innovations and Advances in Computing, Informatics, Systems Sciences, Networking and Engineering. pp. 305–310. Springer International Publishing (2015).
- 23. Bartlett, H.L., Ting, L.H., Bingham, J.T.: Accuracy of force and center of pressure measures of the Wii Balance Board. Gait Posture. 39, 224–228 (2014).
- Relyea, R., Marien, J.: Recording, Playback, and Gesture Recognition, https://cp-mlxprodstatic.microsoft.com/06184-1003/enus/content/content iwlh5lf4 2604984382/05192015071708.pptx.
- 25. Doria, D.: RANSAC Plane Fitting for VTK. VTK J. ISSN 2328-3459. (2010).
Part II Information Technologies in Education

Singularities of the university spin-off in northern Argentina

Patricia Paola Zachman¹, Andrés Redchuk²

 Departamento de Ciencias Básicas y Aplicadas.- Universidad Nacional del Chaco Austral.- Pcia. Roque Sáenz Peña.- Chaco.- Argentina <u>ppz@uncaus.edu.ar</u>

(2) Facultad de Ingeniería. Universidad Nacional de Lomas de Zamora.- Buenos Aires.- Argentina.

andres.redchuk@gmail.com

Summary- In recent decades, argentinian universities, are inserted into the productive environment from creating business incubators university, turned into one of the mechanisms for technology transfer reference. These companies, known as Spin-Off, ideally arise from the knowledge generated within universities. This paper presents a brief summary, the findings of a study of the main characteristics and current status, degree of technological linkage of argentinian universities geographically located in the north, to the conversion of scientific research in business and commercial value.

The information was obtained through semi-structured interviews with a representative sample of spin-off members of accredited at the Ministry of Industry of the Nation and of secondary sources for the analysis of the factors affecting the growth of these companies interviews.

The creation of companies born in the university is a complex phenomenon to study multifactorial reasons for intervening in it. This exploratory study can give some guidance to universities not copy a system, but that adapt best practices to their regional needs, academic infrastructure and economic investments and to obtain optimal results in the creation of technology-based companies.

Keywords: university R & D + i, business incubators of technology-based spin-off, characterization

1 Introduction

An important component in the development of university education is the emphasis on the link with the following dimensions: the demands of the laborbusiness-professional market, the requirements of society and the management of human self-realization. The university, the productive sector and regional governments are the main actors in the dynamics of the relationship University - Market - State.

Technology transfer is understood as a process by which technology is loaded through the limits of two entities that may well be countries, companies and even individuals, depending on the viewpoint of the observer or investigator [3]. The aim of the transfer of a particular technology is to allow the receiver to use the technology under the same conditions and with the same benefits as the supplier for its purposes of technological innovation. In fact, talk of a shift implies that there is a consensus

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_13

agreement (license, project incorporation of person between the provider and the recipient of the technology) for this purpose.

With reference to Perez & Botero [6] technology transfer can be 3 ways: commercial, noncommercial and start-ups; the commercial mode arises between the university and its counterpart either the industry or the state is done through consulting, joint research among others; in the non-commercial way it develops from the university through publications and seminars among others without any commercial interest and contracts and finally the creation of new enterprises with the emergence of the "Spin-Off" mode university.

In the academic literature, Conti et al [1] defines the university spin-off companies that germinate as a university, where a group of researchers make the business unit with a view to the exploitation of knowledge and research results developed in own University. However, it is clear that the phenomena considered as a spin-off are not homogeneous [8]. Thus, companies created by an engineer recently received a researcher who wants to commercially exploit certain results of their research or teacher to rearrange its advisory to industry, are examples of phenomena that are included in the field of spin university off. Therefore, university spin-offs are very heterogeneous phenomena whose borders can vary significantly depending on the perception that they are stakeholders in the field and authors. In the following section different criteria for assessing the diversity of phenomena that contains the concept of university spin-off, concluding with an approach to the characteristics and peculiarities of the Argentine university spin-offs they are identified.

2 General factors affecting germination and development of the Spin-Off northern Argentina

For the study of the spin-off the amount of incubators were considered college based in Northern Argentina. A total of 40 incubators registered with the Ministry of Industry accredited by the Access to Credit and Competitiveness, to mention those located in the north (Table 1).

When moving into the issue of Spin-off university, a wide field, heterogeneous, it characterizes him with a variety of concepts used to appoint a fact also diverse, which exemplifies the many approaches you can acquire the establishment of this business is observed. Within our scientific community - technology, the classic profile of the entrepreneur in developed countries is difficult to find. There may be creativity, desires, good projects, but the spirit and businesswoman methodology, known play in the business world, "street", usually is not present. That is denoted by factors such as:

• Entrepreneurial deficit: Scientific institutions usually have not developed a policy to promote entrepreneurship and the characteristics of an entrepreneurial university. There is no social culture related to risk and failure to accept the usual operations Spin-Off type of high commercial risk. From a personal standpoint, for most researchers, creating a business from their knowledge and results is not only far from their interests, but also promoted as an alternative to route a student or professional future graduates.

- Organizational deficits: The generic function of supporting research, not directly addresses the need or desirability of creating the Spin-Off, although some universities have started pilot programs including incubators and basic support services.
- Deficit experience of the promoter of the idea team: generally the promoters of new ideas with commercial potential have no knowledge and managerial experience. The number of entrepreneurs with business knowledge and strong scientific and technological training, is insufficient to deal with potential ideas in the future should fill the Spin-Off.
- Capital deficit or economic resources: The funding cycle is underdeveloped, with little experience in some of its instruments. There is little tradition in venture capital, lack of investors, and few specialized investors in Spin-Off high risk.
- Sustainability deficit arising from business incubators. Unconsolidated development models involving continuous review and adjustment of the variables of business survival

Incubators	Location
 Agencia de Desarrollo del Norte Misionero UNCUTEL Parque Tecnológico Misiones UNNETEC – INNOVAR UNCAUS INTECNOR INCUBA SALTA Universidad Santo Tomás de Aquino Facultad de Ciencias Económicas y de Administración. Universidad Nacional de Catamarca Centro de Empresarios de Famaillá 	Puerto Esperanza - Misiones Parque Tecnológico de El Dorado – Misiones Corrientes Pcia. Roque Sáenz Peña Chaco Resistencia Chaco Salta Tucumán Catamarca Tucumán

Table 1: Incubators In The Northern Argentina

```
(MISIONES-CORRIENTES-CHACO-FORMOSA-JUJUY-SALTA-TUCUMAN-SANTIAGO\ DEL\ ESTERO-INCLUMAN-SANTIAGO\ DEL \ ESTERO-INCLUMAN-SANTIAGO \ DEL \ ESTERO-IN
```

CATAMARCA)

Paradoxically, the issue of Spin-Off is not unknown, is quoted as a strategy in many economic development plans or policies on science and technology, not only in countries like Colombia, Peru, Ecuador and Chile; but also as part of Educational Strategic Plans in Argentina. This allows us to infer that there is awareness of the importance which involves the generation of spin-off for economic and technological development of the countries, particularly Argentina, but lack urging members and supporters to achieve satisfactory results [10].

3 Singularities of the Spin-off

The diversity of phenomena that occur in the context of university spin-off involves a diversity of characteristics in terms of the realities they cover. Occur, then identified the various characteristics, supported by the literature, which allow the assessment of singularities.

- a) According to the attitude of the university.
 - Spin-off spontaneous, passive or pull spin-off: university spin-offs created by members of the university community but have received no support from the university.
 - Spin-off planned, active or spin-off push: university spin-offs created under a voluntary support policy carried out by universities, in order to facilitate and promote the transfer of knowledge and entrepreneurial initiatives its members [7].
- b) According to the status of people that have given rise to the idea.
 - Spin-off academic: university spin-offs created by one or more members of the scientific community, or even people outside the university community, in order to commercially exploit a part of the knowledge developed in the framework of its research. Within this group it is included teachers, assistants, researchers, doctoral students, etc.
 - Spin-off of students: university spin-offs created by students at the end of his university studies, have decided to form his own company intends to use a portion of their knowledge by way of the provision of services or through activities production in order to exploit a business opportunity in sectors with generally weak barriers to entry and low technological component. Within this group are observed current or former students of degree or continuing education, which are called start-up.
- c) As if the researcher becomes an entrepreneur.
 - Spin-off promoted by the researcher, academic spin-off created by one or more members of the university scientific community in order to commercially exploit a part of the knowledge developed in the framework of the research activities of the university.
 - Spin-off promoted by foreign entrepreneurs: academic spin-off created by people outside the university scientific community in order to commercially exploit a part of the knowledge developed in the framework of its research activities [9].

In the same vein, whichever is the role taken by the researcher who is at the origin of the idea, are distinguished:

- Spin-off Orthodox: academic spin-off in which a transfer to the new company produces both technology and the inventor.
- Spin-off hybrid: academic spin-off in which a transfer to the new company knowledge is produced, but the inventor remains in college, but somehow participates in the scientific advice to the company.
- Spin-off technology: academic spin-off in which a transfer of knowledge to the new company occurs, but the inventor remains in college and maintains no connection with it.

Also in this line, depending on who carried out the greatest efforts for the spin-off is established, are distinguished:

• Spin-off led by the inventor: academic spin-off in which the effort for its creation is conducted by the inventors of the technology that exploit.

Singularities of the University Spin-off ...

- Spin-off led by a buyer: spin-off academic in which the effort for its creation is carried out by external entrepreneurs interested in creating companies to exploit university inventions through a license granted by the technology transfer unit of the University.
- Spin-off directed by an investor: spin-off academic in which the effort for its creation is held by investors, typically private equity risk, interested in creating companies to exploit university inventions through a license granted by the technology transfer unit of the university and seeking, then an entrepreneur who is responsible for its creation.
- d) Depending on whether proprietary knowledge is transferred.
 - Spin-off based on patented technology: university spin-offs are created to exploit the licensed technology patented by the university [4].
 - Spin-off based on non-proprietary technology: university spin-offs to exploit knowledge created not patented by the university, usually more generic or may be based on expertise or know-how.

The university spin-off based on codified knowledge and, where appropriate, patented often geared to offer a product to market, while based on tacit knowledge are often geared to providing a service. This different orientation is important because the profile of the university spin-off vary considerably in terms of activities, management of intellectual property rights, financial needs for the development of prototypes, resources required, growth prospects and relations with the university . Thus, academic spin-off based more on codified knowledge develop an industrial manufacturing and selling products or technology development and sales. They are directed from its beginnings to regional markets with high growth potential. The academic spin-off based on tacit knowledge preferably develop a consulting activity. Target regional or national markets, given the importance of customer proximity for good service delivery. Knowledge based on the spin-off is often developed by a single investigator.

- e) According to minority participation in the capital of the spin-off.
 - Spin-off with foreign capital: academic spin-off received in its initial stage financing of large companies, business angels or venture capital entities.
 - Spin-off without foreign capital: academic spin-off that do not receive funding at an early stage of large companies or venture capital entities.

Although financial support of venture capital institutions is possible and desirable because they add credibility, management experience and network of relationships, in practice are insufficient and therefore impact on a small number of spin-off [5]. An alternative is resorting to financing through venture capital is looking for an industrial partner or private investors.

- f) Depending on the type of activity.
 - Consulting and research services: academic spin-off exploiting core competencies of researchers through an extension of its research activities.

- Product: academic spin-off created around the concept of products or processes, which are responsible for developing, producing and marketing. These spin-off correspond to the classic entrepreneurial model.
- Technological assets: academic spin-off created to develop technologies that will later be marketed through different mechanisms. Its business model is based on the creation, development and management of technology assets.
- Software: has some common features with the previous case, as the software product often results in licensing agreements, but differs from the previous in that often include a software production process, since in this case are low economies scale.
- g) Depending on the model of development followed by the spin-off.
 - Growth-oriented academic spin-off seeking a global market for technology. They are characterized by strong capitalization, and participate in capital specialized external institutions. They have highly professional management teams, have strong focus on growth and its ultimate goal is making profits through dividends ..
 - No growth-oriented: academic spin-off seeking sufficient to sustain a comfortable life of the founder and his family market. They are characterized by low capitalization, the capital in the hands of the founder environment, low management capacity, little or no focus on growth and its ultimate goal is survival.

Given the foregoing, it can be said that the phenomenon of spin-off covers a wide casuistry and the limits of the concept of spin-off are diffuse [2].

The study of the spin-off of northern Argentina has been made considering the following criteria: a) Cover the largest possible number of common phenomena, b) Establish what attributes or behavior patterns that distinguish according to the local context are.

4 Conclusions and Discussion

Some factors in creating company are consistent with common points: The promotion of entrepreneurial culture, patent protection, conflicts of interest regarding royalties and contracts, all of these are completely solved with government regulations science and Technology; The maturation time of their companies have averaged five years, contracts management solution is well established, the financing offered is through seed capital, EMPRETEC Foundation, Fondapymes, Venture Capital, among others. Another point in common is the support offered among which courses, infrastructure, business plan, academic downloads, etc.

Also, small differences are related to each college has its own system of entrepreneurship appropriate to their regional needs, academic infrastructure and economic investments and technological base.

Although the information collected is still insufficient, the first statements about the Spin-Off University can be summarized as follows:

1) The leading role of the University in creating spin-off based on the current growth and local economies, but the low comparative reference models for the development of these companies,

2) The importance of policies to stimulate entrepreneurship in the University as a tool for conversion of scientific research in business and commercial value,

3) The relative terminological imprecision in the use of the Spin-Off concept, especially in the academic as well as poor dissemination for clarity on all issues related to technology transfer.

4) The incipient development of strategies and logistical entrepreneurially planned medium and long term, with regard to transfer market research methods: determining the size of the market, agree the contribution that generate customer, define the capacity to meet the market, obtaining financial resources, among others. This situation does not promote the organization to plan a draft Spin-Off focused I+D+I, with difficulties to timely warn the market needs and demand relationship - offer.

This research intended to be addressed in the future to a deeper comparison between universities to encourage the creation of companies based on knowledge, where knowledge transfer to the productive sector to provide competitive advantage to countries that are committed to the generation and transfer of knowledge and university technology.

5 Bibliographic references

- [1] Conti G., G. M., Piccaluga A., La gestione del trasferimento tecnologico. Strategie, Modelli e Strumenti. Springer, Milano, 2011
- [2] Garmendia JM & Castellano A, Tipología de las spin-off en un contexto universitario: una propuesta de clasificación, Cuadernos de Gestión Vol. 12 - N.º 1, pp. 39-57, 2011
- [3] R. González, V. V., Clemenza, C., & Ferrer, J. (2007). Vinculación universidadsector productivo a través del proceso de transferencia tecnológica. (Spanish). University-Productive Sector Connections Through the Process of Technological Transfer. (English), 9(2), 267. Rubiralta, M. 2007.
- [4] Grandi, A. Y Grimaldi, R., Academics' organizational characteristics and the generation of successful business ideas, Journal of Business Venturing, Vol. 20, n° 6, pp. 821-845, 2005
- [5] Heirman, A. Y Clarysse, B. How and Why do Research-Based Start-Ups Differ at Founding? A Resource-Based Configurational Perspective, Journal of Technology Transfer, Vol. 29, n° 3-4, pp. 247-268, 2004
- [6] Pérez, J. E. A., & Botero, C. A. A. Transferencia de conocimiento orientada a la innovación social en la relación ciencia-tecnología y sociedad. (Spanish). Pensamiento & Gestión, pp.137-166, 2011.
- [7] Pirnay, F.; Surlemont, B. Y Nlemvo, F.: Toward a Typology of University Spinoff, Small Business Economics, nº 21, pp. 355-369, 2003
- [8] REDVITEC 2011. Red VITEC : experiencias de innovación e inclusión UNR Editora. Editorial de la Universidad Nacional de Rosario, 2011.

 [9] Stankiewicz, R. Spin-off companies from universities, Science and Public Policy, Vol. 21, nº 2, pp. 99-107, 1994

[10] Zachman P, Lopez W & Redchuk A., Abordaje de Spin off universitario desde BPM y SOA pertinentes con el Desarrollo Local. SIIAN 2014. 2do Seminario Internacional para la Investigación en Administración y Negocios, Puerto Vallarta, México. 2014

Integrated technological resource in the construction of the teaching and learning of technical nursing course

Heitor Hermeson de Carvalho Rodrigues ^{1, 8}, Janimere Soares da Silva ^{1, 2}, Cicero Cardozo de Almeida Filho^{1,3}, José Vilson Martins Filho¹. Yara Pereira de Brito⁴, David Wilber Silva Daltro⁵ Isis Magrid Koehler⁶ Vicente Machado Neto 7,8, Miguel Antonio Sovierzoski 7,8 ¹Federal Education, Science and Technology Institute of Roraima – IFRR ² Graduate Program in Health Sciences - PROCISA-UFRR ³ Graduate Program in Education – PPGE-UFJF/UFRR/IFRR ⁴ Beachwear Roraima, Brazil ⁵ Federal University of Pernambuco – UFPE Pernambuco, Brazil ⁶Pre-Graduate in Eletronic Engineering – UTFPR ⁷ Federal University of Technology - Paraná – UTFPR ⁸ Graduate Program in Biomedical Engineering – PPGEB-UTFPR Paraná, Brazil www.ppgeb.ct.utfpr.edu.br, heitor@ifrr.edu.br

Abstract. This paper shows the importance of a high-fidelity human simulator as a methodological tool able to make a significant contribution to the learning process of nursing technician students of the Federal Education, Science and Technology Institute of Roraima (IFRR). From this simulator you can build several scenarios of specific nursing procedures for the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) in order to be efficiently used in the teaching-learning process. The academic literature contributions available regarding the use of simulators in the teaching process of Health Science were evaluated. The use of this methodological resource should be seen as a trend in the clinical reasoning of nursing students, improving their knowledge and developing psychomotor skills.

Keywords: Human Simulator, Teaching and Learning, Intensive Care, Nursing.

1 Introduction

A survey conducted by the Federal Council of Nursing Care (COFEN), pointed out that approximately 80% of the nursing professionals consist of technicians and nursing assistants representing, therefore, a significant inclusion in the work market [1].

However, many technical training courses use a curriculum and an array of traditional teaching methodologies and teaching materials that may not be enough and

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/078.2.210.21207.8.14

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_14

suitable for the students' motivation to a reflective-critical development of their professional activities. This can lead to a reduction in the handling of certain Medical-Hospital Equipment (MHE) [2], as you can see in this study.

Having this overview, the quality of the teaching process in the education of these health professionals becomes insufficient. Given this, a pedagogical proposal that enables a participatory and reflective learning can greatly contribute to the recovery of the autonomy of the future professional, regarding the safety to the health services provided to the society [3].

As a way to improve the teaching-learning process for professional growth it is used technologies in nursing teaching, allowing the contact with real situations through the professional practice and the improvement of the clinical judgment meeting the demands of medical ethics [4].

A tendency for a secure environment in learning is the use of the simulation, used in the Medical curriculum and other areas of health sciences due to the multiple scenarios and educational strategies that this instrument allows. It can be modeled to be applied in the teaching and learning of the courses regarding the scientific and technical skills of the students, such as: decision-making, teamwork and leadership [5].

Among the technologies used in the simulation process, attention should be paid to the following advantages: program the setting according to the educational content of the course; domain of technique; the repetition of the procedure to improve the technique; no health risk for the patient to get practical experience [3]. In this context, it is refered to the SimMan, a robotic mannequin, of the Laerdal company [15], as a modern and advanced technology in terms of time-saving and efficiency compared to other methods available on the market [4].

The SimMan simulator is classified, among its main qualities, according to the high human characteristics similarity, among which are: anatomy, sounds and noises emission, breathing sounds, eye movements and others characterizing it as of a high-fidelity category [6].

The Technical Nursing Course at IFRR Boa Vista Campus - Roraima has equipped its laboratory with the human simulator SimMan, allowing teachers of the Practical Nursing Education to develop, evaluate and validate circumstances so that the future professionals can work and develop the theoretical contents shown in the classroom and the learning interactive active method, adapting it as a strategy to improve the content taught [7].

According to studies [6], Regional Council of Nursing of the State of São Paulo (COREN-SP) until May 2009, there was, at least, one mannequin (human simulator, not mentioned of loyalty category classification) for each 868 Nursing Institutions. This fact brings few publications in scientific journals about the study, affirming that there is an inconsistent relation between the discussions and the use of the mannequin in the nursing laboratories in Brazil. In the reference [8], the article portrays the results of the mannequin simulation and its contribution to the acquisition of psychomotor skills and self-confidence by the nursing students.

In view of the [6] concern, this article aims to contribute to the research and to point out results aimed at experience reports, the importance of simulation can be inserted in academic environment, providing innovative teaching practices.

2 Development

The descriptive study originated from a literature review on the use of simulation as a technological resource in the construction of the Teaching and Learning of the Technical Nursing Course at IFRR. The research was based on the exploration of national and international data on the use of the simulator, in order to structure this work. Therefore, it was included scientific articles, books and research in COFEN site.

The research method presented in this article was the literature whose nature is qualitative. Among the criticisms of the educational practice limitations based on a fragmentary approach of the knowledge and focused on the theoretical aspect, it was noticed that the students, during the lessons about specific curriculum components of technical training, are often limited to empiricism [9].

When teachers act in a way that seem to ignore the scientific spirit, stuck in a sterile routine, for example, to start a class based on doing exercises, formulas demonstration repeating them step by step, sometimes disregarding the previous knowledge, make difficult the perception of the theory-practice articulation, besides it is not about acquiring an experimental culture, but rather to change the experimental culture, breaking the barriers already incorporated by the everyday life [9].

To help break these barriers, the computer came as a technological resource, aiding in experiments, eliminating fear and insecurity in the procedures and implementation of techniques by the students. Furthermore, it planned practices through simulations, as per the requirements of the curriculum subjects, so that the logical sequence for learning is growing and being effective in education and health care of future patients [8].

There are scholars who criticize the fact that most teachers do not base their classes in scientific theories of learning or activities, relying only on their long teaching experience and life. In addition, the memorization exercises applied serve only as mere examples [10], to justify the content taught, but do not match the student's actual experience. So, do not combine the student's needs and form a collapsing cascade. To be clearer, without motivation there will be no need for cognitive knowledge "the know-how" [11].

This methodological proposal highlights the challenge of suggesting strategies for ensuring the realization of a pedagogical practice that can innovate in the state of Roraima, since it brings as its base the principles of creativity, promoting the arousal of the students' interest, because according to [10] motivated student will produce prioritizing the quality of learning and the motivation of the students contemplating interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary in their actions.

The Pedagogical Plan of the Technical Nursing Course, reformed in 2014, presents the course constituted by a Theoretical/Practical duration of 1200 hours added 600 hours of internship. It is structured into four modules, containing forty-three subjects, it is a technical course of two years taking into account the required determinations by the Ministry of Education (MEC) for Environment, Health and Safety Management courses [12].

Among the methods of teaching, the course requires students' attendance and "subsequent" (meaning that it is necessary that the student has completed secondary education), and the profile of the graduated student is to be a professional that meets

the demands of society in general as the requirements of the socio-economic development and potential workplaces: Basic Health Units (BHU), Public or Private Hospitals, Clinics and companies [12].

Having in mind the Technical Nursing Course coordination concern with an educational solution relating the ICU scenario in the subjects: Patient Care in situations of Urgency and Emergency; Critical Patient Care I and Critical Patient Care II whose workload is 40 hours respectively [12]; would be the use of an Augmented Reality (AR), whose definition is "the real world combined with the virtual one fostering real-time interactivity [13]" that, according to [14], became attractive and has evolved considerably, like the Human Simulator known as SimMan of Laerdal company as it can be seen in Figure 1. Therefore its use aims to enhance the resources and teaching and learning aids used in the construction of knowledge [13].



(a)

(b)



Using the SimMan, it is possible to develop and apply controlled and safe experiences in the IFRR ICU laboratorial with the intention of students becoming familiar with the hospital environment in a realistic way and guiding or applying their technical and scientific skills into the practice [14].

Using the SimMan resources, it is possible to develop and evaluate diverse scenarios of the characteristics [15] shown in Table 1.

Head	Vocals sounds, Interchangeable pupils, Carotid pulse, CO ₂ emission.
Airways	Lockjaw, Glottis edema, Pharynx edema, Laryngospasm, Neck stiffness.
Torso	Cardiac arrhythmias, Spontaneous breathing, Decreased lung complacency, Lung sounds and Cardiac sounds, Pneumothorax decompression, Stomach decompression, Extensive library of ECG signals, Monitored ECG, Defibrillation, External pacemaker, Chest compression.
Pelvis and Extremities	Male and female urinary catheterization, Training arm IV, Subcutaneous/Intramuscular injection, Blood pressure, Peripheral pulse (radial and dorsalis pedis).

Table 1. Simulation features of SimMan [15].

Students interact in real time with the procedures, providing security in their skills to treat the patient, whitout bringing risks and expanding their skills and practices, and improving their clinical judgment and thought [4], [14].

Among the SimMan features, it is highlighted the debriefing, able to record the interaction of students through a webcam integrated to the software enabling the teacher to re-examine the practical actions of that scenario, as well as the consistency between time and procedures performed within the stipulated time and for the students themselves to have a feedback when viewing/checking their own behavior and attitudes to improve their techniques and learning.

In his article [4] states that the teaching method with the SimMan for nursing is the best educational method among others available. The results shows a 87.5% efficiency in the practical Nursing course.

The simulation can be considered as a learning object and some characteristics can be extracted regarding the educational aspects providing the students with the teaching and learning [16]:

- Quality of content;
- Appropriateness of the learning objectives;
- Feedback and adaptability;
- Motivation;
- Reusability.

3 Comments

The authors demonstrate the importance of using the SimMan simulator, in the cognitive aspect and as proposition, the use of this technology for the education quality improvement.

The closeness of this simulator with the reality that provides the professionals with the experience for their future reality, will motivate and influence them in their cognitive actions arousing a critical and autonomous reflection-action in both the academic and professional field.

The use of this human simulator in the Technical Nursing Course in will become a referential in the teaching and learning in the state of Roraima, extending the partnership to other public agencies such as: Fire Departments, UFRR healthcare students, the General Hospital workers, among others.

References

- 1. Conselho Federal de Enfermagem (COFEN). Disponível em: http://site.portalcofen.gov.br/node/4329. Acessed in: 22 Set. 2015.
- Goes, F. S. N., Côrrea A. K., Camargo, R. A. A., Hara, C. Y. N. Necessidades de Aprendizagem de alunos da Educação Profissional de Nível Técnico em Enfermagem. Revista Brasileira de Enfermagem, Ribeirão Preto, v. 68, n. 1, p. 20-25, jan./fev. (2015). DOI: /10.1590/0034-7167.2015680103p.

- Goes, F. S. N., Fonseca, L. M. M., Camargo, R. A. A., Hara, C. Y. N., Gobbi, J. D., Stabile, A. M. Elaboração de um Ambiente Digital de Aprendizagem na Educação Profissionalizante em Enfermagem. Ciencia Y Enfermeria XXI. Ribeirão Preto, v.1, p.81-90 (2015). DOI: 10.4067/S0717-95532015000100008.
- Changping, S. Application of SimMan Universal Patient Simulator in the Teaching of Medical Nursing. International Conference on Human Health and Biomedical Engineering. Jilin City. P.1172-1174 (2011). DOI 10.1109/HHBE.2011.6029035.
- Afanador, A. A. Simulación clínica y aprendizaje emocional. Revista Colombiana de Psiquiatría. v. 41, pp 44-51 (2012).
- Vieira R. Q., Caverni L. M. R. Manequim de simulação humana no laboratório de enfermagem: uma revisão de literatura. História de Enfermagem: Revista Eletrônica. 2011; Available in http://www.here.abennacional.org.br/here/n3vol1artigo7.pdf.
- Bez, M. R., Vicari, R. M., Moreto, A. R. Construção de um modelo para o uso de simuladores na implementação de métodos ativos de aprendizagem nas escolas de medicina. II Congresso Brasileiro de Informática na Educação. Novo Hamburgo (2013)
- Teixeira, I. N. D. O., Felix, J. V. C. Simulação como estratégia de ensino em enfermagem: revisão de literatura. Interface - Comunicação, Saúde, Educação, vol 15, num 39, oct-dic 2011, PP. 1173-1183, available in: http://www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=180121094020.
- 9. Bachelard, G., A formação do espírito científico. São Paulo: Contraponto (2002).
- 10. Talízina, N. F., Psicología de la Enseñanza. Moscú: Progreso (1988).
- 11. Leontiev, A. O desenvolvimento do psiquismo. 2. ed. São Paulo: Centauro (2004)
- 12. Plano Pedagógico do Curso Técnico em Enfermagem do IFRR.
- Gotardo, R., De Groote, J-J., Volpini, N., Stamato E., Dias, P. Almeida, T., Bueno, A., Realidade Aumentada aliada aos Materiais Didáticos na Educação Básica. II Congresso Brasileiro de Informática na Educação. Novo Hamburgo, pp. 240-248. (2013). http://dx.doi.org/10.5753/cbie.wcbie.2013.240.
- 14. Scotta, A., Hüttner, V., Machado, K. S., Pinto, I., Couto, Z., Espíndola, D. B. Uma aplicação da Realidade Aumentada em Laboratórios Mistos para Ensino de Química. 30. Congresso Brasileiro de Informática na Educação (CBIE 2014). pp. 564-567. http://dx.doi.org/10.5753/cbie.wcbie.2014.564.
- Laerdal, http://www.laerdal.com/br/doc/86/SimMan#/SpecificationsLima. Acessed in: 18 Set 2015
- 16. Lima L. A. F., Alonso, K. M., Maciel, C. Análise da Qualidade em Objetos de Aprendizagem: reflexão sobre aspectos pedagógicos. II Congresso Brasileiro de Informática na Educação (CBIE 2013). pp. 61-70. http://dx.doi.org/10.5753/CBIE.WCBIE.2013.61.

Dictionaries on Smartphones: Learners' Assessment of Features and Potential of Dictionary Apps as Pedagogical Tools

Helvia P P Bastos¹, Gabriel P F Machado¹

¹Instituto Federal Fluminense, RJ, Brazil {helviabastos@yahoo.com.br, gabrielpfm2@gmail.com}

Abstract. The growing popularity of *smartphones* with their multiple functionalities have made these devices a valuable asset to teaching and learning. The study presents the assessment of free-download electronic dictionaries for iOS, Android and Windows operating systems. Three monolingual (Portuguese) and three bilingual dictionaries (Portuguese-English) were evaluated by a class of Engineering students at a federal institution. The main objective of the investigation was to find out how participants evaluated the constituent elements of the apps and their usability features. The study also verified how students perceived the apps as valid reference instruments to be used in both formal and informal learning situations, and what school level is suit to introduce them as pedagogical tools. Data were collected using a questionnaire with mixed-type questions, including the students' habits of consulting dictionaries. Results may serve as parameters for eventual selection of this educational resource for both teachers and learners.

Keywords: m-Learning; Smartphones; Monolingual and Bilingual Dictionaries.

1 Introduction

The increasing use of ubiquitous technologies^{1,2} worldwide, and in Brazil in the case of this study, poses issues and challenges for educators and learners. For Henry Jenkins [3], contemporary society is experiencing a change in the way we produce and consume information. In line with this, education has become more learner-

¹ According to eMarketer [1], Brazil led the Latin American mobile market in 2015: 141.3 million users, with user penetration of 69.2%. The leading operating services are Android (90%) and Windows Phone. iOS shares only 1% of the market in Brazil due to its high cost in the country.

 $^{^2}$ Google Play Store leads the rank of apps downloads in Brazil, making it the 2nd largest world market [2].

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_15

centered, individualized and collaborative, and resourcing to M-Learning (ML) to keep pace with the needs and demands of current learners.

According to the "Policy Guidelines for Mobile Learning" drafted by UNESCO [4], ML "involves the use of mobile technology, either alone or in combination with other information and communication technology (ICT), to enable learning anytime and anywhere". The growth and value of ML are also emphasized in "The Technology Outlook for Latin American Higher Education 2013-2014" report, issued by the New Media Consortium [5]. This document highlights that, besides demanding the use of digital technologies in educational contexts, students tend to consider their electronic devices as extensions of their personality and lifestyle.

Koole [6] says that learning via mobile devices enable individuals to make effective and better evaluation and selection of relevant information, reconsider their objectives and understanding of concepts in an ever-increasing and ever-changing set of references and data. Churchill and Churchill [7] list a number of benefits that justify the use of smartphones for educational purposes, including these: (i) they are multimedia tools; (ii) they allow for social interactivity and collaborative work; (ii) they are ubiquitous and, (iv) they facilitate individualized and independent learning. In addition, if we consider their wide range of features and applications, smartphones have changed student behavior, as they increase interaction and opportunities to independent learning [8].

This study focuses on electronic dictionaries which, as a digital text genre, can be constantly updated and enhanced with hypermedia. Nesi [9] explains that paper dictionaries, besides being heavy and static, cannot store information in the comprehensiveness required by contemporary society. In digital dictionaries, entries are not necessarily accessed by alphabetical order - they can be found by class, function, meaning, idioms, collocations, and examples in sentences.

The objectives of the investigation aimed to find out:

(i) which free-download dictionaries (three monolingual and three bilingual) received better reviews by the students;

(ii) whether students perceived these software applications (apps) as a valid tool in both formal and informal learning situations.

(iii) what school level participants find adequate to introduce these devices as learning resources.

The survey was administered, with assistance of the authors, to a group of undergraduates. They analyzed each app and answered two questionnaires (one for monolingual Portuguese apps, and one for bilingual English-Portuguese dictionaries).

The comparative analysis of the apps, as well as the investigation on how students perceive them as potential pedagogical tools, may contribute to assist learners and teachers in the selection of which dictionary suits their teaching and/ or learning purposes.

The following section discusses the use of mobile devices for educational purposes, as well as a literature review on electronic dictionaries. Section 3 focuses on the methodology used in the investigation. This is followed by a discussion of the findings in Section 4.

2 Mobile Devices in Education

The use of Information and Communication Technologies (ICT) is a growing trend in Brazil; Brazilian institutions have been adopting apps into their programs, and modifying "websites, educational materials, resources and tools so they are optimized for mobile devices" [10].

Nevertheless, it is important to stress that many states and municipalities in the country have banned cell phones from the classroom - an action regarded by many as a step back in contemporary teaching approaches. One common justification for these legislations is the fact that mobile phones may cause distraction of students in the classroom, affecting performance of learners and teachers as well. Regardless of school bans, one must acknowledge that mobile devices (MDs) represent a paradigm shift in social practices (relationships, identities etc.), which means they should be incorporated into school programs.

Two major models are popular for m-Learning (ML) in formal education: (i) oneto-one (1:1) programs, in which the school provides MDs to students; (ii) Bring Your Own Device - BYOD, initiatives that rely on student-owned devices and school subsides for those who cannot afford them. The former is more common in poorer countries, while the latter is usual in more fortunate communities [4].

The 2014 NMC Technology Outlook for Brazilian Universities [10] lists these features of MDs and apps as relevant for teaching and learning:

- Development in mobile software present "sophisticated tools" that enable "scientific experiments from anywhere easier for students", as they can process large amounts of numbers, create 3D images, and "record environmental observations".
- Organizing information and collaborating on projects have been made easier by apps such as Evernote, Dropbox and Google Drive.
- Worksheets tend to be replaced by interactive apps that offer activities and games.
- Due to their lower cost, MDs are "an economic, flexible alternative" to conventional computers.
- Built-in features in mobile apps allow learners "to share their questions or findings with each other in real-time".

A successful ML experience involves good student acceptance towards this strategy. Liaw et al. [8] name the following factors that play a significant role on the acceptance of an ML system: "enhancing learners' satisfaction, encouraging learners' autonomy, empowering system functions, and enriching interaction and communication activities".

Koole and Ally [11] emphasize that the use of MDs in educational contexts must consider the following aspects, among others: physical features (size and weight), input and output devices (keyboard, touch screen, audio functions, camera etc.), storage capacity, processor speed, easy handling, clear help manuals. Digital natives, especially, make wide use of the multiple functions of smartphones. In regards to researching, Palfrey and Gasser [12] stress that it no longer means "a trip to the library", but a search on Google, or "a visit to Wikipedia before diving deeper into a topic". For the authors, speed and easy access to multi-semiotic worlds are characteristics of the web and of digital technologies, in general, that captivate digital natives.

As stated by Stockwell [13], the use of MDs in education presents "somewhat of a paradox", with enthusiastic teachers and researchers versus pessimistic ones. Many in the optimistic group consider m-Learning as " the next generation of learning", while others hold a more realistic view. Stockwell [13] mentions Dias [14], who points out that students often regard m-Learning "as an intrusion into their own personal space" - a fact that may affect acceptance of MDs in educational contexts. Nonetheless, the benefits of MDs overcome the challenges posed to educators and learners. Some of these benefits are the possibility for students to develop (i) their autonomy to explore and manage learning regardless of traditional school restrictions; (ii) their assessment skills and selection of relevant information [15, 6].

2.1 Dictionaries as Apps

Biderman [16] defines a dictionary as a "systematic organization of the lexicon, by which lexicographers try to describe the vocabulary accumulated in a language in the course of centuries [...] at a given period of time [...]"³. According to the author, this is quite an "intangible" task since languages, as living entities, keep growing and changing in geometric progression.

Rangel and Bagno [17] explain that dictionaries can provide a wide range of "services", as they provide the various meaning and functions of words in a given linguistic context. They can, for instance:

- clear doubts concerning spelling, meaning, and different concepts of the word;
- provide synonyms, antonyms, and homonyms;
- provide the domain and/ or the linguistic context in which the word is usually found;
- inform the different functions the word can have in a sentence;
- describe the pronunciation and its variations;
- inform about the origin of the word etymology.

³ In accordance with the Federal Constitution, Resolution 003/2001 of the Brazilian National Education Development Fund (FNDE) states that Portuguese language dictionaries are a "constitutional right" of learners, and as such, must be provided by this agency to all learners from grades 1 to 5 enrolled in public schools.

http://fnde.gov.br/programas/pnld/legislacao/res03 2102 2001

Dictionaries on Smartphones ...

Traditional paper dictionaries have been increasingly replaced by digital versions⁴. As Nesi [9] puts it, these are either heavy and large, or too small without enough entries to support good learning practices. Most importantly, printed dictionaries cannot keep updated content in pace with the ever-increasing amount of information produced on the Web. Electronic dictionaries (e-dictionaries), on the other hand, can store great amounts of data that enable access in various ways, in other words, not restricted to alphabetical order.

Regarding contents of online dictionaries, Lan [18] thinks they "can be as good as their traditional paper equivalents. If a screen does not contain everything one wants, further lexicographic information can be obtained by clicking on a hyperlink". In his study, Lew [19] says that "what comparisons of paper and digital dictionaries show quite consistently is that the digital medium encourages more frequent consultation". On the other hand, the author stresses that " there is still uncertainty about whether digital dictionaries help immediate comprehension or promote vocabulary learning".

Digital dictionaries are also hypermedia tools - images and audio certainly make them more attractive to current learners. Lew [19] accredits part of the success of edictionaries to "advances in speech recognition". One problem related to the pronunciation function on smartphones relies on "accented speech" and particular phonetic variations. One reason for minor pronunciation problems may be due to the vast number of data in e-dictionaries [18]. One special feature of current digital dictionaries is the "did-you-mean function", which can be quite helpful for those not sure of how a word is spelled [19].

Some of the positive aspects of e-dictionaries are summarized by Lan [18]. The author says that their strength lies "in their innovativeness: quick search, frequent updating, interactivity, and designer/user collaboration". Lan [18] also emphasizes that "information retrieval by means of the computer's search engine takes much less time than thumbing through the pages of an alphabetic dictionary, and so interrupting one's reading can be kept to a minimum". In Lew's opinion [19], dictionaries on mobile phones are more effective "if they are instantly and unobtrusively available during the activities in which humans engage". The author's point of view is that "as more of our work, study and play is done in an ICT-enhanced environment", e-dictionaries will eventually "blend into that environment", and be used whenever needed.

As reminded by Zarei and Gujjar [20], use of e-dictionaries on mobile phones present disadvantages too, among them: (i) they have functions that may require time to be mastered by the user; (ii) lighting conditions may affect reading on LCDs.

The following sections present the methodological procedures and results obtained in the study.

⁴ Different terms are used to refer to online dictionaries. Lew [19] suggests *digital dictionaries* "as the cover term", while *electronic dictionaries* can be used for "lexicographic applications" in ubiquitous equipment.

3 Methodology

The investigation was aimed at analyzing and assessing free-download dictionaries in smartphones in order to verify their potential and pertinence as a pedagogical resource in both formal and informal learning situations. To achieve the objectives of the study, a group of 21 undergraduate students at a federal institution analyzed six apps and answered printed questionnaires in the classroom.

3.1 E-Dictionaries Used in the Investigation

The selection of the apps for the investigation was defined by the following criteria: they had to be free-download and available for the major operating services used in Brazil (Android, Windows, and iOS). Two sets of e-dictionaries were assessed by students on two different occasions:

(i) November 2014, when they analyzed 3 monolingual Portuguese dictionaries (Priberam, InFormal, Porto Editora⁵);

(ii) March 2015, when they analyzed 3 bilingual English-Portuguese dictionaries (Bravolol; Ascendo; Huang Tiancheng⁶).

The electronic versions have similar content structure with large and continuously updated databanks.

Once the app is downloaded, its content is available off line, a feature found most attractive by users, especially Brazilian students who do not have cheap and comprehensive internet coverage.

Apart from the usual entry search, the apps offer these features: most frequent searches, scientific terminology, slangs, related searches, search history records, geographical variations, linguistic context, verb conjugation, degree of adjectives.

Figures 1 and 2 show screenshots of each app.

⁵ URLs: https://www.priberam.pt/DLPO/; http://www.dicionarioinformal.com.br/; http://www.portoeditora.pt/espacolinguaportuguesa/dol/dicionarios-mobile.

⁶ URLs: http://vidalingua.com/; http://bravolol.com/dictionary/;

http://pt.appszoom.com/iphone-developer/huang-tiancheng_ebqbp.html.

Dictionaries on Smartphones ...



Fig. 1. The same dictionary entry in the three Portuguese apps.

			🕘 # 🗧				-
••••	Histórico	100% -	bom	٩	C 99	U	Carro
Hist	órico (12) happy Procura 5 vezes		good	(۱	go tentativa; energia; ativ	idade (giria); m	oda
nition	. =	Apagar			go ir; viajar; chegar; parti	r; caminhar; ma	archar; n
•	look Procurado 1 vez	-	dictionary	-	go about	1979	
•	frequency	-	adjective		cuidar (de algum assu	nto)	
•	aprender	1.1	good hom útil excelente adequa	fo bonito	perseguir; correr atrás		
•	learn Procurs Z vezes	-	satisfatório	30, 001110,	QWERT	YUI	0
•	knowledge Procurado 1 vez	-	fine		ASDF	GHJ	КL
•	maca Procurado 1 vez.	-	fino, bom, excelente, belo, bo	onito, agradável			
	label				& Z X C	VBN	M
	Limpar Histórico		0 🕺	*	2123	pace	Searc

Fig. 2. Different word search modes in the English-Portuguese apps (left to right: Bravolol, Ascendo, Huang Tiancheng).

3.2 The Survey Questionnaire

Printed questionnaires were administered by the authors in the classroom. Participants answered 15 objective questions related to: (i) their personal profile; (ii) their habit (or lack of) of searching in reference works; (iii) the constitutive elements of the dictionaries; (iv) their opinion regarding the usability and navigability of the software; (v) the quantitative and qualitative evaluation of the apps; (vi) their perception of the pedagogical potential of these resources; (vii) which school level should allow and use this type of app as pedagogical tools.

Students were also asked to rate each app as *poor*, *fair*, *good*, or *very good*, and justify their ratings. It is worth noting that, even though the survey did not explicit

that participants should assess graphic elements of the apps, they did consider this features in their analyses.

These are the constituent elements of the dictionaries participants were asked to find out in the investigation:

- etymology;
- part of speech;
- gender;
- irregular plural forms;
- verb conjugation;
- audio pronunciation;
- synonyms and antonyms;
- use of the word in sentences;
- idioms;
- more than one definition for words with different meanings.

To avoid aimless and careless analyses, students were requested to start their searches by using the same word entry. They were told to look up the noun "casa" for Portuguese and "house" for the bilingual dictionaries; the irregular verb conjugation of "ir" in Portuguese, and "go" in English. For the monolingual Portuguese language apps, participants also verified the offer of: foreign words used in everyday Brazilian Portuguese, as well as differences and variations between Brazilian and European Portuguese (spelling and meaning).

3.3 Profile of the Investigation Participants

A group of 21 students enrolled in the 3rd term of the Control and Automation Engineering Course at a federal institution⁷ participated in the study. When the questionnaires were applied, more than half of the class was less than 20 years of age (52%); the other 47% was between 20 and 25 years of age. The most popular operating service amongst participants was Android (85%).

Due to the nature of their course and being digital natives, these undergraduates use their laptops as a tool in most of the course disciplines, and have good reading skills in English as a foreign language. As their teacher, the authors have noticed that they keep their phones on for either looking up information on a topic discussed in class or for texting friends.

4 Discussion

Data collected in the survey are analyzed and discussed in separate topics of this section.

⁷ Instituto Federal Fluminense de Educação Ciência e Tecnologia (IFF campus Campos-Centro, RJ)

4.1 Frequency of Dictionary Consulting

Questions regarding the participants' habits of consulting dictionaries provided the following results.

Туре	Never	Rarely	Occasionally	Frequently
Printed	09%	61%	28%	0%
Desktop or Laptop	20%	19%	33%	28%
Phone	42%	19%	19%	19%

Table 1. Frequency of dictionary consulting according to type.

Data in Table 1 show that, regardless of the medium, dictionary consultation is not a standard practice among the survey participants. Empirical observation by the authors at their institution points to frequent and wide use of printed dictionaries in language classes. We think this might be due to the slow pace in which teachers incorporate technology to their practices, and that these results apply to similar groups of students and, to most teachers in Brazil. Nevertheless, since smartphones play, indeed, a significant role in everyday life of current students, and as a new generation of teachers emerge, MDs are likely to become commonplace pedagogical tools.

Leffa [21] actually suggests that dictionaries should be used "sporadically", because interrupting a reading activity to look up a work, and then return to the text, can be highly "obstructive". Leffa's opinion [21] is that e-dictionaries help to prevent readers from "abandoning" the text as they allow faster access to entries than their printed counterparts.

Another result (not shown in Table 1) refers to academic research on smartphones. The large majority of the students (76%) say they "frequently" resource to their phones for doing quick consulting related to some sort of academic task. However, this was reported as personal initiatives, i.e., not part of formal classroom activities, which may indicate that teachers still have difficulties in incorporating MDs into their teaching practices. The "Pockets of Potential" report on mobile technologies for children [22] claim that teachers "do not yet view these devices as educational allies" since "they have not been trained to use new technologies in their classrooms or afterschool settings".

According to Bellay [23], the potential of dictionaries for the cognitive development of learners is not satisfactorily exploited by Brazilian teachers for reasons such as, among others, lack of understanding of the potential of dictionaries,

and proper understanding of the various types of dictionaries (specialized, historical, pocket versions, for children etc.). Bellay [23] emphasizes that it is necessary that teachers be trained to select the proper dictionary for his/ her class, and stimulate their use. Dargel's findings [24] indicate that teachers underestimate dictionaries as a valuable resource in activities aimed at developing the students' lexicon in their mother tongue. Clearly, the same applies to the teaching and learning of foreign languages.

4.2 Assessment of the Dictionaries

As explained in 3.2, analyses of the apps took into consideration their constitutive elements, usability, graphics and quality of the content (extension and variety of definitions, for instance).

Fig. 3 shows that, of the three monolingual Portuguese dictionaries, Priberan and InFormal received similar scores for "good" (37% and 47%, respectively). However, for "very good", Dicionário Informal received the highest score - 19%, while Priberan got 9% in this classification. Some of the positive remarks students wrote about Dicionário InFormal include: "interesting", "comprehensive", "easy to handle", "well structured", "the most complete of the three". Justifications for classifying this app as "fair" or just "good" are illustrated by these comments: "you must be careful with some of the definitions", "just basic, it can be improved", "no examples in sentences".



Fig. 3. Ranking of the Portuguese Language apps.

The following graph shows results for the bilingual English-Portuguese dictionary apps.



Fig. 4. Ranking of the bilingual dictionary apps.

Figure 4 shows that the Ascendo Dictionary received the lowest rates (bad: 44%; fair: 33.3%; good: 22%; 0% for very good). No positive statements were written for this app. Some students justify their evaluation of Ascendo when they say, for instance: "very poor resources", "poor definitions (only one word)", "bad layout". It is worth noting that participants, though asked to justify their opinions, did not report what resources they found missing, and why they did not like Ascendo's layout. Comparison of the Bravolol and Huang Tiancheng apps is more difficult to be established, as results are somewhat conflicting. While both apps were equally ranked for "very good" (11.1%), the highest scores were "good" (55.5%) for the former, and "fair" (55.5%) for the latter. Overall results obtained by Bravolol indicate that this dictionary app was considered as "best" by the investigation participants.

These statements illustrate the participants' perception of Bravolol: "[...] good, but can be improved"; "presents lots of options"; "the best of the three because it presents words in sentences"; "presents important features as audio pronunciation". At the time of the investigation, the Bravalol app presented the largest amount of graphics and search categories.

Some of the students' comments on the Huang Tiancheng Dictionary are: "needs more resources"; "not enough definitions"; "badly organized". One respondent, though, considered this app as having a "great amount of expressions".

This discussion must take into account that students actually doubt whether these apps are a good and / or useful substitute for looking up words on a search engine. Two major reasons given by participants that justify downloading the apps were: (i) they do not require internet connection; (ii) they present easy-to-find conversational phrases. Further inquiry is necessary to verify if respondents continued to use these apps on their smartphones. Participants were also asked to select which school level they found more suitable to start using mobile phones as pedagogical tools. As seen in Figure 5, the majority agree that mobile devices can be used as early as from 1st grade. Some students justified their opinion by saying, for instance: "nowadays, children use smartphones all the time"; "the more contact with language the better", "[...] it is ok as soon as the child has a certain knowledge of the language".



Fig. 5. Preferable school level for adopting smartphones as pedagogical tools.

The authors did not discuss with participants the many aspects involved in this issue. Results show, therefore, the perception of a group of young adults - digital natives who regard their mobile phones as an inseparable item of their lives - not experts on education or linguistics. therefore their opinion is solely based on their experience as learners and users of mobile equipment.

In informal conversation with respondents, the authors also observed that they find it is "useless" to have rules banning use of phones in the classroom, and that teachers should take more advantage of these tools as well.

Analysis of the answers given in the two questionnaires indicate the following main conclusions as reported by respondents:

- it is not usual in the respondents' learning contexts;
- it is useful for searches non-related to school tasks;
- it is not a tiresome activity;
- it has the benefit of not requiring internet access after downloading;
- it is a potential pedagogical resource for children as of 1st Grade.

5 Conclusion

As ubiquitous technologies keep evolving, mobile phones become prevalent worldwide. These devices possess numerous functionalities, including the possibility of downloading educational software to support learning practices in the classroom or in out-of-school situations. Due to their rich content and features (sound, animation, encyclopedic information, for instance), as well as the possibility of being collectively enriched by users' contribution, e-dictionaries tend to become effective and commonplace tools [18].

This article presented an investigation carried out with a group of undergraduate students with the main purpose of comparing free-download dictionaries for Android, iOS and Windows systems. The survey included questions regarding the students' habits of using dictionaries in both printed and on-line modes, and critical evaluation of the apps.

Assessment of the dictionaries was based on their constituent elements, quality of the content, layout features, easy handling and navigability. Of the 3 monolingual (Portuguese) dictionaries analyzed by students, Dicionário InFormal received the highest scores; while Bravolol was rated best among the 3 bilingual (English-Portuguese) apps.

Participants also expressed their opinions on the potential of the apps for educational purposes, as well as the school level they find adequate to incorporate mobile phones into learning activities. Even though respondents admit that consulting a dictionary on their phones is not a common practice, they do find such devices useful educational resources. Students stressed the fact that these apps, once they are downloaded, have the benefit of not requiring access to the internet. Regarding appropriateness and potential of the apps in different school levels, 71% of the participants say they should be introduced as of 1st Grade.

The comparative analysis of the apps described in this study, as well as the investigation on how students perceive them as potential pedagogical tools may contribute to assist learners and teachers in the selection of which dictionary suits their teaching and/ or learning purposes. However, because of the frequent evolution of software, the authors emphasize that the apps analyzed for this study may have changed in regards to their functions and constituent elements since the investigation took place.

Future research by the authors includes observation of how dictionaries on smartphones are used by high school students in classroom language activities specifically designed for the investigation. We also intend to have the apps shown in this paper assessed by teachers of Portuguese and English languages.

6 References

- 1. e-Marketer, http://www.emarketer.com/Article/Mobile-Connections-Brazil-Tipping-Toward-Faster-Networks/1010186
- 2. App Annie, http://blog.appannie.com/app-annie-index-market-q1-2015/
- 3. Jenkins, H.: Convergence Culture: Where Old and New Media Collide. New York University Press, New York (2009)
- 4. UNESCO. Policy guidelines for mobile learning. UNESCO, Paris, France (2013), Johnson, L., Adams Becker, S., Estrada, V., Freeman, A. NMC Horizon Report: 2014 Higher Education. Austin, Texas: The New Media Consortium (2014)
- Johnson, L., Adams Becker, S., Estrada, V., Freeman, A. NMC Horizon Report: 2014 Higher Education Edition. Austin, Texas: The New Media Consortium (2014)
- 6. Koole, M. L. A Model for Framing Mobile Learning. In: Ally, M. (ed.), Mobile Learning:

Transforming the Delivery of Education and Training, AU Press, Edmonton, Alberta. pp. 25--49. (2009)

- 7. Churchill, D., Churchill, N. Educational Affordances of PDAs: A study of a Teacher's Exploration of This Technology. Computer and Education, 50 (4), 1439–1450. (2008)
- Liaw, S. S., Chen, G. D., Huang, H. M. Users' Attitudes Toward Web-Based Collaborative Learning Systems for Knowledge Management. Computers and Education, 50, pp. 950–961 (2008).
- Nesi, H. Dictionaries on Computer: How Different Markets Have Created Different Products. In: Symposium on Language Learning and Computers. Chemnitz University of Technology (1998)
- Johnson, L., Adams Becker, S., Estrada, V., Freeman, A. 2014 NMC Technology Outlook for Brazilian Universities. A Horizon Project Regional Report. Austin, Texas: The New Media Consortium (2014)
- 11. Koole, M. L.; Ally, M. Framework for the Rational Analysis of Mobile Education (FRAME) Model: revising the ABCs of educational practices. In: The Networking, International Conference on Systems and International Conference on Mobile Communications and Learning Technologies. IEEE. pp. 216--216. (2006)
- 12. Palfrey, J; Gasser, U. Born Digital: Understanding the First Generation of Digital Natives. Basic Books, New York (2008)
- 13. Stockwell, G. Investigating Learner Preparedness for and Usage Patterns of Mobile Learning ReCALL 20 (3), pp. 253--270, (2008)
- Dias, J. Cell Phones in the Classroom: Boon or Bane? C@lling Japan, 10(2), pp. 16-22, (2002)
- Engel, G.; Green, T. Cell Phones in the Classroom: Are we Dialing up Disaster? Tech Trends 55 (2), pp. 39--45, (2011)
- Biderman, M.T.C. Dicionários do Português: da Tradição à Contemporaneidade. Alfa Revista de Linguística, 47(1), (2003), http://seer.fclar.unesp.br/alfa/article/view/4232
- 17.Rangel, E. de O.; Bagno, M. Dicionários em Sala de Aula. Brasília, DF: Ministério da Educação, Secretaria de Educação Básica. (2006)
- Lan, L. The growing prosperity of on-line dictionaries. English Today 83(3), pp. 16--21, (2005).
- 19. Lew, R. Dictionary Users in the Digital Revolution. International Journal of Lexicography, 27 (4), pp. 341--369, (2014)
- Zarei, A,A. Gujjaar, A.A. The Contribution of Electronic and Paper Dictionaries to Iranian EFL Learners' Vocabulary Learning. International J. Soc. Sci. & Education. 2(4), pp. 628-635, (2012)
- Leffa, V. J. O Uso de Dicionários On-line na Compreensão de Textos em Língua Estrangeira VI Congresso Brasileiro de Linguística Aplicada. Belo Horizonte: UFMG. (2001)
- 22. Schuler, C. Pockets of Potential: Using Mobile Technologies to Promote Children's Learning, New York: The Joan Ganz Cooney Center at Sesame Workshop. (2009). http://www.joanganzcooneycenter.org/wp-content/uploaads/ 2010/03/pockets_of_potential_1_.pdf/
- Belay, R. O Uso do Dicionário por Alunos de Escola Pública no Brasil Comparado ao Uso de Dicionário por Estudantes na Espanha. In: Revista FACEVV, Vila Velha, ES, n.5, pp. 107--117, (2010)
- 24. Dargel, A. P. T. P. A Utilização do Dicionário no Ensino do Léxico. In: Ave Palavra (UNEMAT), v. 6, p. 58--68, (2005)

Collaborative Learning supported by mobile devices: A case study in Portuguese High Education Institutions

Fernando Moreira^{1,2}, Maria João Ferreira^{1,3}, Carla Santos Pereira¹, Natércia Durão¹,

¹ Universidade Portucalense, DEGI, Rua Dr. António Bernardino de Almeida, 541, 4200-070 Porto, Portugal

² IJP, Universidade Portucalense, IEETA, Universidade de Aveiro, Portugal ³ Centro Algoritmi, Universidade do Minho, Portugal

{fmoreira, mjoao, arlasantos, natercia}@upt.pt

Abstract. Collaborative learning has been getting more importance in educational environment as one type of mobile learning application. In this learning environment there are a shift of learning approach, i.e. in a traditional approach the focus is on the teacher and in static and repetitive contents, oppositely with a collaborative learning the learn is centered in the students where they have a critical apprehension of contents that goes beyond the classroom, students could learning in different places. Learning supported by mobile technologies is becoming a new approach towards education, and it is single in the way that offers opportunities to learn anywhere and anytime. This paper introduces the foundations of collaborative learning supported by mobile technologies as well as presenting and analysing the evolution of collaborative learning supported by mobile devices in Portuguese (North region) Higher Education Institutions between 2009/2010 and 2014/2015.

Keywords: Mobile learning, Collaborative learning, mobile devices, anywhere, anytime.

1 Introduction

Mobile technologies, particularly Tablets and Smartphones, are quickly becoming powerful technologies enough to override personal computers in several tasks with the advancement of wireless and mobile technology. While these technologies has dramatically transformed our society in the way we communicate, create, retrieve and share information, collaborate and socialize each other, the application of these technologies is still relatively young [1].

Mobile learning has become a research field of interest of practitioners in the different phases of education to facilitate learning in different contexts [2]. The key aspects of this interest are the growing importance and their use, in the day-by-day, of students in the most several activities, and the increasing portability of these technologies, as well as the reduction in their cost and services [3].

Learning supported by mobile technologies is becoming a new approach towards education, and it is single in the way that offers opportunities to learn anywhere and

- Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies,
- Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_16

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

anytime [4], [5]. On the other hand, collaborative learning has long been believed to hold great value for education, but creating a collaborative learning experience inside and outside of the classroom is a challenge with which teachers continue to struggle, since there are several obstacles e.g. their own preparation for the introduction of this learning approach [6]. Additionally, there are no consensuses in interpreting collaborative learning. Since, it varies in focus according to the literature (see section 2.1). However, new educational application - educational apps [7] have, at least in some contexts, begun to transform the way teachers teach, students learn, and teachers and students interact.

This work analyses the evolution of mobile technologies in Higher Education Institutions (HEI) in Portugal (North region) between 2009/2010 and 2014/2015, being an evolution of the work [8] analyses and discusses more general results.

The paper is structured as follows. Section 2 critically examines previous definitions of collaborative learning and mLearning and comes up with a definition that seems best to serve the learning of individual and collaborative mLearning. Section 3 presents the state of the art in collaborative learning with mobile devices in Portugal in HEI. Section 4 presents the methodology. Section 5 summarizes the results and discussion of the research and lastly, section 6 presents the study conclusions.

2 Background

In this section, are considered some of the current pedagogical paradigms that support learning, with particular emphasis on collaborative learning, whose aim is to demonstrate the potential that this paradigm has in the use of mobile devices.

2.1 Collaborative learning

The current educational paradigms aim to motivate students to learn, with the help of teachers, technology and other students, which would potentially contributed to the effective development of their academic and/or professional activities [9]. These new educational views are closely related to the pedagogical theories [10], [11], such as the constructivism [12], the behaviorism [13], the situated learning [14], the problem-based learning [15], the learning-oriented context [16], the social learning [17] and the collaborative learning [18].

According to Panitz [19] collaboration is an interaction philosophy and a personal lifestyle. In this context, it is possible to state that the collaborative learning is more than a classroom approach; it is a way to deal with people that respect and emphasizes individual skills and contributions of each member of a group. All group members share responsibilities and authority, thus giving a more active role to stakeholders in the learning process.

According to Harasim, Calvert, and Groeneber [20] collaborative learning is an oriented approach that promotes a dynamic and collaborative participation, promoting a greater cognitive development when compared to individual activities. The great challenge is to develop a culture of participation and responsibility of those involved

in learning. That involvement is established through the formation of groups or learning communities.

Additionally, Wiersema [21] points out that a more efficient learning, as well as a more efficient work, is collaborative and social rather than competitive and isolated.

To Stahl [22], the process of social sharing on what is understood by the group, central phenomenon of collaboration, could be studied through collaborative negotiation sequences, during the interactions between the participants of the working group.

Group learning can be interpreted in several ways: (i) presential or virtual learning; (ii) synchronous or asynchronous. This type of learning allows the effort made by learners can be fully together or through the division of tasks. Therefore, the practice of collaborative learning may assume multiple characterizations, although there might be dynamics and results of learning to each specific context, namely when the means used are diverse, from the personal computer to the mobile devices.

The collaborative learning [23] is part of a set of pedagogical trends: (i) Movement of the New School; (ii) Theories of Genetic Epistemology of Piaget; (iv) Sociocultural Theory of Vygotsky and; (v) Progressive pedagogy.

According to the same authors the pedagogy of the New School the Progressive, together with cognitive theories formulated by Piaget and Vygotsky, generate the foundations of collaborative learning, which have led to the movement of classes focused on the teacher, with static and repetitive contents for classes focused on the students and a critical apprehension of contents.

2.2 mLearning

Mobile Learning (mLearning) concept is not new and, it is important to understand/analyze its evolution. For example, Viteli [24] finished his article, written 15 years ago, with the following statement: "*The concept of mLearning is yet very unknown. On 15th of September 2000 the Google provided 40 links to mLearning and 29.900 to eLearning.*", while Costa and Xavier [25] by performing a search on Google in July 2014 found approximately 252 million links to eLearning and 231 million links to mLearning.

mLearning can be defined as a way of learning that makes use of mobile communication technologies and gives to the students the capacity to learn anywhere and anytime. This definition is based on the definition presented by [26] "Any sort of learning that happens when the learner is not at a fixed, predetermined location, or learning that happens when the learner takes advantage of the learning opportunities offered by mobile technologies." Mobile learning can be defined as the learning that occurs linked to mobile devices [27]. Mobile devices include mobile equipment (Laptops, Tablets and Smartphones) which have been undergoing a very strong evolution from the point of view of capacity, reliability and, at a more economic perspective, a great reduction in prices. They have come to endow their installations with wifi networks, which by on the one hand, promoting and fostering the use of those devices and, on the other hand, allow the evolution of the teaching-learning process (TLP).

mLearning, according to Traxler [28], offers five features that potentiate new learning opportunities: (i) contextual learning allows students to respond and react to experiences lived in different contexts; (ii) located learning, learning occurs in the applicable environments; (iii) the authentic learning, with tasks directly related to the objectives that want to reach; (iv) the conscious learning of the context in which is informed by the history and objectives; and (v) personalized learning, that is, directed to the preferences of each student.

Contrary to other kind of learning activities, the TLP with mobile devices began with the assumption that students are always on the go and have activities in line with the context in which they are. In this context, Looi, et al. [29] argue that mobile devices provide the integration of education in school and beyond, with continued learning experience. In the same direction UNESCO [30] has prepared its guidance projects for mLearning and recognizes the value of mobile technology is significantly higher when students continually learn from their mobile devices (BYOD - Bring Your Own Device) as ubiquitous mediators between types of learning, for example collaborative learning.

3 State of the art

According to the literature the use of mobile devices for educational purposes using different methods and devices has been conducted around the world. All across the globe, students from elementary school through high school are increasingly engaging with advanced wireless devices to collaborate with peers, access rich digital content, and personalize their learning experiences. Always-on, always-connected, Smartphones and Tablets provide today's students with a ubiquitous gateway to a new ecosystem of information, experts, and experiences, regardless of the physical assets and resources in their own communities.

Baran [31] presents a study with a review of research on mobile learning in teacher education where 37 papers were analyzed. In the analysis the following categories were considered: subject domain, type, method, data sources, reliability, validity and trustworthiness report, mobile technology used and country context. From this study it was possible to conclude that there is no study on mobile technologies in education, particularly in Higher Education Institutions in Portugal (North region), thus making it relevant and justified.

4 Research methodology

The purpose of this section is to describe the procedures used to collect data that are the basis for this research. The main feature of the scientific method is an organized research, strict control of the use of observations and theoretical knowledge. The present study was based on quantitative research methodology.

For the present study, we used the methodology of quantitative research, since it is more appropriate to determine the opinions and attitudes of the respondent based on structured questionnaires. In this approach, data is collected through structured questionnaires, and clear goals in order to ensure uniform compression of the respondents and a consequent standardization of results.

The method of the questionnaire, according to [32], is recommended when you want to know a population, to analyze social phenomena and, in cases where it is necessary to inquire a great number of people about a certain subject. The questionnaire before being delivered was subjected to the evaluation of four experts in the field. The objective of this study was to obtain answers that will measure the influence of the utilization of mobile devices in HEI. The quantitative study was based on a questionnaire with 16 questions (Q1-Q16). As a matter of space we will just present the analysis of the comparison between two questions (Q15 and Q16) and these results crossed with questions Q1, Q2 and Q3.

5 Analysis and discussion of results

The surveys presented to the students had a few changes depending on the academic year (2009/10 and 2014/15), since there are some equipment and technologies that were important in 2009/10 and today are no longer used, for example PDA, or technologies that are now part of the daily lives of students.

In the survey conducted in the academic year 2014/15 were included questions related to Tablets and new technological solutions. In this context, the section will be divided into three subsections, the first one with the sample characterization information [8], the second dedicated to the use of mobile devices to support learning (Q15) and the third subsection dedicated to the use of mobile devices supporting collaborative learning (Q16) through the analysis and discussion of the comparative study of the common questions of the academic years 2009/10 and 2014/15, as well as the intersection of these issues with the course (Q1), age (Q2) and gender (Q3). Data were collected and treated with the use of IBM SPSS Statistics 20.0 software. In this paper will not show all the results obtained due to the number of pages limitation. Thus, the results of Q15 and Q16 questions will be presented as well as its intersection with the characterization questions (Q1, Q2 and Q3).

5.1 General characterization

The study sample consists of 151 students in the 2009/10 academic year and 273 students in the academic year 2014/15, distributed among the courses Electrical and Computer Engineering (from now on will be referred to throughout the text as Engineering), Economics/Management and Law in HEI in the north of Portugal. Agerelated question (Q2) revealed some differences between the two academic years of study (20109/10 and 2014/15). For example, while in 2009/10, the percentage of students aged 18 years was 4.6% in 2014/15, the percentage passing to 25.3%. In contrast, the trend in higher class (> 20 years) has a reversal of the proportions, i.e., 45.7% and 28.9%, respectively. In both academic years the percentage of female students is approximately 60% (Q3).

The distribution of students attending the courses (Q1) is as follows: in the academic year 2009/10 responded to the survey 21.85% of law students, 40.40% of

students of Economics/Management and 37.75% of students engineering; while in the academic year 2014/15 responded to the survey 28.94% of law students, 34.80% of students in courses Economics/Management and 36.26% of engineering students, with a clear trend of using mobile devices in TLP.

5.2 Mobile devices to support learning

Evaluating the answers to the question "Do you consider come to use mobile devices to support learning?" (Q15) is prevalent in both academic periods, the percentage of students who responded positively. Should be highlighted that is even more apparent the percentage of positive responses in the period 2014/15 to 93.4% of "Yes" against 87.3% in the previous period (2009/10). The positive prevalence is relevant whatever the frequented degree (with particular regard to the period 2014/15). Therefore, when we perform Chi-square test to assess whether there is association between the questions and the course we conclude that there is no significant association (*p*-value = 0.343 and *p*-value = 0.912, respectively). It seemed so interesting to analyze whether there are differences of opinion on this question by student course area. Considering the areas - Science and Humanities Courses, the results are in Tables 1-2.

		Science	Humanities	Total
		courses	courses	
	No	13	6	19
		68,4%	31,6%	100,0%
		11,1%	18,2%	12,7%
	Yes	104	27	131
		79,4%	20,6%	100,0%
		88,9%	81,8%	87,3%
Total		117	33	150
		78,0%	22,0%	100,0%
		100,0%	100,0%	100,0%

Table 1. Frequency of use of mobile device by Course area (year 2009/2010).

Table 2. Frequency	of use of m	obile device by	Course area (year	2014/2015).
1 2		2		

		Science	Humanities	Total
		courses	courses	
	No	13	5	18
		72,2%	27,8%	100,0%
		6,8%	6,3%	6,6%
	Yes	179	74	253
		70,8%	29,2%	100,0%
		93,2%	93,7%	93,4%
Total		192	79	271
		70,8%	29,2%	100,0%
		100,0%	100,0%	100,0%

By observing the two tables above and performing Pearson Chi-square associations with continuity correction (*p*-value = 0.434 > 0.05 and *p*-value = 1.000 > 0.05, respectively) found that there are no differences of opinion by areas of knowledge.

We also performed an analysis in order to assess whether there were differences in the opinion of students according to their gender concluding that in both periods are predominant positive responses, regardless of gender. Finally, we find it of interest to assess whether age (group 1 - 18/19, and group 2 - 20 years or more) had influence on the opinion of students on the use of mobile devices to support learning. In both periods, we conclude that there are no significant differences with values obtained for the p-value exceeding 0.9, since the predominant "Yes" regardless of age group.

Among the mobile devices we were also assess, for the two periods, if there was an association between the frequency of use of each of the mobile devices (PDA, Laptop, Mobile Phone, Smartphone and Tablet) and the Course, using for this the association test Pearson chi-square (Table 3).

Noted that, regarding the PDA device, this was only assessed in 2009/10 because it was replaced with more modern technologies, such as the Tablet (only emerged for evaluating the period 2014/15).

Table 3. Values of the p-value for the crossing of the devices that are more used for the Course.

	Academic year	Academic year
	2009/10	2014/15
Laptop	0,043	0,000
Mobil phone	0,125	0,000
Smartphone	0,257	0,000
PDA	1,809	
Tablet		0,082

For the school year 2009/10, it is only significant association between the use of the Laptop and the course, this is because we find that although predominate positive responses to any course, from among negative responses, is very relevant the value obtained for the Law degree (21.2% of "No" against the 8.2% and 5.3% for other courses).

As for the most recent period, we highlight some findings of interest only to the intersections that revealed the existence of a significant association. In the course of Engineering, nearly all students use the Notebook (97%) and the Smartphone (87.9%) and only 26.3% use the Mobile Phone. In the Economics/Management course, Laptop and Smartphone are also the most used devices though a lesser extent (about 65%). Already in Law course, the most widely used device is the Laptop (81%), and the Mobile Phone and Smartphone used respectively by 57% and 55.7% of students.

Finally, comparing the evolution of the use of mobile devices in the two periods, the verified transition is evident, regardless of course, for the use of a technologically more advanced device. While the first period was more frequent Mobile Phone use, the most recent period, the Mobile Phone has been exceeded by the use of Smartphone (Fig. 1).


Fig. 1. (a) Evolution of the use of Mobile Phone in the three courses for both academic years and (b) Evolution of the use of Smartphone in the three courses for both academic years.

5.3 Mobile devices in supporting collaborative learning

Evaluating the answers to the question "*Do you consider come to use mobile devices in collaborative learning environments*?" (Q16) predominance of positive responses ("Yes") in any of the periods and whatever the course attended. However, while that for the school year 2009/10 we conclude that there is a statistically significant association (*p-value* = 0.040 < 0.05) between the course and the responses to question Q16, this situation no longer holds for the period 2014 / 15 (*p-value* = 0.307 > 0.05). The existence of an association in the period 2009/10, was due to the fact that the percentage of positive responses in the course of Law, though high, (69.7%) was significantly lower than those obtained for the Engineering (83.6%) and Economics/Management (90.2%) courses.

Then examined whether there are differences in the use, or not, of mobile devices in collaborative learning environments depending on the gender of the students. We conclude that, as to the question Q15 (analyzed above), are prevalent positive responses, regardless of gender, for both periods. Similarly, we evaluated also to this question (Q16), whether age influences the opinion of students. Once again, we find similar behavior to that obtained for the Q15 question, i.e., no significant differences in both periods (predominance of "Yes" to the two age groups).

So we think it would make sense to evaluate if the answers to both Q15 and Q16 questions were related or not (Table 4). By carefully observing the Table 4 and having regard to the values obtained for the respective p-value (*p*-value = 0.000 < 0.05 in both periods), we conclude that these two questions are related in the sense in that students most consider come to use mobile devices in learning are also the most likely to consider using these devices in the collaborative learning (the same kind of behavior is found for those who do not consider come to use).

		2009/10			2014/15		
		Q16			Q16		
		No	Yes	Total	No	Yes	Total
Q15	No	16	3	19	13	5	18

Table 4. Crossing of the questions Q15 and Q16 for both academic years.

84,2	15,8%	100%	72,2%	27,8%	100%
64	1% 2,4%	12,8%	52,%	2,0%	6,6%
Yes	9 121	130	12	241	253
6,9	9% 93,1%	100%	4,7%	95,3%	100%
36	5% 97,6%	87,2%	48%	98%	93,4%
Total	25 124	149	25%	246	271
16,8	3% 83,2%	100%	9,2%	90,8%	100%
100	0% 100%	100%	100%	100%	100,04%

6 Conclusions

Collaborative learning seems to be a learning innovation whose time has come. It will make a student actively engage in building their own knowledge. Basically, collaborative learning supported by mobile technology allows that on one hand the students have access and share materials and acquire skills that promote working in group and sharing ideas and knowledge.

In a collaborative learning environment there are a shift of learning approach, i.e. in a traditional approach the focus is on the teacher and in static and repetitive contents, oppositely with a collaborative learning the learn is centered in the students where they have a critical apprehension of contents that goes beyond the classroom, students could learning anywhere and anytime.

In order to understand the developments in the use of mobile devices in higher education in Portugal ((North region) a research was carried out in two separate academic years, separated by five years (2009/2010 and 2014/2015), in very heterogeneous courses (Law, Management/Economics and Engineering). As previously discussed the result clearly shows a high growth rate of the use of mobile technology and the collaborative learning supported by these technologies in higher education institutions in Portugal (North region) just like other countries already studied.

The goal of future work within the same target (higher education institutions in Portugal – North region) is to identify and analyze the introduction of mobile technologies and tools in the teaching/learning process and its advantages and disadvantages. Additionally, we will study how HEIs are promoting courses or course contents specifics for mobile learning.

Portugal - North region) is to identify and analyze the introduction of mobile

References

- 1. West, D. M. Going Mobile: How Wireless Technology is Reshaping Our Lives, Brookings Institution Press, N.W., Washington, D.C., 2015.
- Pachler, N., Bachmair, B. and Cook, J. Mobile Learning: Structures, Agency, Practices, Vol. 1 (2010). Springer, New York, Dordrecht, Heidelberg, London.
- Vinu, P.V., Sherimon, P.C., & Krishnan, R. Towards pervasive mobile learning the vision of 21st century. In Proceedings of the 3rd World Conference on Educational Sciences (2011). pp. 3067–3073. Istanbul, Turkey.

- 4. Lee, K. B. and Salman R. The Design and Development of Mobile Collaborative Learning Application Using Android, JITAE Vol.1 No. 1 (2012) pp.1-8.
- Pachler, N., Pimmer, C., & Seipold, J. Work-based mobile learning: concepts and cases. A handbook for evidence-based practice. (2011). Oxford, Bern, Berlin, Bruxelles, Frankfurt am Main, New York, Wien: Peter-Lang.
- DGEEC_E_DSEE. Perfil do Docente 2012/2013. In D.-G. d. E. d. E. e. C. (DGEEC) (Ed.), (2014). pp. 147. Lisboa: Direção-Geral de Estatísticas da Educação e Ciência (DGEEC).
- 7. GOOGLE. The Baldwin School Finds New Ways to Learn with Google's Nexus Tablets. (2013).
- Ferreira, M. J., Moreira, F., Pereira, C. S. & Durão, N. The role of mobile technologies in the teaching/learning process improvement in Portugal. The 8th annual International Conference of Education, Research and Innovation (ICERI 2015). Sevilha, Espanha, 17th to 18th November (2015). – accepted for publication.
- 9. Simonson, M., Smaldino, S., Albright, M., Zvacek, S., Teaching and Learning at a Distance. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, New Jersery, 2003.
- 10. Naismith, L., Lonsdale, P., Vavoula. G., Sharples. M., Literature review in mobile technologies and learning, Technical Report 11 (2004).
- Vavoula, G., McAndrew, P. Pedagogical Methodologies and Paradigms. A Study of Mobile Learning Practices. Mobilearn Project, 2009.
- 12. Jonassen, D., Learning with media Restructuring the debate. Educational Technology Research and Development 42(2) (1994), pp.31-39.
- Phillips, D., Soltis, J., Perspectives on learning. Teachers College Press New York, New York, 1998.
- 14. Lave, J., Situated Learning in Communities of Practice, in: L. Resnick, J. Levine and S. Teasley ed., Perspectives on Socially Shared Cognition, American Psychological Association, Washington, DC, 1991, pp. 63-82.
- 15.T. Koschmann, Paradigm shifts and instructional technology, in: CSCL: Theory and Practice of an EmergingParadigm, T. Koschmann, ed., Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Mahwah, New Jersey, 1998, pp. 1-23.
- 16. Krause, A., Smailagic, A., Siewiorek, D., Context-Aware Mobile Computing: Learning Context-Dependent Personal Preferences from a Wearable Sensor Array, IEEE Transactions on Mobile Computing 5(2) (2006), pp.113-127.
- Wenger, E. (2006). Communities of practice: a brief introduction. Institute for research on learning. http://wenger-trayner.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/01/06-Brief-introduction-tocommunities-of-practice.pdf.
- Dillenbourg P., Collaborative learning: cognitive and computational approaches. In Dillenbourg, P. ed. Pergamon, Elsevier Science, 1999.
- 19.Panitz, T. A definition of collaborative vs cooperative learning. http://www.lgu.ac.uk/deliberations/collab.learning/panitz2.html.
- 20.Harasim, L., Calvert, T. & Groeneber, C. Virtual-U: a Web-Based System to Support Collaborative Learning. In B. H. Khan (Ed.) Web-Based Instruction. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.:Educational Technology Publications. (1997).
- 21.Wiersema, N. How does Collaborative Learning actually work in a classroom and how do students react to it? A Brief Reflection. http://www.lgu.ac.uk/deliberations/collab.learning/wiersema.html.
- 22.Stahl, G., Koschmann, T., Suthiers, D. Computer-supported collaborative learning: An historical perspective. En Stahl, Gerry (Ed.): Global Introduction to CSCL Global Introduction to CSCL. (2010). <u>http://gerrystahl.net/</u>
- 23.Torres, P., Irala, E. Aprendizagem Colaborativa: Teoria e Prática. (2014). pp. 61-93. http://www.agrinho.com.br/site/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/2_03_Aprendizagemcolaborativa.pdf
- 24.Viteli, J. Finnish Future: From eLearning to mLearning? (2000). http://www.ascilite.org.au/conferences/coffs00/papers/jarmo_viteli.pdf.
- 25.Costa, G., Xavier, A. Aprendizagem formal, não-formal e informal com a tecnologia móvel: um processo rizomático. III Congresso Internacional das TIC na Educação. (2014). pp. 642-647.

- 26.O'Malley, C., Vavoula, G., Glew, J., Taylor, J., Sharples, M., and Lefrere, P., "WP4—guidelines for learning/teaching/tutoring in a mobile environment," MOBIlearn/UoN, UoB, OU, Tech. Rep.,2003.
- 27.Winters, N. What is mobile learning? In: SHARPLES, Mike. Big Issues in Mobile Learning. University of Nottinham, 2006.pp. 5-9.
- 28.Traxler, J. Introduction. In J. Traxler & J. Wishat (Eds.), Making mobile learning work: case estudies of practice. (2013). pp. 4-12. Bristol, UK: Escalate Education Subject Centre: advanced learning and teaching in education.
- Looi,C-K., Seaw, P., Zhang, B.,So,H-J.,Chen,W & Wong, L-H. Leveraging mobile technology for sustainable seamless learning: A research agenda. British Journal of Educational Technology, 2010, pp.154-169.
- 30.Unesco (2012). Policy guidelines for mobile learning. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0021/002196/219641e.pdf
- 31.Baran, E. A Review of Research on Mobile Learning in Teacher Education. Educational Technology & Society, 17 (4), 2014, pp.17–32.
- 32.Campenhoudt, L-V., Quivy, R. Manual de Investigação em Ciências Sociais, Gradiva Publicações, (2008). ISBN:9789726622758.

Calculation of sleep indicators in students using smartphones and wearables

Francisco de Arriba Pérez, Juan Manuel Santos Gago and Manuel Caeiro Rodríguez

Dpto. de Ingeniería Telemática, Universidad de Vigo Campus Lagoas-Marcosende 36310 Vigo, Galicia | Spain farriba@uvigo.es, Juan.Santos@det.uvigo.es, Manuel.Caeiro@det.uvigo.es

Abstract. Data produced by the use of mobile devices (smartphones and wearables) can be used to obtain patterns and indicators of user behavior. This paper focuses on obtaining sleep-related indicators to apply them in educational settings. Initially the most relevant indicators defined in the literature and available in existing mobile platforms are studied. Based on them, we propose new indicators that can be calculated automatically and transparently analyzing the data generated by mobile device sensors. The ultimate goal of these indicators is to facilitate the construction of software services (recommenders and detectors of risk situations) to improve the learning processes of students.

Keywords: learning analytics, sleep pattern, wearables, smartphones.

1 Introduction

Wearables are bound to the quantification of people's daily activities and vital signs. This trend can be primarily observed on sports fields, healthcare or lifestyles. The calories consumed or the exercise routines are indicators used to extract a first approximation of how healthy are the habits of a person.

In this article we focus on a new field of application of these techniques and technologies: education and learning. Scientific studies have shown the influence of biometric variables (activity level, stress level, exercise routines, sleep patterns, etc.) on health, academic achievement and student learning. These variables are useful indicators to predict the behavior of a student and identify potential problems in the course of their learning. However, the calculation of these variables usually requires active participation by the user. But, the popularization of mobile devices, opens new chances to collect data and calculate variables easily and automatically.

Among all the available features related to education and learning our piece of research is focused on sleep. In the literature the variables or indicators focusing on sleep have always had special importance. There are research projects that study the relationships between these variables and cognitive/learning processes indicators: relationship between student motivation and sleep in class [1]; the impact of sleep deprivation in performance [2]. Some pieces of research show in a positive correlation between sleep quality and academic performance [3]. Similarly, other works observe

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_17

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

a positive relationship between alterations of sleep rhythms and levels of care when working with high level of concentration, like the study of a subject [4; 5]. Nevertheless, other authors didn't find any correlation between sleep and academic performance [6].

The aim of this work is to identify indicators of sleep that can be calculated automatically and transparently to the user. The key idea is to take advantage of the features of wearables and smartphones related to autonomous operation and variety of available sensors. The results will be used to provide students information about their sleep habits (to estimate how well you slept, to warn of possible high degree of fatigue, to detect a pattern of rest, to assess their chronotype, etc.), and otherwise facilitate the construction of alert services and recommendation facilities (e.g. to present a plan of personalized study).

The paper is organized as follows. In the next section sleep indicators in the scientific literature are reviewed. Section 3 analyzes the sensors present in the most popular mobile devices and the possibility of calculating the indicators found in the specialized literature using data from their sensors. As long as the calculation of these indicators involves several issues, in Section 4 some new indicators are proposed. Finally, in Sections 5 and 6 some initial results and conclusions of this work are presented.

2 Sleep Indicators in the Scientific Literature

In the scientific literature various proposals for indicators of sleep and ways to measure them can be found. A priori there are two types of techniques for obtaining the values of indicators: i) subjective tests, where the person fills test questions based on their memories; and ii) objective tests: clinical test where an expert makes some tests in a specialized center, and then fills the test questions. The main advantage of the first technique is that it does not require many resources. Its main drawback is the lack of rigor in the answers.

Many pieces of research about the detection of sleep indicators can be found in the scientific literature. We focused on the most relevant ones taking into account its internal consistency, widespread recognition and use in clinical studies. From all of them, we have chosen the following ones:

- Sleep Quality Index (SQI) using test of Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) [7]. This test is a subjective questionnaire that assesses sleep quality and disturbances over a 1-month time interval. It consists in 19 questions and has a Cronbach alpha coefficient of 0.83, a sensitivity of 89.6% and a specificity of 86.5%. It makes a very good measurer. The variables used in this indicator are reflected in the Table 1.
- **Sleepiness test.** Different methods have been proposed to calculate this value, both subjective and objective:
 - Sleepiness scale of Epworth [8]. This test is an instrument used to measure average daytime sleepiness. It consists of 8 questions. It has a high Cronbach alpha coefficient in the range of 0.73 to 0.88.

• Multiple Sleep Latency Test (MSLT), Maintenance of Wakefulness Test (MWT) and OSLER test [9]. The MSLT is an objective test, the people is observed in a room for performing a number of micro-sleeps. The MWT and OSLER tests study the ability of the person to stay awake at a low stimulation. The common variables in all of them take into account the start and end of the sleep period and testing, and their REM periods.

Table 2 contains the variables used in these tests.

- Chronotype calculated using the questionnaire morningness-eveningness Horne and Östberg [10]. This test is a subjective questionnaire to determine morningness-eveningness in human circadian rhythms. It consists in 19 questions. It gets the time chosen by the user to sleep if shall enjoy complete freedom to choose it. In addition, the test also inquires about the periods in which the subject believes it has increased performance and welfare for detect his chronotype. The variables used in this test are presented in table 3.

We made a summary table 4 containing all the variables in a simplified form to facilitate the study of the variables in the tables 1, 2 and 3. Some purely perceptual variables are ignored, such as "Perceived sleep quality user" and the variables that correspond to the same measurements but in different contexts have been unified (for example "Fatigue level after awaking" or "fatigue watching TV", "fatigue sitting, after eating" and similar have been grouped into the fatigue variable). Also in this table is included the relation between the variables and the indicators.

	Variables				
1.	Bedtime	7.	Bad Breath	13.	Perceived sleep quality user
2.	Fall as sleep	8.	Snoring	14.	Drug ingestion
3.	Rise time	9.	Feel cold	15.	Somnolence developing a
4.	Real Sleep duration	10.	Feel hot		activity
5.	Awakes	11.	Nightmares	16.	Mood and energy developing a
6.	Awakes to the toilet	12.	Pains in the night		activity
				17.	Number of co-sleepers

Table 1. Variables in PSQI.

 Table 2.
 Variables in Sleepiness test.

	Epworth	Ν	ISLT/TMV/OSLER
1.	Fatigue watching TV	1.	Start test
2.	Fatigue in a public place	2.	Sleep start
3.	Fatigue as a passenger of a car in silence	3.	REM start
4.	Fatigue in a comfortable place	4.	End test
5.	Fatigue sitting, talking to another person		
6.	Fatigue sitting, after eating		
7.	Fatigue sitting in a car waiting for the traffic		

1	Variables		
1.	Rise time without obligations	11.	Time with maximum performance
2.	Bedtime without obligations	12.	Level of fatigue at 11 pm.
3.	Need alarm	13.	Sleeping in an abnormal time, when you
4.	Easy get up		awake
5.	Alert level after awaking	14.	Having guard between 4 and 6 am when
6.	Appetite level after awaking		sleep
7.	Fatigue level after awaking	15.	Time with high performance for physical
8.	Bedtime without liabilities		work
9.	Physical exercise between 7 and 8	16.	Physical exercise between 10 and 11 pm
	am	17.	Five hours with maximum performance
10.	Time when subject feel tired.	18.	Time of day with maximum comfort.
		19.	What perception has its own chronotype

Table 3. Variables in Chronotype.

Table 4. Variables in tests used to calculate scientific literature sleep indicators.

	Variables	SQI	ST	CT	Variables	SQI	ST	CT
1.	Bedtime	Х	Х	Х	11. Ambient temperature	Х		
2.	Rise time	Х		Х	12. Pain level	Х		
3.	Fall as sleep	Х			13. Nightmares detection	Х		
4.	Awakes	Х			14. Drug ingestion	Х		
5.	Phases of sleep	Х	Х		15. Alert level			Х
6.	Breathing per minute	Х			16. Appetite level			Х
7.	Blood Oxygenation	Х			 Physical exercise & Activity 			Х
8.	Snoring level	Х			18. Fatigue and concentration level	Х	Х	Х
9.	Noise level	Х			19. Comfort level			Х
10.	Body temperature	Х						

3 Smartphones and Wearables for Sleep Detection

This section analyzes the calculation of the scientific literature sleep indicators using data retrieved from mobile devices. Table 5 shows the available sensors in smartphones / wearables. This table is the result of the synthesis of data from various websites of manufacturers and known sources like www.gsmarena.com and vandrico.com/wearables. It is important to notice that each mobile device includes only a subset of these sensors, although it is increasingly common to find very complete smartphones and wearables. Some of the sensors, such as UV sensor, GSR sensor or brain also are now strange.

 Table 5. Sensors in smartphones/wearable.

Environmental sensors	Biometric sensors
GPS	Heart Rate (HR)
Accelerometer / pedometer	Respiration rate
Gyroscope	Saturation oxygen (SpO2)
Compass (magnetic sensor)	Galvanic Skin Response (GSR)
Light sensor	Body temperature sensor
Proximity sensor	Brain sensor
Pressure sensor / barometer	Fingerprint sensor
Temperature sensor	Gestures detector
Humidity sensor	
UV sensor	
Microphone	
Camera	

After an analysis of the variables identified in Table 4 and from data collected by the sensors available in mobile devices, we have compiled Table 6. This table shows the sensors that can be used to calculate the different variables.

Table 6. Sensors used to calculate the variables of sleep.

Variables	Indicator	Sensors
Bedtime/Rise time/Fall as	ICSP	Accelerometer
sleep/Awakes/Phases of sleep	Chronotype	
Breathing per minute/Blood Oxygenation	ICSP	Respiration rate/SpO2
Noise level/Snoring level	ICSP	Microphone
Body temperature/Ambient temperature	ICSP	Body-temp/
		Temperature/Humidity
		sensors
Physical exercise and Activity	Chronotype	Accelerometer/HR/SpO2/
		Respiration rate/GPS
Fatigue and concentration level/Comfort	ICSP	Accelerometer/Brain
level/Alert level	Chronotype	sensors/GPS/Respiration
		rate/SpO2/HR

Subsequently several conclusions are reached:

- 1. No solution was found to calculate 4 of 19 variables: pain level (12), nightmares detection (13), drugs ingestion (14) and appetite level (16).
- 2. To answer some of the questions used in the tests, it is necessary to know the context in which they occur. Table 7 shows how to get information about some of these contexts.
- 3. For the ICSP indicator we can approximate the response of a total of 14 questions, these questions correspond to variables 1-10 and 13-15 present in the table 1. Therefore, only 26% of the test has a subjective character.
- 4. The indicator of sleepiness both in objective and in subjective versions becomes too complicated to get through sensors. In the first case the importance of the moment of measurement is very high, for example data like "reading" or "co-pilot

is sitting" is very difficult to obtain. In the second case the objective tests have a rigorous execution order that the use of sensors could replace but not in an automatic way.

5. Replacing part of the questions raised in the Horne and Östberg test is also problematic. However, the use of sensors, such as a sensor Brain, would provide answers to 13 out of 19 questions, corresponding to the variables 1-3, 5, 7-10, 12-14, 16 and 18. Only 32 % of the questions could not be calculated.

Context	Indicator	Utilities / sensors needed
Obligations or scheduled tasks,	ICSP	Analysis of the user's calendar: it is
holidays, medicines a day	Chronotype	not an analysis extracted directly from
		a sensor, it is obtained from the app
		available in the vast majority of
		devices
Detection of the use of the alarm /	Chronotype	The analysis of mobile / wearable be
Number of postponed alarms		provided if there are any active alarm
		and whether it has postponed

Table 7. Device utilities used to calculate the variables of sleep.

In addition to the previous analysis, there are several applications on the Android and iOS markets for analyze sleep specifically. But We focus on wearables for its advantages in individually collect data and comfortable.

In wearables, we find companies as Fitbit, Microsoft Band, etc. They have applications to collect information through their quantify bands. They provide information on the start and end of sleep, number awakes, time to fall asleep, HR throughout the nigh, and efficiency sleep. All these applications get this information using the accelerometer sensor with actigraphy techniques [11]. These companies have a public API that allows access to the information clearly and automatically.

4 New Sleep Indicators for Education

The results shown in the previous section indicate that total and automatic collection of variables is difficult. At this point we decided to propose our own indicators. The goal is to support learning and education. A main requirement is that they have to be calculated from mobile and wearable sensors data, exclusively, without any active participation by the user. To do it, we try to combine variables of the questionnaires, with sensors and variables generated by sleep analyzer applications. Wrist wearables were selected in accordance to its comfort, profusion and growth potential in the coming years [12]. Sensors selected are: the accelerometer and the HR because they are the more common sensors in wearable devices of the major market actors: Google, Apple, Microsoft, Fitbit and Jawbone. The body temperature sensor is considered important to provide more exhaustive indicators, but currently it is not a common sensor and its use is optional.

4.1 Quality sleep

This indicator uses the 4 fields included in the PSQI. The goal is to provide an estimation of how well the student has slept. The variables are related to the time he has slept, time to fall asleep, the time of awakened, the number of hours actually asleep, the number of times it has awakened and the average body temperature.

The 4 fields are considered under specific sub-indicators. Each sub-indicator is calculated separately and related through constants of relevance. The level of disturbance is discriminated, because it has less data than those present in the PSQI sleep disturbance component. The result is a value between 0 and 100. From this indicator we can estimate patterns of sleep and generate alerts based on the calculated value. Message to the student: "You need to sleep more!"

- Sleep Latency. Time fall asleep.
 - Range: [t<60, 60-31, 30-16, 15>=t].
 - \circ Score [0, 1, 2, 3].
- Sleep duration. Time in bed.
 - Range: [h<5, 5-6.1, 6-7, 7<h].
 - Score: [0, 1, 2, 3].
- **Efficiency**. It is the relation between sleep time [light + relaxed] and sleep duration.
 - Range: [p<65%, 65%-74%, 75%-84%, 85%<=p]
 - Score: [0,1,2,3]
- **Disturbance level**. It relates the number of times the person has awakened and the average body temperature, if any of these parameters has no data the result will not be weighted by 2.
 - Number of awakes.
 - Range: [n>=3, 2, 1, 1>n]
 - Score: [0,1,2,3]
 - Average body temperature.
 - Range: [t<=30, 30-33, 33-35, 35-36, 36-37, 37-37.5, 37.5<t]</p>
 - Score: [0,1,2,3,2,1,0]

$$QS = 100^{*} \frac{(\frac{3}{10}*LS + \frac{3}{10}*TD + \frac{3}{10}*Ef + \frac{1}{10}*\frac{DL}{2})}{3}$$
(1)

4.2 Sleepiness level

This indicator tries to warn the student of a possible state of drowsiness, relaxation and sleep, during hours of study. The accelerometer is used as a pedometer to detect if the user is moving or still in class. If he is moving the value of sleepiness is 0. Otherwise we use the HR (mean values at an interval of 20 seconds) to compare with the average of the HR_minimum detected along the last 15 days overnight. This value corresponds to circumstances of maximum relaxation and comfort. If HR is in a certain threshold the accelerometer is used to know the level of restlessness while sitting. If the person is not walking the HR is checked in the following way:

$$HR \le HR_min_avg \to S = 1 \tag{2}$$

 $HR_min_avg < HR \le 1.2^* HR_min_avg \rightarrow S = 1 \cdot (\frac{HR}{HR_min_avg} \cdot 1)/0.2 \qquad (3)$

$$HR > 1.2^* HR_min_avg \rightarrow S = 0 \tag{4}$$

If the percentage is higher than 0.80, the algorithm checks the accelerometer. If module values of the accelerometer in the last two minutes are less than 0.5, an sleepiness alert will be triggered during this period. Message to the student: "Wake up: You are getting sleep! You may need a break."

4.3 Basic chronotype

This indicator seeks to identify the student chronotype. This can be used to propose an individualized study plan during exams, for example. The hours he has slept/raised taking into account differences between instructional/holidays days and the need to use the alarm clock will be used by the algorithm. The analysis needs at least a month of samples and the result corresponds to the estimated student chronotype. We used part of the questions and ranges in the tests morningness-eveningness. We have proposed a numerical range on questions such as the "needs clock to weak up". The total score is used to get the type of chronotype in Table 8.

Table 8.	Score and	rank equival	ent to chronotype.
----------	-----------	--------------	--------------------

Score	Туре	Start Sleep	End Sleep
0-4	Definitely evening	02:00-03:00	10:00-11:30
4-16	Moderately evening	00:45-02:00	08:30-10:00
8-12	Neither	22:00-00:45	06:30-08:30
12-16	Moderately morning	21:30-22:45	05:00-06:30

- If the user has needed the alarm clock to weak up during the teaching period.
 - o Range: [0%-30%, 31%-50%, 51%-80%, 81%-100%]
 - Scores: [4, 3, 2, 1]
- Difference between the regular time and bedtime on school days.
 - Range: [0-30 min, 31 min-1 hour, 1hour-2hours, 2 hours or more].
 - Scores: [4, 3, 2, 1]
- When the student gets up if he has slept several hours later than usual?
 - Range: [At the same time and he doesn't sleep more, at the same time and he takes a nap, at the same time and he goes back to sleep, two hours later than usual].
 - \circ Scores: [4, 3, 2, 1]
- The student goes to bed later than 6 a.m., what happened?
 - Range: [He sleeps after 6, he takes a nap before and sleep after 6, he sleeps before 6 and takes a nap after, he only sleep before 6].
 - Scores: [1,2,3,4]

5 Preliminary Results and Applications in E-learning

In this section we present the results of our new sleep quality indicator confronting it to Microsoft and Fitbit indicators. We have studied two subjects, one with an irregular profile of sleep and another with a more regular profile, but with abnormal periods.

Fig. 1 shows the efficiency sleep provided by Fitbit (straight line without raises) and our proposed indicator (line with raises and descents) occurs. The result has been generated through an inconstant user in her sleep routines involving days with few hours of rest. Our indicator reflects this behavior, while the indicator provided directly by the device is practically a straight line.

Fig. 2 shows sleep indicator provided by Microsoft. As in Fitbit, he takes very high and very similar values. Our indicator has small descents how result of anomalies in short periods of time. The data used corresponds to a user with a constant pattern but with small anomalies in his number of awakes and his sleep duration on specific days. We can use our indicator to detect values under the average level, and detect for this reason his anomalies in his pattern sleep.

In conclusion and in the absence of more time to validate the indicators, we can say that the results reflect the benefits of our indicator. It provides values more consistent with changes in sleep patterns of both subjects, revealing that the relationship between real sleep and total sleep hours used directly for this wearables is not sufficient.



Fig. 2. Comparison chart between Microsoft indicator and indicator proposed.

6 Conclusions

The use of mobile devices to provide sleep indicators is viable to a long extend. The mobile devices usually include some types of sleep indicators, but these solutions are not enough rigorous to support students in educational contexts, for this reason we present in this article news indicators 100% calculated with mobile devices. They can be used to prevent restlessness of students and improve their performance and motivation. You can use the similarity between variables to detect specific sleep patterns and anomalies, inform students of their level of sleepiness in class and use the chronotype to create working groups with similar profiles (to match a high

percentage of hours) or opposite profiles (to work individually and in groups according to the time zone). This project is in the initial stage of implementation and therefore further experiments in test environments will complete this study, but this was postponed for future analysis.

7 Acknowledgment

Work supported by the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) and the Galician Regional Government under agreement for funding the Atlantic Research Center for Information and Communication Technologies (AtlantTIC).

References

- Horzum, M. B. c., Önder, İ, Be csoluk, c.: Chronotype and Academic Achievement among Online Learning Students. Learning and Individual Differences, 30 (2014) 106–111
- Belenky, G., Wesensten, N. J., Thorne, D. R. et al.: Patterns of Performance Degradation and Restoration during Sleep Restriction and Subsequent Recovery: A Sleep Dose-Response Study. Journal of sleep research, 12 1--12 (2003)
- Curcio, G., Ferrara, M., De Gennaro, L.: Sleep Loss, Learning Capacity and Academic Performance. Sleep medicine reviews, 10 323--337 (2006)
- 4. Johnston, S. L.: Societal and Workplace Consequences of Insomnia, Sleepiness, and Fatigue. Medscape Neurology & Neurosurgery, (2005)
- Lockley, S. W., Cronin, J. W., Evans, E. E. et al.: Effect of Reducing Interns' Weekly Work Hours on Sleep and Attentional Failures. New England Journal of Medicine, 351 1829--1837 (2004)
- Yang, C., Kim, J. K., Patel, S. R. et al.: Age-Related Changes in Sleep/Wake Patterns among Korean Teenagers. Pediatrics, 115 250--256 (2005)
- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F., Monk, T. H. et al.: The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: A New Instrument for Psychiatric Practice and Research. Psychiatry research, 28 193--213 (1989)
- Johns, M. W., & others: A New Method for Measuring Daytime Sleepiness: The Epworth Sleepiness Scale. sleep, 14 540--545 (1991)
- Bernal, C. C., Armengol, Á S., Ramírez, J. D. A. et al.: Artículo Especial. Rev Esp Patol Torac, 24 214--254 (2012)
- Horne, J. A., & Ostberg, O.: A Self-Assessment Questionnaire to Determine Morningness-Eveningness in Human Circadian Rhythms. International journal of chronobiology, 4 97--1 10 (1975)
- 11. Standards of Practice Committee of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine, & others: Practice Parameters for the Role of Actigraphy in the Study of Sleep and Circadian Rhythms: An Update for 2002. Sleep, 26 337--341 (2003)
- 12. Richter, F.: The Predicted Wearables Boom is all about the Wrist | Statista. (2015)

Design of a Programming Paradigms Course Using One Single Programming Language

Francisco Ortin, Jose Manuel Redondo and Jose Ouiroga

University of Oviedo, Computer Science Department, C/ Calvo Sotelo s/n, 33007, Oviedo, Spain {ortin, redondojose, quirogajose}@uniovi.es

Abstract. Undergraduate students of a Software Engineering degree must be able to select the appropriate paradigm to solve a problem. They must also be able to know the foundations of concurrent and parallel programming. In the Software Engineering degree taught in the University of Oviedo, both competencies were assigned to the Programming Technology and Paradigms course. In this article, we present the approach we followed in the design of that course to teach object-oriented, functional, concurrent and parallel programming to second year undergraduate students with basic knowledge of Java. Due to the time limitations of the course, the proposed design uses one single programming language besides Java. We describe the most important challenges we faced and how we addressed them.

Keywords: Programming paradigms, functional programming, concurrency, parallelism, object orientation, meta-programming, C#

1 Context

In the Software Engineering undergraduate degree taught at the University of Oviedo, an *objects-first* approach [1] is followed to teach programming in the introductory courses. We use the BlueJ environment in the first programming course, following the object-oriented approach proposed by Barnes and Kölling [2]. In that course, the students learn the basic object-oriented abstractions (classes, objects, methods, fields and built-in types). In the second semester, the Eclipse IDE is used to develop Java applications. That second programming course introduces the concepts of inheritance, polymorphism, dynamic binding, abstract classes, interfaces and exceptions.

A defining factor for many programming courses is the choice of a programming paradigm. Indeed, half of the six introductory course models identified in the ACM/IEEE computer science curricula explicitly refer to a specific paradigm: objects-first, functional-first and imperative-first [1]. The degree mentioned includes a mandatory course, Programming Technology and Paradigms, taught in the second semester of the second year. In this course, two main competencies must be obtained: analyze, design, build and maintain software applications choosing the right paradigm abstractions; and know the basis of concurrent and parallel programming.

There is no other course that introduces a programming paradigm different to object-orientation. Besides, this is the only programming course where parallelism

- Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,
- DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_18

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

and concurrency are taught. The course is imparted in the second semester of the second year, with weekly sessions of theory (2 hours) and laboratory classes (2 hours): 6 ECTS credits. This is a new course in the degree; it is not an adaptation of a previous one.

This paper presents the design of a programming course to teach the functional and object-oriented paradigms, concurrent a parallel programming, and advanced programming features such as meta-programming. One of the main challenges was the selection of a single programming language, since the utilization of various languages seemed to be infeasible in the context of the course. Other issues were the definition of the course contents (Section 2), choosing a programming language (Section 3), teaching different paradigms (Sections 4 and 5) and technologies (Sections 6 y 7). Related work is discussed in Section 8 and Section 9 presents the conclusions.

2 Course Contents

These are the course contents and a brief description of each unit:

- 1. Programming paradigms. The main programming paradigms are described. The students must be able to identify the main abstraction provided by each paradigm, and its suitability for the nature of a programming problem.
- 2. The object-oriented paradigm. This unit covers advanced elements of the objectoriented paradigm (e.g., generics, design by contract and type inference) not taught in previous courses (Section 4). This unit is also aimed at clarifying the different elements provided by most object-oriented languages (inheritance, polymorphism, dynamic binding, encapsulation, information hiding...)
- 3. The functional paradigm. Students must be able to design and implement applications in this paradigm, using the suitable elements provided by the programming language (Section 5). At the same time, he/she must be able to compare the functional approach with the object-oriented one.
- 4. Concurrent and parallel programming. Students must be able to know and apply the basic techniques of concurrent and parallel programming (Section 6).
- 5. Meta-programming and dynamic typing. Dynamically typed programming languages have influenced the development of software in the last years [3]. Therefore, this last unit identifies and discusses the distinguishing features provided by these languages (Section 7).

3 Choosing a Programming Language

One important decision in the design of a programming course is the selection of a programming language [1]. In this case, the language must provide object-oriented and functional abstractions, concurrent and parallel programming, dynamic typing and significant meta-programming features.

Since the introductory courses use the Java programming language, we first evaluated its utilization in our course. However, Java has some limitations in the way generics are implemented [4]. Its type erasure approach [5] involves some well-known limitations such as not allowing the instantiation of and cast to generic types, the creation of arrays of generic types, overloading methods with generic parameters or the usage of built-in types as generic ones.

Regarding the new functional features added to Java 8, there are some other lacks that prevented us to use it as the main language for this subject. The most important one is that Java 8 does not provide functions (or methods) as first-class entities; instead it provides an automatic conversion of methods to "Functional" interfaces [6]. Java 8 does not provide continuations, lazy evaluation, pattern matching and comprehension lists either.

Another alternative is the use of a functional programming language such as Haskell, ML or Erlang. This approach is ideal for teaching functional programming but it does not cover the advanced features of object-orientation and, with the exception of Erlang, concurrency and dynamic typing. We also considered the approach of using different programming languages, depending on the unit being taught [7]. However, teaching more than one programming language in a 6 ECTS credit course for second year students might be infeasible. For this reason, we discarded this alternative.

We finally chose the C# programming language for the following reasons:

- Object-orientation. C# was created as an object-oriented language with advanced features (Section 4); later it included functional features.
- Functional. C# 3.0 provides functions as first-class entities, lambda expressions, closures, a form of continuations and comprehension lists (Section 5).
- Concurrency and parallelism. Multi-threaded applications can be created with asynchronous message passing and explicit thread creation. Data and task parallelization is supported by TPL (Task Parallel Library) and PLINQ (Parallel Language Integrated Query) (Section 6).
- Dynamic typing, included in C# 4.0 with the dynamic type (Section 7).
- Meta-programming features, including introspection, structural intercession and dynamic code evaluation (Section 7).
- Standardization in the ECMA [8] and ISO [9] organizations, and implementations for Windows, Mac and Linux operating systems.
- Widely used in both professional and academic contexts, being in the fourth position of the Tiobe language popularity ranking (September 2015) [10].
- Its syntax is similar to Java, shortening the learning curve of Java students.

Even though C# was the selected language to teach the course, we keep comparing it with Java every time a feature is explained. Therefore, the students learn the new features added to Java8 and strengthen their previous knowledge of this language.

4 Object-Oriented Paradigm

First, this unit strengthens the capability of selecting the basic elements provided by the object-oriented paradigm: encapsulation, information hiding, inheritance, polymorphism, abstract classes and interfaces. Additionally, new concepts are introduced, such as operator overloading, multiple inheritance, design by contract, generic methods and classes, bounded generics, annotations and type inference.

In the four first laboratory classes, the students must solve programming problems using the object-oriented features of C#, with the Visual Studio IDE. Special emphasis is placed on those C# features different to Java: properties, destructors, partial classes, utility classes, structs, pass by reference, optional and named arguments, implicitly typed local variables, extension methods and nullable types.

5 Functional Paradigm

C# allows us to teach the foundations of functional programming, using a syntax similar to Java –and, thus, known by the students. The success of programming languages that combine the object-oriented and functional paradigms (e.g., Python, Scala and C#) has influenced the design of Java, which includes lambda expressions in its version 8 (JSR 335) [11].

Table 1 shows the correspondence between the main elements of the functional paradigm and the C# features. C# provides *delegates* as types to represent methods and functions (static methods). It also provides predefined function types (Func, Action and Predicate) to facilitate the development of higher-order functions. C# also provides lambda expressions that promote to function types. When teaching how C# represents methods, we compare it with Java 8, that uses "functional" interfaces to represent methods and adds the new :: operator.

Functional Paradigm	Representation in C#
Functions as first-class entities	Delegates
Higher-order functions	Higher-order functions
Lambda expressions	Lambda expressions
Closures	Closures (functions with references to variables outside their scope)
Currying	Functions must be explicitly curried; operators are not curried
Partial application	Of curried functions (not operators)
Continuations	With the yield reserved word (generators)
Lazy evaluation	Does not provide a lazy argument passing mechanism, but yield can be used to return collections that are lazily evaluated (generators)
Pattern matching	Not supported
Comprehension lists	LINQ (Language Integrated Query)

Table 1. Correspondence between the main elements of the functional paradigm and C#.

When lambda expressions refer to variables outside their scope, the environment is also stored in the function, making up closures. The main difference between C# and Java is that variables in the store are mutable in the former and immutable in the latter.

Neither methods nor operators provide implicit currying. However, methods can be explicitly curried by implementing them as methods that return other methods. Every explicitly curried method can be partially applied. C# provides the yield keyword to support generators: collections that are evaluated lazily. C# does not provide pattern matching. Comprehension lists are provided with a specific sugared syntax defined for LINQ.

A typical exercise in functional programming is the development of a Map higherorder function. Figure 1 shows one possible implementation in C#. Map is a generic extension method that is added to any collection in the .NET framework: IEnumerable. That interface is part of the API; extension methods allow adding method to existing classes without modifying their source code. Map receives another function as a parameter (func), which is applied to all the elements in the collection. Since the return statement uses the yield keyword, the collection returned is evaluated lazily. Each time an element of the collection is used, the execution of the Map function is restored from the previous yield. Therefore, the function returns only those elements in the collection that are actually used.

The Magnitude method computes the modulus of a vector $(\sqrt{x_1^2 + x_2^2 + \dots + x_n^2})$ using the widely known Map and Reduce (Aggregate in .NET) functions [12]. The parameters are two lambda expressions: the first one computes the square of each vector coordinate; the second one sums all the values in the collection. Notice that C# infers the types of the parameters in both lambda expressions.

Fig. 1. A Map higher-order function used to compute the magnitude of a vector.

As shown in Table 1, the main limitation of C# is that it does not provide pattern matching. We use F# (the .NET implementation of ML) to discuss this feature. Once the students understand the functionality of pattern matching, we describe an exercise to provide a similar functionality in C#, using polymorphism, dynamic binding and higher-order functions, following the Functional C# approach [13].

6 Concurrency and Parallelism

In the Software Engineering degree mentioned, there is not a specific course on concurrency and polymorphism. The degree follows a crosscutting approach to teach these topics in different courses [14]. The present course is the first that teaches the basic concepts and programming elements. Then, an Operating Systems course describes concurrency and parallelism topics from the operating system point of view. Algorithms is another course that requires the understanding of basic concurrent

programming. Finally, a Distributed Systems course applies these topics to the development of distributed applications.

The proposed course first introduces the basic concepts of process, thread, concurrency and parallelism. Then, concurrent applications are developed using the C# asynchronous message passing and explicit thread creation mechanisms [15]. One of the programming exercises is the concurrent computation of vector magnitudes. The number of threads is gradually incremented, and each configuration is executed with one to four cores. Execution time is measured and represented in a graph similar to Figure 2, displaying the execution times for different threads in a 4-core CPU.

The obtained data is used for different purposes. First, it clearly shows the benefits of parallelism, and its dependency on the number of cores. Then, the cost of context switching is discussed; analyzing that execution time with 43 or more thread is higher than with fewer threads. Finally, the thread pooling mechanism implemented by the .NET framework is also explained.



Fig. 2. Execution time of the concurrent computation of vector magnitudes, incrementing the number of threads in a 4-core CPU.

Then, we teach task synchronization mechanisms, race conditions and how to avoid them with mutual exclusion. The problem of detecting and avoiding deadlocks is also discussed. These concepts are explained with an imperative object-oriented approach.

We also discuss the benefits of functional programming –referential transparency, particularly– for algorithm parallelization [12]. The absence of side effects makes parallelization easier. This fact is first shown with the use of TPL, which provides data, task and pipeline parallelization using the functional paradigm. We also use the PLINQ library to show how the functional paradigm can provide a high-level declarative power to parallelize data processing.

Figure 3 shows an example use of PLINQ to parallelize the computation of vector magnitudes. The Select and Aggregate methods are the .NET versions of the classical map and reduce functions [12]. The AsParallel method analyzes the number of cores of the current CPU and the LINQ query to declaratively parallelize its execution. If it is not safe to parallelize the query, PLINQ just runs it sequentially.

Design of a Programming Paradigms Course Using ...

Fig. 3. Parallel computation of vector magnitudes with PLINQ.

We measure the runtime performance benefit of the parallel version compared to the sequential one. A discussion is established, concluding that the operations performed in parallel require very little CPU time. Afterwards, the code in the lambda expressions is modified to perform more CPU-intensive operations. The performance benefit of the parallelization is increased, as stated in the Amdahl's law –which is then introduced to the students [16].

Throughout this unit, we introduce the Java syntax of those C# features that are also provided by Java. Particularly, we explain how to create, run and synchronize threads, and the fork / join framework [17].

7 Meta-Programming and Dynamic Typing

In the last unit, we describe the meta-programming features provided by most dynamic languages that allow the development of runtime adaptable programs [18]. Different discussions about the differences between statically- and dynamically-typed languages are established.

C# 4.0 includes a new dynamic type to postpone type checks until runtime. Therefore, C# provides both static and dynamic typing, facilitating the comparison of both approaches with the very same programming language [29]. The dynamic type is first used to explain *duck* typing [14] and multiple dispatch (multi-methods) [20].

The different levels of reflection are defined [21], showing C# examples about introspection, structural intercession and limited behavioral reflection [22] with DynamicMetaObject. Figure 4 shows how fields (Name, Surname and Birthday) and methods (GetAge) can be added at runtime to an ExpandoObject, using the limited intercession services provided by C#. The example also shows how the dynamic type provides duck typing, avoiding the need to use introspection.

In this unit, we also introduce attributes (annotations in Java) and how the programmer can create his/her own custom attributes. Then, using introspection, another program analyzes the attributes of an existing assembly (or itself). As an example, we develop a simple testing framework that inspects a library and executes all the methods annotated with the Test attribute. After execution, the number of failed and succeeded asserts are shown.

Finally, dynamic code evaluation is discussed. This is another important feature used for meta-programming. We use the CodeDOM library to dynamically generate and evaluate C# code [23]. Figure 5 shows an application asking for the body of a function receiving a double x parameter. The user can write any C# code to express the function body. Then, the program generates a new function with the body provided by the user, invokes that function with the values specified in the From, To

and Increment text boxes, and displays the returned values (right window in Figure 5).

Fig. 4. Structural intercession in C#.



Fig. 5. Dynamic code evaluation.

8 Related Work

There exist different computer science courses aimed at introducing the main programming paradigms. The Programming Paradigms course of Stanford University is one example [7]. This course is available online and, at present, there have been more than 29,000 students enrolled. The contents include an introduction to programming paradigms, the imperative, object-oriented and functional paradigms, concurrent programming, and advanced memory management features. The programming languages used in this course are assembly, C, C++, Scheme and Python.

Another example course is the Paradigms of Computer Programming course by the Université Catolique de Louvain (UCL) [24]. That course covers functional, objectoriented and declarative dataflow programming. They use the Mozart system that implements the Oz programming language [25]. Java is also used to teach the objectoriented paradigm.

The online C# Programming Paradigms course taught by Scott Allen [26] uses C# to introduce a variety of programming styles. It includes object-oriented, imperative

and functional programming. Differences between statically and dynamically typed programming are also covered. Language Integrated Query is another topic of this course.

The Programming Paradigms course of the Chalmers University of Technology (Sweden) describes the main programming paradigms [27]. The course covers imperative, object-oriented, functional, concurrent and logic programming. Different programming languages are used, including C (imperative), C++ (object-oriented), Haskell (functional), Erlang (concurrent) and Curry (logic).

9 Conclusions

Teaching the object-oriented and functional paradigms, plus concurrent and parallel programming in a second-year 6 ECTS course of a Software Engineering undergraduate degree is an important challenge. Due to the important time limitations (28 hours of theoretical classes, plus 28 laboratory hours), we decided to choose one single programming language. After a thorough analysis, we finally selected C#. We taught advanced features of the object-oriented paradigm, common elements of the functional paradigm, foundations of concurrent and parallel programming, and the main distinguishing features of dynamic languages. Throughout the course, the Java features similar to C# were introduced to the students, extending and strengthening their previous knowledge of the Java programming language.

Acknowledgments. This work has been funded by the European Union, through the European Regional Development Funds (ERDF); and the Principality of Asturias, through its Science, Technology and Innovation Plan (grant GRUPIN14-100).

References

- 1. ACM/IEEE-CS: Computer science curricula 2013: Curriculum Guidelines for Undergraduate Degree Programs in Computer Science (2013)
- 2. Barnes, D.J., Kölling, M.: Objects First with Java, a Practical Introduction using BlueJ. Prentice Hall (2012)
- Ortin, F., Labrador, M., Redondo, J.M.: A hybrid class- and prototype-based object model to support language-neutral structural intercession. Information and Software Technology 56(2), pp. 199-219 (2014)
- 4. Oracle. Restrictions on Java generics, https://docs.oracle.com/javase/tutorial/java/generics/restrictions.html (2015)
- Bracha, G., Odersky, M., Stoutamire, D., Wadler, P. Making the future safe for the past: adding genericity to the Java programming language. In: ACM SIGPLAN conference on object-oriented programming, systems, languages, and applications (OOPSLA), pp. 183-200. Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada (1998).
- 6. Warburton, R: Java 8 Lambdas: Pragmatic Functional Programming. O'Reilly Media (2014).
- 7. CS107: Programming Paradigms course, Stanford University, https://www.udemy.com/draft/2462 (2015)

- ECMA-334, C# Language Specification, http://www.ecma-international.org/publications/standards/Ecma-334.htm (2015)
- ISO/IEC 23270, Information Technology, Programming Languages, C#, http://www.iso.org/iso/home/store/catalogue_ics/catalogue_detail_ics.htm?csnumber=42926 (2015)
- 10. Tiobe index for September 2015,
- http://www.tiobe.com/index.php/content/paperinfo/tpci/index.html (2015)
- 11. Goetz, B.: JSR 335: Lambda Expressions for the Java Programming Language, https://jcp.org/en/jsr/detail?id=335 (2015)
- Dean, J., Ghemawat, S.: MapReduce: Simplified data processing on large clusters. In: Operating Systems Design and Implementation, pp. 137–149. San Francisco, California (2004)
- 13. λ#, Functional C#, http://functionalcsharp.codeplex.com (2015)
- 14. Almeida, F., Giménez, D., Mantas, J.M., Vidal, A.M.: Sobre el papel de la programación paralela en los nuevos planes de estudios de informática. In: Jornadas sobre la Enseñanza Universitaria de la Informática, pp. 99-106. Barcelona, Spain (2009)
- 15. Albahari, J: Threading in C#. O'Reilly Media (2011)
- 16. Amdahl, G.M.: Validity of single-processor approach to achieving large-scale computing capability. In: AFIPS, pp. 483–485, Reston, Virginia (1967)
- Lea, D. A Java fork / join framework. In: ACM Conference on Java Grande (Java), pp. 36-43. San Francisco, California (2000).
- 18. Ortin, F., Mendez, S., Garcia-Diaz, V., Garcia, M.: On the suitability of dynamic languages for hot-reprogramming a robotics framework: a Python case study. Software: Practice and Experience 44(1), pp. 77-104 (2014)
- 19. Bierman, G.M., Meijer, E., Torgersen, M. Adding Dynamic Types to C#. European conference on object-oriented programming (ECOOP), pp. 76-100. Maribor, Slovenia (2010).
- Ortin, F., Quiroga, J., Redondo, J.M., Garcia, M.: Attaining Multiple Dispatch in Widespread Object-Oriented Languages. Dyna 186, pp. 242-250 (2014)
- Ortin, F., Diez, D. Designing an adaptable heterogeneous abstract machine by means of reflection. Information and Software Technology 47(2), pp. 81-94 (2005)
- 22. Ortin, F., Cueva, J.M. Implementing a real computational-environment jump in order to develop a runtime-adaptable reflective platform. ACM SIGPLAN Notices 37(8), pp. 35-44 (2002).
- 23. CodeDOM reference, https://msdn.microsoft.com/library/f1dfsbhc(v=vs.100).aspx (2015)
- 24. Van Roy, P. Paradigms of Computer Programming, Université Catolique de Louvain https://www.edx.org/course/paradigms-computer-programming-louvainx-louv1-1x-0 (2015).
- 25. Mozart Consortium. The Mozart Programming System. http://mozart.github.io (2015)
- 26. Allen, S. C# Programming Paradigms Course. PluralSight. https://www.pluralsight.com/courses/csharp-fundamentals-2 (2015)
- Bernardy, J.P. Programming Paradigms. Chalmers University of Technology, Göteborg, Sweden. http://www.cse.chalmers.se/~bernardy/pp/ (2015)

Data Mining in Academic Databases to Detect Behaviors of Students Related to School Dropout and Disapproval

José Antônio da Cunha¹, Elionai Moura¹ and Cesar Analide²

¹Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia do Rio Grande do Norte (IFRN) Rua Dr. Nilo Bezerra Ramalho, 1692. 59015-300 Natal, RN, Brasil {jose.cunha, elionai.moura}@ifrn.edu.br ²Universidade do Minho. Departamento de Informática Braga, Portugal analide@di.uminho.pt

Abstratct. This work focuses on data mining in relational databases, aiming to detect behaviors related to school dropouts and disapproval by mapping the factors that influence this dropout. This work is relevant by the fact that the dropout and school disapproval are big factors of concern to all who care about education in Brasil. At the end of it, we intend to point out the need to implement solutions that enable access to results dynamically, thus allowing educators can early diagnose the causes of school dropout and disapproval, and allow for relevant pedagogical actions. This way, we intend to reduce the school dropout and school disapproval, towards a more efficient teaching and learning process at brazilian federal education institution named Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia do Rio Grande do Norte - IFRN.

Keywords: School Dropout, School Disapproval, Educational Data Mining, Machine Learning, Teaching and Learning.

1 Introduction

The problem of dropout and school failure in federal institutions has generated some challenges to overcome. The high incidence related to these factors, it has been lived in the practical experience of all educators that make education in these institutions. It is known in advance that school dropout and school disapproval are associated with factors such: areas of knowledge of students, educational levels and specific methodologies of teaching and learning. Therefore, it is intended in this work, apply data mining techniques in the academic data base in order to map the factors that are associated with dropout and school failure.

The data spectrum used for evaluation or analysis was not restricted to the academic system database, but also the survey forms applied at the institute, filled in by students and teachers at the end of each school year. This fact allows for a more comprehensive analysis because it involves multidisciplinary teams, with important additional aspects, such as the knowledge acquired by the teaching staff with the interactions with students and their parents, and knowledge acquired by teachers through the school activities with students.

In the context from multidisciplinarity, the information acquired, can represent both an element of support in the teaching-learning process as well as provide sources of information for the continuous monitoring of results obtained by data mining, both by the system specialist, as by the application domain experts. Furthermore, this information can be very important in building models that can be the basis for actions to be taken by the teaching staff and education managers in order to avoid or reduce dropout and school failure.

This work has been supported by FCT – Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Project Scope UID/CEC/00319/2013. This paper aims to map factors that may be associated with dropout and school failure through machine learning techniques and data mining, with the purpose, allowing proactive actions to stimulate the students, aiming the continuity of students in their respective courses, and thus it can mitigate the risks related to dropout and school failure.

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_19 189

2 School Dropout and Disapproval

The problem of school dropouts in Brazil is not a recent problem, but rather a repeat offender. It is one, of the factors, that concerns educators and public policy makers in our country. According to the Ministry of Education (MEC), school dropouts reaches 6.9% in primary and 10% in high school (3.2 million children and young people, according to data of 2005). There are over 2.9 million students [14] who leave school a year and return the next, thickening other disturbing content: the level-age distortion.

According to [11] [6], school dropout is what happens when a student fails to attend school and is characterized early school leaving, and is historically one of the topics that is part of the debates and analyzes of public education. Several factors can lead to school dropout. Among them, teaching-learning misapplied by inadequate methodologies, ill-prepared teachers, social problems, neglect by the government, and so on.

Historically, one of the first works to systematize the dropout of the problem in Brazil was conducted from a national commission established by Ministry of Education (MEC). The Special Commission for the Study of Dropout in Brazilian universities came within an institutional assessment thread context, defined by indicators of the Institutional Evaluation Program of Brazilian Universities (PAIUB), directed by different educational institutions, specifically the public [14].

Studies prior to this, particularly in the second half of the 80s, emphasized only statistical surveys and case studies in a fragmented way, carried out by the Ministry of Education initiative and public universities. However, these studies did not develop the problem in order to create institutional policies, estimates, administrative and pedagogical actions, that is, side dishes needed to minimize the results [14]. This initiative was a first joint effort of different public higher education institutions (HEI) to systematically organizing a study that defined a single methodology in order to identify causes and possible solutions to the problem. The ultimate goals of this committee was to clarify the concept of avoidance, examine the rates and causes of this phenomenon and standardize a methodology to be employed by the institutions.

The development of the Commission's activities grasps also that, the predominant causes of dropout were with three rows. The 1st related to students, the 2nd related to courses and institutions and the 3rd, the more conjunctural order, called "socio-cultural and economic variables". This last is related to the labor market, social recognition of the chosen career, the quality of primary and secondary education, socio-economic context and government policies. [14]

In studies of the Special Commission for the Study of Dropout [18], we also find research on the performance of European universities and North American in a time series from 1960 to 1986. In this research, the best university system yields was found in Finland, Germany, Netherlands and Switzerland while the worst results occur in the United States, Austria, France and Spain. According to research, the United States dropout rates in the last 30 years are around 50%. A similar number is in France where rates in 1980 were 60 to 70% in some universities. In Austria, in turn, points to a 43% dropout rate, with only 13% of students complete their courses within the time limit [14].

2.1. School Disapproval at the Federal Institutions Network

The term failed means censored, criticized, condemned, as the word failure means disdain, criticism, contempt. Now the meanings of expressions already reveal by themselves the implications. However, a trivial excuse to justify the act of reproving is that the student spend another year in that series, seeing again the contents that could not assimilate, will be more successful, even in his academic life. This is a great fallacy, because the student who repeats a school year lose motivation, is the embarrassment of being again in that same school year, either by living with smaller colleagues with different interests [12].

To [10], the rejection is now widely questioned. After all, making students repeat the entire year to see the same content again is an outdated solution, dresser, expensive and inefficient. Countries with highquality teaching and learning found alternatives that work better, through preventive action, such as booster classes throughout the year. In Finland, teachers are advised to devote more time to students who have more difficulties. Result: the failure rate is 2% and the primary education completion rate is 99.7%. In Hong Kong, when a teacher has more than 3% of students with low performance, a committee will evaluate the teacher's work.

Data released in accordance with [17], Brazil is one of the countries most disapprove. In high school the rate reaches 13.1%. Are almost \$ 3 billion / year spending beyond what is necessary, only in the final years of schooling. The worst is that, as shown in qualitative and quantitative research, there is great relationship between repetition and dropout. No wonder that the study recently published by the "Education for All" shows that only 54% of young Brazilians manage to graduate from high school up to 19 years. Of young people between 15 and 17, one in five still in elementary school, accumulating failures. And 15.7% dropped out, certainly after school failure experiences [17].

The fact that the school failure influence school dropout, justifies the importance of the study of these topics.

3 Data Mining in Databases

The constant technological advancement has enabled the rise of technologies such as the internet, social networking, mobile devices, virtual learning environments, sensors to collect different types of data, telecommunication systems and secondary memory for greater storage capacity. Those are some examples of features that are making possible the creation and growth of numerous databases of administrative, scientific, commercial, educational, governmental and social [9].

However, the amount of stored data is closely linked to the ability to extract knowledge of the highest level from them, that is, useful information that will serve to support decision-making, and / or operation and better understanding of the phenomenon that generate data [8] [9].

However, the large amount of data analysis by man is impossible without the aid of appropriate software tools. Thus, it becomes essential to use tools that help man the task to analyze, interpret, and relate these data, so you can prepare and select action strategies in each application area [8] [9].

Therefore, to meet this context, there is an area called Knowledge Discovery in Databases (KDD), which is attracting in recent years, considerable interest among the scientific and industrial communities [9].

3.1. Data, Information and Knowledge

Every moment in this work, we are talking about data, information and knowledge. Therefore, it is important to note the differences between data, information and knowledge [8].

- Data: they can be interpreted as elementary items, captured and stored by the information technology resources. They are strings of symbols and do not have semantics (ie, meaning). Its purpose express real-world facts in order to be treated in the computational context.
- **Information**: the information represents the processed data, with well defined meanings and contexts. For example, the monthly borrowing capacity is a calculated information from the income and monthly expense of each client. In this case, the debt indicates a percentage value as a financial client can contract loans in relation to their monthly income.
- Knowledge: knowledge corresponds to a standard or set of standards whose formulation may involve and link data and information. Knowledge can be represented in the form of a conditional rule (IF <condition> THEN <conclusion>). Another way to represent knowledge is through predictive trends.

3.2. KDD Definitions

The term KDD was formalized in 1989 in reference to the broad concept of seeking knowledge from databases. One of the most popular definitions was proposed in 1996 by a group of researchers [5]. An adaptation of the original definition is shown below:

Definition 1: KDD is a non-trivial, interactive and iterative process to identify patterns understandable, valid, new and potentially useful from large data sets.

- The term *interactive*: It indicates the need for human action as responsible for process control. In fact, there are usually two human actors involved: the **data analyst** and **domain expert**.
- The term *interactive*: it suggests the possibility of full or partial repetition KDD, in the search for satisfactory results by successive refinements.
- The term *non-trivial*: warns of the complexity normally present in the execution of KDD processes.
- The term *identify patterns*: according to the definition, the purpose of performing the KDD process is to identify patterns. A standard is a knowledge representation in the syntactic rules in some formal language.
- The term *understandable*: one of the objectives of the KDD process is to produce knowledge that
 can be understood easily, thus allowing a clear understanding of the data that gave rise to this
 knowledge. One possible technique to accomplish this is to present the patterns in a graphical
 manner that facilitates their understanding.
- The term valid pattern: it indicates that knowledge should be true and appropriate to the context
 of the implementation of KDD.
- The term *new pattern*: a new standard to add new knowledge to previously existing knowledge in the application of KDD. The question of a standard found to be dependent on the new point of view in the scope of the KDD process or in the user's scope.
- The term *useful pattern*: a useful pattern is one that can be applied to provide benefits in the context of application KDD. Namely, the discovered patterns are useful only if they help to achieve the goal of domain expert.

The patterns extracted in the KDD process can be classified into two basic types: **descriptive** and **predictive** [8].

- **Predictive patterns**: they are constructed in order to solve a specific problem to predict the values of one or more attributes, depending on the values of other attributes.
- Descriptive patterns: the centerpiece of descriptive patterns is to present interesting information that a specialist application domain cannot yet know.

A standard describes facts (and trends) associated with a data set, with any degree of certainty. Therefore, the KDD process presupposes the existence of a data set. This may involve n attributes, thus representing a hyperspace (n-dimensional space). The greater the value of n and the number of registers available, the larger the dataset to be analyzed [8].

The representation of the degree of certainty with which the standards describe a collection of data is essential to determine how much a system or user can trust these patterns and make decisions from them. In general, the calculation of the degree of certainty of a standard involves several factors such as, for example, data integrity, the sample size used in the process, the existence of some knowledge on the field of application, among others [8].

Definition 2: KDD process consists of a sequence of complex interactions, which extends over a certain period of time, between a 'user' and a collection of data, possibly aided by a diverse set of computational tools [3].

In the definition 2, data analyst is always present and intimately involved with every step of the process. The term heterogeneous set of tools corresponds to the KDD system used by the analyst.

[3] and other authors claim that the interaction of the analyst with the data leads to the formulation of hypotheses about them. The **data analyst** view the data as a whole and decide where to explore based on what he sees in his own experience and knowledge provided by the domain expert. Recently, this type of professional is known as **data scientist**.

3.3. Related areas to KDD

This is a multidisciplinary area and there are already for a long time and originated from several research areas such as **Statistics**, **Machine Learning**, **Pattern Recognition**, **Computational Intelligence** and others.

- Machine Learning: one step in KDD process, the extraction of patterns (or data mining), uses machine learning methods (ML) to find regularities, patterns or concepts in data sets. Techniques developed in ML, as the rules of induction and decision trees, connectionist models and learning based on instances, form the core of the methods used in data mining.
- Statistics: statistics, together with the Machine Learning area, is considered ancestor of the KDD
 area. Pattern recognition techniques and exploratory analysis of data from the statistics are widely
 used in data mining algorithms. Data selection and sampling, pre-processing, data processing and
 evaluation of extracted patterns are just a few examples of methods widely used in statistics and
 which are applied during the process of KDD.
- **Database:** A database is an integrated collection of data, organized in a way to facilitate efficient storage, as well as its modification and recovery [4]. It is usually managed by a Database Management System (DBMS), which corresponds to a collection of procedures and mechanisms for recovery, storage and manipulation of databases.
- **Data Warehousing:** Data Warehousing is another area related to the KDD process, and refers to the process of collection and pre-processing of data stored in one or more operational databases in order to serve as a source for Decision Support Systems. As a result of this process we have a Data Warehouse, a collection of integrated data, consolidated and possibly organized in time (historical data).

3.4. KDD Activities

Activities in the KDD area can be organized into three main groups: activities related to technological development, KDD process execution activities and activities involving the application of results obtained in the process of KDD [8].

- Technological Development: covers all design initiatives, development, improvement and
 optimization algorithms, tools and assistive technologies that can be used in the search for new
 knowledge in large databases.
- KDD Execution: refers to the activities related to the effective pursuit of knowledge in databases.
- Application of Results: has been achieved models of useful knowledge from data set, activities
 are focused on the application of the results in the context in which it was carried out the process
 of KDD.

3.5. Clustering Algorithm and Analisys Services

The Microsoft Clustering algorithm is a segmentation algorithm provided by Analysis Services software. The algorithm uses iterative techniques to group instances in a set of data clusters that contain similar features.

The Microsoft Clustering algorithm, provides two methods for creating clusters and assigning data points to clusters. The K-means algorithm, a "hard clustering" method. This means that one data point can only belong to a cluster and that one probability is calculated for associating each data point that cluster. And the method of Expectancy Maximization (EM), a flexible clustering method. This means that one data point always belong to multiple clusters, and a probability is calculated for each combination of data point and cluster.

You can choose the algorithm to be used by setting the parameter CLUSTERING_METHOD. The cluster standard method is the evolutionary EM.

In EM cluster, the algorithm iteratively refine an initial clustering model to fit the data and determine the probability of a data point exists in the cluster. The algorithm terminates the process when the probability model fits the data. The function used to determine the fit is the probability of log data according to the model. If empty clusters are generated during the process or the combination of one or more clusters is below a certain threshold, the clusters with low populations will be propagated again in new points and the EM algorithm will run again.

4 Data Mining Application in IFRN Database

Are applied data mining techniques on the basis of data available, to detect which the attributes that are most influencing school dropout and thus draw a profile of the factors that imply the school dropout. It is known that some factors that influence school dropout, are external to the school environment, such as relationships with parents, dysfunctional families, and so on, plus the profiled here can be used along with other factors in order to have a more precise analysis of the problem in question.

First, we did a historical overview about school dropout in IFRN, 2000 to 2013. Figure 1 shows the percentage of dropouts. The graph in Figure 1 shows that for the campus Natal-Central, in 2000 the dropout rate was 20.26%, in 2001 was 43.23%, in 2005 was 34.63%. It is observed that the dropout percentage at Natal-Central campus is always above 15% and in some years more elastic. Without a doubt, it is a high rate, and worrying, and it deserves a detailed study of it. However, it has other data that also deserves to be noted. It is the cancellation of enrollment in courses of federal education network.



Fig. 1. Graph showing the percentage of school dropout per year at Natal-Central campus of IFRN in years 2000-2013.

Figure 2 shows the evolution of cancellation in enrollment and dropout on campus Natal-Central, between the years 2000 and 2013. In Figure 2, if we analyze the situation for 2007, we have the total of students who canceled their enrollment in courses was around 240, and the total number of students who dropped out of courses was around 650 students. If we add the two factors we have 900 students who dropped out of their courses in that year of 2007. Therefore, the registration cancellation rate must also be taken into account in the assessment of the teaching and learning.



Fig. 2. Cancellation of enrollments at Natal-Central campus of IFRN in years 2000-2013.

Table 1 shows the failure percentage per subject in 2010. It was done in a filter data to show only percentage of failure from 40% to 60%. Then see that many disciplines have very high failure rate. And as was said earlier, the failure rate has implications for the dropout because often may discourage the student to continue on the course.

Based on the data shown in the graphs of Figure 1 and 2, we have the proof of the high failure rates and dropout in IFRN, campus Natal-Central. Therefore, it will be applied to the same data set, some of Data Mining algorithms in order to find something to do in the attributes of the database, you can trace a profile of failure situations and dropout of our students.

Discipline	Year	Retention	Students	%
Practice as Curricular Component	2010	17	34	50
Foreign Language - English	2010	22	44	50
Work Psychology	2010	63	127	49,61
Algorithms and Object Oriented Programming	2010	58	118	49,15
Differential Equations	2010	20	41	48,78
Conservation of energy	2010	17	35	48,57
Web Authoring	2010	228	473	48,2
Techniques of Food Laboratories	2010	66	138	47,83
Cell Biology	2010	18	38	47,37
Informatics I	2010	61	129	47,29
Differential and Integral Calculus II	2010	80	170	47,06
Environmental Biology	2010	23	49	46,94
TCP/IP Architecture	2010	37	79	46,84
General Chemistry and Experimental I	2010	79	170	46,47
Electrical Systems	2010	26	56	46,43
Soil Mechanics	2010	117	252	46,43
Biology	2010	45	97	46,39
Data structure	2010	24	52	46,15
Open Systems Administration	2010	29	63	46,03
Elements of Physics	2010	89	195	45,64
Optical	2010	26	57	45,61
Electricity	2010	232	509	45,58
Digital electronics	2010	81	180	45

Table 1. A sample of the failure rate in some disciplines in IFRN for 2010.

Figure 3 shows a network obtained by the application of decision tree algorithm, using the tool Analysis Services [16] [10]. For this network training was provided as predictive attribute the situation of the student and the other attributes were defined as input attributes to the algorithm. Also in Figure 3, we can see the attributes that influence school dropout. So we can draw a profile for school dropout, analyzing each of these attributes.

The attribute "type of home school", can take the walloons private or public and philanthropic school. The attribute "income" is the family income of the student, the attribute "efficiency coefficient" measures the performance of the student in the course, and attributes "media" and "faults" represent the academic performance of students. The attribute "entry way" indicates how the student entered the course (ESMS, take selection, transfer, and so on).

We will use the cluster algorithm for grouping students with similar characteristics in the same group, and then analyze each cluster to identify the degree of influence of each input attribute shown in Figure 3 in relation to the predictive attribute "Status = Dropout".



Fig. 3. Network Decision Tree showing the relationships between attributes. Tool used to create the chart was Microsoft Analysis Services [16] [10].

Figure 4 shows the graph generated by the cluster algorithm of Analysis Services tool. Cluster chart shows that the highest concentration of cases of dropout, are precisely those with the most intense blue color. For this ran was selected in the cluster algorithm configuration, the situation of "Dropout" and the clusters with fewer cases of dropout, are those with a less intense color.

Thus, the cluster 5, the darker blue color, means that it is having the largest number of dropout and the cluster 1 has the lowest number of cases of school dropout. Cluster 1 has the highest number of approved.





Let's look at the cluster 1 and 5 to see which were the input attributes that influence the composition of them. Figure 5 shows the cluster 1 characteristics, which is concentrated the largest number of approved. Figure 6 shows the characteristics of cluster 5, which is concentrated the largest number of dropouts.

The cluster 1 shows that the profile of successful students are those with final average above 70, GPA above 60, coming from public school, live with their parents and brown ethnicity. Observing the cluster 5 characteristics: it is clear that in cluster formation 5, family income (up to 1 salary) and the situation (deprecated), appear as factors influencing school dropout. Justifying thus the presence of these attributes in relation attributes that influence school dropout, as shown in Figure 3.

Variables	Values	Probability
Home place	Urban	
Efficiency coefficient	61,6 - 100	
Situation	Approved	
Type of home school	Public state	
Living with	Parents	
Age	9 – 24	
Ethnicity	Brown	
Final media	71,3 - 95,6	

Fig. 5 Cluster 1 characteristics. Tool used to create the chart was Microsoft Analysis Services [16] [10].

Variables	Values	Probability
Home place	Urban	
Situation	Repproved	
Situation_ING	Dropout	
Type of home school	Public state	
Living with	Parents	
Gender	Male	
Ethnicity	Brown	
Family income	Up to 1 min. wage	

Fig. 6 Cluster 5 characteristics. Tool used to create the chart was Microsoft Analysis Services [16] [10].

5 Results and Conclusion

Based on the obtained results show that the dropout rate at Natal-Central campus is quite high, above 16% for the years after 2010. Another finding, very important, that until then, no one had noticed, is the index registrations canceled the courses. If we add the dropout index with the index of canceled registrations, we will have an index above 25%. If we observe that, the IFRN has around 5,000 students, 25% of 5,000 = 1,250 students who dropped out or canceled their registrations annually.

Analyzing the graphics obtained by the data mining algorithms, at first, one can trace a profile for school dropout as being: students from state schools, with family income up to one minimum wage, living with parents consequently, they are unemployed or are minors, of mixed race, with the final and very low yield coefficient. It is known in practice that students entering the public schools come IFRN, arrive with knowledge far from desired in basic subjects such as mathematics and portuguese, which are fundamental to have a good performance in those courses. These students face many difficulties to subjects that contain logic, advanced abstraction and or mathematics such as the technical disciplines of technological area.

Based on this layout profile, one can suggest that the IFRN, Natal-Central campus, adopt some preventive measures to minimize both tax dropout, as school failure. Among them, one can cite:

- The result of the analysis should be shared with all staff of the IFRN, so everyone has knowledge
 of the actual situation;
- Propose the development of outreach projects, to work with the new students the basic knowledge
 of portuguese and mathematics;
- Making an analysis of the data of the selection tests in order to predict the actual situation of
 students in the target disciplines (mathematics and portuguese), to have real numbers that lag in
 these disciplines and thus make plans and goals to create booster classes in matters in which the
 incoming students have more difficulties.

These are just some of the goals that will be proposed this preliminary study, however, will be continued in the analysis of the academic system data and certainly more knowledge will emerge, and these managers IFRN will be passed, so that action can be taken that, will reduce the problem of dropout in our school.

References

- Adachi, A.A.C.T, Evasão e evadidos nos cursos de graduação da Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Dissertação de Mestrado. Faculdade de Educação, UFMG (2009)
- Baker, R. S. J., CARVALHO, A., M., J., ISOTANI, S., Mineração de Dados Educacionais: Oportunidades para o Brasil, Revista Brasileira de Informática na Educação, Volume 19, Número 2 (2011)
- Brachaman, R. J.; Anand, T. Processo f Knowledge discovry in Database. KDD Process for Rxtracting Useful Knowledge from Volumes of Data (1996)
- 4. Date, C. J. Introdução aos sistemas de bancos de dados. Campus (2003)
- Fayyad, U. M.; Piatetsky-Shapiro, G.; smyth, P. From Data Mining to Knowledge Discovery: An Overview. Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, Menlo Park: AAAI Press (1996)
- Favero, R. V. M., Dialogar ou evadir: Eis a questão!: Um estudo sobre a permanência e a evasão na Educação a Distância, no Estado do Rio Grande do Sul. CINTED-UFRGS. Novas Tecnologias na Educação, V. 4 Nº 2, Dezembro, Porto Alegre (2006)
- Globo Comunicação e Participações. http://gl.globo.com/educacao/noticia/2013/11/mec-cria-grupo-paraestudar-evasao-escolar-nos-institutos-federais.html (2013)
- Goldschmidt, Ronaldo. Data Mining: Conceitos, técnicas, algoritmos, orientações e aplicações/ Ronaldo Goldschmidt, Eduardo Bezerra. 2.ed, Elsevier, Rio de Janeiro (2015)
- 9. Han, Jiawei; Kamber, Micheline. Data Mining: Concepts and Techniques. Second Edition. Elsevier. San Francisco, CA (2006)
- Harinath, S.; Pihlgren, R.; Lee G., D.; Simon, J.; Bruckner, R. M. Professional Microsoft SQL Server 20012 Analysis Services with MDX and DAX. Wrox, (2012)
- Karinny, Shintani, Leonardo Armond, Vassily Rolim. Dificuldades Escolares http://www.profala.com / arteducesp19.htm (2014).
- Lilian L. Pereira. http://www.direcionaleducador.com.br/edicao-80-set/11/reprovacao-escolar-uma-questaomuitas-facetas (2011)
- Lobo, R. L., Hipólito, O. e Lobo, M.B., Estudo: Evasão no Ensino Superior: Causas e Remédios. Jornal Folha de S.Paulo. São Paulo (2007)
- MEC/Setec. Documento Orientador para a Superação da Evasão e da Retenção na Rede Federal de Educação Profissional, Científica e Tecnológica (2014)
- 15. Piatetsky-Shapiro, G. e Data-Mining Industry Coming of Age. IEEE Inteligent System (1999)
- 16. Rainardi, V. Building a Data Warehouse: With Rxamples in SQL Server. Apress (2008)
- Ramal, Adrea. Reprovar não é a solução, mas aprovar quem não aprendeu é pior. http://g1.globo.com/educacao/blog/andrea-ramal/post/reprovar-nao-e-solucao-mas-aprovar-quem-nao-aprendeue-pior.html (2014)
- BRASIL. Diplomação, Retenção e Evasão nos Cursos de Graduação em Instituições de Ensino Superior Públicas. Comissão Especial de Estudos sobre a Evasão nas Universidades Públicas Brasileiras. Brasília (1996)

PHABRIKA: teaching financial techniques to sell through Serious game

Ari Freund and Profa. Dra. Pollyana Notargiacomo Mustaro

{arifreund@gmail.com,pollynot@gmail.com}

Abstract. Starting in the 50's, aiming to empower financial executives, the games have evolved to help in-company teaching. The need to empower employees to carry out their tasks and teaches them about the company's culture has made several corporate universities adopt this methodology. In this context is presented a serious game in order to allow the sales executive to experiences a financially management of a company. It facilitates learning how to sell using financial techniques in a dynamic way. This sales philosophy is a gap in a globalized world where the high added value solution suppliers can differentiate themselves from the competitors. To provide this result phabrika simulate a corporation where the executive go through different management situations in a controlled environment without businesses risk. The game is based on theoretical concepts of games, simulations and accounting, assuming game evolution and corporate universities history. Throughout the game and its conclusion the participants will be able to learn and improve their sales skills.

Keywords: Phabrika, Serious game, financial techniques to sell, business games

1 Introduction

From the 80's corporate universities have been widely adopted by companies as fast and efficient teaching method. The concern of companies to develop and coach their employees as well as disseminate information at all levels resulted into the usage of a learning environment abroad schools and universities.

Epistemological games is one of the tools used by universities. Begun around 1924 [9] had its origin as an evolution of education based on the industrial revolution. This game category combines entertainment with educational values [22], being able to disseminate knowledge and develop skills [11].

One of the areas addressed by the business games is accounting, responsible for generating information for decision making. This valuable information is to be used by sales executives, when financial sales techniques used, thereby addressing the maximization of profit and the reduction of taxes [16].

The key role in the success of any business is sales that's why is also in the focus of enterprises to be trained, improved and developed skills in this area [8]. Essential features for sales executives must be worked by the companies, however

- Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies,
- Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_20

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

2 PHABRIKA: teaching financial techniques to sell through serious game

these techniques are known and widely applied. The sales executive must be able to understand your customer in all aspects including financial, for the manner in which the sale takes place will influence customer profitability [16].

Considering these aspects the PHABRIKA game is presented as a serious game to facilitate Sales Executive to learn financial techniques sell. The purpose of this article is to describe the theoretical foundations that formed the basis for the development of the game.

2 Corporate University

The need for training and development of personnel brought about, in the 19th century, a movement of creation of training programmes. At this point, focused on recently-hired young on themes such as optimization of business results. In the same century, with the advent of the railroads, the first training centres came to being [4].

The evolution of these training centres gave way to corporate universities. They were created to improve professional competencies and cover the existing deficit from a faulty traditional educational system [4].

Aiming to be a centre for training, improvement and development, corporate universities are responsible for teaching professional routines and procedures to each and every employee. However, it is not limited to technical aspects, as it also teaches the culture and the values of the company [4]. Corporate university does not only include internal training, as extension courses may be offered to the market through seminars or other platforms [4].

Within this context of professional teaching and corporate universities, usually different teaching methodologies apply, such as Celemi international consultants, who offers courses aimed to turning ordinary students into business people.

There are also simulations in metaphorical contexts (different companies or factories) to avoid the participant use technical or industrial know-how, so they do not stray away from the main focus of learning [2].

Based upon this concept, the book "The Accounting Game" [17] creates a specific learning experience for the teaching of concepts in basic accounting. Information is imparted through a fun and relaxing game, which allows the reader to interact and discover everything in a simple way. The book offers the reader the experience of managing a lemonade stand. Making use of a game, it teaches the basic language of business and specific concepts.

3 Digital games and education

The existence of over 2300 classified serious games shows the growth of this kind of game, with 60% of these ranked Business Games to attest for the importance of this niche [7]. The adoption of these serious games by companies show the constant search for the development of their professionals [1].
PHABRIKA: teaching financial techniques to sell through Serious game

Many of these are focused on the evolution of the old management model, considered outdated for not being efficient, where top management has other following their strategic command [21]. Always taking into consideration that the growth of organizations rely on the retention and development of staff on all organizational levels.

These games are based on theoretical currents that seek to understand the various educational methodologies. Some focus on studies of teaching for the business environment, while others focus on the teaching of new professionals. It may be summarized and analyzed in light of the various theoretical approaches that seek to explain the teaching and learning processes in companies and other environments.

3.1 Business Games

Games that aim to enhance managerial abilities or evaluate the performance of the player are called Business Games. In a risk-free environment, it allows for learning in practice [2], avoiding costly financial losses due to a bad decision [1].

Business games are simplified mathematical abstractions of a situation related to the business world [19]. These games may also be regarded as simulations as they present an environment similar to the original one [7, 13].

These simulations are functional representations of reality, in an abstract, simplified or accelerated way in the process, yet still offering a behaviour similar to the original system's [7]. As they are copies of elements of reality, they may be based on dynamic and creative models, becoming more effective and offering accelerated learning [2].

The participants in business games are involved - individually or in groups - to run a fictitious company or a part of it, through sequences of decisions [3]. The high level of realism encourages the player to reflect upon his or her actions, allowing for the improvement of his or her abilities to communicate, decision-making, etc [10].

The main aims of these simulations are to hone leadership skills, decisionmaking, communication, work and risk analyses during crises [10], preparing leaders to take on new challenges. However, they may be used with other aims, as games help during the learning process [2].

To keep the student focused on his or her development, there must be a system of continuous feedback focused on the development of the learning of pre-established objectives [19]. This bilateral communication system stimulates the student and shows improvements in the learning process. Immediate feedback may be offered [11], with a view to influence following decisions, or at the end of the process [18].

Feedback at the end of every stage or at the end of the game, through a feedback session, improves the learning experience of the student [7]. Through this session the student gets an opportunity to consolidate the experiences and show the value of the theory acquired relating it to the practice of the experience. At this time it is possible to share feelings and impressions between participants

4 PHABRIKA: teaching financial techniques to sell through serious game

and instructor, directing results towards the desired aims [10]. This consolidation, which may be an oral or a written summary, allows the player to reflect upon their own actions and feelings [11].

At this stage there must be a breaking down of the facts, to let go of steam, tensions, perceptions and attitudes of the participants during the experience. After decompression, there must be a review of what has been learnt, allowing the player to understand what he or she has achieved, consolidating and integrating the content [11].

At the end of the game there must be an analysis and conclusion of learning, establishing relationships between learnt content and the game, creating reflections and conclusions on the experienced shared. When the game is related to reality, there must be caution as oversimplification of the model may lead to a greater distancing from reality and, therefore, from the desired conclusion [11].

3.2 Serious games

Business games are a kind of serious games. These are games, adapted to modern times, where there is an environment to think outside the box to take education to different levels, as they are epistemological [9]. These games allow the players to face dilemmas and develop skills [22]. The main attributes of the serious game are challenge, feedback, and immersion [18]

Many educational games are simulations where players are challenged with situations that become games. Serious games are based on simulations of the themes and problems to be covered, allowing an innovative approach and the search for solutions [22].

Games are fictitious, hypothetical situations based on rules, aiming to train. Simulations are based on real models [3], simplified models of a representation of reality. The boundary between games and simulations is blurred. When there is a combination of features of the games with reality elements in simulations, then they are called simulation games. These present the features of games based on reality models [11]. These are either simplified models of reality or hypothetical, where the player performs competitively or cooperatively, based on rules and actions [11].

However simulation rules must be clear to be understood by all participants. Therefore visual aids must be employed throughout the simulation [6]. So, satisfactory results may be obtained with the use of serious games in the training of seasoned sales staff [9]. Part of the fun in games is to play by the rules, even if in some cases rules tend to be more complex and demanding than the rules and practices of a job [22].

Many professionals carry out tasks that are hard to standardise and continuously meet challenges beyond their scope. These challenges may not be exactly the same twice, therefore the methodology for resolution will not necessarily follow the same steps and procedures. So, at a globalized time, with professionals action on a global scale, professional training games may help players to think, speak, and work outside the box [22]. PHABRIKA: teaching financial techniques to sell through Serious game

In Sales, innovation may be a decisive point in the closing of a deal. The sales person, other than being a technical consultant, must also be a financial advisor, thinking through sales financial solutions [16]. A serious game, in order to teach financial solutions, must offer players an innovative way of looking at reality as it is.

3.3 Adaptive games

Decision-making is the essence of many games. In strategy games, for example, you must be aware of the expected result at every move. However, when all variables are known, some decisions become vital, but not catchy [1].

For this scaling, artificial versions of human abilities must be used. Therefore, Artificial Intelligence (AI) methods may be employed. However, it is not necessary to use cutting edge AI technology for the game to be catchy - it is possible to create this environment without the implementation of AI [5].

Nonetheless, the adoption of AI seeks to offer pleasant challenges to the player, and not just help him or her increasing the fun factor. As a result, there is a game cut out for the player [12].

Adaptability may be achieved simply with the addition of random elements, rendering impossible a wholly integrated strategy [1]. Games without a random element to them tend to not vary much. However, such necessary variation may occur with the introduction of different scenarios or autonomous agents - NPC: Non-Player Character [7].

Among different AI techniques used in games, the decision tree model is quite effective. Through binary responses, it is capable of choosing the subsequent action [15]. Through a compact architecture, it allows simplicity in the interpretation and editing of logic [5].

Although traditional Logic is only capable of processing binary values, there are situations where intermediate values are needed, a state of "maybe" [15]. With the added value of offering a grey area between black and white, Fuzzy Logic may be adopted [5]. When properly employed, it demonstrates very human-like decision-making [5].

One application where human expertise does not follow a linear logic is the financial market. With decisions based on various indexes and rates, several logics are used to simulate the market. Most information is based on financial indexes calculated according to the balance sheet of each company.

4 The company's financial structure - The Balance Sheet

The balance sheet is the financial control of a company [17]. With it is possible to measure the "financial health" of a company, through control of the asset situation of the company during a period of time [14]. However, it reflects only a specific period in time [23, 20]. Understanding the influence of every financial aspect of the company on profit, as well as the cycle of the money, has its place

6 PHABRIKA: teaching financial techniques to sell through serious game

[17], as accounting information of a company seek to, through the wealth of information provided, aid the decision-making process [23].

The balance sheet is the representation of the financial situation of a company at a given time [17]. It aims to show the asset situation of the company considering certain evaluation criteria [14].

For a better analysis and standards for comparison, they usually feature over a year's revenue in parallel columns [20]. On the left hand side of the balance sheet, by convention, there are the assets [17], that is, goods and rights expressed in values [14, 20]. These are the items responsible for the generation of wealth [23].

Fixed assets are purchased assets unlikely to be converted quickly into cash. They are used in the maintenance of the company, or merely for the existence of the business. Examples of fixed assets include buildings, equipment, cars, machinery, production lines, etc. [14].

Many times these assets have a limited shelf life and may, therefore, be sold for a different amount than they were purchased. In cases where the sell goes for a value superior to the asset's, there is a proportional reduction in the assets and an increase in net worth, due to this profit [14]. When the sale is carried out for amounts smaller than what was invested in its acquisition, there is a reduction in assets, and this value is added to the cashflow or accounts receivable [14].

When the asset stays with the company for a longer period of time, the invested value, in accounting, is split throughout its estimated shelf life, instead of just being accounted for during acquisition, doing away with the instant expense. This procedure is known as depreciation, which is the transformation of part of the acquired value into expense. This procedure must be adopted because usually the asset will not be sold for the same amount it was acquired. This procedure exists to reduce the value of the asset in accordance with estimated usage and obsolescence [17].

Depreciation is an expense without expenditure of cash [17], as it transforms the money invested in the acquisition of an asset in expenses in installments. The number of installments is calculated according to the estimated life span and the residual value that may be fetched with its future sale. However this calculation is an estimate, as its actual productive life span may differ from the asset's durability [14].

On the right hand side of the balance sheet, by convention, there is the liability [17]. These represent a company's financial obligations [23]. In a simplified way, these are Accounts Payable, Suppliers, Payroll, Taxes, Loans [14, 20].

Both sides of the balance sheet must be evened out [17]. Difference between assets and liability is called net equity [14]. This calculation maintains the basic principle of accounting, where the value of the assets equals the sum of liabilities and net worth [23].

Revenue is value added to asset that refers to either a service rendered or the sale of merchandise. In some situations revenue may happen either with the reduction of liabilities [14], or the rentability of a financial investment [23]. PHABRIKA: teaching financial techniques to sell through Serious game

Acquisition of material lowers the amount of cash at the company's disposal. However, it may be acquired over time, in which case it is counted as liability, keeping both sides of the balance sheet evened out without alteration of the cash value [14].

In Brazil, the transfer of merchandise is subject to taxation. Among them, ICMS taxes the buying and selling of products, being integrated in the final selling price of the product. At the end of the fiscal period, companies pay the Treasury the difference in taxes over trade. All taxes paid upon the acquisition of goods that are recoverable upon final sale (PIS, COFINS, IPI in some instances) are accounted the same way [14].

Analysis of the balance sheet shows in a simplified manner the general state of the company. When a deeper analysis is required different aspects of the business must be observed. Although some financial indicators in a single balance sheet may yield interesting data. Analyzed data allow for a comparison between companies' performances over time [23]. However, the use of financial indicators are only one way of analyzing and following the financial health of a company.

5 Phabrika

The universal language of business in decision-making must be used by the sales force. To sell successfully, you must speak about the total cost of the property, return of investment, financial pay-off, analysis of value for money and contribution to profit [16]. However you must have experience and knowledge of the entire scope of the client to approach these subjects.

Considering the importance of financial techniques in sales [16], based on the theory presented thus far, the aim of this game is to turn finances and financial techniques user friendly for the sales force.

With the elaboration of a serious game that allows the sales person to live the financial experience of a company, simulating various different managerial positions (financial, production, sales, purchasing), adopting a role according to the problems to be tackle by each one of them [6].

So there is the PHABRIKA game, a dynamic and interactive teaching proposal of financial sales techniques. Set in a virtual environment (Fig. 1), developed in Game Maker, it presents a simulation of the realities of a company, aiding in the association between game and the work environment. In this game, players are challenged to a series of decision-making, in a simplified way, on all levels of an organization. Playing the role of a recently hired manager, the player must take decisions in different areas in the company, such as production planning, raw material purchase, production and storage of the final product, as well as sales.

The game is made up of two levels, each featuring the same main routines. Each level takes five years, where the player must take decisions with a view to future results. On the first level the player will have a fixed sales margin and will not face any outside competition, only so he or she can learn the basics of



PHABRIKA: teaching financial techniques to sell through serious game

Fig. 1. PHABRIKA's board

the game and its routines. On the second level sales margins will not be fixed, with competition generated by NPC.

Routines are divided into early in the year, quarters and end of the year. Early in the year the player must carry out the financial planning of the company, and may ask for a loan from the bank. The bank may grant total, partial or no loan, giving the client feedback on their decision. Then the player may invest in a new production line, either for a new product or to increase capacity.

Quarterly routines are repeated four times throughout the year. They begin with the movement of the final stages of production for storage of the finished product, followed by the player going to the shop where he or she can purchase raw material. Finally there is production, simulated by the addition to the products of production costs. Production is a monthly routine.

At the end of each year the end of the year routines are carried out, beginning with payment of interest over loans, followed by the option of paying up the debt totally or partially. Then production lines are depreciated.

With a view to simulating Brazilian taxation, the player must pay the government a third of his or her profits. Finally the player takes over the financial role of the company, carrying out the accounting. At this stage the player understands the impact every investment has on profit, as well as learns basic financial concepts and their jargon.

On the second level the player is presented with the customer needs and their yearly costs. These requests are selected by a specialist system based on a graph of demand for products available to the player. However, these products are also available to their NPC competitors.

PHABRIKA: teaching financial techniques to sell through Serious game

If the NPC wins the bid, the player may choose a different bid. If the player fails to deliver the expected quantity, he or she is subject to a contractual fine. This fine will be calculated at the end of the year, alongside delivery of the products.

At the end of five years the player gets an assessment report on his or her performance against previously established results by different players. This report aims to aid the wrapping of the activity. There will also be a grade awarded according to financial indexes considered.

With the purpose of assess the method proposed an observation model was used with a sales team of four. Prior to the experience was conducted with the attendees a questionnaire to measure the knowledge of the group about the subject. After it was conducted a session of 2 hours included an explanation, playing the game and after game conclusion. A week after was conducted another questionnaire to compare the evolution of the knowledge of the group. The group was divided in two pairs to be possible a comparison between them. In the conclusion part was consolidated the content and collected the feedback of the game an asked for their feedback.

6 Conclusion

The game aims to provide the player with experience in financial aspects of the company, providing information and consolidating opinions, in a practical way, allowing for a later group discussion. The series of decision-making the player is exposed to makes him or her responsible for their own learning, catering for a motivational environment.

To take full advantage of the game, a later discussion with participants on the decisions taken and actions that influenced profit positively and negatively, in the short and long term. This consolidation is of the utmost importance, as the main objective of any company is to maximize net profit, and not increase revenue [16].

During the game, decisions may be taken that may lead to major losses and subsequent bankruptcy of the simulated company. However these mistakes must be seen as learning steps, as they were made in a safe environment, avoiding their recurrence outside of the simulation.

This consolidation aims to facilitate the building of concepts of financial sales techniques, so they are rooted in each and every sales person, to allow them to act routinely as business consultants, rather than traditional sales people.

The experience allows the sales executive an understanding of how production costs, the weight of investments in production lines and their relationship with profit, also outlining the differences between sales of products and services.

The observation make possible the validation of the model and the feedback of the players help to improve the playability. The game jointly with the feedback improve substantially the knowledge level of the players.

10 PHABRIKA: teaching financial techniques to sell through serious game

References

- 1. Brathwaite, B., Schreiber, I.: Challenges for game designers (2009)
- Carucci, R.: Companies rehearse a very different future: Connecting leadership capability and strategy execution through simulation. Global Business and Organizational Excellence 28(5), 26–38 (2009)
- 3. Carvalho, A.C.B.D.d., Porto, A.J.V.: Jogos de empresas (1999)
- 4. Castro, C.d.M., Eboli, M.: Universidade corporativa: gnese e questes crticas rumo maturidade. Revista de Administrao de Empresas 53, 408–414 (2013)
- Champandard, A.J.: AI game development : synthetic creatures with learning and reactive behaviors. Indianapolis, Ind. ; London : New Riders (2003), bibliography: p. 679-688.
- 6. Gramigna, M.: Jogos de empresa, vol. 2. Pearson Prentice Hall (2007)
- Greco, M., Baldissin, N., Nonino, F.: An exploratory taxonomy of business games. Simulation & Gaming 44(5), 645–682 (2013)
- Greco, M., Murgia, G.: Improving negotiation skills through an online business game. Proceedings of the European Conference on Games-Based Learning pp. 97– 104 (2007)
- Heili, J., Michel, H.: Do students trained using serious games become better sales representatives? an experiment to study the performance of academic serious games. Proceedings of the 5th European Conference on Games Based Learning (2011)
- Hunsaker, P.L., de Janasz, S.C.: Using social simulations to assess and train potential leaders to make effective decisions in turbulent environments. Career Development International 12(4), 341–360 (2007)
- 11. Kaufman, D., Sauvé, L.: Educational gameplay and simulation environments : case studies and lessons learned. Information Science Reference, New York (2010)
- 12. Livingstone, D., Charles, D.: Intelligent interfaces for digital games (2004)
- Lopes, M.C., Fialho, F.A.P., Cunha, C.J.C.A., Niveiros, S.I.: Business games for leadership development: A systematic review. Simulation & Gaming (2013)
- 14. Ludicibus, S.d.: Contabilidade introdutria. Atlas, So Paulo (2010)
- 15. McShaffry, M., Graham, D.: Game coding complete, fourth edition (2013)
- Noonan, T.: \$elling\$mart: Using Financial & Business Concepts To Close the Deal. XSEL Group LLC (1997)
- 17. Orloff, J., Mullis, D.: The accounting game: basic accounting fresh from the lemonade stand. Sourcebooks (1998)
- Pavlas, D., Bedwell, W., Wooten, S.R., Heyne, K., Salas, E.: Investigating the attributes in serious games that contribute to learning. Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting 53(27), 1999–2003 (2009)
- Santos, R.d.: "jogos de empresas" aplicados ao processo de ensino e aprendizagem de contabilidade. Revista Contabilidade & Finanas 14, 78–95 (2003)
- SCHMIDT, P., SANTOS, J.L.d., GOMES, J.M.M., FERNANDES, L.A.: Introduo Contabilidade. Atlas, So Paulo (2003)
- Senge, P.M.: The fifth discipline : the art and practice of the learning organization. Doubleday/Currency, New York (1990)
- Shaffer, D.W.: How computer games help children learn. How Computer Games Help Children Learn pp. 1–242 (2006), shaffer, DW 978-0-230-60199-4
- 23. Silva, C.A.T.: Contabilidade (2007)

Education challenges in a hyperconnected society based on the national survey #ConnectedYouthBrazil

Brasilina Passarelli1 and Fabiana Vetritti1,

¹ University of São Paulo (USP), Cidade Universitária, CEP 05508-900, São Paulo, Brazil {<u>linapassarelli2@gmail.com, fabianagrieco@usp.br</u>}

Abstract. This paper presents in its introduction, considerations regarding the strong contrasts and the huge necessity of human values reconfiguration in all activities due to the hyperconnected contemporary society. Both authors are part of School of the Future – USP Research Laboratory. Considerations regarding students self-perception and their comprehension on teacher's digital literacies are shown based on a previous research they conducted, entitled "#ConnectedYouthBrazil Research". The study mixed quantitative and qualitative methods, which included survey, Internet monitoring (E-Meter), indepth interviews and focus groups. The results here presented help to keep the discussion about the reshaping of education in Brazil in the agenda to enlighten its future.

Keywords: Digital Literacies, Education Challenges, Students, Teachers, #ConnectedYouthBrazil Research, School of the Future – USP Research Laboratory.

Introduction

It was the best of times, it was the worst of times, it was the age of wisdom, it was the age of foolishness, it was the epoch of belief, it was the epoch of incredulity, it was the season of Light, it was the season of Darkness, it was the spring of hope, it was the winter of despair, we had everything before us, we had nothing before us, we were all going direct to heaven, we were all going direct the other way - in short, the period was so far like the present period, that some of its noisiest authorities insisted on its being received, for good or for evil, in the superlative degree of comparison only. (Dickens, 1985, p. 35) [1]

The words of Charles Dickens regarding the 18th century revolutionary period in France were used to describe the moment we are living now, the spring of the digital age, by Prof. Waldomiro Vergueiro in his foreword in the "Handbook of Research on Comparative Approaches to the Digital Age Revolution in Europe and the Americas". According to the author, it is a time of marvelous promises, but it is also a time of vailed threats [8]. What will happen to freedom of thought? What will happen to

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_21 privacy? What will happen to dialogue in the digital environment? (Vergueiro, 2015, p.xxii).

Prof. Dr. Fredric Micahel Litto, Emmeritus Professor at School of Communications and Arts, a seminal American / Brazilian researcher on Information and Communication Technology (ICT) in Education and founder and president of ABED – Association of Brazilian Distance Education also considers technology as a controversial development as he states:

[8]...It cannot be denied that the advent of the computer, and the digital processing it requires, was one of the most important conquests made by humans-the first machine capable of executing more than one type of task, and, in its present stage of development, whether it is sitting on a table, held in the hand, used on the body, or even adhering to one's skin-conflating, as it does, the operations of a typewriter, a calculator, a telephone, a television, a phonograph, a modem, and a Global Positioning System (GPS). It supports one's work, study, entertainment and social communication, and it is increasingly ubiquitous. But, for all that, like many phenomena in the complex contemporary world, it brings with it both benefits and drawbacks. Seen principally in its manifestation allowing the operation of the World Wide Web, considered by many as a major public good, the critics of the web decry it as an "ecosystem" which falsely promises greater democracy. While applauded for increasing an "open culture" (see, for example, www.openculture.org), with considerable potential for the redistribution of power in society, digital culture, its detractors complain, tends increasingly to be closed and to concentrate power and wealth in the hands of a few, not necessarily the same persons who repeatedly, in times past, were the most benefitted (Litto, 2015, p.xxvi).

On the other hand, we may find some authors that recognize the revolutionary Internet DNA and the centrality that digital technology plays in contemporary life, considering its recent developments as Internet of Things (IoT) and Big Data to name a few. Researcher and philosopher Luciano Floridi, Director of Research and Professor of Philosophy and Ethics of Information at the Oxford Internet Institute considers the influence ICTs are having on our world [2,4] and he poses questions as: who are we, and how do we relate to each other? Hence Floridi proposes that technology constitutes the fourth revolution drawn by Alan Touring's work following those led by Copernicus (geocentrism), Darwin (evolution of species), and Freud (psychoanalysis) [3]. He has also coined the concept of "Onlife" stating that it makes no sense anymore to consider "offline" once the majority of the occidental culture is wired and this connection defines the way we shop, work, learn, care for our health, entertain ourselves, conduct our relationships, interact with the worlds of law, finance, and politics, and conduct war in a hyperconnected society.

Another major effort dealing with the reconfiguration of human life and activities due to the digital technology and the Internet is United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO)¹ proposal of MIL - Media and Information Literacy to embrace every shape of media and other information providers as libraries, archives and museums [15]. Media literacy and Information literacy are traditionally seen as distinct fields, but UNESCO joined both together, consolidating a

¹ UNESCO. Available in http://www.unesco.org/new/en/communication-andinformation/media-development/media-literacy/mil-as-composite-concept/.

set of vital competences (knowledge, skills and attitudes). These literacies (regarding information and media) are a fundamental condition to freedom of expression, once it enables citizens to understand mass media function and other information providers, in order to critically evaluate contents and make decisions as users and content producers. Therefore, UNESCO is disseminating the urge to introduce MIL as part of curricula of both formal and non-formal education, in all levels to initial years to university. Special attention should be devoted to develop guidelines for teacher qualification, to allow the interaction among literacies, learning procedures and new pedagogic methods and curricula.

2. School of the Future Research Laboratory – USP (EF–USP)

School of the Future Research Laboratory² (EF–USP) at the University of São Paulo – Brazil, was founded in 1989, committed to contribute to the improvement of education in Brazil through the better understanding of ICTs impacts in formal and non-formal learning and teaching environments. EF–USP has developed a partnership model involving university, society and different research funding agencies and government spheres to fund action - research projects. To better understand the complexity of the contemporary hyperconnected society and the strong asymmetries on the distribution and access to the digital technology, in 2007 the Digital Culture Observatory was established. Emerging concepts as MIL focusing on literacy as a set of social practices [10]; the empowerment of connected actors to behave differently and act both as consumers and producers of knowledge; and the experience of new forms of authorship and protagonism in today's connected society [9,11,12,13].

3#ConnectedYouthBrazil: Methods and Main #Education Findings

#ConnectedYouthBrazil Research [5] was developed by three institutional actors: funded by Telefonica Foundation and developed by Brazilian Institute of Opinion and Statistics (IBOPE) responsible for the national data survey and EF–USP for the analysis and final report. #ConnectedYouthBrazil Research aimed to investigate four dimensions regarding: social behavior, education, activism and entrepreneurship. In order to do so, main players decided to adopt a blend of quantitative and qualitative methods as:

• A survey interviewing 1,400 respondents aging between 16 and 24 years old and from different social backgrounds in the whole country;

• Internet monitoring (E-Meter – an IBOPE E-Commerce solution) authorized by ten users during 30 days. Installed on their computers, E-meter allowed to map Internet user navigation patterns along the day. After the Internet monitoring period, the participants were interviewed online in order to identify the reasons behind the mapped behavior;

• Six focus groups, three online and three "face-to-face" with seven to nine participants. Conducted by a moderator and a previous quest discussion intended to go beyond the survey's first results analysis;

² More information about School of the Future Research Laboratory at the University of São Paulo – Brazil available in http://futuro.usp.br/.

• Individual in-depth interview with eight content specialists aiming at recognizing their points of view, based on quantitative data collected in the present study.

This paper explores the education main results of the original research and some tables are presented, followed by our analysis.

3.1 #Education: Internet Uses at Schools

Considering the most recent data on Internet devices at Brazilian schools as ICT Education 2014³, there is stability in the proportion of Internet access among public and private schools in urban areas [6]; reaching 93% and this fact helps to explain the intense utilization of Internet among Brazilian youth.



Fig. 1. Internet Access Makes Homework Easier. Source: #ConnectedYouthBrazil Research.

For 81% of respondents it is easier to do homework using Internet. Only 4% disagree and strongly disagree about this facility.



Fig. 2. Internet Improves Performance on Tests and Self-Evaluation (Public Tender, University Admission and Others). Source: #ConnectedYouthBrazil Research.

³ ICT Education 2014 Research is conducted since 2010 by Brazilian Internet Steering Committee (CGI.br). Available in http://cetic.br/pesquisa/educacao.

Almost 80% of the respondents believe that Internet also allows them to better perform and self-evaluate for exams and tests.



Fig. 3. Internet provides learning according to my rhythm and is more suitable for place and time. Source: #ConnectedYouthBrazil Research.

For 70% of respondents, Internet provides access to learning according to the student's needs. On the other hand, for almost 30% of them it is not the case.



Fig. 4. Internet disrupts learning. Source: #ConnectedYouthBrazil Research.

It is interesting to note that, at the same time the majority states it is easier to do homework using Internet, 57% of respondents agree or strongly agree that Internet disrupts learning, when students face distraction caused by social networks and games. Although there are very positive aspects about technology use for learning, contradictions have been also noted, such as illustrated by the next graphs.



Fig. 5. Internet has too much information and hampers best content selection. Source: #ConnectedYouthBrazil Research.

Slightly more than half of respondents (51%) agree or strongly agree that Internet has too much information and the excess makes the process of selecting best content more difficult. We can not deny there is also almost the same amount of respondents that disagree with this statement.



Fig. 6. Young people learn more with traditional classes than with distance education. Source: #ConnectedYouthBrazil Research.

For 68% of respondents, they learn better in traditional education than through distance education. Such data so far reveal their self-perception of advantages and challenges. On the other hand we can notice that, besides using Internet for educational purposes, they still want to have their traditional face to face contacts with teachers.



Fig. 7. A good teacher knows how to use the Internet and ICTs to help students learning. Source: #ConnectedYouthBrazil Research.

#ConnectedYouthBrazil Research also included the youth perception on teachers' competence regarding MIL. Many respondents valued the teacher's knowledge regarding technology tools. For 70% a good teacher knows how to use the Internet and ICTs to help student learning.



Fig. 8. Internet improves the relationship between students and teachers. Source: #ConnectedYouthBrazil Research.

Internet, especially social media, is capable of interfering in the relationship between students and teachers. Curious to note that 26% is undecided, the same number (26%) agree that Internet improves the relationship between students and teachers. And 35% of respondents strongly agree with this issue.



Fig. 9. In the future, with the Internet, teacher will be more a guide to studies. Source: #ConnectedYouthBrazil Research.

More than half of respondents (62%) agree or strongly agree that, with the Internet, teacher will be more "a guide on the side than a sage on the stage". In fact, the teacher's role has been debated facing the technological advancement. In his book "Grown up digital", Don Tapscott points out that young people are remaking every institution of modern life, from politics to education [14]. The author lists some of the ways in which it is occurring, but it is noteworthy to observe that, in education, youth is "forcing a change in the model of pedagogy, from a teacher-focused approach based on instruction to a student-focused model based on collaboration" (2009, p. 11).

That is why most of respondents believe a good teacher knows how to use the Internet and ICTs to help students' learning and he is online taking part in social media, through an Internet that can improve the relationship between students and teachers. The transition from a teacher-focused approach based on instruction to a student-focused model based on collaboration reveals a shift in both students and teachers roles.

4 Final Considerations

This paper aimed to present Brazilian youth perception both on themselves as Internet users and their perception on teacher's competence regarding MIL. According to the results here presented, youngest people believe that Internet access makes homework easier; enhance their performance and self-evaluation for tests (public tender, university admission and others); it provides learning according to their rhythm and it is more suitable for place and time. But, at the same time, Internet disrupts learning and has too much information and hampers best content selection. Furthermore, young people learn more in "face-to-face" classes than in online classes.

Regarding youths' perception on teacher's competence on MIL they consider these skills as very important and they believe in new roles for students and teachers.

#ConnectedYouthBrazil Research also shows that there is still a huge asymmetry regarding the ownership of notebooks and computers throughout the country in comparison with mobile phones. It can be said that mobile phones (even the less sophisticated ones) are the real device to overcome digital divide in Brazil, mostly in the North and Northeast regions, where the access to Internet is made only through them. Brazil is a continental country with immense challenges and contrasts between North and South. This scenario turns national public policies into a guessing game as can be seen in Prof. Dr. Litto statement:

[7] Brazil's ambitions of boosting its importance on the international scenario run the risk of being rendered unfeasible due to its workforce, whose qualification level and numbers are below global standards. Distance learning had its implementation in higher education in Brazil delayed by the conservativism of the academic community, generations of bureaucrats who were not education-oriented, and the National Congress. The criticism leveled in Brazil against distance learning is the result of a lack of knowledge regarding the achievements it has attained abroad, and because of myths which prevent it from being fully used so as to enable a more democratic access to advanced studies and their accreditation. New digital tools, such as Learning Objects, Open Educational Resources, and Massive Open Online Courses, certainly provide the path towards making the teaching/learning process more dynamic in general, and making independent learning possible (Litto, 2013 - 2014, p. 58).

References

- 1. Dickens, C.: A Tale of Two Cities. London: Penguin Books (1985)
- Floridi, L.: Information A Very Short Introduction. London: Oxford University Press. doi:10.1093/actrade/9780199551378.001.0001 (2010)
- 3. Floridi, L.: The Fourth Revolution: How the Infosphere is Reshaping Human Reality. London: Oxford University Press (2014)
- 4. Floridi, L. (Ed.): The Onlife Manifesto: Being Human in a Hyperconnected Era. London: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-04093-6 (2015)
- Fundação Telefônica: Juventude Conectada. São Paulo: Fundação Telefônica. Retrieved 06/18/2015 from http://educacaointegral.org.br/ wpcontent/uploads/2014/08/juventude-conectada-online-1.pdf (2014)
- 6. ICT Education 2014 Research, http://cetic.br/pesquisa/educacao
- Litto, Fredric M.: As interfaces na EAD na Educação Brasileira. In Revista USP, n. 100, 57 – 66. São Paulo: Universidade de São Paulo. Retrieved 11/07/2015 from http://www.abed.org.br/documentos/as_interfaces_da_ead_prof_Litto.pdf (2013 – 2014)
- Passarelli, B., Straubhaar, J, Cuevas-Cerveró, A. (Org.): Handbook of Research on Comparative Approaches to the Digital Age Revolution in Europe and the Americas. 1ed. Hershey, PA: IGI Global, v. 1. DOI: 10.4018/978-1-4666-8740-0 (2015)
- Passarelli, B., Vetritti, F. G. C. de M.: #ConnectedYouthBrazil Research: Emerging Literacies in a Hyperconnected Society. In: Handbook of Research on Comparative Approaches to the Digital Age Revolution in Europe and the Americas. 1ed. Hershey, PA: IGI Global, v. 1. DOI: 10.4018/978-1-4666-8740-0 (2015)

- 10. Passarelli, B., da Silva, A. M., Ramos, F. (Eds.): e-Infocomunicação: estratégias e aplicações. São Paulo: Editora Senac São Paulo (2014)
- Passarelli, B., Angelucci, A.: Interactive Generation Brazil Research: children and teenagers using computers, TV, games and mobile phones. In Rethinking the Conceptual Base for New Practical Applications in Information Value and Quality. IGI Global. DOI:10.4018/978- 1-4666-4562-2 (2013)
- Passarelli, B., Junqueira, A. H.: Gerações interativas no Brasil: crianças e adolescentes diante das telas. São Paulo: Fundação Telefônica Brasil/Escola do Futuro (USP). Retrieved 06/18/2015 from: http://ccvap.futuro.usp.br/page. ef?node=noticias&tipo=a&load=News.view. ef?id=42 (2012)
- Passarelli, B.: Literacias emergentes nas redes sociais: estado da arte e pesquisa qualitativa no observatório da cultura digital. In Atores em Rede: Olhares Luso-Brasileiros. São Paulo: Editora SENAC SP (2010)
- 14. Tapscott, D.: Grown up digital: how the net generation is changing your world. New York: McGraw-Hill (2009)
- 15. UNESCO. Available in http://www.unesco.org/new/en/communication-andinformation/media-development/media-literacy/mil-as-composite-concept/

TTATI - Three-dimensional Technological Approach to Teaching Innovation: prospects for successful teaching and learning

João $Melo^1$, Elda $Melo^2$ and Betânia Ramalho³,

1,2,3 UFRN, Avenida Senador Salgado Filho, 3000, Lagoa Nova, Natal, Brazil, joao.melo@ifpb.edu.br, eldamelo@ufrnet.br, betania.ramalho@terra.com.br

Abstract. Projects for implementing Information Technology in Teaching (ITE) do not achieve the expected success because they concentrate all the effort on specific elements, not focusing on a systemic view that enables to enhance the use of that technology. The goal of this paper is to propose a systemic approach that covers multiple dimensions and enables a successful implementation of information and communication technologies in educational scenario. By combining emerging teaching technologies to coherent didactic strategies, having an appropriate technological infrastructure as support, we will create the necessary lócus to perform a meaningful learning experience. The necessity of attributing meaning to educational innovation, beyond the simple instrumental training, reinforces the dimensional interdependence proposed in this paper.

Keywords: TTATI; ICTs; Infrastructure; Emerging Technologies; Didactic-pedagogical.

1 Introduction

Learning process in digital era cannot disregard factors related to technological infrastructure, emerging technologies and didactic-pedagogical elements. Projects for implementing Information Technology in Teaching (ITE) do not achieve the expected success because they concentrate all the effort on specific elements, not focusing on a systemic view that enables to enhance the use of that technology. Looking at the routine of educational institutions it is common to observe that teachers and students use traditional teaching and learning practices, using technology as the only innovative feature [1]. In this sense, instead of using a book, they use the computer; instead of the black board, they use a projector; instead of pencils, keyboard; instead of library, the web. Therefore, same teaching practices are reproduced and old problems are repeated.

On the other hand, when one think of acting from an innovative perspective, he/she is not quite sure what does that mean. Thus, usually he/she adopts the method of trial and error, seeking a more appropriate way of teaching that goes beyond the traditional model and responds to the aspirations of the information era. Considering this, it is common to notice teachers' reports stating that they do not know which subject, which resource, how, where, when and why making use of such tool that may effect the training needs of students [2]. Those questions arise due to reasons that ultimately fall on one of the dimensions considered by the systemic approach we are proposing in this paper, that is, the three-dimensional approach. This approach comprehends the following dimensions: infrastructure, emerging technologies and didactic-pedagogical aspects. Furthermore, this approach is closely linked to teaching innovation. The goal of this paper is to propose a systemic approach that covers multiple dimensions and enables a successful implementation of information and communication technologies in educational scenario. We propose the "TTATI" approach, acronym of *Three-dimensional Technological Approach to Teaching Innovation*.

In this context, we intend to clarify the general aspects of such approach, as well as to define the terms "innovation", "technological innovation", and "educational innovation", in order to achieve a qualified manner of teaching innovation.

2 Innovation

The term innovation is considered polysemous, plural and complex. It is worth to go back to the Latin origin of the word innovation, which is *innovatio*, meaning renewal. Besides trying to find a concept to the term, innovations have been helping to transform humanity's history. From the first artifacts to stem cells therapies, a vast set of products and processes have permanently changed people's lives.

The dissemination of information and knowledge has been advancing at an accelerated and unprecedented rate [3]. This fact rises primarily from the emergency of information and communication technologies - ICTs, associated with their resulting innovations, considering that a substantial part of many people's lives is either immersed in knowledge-based activities or enabled by high technological content. As a direct impact, a considerable amount of the world economy is rooted on technological-content-based activities, that is, this type of knowledge-based activities.

When we specifically deal with innovations of technological nature, we notice that this kind of innovation corresponds to meaningful technological implementation or improvements in products and processes. Innovation, on the other hand, is what promotes the transformation. Such innovations can include completely new technologies, or can result from the combination of previous technologies applied to new usages, or can derive from the use of new knowledge.

2.1 Educational Innovation

The term educational innovation was defined by Pedró [4] as any dynamic change that aims at adding value to educational processes that promote measurable results. Based on Cunha's work [5], and in order to more precisely indicate the criteria and looks for innovative teaching experiences, we point out their characteristic conditions. Educational innovation requires: a rupture of traditional teaching and learning practices; a participatory management in which the subjects of the innovative process participate of the experience from its origin to the analysis of its results; a reconfiguration of knowledges in which merely dualistic stratifications are abandoned; a reorganization in which the comprehension of the relation theory-practice or practice-theory constitutes a foundational axis of paradigmatic innovation; an organic perspective for the conception, development and evaluation process of the developed experience; a mediation that includes socio-affective relations as meaningful learning conditions; and finally a leading role, since it is noticeable that both students and teachers are subjects of pedagogical practice and even playing different roles, they act as active subjects for their learning practices.



Fig. 1. Educational Innovation - innovative teaching experiences (source: the autor)

In an objective way, Figure 1 shows the key elements that should guide an innovative teaching experience. However, in order to incorporate those elements to educational practice, it is necessary to have a macro understanding of teaching and learning process in its various aspects and demands [6]. In this sense, we present below a systemic approach that, from our point of view, congregates necessary aspects towards achieving effectively innovative teaching on technological and pedagogical basis.

3 TTATI – A systemic approach

The goal of this paper is to propose a systemic approach that covers multiple dimensions and enables a successful implementation of information and communication technologies in educational scenario. We propose the "TTATI" approach, acronym of *Three-dimensional Technological Approach to Teaching Innovation*, an approach that aims at analyzing different dimensions that directly influence the application of ICT's in innovative teaching. The dimensions listed in this approach are infrastructure, emerging technologies and didactic-pedagogical contributions.



Fig. 2. Three-dimensional Technological Approach to Educational Innovation (source: the autor)

TTATI creates an interdependent relationship among the dimensions in which certain parameters influence the choice of other parameters from the same dimension or from different ones. In choosing a subject to teach, for instance, there is a relationship between some type of emerging technology [7] and the infrastructure available at the school. In case Internet connection is a decisive or limiting aspect, parameters for choosing technologies and the didactic-pedagogical dimension will be readjusted. For example, the choice for a technology such as *Mobile Learning* in an environment with limited or impaired connectivity will be an obstacle to the dynamics of teaching and learning process. Thus, the interdependence among the dimensions outlines a common thread that provides the development and execution of teaching and learning process from technological and didactic-pedagogical basis.

Next, we will present a summarized analysis embracing the dimensions addressed in this paper, using daily problem situations as examples.

In relation to the dimension of available infrastructure, we can notice that Internet connection at schools is one of the main factors that makes the systemic teaching approach implementation difficult. This fact becomes more severe when we refer to those schools that are furthest away from great urban centers and end up having limited or no Internet connectivity. Besides, for several schools that have broadband connection (2 to 5 Mbps), such connection is no longer appropriate to deal with some of the technological resources. Even faster connections are being required: ultra-broadband connection -100 Mbps, for example.

When we look at the dimension of emerging technologies, we notice that these are usually implemented to solve specific problems and just after some time they are applied to teaching practices. Examples of that, among others, are: *3D Printing, Electronic Publishing, Games and Gamification, Geolocation, Internet of Things, Machine Learning, Smart Objects, Social Networks.* These informational systems derived to be used in classroom but they were not conceived, *a priori*, to be used in teaching practice.

Both dimensions, infrastructural and technological, are vital to make the technologicalbased innovative teaching effective [8]. However, these two dimensions need to be closely linked to the didactic-pedagogical dimension. By stating this, we seek to emphasize that a physically and virtually well structured environment needs to be well designed in order to have an efficient process. In this sense, it is necessary that teachers are willing to get continuing education enabling them to acquire knowledge of both environment and technological resources. Furthermore, it is important to plan the educational process seeking, from the selection of contents, the definition of clear objectives, choosing methods, techniques, strategies and technological resources in consonance with such objectives. Teachers should make sure they know from where to start and where they intend to go, that is, which competences and learning skills they expect to help the students to develop and in order to do so, teachers should consider the background and the local/global context of their students. Underlying to that, there should be students learning assessment and the monitoring of the whole process. Thus, in order to perform a meaningful learning experience [9], that goes beyond a mere resource replacement, it is important to conduct a didactic transposition and an articulation between theory and practice. Those elements can be added to the teaching and learning process by adopting the TTATI, whose core lays on the supply of necessary conditions to cause a rupture of traditional teaching practice, moving towards not only a technological-based education but also an essentially (trans)formative and viscerally innovative one.

4 Conclusion

Innovative educational practices embrace multiple knowledge and especially require from the subjects of the teaching and learning process a reconfiguration of attitudes. The necessity of attributing meaning to educational innovation, beyond the simple instrumental training, reinforces the dimensional interdependence proposed in this paper.

By combining emerging teaching technologies to coherent didactic strategies, having an appropriate technological infrastructure as support, we will create the necessary *lócus* to perform a meaningful learning experience, fostered by a synergic conjecture that does not dispense creativity, dynamism and innovation.

References

- 1. Pretto, N. Uma escola sem/com futuro: educação e multimídia. EDUFBA, Salvador (2013)
- Melo, J., Melo, E.: Massive open online course in teacher training: between limitations and possibilities. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies 353, 1243-1245 (2015)
- Havelock, R.; Huberman, A. Innovación y problemas de la educación teoría y relidade en los países en desarrollo. UNESCO, Paris (1980)
- 4. Pedró, F. Inspirados pela tecnologia, norteados pela pedagogia: uma abordagem sistêmica das inovações educacionais de base tecnológica. CPEI, Florianópolis (2010)
- 5. Cunha, M. Pedagogia universitária: energias emancipatórias em tempos neoliberais. Junqueira e Marin, Araraquara (2006)
- 6. Inovação e Criatividade na Educação Básica, http://criatividade.mec.gov.br
- 7. Johnson, L., Adams, S., Estrada, V., Freeman, A.N.: Horizon Report: 2014 Higher Education Edition. The New Media Consortium, Austin (2014)
- 8. Siemens, G.: Knowing knowledge. Complexive Inc., Winnipeg (2006)
- 9. Ausubel, D. P. The psychology of meaningful verbal learning. Grune & Stratton, New York (1963)

Systematic Review of Literature: the contributions to the learning process by digital technologies and pedagogical architectures

Patricia Fiuza¹, Roberta Ribas Mocelin¹

¹ Federal University of Santa Catarina, Rodovia Governador Jorge Lacerda, 3201, Araranguá – SC, Brazil pjfiuza@yahoo.com.br betamocelin@hotmail.com

Abstract. This article presents how the interactions between digital technologies and learning processes have been studied in the last years. Using the Systematic Review of Literature it was possible to identify and analyze the studies involved with this subject since the first registered publication until the most recent. This way, it was clear to comprehend what information there is about it, and what still can be explored with new studies. It was discovered that there is still a lot to be studied about the possible contributions of digital technologies and pedagogical architectures on learning processes.

Keywords: digital technologies, pedagogical architectures, systematic review, learning.

1 Introduction

The technological advances are transforming the way how the human being interacts with the world. The communication happens in many ways, therefore people are always sending and receiving information. With a great variety of devices on sale, and being some of them considered essential nowadays for the most users, it is almost impossible that there is not any interference on how people learn.

In the last decades, the inclusion of computers and digital devices in schools have been a growing effort, even by governmental initiatives, hoping to promote the digital inclusion of the students as well as promote a teaching method more connected with the extra class experiences of the students [1]. However, there is still some difficulty to employ digital technologies in favor of pedagogical processes, because of a lack of interest or prepare of the teachers and tutors, even though these technologies are recognized as a beneficial factor of innovation in education. Vallejo [2] says that the use of digital tools offer independence of time and place, as well as of learning rhythm, becoming a great resource once it adapts to the individual needs.

Thus, this study seeks to comprehend, by using the Systematic Review of Literature (SRL), how digital technologies contribute and relate with pedagogical architectures, and which are the effects of this relationship on learning processes. Find this

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_23

understanding is possible by identifying and analyzing studies that address this matter, since the oldest to the most recent publication.

2 Systematic Review of Literature (SRL)

The Systematic Review of Literature is a research technique, considered replicable, because it follows a standard process in its execution, and transparent, because the steps taken should be specified contributing to the replicability of the method. The main goal of this methodology is to provide an overview about the chosen topic. The SRL revels how the chosen subject has been addressed since the first occurrence in a publication. This is useful to build a base of knowledge about the matter, because it is possible to identify how many times it has been approached and what is the need of more studies about it.

Freire [3] states that the "SRL is a data collection process where stringent reviews of academic publications are required" in order to find evidences about a subject or topic in a particular area. Another SRL important characteristic is the obstruction of bias, once the author cannot freely choose the analyzed data.

A systematic review does not produce new outcomes or a straight answer to an initial question, but it does point what was already studied and what require more studies about a certain question approached by the systematic review. [4]

2.1 Producing a Systematic Review of Literature

2.1.1 Drafting the Research Question

The first step to produce a SRL is to formulate a research question, which is going to be the starting point to search studies related to this question. The goal is to characterize the scenario in which the question is being asked. The question needs to be well elaborated to clearly expose what is wanted to comprehend, and with the required boundaries of the subject.

2.1.2 Choosing the Database and Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Having prepared the research question, it is necessary to define which database is going to be used to gather the publications related with the question. It is also important to define the criteria that establish which studies are relevant to the research: the inclusion and exclusion criteria applied to the studies found in the database.

2.1.3 Chosen Studies' Critical Analysis

At this stage, the information provided by the studies requires an analysis in order to identify those which are closer with the context of the research question. This analysis

can be quantitative, qualitative, about the theory, or a combination of all this options. In some cases, specialized software can be used to execute this analysis.

2.1.4 Chosen Studies' Analysis and Synthesis

Having found the studies more related with the research question, a deep analysis is required, in order to present a synthesis about them. There are many methods to produce this synthesis, but the most common is the narrative method that allows an abstract about the study in question.

3 Systematic Review's Outcomes

This work consists in an exploratory descriptive research with a quantitative approach, using bibliographic data and statistic descriptive methods. The SRL was chosen to execute an investigation about digital technology in education and pedagogical architectures. The intention was to discover when the research about this matter had begun, and how it has been developed as the time goes by, seeking to answer the research question about "which are the scientific publication's tendencies and origins about how digital technologies and pedagogical architectures have contributed in learning processes?"

The database chosen was the international database SCOPUS. On September 2nd, 2015 the research was executed employing a sequential filtering system reaching the final amount of 29 (twenty-nine) articles that supposedly had some relation with digital technologies and pedagogical architectures. The filtering system was made in the following way:

Sequency	Filter	Result
1 st	Education AND Technolog*	117.513 articles found
2 nd	Digital	19.766 articles found
3 rd	Pedagogical	2.999 articles found
4 th	"Digital Technolog*"	414 articles found
5 th	Pedagogical Architectures	29 articles found

Table 1. Filter applied to the reserch at SCOPUS

After the filtering, the exclusion criteria was defined, excluding books, books chapters and conference reviews. The included ones were articles and papers. It is important to point that the each work had their own classification in SCOPUS database, and they were included or excluded accordingly with the respectively SCOPUS classification. This way, 9 (nine) studies were dismissed, now reaching the amount of 20 (twenty) studies having the following distribution: papers represent 40% of the total and articles represent 60% of the total.

Turns out that the articles aimed to this subject are recent, being the first publication dated from 2001. The publication's apex occurred in 2008 with 5 (five) published articles, representing 25% of the total, as showed in figure 1.



Fig. 1. Documents published by year

Another relevant aspect is that there is not more than one article published by the same author, as figure 2 shows.



Fig. 2. Documents published by author

The following figure 3 represents the amount of articles by country. It can be observed that there are contributions of many countries of different continents. The USA was the location where most presented publication with this subject, contributing with 6 (six) documents. In the second place is the United Kingdom presenting 4 (four) publications, followed by Germany and Australia both with 2 (two) publications. The other countries have published 1 (one) document each.



Fig. 3. Documents published by country

With regard to the field of study, the documents fit within 7 (seven) distinct fields. It was discovered that the majority would fit within more than one field of study, what characterize the subject as multidisciplinary. Figure 4 shows the percentage of studies by separated fields, remembering that many of them fit within more than one field of study, which characterizes them, therefore, as interdisciplinary. The field which most contribute with documents was Computer Science, followed by Social Sciences and Engineering.



Fig. 4. Documents published by field of study

The next step was to analyze all abstracts, in order to comprehend the subject and goal of each study, to identify the ones that were more related with the initial subject of this work. Many of the studies were focused in teaching fields more specific, as certain university courses, what is out of this research's boundaries, which seeks to comprehend about teaching methods with digital technologies in a general way, especially in elementary and high school. Therefore, only 5 (five) of the 20 (twenty) initial studies were selected to be analyzed deeper by observing the following criteria:

- their adaptability in different educational contexts;
- the studies' offer of practical examples;

3.1 Chosen Articles' Overview

The SRL about the studies in inclinations and origins' field, relating with digital technologies and pedagogical architectures and its contributions in learning processes, revealed a recent and undeveloped area. In this context, this stage's goal is getting to know which scopes and outcomes are presented in the publications, field of study and authors selected by this research.

Order	Article's title	Author	Publication's Location
1°	Digital Technology: Building Pedagogical Bridges Between Secondary and Higher Education with a Focus on Architectural Engineering Technology	James E. Fuller	American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference and Exposition
2°	Examining the impact of off-task multi- tasking with technology on real-time classroom learning	Eileen Wood. Et al.	Computers and Education
3°	Scripted Collaboration to Guide de Pedagogy and Architecture of Digital Learning Games	Stravos Demetriadis, Thrasyvoulos Tsiatsos, Anastasios Karakostas	Proceedings of the 6 th European Conference on Games Based Learning
4°	Technology and Reform-Based Science Education	Danielle E. Dani, Kathleen M. Koenig	Theory Into Practice
5°	Conceptualising Teachers' Professional Learning with Web 2.0	Kevin John Burden	Campus-Wide Information Systems

 Table 2. Chosen Articles

The first article results from the author's research, dialog and collaboration with a local school district. First, he support that technology in education can be found in three different ways: it can supplement the traditional curriculum, it can improve the traditional curriculum or a specific curriculum can be developed for technology driven teaching.

After presenting these initial concepts, he argues that it is necessary to build links between K-12 (elementary and high school) and higher education to smooth the students' transition and connect teachers and students of both levels. The author was a technology committee member, created by the local school district superintendent and formed by parents, educators, technologists and administrators. The committee's goal was to evaluate and find solutions for some questions involving K-12 education. Systematic Review of Literature: The Contributions to the Learning ...

In the author's opinion it is necessary that the students comprehend the technology's role in society, and not only present technology as a learning tool. By achieving this it would be possible to develop long-range curriculum and pedagogy. He states that this would be truthful students' education for technology, and not only a training of how to use it. The author also argues that the courses offered on grades 11-12 should be preparing the students for the transition to higher education, reinforcing technologic aspects.

The authors' goal in the second article was to analyze the impact of off task multitasking with digital technology while in a real-time classroom university lecture. It was performed an experiment with 145 students. It was assign a task for each participant in order to repeat it for three consecutive lectures.

Task	Amount of participants
Facebook TM	21 students
Texting using cellphone	21 students
Word-processing note-taking	21 students
Paper-and-pencil note-taking	21 students
MSN messaging	20 students
Emailing	20 students
Natural use of technology condition	21 students

Table 3. Distribution of tasks

By the end of each lecture the students answered a 15 item quiz about the content presentend by the professor in the lecture, and also filled a survey in order to mesure the students' fidelity in doing the assigned task.

The authors had three hypotheses: a) students in off task multitasking would have a poorer performance; b) it is possible for students in off task multitasking improve their performance once they get more practice over the three lessons; c) it was expected that students might engage in more tasks than it was assigned to them, and that is why they filled the fidelity measure survey.

The examination tests were analyzed, and brought the conclusion that students multitasking with FacebookTM and MSN messaging had worse performance than the ones who used paper-and-pencil note-taking. This outcome partially supports the first authors' hypotheses.

The second analysis was about the performance in each lecture. The outcomes indicated that the best general performance occurred in the second session, while the general performance in the first and in third sessions were practically equal. This fact showed that there was no enhancement in students' performances even acquiring more practice in multitasking, what disagrees with the second hypothesis.

The analysis of the fidelity test measure revealed that on average 57% of the students reported had truly followed the given instructions over the three lessons. The rest of them vary between practicing more tasks than it was asked, not attending to any multitask when it was asked for.

In general the students who did not use any technology during class had significant better performance than the students who used it. It was concluded that the FacebookTM and MSN are the most harmful tools for learning. It is very important to highlight that at any time in this study it was proposed an educative use of technology, but only as an entertainment, having no relation with the lectures' content.

In the third article, the authors investigate and present a framework to use digital learning games through a collaborative method between peers of students, where the instructor uses scripts to guide the participants.

The main idea is the application of the Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning (CSCL), which consists in a variety of educational practices where the peer interaction is the key factor for learning, as well with the technologic tools support for the interactions to happen, once they could be remote (online) or physical interaction. Research point that this system use to fail when students does not have any orientation usually because they does not engage in productive learning interaction by themselves. As a possible solution, the teacher would guide the students using didactic scenarios (scripts) what would lead the students to engage in the collaborative tasks and would facilitate learning interactions. The scripts should offer specific instructions to small groups, such as what to do and, when to do and who may do.

The authors also suggest that a script component should be added in digital learning games environment as a tool, in order to the scripts collaboration learning system occurs almost automatically, depending only of the instructors definitions applied to the game.

In the fourth publication the authors present practical examples of how digital technologies can contribute in science teaching. Different options of techniques and tools are presented:

- Models: virtual environments that facilitate dynamic or static representation of scientific concepts, phenomena, system or complex or abstract processes. The models motivate the students and make possible the study of a given subject in a more practical way. There is also the possibility of the students to build their own models.
- Tutorials: virtual environments that allow scientific representation of a specific subject through programmed instructions. They are interactives, have immediate feedback and can be adjusted accordingly the needs of each student. It is a great option to reinforcement of students with learning problems.
- Electronic voting machines: small devices that allow the students' interaction in the lecture by given their opinion/answer. Usually questions are displayed in presentations in the class and the students pick an option and vote on it using the voting machine. Another device receives the answers and after the voting, an histogram of all responses is displayed. It is a great option to clear up concepts and knowledge failures.
- Simulations: similar with the models, simulations are recommended to practice impossible, extremely difficult or too long experiments. It develops analysis, problem solving and decision making skills. Simulations are also applied

to teach students how to do something, for example teach anatomy and dissect procedures.

- Probeware: educational software composed by hardware with sensors that are able to collect, analyze and organize data almost in real time.
- Virtual learning communities: virtual environment where users of different places can present, discuss and update topics.

The fifth article aims to provide a framework to conceptualize how the technologic characteristics of Web 2.0 can contribute to the teachers' professional learning. The authors relate the learning process with experience, reflection and construction, and they affirm that these factors depend on context, collaboration and mediation.

The authors identify as Web 2.0 characteristics: publication; collaboration, participation and sharing; re-purposing; multi-literacies (extended concept of literacy, adding multimedia content); inquiry and research.

The Web 2.0 characteristics offer some contribution in learning, although they were not meant specifically for educational purposes. This way, the authors highlight three types of technology and how they can contribute to teachers' professional learning:

- Knowledge construction and teacher learning: wikis Wiki is a type of website where users can edit collaborative content. The construction of wiki websites gives teachers the freedom to build and share their knowledge while other teachers also interact with the content.
- Teacher learning through reflection and collaboration: VoiceThread VoiceThread is described as a tool to produce conversation surrounded by medias. It allow writing conversation as well as allows conversation with many kinds of multimedia, what offers the teachers learning with multiliteracies. VoiceThread also develop critical reflection based on the special context that this software provides.
- Teacher learning through experience and construction: 3D worlds 3D environments offer to the users many experiences such as explore, build and manipulate 3D objects. The learning process in 3D environments is highly experimental, since it allows the users to assume a role in the 3D world accordingly with the purpose and context.

4 Conclusions

This article, guided by the SRL method, presented an analysis about the usage of digital technologies in teaching and listed the main studies published so far about this matter. The outcomes revealed that there is a lack of investigations in this field, especially with respect to the possible contributions of the digital technologies usage in elementary and high school, since the higher education has been the main target in analysis about the good or bad effects of digital technologies in teaching. Nevertheless, it was possible to comprehend that when it is used in an organized and teaching orientated way, digital technologies are a powerful instrument to rise the learning quality. The studies selected brought many examples of how digital technologies can

interact and contribute with learning processes, demonstrating many options of approaches to insert technology in education.

The performed analysis confirm that the increase of interest in this matter is a global trend, once there are contributions of several countries and even if the studies are very recent. However, Brazil is still far from this movement, what configures itself a gap to be filled with new studies about digital technologies and pedagogical architectures and its contributions to learning processes.

5 References

- Tajra, S. F.: Informática na Educação: novas ferramentas pedagógicas para o professor na atualidade. Érica, São Paulo (2008)
- Vallejo, A. P., Zwierewicz, M.: Sociedade da informação, educação digital e inclusão. Insular, Florianópolis (2007)
- Freire, P. de S.: Aumente a qualidade e a quantidade de suas publicações científicas. Manual para elaboração de projetos e artigos científicos. CRV, Curitiba (2013)
- Brinner, R. B., Denyer, D.: Systematic Review and Evidence Synthesis as a Practice and Scholarship Tool. In: Rosseau, D. M.: Handbook of evidence-based management: companies, classrooms and research, pp. 328--374. Oxford University Press, New York (2012)
- Demetriadis, S., Tsiatsos, T., Karakostas, A.: Scripted Collaboration to Guide the Pedagogy and Architecture of Digital Learning Games. In: Proceedings of the 6th European Conference on Games Based Learning, pp. 148–154 (2012)
- Burden, K. J.: Conceptualising teachers' professional learning. Capus-Wide Information Systems, pp. 148--161 (2010)
- Fuller, J. E.: Digital Technology: Building Pedagogical Bridges Between Secondary and Higher Education with Focus on Architectural Engineering Technology. In: American Society for Engineering Education Annual Conference and Exposition (2001)
- Dani, D. E., Koenig, T. M.: Technology and Reformed-Based Science Education. Theory Into Practice 47, pp. 204--211 (2008)
- 9. Wood, E., Et al.: Examining the impact of off-task multi-tasking with technology on realtime classroom learning. Computers and Education 58, pp. 365--374 (2012)

Exercise composition: from environment properties to composed problems

Isabel Araújo¹, José João Almeida², and Georgi Smirnov¹

¹ Departamento de Matemática e Aplicações, Universidade do Minho ² Departamento de Informática, Universidade do Minho isaraujo@iol.pt, jj@di.uminho.pt, smirnov@math.uminho.pt

Abstract It is well known that (1) problems have a structure, (2) often this structure comes from its input, output or internal objects, (3) this structure organizes the problem resolution. Decomposition of a problem by its structure is a typical path in problem resolution.

In this article we will do the inverse: composition of simple problems using structure-builder operators.

We will start by (1) discuss problem structures, (2) select a set of important structure-builder operators, (3) study their properties, (4) apply them to a simple math case-study.

1 Introduction

Problems have a structure, usually connected with its input, output or internal objects.

With different names and flavors, problem decomposition was recognized as a crucial step in mathematics, physics and philosophy since the ancient times.

One incredible 4000 years old Egyptian papyrus¹ claimed that (many) problems can be seen as composition of "chip's part problems", "aha problems"² or "Pefsu problems"³. Greeks discussed problem composition in very different domains. Descartes included this subject in the second principle of *Discourse on* the Method.

Today it continues to be a rather challenging task in a wide number of areas.

The study of the problem structures plays a central role in mathematics and computer science areas [3,7].

Some problems can be described as (1) pairs, triples, tuples of problems – (p1,p2,p3), (2) functional composition – p3(p2(p1())), (3) systems of equation problems – (union of constraints), (4) inductive problems – (sequences, trees), and that internal structure can be used to decompose them in smaller problems. We will discuss some common problem structures in next section.

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_24

¹ See Wikipedia, Moscow Mathematical Papyrus

 $^{^2}$ Aha stands for a variable – x in modern math notation.

 $^{^3}$ A pefsu measures the strength of the beer made from a heqat of grain.

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

Problem structures and exercise generation –

Studying the problem structure is a very important subject because: (1) it helps in problem resolution, (a) we can decompose the problem – divide and conquer approaches, (b) we are able to transform the problem into a description where reusable patterns are easier to see; (2) it helps in problem understanding.

In a complementary way, problem structure can be used to assist in problem composition and exercise generation[1,9]. Beside the main problem text, in the area of exercise generation it is necessary to produce the exercise resolution, the suggestions, the results, the verification functions [5], metadata, etc. Problem decomposition and problem structure may guide in the construction of the exercise components. For example, sub-problems: (1) can be used as sub-questions; (2) may organize the generation of resolutions; (3) are crucial in the generation of suggestions; (4) can be used to organize problem recommendation.

Problem structure and didactic strategy –

Problem structure may also be used to systematically present different didactic choices to apply to different kinds of students or different situations. Example:

- ask for sub-problems before asking for the full problem,
- ask for the full problem and suggest sub-problems if necessary,
- incremental strategy.

A simple example –

The following example is presented to briefly illustrates some of the notions previously presented.

Problem 1: Consider figure bellow. Calculate the area of a rectangle measuring 5 m by 10 m with a circular hole with diameter 3 m.



$$p4 = \boxed{p3 \circ (p1, p2) \, :: \, a, b, diameter \rightarrow area(gray)}$$

Problem structure: p1(p2,p3).

Sub-problem order: (p2 before p1); (p3 before p1). Suggestions that can be provided to students:

1. tips to help in the problem decomposition: "start by calculate area(rect)" or "start by calculate area(circ)";
Exercise Composition: From Environment ...

2. suggestion coming from the sub-problems (problem p2, p3 suggestions).

Example of an alternative way of asking the exercise:

Problem 1a: Consider figure with a rectangle measuring 5m by 10m with a circular hole with diameter 3m.

- 1. Calculate the area of the circle. (problem p3)
- 2. Calculate the area of the external rectangle. (problem p2)
- 3. Calculate the area of the gray area (rectangle with the hole). (problem p1)

In this article... We are concerned with problem composition. Using problemstructure based approach we propose:

- from a (mathematical) scenario write the existing properties;
- from each property write the elementary problems;
- from the elementary problems calculate more complex problems and exercises, using the proper problem structures;
- using the usual forward-chaining like approach [6], calculate reasonable exercise item chains.

Our goal is to see how far we can go in *recognizing and organizing the under*lying exercises hidden in a (simple) scenario.

Next section we will start by describing some common problem structure. Following, we will center in a case-study (a geometry scenario) and follow the previously stated steps.

2 Common problem structures

We will start by discussing a set of common problem structures.

Tuples: - pairs, triples, tuples of problems - (p1,p2,p3). Example:

Problem Given the side of a square, calculate its area and perimeter.

 $p: side \rightarrow (area, perimeter)$

is decomposable in a pair of problems

$$(p_1: side \rightarrow area, p_2: side \rightarrow perimeter)$$

Functional composition: -p3(p2(p1())). Example:

Problem Given the perimeter of a square, calculate its area.

 $p: perimeter \rightarrow area$

is a functional composition of

 $(p_2: side \rightarrow area) \circ (p_1: perimeter \rightarrow side)$

System of equation problems: - union of constraints. Example:

Problem Given the perimeter and area of a rectangle calculate its dimensions.

$$p: perimeter, area \rightarrow a, b$$

is a system of equations of two undetermined problems

$$\begin{cases} p_1 : perimeter, a \to b \\ p_2 : area, b \to a \end{cases}$$

Inductive problems: – (sequences, trees). Example:

Problem Given the first 3 numbers of an arithmetic progression calculate the general term.

- **Specific decomposition problems:** In most situations the decomposition strategy is problem specific. For example, "given a polynomial function, find its roots" relies on polynomial factorization.
- **Composition of problems:** In most common situations we want to decompose complex problems in order to solve them. The strategies presented in this section are going to be used in the opposite direction.

In this article we will focus in problems directly derived from a mathematical scenario. Given a mathematical scenario, we want to calculate the problems that we can derive from it: a) each elementary problem is originated by a property of the scenario; b) the composition of elementary problems will allow us to obtain more complex problems.

Each environment property involving variables $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n$, entails *n* elementary problems that given $\{x_i | i \neq k\}$ asks for x_k .

3 Exercise generation by problem composition

In this section we will introduce a mathematical case-study, define its properties, calculate its elementary problems and discuss the most important composition structures.

Problem scenario: Consider the $\Delta[ABC]$, with right angle at *B* and let [BD] be the height in relation to its hypotenuse, as suggested by the figure.



3.1 Scenario properties

The observation of this mathematical scenario allows us to establish some relations between the lengths of the sides of the different triangles. Thus, we can establish 10 different mathematical relations:

- as $f = \overline{AC}$, we have one addition relation:

$$f = a + b \quad S;$$

– as $\Delta[ABC]$, $\Delta[ABD]$ and $\Delta[BDC]$ are right-angle triangles, we have three Pythagorean theorems:

$$c^{2} + d^{2} = f^{2}Pyt_{1}$$
 $b^{2} + e^{2} = c^{2}Pyt_{2}$ $a^{2} + e^{2} = d^{2}Pyt_{3}$

– as $\Delta[ABD]$ and $\Delta[BDC]$ are similar to each other and similar to $\Delta[ABC]$, we can establish nine similarity relations:

$$\frac{c}{d} = \frac{b}{e} = \frac{e}{a}Sim_a \qquad \frac{d}{f} = \frac{e}{c} = \frac{a}{d}Sim_b \qquad \frac{c}{f} = \frac{b}{c} = \frac{e}{d}Sim_c$$

which corresponds to the following six equations:

$c \times e = b \times d Sim_{a1}$	$c \times d = e \times f Sim_{b1}$
$a \times c = d \times e Sim_{a2}$	$d^2 = a \times f \ Sim_{b2}$
$a \times b = e^2$ Sim_{a3}	$c^2 = b \times f Sim_{c1}$

3.2 Elementary problems and their composition

After we establish the mathematical relations of the scenario, we can analyze which exercises can be generated by them.

Using only one of these 10 mathematical relations each time, we can generate 33 problems of different difficulty levels. We will name them *elementary problems*. In each one of this problems we are using one scenario property, and we ask for one unknown variable, given two or three instantiated variables.

After the relations are established and the elementary problems generated, we can go further on, composing them to create more complex exercises.

When we compose problems, we may want to guarantee that:

- the problem has a solution;
- there's an increasing of the difficulty level (from the easier one to the harder), to motivate the student;
- we visited at least one item of each mathematical concept, in order to include all the themes we want to cover;
- question items are in the correct order: question items are not dependent of of the following ones.

To automatically proceed with the composition of elementary problems, we will use the operators:

- tuples (from a certain set of given values, we will obtain the unknown values, using elementary problems not related to each other);
- functional composition (from a certain set of given values, we will obtain one of the unknown values using elementary problems, and knowing this new value, we will obtain the remain unknown value);
- system (to obtain any of the unknown values, we mandatory need the other unknown value).

We will essentially use these operators, as its applicability can easily be seen by the analysis of the elementary problem signatures.

Attending to the scenario presented, we can generate 375 different problems by composition of two elementary problems. From these cases, we will privilege the situations in which all the data defined in the beginning of the exercise is needed, although in some cases, part of the data may not be needed in an earlier stage of the resolution 4 .

3.3 Tuples

When we compose two elementary problems using tuple structure, we are generating an exercise with two independent question items, that are commutable: we can safely change the order of the questions.

Composing elementary problems using tuples structure is outlined in figure:



Note that both the input and output set of the composed problem are the union of, respectively, the input and output sets of the elementary problems. Also, the output set of each elementary problem and the input set of the other elementary problem should be disjoint.

Given P_1 and P_2 elementary problems, with input data I_1 and I_2 , and output data O_1 and O_2 , respectively, a problem composed using tuples (P_1, P_2) is:

$$P_{1} = \begin{vmatrix} T_{1} :: I_{1} \to O_{1} \\ P_{2} = \begin{vmatrix} T_{2} :: I_{2} \to O_{2} \end{vmatrix} \qquad (P_{1}, P_{2}) = \boxed{T_{1}, T_{2} :: I \to O}$$

where the precondition is: $O_1 \cap (I_1 \cup I_2) = \emptyset \land O_2 \cap (I_1 \cup I_2) = \emptyset$ and the postcondition is: $I = (I_1 \cup I_2) \land O = (O_1 \cup O_2)$.

Example: Consider the elementary problems $P_1 \in P_2$:

⁴ Some exercise authors like to give extra data, in order to stimulate the creativity and to develop the critical capacity of the student to select of the information needed, but this aspect will be out of scope of this article.

Exercise Composition: From Environment ...

Problem P_1 : Given b and e, obtain a. Problem P_2 : Given b and e, obtain c. The problem P is given by $P = (P_1, P_2)$. Problem P: Given b and e, obtain a and c.

3.4 Functional composition

The figure outlines the composing of elementary problems using functional composition.



When we compose two elementary problems using functional composition, we generate an exercise with two question items that are sequential: the second item depends on the first – we can not change the order we pose the questions. Furthermore, we can ask only the second question item, increasing the difficulty level and training the student to use the capacity of subdividing a problem in two problems.

The input set of the composed problem is the union of the input sets of the elementary problems excluding the output set of the second elementary problem, and the output set of the composed problem is the union of output set of both elementary problems. In order to have functional composition, the input set of the second elementary problem must contain the output set of the first elementary problem.

Given P_1 and P_2 elementary problems, a problem composed using functional composition $P_2 \circ P_1$ is:

$$P_1 = \boxed{T_1 :: I_1 \to O_1} P_2 = \boxed{T_2 :: I_2 \to O_2}$$
$$P_2 \circ P_1 = \boxed{T_1, T_2 :: I \to O}$$

where the precondition is: $O_1 \cap I_2 \neq \emptyset \land O_2 \cap (I_1 \cup I_2) = \emptyset$ and the postcondition is: $I = (I_1 \cup I_2) \land O_1 \land O = (O_1 \cup O_2)$.

Example: Consider the elementary problems $P_1 \in P_2$:

Problem P_1 : Given b and e, obtain a.

Problem P_2 : Given a and e, obtain d.

The problem P is given by $P = P_2(P_1)$.

Problem P: Given b and e, obtain a and d.

3.5 Systems of equations

Composing problems using systems of equations structure is outlined in figure.



When we compose two elementary problems using systems of equations structure, we are generating one exercise with a single question item, because the two elementary problems are dependent of each other. Besides, we just need to ask for one of the unknown values, increasing the difficulty level, as the student needs to calculate both unknown values.

Some of these composed problems can go beyond the technical capacity of the students so, using certain techniques, such as Gröbner bases ([2,4,10]), can help the creator of the exercise to exclude some situations (inconsistent systems or dependent ones) [8].

Note that the output set of the composed problem is the union of output set of both elementary problems. The input set of the composed problem is the union of the input set of both elementary problems minus their output sets.

where the precondition is: $O_1 \cap I_2 \neq \emptyset \land O_2 \cap I_1 \neq \emptyset$ and the postcondition is: $I = (I_1 \cup I_2) \setminus (O_1 \cup O_2) \land O = (O_1 \cup O_2)$. and the obtained system of equations should be independent and consistent.

Example: Consider the elementary problems $P_1 \in P_2$:

Problem P_1 : Given a and e, obtain d.

Problem P_2 : Given d and f, obtain a.

The problem P: Given e and f, obtain a and d. is given by

$$P = \begin{cases} P_1 \\ P_2 \end{cases}.$$

3.6 Multi composition

Consider the previous Problem P: "Given e and f, obtain a and d."

Analyzing this example, we can easily see that we can expand it to P_f : "Given e and f, obtain all the other variables". At first sight, this seems an unsolvable problem. But, giving a clue (for instance, "use a system of equations to obtain the values of a and d"), the student is able to solve the problem. Note that considering the elementary problems:

 P_3 : Given a and e, obtain b,

 P_4 : Given d, e and f, obtain c,

we have $P_f = (P_3(P), P_4(P))$.

Reordering it in a compact way, we can summarize the process to:

Given e and f,

(it is possible to follow other alternative paths).

Studying the process of composition/decomposition of the exercises gives us something more than just the final result. It ends up to give us some clues about the scholar themes involved in the exercises and, if we associate a name to the properties of the problem, we can present some suggestions to the student (guiding him to the resolution of the problem) and we can automatically generate the resolution of the exercise proposed.

For instance, considering the example presented for functional composition ("Given b and e, obtain a and d"), as P_1 is an elementary problem involving a similarity relation and P_2 is an elementary problem involving a Pythagorean theorem, we can guide the student, generating some clues such as:"Note that a, b and e are in a similarity relation" or "Note that a, d and e are related by a Pythagorean theorem".

Also, we can generate the problem resolution, obtaining:

"As a, b and e are in a similarity relation, we have $a \times b = e^2$. Replacing the values of b and e we obtain a.

As a, d and e are related by a Pythagorean theorem, we have $a^2 + e^2 = d^2$. Replacing the values of a and e we obtain d'.

4 Conclusions

Studying, understanding and training problem decomposition, problem structures, problem composition is a very relevant area. Studying the set of exercises derivable from a scenario, is a very time-consuming task.

Starting from a scenario with explicit stated properties, we can automatically derive a set elementary problems. From these problems, and using only signature constraints rules, we can do a forward-chaining composition of the problems, obtaining a large set of (muti-item) Exercise candidates. The decision about the applicability of the composition operators is exclusively based on the signature of the problem (input and output). These automatically generated exercises are a rich resource: they carry the annotations about its building process (the set of properties used, the involved composition structures, possible suggestions, item order constraints) making them a good base for Exercise-generation activities. Using operators to compose problems, allows us, not only to obtain new and more complex problems, but also to generate suggestions (that can help the student in its resolution), resolutions, metadata (for instance, the themes involved in the new problem) and verification processes.

In some experimental situation some of the generated exercises included interesting cases that escaped human author analysis.

Work is being done to improve: (1) detection of equivalent exercise item chains, (2) compressing of partially equivalent exercises, and exercise sets.

Acknowledgments

This research was partially supported by CMAT, Universidade do Minho, through the projects PEst-OE/MAT/UI0013/2014 and by FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Project Scope UID/CEC/00319/2013.

References

- J. J. Almeida, I. Araújo, I. Brito, N. Carvalho, G. J. Machado, R. M. S. Pereira, and G. Smirnov. Passarola: High-order exercise generation system. In 8th Iberian Conference on Information Systems and Technologies (CISTI), pages 763–767. Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, 2013.
- I. Araújo, Smirnov G., and J. J. Almeida. Bases de Gröbner e geração de exercícios matemáticos com estrutura não determinada. In 10th Iberian Conference on Information Systems and Technologies (CISTI), volume I, pages 428–432. Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, 2015.
- Lex Augusteijn. Sorting morphisms. In S. D. Swierstra et al., editor, LNCS 1608

 Advanced Functional Programming, pages 1–27. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, 1999.
- B. Buchberger. Goröbneoröbner bases: an algorithmic method in polynomial ideal theory. In Multidimensional Systems Theory-Progress, Directions and Open Problems in Multidimensional Systems, pages 184-232. 1985.
- 5. P. Cruz, P. Oliveira, and D. Seabra. Exercise templates with sage. *Tbilisi Mathe*matical Journal, 5(2):37–44, 2012.
- 6. David JC MacKay. Information theory, inference and learning algorithms. Cambridge university press, 2003.
- 7. J.N. Oliveira. *Program Design by Calculation*. Departamento de Informática, Universidade do Minho, 2015. Draft.
- Marek Ryclhik. Maxima Gröbner development site, 2008. http://marekrychlik.com/trac/Grobner.
- C.J. Sangwin and M.J. Grove. STACK: addressing the needs of the neglected learners. ers. In 1st WebALT Conference and Exhibition, Technical University of Eindhoven, Netherlands, pages 81–95, 2006.
- B. Sturmfels. Goröbner bases and convex polytopes. Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society. American Mathematical Soc., 1994.
- 11. W. Wen-tsün. Basic principles of mechanical theorem proving in geometries. Volume I: Part of Elementary Geometries. Science Press, 1984.

Digital Games for Math Literacy: A systematic literature mapping on Brazilian publications

Mayco Farias de Carvalho, Isabela Gasparini, Marcelo da Silva Hounsell

Graduate Program in Applied Computing, Department of Computer Science, Santa Catarina State University

{maycofarias.joi}@gmail.com {marcelo.hounsell,isabela.gasparini}@udesc.br

Abstract. This work surveys the Brazilian scientific production regarding Digital Games (DG) for Math Literacy. Math literacy is divided into three stages: fundamental, numbering and operations. Through a systematic literature mapping, 16.483 papers from all the main events and journals in the computing and informatics in education areas over the last decade were analyzed. Among the few (7) DG found all comply to the features of a Serious Game (SG); most focused on the four basic operations, especially on the multiplication operation; none focused on the fundamentals or numbering; they were meant for children of the first cycle of elementary school; the participation of educators occurred in 5 but in only 2 of them the participation occurred in the designing phase of the game. The majority of SG were evaluated against usability issues rather than learning aspects. The results indicate that Brazilian research on DG for Math Literacy is yet to mature and there is a remarkable absence of SG developments for the initial stages of Math Literacy by the Brazilian scientific community.

Keywords: Educational Games, Serious Games, Numeracy, Math Literacy, Systematic Literature Mapping.

1 Introduction

A video game is a playful activity that consists of actions and player decisions that generate a final result [1]. These actions and decisions are limited by a set of rules and by a space which is, in the case of Digital Games (DG), a computer program [1]. DG are teaching resources with features that can bring benefits to the learning process [2], such as motivation, development of cognitive skills and learning by discovery. According to Abt (1987 *apud* [3]) games that have educational purpose designed from the very beginning and not designed exclusively for fun, i.e. those that were created with the intention of teaching something to the player, are considered SG. "There is an increasing number of Serious Games (SG) addressing the curriculum objectives which could be used for achieving the curricular pedagogical goals in an efficient manner" [4].

Math Literacy is a phenomenon that comes from understanding, interpretating and communicating mathematical contents and are the baseline for the mathematical

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_25

knowledge [5]. Mathematics is important to the child's development as it allows its transformation into a critical citizen, developing autonomy and increasing their ability to solve problems [6]. Math Literacy is composed of several stages and levels of difficulty, the following is a description of the components of each stages:

1) Fundamental stage:

- i. Hierarchical inclusion is the ability to realize that one is included in two; and two is in the three and; so on (Piaget, 1976 *apud* [6]). For instance, present two kinds of animals to a child and ask her to tell you how many animals that set make up;
- Classification is the function of separating objects, personel, facts or ideas in sets [6]. For instance, present various geometric figures of different colors and sizes to kids and ask them to classify the pictures;
- iii. Serialization is the process of comparing objects to establish their differences, placing them in order. [6]. For instance, present several sticks of different sizes to a child and ask her to order them;
- iv. Biunivocal correspondence, or correspondence one to one, is the connection of sets, where a set A has only one correspondent in B set (Piaget, 1975 *apud* [6]) as in a memory game, where one of the cards contains a numeral and another card pairs up with an amount of drawings correspondent to that numeral;
- v. Conservation is the action to realize that the amount of things does not change, despite changing their disposal [6]. For instance, the amount of liquid in two plastic bottles with identical capacities: one is large and short, the other thin and tall;
- 2) Numbering stage:
- i. Decimal System lets you represent numbers with few characters [7]. For instance, acknowledging the numbers and meaning of some quantity;
- ii. Positional Value is presented according to the position that the characters has in a number indicating if it is unity, tenths, hundreds and, so on [7]. For instance, understanding that the number "1" within the number "51" is the unit and the number "5" is the tenth.
- 3) Operations stage: Addition, subtraction, division and multiplication. It is at this stage that one learns the meaning and procedures to perform the four basic mathematical operations.

Games can be used in the classroom for teaching mathematics as a technological resource at various moments of learning and proved to be an effective tool in the mathematics teaching-learning process [8]. "Game Based Learning (GBL) aims at making the learning activities more enjoyable and engaging by using the potential of games mechanics for achieving the (curricular) learning objectives" [4]. "Despite a higher use of repurposed games in mathematics, pre-service teachers showed a preference for using existing Serious Games (SG) designed specifically for the primary education curricular objectives" [4]. Math Literacy has been elected a key area for a Brazilian Ministry of Education program. This program called, PNAIC (National Pact for Literacy at the proper Age), aims to promote both reading and writing literacy as well as math literacy at the right age [9]. EG and SG are two types of DG that can be used to promoting math literacy. If DG have pedagogical potential for learning math, it becomes important to identify how the brazilian scientific community has been approaching this relationship. This is the aim of this paper.

Digital Games for Math Literacy ...

This paper is organized as follows: section 2 presents the systematic literature mapping. Section 3 discusses the research data. Section 4 is a discussion of the data generated by the survey. Finally, in section 5 is the conclusion of this work.

2 Systematic literature mapping of digital games for Math Literacy

Systematic review is a methodology that performs a review of existing literature, and this process takes place in an organized and systematic way, allowing its execution through steps defined and providing great reliability and a solid theoretical basis [10], so it enables a broader view of the primary studies to identify the available evidence in a research area [11]. The present mapping was produced following the procedure described by [11]. The proposed research questions are:

- **RQ1** How to characterize DG for math literacy?
- RQ2 What is the focus on math literacy are covered by DG?
- RQ3 What age range are the DG intended to?
- RQ4 What kind of help educators give to develop DG?
- **RQ5** What kind of assessment is being carried on these games?
- **RQ6** What kind of audience they target?

Thirty-two data sources were screened. Table 1 lists these sources and the amount of papers found at each one considering the last 10 years of publications. These sources were chosen because they cover all major Latin American scientific publications media in the area of 'informatics in education' and 'mathematics education'.

Events									
Acronym – Description	Qty	Acronym – Description	Qty						
SBIE – Brazilian Symposium on Informatics in Education	858	IHC – Brazilian Symposium on Human Factors in Computer Systems	201						
WIE – Workshop in Informatics in Education	426	WRVA – Workshop on Virtual and Augmented Reality	363						
TISE – International Congress on Computers in Education	409	SJEEC – Workshop on Electronic Games, Education and Communication	176						
SBGAMES – Brazilian Symposium on Computer Games and Digital Entertainment	629	WAVE – Workshop on Virtual Environments in Education	18						
SVR – Symposium on Virtual and Augmented Reality	274	WEI – Workshop on Informatics Teaching	304						
	J	ournals							
Acronym – Description	Qty	Acronym – Description	Qty						

Table 1. Events and Journals and their respective amount of papers

RIED – Iberoamerican Journal of Distance Education	175	RENOTE – Journal of New Trends in Education	1142
IEEERITA – Iberoamerican Journal of Learning Technologies	182	RBCA – Brazilian Journal of Applied Computing	94
RITA – Journal of Theoretical and Applied Informatics	149	RIA – Applied Informatics Journal	107
RBIE – Journal of Informatics in Education	201	IETP – Journal of Informatics in Education: Theory and Practice	220
Bolema. Mathematics Education Bulletin (UNESP. Rio Claro)	178	Research Notes (Carlos Chagas Foundation. Printed)	380
Journal of Physics Teaching	734	ComCiência (Unicamp)	715
Proceedings of the Brazilian Academy of Sciences	942	Mathematics Education Research	253
Notes In Public Health (ENSP)	2360	Journal of Pedagogical Studies	314
Science and Public Health	1619	Journal of History of Mathematics	126
Brazilian Journal of Medical Education	617	Journal of Public Health	1260
Brazilian Physics Teaching Notes	287	Health and Society (USP)	770
Total		16483	

Inclusion Criteria (IC) applied over the papers were:

• IC1 – Papers available for free download in full;

• IC2 – Papers classified as complete or full.

Table 2 shows the total publications per year, considering the Inclusion Criteria, which resulted in 16.483 papers.

Types\Year	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	Total
Events	192	292	248	341	309	431	403	422	488	532	3658
Journals	803	883	1031	1278	1436	1374	1437	1488	1572	1523	12825
Totals	995	1175	1279	1619	1745	1805	1840	1910	2060	2055	16483

Table 2. Total publications analyzed per year

In Table 2, the annual production can be observed, for the past 10 years. It can be observed that the amount of paper produced is growing steadily over the last decade.

To the exclusion of papers that do not meet the objective of this literature mapping three Exclusion Criteria (EC) were applied. Due to the absence of a single search engine to cover all these sources, an exhaustive manual search by reading all the titles was made necessary, and in many cases the abstract of the papers was read as well is order to be certain of the paper contribution. The first criterion, EC1, defines the need of the word "mathematics" in the title or abstract. The remaining papers after EC1 are presented in Table 3.

Types\Year	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	Total
Events	10	7	4	11	18	14	14	17	15	18	128
Journals	16	7	3	7	14	10	8	10	15	5	95
Totals	26	14	7	18	32	24	22	27	30	23	223

Table 3. Papers on mathematics

As for EC2, it was decided that the paper should report the use of the games as part of a classroom activity. The remaining items after EC2 totaled 38 papers, and are presented in Table 4:

Table 4. Papers about games and mathematics

Types\Year	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	Total
Events	2	1	2	1	4	1	3	4	4	7	29
Journals	2	0	0	1	2	0	1	1	2	0	9
Totals	4	1	2	2	6	1	4	5	6	7	38

For EC3, it was decided that the game needed to be aiming for math literacy. After applying the filter EC3, just a few papers stood out, as shown in Table 5:

Table 5. Papers on games developed for Math Literacy used in the classroom

Types\Year	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	Total
Events	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	2	2	6
Journals	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	2
Totals	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	2	2	8

As it can be seen, a total of eight papers remained after the application of all criteria and these games will be described in section 3. These 8 papers refer to 7 different games. These references can be found at the reference list marked with a "*"at the beginning.

3 Results

To answer the Research Questions, six characteristics were analysed. The first characteristic observed concerns the games' nature: six authors classify their games as an EG and only one as a SG. As SG definition is not yet so widspreated, it may have influenced the authors while classifying their games as EG rather than SG. Taking the above, all games comply to the definition and can be called SG.

The second characteristic is their focus on the issue of Math Literacy: all games found are used for teaching one or more basic mathematical operations and not for fundamentals stage of literacy (classification, serialization, ordering) or numbering stage (decimal system and positional value). The most frequent operation in the games was multiplication. Graph 1 shows the number of games that deal with each specific operator (notice that a game can deal with more than one operation). The numbers on each slice indicate the amount of games that deals with that item.

The third characteristic is the age targeted: 5 games were indicated for the elementary school-first cycle (ESFC), one for elementary school-second cycle (ESSC) and another for Youths and Adults Education (Y&A) (see Graph 2).



Graph 1 – Math Operators in Games



The fourth characteristic relates to the participation of educators at some stage of the game development, from design to evaluation. Some games did not have the participation of teachers at any stage which is weird considering that they are supposed to be EG/SG. Those who have participated, have done so at the development phase or at the evaluation phase of the game development. Graph 3 shows the results.

The fifth characteristic concerns the type of assessment that was carried out by game developers. In this case the criteria used are varied. However, one can see a predominance of usability assessment compared with players' performance. These data can be seen in Graph 4. The assessment process was performed through pre and post-test with mathematical problems to be solved (three out of seven games) and by observing the behavior and motivation of the players while using the game (four out of seven games). Graph 4 also presents the distribution of evaluation methods because the amounts coincide with the distribution of the type of evaluation.



Graph 3 - Educators involvement



The sixth characteristic identified analyses if the game was developed to meet special needed audience. In this case, only one out of the seven games was developed for people with visual impairment.

4 Discussion

The largest number of papers on the use of games for Math Literacy has been published in scientific events. The work presented in a journal is a master thesis project with two published papers which complement each other and tackle one game. As can be seen in Table 3, only 223 out of the 16,483 papers were found with "games" and "mathematics" terms in their titles. Both journals and events have published papers on Math Literacy, but just a few focused the classroom. Most of the games found were presented at SBIE (Brazilian Symposium of Informatics in Education), all presented in the last two years of the event. Among the journals surveyed, only RENOTE (Journal of New Trends in Education) presented a paper describing the development of a game for Math Literacy.

It can be seen in Graph 1 that the production of games for Math Literacy is small and variable, but shows a slight upward trend in recent years. Most papers initially selected were eventually discarded because showed no details on the development or no use of the games. They were mostly papers describing the use of virtual environments for teaching other subjects along with mathematics or addressed other subjects of mathematics discipline such as training undergrad mathematics teachers.

The answer to RQ1 is that all the games found use basic operations but are not concerned with the sound foundations for Math Literacy. Few games were found and they are mostly incomplete, since they are concerned only with the use of operations and not on how to get to use them. Graph 1, shows that multiplication is the operation most present among the games found (answering RQ2).

To answer RQ3 suffices to analyze Graph 2 where it is possible to identify that most games found are meant for children of the first cycle of elementary school, so

the age group is children from 6 to 10 years old. The participation of teachers in the development of games is there, which can be seen in Graph 3 and answer yes to RQ4, but the amount of games that have been found that do not have this participation is almost equal and worrying.

As for RQ5, it can be answered by looking at Graph 4, where the types of assessments that have been conducted are shown. It can be observed that most of the games demonstrate concerns with usability rather than with its effectiveness for Math Literacy. Only one of the games is intended for an audience considered special, answering RQ6 to yes, and it was done only to the visually impaired.

Due to the lack of a single repository that provides all the proceedings and journals in Table 1, this literature mapping has become more difficult than expected because it took many searches on the internet to get all publications. It demanded reading large amounts of texts and consequently lengthened the search time which was from Dec / 2014 to May / 2015.

Some authors advocate that Serious Games should include subject matter expert (SME) from the very beginning phases of designing and that, by definition, they are required to have a clear purpose beyond entertainment. To that end we understand that all games found comply to the definition although SMEs were not clearly reported. But we also infer that some of the authors might as well be math educators and failed to mention it.

5 Conclusion

Through a systematic mapping, six research questions about digital games for Math Literacy were answered. After analyzing 16.483 papers only 7 games used in classroom were found. Although the number of the games is not statistically meaningful, some observations can be drawn. For instance, the complete absence of games targeting the first stages of Math Literacy indicates a challenge and an opportunity: A challenge in order to design an effective Serious Games (SG) for such so important subject; An opportunity because such initiative is so needed.

The main focus of the games found was the four basic operations and the majority of the games are for a specific age group (from 6 to 10 years old). The participation of educators was found in 5 out of 7 of these games and only 2 have occurred in the development phase. The games have been mainly evaluated for their usability and not for their capability to promoting learning. The vast majority of games were developed for the general public and only one game was developed for a specific audience (visually impaired).

Although the amount of initial studies was big (223) just a few (7) targeted the use of digital games for Math Literacy and were actually used in classroom. We conclude that the scientific community in Brazil is yet to mature on the use of SG for math teaching and this need to be done fast in order to gather information to convince teachers to use games as a valuable instrument for their craft.

As future work, a literature review on the games found in this systematic mapping is necessary to identify how they are addressing the issues of mathematical teaching within the game and the public being benefited by this initiative.

Acknowledgment

The authors would like to thank the Foundation Technological Institute of Joinville (FITEJ) for partial funding project expenses.

References

- Schuytema, P. Design de games: uma abordagem prática. São Paulo: Cengage Learning, (2008). 447 p. In Portuguese
- Savi, R.; Ulbricht, V. R. Jogos Digitais Educacionais: benefícios e desafíos. RENOTE. Revista Novas Tendências na Educação. Porto Alegre, v. 6, n. 1, p. 1-10, (2008). In Portuguese
- 3. Michael, D.; Chen, S. Serious games: Games that educate, train and inform. Thomson Course Technology PTR. Boston, MA. (2005)
- 4. Romero, M; Barma, S. Teaching pre-service teachers to integrate Serious Games in the primary education curriculum International Journal of Serious Games, 2(1):45-54 (2015)
- Danyluk, O. S. Alfabetização Matemática: a escrita da linguagem matemática no processo de Alfabetização. Tese (Doutorado) – Programa de Pós Graduação em Educação. Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, (1997). In Portuguese
- 6. Leonardo, P.P. A Construção do Conceito de Número na Educação Infantil segundo a Perspectiva Piagetiana. trabalho de graduação de curso (Licenciatura em Matemática)-Universidade do Estado de Santa Catarina- UDESC, Joinville. (2013). In Portuguese
- Lourenço, E. M. da Silva; Baiochi, V. T.; Teixeira, A. C. Alfabetização Matemática nas Séries Iniciais: O que é? Como fazer? Revista da Universidade Ibirapuera. São Paulo, v. 4, p. 32-39, (2012). In Portuguese
- Grando, R. C. A, O conhecimento Matemático e o Uso dos Jogos na Sala de Aula. Campinas SP. Tese de Doutorado - Programa de Pós Graduação em Educação, Faculdade de Educação, UNICAMP. (2000). In Portuguese
- 9. PNAIC, O Pacto, Available from http://pacto.mec.gov.br/o-pacto. In Portuguese
- Kitchenham, B. Procedures for performing systematic reviews. Keele, UK, Keele University, v.33, p. 1-26, (2004)
- 11.Petersen, K.; Feldt, R.; Mujaba, S.; Mattson, M. Systematic mapping studies in software engineering. In: Proceedings of the 12th International Conference on Evaluation and Assessment in Software Engineering, volume 17, p. 71-80, (2008)
- *12.Cipriani, O. N.; Monserrat Neto, J.; Souza, I. M. S. de. Construindo um Jogo Para Uso na Educação Matemática. In VI Simpósio Brasileiro de Jogos e Entreenimento Digital -SBGAMES, (2007). In Portuguese
- *13.Santos, W. O.; Silva, A. P.; Junior, C. S. S. da. Conquistando com o Resto: Virtualização de um Jogo para o Ensino de Matemática. In XXV Simpósio Brasileiro de Informática na Educação - SBIE, (2014). In Portuguese
- *14.Cardoso, A.; Giraldello, A. G. C.; Batista, N. A. M. Tabuada Legal: um jogo sério para o ensino de multiplicações. In XXV Simpósio Brasileiro de Informática na Educação - SBIE, (2013). In Portuguese
- *15.Feliciano, V. B.; Sousa, P. M.; Azevedo, D. H.; Luz, R. A.; Borges, B. S.; Azevedo, J. D. Uso da Realidade Virtual no auxílio do Ensino-Aprendizagem da Matemática para o Ensino Fundamental. In IX Workshop de Realidade Virtual e Aumentada - WRVA, p. 1, (2012). In Portuguese
- *16.Silva, B, C. da; Silva, P. P.; Luz, L. P. da; Silva, E. G.; Martins, H. P. Jogos digitais educacionais como instrument didático no processo de ensino-aprendizagem das operações

básicas de matemática. In XXV Simpósio Brasileiro de Informática na Educação - SBIE, p. 682-691, (2014). In Portuguese

- *17.Morais, A. D. D.; Lima, C. L.; Basso, M. V. D. A. Fórmula (-1): desenvolvendo objetos digitais de aprendizagem e estratégias para a aprendizagem das operações com números positivos e negativos. RENOTE. Revista Novas Tendências na Educação. Porto Alegre, v. 6, n. 1, p. 1-10, (2008). In Portuguese
- *18.Morais, A. D. D.; Basso, M. V. D. A.; Lima, C. L. O Campo Multiplicativo a partir do Fórmula (-1): desenvolvendo objetos digitais de aprendizagem e estratégias para a aprendizagem das operações com números positivos e negativos. RENOTE. Revista Novas Tendências na Educação. Porto Alegre, v. 7, n. 1, p. 1-10, (2009). In Portuguese
- *19.Dantas, A. L. P.; Pinto, G. R. R.; Sena, C. P. P. Apresentando o BEM: Um objeto de Aprendizagem para mediar o processo educacional de crianças com deficiência isual e videntes bas operações básicas de Matemática. In XXIV Simpósio Brasileiro de Informática na Educação - SBIE, p. 437-446, (2013). In Portuguese

An approach that support multiple linked representations within an intelligent tutoring system for helping students to develop skills on designing digital circuits

Evandro de Barros Costa¹, Hemilis Joyse Barbosa Rocha², Rômulo Afonso Luna Vianna de Omena², Marcus Aurélio Cordeiro Piancó Júnior¹, Henrique Ferreira Alves¹, Marcos José Ferreira Neto¹, Aleksander Toledo²

¹ Federal University of Alagoas-UFAL, Institute of Computing, Av Lourival Melo Mota, S/N - Tabuleiro dos Martins, Maceió - AL, Brazil

² Federal Institute of Alagoas-IFAL, Informatics in Campus Viçosa, AL, Brazil

{joysesel, romuloomena, marcosjfneto, lektole}@gmail.com {evandro, macpj, hfa}@ic.ufal.br

Abstract. This paper proposes an approach that allows an exploration of three linked representations within a tutoring system for helping students in problem solving situations to develop skills on designing digital logic circuits. Specifically, we provide a learning environment by considering situations that essentially consist of mapping a logic expression into another equivalent. This environment can work on two basic situations: (i) the students are asked to solve problems, having the possibility to receive personalized assistance or (ii) the tutoring system resolves problems asked by students. The problems and solutions have to be specified in two symbolic representations: Boolean algebra or Propositional Logic, having each expression automatically mapped into its equivalent expression displayed in gate logic language. The tutoring system architecture is presented, as well as its aspects of implementation. The proposed and implemented approach to the tutoring system was evaluated through scenarios of problems with adequate coverage, demonstrating its feasibility.

Keywords: Personalized educational systems, Intelligent Tutoring Systems, multiple representations, Digital Circuits.

1 Introduction

Typically an Intelligent Tutoring System (ITS) [1] focuses on providing personalized support to students engaged in educational interactions in a particular domain knowledge. Recently, some studies have worked on multiple representations for a given domain knowledge.

Educators have recognized the importance of providing multiple representations, of a given domain, as a pedagogical strategy for achieving rich understanding and improving learning. In fact, in a broad sense, some studies have presented arguments in favor of the use of multiple representations of a given domain knowledge,

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_26

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

considering its potential to cause positive effects on the learning process [2]. Additionally, they state that during the learning process, switching among different methods may cause more effective learning [3]. Particularly, this importance is relevant when we deal at the same time with abstract and concrete views on the same domain. Here, one important question is on how approximate abstract and concrete approaches in order to help the students to have a unified view between these two abstraction levels.

In this paper we propose a pedagogical approach that allows an exploration of three linked representations within a tutoring system for helping students in problem solving situations to develop skills on designing digital logic circuits. This domain has been worked on designing circuits with the use of approaches, such as Boolean algebra and Logic, as in Gregg [4]. Specifically, we provide a problem-based learning environment by considering situations that essentially consist of mapping a logic expression into another equivalent, for example, the task of simplifying digital circuits that could refer to a specific real problem, like how to the design of logic digital circuit to control the use of seat belt in automobile system designed to sound an alarm under certain conditions.

The proposed learning environment contains an Intelligent Tutoring System [4] with modules responsible for problem solving, evaluation and diagnose, pedagogical planning, as well as, student modeling. Essentially, it works on two basic situations in an available problem space: (i) the students are asked to solve problems, having to each posed problem the possibility to receive personalized assistance from the system, providing them with pedagogical resources according to the needs identified in the evaluation of their student's solutions or even on some doubts from students or (ii) the tutoring system resolves problems asked by students, presenting the solutions step by step, with all the associated justifications. The problems and solutions have to be specified in one of two symbolic representations: Boolean algebra or Propositional Logic, having each expression automatically mapped into its equivalent expression displayed in gate logic language. In this approach, the system permits students to make connections between these three representations, but they have to choice just one symbolic representation to work in each moment.

We present the system architecture and its functionality, as well as its implementation aspects. The proposed and implemented approach to support three representations within the tutoring system was evaluated through scenarios of problems with adequate coverage, demonstrating its feasibility.

2 Related Work

Learning environments with support to multiple representations have been the focus of some studies in the literature. Part of them concentrate on examining the potential benefits of supporting multiple representations by analyzing the main influences on learning process. In particular, Steiner, and M. Stoecklin [5] showed that learners acquire a deep understanding only if they are able to link multiple representations of the same concept and to coordinate between them. The work proposed by Rau, Aleven and Rummel [6] shows an ITS that uses multiple graphical representations as

support to teaching mathematical fractions, just focusing on exploring concepts. In this sense, the authors propose that students use self-explanation, aiming to improve the students' comprehension about the relation between the different graphical representations and the symbolic representation. However, this approach uses multiple representations with support only to visualization to illustrate the involved concepts, but it does not offer a proposition where the student can solve a problem based on the two considered representations. On the other hand, our own past work in Costa et al. [7] shows an ITS for classical logic with focus on solving problems related to check the validity of a given argument. Then, this work is closely related to the present work in terms of its basic design and supporting problem-based learning.

The work proposed by Lukins, Levicki and Burg [8] shows an ITS to teach students basic concepts of propositional logic and theorem-proving techniques. However, one limitation in this work is that it offers just one representation of this domain. Our approach differs from this, mainly on dealing with multiple representations on the knowledge domain and on problem solving learning as a pedagogical approach.

3 Proposed Approach

In what follows, we describe the approach here proposed, presenting aspects concerning the target knowledge domain used in the tutoring system, considering three distinct representations: two symbolic and one visual. In addition, we present the architecture of the tutoring system and its dynamic.

3.1 Multiple representations and Curriculum Structure

As previously stated, the digital circuit subdomain here considered can be interpreted by different approaches, such as Boolean algebra or equivalently by the representations via logic gates or sentences of propositional logic, as illustrated by one example in Figure 1. A digital circuit problem in the proposed system has been addressed by the two symbolic approaches: Boolean algebra and propositional logic, but each generated sentence is automatically translated to one equivalent sentence expressed in logic gates as one visual representation.



Fig.1. Expression described in three different languages.

A curriculum, as in Figure 2, is characterized by three interconnected graph structures: one to specify the topics or pedagogical units, other structure to specify problems that are associated with topics, and another to identify educational resources that lend themselves to knowledge support to help students in problem-solving activities. Then, a curriculum is composed by a set of topics (T). Each topic is associated to a set of problems (P). To each problem we have multiple possible solutions (S) for a particular problem P and a set of Knowledge Support (KS) as a kind of pedagogical resources, for example video, hints. Notice that, in Figure 2, we have expressed the notion of cardinality, characterizing two types of relationships: "one-to-many (1 to n)" and "many-to-many (n to n)." Each one of the three representation languages adopted in our work has an associated curriculum structure. That is, one for Boolean algebra, one to logic, and another to logic gates. To illustrate this structure, let us suppose that we have the following topics for Boolean Algebra: OR Relations, AND Relations, DeMorgan's Laws, Distributive Law, Identity Law, among others.



Fig.2. Curriculum Structure for the Domain.

3.2. Tutoring System Architecture

The architecture of the proposed system, as shown in Figure 3, consists of the following modules: an Expert Module, a Pedagogical Module, a Student Model, Domain Model, and an Interface. The Expert Module is composed of 3 rule-based systems: (1) a Problem Solver that is responsible for solving problem posed by the students, (2) Evaluator that is responsible for evaluating the solutions presented by the student, (3) Diagnoser that is responsible to find the possible cause of a certain error in the solution presented by the student, trying to infer an error from a knowledge base with mal-rules. Each one of these 3 rule-based systems contains a rule base, an inference engine, and an explanation module. In addition, the Expert Module has a Student Modeler component that is responsible for maintaining the student knowledge concerning topics and problems and then updates his profile in the student model. The Pedagogical Module is also a rule-based system that is responsible for the management of the student-tutor interaction, including different roles, such as: (i) task sequencing over the curriculum structure, allowing a personalized navigation, and (ii) a knowledge-based assistant responsible for providing pedagogical support to the student, giving him access to the knowledge support, such as hints, videos. Domain module stores the curriculum structure to be processed by the pedagogical module, as well as, the rule-bases to be used by the expert module. To implement all the involved rule-based mechanisms in this tutoring system, we have used the Inabit expert system shell [9].



Fig.3. Tutoring System Architecture.

3.3. Functional View of the Architecture

To summarize a functional view of the proposed tutoring system, we illustrate the main interactions between the student and the tutoring system, as in Figure 4. In one way, an interaction session starts with the tutor selecting a problem taking into account the information about this student in terms of curriculum structure and student model, and then asks the student to solve the selected problem. In this case,

the student is required to explicit his problem-solving steps, showing each step and the corresponding justification. Then, the student can present a full solution to the posed problem or ask for some hint or even other kind of supporting. If the student presents a full solution, the system will evaluate it and inform the result. In case of correct solution, the student modeler updates the student model and then the pedagogical module decides the next action. If the solution is just partial, the tutor evaluates it and provides some adequate assistance. If the solution is not correct, the diagnoser is requested to find the possible error, exploring its mal-rules and then send the result to pedagogical model to provide the next action, for instance, giving some hint or other kind of assistance to the student. Here, it important to emphasize that during the interaction session, the tutor maintains the information about the context of the interaction student-tutor, and then update the student model. In another way, we have a situation where the student ask the tutor to solve a given problem and then the tutor via Problem Solver module solves the problem, presenting the solution step by step, as well as, presenting justification to each step. To each step, the system displays in particular window, a view on logic gates by showing to the current expression, a correspondent expression in a visual way in terms of logic gates. Alternatively, the student can choice another symbolic representation to check the solution expressed on it.



Fig.4. Interaction Student and Intelligent Tutoring System.

4 Evaluation of the Proposed Approach

The purpose of this section is to evaluate the proposed approach as concept proof, adopting different problem scenarios, aiming to cover the use of the functionalities associated to the defined architecture, emphasizing the components: Problem Solver, Evaluator and Diagnoser. These scenarios cover the tasks for problem solving, evaluation, and diagnosing, working as a kind of test cases used to analyze the system behavior.

4.1. The Contexts of Evaluation and Diagnosing

In this scenario is described a situation where the students are requested to solve

problems as selected by the system, providing steps involved in their proposed solution. Then the system starts an evaluation process via Evaluator Module that in case of existing some step not validated, it calls the Diagnoser Module to try to identify the cause of the supposed error. Hence, let us consider the following example related to a real problem, as illustrated in the three screenshots below, associated to the Figures 5, 6, and 7, concerning the design of a logic digital circuit to control the use of seat belt in automobile system designed to sound an alarm under certain conditions.

roblem Solver	Evaluator	Rules
escription		
car manufacturer want vhen the car is moving a	s to build a circuit nd the doors are o	that should notify the driver via an audible signal when the car is in motion and the seat belt is not locked or also pen. The circuit is that this problem is as follows: $S = AB^*C + AB^*C + AB^*C$; Simplify the expression.
Boolean Algebra	Logic	Angular
Expression	Rule	Concept A B C
$S = A\overline{B}C + A\overline{B}C + ABC$		T ↓ T ↓ T ↓ Submit Solution
$= A(\overline{B}\overline{C} + \overline{B}C + B\overline{C})$	Distributive law	+
		Help Help Kanowe
		Associative law V Submit

Fig.5. Screenshot: Student solving the problem: Step 1.

Problem Solver	Evaluator	Rules
Description A car manufacturer want when the car is moving a	ts to build a circuit tha nd the doors are oper	t should notify the driver via an audible signal when the car is in motion and the seat belt is not locked or also . The circuit is that this problem is as follows: S = AB°C '+ AB' C + ABC '. Simplify the expression.
Boolean Algebra	Logic	Answer
Expression S = A ^~B ^~C v A ^~B ^ C	Rule	
=A(~B ^~C v~B ^ C v B ^	"C) Distributive	law • • I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I
		Associative law Submit

Fig.6. Screenshot: Student solving the problem: Step 2.

P	roblem Solver	Evaluator	Rules							
	Description									
-	Description									
v	car manufacturer want vhen the car is moving a	s to build a circuit that nd the doors are open	c should notify the driver via an audible signal when the car is in motion and the seat belt is not locked or also . The circuit is that this problem is as follows: S = AB'C '+ AB' C + ABC '. Simplify the expression.							
	Boolean Algebra	Logic	Answer							
	Expression	Rule C	ioncept A							
	$S = A\overline{B}\overline{C} + A\overline{B}C + AB\overline{C}$		Submit Solution							
	$= A(\overline{B}C + \overline{B}C + BC)$	Distributive law								
	$= ABC + ((BC + BC)$ $= A_{i}(B,C + (C' + BC))$	De Morgan law • B'))	Remove							

Fig.7. Screenshot: Student solving the problem, providing a step with an error.

The three screenshots showed above represent the main screenshots of the tutoring system, where we can see the following options:

1- Problem solver, Evaluator (and Diagnoser that is hidden) e Rules (laws and properties);

2- Problem Description area;

3- Workspace, where is displayed solution steps. In this part are shown: the expressions in the selected representation, each step used in the solution with the respective used rule, as well as, some assistance resource. This assistance may occur as follows: i) a green cross that indicates the correct application of the rule by the student; or ii) a red X indicating that the expression or application of the rule is incorrect. If something is incorrect, the student can get more details by blue balloon that appears next to the X;

4- Expression Edition: area reserved for the choice of the rule and sending option to partial solution;

5- Circuit: area where the system displays the correspondent circuit as the student will solving the expression using the selected symbolic representation;

6- Answer: area composed by a submit button of the complete solution or even a button with the option "I did not understand", where the student can tell the system that he did not understand the problem;

7- Help: in this area there are two buttons, where the student can seek help system asking for a hint or even watching a video.

4.2. The Context of Problem Solving

In the context of this scenario we describe a situation where the student requests the tutoring system to solve a given problem for him. This problem is adequate to

illustrate the system behavior when the system provides the student with a solution step by step, as well as, the justification linked to each step. Hence, let us consider the following example. The screen of the system contains the following resources:

1- System Options: Problem solver, Evaluator and Rules;

2- Input Expression: area where the student can enter the expression in logic or Boolean algebra and submit for the system to solve;

3- Workspace: Window where the student can observe each step of problem solution, according to the selected representation approach: Boolean algebra or Logic, having the correspondent used rules;

4- Circuit: area where the system displays the correspondent circuit as the student will solving the expression using the selected symbolic representation.



Fig.8. Screenshot – The Problem Solver module solving a Problem step by step.

5 Conclusions and Future Work

In this paper, an approach to explore multiple linked representations within an intelligent tutoring system on digital circuits domain, has been introduced. This system has been designed for helping students in problem solving situations to develop skills on designing digital logic circuits, taking into account a problem-based learning approach, focusing on logic expressions problem solving, dealing with symbolic and visual representations. The preliminary results using this tutoring system are positive, mainly with regard to its feasibility. Therefore, this work set out to answer the following question: "How to provide multiple representations for digital logic domain", having personalized assistance mechanisms to help students in problem solving in the domain of logic digital circuits. For immediate future work, we will invest in performing experiments in a regular digital logic course, in both technical and undergraduate courses.

References

- 1. Woolf, B.P. (2008), "Building Intelligent Interactive Tutors: Student-centered strategies for revolutionizing e-learning. Morgan Kaufmann, San Francisco.
- 2. Shaaron Ainsworth. The functions of multiple representations. Computers & Education, 1999.
- 3. Shaaron E. Ainsworth, P. A. Bibby, and D. J. Wood. Examining the effects of different multiple representational systems in learning primary mathematics. Journal of the Learning Sciences, 2002.
- 4. Gregg, John. Ones and Zeros: Understanding Boolean Algebra, Digital Circuits, and the Logic of Sets. New York: IEEE Press, 1998.
- 5. G.F. Steiner, and M. Stoecklin, Fraction calculation--a didactic approach to constructing mathematical networks. Learning and Instruction 7, 1997, pp. 211-233.
- 6. Martina A. Rau, Vincent Aleven, and Nikol Rummel. Intelligent tutoring systems with multiple representations and self-explanation prompts support learning of fractions. In Proceedings of the Conference on Artificial Intelligence in Education, 2009.
- Costa, E. B., et al. An Agent-based Tutoring System for Learning Propositional Logic Using Multiple Linked Representations. In: Frontiers in Education Conference, 2014, 2014, Madrid. Proceedings of the Frontiers in Education Conference, 2014.
- 8. Lukins, S., Levicki, A., and Burg, J. A tutorial program for propositional logic with human/computer interactive learning. ACM SIGCSE Bulletin, 34(1):381–385, ACM 2002.
- 9. Rocha, R. H. S., et al. "Improving Construction and Maintenance of Agent- based Applications through an Integration of Shell and Software Framework Approaches." Encontro Nacional de Inteligência Artificial (2012).

Open Course Ware (OCW) as support to the Social and **Collaborative Learning**

Samanta Cueva¹, Germania Rodriguez¹ and Oscar Marbán²

¹ Universidad Técnica Particular de Loja, Departamento de Ciencias de la Computación y Electrónica, San Cavetano Alto, Loja, Ecuador ² Escuela Universitaria de Diseño, Innovación y Tecnología, Calle Alfonso XIII, Madrid,

España

{spcueva, grrodriguez }@utpl.edu.ec {oscar.marban }@esne.es

Abstract. The Web 2.0 technologies have significantly increased the access and use of contents on the websites, in the field of Education OCW provide students, faculties and self-learners the opportunity to access the prestigious Universities in the world. The aim of this study is to propose the integration of social technologies in the cycle of production and publishing of OCW in order to enhance the social and collaborative learning. The proposal is based on the analysis of literature review and application of quantitative and qualitative methods in a case study, the level of acceptance and expectations of integrating social technologies in Open Educational Resources (REA). The obtained results are a social and collaborative production cycle (REACS) complemented by social technologies implemented to Educommons platform to promote access, use and collaboration of this kind of resources.

Keywords: Education, Technology, resources, OCW, collective intelligence, collaborative learning, social web, social networks.

1 Introduction

The introduction of the social web in education assumes that student learning processes have a social, personal and dynamic character; knowledge will be explicitly acquired and interactive within a continuous process; and education will be more creative, participatory and socializing [1]. With exponential advances in technology occurring at a faster pace than social adaptation, educational challenges will be evolving in parallel to make possible adjustments between technology and society [2].

Open Educational Resources (OER) were defined at the 2002 UNESCO Forum, as follows: "[...] the digital materials that are offered open-source for educators, students and autodidacts for their use and reuse in education, learning and research" [3]. Although OER and OCW promote access to education, social networks are booming technologies that can provide tools for social learning. We believe that an integration of the stronger aspects of the web within a reference framework that is applicable to OCW sites will multiply its benefits, such as knowledge and content accessibility, education globalization and student satisfaction. The reference framework includes a

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_27

methodology that is oriented to the social and collaborative production of OCW resources, and it also include a tool that supports the methodology (production cycle) in its implementation phase.

1.1 Technologies for Learning

Learning technologies are the outcome of information and communication technologies (ICT) applied in education. Through collaborative technologies, knowledge is constructed and new spaces for learning are promoted. Educational institutions are increasingly adopting tools and technologies that allow for improved collaboration between teachers and students. Social networks and cloud-based tools are changing the methods by which teachers communicate. Open resources, wikis, and Google 'Apps' are tools that enable the free interchange of ideas and interesting and rapid discussions between teachers and students. As a result, there are greater opportunities for collaboration and an increasing perception of positive change in the dynamics of the teacher-student relationship [4]. The New Media Consortium has stated that the open technological trend has occupied a primary position for short-term (less than a year) and higher education [5] release of content and publication of open resources for transparency and ease of access to data and information.

1.2 Open Course Ware

According to the OCWC, OCW consists of a free digital publication that is open and contains high-quality educational material at the university level. The OCWC is currently composed of more than 289 organizations belonging to 40 countries whose production of OCW courses is at approximately 30000. However, each institution has a specific production process, which can it can be observed in section 2.5

1.3 OCW Production and Platforms

In the production of OER, the needs of the teaching and student communities have to be considered. OER must be delimited within their own action field, meaning that they must be integrated as a project where persons and organizations participate. These organizations have to be experienced in pedagogy and the didactics applied to educational material design. The resulting product has to be attractive for the user, and the existing platforms in the market must be reviewed.

1.4 Design of Learning Models

Open educative design corresponds to the use of instructional design techniques that include the analysis, design, development, usage and resource evaluation that provide the source of the design. These techniques document different elements considered during the process, from the principles, techniques or applied theories to the final artefacts with which the apprentices interact and their usage data [3]. Additionally, in OCW design, one has to consider the elements that are used in an online course design, described in [6]. Learning theories: theories of how a person learns, including the following: a) Pedagogical models, b)Educational system, c) Hypermedia tools.

1.4.1 Instructional Design Models

Open educative design corresponds to the use of instructional design techniques that include the analysis, design, development, usage and resource evaluation that provide the source of the design. The creation of an instructional design model becomes complex according to [7]. In contrast to what can be performed during in-person education, under a distance mode, it is necessary to perform the courses in a structured manner, employing strategies, methodologies, and tools to modify the learning process. With the aim of students obtaining real knowledge, he/she becomes the main object of study because the success of their education is evaluated according to their constant participation. There are many models for instructional design. However, in the analysis Table 1, we have selected the most frequently used model based on the analysis performed by [8]:

Model	Strengths	Weaknesses
ASSURE	Develop a characteristic environment for each student.	The teacher might design the course incompletely or with inappropriate material
DICK AND CAREY	Organization objectives and analysis, specification of the processes that are used to meet the goals.	Each process has a sequence, where if one fails, the entire process stops, causing an increase in the scheduled time.
JONASSEN	To develop critical thinking in each student.	Rigorous teacher preparation that better suits the material used.
ADDIE	Instructional design model commonly used and represented by a workflow that allows each phase to be interconnected with each other, where the result of each phase is the beginning of the next [9].	Closed System

Table 1. Comparison of Instructional Design Models

1.5 OCW Production

The study by [10] concerning OCW initiatives and their platforms analyzed 176 universities worldwide and used the OCWC, Spain and Universia for the data source and data analysis. The study identified the most used platforms in the world as EduCommons 37% and Moodle 25%, followed by other platforms (own university developments) at 25%.

2 Problem statement of reasons

Social and collaborative learning, learning technologies, OER and OCW have broad potential to enable access to knowledge; however, they have not been developed to their full potential, which is shown by the following:

- [11] suggest that there is a wide range of OER for virtually all disciplines. The basic infrastructure for searching and finding is well organized. However, the use of OER in the actual educational practice lags behind the expectations.
- [12] argues that social learning is a key element within the tectonic movements observed in the educational landscape, where the OER correspond to an important feature. However, in the absence of quality interactions around OER, their potential to enhance or even transform learning is greatly reduced.

However, [13] in their book The New Social Learning, provide a good contextualization of the possible solution: "social media is the technology used to join three or more persons, and social learning is participating with others to make sense of new ideas. What is new is how hard you work together."

In a review of methods for OER creation, [14] conclude that there are few systematic methods for the creation and acceptance of appropriate OER. In addition, they suggest that little attention has been provided to the adoption of technologies, such as the Web 2.0 and the Semantic, even after being considered in [15] and despite the great potential of these technologies to effectively contribute to the development, publication and search for OER. In [16] suggested that the creation and use of digital content in the open educational movement within Latin American networks still require work on the collaborative culture and resource sharing, analysis of technologies for the production and publication of educational resources, impact of using these resources at different educational levels and long-term sustainability of an open education project.

To influence this approach, it is necessary to analyze the production cycles of the most important institutional OCW sites. Initiatives such as the Degree Directory categorize the OCW sites, performing a ranking of OCW courses and areas of expertise. Similarly, the Unit of Scientific Culture and Promotion of Research at the Universidad de Murcia ranks the OCW sites only by the number of courses offered at the institutional OCW site. However, these categories are limited to just one variable or indicator. Therefore, this paper has provided a categorization based on various indicators to determine the relevance of OCW sites based on the parameters in [17] which have been updated in [18]. These are detailed in Table 2.

Indicators	Indicators proposed in (Webometrics, 2014)	
N° of visits	Visibility (aytomal links)	
N° of results in searches on Google	visionity (external miks)	
sites	Altametrics	
Nº of recourses	Size in N° of pages	
IN OI resources	Rich Archives	
N° of citations in indexed databases	Google Scholar	

Table 2. Correlation of indicators for OCW site ranking.

The proposed indicators are consistent with the nature of the OCW sites and can detect maturity in the diffusion process and investigation of OCW sites. The proposed indicators are described below.

- **Number of visits**: This parameter is known as the traffic rank; it determines the popularity of a website based on the number of visitors [19]. This was obtained of the number of monthly visits average was obtained for each site using the traffic estimate tool.
- Number of sites returned with a Google search: The results obtained on the following search sites are considered to demonstrate the visibility of the OCW sites, Google site search indicator, the direct observation technique for data collection was used, and it corresponds to a technique where the researcher takes data directly from the population without questionnaires and interviewers. According to [20] the participation and observations of researchers in virtual environments develop with more dynamism and interaction.
- **Number of resources**: This parameter is used to determine the number of published courses, and it checks whether there is a process for the publication of the OCW courses within the institution. These data have been obtained using the technique of direct observation. It should be noted that there are sites that indicate the total number of published OCW and others where the total number of courses had to be counted.
- Number of citations in scientific databases: This parameter allows for the demonstration of the scientific quality of research undertaken and therefore the corresponding visibility in research related to OCW. The remaining sites correspond to OCW sites appearing with greater citations in indexed databases.

A comparative study has been conducted by collecting data from institutional OCW sites. This information is stored in a format that allows for building comparative tables according to the established indicators. Table 3 describes the assigned weights for the proposed indicators in Table 2. The weights are consistent with the weights given in [18]

PROPOSED PARAMETERS			PROPOSED PARAMETERS IN (Webometrics, 2014)		
INDICATORS	WEIG HT (%)	ARGUMENT	INDICATORS	WEIG HT (%)	
N° of visits	10	Website popularity	Visibility (external	25	
N° of results			links)	23	
for Google site searches	40	Visibility of the OCW site	Altametrics	25	
N° of resources	20	Greater number of resources that a OCW has. Shows that a structure from the OCW creation could exist. Therefore, it is possible that it has been developed following a standard process	Rich Archives	10	
N° of citations	30	Quality of the research	Google Scholar	30	

Table 3. Parameters proposed for RSOCW

in indexed	works around OCW. The
databases	quality is associated with a
	sequential process.

The following metric was defined to determine the relevance of the OCW sites: RSOCW = p1(P1) + p2(P2) + p3(P3) + p4(P4)

Where:	
P=Number of visits	p=10%
P2=Number of results in Google sites	p2=40%
P3=Number of resources	p3=20%
P4=Number of citations in indexed databases	p4=30%

The results obtained by applying the metrics are shown in Figure 1.



Fig. 1. Relevance of OCW sites

Based on the results in Figure 1, we have selected the five institutional OCW sites that have a higher score. These will be the targets of the methodology analysis for building OCW. In addition, the Technical University of Loja is also included because it is the site where the proposal described in Chapter 3 is going to be implemented. The analysis of each OCW site for the process of creating OCW will then be performed. It is evident that there is no standard methodology, with each OCW site adapting a methodology in accordance with its institutional policies; this is shown in Table 4:

Table 4. P	roduction	methodologies	for OCW	and utilized	platforms
------------	-----------	---------------	---------	--------------	-----------

OCW sites			Methodologies for Instructional Design	Platform
Massachusetts Institute of Te (http://ocw.mit.edu/)	chnology		Own Model	MIT OCW
Universidad Politécnica (http://ocw.upm.es/)	ı de	Madrid	Shared Model	EduCommon
Universidad Carlos III (http://ocw.uc3 m.es/)			Own Model	EduCommon
Delft University of Technology (TUDelft) (http://ocw.tudelft.nl/)			Own Model	Туро

TUFS University (http://ocw.tufts.edu/)	Own Model	
Universidad Técnica Particular de Loja	Own Model	EduCommon
(http://ocw.utpl.edu.ec)		

From the previous analysis, we conclude that there is no standardized process of creating an OCW. Thus, it is unclear what processes are used by institutions and/or associations in the production of OCW courses. The objective is to propose a standard process that includes best practices for creating educational resources that compose OCW.

3 Solution proposal

The importance of social technologies lies in the widespread growth of access and use. [21] Garcia (2012) suggests that "social technologies have been introduced recently in the lives of many people who were previously outside the Internet phenomenon... The extraordinary ability of networks to bring together people has caused many to use them with very different purposes." Education and the production and implementation of OER cannot remain oblivious to such social phenomena.

The integration of potential access to and use of social networks in the context of OCW-OER has been analyzed formally [11] and informally [22] (with results and contributions.

This work focuses on the integration of social technologies in the production and implementation phases of OER/OCW to promote social and collaborative learning through a framework composed of the following:

- A production methodology called the production cycle of OER with social components (REACS), which integrates social tools at every production stage of OER/OCW.
- Social technologies that support the implementation of the proposed methodology by integrating social functionalities into the platform where OCW are published.

The next sections describe each of these components:

3.1 Production Cycle for OER with Social Components

The REACS production cycle includes social components in its process for each of the phases. This contributes to a collaborative work among the staff.

The production cycle proposed in [23], shown in Figure 2 is focused on providing flexibility and a continuous improvement of resources; thus, it should be possible to identify an opportunity at any phase. The REACS production cycle is based on the ADDIE instructional model design. In each of the phases, social components have been incorporated that contribute to the social and collaborative learning among students and teachers.



Fig. 2. Production cycle with social and semantic components [23]

Next, we describe on Table 5 all the components an REACS should have in each of its cycle phases, its contribution to social and collaborative learning and expected results.

 Table 5. Phases of REACS with its contribution to social and collaborative learning and expected results

Analysis: To identify the needs of the user to be met by the OCW and answer the following			
questions: What do we need to produce? What is the learning problem? It should be noted that			
teachers and students are considered as users at this stage.			
Contribution to social and collaborative	Expected Results		
learning:			
- Social and collaborative collection of the	- Implementation of social tools, such as blogs,		
course requirements using tools such as	wikis, social network, etc.		
social networks, micro blogging, blogs and	- Requirements of the course students.		
wikis and considering users as a source.	- Suggestions of aspects to consider for the		
- Analysis of the learning requirements in a	course design.		
collaborative manner using tools such as	- Definition of general metadata.		
wikis, blogs and Google Docs.			
Design: To define the structure of a course by	incorporating objectives, content, categorization,		
metadata, policies, licenses and user profiles.			
- Definition of objectives, basic content	- Structure and components of the course.		
structure, categorization and metadata	- Resources that are identified and		
publishing policies through social tools (wikis)	, categorized.		
blogs, Google Docs) to enable effective - Base taxonomy with the general, specific			
participation of designers, experts, educators, and social metadata.			
academic peers, students and staff. Management strategy for metadata.			
- Provide spaces and periods of social feedback			
to raised definitions using social tools.			
Development: To produce the resources accord	ling to the structure defined in the design phase.		
- Reuse available OER social structure with	- Selection of OER applying quality criteria.		
social tools considering quality criteria, such	- Integration of OER developed and reused		
as the evaluation associated with each	from social tools.		
resource, comments, number of views and			
ranking.			
---	---	--	
- Use socially defined metadata to identify			
OER.			
- Develop new OER according to the			
characteristics defined in the design.			
Implementation: Publication of the new OCW	on the OCW institutional site.		
 Disseminate new OCW publications using social tools, such as microblogging, social networking and RSS. Provide new OCW with reputation systems, version control and feedback tracking. Use the socially defined metadata in the analysis and design phases. 	 OCW courses published in the OCW website of the institution. RSS linking related OER with the new OCW. Dissemination of the new course through social tools. OCW tracking tools. 		
- Use tools for monitoring and managing the			
new OCW			
Evaluation: To monitor, control and improve the resource.			
 Monitor the acceptance of the OCW based on assessment received in social tools. Identify potential improvements applicable to OCW 	- Feedback from users of the OCW to enable decision making on the quality and serve as input for the next iteration of the production cycle.		
	 Versioning of documents from the design phase shared in Google docs. Reports of OCW monitoring tools. 		

3.2 Social Functionalities for OCW Platforms

To complement the proposed OER production cycle, we have developed and implemented social features for the EduCommons platform where the OCW are published. Thus, the OER production cycle can be implemented successfully and enhance the social and collaborative learning.

To identify the functionalities to implement, we have utilized the UTPL as a case study and have adapted the approaches in [24] regarding the high use of SNS and [11] on the low level of use of OCW. The results were as follows: 96% of students use SNS. The most used SNS are 29% Facebook, 27% Twitter, 18% and 14% Google+LinkedIn. 67% report a SNS usage time of 2-8 hours per week. 81% believe that it is "very important and important" to incorporate social networking features in OCW. The features considered most relevant are the ability to leave assessments, comments, post contents and posts on other social networks. Only 28% know, use or have used an OCW site. From the results obtained in the study, we have identified the social features suggested as relevant. These must be implemented and are described in Table 5: Having identified the requirements to be implemented, the OCW for this platform is selected. We considered several OCW sites as the most representative (see Table 4), which were selected through direct observation. We then identified the platforms being utilized.

Because the EduCommons platform is the most used [10] and is used by the UTPL, it will be the platform used for development and implementation. EduCommons was developed in the CMS Plone on top of the Zope architecture with a Zope Object Database (ZODB). Prior to development, we performed a systematic

review to identify functionalities available to EduCommons, Plone and Zope. The development of the missing functionalities was performed using Plone Buildouts logic and OpenBD Products. These are integrated, which is feasible because they correspond to a CMS open source template. Table 6 summarizes the development and customization of products made to meet the requirements.

Requirement	Develop	Reuse Code
REQ01: Assess I like button		Х
REQ02: Share Information	Х	
REQ03: Comments		Х
REQ04: Link to social networks		Х
REQ05: Social Widgets		Х
REQ06: Social Tagging	Х	
REQ07: OCW Activity		Х

Table 6. Utilized platforms in OCW

The implementation has been performed for OCW-UTPL on a local server. Figure 3 shows a screenshot of the implemented social features.



Fig. 3. OCW with social functionalities.

Finally, the validation phase was oriented to verify the implemented features. The level of acceptance was measured using two types of tests. The functional testing aimed to identify deficiencies in the functions for which they were created. Communication errors were found for Google+ and Twitter, as well as security checks, in certain developed products. These errors were resolved prior to the following tests. We observed user tests with 0% error and 98% acceptance.

4. Conclusions

The literature review emphasizes that the features, benefits, uses and applications of

OCW evidence that even though they are not the latest evolution of the REA, they represent a challenge for research and application of IT in education because of their potential to democratize access to knowledge of the universities.

This paper presents a development cycle of REA, called REACS, which pretends to substitute the absence of a standard process in the OER development in institutions. The use of REACS aims to standardize the development of content for OCW. At the moment, it has been tested successfully in developing new courses for the OCW of UTPL.

The implementation of the REACS production cycle at UTPL makes it possible to reduce the processing time of production and publication of new OCW in a 50%, which constitutes another contribution of REACS cycle for OCW initiatives.

The production cycle proposed was complemented by social and collaborative components, since it was detected that the use of SNS is quite high in other OCW environments; for that reason, it was concluded that its introduction in the OCW is a benefit, because it promotes social and collaborative learning by incorporating the reuse of existing resources and the collective intelligence which is product of the participation of teachers and students.

The use of this method for producing OCW courses makes emphasis on the usage of collaborative tools that drive university teachers to be part of this type of projects that help both, people as well as students who use them.

5. Future Work

Implementation of the proposal through case study. Implementation of security in social tools used in the production cycle REACS

6. References

- Shang S., Li E., Wu Y., Hou O. (2011) Understanding Web 2.0 service models: A knowledge-creating perspective. Information & Management Volume 48, Issues 4– 5, May 2011, Pages 178–184
- Barragán, R., Mimbrero, C. & Pacheco, R. (2013). Cambios Pedagógicos y Sociales en el Uso de las TIC: U-LEARNING Y U-PORTAFOLIO. Revista Electrónica de Investigación y Docencia (REID), 7-20.
- Sicilia, M.A. (2007). Más allá de los contenidos: compartiendo el diseño de los recursos educativos abiertos. En: Contenidos educativos en abierto. Revista de Universidad y Sociedad del Conocimiento (RUSC). Vol. 4, n.º 1. UOC. (http://goo.gl/40q9c0) (07-12-2013).
- Johnson, L., Adam, S. & Cummins, M. (2012). The NMC Horizon Report: 2012 Higher Education Edition. Austin Texas: The New Media Consortium. (http://goo.gl/6oQ2ZI) (18-06-2013).
- Johnson, L., Adams, S., Cummins, M., Estrada, V., Freeman, A. & Ludgate, H. (2013). NMC Horizon Report: 2013 Higher Education Edition. Austin, Texas: The New Media Consortium. (http://goo.gl/RqHXj0) (07-01-2014).

- Guardia Ortiz, L y A. Sangra Morer. (2006). Diseño instruccional y objetos de aprendizaje; hacia un modelo para el diseño de actividades de evaluación del aprendizaje online. Revista de Educación a Distancia. Universidad de Murcia. España
- Lloréns, B. L., Espinosa, D. Y. & Castro, M. L. (2013). Criterios de una modelo de diseño instruccional y competencia docente para la educación superior escolarizada a distancia apoyada en TIC, 2-21 (http://goo.gl/NMiT2O) (17-02-2014).
- Muñoz, P. (2011). Modelos de Diseño Instrucionales utilizados en ambientes teleinformativos; (http://goo.gl/Z1jjXU) (28-03-2014).
- 9. Belloch, C. (2013). Diseño Instruccional. Entornos virtuales de formación Universitat de Valencia (http://goo.gl/Eo2DbR) (07-11-2014).
- 10. Borrás, O. (2010). Observatorio de plataformas para OCW. GATE Universidad Politécnica de Madrid (http://goo.gl/OYDTmm) (12-01-2013).
- 11. Jacobi, R. & Van der Woert, N. (2012). OER trend report. (http://goo.gl/Pk39zq)
- Ferguson, R. & Buckinham S.(2012). Towards a social learning space for open educational resources. Collaborative Learning 2.0: Open Educational Resources, 309–327. (DOI: http://doi.org/zzw).
- Binghan T., Conner M. (2010) The new social learning. The guide to transforming organizations through Social Media. American Society for Training & Development Press. United States of America.
- Arimoto, M. & Barbosa, E. (2012). A Systematic Review of Methods for Developing Open Educational Resources. International Conference on Computers in Education 2012, 1-8 (http://goo.gl/rVIMi5) (17-01-2013).
- Cueva, S., Rodríguez, G. & Romero, A. (2010). OER's Production Cycle with Social Authorship and Semantic Tools. IEEE Education Engineering Conference, 121-128. (DOI: http://doi.org/bp2d2t).
- 16. Ramirez, M. S. (2012). Creación y uso educativo de contenidos digitales en el Movimiento Abierto: alcances y retos a través de redes latinoamericanas. III Congreso Europeo de Tecnologías de la Información en la Educación y en la Sociedad: una visión crítica, 1-6. Barcelona.
- Aguillo, I., Ortega, J., Fernández, M. & Utrilla, A. (2010). Indicators for a webometric ranking of open access repositories. Scientometrics, Volume 82, Issue 3, 477-486. (DOI: http://doi.org/cb5bkz).
- 18. Webometrics. (2014). Ranking Web of Repositories., January 2014 edition: Altmetrics indicators added!. (http://goo.gl/NPklHn) (07-12-2014).
- Codina, Ll. (2004). Posicionamiento Web: Conceptos y Ciclo de Vida. Hipertext.net Universitat Pompeu Fabra (http://goo.gl/G51z9y) (07-11-2013).
- Orellana, D. & Sánchez, M. C. (2006). Técnicas de Recolección de datos en entornos virtuales más usadas en la investigación cualitativa. Revista de Investigación Educativa, 24(1), 205-222.
- Garcia M. (2012). El aprendizaje cooperativo de las matemáticas en el s.XXI. Trabajo de Fin de master. [En línea]. Recuperado el 24 Enero 2013. Disponible en: http://upcommons.upc.edu/pfc/bitstream/2099.1/17719/1/80641_memoria.pdf
- 22. Marisck, V. & Watkins, K. (2002). Informal and Incidental Learning. Incidential Learning, 25-35. (DOI: http://doi.org/c9w4bp).
- Cueva, S., Rodríguez G. & Tovar E. (2011). Implementation of social and semantic tools into open educational resources production. Global Engineering Education Conference (EDUCON), 712-720. (DOI: http://doi.org/c68tz8)
- 24. Lockyer, L. & Patterson J. (2008). Integrating social networking technologies in education: a case study of a formal learning environment. Eighth IEEE International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (DOI: http://doi.org/d62zpz).

A Hypermedia-based Online Educational System for Assisting Accounting Students in Systems and Information Technology Course

Inés Maria González Vidal¹, Evandro de Barros Costa², Leandro Dias da Silva², Fabrísia Ferreira de Araújo³, Rafael Ferreira⁴

 ¹ University of Havana - UH, Faculty of Accounting and Finance Edif. Mella Str. L No. 353 Havana, Cuba
 ² Federal University of Alagoas - UFAL, Institute of Computing, Av Lourival Melo Mota, S/N - Tabuleiro dos Martins, Maceió - AL, Brazil
 ³ Federal Institute of Alagoas - IFAL, Informatics, R. Dr. Odilon Vasconcelos, 103 -Jatiúca, Maceió - AL, Brazil (and PhD Student in Computer Science at UFCG)
 ⁴ Rural Federal University of Pernambuco - UFRPE, Statistic and Informatics Department,

Rua Dom Manoel de Medeiros, s/n, Dois Irmãos - CEP: 52171-900, Recife - PE, Brazil

{gonzvidal, rafaelflmello, fabrisia.araujo}@gmail.com {evandro, lds} @ic.ufal.br

Abstract. There has been observed, after a questionnaire applied to accounting science students in a public university, a significant lack of motivation of them with respect to the discipline of Systems and Information Technology, as part of the solid formation in this undergraduate course. In addition, it was also observed that there were many different specific interests among the students concerning accounting profession specializations. To mitigate this problem regarding motivation and diversity aspects, we propose an approach using a hypermedia-based online educational system for improving teaching and learning processes in the mentioned discipline for accounting science. This paper gives an overview of our approach with the current system, discussing its design and implementation aspects concerning its main components: adaptive model, student model, and domain model. We evaluated this approach with respect to its associated system and preliminary results indicated that it is feasible concerning its potential for adaptively assisting its users.

Keywords: Online educational systems, Adaptivity, Systems and Information Technology.

1 Introduction

Some studies report the growing disinterest and lack of motivation of undergraduate students with respect to traditional design and the execution of a standard course in the classroom concerning the discipline of Systems and Information Technology. Particularly, in the earlier work [8] data were collected from accounting science students to obtain their opinions about motivations and to know about their

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_28

277

professional interests aspects, including specializations, such as Managerial Accounting, Cost Accounting, and Auditing. Hence, a questionnaire was applied to these students in a public university, then diagnosing a significant lack of motivation of these students with respect to the discipline of Systems and Information Technology, as one of the fundamentals in terms of a solid formation in this area. In addition, we also observed that there were many different interests among these students concerning professional specializations.

From this problematic scenario, we set out the following particular research question: How to design an appropriate educational technology to effectively meet the diverse professional interests of students and also to address the lack of motivation in the context of the mentioned discipline for the course of Accounting Science at the mentioned University? Overall, to mitigate this problem in a previous work [8] was presented evidence that suggested that adaptive hypermedia technology is suitable to provide customized pedagogical resources for students and its adequation to deal with the diversity of students' interests in terms of professional specialization. Then, we follow this track by presenting an adaptive approach using hypermedia-based online educational system for assisting students to accomplish their particular activities, allowing them flexible access to the digital resources they need to know in the mentioned discipline, as well as, recommending appropriate actions during the interaction process. The main idea is still to provide such system to serve as complement of the work in the regular classroom, helping teacher and students in the learning processes, for instance, firstly linking content structure to professional interests. We focus here in extending the system in the mentioned earlier work, taking into account an analysis on the previous system in an experiment involving 94 undergraduate students from the mentioned discipline, investigating some limitations in such system. Hence, we discuss the current system in terms of design and implementation aspects concerning its main components: student model to represent students' profile, domain model to represent the subject matter and domain knowledge, and adaptive model, offering intelligent and adaptive tools to assist the student to interact with the learning environment associated to the educational system.

We evaluated this approach with respect to its associated adaptive system with the rule-based mechanisms added to earlier system, involving its main components, and preliminary results indicated that it is feasible concerning its main purpose in adaptively assisting students and teachers.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. Section 2 presents some background knowledge, giving basic concepts related to the main modules commonly found in an adaptive hypermedia system. Section 3 describes the proposed approach with its adaptive system involving its main requirements, its overall architecture, and its main functionality and interactions among the modules. Section 4 presents an evaluation of the proposed approach, focusing on the current system and offering comments on the preliminary results. Finally, in section 5 we present some conclusions and discuss some future work.

2 Some Background Knowledge

Adaptive technology [6] has been widely used in several areas, including education with, for example, the fields of adaptive hypermedia and Intelligent Tutoring Systems [9]. Particularly, a typical adaptive hypermedia system can be characterized by its aim to offer personalised tools by considering some relevant differences among users and that different individuals are different at different times, therefore taking into account the user's goals, preferences and knowledge [2]. Therefore, such a system usually offers adaptive presentation, providing the different content for users with different knowledge, goals, and background. Furthermore, it also offers adaptive navigation support for guiding the users by providing orientations regarding the exploration of contents. To this aim, the adaptive hypermedia architecture is composed of three models, usefull in educational settings: the user model, the domain model, and the interaction model [3].

The user model is a crucial module in the adaptive hypermedia system that maintains a representation of the user's knowledge state and his preferences [4]. It includes user's (which may be an individual or even a group of people) goals, background knowledge, preferences and needs, which may eventually change overtime. Among several different approaches to student modelling [7] is that where the knowledge for the user model can be acquired implicitly by making inferences about users from their interaction with the system, by carrying out some form of test, or by assigning users generic user categories usually called 'stereotypes' [1].

The domain model defines the knowledge aspects of the application, which includes educational content associated to the concepts, exercises, and other entities of the domain. However, essentially, the primary purpose of this model is to provide a structure for the representation of the domain knowledge.

The interaction (adaptation) model is responsible for providing students with educational resources based on the relationships that exist between the representation of the user model and the representation of the domain model. Therefore, it contains everything, which is concerned with the relationships, which exist between the representation of the users (the user model) and the representation of the application (the domain model) [1].

3 Approach and System Description

Our approach consists of methods and mechanisms to provide a customized educational experience that meets the professional interests and needs specific to each student. The system here described extends a previous work that was designed as a supplement to regular classroom, therefore having the teacher with an active role, participating in the adaptive interaction process. The overall aim is to present content structure in hypermedia module wih a hyperspace and then provides interactions tailored to the students based on their characteristics and domain knowledge, considering the customization of individual (or group) branches through the contents from the hyperspace, taking into account learning activities. Towards this end, we developed a prototype for the online system by focusing on the adaptive mechanisms. In what follows, we describe the approach here proposed, focusing on the aspects concerning the principal elements of the adopted adaptive educational system with a hypermedia module containg a hyperspace.

The conceptual structure for this system follows the reference model presented in Section 2, adapting it to educational purposes, as illustrated in Figure 1, which essentially consists of three models: the student model, the domain model and the adaptive model. But, before discussing the system in itself, we present some comments about the initial phase of this research work to better understand the problem and to influence its solution with the choice of the adaptive educational system.

3.1 Preliminaries

As a starting point in the design phase in a mentioned earlier work, one conducted a survey of 94 students aiming at identifying in advance characteristics of the students with respect to their preferred professional interests in terms of specialization in accounting science, including specializations, such as Managerial Accounting, Cost Accounting, and Auditing. This enabled the definition of course with different paths to follow in the interaction process as in [8], providing possibilities for content adaptation considering different professional interests and needs. It can facilitate the course design to be tailored to each student, taking into account his starting level, where different options for navigating through the content structures of the course are available from domain model as defined in Section 3.2.

The current adaptive hypermedia educational system extends previous work, mainly by investing in improving the adaptive interactions between student-system, but also helping the teacher in some situations. In addition, we have also considered some ideas from an adaptive learning environment that integrated two technologies: Intelligent Tutoring System and Hypertext [5].Then, we have worked on the main components from an adaptive hypermedia system, as in the architecture discussed in Section 2, investing in each one of the main components, as well as, in the interactions between these components.



Fig 1. Conceptual Adaptive Educational System Architecture.

3.2 Domain Model

As previously stated, the Domain Model describes the structure of the knowledge content, representing the domain knowledge, containing a collection of topics with several concepts related to the content and learning objectives of the system, serving to be explored by the students. Associated to each topic also there are activities used to evaluate knowledge acquisition by the student, as well as, there is project as a special kind of activity used to promote the general evaluation covering all the topics. Basically, there two types of activities: open questions or multiple choice questions. In what follows, in Figure 2, is our proposal to the knowledge structure of the target subject, focusing on information system part, which has been used in our application domain from the mentioned course. It includes all the concepts that are going to be presented to the students, as well as, all exercises associated to these concepts. This model uses a hypermedia module with a hyperspace containing a collection of hyperdocuments.

The purpose of this model is to structure the knowledge or information contained in the system to be displayed depending on the professional interests of the student and his needs in terms of contents from the domain.



Design and structure knowledge space in Information System course for Accountants

Fig. 2. Domain Model with the structure knowledge space in Information System course for Accounting.

The general goal is the adaptation of content, which involves generating real-time learning activities, by assembling atomic resources consistent learning activities based on student cognitive requirements.

3.3 Student Model

This module stores information about the student, as a kind of internal representation of the student, taking into account static and dynamic information. Static information is primarily obtained when the student starts a course and informs through a questionnaire his professional interests in terms of specialization related to accounting area, including: Managerial Accounting, Cost Accounting, and Auditing. Dynamic information is captured, by a dynamic student modeling module, according to the performance obtained by the student in activity-solving on the topics, during the course. Therefore, besides the static part, this module contains an evolving descritpion of what the student knows about the subject domain, specifically the concepts and topics from the knowledge domain. To each student in the course, there is a student model associated to him, but we also provide group model to put together students with similar profiles.

This model is an internal representation of the student, stored, maintained and accessed by the system and by the teacher, in order to adapt to each student, providing navigation and presentation of the information according to student needs and

professional interests. Hence, in our proposal, we defined a student model to have three kinds of information in related table structures containing: student's professional interest, domain knowledge concerning the mastering of topics and concepts, and activity-solving performance.

3.4 Adaptive Model

This module is responsible for helping the teacher and the system to adapt the content and the navigation on the hyperspace to each student according to his particular characteristics based on static and dynamic information as stored in the student model. Then, the adaptive navigation mechanism helps students to find their paths into hyperspace, adapting the way to present the links. The same link can lead to different students at different hyperdocuments. The navigation control module is responsible for managing the hyperspace in hypermedia module from domain model and its interaction with the student. In this case, the system can provide navigational support tailored to student, using decision rules to select which concepts should be presented in the hyperspace structure. To this adaptive end, this module uses its navigation control mechanism and information from the student model and from the domain model with its structure containing relationships among the concepts. Therefore, the implementation of this module is also based on a rule-based mechanism. However, as a startpoint a particular mechanism first executes a matching operation that maps the student professional interest to an appropriate content structure from the hyperspace in the domain model. After, during the learning process, another rule-based mechanism helps the teacher to select content feedback to be recommended to be explored by the student, as the student needs, as a consequence of his work on some activity or on a given project. Particularly, when a student makes a mistake with an incorrect answer for a given activity the system notify the teacher informing that an error occurs and then he provides a pedagogical intervention for helping the student.

3.5. Student-System Interactions

As illustrated in Figure 1, firstly the student begins in a first session by logging into the system and then he needs to fill in a form, where, among other things, he is requested to state his professional interests to be stored in student model associated to him. After this introductory part, there is a first adaptive action, where the system uses a matching operation that maps the student interest to into an appropriate content structure path from the hyperspace in the domain model. From now on, the student interacts with the teacher and with the system through the selected content path, where student enters in a kind of activity-based learning approach to be worked individually or in group together other students with similar interests. During this learning process, each student is allowed to freely explore the content available in the hyperspace from the domain model, as well as, he can also explore the content in a guided way where the system offers personalised assistance. Each activity to be solved is associated to topics from domain and it has a defined time slice to be completed. Moreover, student is allowed to request a help in any stage of activity-solving process and in this case, the system displays a resource associated with the skill tested by the activity. After submitting a solution, the student receives one evaluation, any pedagogical recommendation and this evaluation is stored in the student model, updating it. If the student answers incorrectly, or requests help, the system notifies the teacher and then an assistance is provided the teacher. The rule-based mechanism adapts its behavior to student and to teacher based on data from the student model and from the domain model.

4 Evaluation Study and Results

This approach with an earlier hypermedia system was partially evaluated by focusing on the aspects of performance, satisfaction, and motivation, considering data collected from an experiment conducted in a regularly scheduled class sessions, where students interacted with a hypermedia module integrated to the Moodle platform, involving third-year undergraduate students from a large public university. In this context, the assessment of the academic performance gains for the students was based on data from measures on activities and project performed by the students. Overall, the analysis for performance revealed an important increasing. These performance gains suggest that the proposed approach seems interesting. Concerning satisfaction aspect, an activity was accomplished to measure the levels of student satisfactions regarding adaptations of activities taking into account their professional interests. The analysis for satisfaction revealed 28 students from 42 consider their satisfaction level as high. Nevertheless, even with these positive results, the system implemented in the Moodle platform associated with this approach in the mentioned experiment, practically did not offer automatic services to the users. This fact is not interesting neither to teacher nor to students. Therefore, we decided to go further by extending this system to include automatic and adaptive mechanisms based on if-then production rules, as discussed in Section 3, where we provided a presentation related to the main three models: student model, domain model, and adaptive, as well, the interaction protocol among theses models.

The brief evaluation regarding the current system with respect to its adaptive mechanisms to automate part of the personalised student support indicated that they are feasible, they work in the sense all the input-output tests accomplished, the results were positive. This part of the system was tested by two teachers aiming to check its functionality in different scenarios to cover situations where students needed support. Nevertheless, these functionality tests were accomplished with these mechanisms working isolately, but in the future we need to test them integrated to the system as whole and then being used in real courses.

5 Conclusions and Future Work

In this paper, we have presented some of the key aspects of an adaptive approach for hypermedia online system aimed at assisting accounting students in a personalized way to appropriately interact with the digital resources that are part of material of the discipline of Systems and Information Technology. The personalized interaction solution is achieved by the system when it uses static and dynamic information from the student to recommend educational actions to follow in the course or digital resources within the domain. We then designed our customized solution for the main modules in a hypermedia adaptive system, defining a static and dynamic solution for the student model, defining a domain knowledge model, and finally the adaptation model to provide an effective way of navigating on the content associated to domain knowledge, taking into account particular characteristics of each student, including his professional interests that are captured in advance.

Based on the evaluation conducted and results presented in Section 4, concerning previous work, the main conclusions with our approach can be summarized as follows: the students accepted our approach, gaining with it more active participation and satisfaction in the learning process, and increasing in their academic performance. With these positive results, we then extends the earlier system to have automatic mechanisms for adaptively helping students and teachers in educationally exploring content resources from hyperspace in domain model.

As a future work, we need to conduct more experiments with other classes, this time with the proposed extension, as well as, to experiment the approach with the current system applied to similar domains.

References

- 1. Benyon, D., Murray, D. (1993). "Applying user modeling to human-computer interaction design. Artificial Intelligence Review 7 (3-4), 199-225.
- 2. Brusilovsky, P. (2001). Adaptive Hypermedia. User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction 11 (1-2): 87-110.
- 3. Brusilovsky, P. & Peylo, C. Adaptive and intelligent web-based educational systems. International Journal of Artificial Intelligence in Education, 13(2), 159–172. IOS Press. (2003).
- Brusilovsky, P. & Millán, E.. User Models for Adaptive Hypermedia and Adaptive Educational Systems. <u>Lecture Notes in Computer Science</u>, Volume 4321, The Adaptive Web: Methods and Strategies of Web Personalization. Editors: <u>Peter</u> <u>Brusilovsky, Alfred Kobsa, Wolfgang Nejdl</u>. ISBN: 978-3-540-72078-2 (Print) 978-3-540-72079-9 (Online). (2007).
- Costa, E. B.; Pontes, E. V.; Costa, F. P. D.; Jatobá, A. A. HIPERPLAN: Um Ambiente de Aprendizagem Baseado em Hipertextos e Planos. In: Congresso Iberoamericano de Informática na Educativa, 1992, Santo Domingo, 1992. p. 84-90.

- Magnisalis, I., Demetriadis, S., & Karakostas, A. Adaptive and intelligent systems for collaborative learning support: A review of the field. IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies, 4(1), 5-20.. (2011).
- Martins, A. C., Faria, L., Vaz de Carvalho, C., Carrapatoso, E. (2008). User Modeling in Adaptive Hypermedia Educational Systems. Educational Technology & Society, 11(1), 194-207.
- Vidal, I.M.G.; Laurencio, A.; Blanco, L.J. Hipermedia Adaptativa para la formación en Sistemas y Tecnologías de la Información para el Contador. Artículo de Investigación E05A26. Teuken Bidikay Nº 06 (Medellín, Colombia) v Enero - Junio 2015 v ISSN 2215-8405, pp. 81-104. (2015)
- 9. Woolf, B.P. "Building Intelligent Interactive Tutors: Student-centered strategies for revolutionizing e-learning. Morgan Kaufmann, San Francisco.(2008)

Part III Information Technologies in Radiocommunications

A Sum-Rate Maximization Scheme for Ultra-Dense Network¹

Bei Liu¹, Jie Zeng², Xin Su², Xibin Xu², Limin Xiao², ¹Broadband Wireless Access Laboratory, Chongqing University of Posts and Telecommunications ²Tsinghua National Laboratory for Information Science and Technology,

Research Institute of Information Technology, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China Email: <u>liubei@mail.tsinghua.edu.cn</u>

Abstract. This paper considers the power allocation to maximize the sum-rate of the users when the total allocated power is limited in the ultra-dense network (UDN). In the paper, we first regard the interference caused by the specified base station (BS) to the other mobile station (MS) as a constant, and obtain the expression of the allocated power of each BS. However, it is not a closed-form solution, we apply the classic water-filling algorithm to get the optimum power allocation by some times of iterations. Finally, the simulation results show that the power allocation scheme can greatly improve the sum-rate of the users compared to the average power allocation.

Keywords: ultra-dense network, water filling algorithm, sum-rate maximization

1 Introduction

The rapid expansion of the data traffic and the mobile users has proposed some challenging requirements for the future 5G wireless network in terms of the capacity, spectral efficiency, energy efficiency, and so on [1]. Ultra-dense network is expected

¹ This work was supported by China's 863 Project (2015AA01A706), the National S&T Major Project (2014ZX03001011) Science and Technology Program of Beijing (D151100000115003) and Scientific Technological Cooperation Projects and (2015DFT10160B)

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_29

to be an effective method to fulfill these requirements. It brings BS closer to the MS, which make the interference much more complicated [2]. Therefore, some effective methods of resource management should be adopted to alleviate the interference and get the greater capacity.

There have been many researches of the UDN. [3] [4] and [5] analyze the effect of BS density to the network spectrum efficiency (SE). Other researches concentrate on the interference management of ultra-dense network. And nowadays, much attention has been paid to the green communication, so increasing the network throughput with the limited power is necessary in both academic and engineering. [6] gives a strategy to decide the number of BSs to switch off to maximize the energy saving, while maintaining coverage, capacity and quality of service. [7] draws attention to the area throughput and the energy efficiency (EE). The classical water-filling based power allocation is often used in Orthogonal Frequency Division Multiplexing (OFDM) systems [8].

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. In section 2, the system model is described, and the problem is formulated. Then the water-filling based power allocation is detailed in section 3. Section 4 gives the simulation results of achievable sum rate of all the MS in the specified area. Finally, conclusions are drawn in section 5.

2 System Model

We consider a downlink transmission in ultra-dense network, many low-power BS and MS uniformly and randomly distribute in the area, and the number of BS is much larger than the number of MS. Each MS chose the best BS as its serving BS according to the reference signal receiving power (RSRP). In this paper, we assume that each user chooses only one BS as its serving BS, and each BS serves only one MS. Then the redundant BS are closed to avoid the energy consumption and the interference.

2.1 Signal Model

Suppose the system consists of *M* BS and *K* MS M > K. For convenience, denote g_{kk} as the channel gain of the MS *k* and its serving BS,

 $g_{ik}(k=1,2,\dots,K \quad i \neq k)$ as the channel gain of the MS k and the serving BS of the MS i, which is regarded as interference for MS k, and denote s_k and p_k as the transmitting signal and the allocated power of the serving BS of the MS k. Then the received signal of MS k is

$$y_{k} = \sqrt{p_{k}g_{kk}}s_{k} + \sum_{i=1,i\neq k}^{K}\sqrt{p_{i}g_{ik}}s_{i} + n_{k}$$
(1)

Where n_k is the additional white Gaussian noise with distribution $\mathcal{CN}(0,\sigma^2)$.

It is obvious that the three parts in the right side of the equation (1) are the desired signal, interference signals and the noise of the MS k, respectively. And then we can easily obtain the received signal to interference plus noise ratio (SINR) of MS k

$$\operatorname{SINR}_{k} = \frac{g_{kk}p_{k}}{\sum_{i \neq k}^{K} g_{ik}p_{i} + \sigma_{k}^{2}}$$
(2)

According to Shannon capacity formula [9], the achievable rate of MS k can be expressed as

$$R_{k} = B_{k} \log_{2} \left(1 + \text{SINR}_{k}\right) = B_{k} \log_{2} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{K} g_{ik} p_{i} + \sigma_{k}^{2}}{\sum_{i \neq k}^{K} g_{ik} p_{i} + \sigma_{k}^{2}}$$
(3)

2.2 Problem Formulation

This paper aims to maximize the downlink sum rate under the limited total power constraint, since each BS is allocate the equal bandwidth, that is $B_k = B(k = 1, 2, \dots, K)$, we can omit the bandwidth B, and easily denote the objective function as following

$$\max \qquad B\sum_{k=1}^{K} \log_2 \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{K} g_{ik} p_i + \sigma_k^2}{\sum_{i \neq k}^{K} g_{ik} p_i + \sigma_k^2}$$
(4)
st.
$$\sum_{k=1}^{K} p_k \leq P_{\max}$$

where P_{max} is the total available power. It is not easy to prove the convexity of the objective function. However, the problem can be much easier when regard the

interferences of the MS as constants, and then the problem is transformed into a convex constrained optimization. Applying our assumption into the problem to get the convex optimization problem, the Lagrangian Multiplier method can be adopted to solve the optimum power allocation [10]. Define the Lagrangian function as

$$L(p_{k},\lambda) = B \sum_{k=1}^{K} \log_{2} \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{K} g_{ik} p_{i} + \sigma_{k}^{2}}{\sum_{i\neq k}^{K} g_{ik} p_{i} + \sigma_{k}^{2}} + \lambda \left(P_{\max} - \sum_{k=1}^{K} p_{k} \right)$$
(5)

where λ is the Lagrangian multiplier for the total power constraint. Take the partial derivative with respect to p_k , we can obtain

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial p_k} = \frac{1}{\ln 2} \frac{g_{kk}}{g_{kk} p_k} + \sum_{i \neq k} g_{ik} p_i + \sigma_k^2 - \sum_{j \neq k} \frac{\gamma_j p_j g_{ik}}{\sum_{i \neq j} g_{ij} p_i + \sigma_k^2} - \lambda$$
(6)

According to Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) condition, we can set it to zero, and then obtain the expression of p_k , that is

$$p_{k} = \left[\frac{1}{\lambda \ln 2 + \sum_{j \neq k} \frac{\gamma_{j} p_{j} g_{jk}}{\sum_{i \neq j} g_{ij} p_{i} + \sigma_{j}^{2}}} - \frac{1}{\gamma_{k}}\right]^{+}$$
(7)

where $[x]^+ = \max\{x, 0\}$, $\gamma_k = \frac{g_{kk}}{\sum_{i \neq k}^{K} g_{ik} p_i + \sigma_k^2}$. From the form of p_k , it is easy to

find that the allocated power is relative to its channel quality γ_k . This kind of problem can be easily solved by the water-filling algorithm to get the optimum power allocation.

3 Water Filling Based Power Allocation

This section details the water-filling based power allocation. Its main idea is to allocate more power to the high quality channel to acquire more throughput gains. In this part, we give the iteratively searching water filling algorithm, which is to obtain the optimum water-filling level by the iterative formula according to a certain step length. From (7), the allocated power of the serving BS of the MS k is proportional to γ_k . According to the idea of water filling algorithm, when the MS suffers little interference from other BS, its serving BS should be allocated more power to achieve greater sum rate gains. And for the MS which suffer terrible interference, their serving BS should be allocated less and even no power. As [10], regard the interference generated by the BS as the constant, and set

$$\beta = \frac{1}{\lambda \ln 2 + \sum_{j \neq k} \frac{\gamma_j p_j g_{jk}}{\sum_{i \neq j} g_{ij} p_i + \sigma_j^2}}$$
(8)

where β represents the water-filling level, then (8) can be rewritten as

$$p_{k} = \left[\beta - \frac{1}{\gamma_{k}}\right]^{+} (9)$$

We can't get the optimum power allocation directly according to (9), since the optimum water-filling level can't be determined directly. The water-filling level β can be obtained by an iterative method. Fist, give the initial value of β

$$\beta = \frac{1}{K} \left[P_{\max} + \sum_{k=1}^{K} \frac{1}{\gamma_k} \right]$$
(10)

According to the initial water-filling level, the initial power allocation can be obtained. Then update the water-filling level iteratively. The updating rule obeys the following expression

$$\beta \leftarrow \beta + \mu \frac{1}{N_{on}} \left(P_{\max} - \sum_{k=1}^{K} p_k \right)$$
(11)

where $0 < \mu < 1$, is the adjustment step size. N_{on} represents the number of the indeed turn-on BS. Renew the value of β until it converges, the convergence value is the optimum water filling level. According to (9), the optimum power allocation is obtained.

4 Simulation Results

In this section, we evaluate the performance of the both water filling based algorithms by the computer simulations. 100 BS are uniformly and randomly deployed in the $300 \times 300m^2$ area, and 10 MS distribute randomly in the area. The channel is the randomly generated unit variance Rayleigh fading channel. The path loss exponent is

set to 3.75. And the variance of the noise is 0.1. In the following subsections, we show the different performance between the average power allocation and the iteratively searching water filling based power allocation.

As shown in Fig.1, when the average allocated power of each MS various from – 10dBm to 40dBm, the sum rates increase exponentially in terms of the average allocated power. The iteratively searching water filling based power allocation can achieve great improvements of the sum rate, and the greatest gain can reach and even exceed 100%. Because the key idea of the water filling algorithm is when the SINR of the MS is high, allocating more power to it can acquire more rate gains than the MS whose channel qualities are not good enough.



Fig. 1.The achievable sum rates of the iteratively searching water filling algorithm power allocation, the rapid water filling algorithm power allocation and the average power allocation.

5 Conclusions

This paper aims to improve the sum rate of the whole users in the ultra-dense network under the limited total power constraint. We first regard the interference as constant and derive the expression of the allocated power of each user. Since the expression is not a closed-form solution, the iteratively water filling algorithm is applied to obtain the optimum power allocation. From the simulation results, we can see that both the iteratively searching water-filling based power allocation can increase the sum rate by 100% compared to the average power allocation. In the subsequent research, the density of BS can be considered to balance the average rate of each user and the BS deployment cost.

References

- Bhushan, N., Junyi Li, Malladi, D., Gilmore, R., Brenner, D., Damnjanovic, A., Sukhavasi, R., Patel, C., Gerihofer, S.: Network densification: the dominant theme for wireless evolution into 5G. In: Communications Magazine, IEEE., 52, 82--89 (2014)
- X.Gelabert, P. Legg, and C. Qvarfordt: Small Cell Densification Requirements in High Capacity Future Cellular Netwoks. In: Communications Workshops (ICC), 2013 IEEE International Conference on, 1112--1116, Budapest(2013)
- Qi Ren, Jiancun Fan, Xinmin Luo, Zhikun Xu, and Yami Chen: Analysis of Spectral and Energy Efficiency in Ultra-Dense Network. In: Communication Workshop (ICCW), 2015 IEEE International Conference on,2812--2817, London (2015)
- L. Qian, G. Wu, and Q. Hu: Analytical Study on Network Spectrum Efficiency of Ultra Dense Networks. In: Personal Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications, IEEE International Symposium, 2764--2768, London (2013)
- A. G. Gotsis, S. Stefanatos, A. Alexiou: Spatial Coordination Strategies in Future Ultra-Dense Wireless Networks. In: Wireless Communications Systems (ISWCS), 2014 11th International Symposium on, 801--807, Barcelona (2014)
- H. Claussen, I. Ashraf, L. T. W. Ho: Dynamic idle mode procedures for femtocells. In: Bell Labs Tech. J., 15, 95--116, (2010)
- Koudourdis, G. P.: On the Capacity and Energy Efficiency of Network Scheduling in Future Ultra-Dense Networks.In: Computers and Communicatin (ISCC), IEEE Symposium on,1--6,Funchal (2014)
- Jang J, Lee K B, and Lee Y H: Transmit power and bit allocations for OFDM systems in a fading channel. In:Global Telecommunications Conference, 2003. GLOBECOM '03. IEEE, 3, 858--862, (2003)
- Shannon: A Mathematical Theory of Communication. In: The Bell System Technical journal, 27,623--656,(1948)
- Jihwan Kim, Hyang-Won Lee, and Song Chong: Virtual Cell Beamforming in Cooperative Networks.In: IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications. 32, 1126--1138, Jun (2014)

Mobility Load Balancing with Multi-Cells for Parameter Control Resolution in Ultra-Dense Network¹

Qi Zhang $^{\rm 1}$, Xin Su $^{\rm 2}$, Jie Zeng $^{\rm 2}$, Xibin Xu $^{\rm 2}$, Limin Xiao $^{\rm 2}$,

 ¹ Broadband Wireless Access Laboratory, Chongqing University of Posts and Telecommunications
 ² Tsinghua National Laboratory for Information Science and Technology, Research Institute of Information Technology, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China Email: <u>zhangqi123@mail.tsinghua.edu.cn</u>

Abstract. Ultra-Dense Network (UND) is seen as a major development trend in the evolution of future networks, due to its ability to provide more capacity to the whole system and meet higher users' Quality of Service (QoS). Mobility Load Balancing (MLB) is an important Self-Organizing Network (SON) use case in Ultra-Dense Networks. In this paper, we propose a novel algorithm with concurrent MLB among ultra-dense cells. Simulation results show that balancing load among multi-cells by implementing the proposed MLB scheme is compared with the conventional MLB scheme.

Keywords: Ultra-Dense Network, Mobility Load Balancing, handover, Quality of Service.

1 Introduction

Current heterogeneous network is consisted of macro-cells and small cells. This network structure could not be able to meet the traffic demand which is increasing rapidly in future 5G. In [1], it is predicted that the traffic demands would increase at least a 1000-fold network capacity in 2020. To meet the larger traffic demands, enhanced technologies are essential. So far, there are some potential candidates in [2], such as Ultra-Dense Network, massive MIMO, and non-orthogonal multiple access (NOMA). This paper focuses on Ultra-Dense Network which is seen as a major development trend in the evolution of future networks, due to its ability to provide more capacity to the whole system and meet higher users' Quality of Service (QoS). Both the industry and academia are working together, e.g., METIS and 5GNOW1, to meet the capacity demand of the 5th generation mobile communication systems [3], [4].

Ultra-Dense Network easily appears overloaded cells. So overloaded cells need to offload to light cells. But this will cause a high spending. In order to meet the exponentially growing demand of mobile data, the number of eNodeBs (eNBs) and

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

¹ This work was supported by China's 863 Project (2014AA01A706), the National S&T Major Project (2015ZX03002004) Science and Technology Program of Beijing (D151100000115003) and Scientific and Technological Cooperation Projects (2015DFT10160B).

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_30

TOTal EXpenditures (TOTEX), i.e. sum of CAPital EXpenditures (CAPEX) and OPerational EXpenditures (OPEX), in next generation broadband cellular networks are also growing exponentially [5]. To reduce the TOTal EXpenditures (TOTEX) for the Ultra-Dense Network, the term " Self-Organizing Network (SON) " has been proposed. This paper focuses on the self-optimization in Ultra-Dense Network.

Mobility Load Balancing (MLB) is an important self-optimization use case in ultra-dense networks. In this paper, HandOver (HO) event is based on A3 event, which is accurately represented as [6].

In this paper, we present a new algorithm about adjusting the value of the cell individual offset (CIO), which can enhance the whole performance observably. The remainder of this paper is organized as follows: Section 2 describes the system model. Section 3 presents the proposed MLB scheme. Section 4 introduces simulation results on the balancing load among multi-cells and a comparison with the conventional MLB scheme. Finally, conclusions are provided in Section 5.

2 System Model

We assume User Equipment (UE) u with the related cell i. Also, we assume B_{cell} is the cell bandwidth and BW_{PRB} is the bandwidth of one Physical Resource block (PRB) in Hz, i.e. 180kHz. Here, we assume all the cells have the same bandwidth. $\sum N_{u,i}$ represents the number of PRBs that has been used by all the UEs in cell i. The load of cell i is described by Eq. (1).

$$\rho_{i} = \frac{\sum N_{u,i}}{B_{cell} / BW_{PRB}} \quad .$$
(1)

In this paper, we assume cell 1 is the source cell while cell 2 is the target cell. Also, HO event is based on A3 event in [7], which is accurately represented as Eq. (2).

$$R_2 > R_1 + Hys + O_{1,2} - O_{2,1}$$
 (2)

where R1 and R2, respectively, are the filtered reference signal received power (RSRP) from the serving cell 1 and from the target cell 2 in dBm, $O_{1,2}$ is the CIO of cell 1 towards cell 2 in dB, $O_{2,1}$ is the CIO of cell 2 towards cell 1 in dB, and Hys is the HO margin (HOM) in dB. If the Eq. (2) maintains at least of the Time-to-Trigger (TTT), a HO could be triggered.

Setting $CIO_{1,2} = O_{1,2} - O_{2,1}$, the HO procedure can be simplified as Eq. (3).

$$\mathbf{R}_2 > \mathbf{R}_1 + \mathbf{Hys} + \mathbf{CIO}_{1,2} \tag{3}$$

From Eq. (3), we can see that if $CIO_{1,2}$ decreases, UEs in cell 1 will handover to

cell 2 more easily. However $CIO_{2,1}$ increases, UEs in cell 2 will handover to cell 1 more difficulty. Then, we can make cell 1 unload to cell 2 by this way.

3 The Proposed MLB Scheme

In this paper, we classify load value into three kinds of load conditions (Table 1). The two load thresholds is described according to Eq. (4).

$$Th_{c} = \begin{cases} \rho_{Target} + \rho_{hyst}, c = High \\ \rho_{Target} - \rho_{hyst}, c = Low \end{cases}$$
(4)

Table 1.MLB Cell Status.

Cell status	Condition	Action
Passive	$\rho_i < Th_{Low}$	Receive UEs from overloaded cell
Neutral	$Th_{Low} \le \rho_i \le Th_{High}$	Do not participate in MLB
Active	$\rho_i > Th_{High}$	Request removing UEs to
	i ingi	lightloaded cell

We propose a scheme about MLB region in this paper. The scheme is summarized as follow: First, the active cell selects adjacent passive cells in ascending order of cell IDs; Second, there is only one active cell in a specific region; Final, every passive cell only participate a MLB procedure..

In Fig. 1, the active cell named cell 1 is overloaded. It will firstly choose the passive cell named cell 2 to balance the load. To achieve this objective, we should adjust the $\text{CIO}_{1,2}$ to make the UEs handover from cell 1 to cell 2 more easily and guarantee that the cell 2 have enough resource to receive the UEs. From Eq. (3), we know that the smaller the value of $\text{CIO}_{1,2}$ is, the earlier UEs will handover from cell 1 to cell 2. Therefore, we can get the minimum $\text{CIO}_{1,2}$ by Eq. (5).

$$CIO_{1,2\min} = M_{TH} - M_{1high} - Hys \quad .$$
(5)

where M_{TH} is the threshold of the RSRP which exactly can meet the telecommunication transmission, M_{1high} is the RSRP of the UE from cell 1 when the UE receives the RSRP is equal to M_{TH} . To prevent the too early handover from cell 1 to cell 2, CIO_{1,2} should be adjusted to be CIO'_{1,2}, which is between the value of the current CIO_{1,2} and CIO_{1,2min}. The handover parameters are changed as follows:

$$\Delta_{1,2} = (\text{CIO}_{1,2} - \text{CIO}_{1,2\min}) \cdot (1 - \frac{\rho_2}{\rho_1}) \quad .$$
(6)

and

$$CIO'_{1,2} = CIO_{1,2} - \Delta_{1,2}$$
 (7)

where the step $\Delta_{1,2}$ is decided by the load of cell 1 and cell 2. The larger the value of ρ_1 is, the larger the value of $\Delta_{1,2}$ is, while the larger the value of ρ_2 is, the smaller the value of $\Delta_{1,2}$ is. In this way, we can make UEs handover from cell 1 to cell 2, thus can decrease the load of cell 1. Also, this can guarantee the load value of cell 2 is not too high.

Fig. 1. Different UEs locate different places between cell 1 and cell 2. Cell 1 is an active cell and cell 2 is a passive cell, and UEs need handover from cell 1 to cell 2.

MLB is triggered by active cells. The proposed MLB scheme implements among multiple active cells and multiple passive cells. The active cell may offload to several passive cells. And there are multi-MLB procedures implement at the same time in this paper.

4 Simulation Results and Analysis

In this section, we evaluate the proposed scheme by a system level simulator. In this simulation, we map 19 cells to be 61 cells by using wrap-around. Through this way, our simulation will have reliable interference calculation.

As shown in Fig. 2, the cell 17 unloads some UEs to other light cells by implementing the proposed MLB scheme, while the cell 17 can not unload because there is not any cell-edge UEs between the cell 17 and the lightest neighbor cell. Also, the cell 11 has so light load before doing MLB, and the proposed MLB scheme can



increase its load by receiving other cell's UEs. However, the conventional MLB scheme can not increase the load of cell 11. This is because the propose algorithm is in consideration of the load of source cell and target cell. Compared with the conventional MLB scheme, simulation shows that our proposed MLB scheme is more balancing than the conventional MLB scheme.



Fig. 2. The load of 19 cells before doing MLB procedure. Also, the load of 19 cells after implementing the conventional MLB procedure compares with the load of 19 cells after implement the proposed MLB procedure.

5 Conclusions

This paper aims to improve the resource utilization rate of whole system with the proposed MLB scheme. Additionally, Ultra-Dense Network needs multi-cells assistance to obtain high performance gain. And our scheme implements among multi-cells based on the characteristic of UDN. Therefore, our scheme is more appropriate for UDN scene. Analysis and simulation results show that the proposed MLB scheme is more balanced than the conventional MLB scheme.

References

- D.Lopez-Perez, M.Ding, H.Claussen, A.H.Jafari.: Towards 1 Gbps/UE in Cellular Systems :Understanding Ultra-Dense Small Cell Deployments. IEEE Communications Surveys and Tutorials. (2015)
- 2. F. Boccardi, et al.: Five Disruptive Technology Directions for 5G. IEEE Commun. (2014)
- S. aspar and G. Wunder.: 5G Cellular communications scenarios and system requirements. Tech. Rep., https://www.5gnow.eu. (2014)
- P. Popov ski, Y. Braun, H.-P' Mayer, P. Fertl et al.: ICT-317669-METIS/ D1.1 Scenarios, requirements and KPIs for 5G mobile and wireless system. https://www.metis2020.com. (2014)
- N.Zia, S.S.Mwanje and A.Mitschele-Thiel.: A Policy Based Conflict Resolution Mechanism for MLB and MRO in LTE Self-Optimizing Networks. Computers and Communication (ISCC). (2014)
- R. Nasri and Z. Altman.: Handover adaptation for dynamic load balancing in 3GPP long term evolution systems. Proc. Int. Conf. Adv. MoMM. (2007)
- 3GPP.: E-UTRA Radio Resource Control (RRC) Protocol specification (Release 8). TS 36.331 V8.16.0. (2011)

Empirical Model for the Design of Printed Butterfly Antennas

Sandra Costanzo¹, Antonio Costanzo¹, Antonio Borgia¹ and Fabio Scalise¹

¹ DIMES – University of Calabria 87036 Rende (CS), Italy <u>costanzo@dimes.unical.it</u>

Abstract. An empirical model for the synthesis of microstrip butterfly antenna without ground plane is proposed in this work. A fast design method, properly taking into account the effect of feed connector, is discussed to obtain a compact radiating element (75% reduction with respect to standard patch antenna), with a large bandwidth (about 18%) and an excellent rejection of cross-polar field components. Experimental validations on an UHF butterfly antenna prototype are discussed to show the effectiveness of the approach.

Keywords: Butterfly antenna, compact antennas, microstrip antennas.

1 Introduction

Printed microstrip antennas are widely used in several applications due to their low profile, light weight, low cost and easy methods of fabrication and installation. In order to overcome drawbacks due to large radiating dimensions and narrow bandwidth feature, several configurations have been studied in literature in the last 30 years. The butterfly antenna represents a planar version of the biconical antenna [1] and allows to obtain a large operating bandwidth as well as a good size reduction with respect to microstrip patch. The classical butterfly antenna is composed by a bow-tie shaped patch printed on a dielectric substrate (Fig. 1(a)), with a coaxial feed whose position significantly affects both the impedance matching as well as the correct behavior of the fundamental TM₁₀ mode of the antenna. An interesting synthesis technique is developed in [2], starting from the set of equations proposed in [3] to find all geometrical parameters of the antenna (except the positions of the feeding point) on the basis of the imposed operating frequency. As a strong drawback, the butterfly antenna with ground plane (Fig. 1(a)) does not allow significant bandwidth enlargement, neither a significant size reduction, with respect to simpler microstrip configurations, such as U-slotted antennas [4]-[7]. The ground plane-free version of the bow tie antenna is composed by two identical triangular patches separated by a gap and excited by a differential pair feeding. The feeding point is located into one of the two arms near the gap, while the ground of the connector (usually the shield of a

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_31

coaxial cable) is placed in the symmetric point on the other arm of the antenna, as illustrated in Fig. 1(b).



Fig. 1. Butterfly antenna (a) with ground-plane and (b) without ground-plane.

In this particular case, an excellent behavior of the return loss bandwidth can be achieved by acting on the feed technique, or properly modifying the shape of the butterfly wigs [8]-[10]. All these designs exploit the presence of multiple resonances to produce an unique wideband behavior, however, due to the different nature of the excited modes, the ratio between co-polar and cross-polar field components dramatically degrades with frequency, especially in the basic configuration admitting linear polarization.

This serious drawback is properly faced in this work, with the aim to obtain a reduced-size radiating element but maintaining a good trade-off between the bandwidth performances and the quality of the radiation pattern. The above enhanced features are obtained by acting only on the first resonant mode of the antenna, thus avoiding cross-polarization effects. A novel synthesis technique, based on empirical relations, is derived in this paper to properly design a wideband butterfly antenna without ground plane, by taking into account also the capacitive effects of the feeding connector, usually causing an undesired frequency shift with respect to the operating frequency predicted by existing models [2].

2 Empirical Model for Butterfly Antenna Synthesis

An accurate antenna modeling able to include also the effects of the feeding connector is not a trivial task, due to the large variety of possible feeding techniques and their different influence on the antenna modes. In this work, Sub-Miniature version A (SMA) connectors are considered. They are widely used as microstrip antenna feed, and consist of semi-precision coaxial RF connectors with a screw type coupling mechanism. Instead of considering an ideal differential pair feed between the arms of the bow-tie antenna, a rectangular metallic sheet is assumed to model the square flange of an SMA, connecting the inning pin to the extremity of the first arm, and a via hole between the flange and the symmetric point on the other arm. The top layer and a lateral view of the simulated structure are shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Top layer and lateral view of simulated butterfly antenna without ground plane.

According to Fig. 2, parameters H and W denote, respectively, the height and the width of the radiating element, while g is the gap between the arms of the butterfly antenna. For convenience, the flange dimensions are fixed in the model as indicated by eqs. (1) and (2).

$$W_{conn} = 3g. \tag{1}$$

$$Lconn = g. (2)$$

Assuming the above configuration, a preliminary simulation stage is performed on CAD Ansys Designer to derive the design curves illustrated in Fig. 3, where the variations of the antenna width W (Fig. 3 (a)) and the ratios g/W and H/W (Fig. 3(b)) are reported versus the resonant wavelength λ of the antenna.



Fig. 3. Variation of (a) the antenna width W and (b) the gap-width and the height-width ratios vs. resonant wavelength.

In particular, from the curve illustrated in Fig. 3(a), a linear dependence between the patch width W and resonant wavelength λ is derived, which gives the following interpolation formula:

$$W = 0.3047 \lambda - 0.0017 . \tag{3}$$

Parameters W and λ into eq. (2) are intended in meter.

It is straightforward to deduce that eq. (3) is only valid when W > 0, namely when f < 54.5GHz, thus totally covering the frequencies of interest for the application described in the present work.

Similarly, from data reported in Fig. 3(b) a linear dependence between the width W and the height H of the bow-tie is derived under optimal matching conditions, to give the following relationship:

$$H = 2/3W$$
. (4)

Finally, the following relation is derived between the total width W and the gap g at the two arms of the bow-tie:

$$g = 0.055W$$
. (5)

When applying the empirical model given by eqs. (1)-(5) for the design of microstrip butterfly antenna without ground plane, an optimum prediction is achieved for the working resonant frequency, as it can be observed in Fig. 4, where the frequency curve given by our model is in excellent agreement with the ideal (imposed) one. For comparison, the result obtained with the model discussed in [2] is reported, which gives a less accurate prediction of the operating frequency.



Fig. 4. Predicted working frequency of butterfly antenna.

3 Experimental Validations

On the basis of the synthesis procedure outlined in Section 2, a butterfly antenna prototype working in the UHF range is fully designed, simulated, realized and tested in the Microwave Laboratory at University of Calabria. A central frequency equal to 830 MHz is chosen, and a rectangular flange SMA connector, with solder pot contact, is considered as antenna feed. The empirical relations given by eqs. (1)-(5) are applied to obtain the dimensions summarized in Table 1, and a photograph of the fabricated radiating element is reported in Fig. 5.

Hconn

Wconr

To demonstrate the effectiveness of the approach, a comparative simulation is performed between the simplified model for the flange (according to eqs. (1)–(2)) and a more accurate design of the connector (see Fig. 6), taking into account the real position and the dimension of flange, contacts, and the location for the supporting nylon screws.

Parameter	Dimension [mm]
Н	72
W	108
g	6.0

Table 1. Butterfly antenna dimensions @ 830 MHz (model given by eqs. (1)-(5)).



6.0

18

Fig. 5. Realized UHF butterfly antenna prototype.



Fig. 6. Butterfly antenna fed by an SMA connector.

In Fig. 7, the comparison between the measured and the simulated (both simplified and real flange model for the feed) is reported. It can be easily observed that both the structure simulated with the simplified rectangular feed model, as well as that including the real dimensions of the rectangular flange, perform the desired central frequency and the expected bandwidth, thus proving the effectiveness of the proposed empirical approach.

In Fig. 8, the measured H-plane field patterns are reported at various frequencies within the operating frequency range. It can be observed that cross-polar field components are properly maintained below the co-polar ones within the frequency band, for a wide angular range. In the classical design of ground plane-free bow-tie antennas, multiple resonances (used to enlarge the input impedance bandwidth) totally destroy the right ratio between co-polar and cross-polar components, thus producing un undesired reduction of the -3dB radiation pattern bandwidth. In our case, an excellent compromise between the operating bandwidth and the proper behavior of cross-polar components is obtained, according to a measured gain of about 2.5 dB, a typical value assumed for ground-plane free microstrip printed antennas with small dimensions. But the main advantage obtained by using the outlined design technique consists in the strong reduction of the total radiating area of the radiating element with respect to a classical rectangular microstrip patch antenna (75% reduction with the values outlined in Tab. 1).



Fig. 7. Comparison between measured and simulated return loss of UHF butterfly antenna.



Fig. 8. Measured far field pattern (H-plane) of UHF butterfly antenna at various frequencies.

3 Conclusions

A simple empirical method has been proposed in this work for a fast design of compact and wideband butterfly antennas without ground plane. The adopted model properly takes into account the effect of the rectangular flange of SMA connectors usually adopted as feeding and performs a more accurate prediction of the geometrical parameters with respect to existing models in the literature. To validate the proposed method, a prototype working in the UHF range, 75% smaller in terms of surface area with respect to a microstrip rectangular patch and performing a 18% bandwidth (without wasting the performance in terms of cross-polar rejection), has been designed trough the empirical formulas, and fully experimentally validated into the Microwave Laboratory at University of Calabria. Future work will be addressed to refine the model for a further bandwidth enlargement, leaving unchanged the ratio between co-polar and cross-polar field components.

References

- 1. Brown, H., Woodward, O. M.: Experimentally Determined Radiation Characteristics of Conical and Triangular Antennas, RCA Review, Vol. 13,425--452, (1952)
- George, J., Deepukumar, M, Aananadan, C.K, Mohanan P, Nair, K..J.: New compact microstrip antenna, Electronics Letter, Vol 32 (6), 508--509, (1996)
- 3. Garg, R., Bartia, P., Bahl, I., Ittipiboon, A., Microstrip Antenna Design Handbook, Artech House Inc. Norwood, MA, (2001)
- Costanzo, S. Costanzo, A.: Compact U-Slotted Antenna for Broadband Radar Applications, Journal of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Special Issue on Advances in Radar Technologies, Lead Editor S. Costanzo, (2013)
- Costanzo, S. Costanzo, A.: Compact Slotted Antenna for Wideband Radar Applications, Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Vol 206, 989--996, (2013)
- Costanzo, S. Costanzo, A.: Slotted Patch Antenna with Low Cross-Polarization, Proc. of EuCAP 2014, The Hague (The Netherlands), 6-11 April 2014, (2014)
- Costanzo, S. Costanzo, A.: Compact MUSA, IEEE Antennas Propag. Magazine, Vol 57 (3), 71--80, (2015)
- Eldek, A., Elsherbeni, A. Z, Smith C. E: Wideband Microstrip-Fed Printed Bow-Tie Antenna For Phased Array Systems, Microwave And Optical Technology Letters, Vol. 43(2), 123--126, (2004)
- Chen, Y. L., Ruan C. L., Peng, L.: A Novel Ultra-Wideband Bow-Tie Slot Antenna In Wireless Communication Systems, Progress In Electromagnetics Research Letters, Vol.1 ,101--108, (2008)
- 10.Eldek, A.Z. Elsherbeni, and C.E.Smith: Wide-Band Modified Printed Bow-Tie Antenna With Single and Dual Polarization for C and X-Band Applications, IEEE Transactions On Antennas And Propagation, Vol. 53 (9), 3067--3072, (2005)

SDN-Enabled C-RAN: An Intelligent Radio Access Network Architecture

Wencheng He¹, Jinjin Gong¹, Xin Su², Jie Zeng², Xibin Xu², Limin Xiao²,

¹ Broadband Wireless Access Laboratory, Chongqing University of Posts and Telecommunications ² Tsinghua National Laboratory for Information Science and Technology, Research Institute of Information Technology, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China Email: <u>hewencheng@mail.tsinghua.edu.cn</u>

Abstract. With the development of wireless access technology and mobile internet, the demand of network traffic is growing rapidly. Traditional radio access network can not satisfy the requirement of ever growing capacity. C-RAN (Cloud-Radio Access Network) is a novel radio access network¹ architecture which can support growing users' needs. In C-RAN architecture, BBUs (Base Band Units) decouple from RRHs (Remote Radio Heads) and are centralized and shared among RRHs in BBU pool. RRHs can be flexibly and densely arranged to increase network capacity. But the deployment of dense network brings great pressure to network management. The current C-RAN architecture can not effectively deal with the changes of network station caused by users' mobility. The SDN technology can simplify and optimize the network management. Hence we propose a SDN-enabled C-RAN architecture, it can intelligently and dynamically build RAN under the control of SDN controller. And we put forward a use case to briefly describe the working procedure.

Keywords: C-RAN, SDN, network management, intelligence.

1 Introduction

Along with the incessant expansion of the mobile internet and rapid increase of data traffic, traditional radio access network can't meet the requirement of ever growing capacity. Network densification deployment supported by C-RAN is one of the effective solutions to cope with the capacity requirement. C-RAN decouples the BBU from the RRH, allowing processing resource to be shared. Meanwhile, RRH can be flexibly and densely arranged to increase network capacity [1]. Due to the dense deployment of cells and the reduction of cell area, frequent handover between different cells will occur and the resource requirement in each cell will be changed as users move from time to time. The Current C-RAN architecture can't effectively respond to these changes in RAN. The SDN as a promising technology can simplify and optimize the management of network. SDN decouples the control plane and data plane and

¹ This work was supported by China's 863 Project (2015AA01A706), the National S&T Major Project (2014ZX03001011) Science and Technology Program of Beijing (D151100000115003) and Scientific and Technological Cooperation Projects (2015DFT10160B)

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_32

centralizes the control functions of network to achieve more flexible and optimal management [2]. In this paper, we present an SDN-Enabled C-RAN architecture, the core benefits of this architecture are the abilities of adaptive optimization and reconfiguration. The status of RAN would change with time and users' mobility. SDN controller in this architecture can get the RAN information in real time, adaptively readjust the connections between RRHs and BBUs, and redistribute the resource between BBUs, so we can built an intelligent RAN architecture.

We organize this paper as following: Section 2 present the related work. The SDNenabled C-RAN architecture is elaborated in Section 3. Section 4 is the use case which is applied to mobility management. Finally, we summarize our conclusions in Section 5.

2 Related work

There are lots of research about C-RAN architecture. [3] compares the performance of handover procedure on C-RAN Architecture with traditional Architecture, because of the BBUs centralized in C-RAN, the information exchanged between source BS and target BS becomes the internal processing procedure, which reduces the handover delay. [4][5] present the concept of a virtual BS controlled by controller, ease the management for operator. Controller concentrated the bulk of control function, such as resources allocation, power control, and the BS only retains fewer control function. From the consumer point of view, [4] still need to handover when moving between different BSs. Through centralized control of the controller can reduce the ping pong effect. [5] will generate a virtual dedicated eNodeB for every user, but the virtual cell is fixed. [6] put part of handover functions of core network to BBU pool in order to mitigate the burden of hugs signaling overhead of core network, however, the links between RRHs and BBUs can't be dynamically changed.

About the application of SDN in wireless network. Most research are focus on the integration of SDN controller and core network equipment. In [7][8][9], SDN controller assemble the core equipment (MME, SGW) which are related to handover. In these architecture, SDN controller controls the handover procedure directly, so it can reduce the information interaction between source BS and target BS and simplify the handover procedure. Meanwhile [6] adds the handover between wireless access points and BS, [9] uses SDN controller to establish the optimum path between target BS and IP Router in the backhaul network.

Based on the previous work, we proposed SDN-enabled C-RAN architecture, owing to the centralizing management of SDN controller, the data storage of SDN controller can achieve the overall information, and optimize mobility management, link load balance and BBUs resource load balance along with other components of SDN controller.
3 SDN-Enabled C-RAN Architecture

In this section, we will introduce the SDN-Enabled C-RAN architecture and describe the components of this architecture in detail.

3.1 Overview

Our goal is to build an intelligent RAN architecture. Fig 1 shows the overall framework of the architecture which we proposed. SDN controller is the most important component in this architecture. It can perceive the state information of RAN by communicating with OF-Switches and BBUS in real time. So the SDN controller can intelligently allocate resources for BBUs based on the BBUs' load condition and change the connections between RRHs and BBUs to create logic cells based on the users' moving condition. This makes the architecture more intelligent and flexible to fit the changing of resource requirements in different areas where the RAN covers.



Fig. 1. SDN-enabled C-RAN architecture

3.2 Architecture

The SDN-Enabled C-RAN architecture contains six main components: RRH, CPRI2Eth gateway, PTN (Packet Transport Network), Switching network, BBU and SDN controller. While the functions of RRH and BBU in this architecture are almost same as the functions in C-RAN architecture, we will introduce the components of this architecture except RRH and BBU. Note that the BBUs in this architecture are added SDN-enabled agents so that they can communicate with SDN controller using OpenFlow protocol.

CPRI2Eth Gateway. CPRI2Eth gateway is needed to map CPRI data to Ethernet data because we chose Carrier Ethernet as the fronthaul network. It should satisfy the strict

requirements to synchronization and syntonization, so the IEEE 1588 protocol is used in the CPRIEth gateway and BBU pool, the switches between them [10].

PTN. PTN, namely Carrier Ethernet, is used to transport the baseband data between RRHs and BBU pool. Using PTN makes it more flexible to deploy this architecture compared with optical transport network.

Switching Network. Switching network is composed of OF-Switches. OF-Switches forward baseband data according to the flow tables. Switching network dynamically connects RRHs and BBUs under the control of SDN controller to achieve the load balance between BBUs and flexibly form logic cell.

SDN controller. SDN controller manages and controls the whole RAN network. In the SDN controller, there are five main components: Data storage, Path Computing, Topology Management, Resource Management and Connection Control.

Data Storage. Data Storage takes charge of collecting and storing the data getting from OF-Switches and BBUs. These data include every BBU's load, resource allocation, user's information, handover information between adjacent cells and the whole RAN topology information etc. These information can be used for SDN controller to manage the switching network and BBUs.

Intercell Coordination Management. This component is used to pick out proper BBUs to jointly process some users' data. It can pick out the most appropriate BBUs to jointly process users' data based on the GNV, this can improve user experience.

Resource Management. This component takes charge of managing the spectrum resource and processing resource of BBUs based on the information of BBUs' load.

Topology Management. This component is used to maintain and manage the topology of the whole RAN. SDN controller gets the topology information through communicating with the OF-Switches and BBUs. The topology information includes the entire paths between RRHs and BBUs, the bandwidth and delay of every link. This component makes SDN Controller having the GNV of the entire RAN, so that SDN controller can make the optimal decision for resource management and connection control based on the GNV.

Connection Management. Connection Management is used to control the connection between RRHs and BBUs based on the BBUs' load and /or users' moving condition.

3.3 Benefits

The core benefits of the SDN-enabled C-RAN architecture are the abilities of adaptive optimization and reconfiguration. The status of RAN would change with time and users' mobility. SDN controller in this architecture can get the RAN information in real time, adaptively readjust the connections between RRHs and BBUs, and redistribute the resource between BBUs.

The abilities of adaptive optimization and reconfiguration are advantage to mobility management and the load balancing of BBUs and switching network etc. In the area of mobility management, the SDN controller can find out the areas where there are mass and frequent handover events by statistical analyzing the data about handover between BBUs, then the SDN controller can control switching network to connect related RRHs which cover that areas connect to the same BBU to reduce the number of handover. This can improve user' experience and decrease the signaling cost of the core network.

For load balancing of BBUs and switching network, it would be easier and more optimal to implement under SDN controller because of the SDN controller has the GNV information. The topology management component in SDN controller can reasonably allocate load to each link based on the link's bandwidth and delay. Similarly, the SDN controller can flexibly allocate resource for BBUs according to BBUs' load, and it can preassign resource for certain BBUs based on the moving trends of users.

4 Use Case

In this section, we simplify the architecture which we proposed ahead, there are only RRHs presents in Fig. 2, which depict the changing procedure of the connection between RRHs and BBUs. We assume that there are eight RRHs, and regard the coverage of a RRH as a cell. At first, the yellow cells and blue cells connect to a BBU respectively, and RRHs can dynamically connect to BBUs through switching network which are controlled by SDN controller. The functions of SDN controller are presented in section 3.





The data storage component of SDN controller collects the user information in terms of handover signaling to summarize the users' movement rule. Every half hour, the SDN controller changes the connections of RRHs and BBUs according to the decision criteria. The coverage of the RRHs is regarded as a logic cell, therefore it can reduce handover frequency of mobile users who are moving in the logic cell. As show in Fig. 2 (a), the four yellow cells and four blue cells are regard as two logic cells. After a period of time, if there are frequent users moving in the places of red arrows, this would cause frequent cell switching, and the core network will bear a heavier signaling overhead, the users' experience would be reduced accordingly. After T time, the SDN controller discovers this phenomenon and makes decision according to the decision criteria. If the criteria is satisfied, the SDN controller hand out instruction to switching network to connect the four yellow RRHs to the same BBU. As shown in In Fig. 2(b),

so the users needn't handover when they move in the red arrows areas, and the user experience will be improved as well.

5 Conclusion

The architecture of C-RAN integrating with SDN would be a feasible method to solve the problem faced by traditional RAN with rapid growth of mobile data. Due to the limitations of network management in C-RAN architecture, we propose a SDN-based C-RAN Architecture, The control function centralized in SDN controller which has GNV of whole network, and the data storage of SDN controller can achieve the overall information, along with other components of SDN controller, it can bring some boosting in some aspects, such as mobility management, link load balance, BBU resource load balance and so on. Meanwhile, we present a use case applied to mobility management. SDN controller collects various information of customer to statistics the mobility change pattern, if the criteria is satisfied, the SDN controller controls RRHs dynamically connecting to assigned BBUs in BBU pool through the OF-Switch. In area of a large flow of users, this method will enormously reduce the number of handover.

References

- 1. C-RAN The Road Towards Green RAN White Paper version 3.0. China Mobile Research Institute. (2013)
- 2. OpenFlow-Enabled Mobile and Wireless Networks. Open Networking Foundation. (2013)
- 3. Liang Liu., Feng Yang, Richard Wang, et al.: Analysis of Handover Performance Improvement in Cloud-RAN Architecture. CHINACOM. (2012)
- Aditya Gudipati., Daniel Perry., et al.: SoftRAN: Software Defined Radio Access Network. (2013)
- Roberto Riggo., Karina Gomez., et al.: V-Cell: Going Beyond the Cell Abstraction in 5G Mobile Networks. IEEE. (2014)
- Alexander Dawson., Mahesh K. Marina., et al.: On the Benefits of RAN Virtualisation in C-RAN Based Mobile Networks. 2014 Third European Workship on Software-Defined Networks. DOI 10.1109. (2014)
- Slawomir Kuklinski., Yuhong Li., Khoa Truong Dinh.: Handover Management in SDN-based Mobile Networks. Globecom 2014 Workshop. (2014)
- Sakshi Chourasia., Krishna M. Sivalingam.: SDN Based Evolved Packet Core Architecture For Efficient User Mobility Support. IEEE. (2015).
- 9. Jose Costa-Requena.: SDN integration in LTE mobile backhaul networks. IEEE. (2014)
- 10.Aleksandra Checko., Anders Christian Juul., et al.: Synchronization Challenges in PacketbasedCloud-RAN Fronthaul for Mobile Network. IEEE. (2015)

Environmental effects on the performances of a UHF passive tag-based commercial RFID system

Sandra Costanzo¹, Antonio Costanzo¹, Antonio Raffo¹ and Antonio Borgia¹

¹ DIMES – University of Calabria 87036 Rende (CS). Italy costanzo@dimes.unical.it

Abstract. A simple setup for the evaluation of the environmental effects on the performance of a passive tags-based commercial RFID system is described in this work. A standard classroom/office room is assumed as test scenario, and the evaluation of field emission as well as the minimum power threshold required for an accurate detection in the presence of obstacles is performed. This preliminary measurement campaign can be helpfully applied to properly highlight the potentialities as well as the limitations of the RFID systems when applied for the accurate tracking of items located into a real noisy scenario.

Keywords: RFID systems, passive tags, indoor test.

1 Introduction

Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) approach gives a simple and low cost technique to easily identify and track objects [1]. A basic RFID system [2] is composed of a radio scanning unit, called reader, and several remote transponders, called tags, uniquely identifying the objects encapsulating them. Each tag include an antenna, for receiving and retransmitting the signal emitted by the reader, and a microchip, which modulates the signal on the basis of the included identification data. We can distinguish active tags, where a local source feeds both the antenna as well as the microchip, and passive tags, which exploit the energy received by the reader in order to backscatter the signal containing the identification data. The possibility to choice a lower cost system, composed of passive tags, or a longer range system, using active tags, makes an RFID system a versatile solution for several applications in different fields. Supply chains can be supported by RFID systems for inventory tracking and logistics management. They can be employed in manufacturing industry warehouse fulfillment, inventory and production process monitoring. for RFID systems can represent a smart solution in several scenarios for access control, attendee tracking, counterfeiting and theft control and prevention. The use of low-cost passive tags leads a wide diffusion of this type of technology also in those scenarios where a lot of items have to be detected simultaneously, and the cost of the item itself does not justify a cost for the tag for more than a few cents. However, a serious limitation for RFID systems based on passive tags is due to the short distance at which reader can

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_33

correctly detect tags [3]. As a matter of fact, at UHF frequencies and using a limited transmitted power, the coverage of the system usually does not exceed few meters. Another important aspect to take into account is the wave propagation in the scenario where the system operate. Factors such as the presence of metallic objects, humidity, or the same human presence in the environment, can significantly affect the correct signal path between reader and tags. In this case, the number of reader antennas and their placement in the scenario are very important tasks for the correct operation mode of the system [4]. A preliminary theoretical analysis of the operating wireless environment should be performed at this purpose, not only to properly define the design parameters of the RFID system, but also to avoid health damages to people or interference with other devices.

A complete electromagnetic description of a complex environment is, in general, a very hard task, so preliminary tests on the operative scenario should be performed in order to properly manage the signal degradation due to undesired reflections, media absorption and multipath effect. In this work, a guidelines method based on experimental tests performed in a real noisy scenario is provided, in order to give a rough but reliable evaluation of the environmental effects on the performances of a commercial UHF passive tag-based RFID system, thus properly identifying the application limits when considering the problem of accurate detection and/or tracking of a set of different items into an indoor noisy environment.

2 System Setup and Scenario

The system under test is composed of commercial modules, using a dedicated Multi-Reader for Speedway Gen2 RFID software, provided by Inpinj. The reader module is a Speedway R420, which delivers a maximum value of 30dBm transmitting power and presents 4 available channels for antennas connection. Each channel can be used in both transmitting and receiving path. The antenna reader is composed of a circularly polarized module (Laird S8658PL), allowing 8.5dBi gain, 1dB of axial ratio and 70° of 3dB beam-width in the azimuth direction. The connection between the antenna and the reader is made up through coaxial cable and only one antenna is used in our tests. Information provided by the reader and control messages by the PC are transferred through Ethernet. Standard Inpinj Monza 4, using a GEN2 protocol are as passive tags in these tests. A simplified block diagram of the system architecture is shown in Fig. 1.

A standard office room, whose layout is shown in Fig. 2, is exploited as scenario under test for the experimental evaluation of the RFID system performances, whose possible practical application could be the access and presence control of the employers into an office room, smart attendee tracking and so on. Some pictures of the location where the system is set up are reported in Fig. 3.

Signal paths between the reader and the tags are significantly influenced by the objects in the scenario and a prediction of the RFID system performances without an extensive set of measurements is a complicated task due to the complexity of the scene. In Section III, the results of an extensive experimental characterization of the

scenario under test, to be adopted as basic information for an accurate prediction of the detection capabilities of the RFID system, are fully discussed.



Fig. 1. RFID System under test.



Fig. 2. Layout of the scenario (units in cm).



Fig. 3. Scenario under test.

3 Experimental Tests

Controlling the electromagnetic emissions of a device, in order to avoid health damages to the people or interference with other devices, represents a priority for the design of a wireless system. In the case of RFID systems working into an indoor scenario characterized by human presence most of the day, a limitation of the transmitted power and the respect of regulations in terms of emissions must be always guaranteed. However, a minimum power threshold is necessary to be transferred in each point where tag could be positioned, in order to maintain a correct identification; this aspect assumes a particular importance in RFID system based on passive tags, because the energy supplied by the reader antenna is retransmitted by the tag without other available sources.

A mapping of the electric field in the scenario where the system is located is relevant to verifying the correct position of the antenna reader and thus avoiding the regions where tags could not be detected. Therefore, a first set of measurements, using an electromagnetic probe located at different points into the office (Fig. 4), is carried out once imposing the maximum power supplied to the reader antenna. In Fig. 5, the field levels measured in the office scenario, by varying the distance and the azimuth angle between the probe and the reader antenna, are illustrated.



Fig. 4. Field emissions measurement of RFID system.

In particular, high values can be observed only in the proximity on the antenna location, with no significant interference with other instrumentations or possible risks for human health. A significant decrease of the electric field can be observed about 3 meters far from the source, especially for those angulations which are not covered by the -3dB beam-width of the reader antenna. In order to test how the field distribution affects the performance of the system in terms of tag detection, a margin test [5] is also carried out. Namely, the minimum source power which allows a correct detection is measured by varying the tag position with respect to the antenna, in terms of distance and azimuthal angle. In order to firstly evaluate the tag detection in a noiseless and zero reflection environment, a preliminary margin test into the anechoic chamber of the Microwave Laboratory at University of Calabria (Italy) is performed (Fig. 6).



Fig. 5. Field emissions of the RFID system using the maximum available power.



Fig. 6. Margin test setup in anechoic chamber.

From data reported in Fig. 7, it can be observed that the minimum power threshold, set at the source in order to have a correct detection of the tag, increases with distance due to the path loss, and changes also with azimuthal angle, due to the non perfect omnidirectional pattern of the antenna. In particular, a significant angular asymmetry is measured 0.5 meters away from the source, because of reactive field components not completely vanished at such distance. By increasing the distance, the tag should need, for being read, a power greater than the one allowed by the system: in this case a correct detection is not possible. The same test is repeated in the office room (Fig. 8), in order to evaluate how furniture and other objects affect the tag detection. The relative results are reported in Fig. 9.



Fig. 7. Margin test results in anechoic chamber.



Fig. 8. Margin test setup in the office room.



Fig. 9. Margin test performed in the office room

Environmental Effects on the Performances ...

By comparing data from Fig. 7 and Fig. 9, no significant difference can be observed in the area near the transmitting antenna, due to the lack of obstacles. An interesting behavior can be noticed around 2 meters away the antenna, where reflections decrease the signal delivered to the tags, so the minimum power for a correct detection increases with respect to the zero reflection environment. Due to the complex nature of the scenario, an inversion of the detection behavior can be noticed in the range 2.5m - 3.5m, where the sum of signal reflections caused by the items increases the total power and, consequently, a decrease of the minimum necessary source power to read the tag can be observed. In this case, reflections due to the object located in the left side of the scenario cause positive effects on the system performance in a significant portion of the area under analysis. This behavior could be further taken into consideration in order to improve tag detection in a specific real scenario using appropriate reflectors that reproduce the same effects observed in the above comparative measurements.

4 Conclusions

A simple experimental setup has been proposed and discussed in this work for the preliminary performances characterization of passive tags-based RFID systems, usually having strong limitations in terms of maximum detectable range. The adopted measurement procedure has included two main steps: the field emissions characterization for different transmitting power levels, which is necessary to prevent unwanted biological effects on people, and the margin tests execution, specifically devoted to the identification of the minimum power required for an accurate tag detection, in the presence of environmental obstacles. Even if limited to a single scenario, this preliminary measurement campaign can be successfully adopted to properly setup the RFID systems, in terms of input power, antenna locations and maximum detectable tags. It can be particularly useful in those situations where a theoretical characterization of a real complex scenario cannot be practicable.

References

- 1. Landt, J.: The History of RFID, IEEE Potentials, 24, 4, 8--11 (2005)
- 2. Finkenzeller, K.: RFID Handbook: Radio-Frequency Identification Fundamentals and Applications, 2nd ed., Wiley (2004)
- 3. Nikitin, P.V., Rao, K.V.S., Lazar, S.: An Overview of Near Field UHF RFID, IEEE international Conference on RFID (2007)
- 4. Marrocco, G.: RFID Antennas for the UHF Remote Monitoring of Human Subjects, IEEE Transactions On Antennas And Propagation, 55, 6, 1862--1870 (2007)
- 5. Inpinj Support Portal, https://support.impinj.com/hc/en-us/articles/202756388-Performing-a-Margin-Test-using-Impinj-MultiReader-software

Software-Defined Radar System for Landslides Monitoring

Sandra Costanzo¹, Giuseppe Di Massa¹, Antonio Costanzo¹, Antonio Borgia¹, Antonio Raffo¹, Giuseppe Viggiani¹ and Pasquale Versace¹

¹ DIMES – University of Calabria 87036 Rende (CS), Italy <u>costanzo@dimes.unical.it</u>

Abstract. An integrated system for landslides early warning, based on a flexible network architecture and including different sensors, is described to monitoring landslides evolution in critical scenarios. Particular focus is devoted on the experimental assessment of an L-band Software Defined Radar sensor, specifically designed for the application, by discussing the measurement results obtained on a real landslide scenario located on the A3 highway in Calabria (Italy). In particular, a mathematical estimator useful for the proper detection of landslide movements is defined and applied to the measured range profiles, thus demonstrating the usefulness of the proposed radar monitoring approach.

Keywords: Software Defined Radar, Landslides Early Warning.

1 Introduction

A landslide is a complex geological phenomenon involving a wide range of possible ground movements, such as rock-falls, deep failure of slopes, and shallow debris flows. Due to the large set of physical parameters involved in the phenomenon, landslides monitoring is a complex operation, which requires expertise in various different fields [1]. In recent years, early warning systems are becoming increasingly important for the landslide monitoring, due to their effectiveness in the reduction of risk, with the adoption of low-cost equipment when compared to traditional engineered mitigation tools [2]. As a matter of fact, the reduction of the total cost, both in terms of employed devices as well as in terms of management, is one of the main goal for the design of early warning systems, especially in those areas where financial resources are not so adequate to face the problem with a complex structural approach. In order to maintain a good scalability, a distributed sensor measurement system, with the possibility to integrate different devices located in different points of the monitored scenario, should be arranged. In this way, several typology of heterogeneous sensors may be used for obtaining a precise description of the scenario under analysis and a realistic evaluation of the landslide risk. All data should be

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_34

collected and analyzed into a control center using a flexible network for the communication with devices.

Using low-cost radar systems, developed with a Software Defined Radar (SDRadar) approach [3-5], significantly decreases the total cost of the system and leads to a fast and practical monitoring activity.

In the framework of a national project on "Landslides Early Warning", a Software Defined Radar, a radar scatterometer, and other different devices are integrated into the same system in order to monitoring real landslide scenarios [6]. In this work, the final architecture of the whole system is fully described. Furthermore, the experimental assessment of the realized L-band SDRadar on a real scenario is discussed to show the ability to retrieve real-time landslide movements.

The paper is organized as follows: the system architecture is described in Section2, while the experimental results obtained on the A3 highway in Calabria (Italy) are reported in Section 3. Finally, conclusions are outlined in Section 4.

2 System Architecture

An integrated system for "Landslide Monitoring, Early Warning and Risk Mitigation along Lifelines", with acronym LEWIS, is a project inserted in the framework of the National Operational Programme 2007-13 "Research and Competitiveness", cofunded by the European Regional Development Fund, and funded by the Ministry of Research (MIUR) [6].

The system includes many heterogeneous components related each other and allows many different operations. Standard criteria for the evaluation and mapping of landslides susceptibility are adopted, and different sensors are placed and linked to a center for data acquisition and processing through a telecommunication network with an ad-hoc multithread based architecture. The main operations of the system are reported in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Different operations of Lewis System

For a direct evaluation of the parameters characterizing the scenario, a set of punctual monitoring devices are placed directly on the landslide front. Areal monitoring devices, namely an X-band scatterometer and the L-band SDRadar, are also integrated in order to completely cover the scenario. After a local pre-processing, measured data are transmitted through a transmission network to a data collecting and processing center, where they are stored in real time and further elaborated. The transmission network is developed in order to interface heterogeneous data, using an ad hoc transmission protocol and a flexible middleware ready for future expanding of the system to include other typologies of sensors. A set of mathematical models are considered to evaluate landslide movements and eventually transmit a warning to a control and mitigation center, where operative decisions are taken on the basis of the warning. Due to the above described complexity, the LEWIS project involves several different research groups with different competences, and the experimental validation of the different parts of the system are carried out, by considering as monitoring scenarios three Italian highway sections recently involved in landslides phenomena. The L-band SDRadar module, fully realized into the Microwave Laboratory at University of Calabria, gives one of the most significant areal sensor of the system. Its schematic block diagram is shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Schematic configuration of L-band SDRadar system.

A Universal Software Radio Peripheral transceiver (NI USRP 2920) is adopted to replace most of the hardware operations through software implementation, thus significantly reducing the total cost of the areal sensor. In particular, the modulation and demodulation, mixing, signal generation and A/D and D/A conversions are performed without specific hardware devices. A Lab-View code, implemented on a compact PC (MXE 5302), controls the overall USRP operation. A horn antenna with a fixed position is adopted in the transmission path, while a patch array moved by a stepped motor, and having a configuration specifically designed for this application, is adopted in the receiving path. Two GSM modules are used for the communication between the device and the data collecting and control center, by adopting a protocol shared with the other devices of the LEWIS system. A photograph of the final configuration of the radar system is shown in Fig. 3, where a own designed compact receiving array antenna can be observed [6]-[7].



Fig. 3. Photograph of the complete L-band SDRadar system.

Preliminary laboratory measurements carried out to validate the L-band SDRadar are described in [8]. In this work, the final experimental assessment on the operative scenario, including the radar installation and its complete integration with the LEWIS system, are fully described to prove the effective ability of monitoring landslide movements.

3 Experimental Results on A3 Highway in Calabria (Italy)

In recent years, a specific hill side in proximity of the national A3 highway (Mancarelli, Calabria, Italy) is being frequently interested by landslides events with significant damages for road pavement and vehicles passing through. This particular area (39.2545°N, 16.2722°E) is chosen in the framework of LEWIS project to be monitored by the L-Band SDRadar. A photograph of the structure containing all the instrumentation of the radar system is shown in Fig. 4(a), while the position of the areal sensor with respect to the monitoring area (divided into 5 different sectors, each one corresponding to an azimuthal rotation of the receiving antenna, considering a 10° scan angle between two successive positions), is shown in Fig. 4(b).



Fig. 4. (a) Shelter structure for radar installation and (b) position of the areal sensor with respect to the monitoring area.

For each sector, a High Range Resolution (HRR) profile, obtained by a Stretch Processing Technique [9], is elaborated, stored and transmitted to the control center for evaluating possible landslide events. In Fig. 5, the measured HRR profiles of the described monitored area on the five sectors, for different consecutive acquisitions at 5 min time steps, are reported.



Fig. 5. HRR profiles obtained through experimental test on the A3 highway scenario in Calabria, Italy.

The absolute variations in the HRR profile cannot be easily related to a critical movement of the monitored scenario. As a matter of fact, the backscattered power received from the scene depends on the radar cross section, the orientation and the reflectivity of the target. Furthermore, the absolute value of the received signal is also affected by the path loss, so this effect should be properly considered to effectively evaluate the target backscattering.

In order to perform a useful quantitative estimation, an ad hoc estimator $\xi(r)$, taking into account the relative variation of two successive profiles (i-1,i), and weighted with respect to the maximum value of the profile and the distance r, is introduced in this work. First of all, the relative power variation $\varepsilon_i(r)$ between two range profiles, respectively equal to $S_{i-1}(r)$ and $S_i(r)$, is defined by the following expression:

$$\varepsilon_i(r) = \frac{S_i(r)^2 - S_{i-1}(r)^2}{S_{i-1}(r)^2}$$
(1)

In order to assign more relevance to the relative variation of higher values in the profile, another term is considered in this evaluation as providing the normalized power $\hat{S}_i(r)$:

$$\hat{S}_{i}(r) = \frac{S_{i}(r)^{2}}{\max\{S_{i}(r)^{2}\}}$$
(2)

The last term considered in the analysis is the normalized distance d(r) with respect to the total observation range, in order to compensate the effect of the path loss on the data observation, namely:

$$\hat{d}(r) = \frac{r}{max\{r\}} \tag{3}$$

The value of the estimator $\xi(r)$ is defined as the product of the above three terms, by considering a -2 exponent for the normalized distance, in order to contrast the quadratic decreasing of the power signal due to the path loss, namely:

$$\xi_i(r) = \varepsilon_i(r)\hat{s}_i(r)\hat{d}(r)^{-2} \tag{4}$$

The estimator (4) is computed for each sector, considering the range profiles obtained in Fig. 5, and the results of this elaboration are reported in Fig. 6.



Fig. 6. Evolution of the estimator ξ between two successive time steps.

Some variations can be mainly observed in the range profiles elaborations of Fig. 6 for the Sectors 1-2, namely those directly facing the landslide scenario. They reveal some kind of dynamic changes in the observed scene, which however cannot be attributed to possible significant landslide movements, as all estimator values maintain below the prescribed limit of 50% variation. In order to advise a possible risk event, the above limit should be exceeded, with the risk level related to the range extension within which the limit overcome happens.

4 Conclusions

The experimental assessment of an SDRadar system for landslides monitoring has been described in this work. After the complete integration of the radar into the LEWIS system [5], a set of tests on a real Italy (Calabria) scenario involved few years ago in landslide events have been carried out, and a mathematical estimator useful for the proper detection of landslide movements is defined and applied to the measured range profile. The obtained preliminary results have revealed the usefulness of the proposed radar monitoring approach. A more extensive measurement campaign will be performed in future work, and a comparison with theoretical models for landslides prediction and analysis will be performed to further assess the proposed approach.

References

- 1. Intrieri, E., Gigli, G., Casagli, N., Nadim, F.: Landslide Early Warning System: toolbox and general concepts, Nat. Hazards Earth Syst. Sci., 13, 85--90, (2013)
- Greco, R., Giorgio, M., Capparelli, G., Versace, P., Early warning of rainfall induced landslides based on empirical mobility function predictor. Engineering Geology, 153, 68–79 (2013)
- Aloi, G., Borgia, A., Costanzo, S., Di Massa, G., Natalizio, E., Loscri V., Pace, P., Spadafora, F.: Software Dedined Radar: synchronization issues and practical implementation, Proc. of CogART, 4th Int. Workshop on Cognitive Radio and Advanced Spectrum Management, 26-29 October 2011, Barcelona (Spain) (2011)
- Costanzo, S., Spadafora, F., Borgia, A., Moreno, O. H., Costanzo, A., Di Massa, G.: High resolution software defined radar system for target detection. Journal of Electrical and Computer Engineering, 2013, Article ID 573217, (2013)
- Costanzo, S., Spadafora, F., Di Massa, G, Borgia, A., Costanzo, A., Aloi, G., Pace, P., Loscri., V., Moreno, O. H.: Potentialities of USRP-based software defined radar systems," Progress In Electromagnetics Research B, 53, 417--435, (2013)
- Costanzo, S. Costanzo, A.: Compact Slotted Antenna for Wideband Radar Applications, Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Vol 206, 989--996, (2013)
- Costanzo, S. Costanzo, A.: Compact MUSA, IEEE Antennas Propag. Magazine, Vol 57 (3), 71--80, (2015)
- Costanzo, S., Di Massa, G., Costanzo, A., Morrone, L., Raffo, A., Spadafora, F., Borgia, A., Formetta, G., Capparelli, G., Versace, P.: Low-Cost Radars Integrated into a Landslide Early Warning System, World Cist 14, Azores, Portugal (2014)
- 9. Mahafza, B. R., Elsherbeni, A. Z.: Simulations for Radar Systems Design, Chapman and Hall/Crc, (2003)

Equivalent Circuit Modeling of Active Reflectarray Element with Varactor Loaded Radial Phasing Line

Francesca Venneri¹, Sandra Costanzo¹ and Giuseppe Di Massa¹

¹ DIMES – University of Calabria 87036 Rende (CS), Italy <u>costanzo@dimes.unical.it</u>

Abstract. A very simple modeling approach is adopted in this paper to perform a fast preliminary investigation of a novel broadband varactor loaded phasing line, specifically designed to add frequency agility features to an existing active aperture-coupled reflectarray cell. The proposed circuit-model approach is adopted to compare frequency performances of radial and linear phasing line geometries. The method allows to demonstrate the effective contribution of a radial line geometry for the enhancement of the unit cell frequency operational range.

Keywords: Radial line, varactor, reflectarray.

1 Introduction

Active reflectarrays represent a viable and very attractive solution for the realization of modern reconfigurable antenna systems, able to offer a lot of reconfiguration functions such as beam-steering, radiation pattern reshaping, frequency and polarization agility. Several papers discussed in [1]-[3] show how reflectarrays can effectively replace mechanically moved reflectors or phased arrays, providing additional benefits, such as low profile, instantaneous radar beam positioning, absence of mechanical vibrations, simpler architectures and increased efficiencies. Furthermore, reconfigurable reflectarrays allow to simultaneously achieve one or more of the above functionalities, simply by acting at the unit cell level by designing, for example, tunable reflectarray elements characterized by more than one degree of freedom. Many reflectarray configurations, among those collected and outlined in [2], offer polarization flexibility, frequency agility or multi-band operation through the use/integration of one or more tunable components, such as MEMS and PIN/varactor diodes. A dual polarized reflectarray cell loaded by two varactor pairs is proposed in [4]. A first proof-of-concept of multi-band reflectarray is reported in [5], which describes a dual-band cell. A reflectarray cell based on the use of a varactor and a couple of PIN-diodes is presented in [6], to tune the element reflection phase within a wide frequency range. Recently, a promising and highly versatile reconfigurable reflectarray cell has been proposed by the authors in [7]-[10]. It consists of a patch aperture-coupled to a uniform microstrip line loaded by a single varactor diode; by

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_35

changing the bias voltage across the diode, the element reflection phase is actively tuned, thus providing a dynamic control of the unit cell backscattering response. The proposed element has been experimentally validated in [10], demonstrating good beam steering as well as pattern reshaping capabilities. The above configuration is properly modified in [11], with the aim to improve unit cell frequency performances, in order to add frequency agility to well-established beam-scanning and pattern reshaping functions. In particular, by adopting a couple of radial lines instead of the linear stubs used in [10], the unit cell operational bandwidth (i.e. the frequency range within which is possible to effectively tune the unit cell reflection phase in a quite full phase-range) is roughly tripled, so achieving a certain degree of frequency agility. Practically, the structure proposed in [10] exploits the wideband behavior of the radial line geometry [12] to enhance unit cell reconfiguration performances, without adding any further tunable components. In this paper, a simplified circuit-model approach is adopted to analyze and demonstrate the wider band behavior of radial phasing line configuration [11] with respect to the classic linear one [10]. The adopted analysis method is fruitfully implemented to perform a fast and preliminary investigation on the improvements provided by the radial shaped varactor loaded phasing line in terms of reflectarray unit cell frequency agility.

2 Operational Bandwidth of Varactor Loaded Reflectarray Cell: Comparison Between Linear and Radial Phasing Lines

The reflectarray unit cells analyzed in this work are depicted in Fig. 1. Both cells have been proposed by the authors in some previous papers [10], [11]. In particular, the configuration depicted in Fig. 1(a) has been extensively discussed and tested in [10], while the cell illustrated in Fig. 1(b) has been proposed in [11] as a modified version of the former with the aim to improve overall unit cell frequency performances.



Fig. 1. Element layout : (a) aperture-coupled cell with linear phasing line; (b) aperture-coupled cell with radial phasing line; (c) layers stratification of the cell.

The basic structure, common to both cells, consists of a rectangular patch aperturecoupled to a microstrip phasing line loaded by a single varactor diode, whose variable capacitance allows to actively tune the cells phase response. The difference between the two considered cells lies in the phasing line geometry. As a matter of fact, the first cell depicted in Fig. 1(a) is electronically driven by a classic uniform microstrip line composed by two linear segments L_s and L_v , while the second cell (Fig. 1(b)) is controlled by a phasing line composed by two radial stubs, having a 90° aperture angle and radius respectively equal to r_1 and r_2 . As demonstrated in [11], the last phasing line configuration allows to improve the frequency performances of the unit cell, thanks to the wideband behavior of radial stubs that are typically characterized by an input impedance showing slower changes with the frequency, if compared with the reactance of an equivalent linear stub [12]. A case study demonstrating the above statements is reported under Fig. 2, which illustrates the comparison between the reflection phase curves versus frequency [11] computed for different varactor capacitances, both for the cell loaded by a radial phasing line Fig. 1(b) as well as for the one tuned by a linear phasing line Fig. 1(a). Either cells are characterized by sizes equal to $0.45\lambda_0 \times 0.45\lambda_0$ and the following layers stratification (Fig. 1(c)): $\varepsilon_{r1} = 2.33$ (Diclad870), t= 0.762 mm and ε_r = 1 (Air), d= 1.524 mm, for the antenna substrate; ε_{r_2} =6.15 (TC600), h=0.762 mm, for the phasing line substrate. Both phasing lines are properly sized ($L_s = 6 \text{ mm}$, $L_v = 4.6 \text{ mm}$ (Fig. 1(a)) and $r_1 = 4.3 \text{ mm}$, $r_2 = 2.7 \text{ mm}$ (Fig. 1(b)) to achieve an alternate capacitive-inductive behavior in the phase of the signal reflected towards the aperture-coupled patch (Fig. 1), only by changing the diode capacitance within the values range allowed by the adopted model (see [11] for details). Moreover, the patch and the slot sizes are chosen to simultaneously achieve the antenna resonance and the matching with the phasing line, achieving in both cases the following dimensions (Fig. 1): L=8.9mm, W=6.8mm, $L_a=6.7mm$, $W_a=0.7mm$. The above unit cells are analyzed through the use of the infinite array approach, assuming a normally incident plane wave. The curves depicted in Fig. 2 show that the unit cell operational bandwidth (i.e. the frequency range within which is possible to effectively tune the unit cell reflection phase in a quite full phase-range) increases threefold when a radial shaped phasing line is adopted instead of a classic linear one. These results confirm the possibility to design an aperture-coupled cell with a certain degree of frequency agility, through a proper shaping of the active tuning line, without adding any further active components.



Fig. 2. Simulated reflection phase vs. frequency for different values of the varactor capacitance C_v : comparison between cells driven by linear and radial phasing lines.

3 Equivalent Circuit Modeling of Varactor Loaded Radial Phasing Line

As pointed out in the above paragraph, the slower frequency variations characterizing the radial stubs input impedance are fruitfully exploited in [11] to design a novel broadband varactor loaded phasing line, suitable to improve the frequency performances of the aperture-coupled reflectarray cell proposed in [10].

In order to better justify the above results, a preliminary numerical characterization of the adopted radial phasing line geometry is performed in this paragraph. The reflection phase behavior at the line section corresponding to the slot centre is evaluated through the use of the equivalent-circuit model approach illustrated in Fig. 3(a). The radial phasing line input impedance Z_{AA} (Fig. 3(a)) is computed as the series combination of the two radial stubs impedances, which in turns are calculated by adopting the simplified numerical approach proposed in [13]. This last method models the radial microstrip line with a set of cascaded interconnections of uniform transmission lines having incremental length dl_k and width w_k fixed by the radial shape (Fig. 3(b)).



Fig. 3. Phasing line circuit model: (a) circuit model of radial phasing line; (b) radial stub geometry approximation; (c) circuit model of linear phasing line.

The input impedance of each radial stub is recursively calculated by computing the input impedance of the k^{th} cascaded uniform transmission line, starting from the one placed at the open end of the stub down to the input section having width w_g (Fig. 3(b)). The input impedance of the k^{th} cascaded transmission line is computed as:

$$Z_{in}^{(k)} = Z_{0k} \frac{Z_{in}^{(k+1)} + jZ_{0k} \tan \beta_k dl_k}{Z_{0k} + jZ_{in}^{(k+1)} \tan \beta_k dl_k}$$
(1)

where $Z_{in}^{(k+1)}$ is the load impedance of the k^{th} line, that is equal to the input impedance of the $(k+1)^{th}$ section (Fig. 3(a)). Z_{0k} and β_k are the characteristic impedance and the phase constant of the k^{th} transmission line segment, respectively, computed through the formulas reported in [14]. For the sake of simplicity, both dielectric and conductor losses are neglected. Even if more accurate methods can be adopted to estimate the radial stub input impedance (e.g. the closed-form formula derived in [12]), the above simplified approach is sufficient to get a rough idea on the radial stub input parameters behavior. Furthermore, it can take into account the variable capacitive load, simply by loading the M^{th} line section at the end of stub r_1 with the varactor impedance Z_{var} (Fig. 3(a)). The above circuit model is adopted in this work to perform a preliminary analysis of the benefits offered by the radial phasing line geometry, in terms of reflection phase frequency stability, and to find out the motivations that lead to these improved frequency performances. At this purpose, the radial phasing line is properly sized to achieve a fully tunable reflection phase at section AA' (i.e. $arg(S_{11})$), in correspondence to the design frequency f = 10 GHz. The input port width w_g is fixed equal to 1.6mm, which corresponds to a characteristic impedance equal to $Z'_0 = Z''_0 = 40 \Omega$, when the line is printed on a substrate having ε_r =6.15 and thickness h=0.762mm. The diode impedance Z_{var} is modeled with the equivalent circuit depicted in Fig. 3, composed by a tunable capacitance C_v , a diode series resistance $R_s=1.36\Omega$, and package parasitic inductance/capacitance respectively equal to L_p=0.2nH and C_p=0.15pF. The stubs radii are fixed to r_1 =6.06mm and r_2 =5.9mm, respectively, so that, by varying C_v from 0.2pF to 2pF, a reflection phase variation range greater than 300° is achieved within a quite large neighborhood of the 10 GHz (Fig. 4), greater than that offered by the equivalent linear phasing line (fig. 3(c)) printed on the same substrate and characterized by $L_v=4.25$ mm and $L_s=6.5$ mm (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Phase of coefficient S_{11} vs. frequency for different diode capacitance C_v : comparison between linear and radial phasing line geometry.

The above result can be attributed to the slower frequency changes characterizing the radial phasing line input impedance Z_{AA} as demonstrated by Fig. 5(a), that shows a comparison between reactance curves evaluated for both phasing line configurations at different C_v values. Furthermore, Fig. 5(b) demonstrates how the slower frequency variations characterizing the radial phasing line input reactance give rise to a reflection phase curve (i.e. $\arg(S_{11}(f))$ with a very smooth and linear behavior within the considered frequency range, which is a measure of the radial geometry effectiveness in achieving wider band performances, also when it is applied to design a varactor-based phase tuning line.



Fig. 5. Comparison between linear and radial phasing line behavior at port AA' vs. frequency for different C_{v} : (a) input reactance; (b) phase of S_{11} .

4 Conclusion

A wideband varactor loaded phasing line, based on the use of a couple of radial stubs, has been considered to dynamically tune the reflection phase of an aperturecoupled reflectarray cell. A simplified circuit-model approach has been adopted to perform a preliminary investigation on the improvements achievable with the radial phasing line geometry, in terms of unit cell frequency agility. The method has been fruitfully adopted to demonstrate and justify the wider band performances of the radial geometry with respect to the classical linear one, when it is applied to design a varactor-based phase tuning line. The results achieved for a 10 GHz unit cell demonstrate the possibility to design a frequency agile unit cell, through a proper shaping of the active tuning line, without adding any further active components, so limiting the DC-biasing network complexity.

References

- 1. Huang, J., Encinar, J.: Reflectarray antennas. Wiley-IEEE Press, (2008)
- Hum, S.V., Perruisseau-Carrier, J.: Reconfigurable Reflectarrays and Array Lenses for Dynamic Antenna Beam Control: A Review. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag., vol. 62, pp. 183--198 (2014)
- Riel, M., Laurin, J.J.: Design of an Electronically Beam Scanning Reflectarray using Aperture-Coupled Elements. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag., vol. 55, pp. 1260--1266, (2007)
- 4. Perruisseau-Carrier, J.: Dual-Polarized and Polarization Flexible Reflective Cells with Dynamic Phase Control. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag., vol. 58, pp. 1494--1502, (2010)
- Guclu, C., Perruisseau-Carrier. J., Civi, O.: Proof of Concept of a Dual-Band Circularly-Polarized RF MEMS Beam Switching Reflectarray. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag., vol. 60, pp. 5451--5455, (2012)
- 6. Rodrigo, D., Jofre, L., Perruisseau-Carrier, J.: Unit Cell for Frequency Tunable Beam Scanning Reflectarrays. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag., vol. 61, pp. 5992--5999, (2013)
- 7. Venneri, F., Costanzo, S., Di Massa, G.: Reconfigurable Aperture-Coupled Reflectarray Element Tuned by a Single Varactor Diode., Electronics Letters, vol. 48, pp. 68--69, (2012)
- Venneri, F., Costanzo, S., Di Massa, G., Marozzo, E., Borgia, A., Corsonello, P., Salzano, M.: Beam-Scanning Reflectarray Base on a Single Varactor-Tuned Element., Int. Journal of Antennas and Propagat., vol. 2012, Article ID 290285, (2012)
- Venneri, F., Costanzo, S., Di Massa, G., Borgia, A., Corsonello, P., Salzano, M.: Design of a Reconfigurable Reflectarray Based on a Varactor Tuned Element. In: EuCAP 2012, Prague, CZ, (2012)
- 10.Venneri, F., Costanzo, S., Di Massa, G.: Design and Validation of a Reconfigurable Single Varactor-Tuned Reflectarray. IEEE Trans. Antennas Propag., vol. 61, pp. 635--645, (2013)
- 11.Costanzo, S., Venneri, F., Raffo, A., Di Massa, G., Corsonello, P.: Active Reflectarray Element with Large Reconfigurability Frequency Range. In: EuCAP 2015, Lisbon, Portugal, (2014)
- 12. Sorrentino, R., Roselli, L.: A New Simple and Accurate Formula for Microstrip Radial Stub. IEEE Microwave and Guided Letters, vol. 2, pp. 480--482, (1992)
- 13. Günel, T., Kent, S.: Numerical Modeling of Microstrip Radial Stub. Journal of Microwave Power and Electromagnetic Energy, vol. 32, pp. 246--250, (1997)
- 14. Gupta, K.C., Garg, R., Bahl, I., Barthia, P.: Microstrip Lines and Slotlines, 2nd edition, Artech House

Next Generation Network (NGN) Challenges on Access Networks

João Paulo Ribeiro Pereira

School of Technology and Management, Polytechnic Institute of Bragança (IPB) Portugal jprp@ipb.pt

Abstract. Telecom infrastructures are facing unprecedented challenges, with increasing demands on network capacity. With the increased demand for high-speed data services and the constant evolution of broadband access technologies, operators are faced with a number of issues when choosing the technology and building the network. Today, network operators are facing the challenge of how to expand the existing access network infrastructure into networks capable of satisfying the user's requirements. Thus, in this context, providers need to identify the technological solution that enables them to profitably serve customers and support future needs. However, the identification of the "best" solution is a difficult task.

Keywords: Access Networks; NGNs; Broadband Access Networks; Architecture; Techno-economic Model.

1 Introduction

The development of the information society is dependent on a universal broadband access network capable of reaching everybody. Broadband deployment is increasingly considered a key driver of economic development, productivity, job growth, and social advancement.

The rapid development of new-generation applications, such as high-definition television (HDTV), peer-to-peer (P2P) applications, video on demand, interactive games, e-learning, use of multiple personal computers (PCs) at home, and higher throughput requirements and communication demands make upgrading the access infrastructure a necessity. Ubiquitous broadband access requires a minimum bit rate that is sufficient to allow all citizens to benefit from these services. As a result, to run voice, data, video, and advanced Internet applications, residential users may soon need connections of more than 30 Mbps [1].

The needs of telecommunication networks with higher capacity are becoming a reality all over the world. However, the limitation of local access networks is the major bottleneck to providing broadband access [2]. It is recognized that there is a disparity between broadband availability in urban and rural areas. The pre-existing telecommunications infrastructure is generally poor and unevenly distributed in favor of urban centers [3]. In most rural areas, low population density and high deployment costs discourage private investments, creating a negative feedback of limited capacity,

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_36

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

high prices, and low service demand. Building telecommunications networks in rural areas is costly. Further, in many cases, there is not a good commercial business case for rural deployments. Whereas established and competitive service providers already offer solutions for urban and suburban areas, there is little or no commitment to connect areas that include smaller towns and rural villages [4]. The deployment of access network broadband services on low-competition areas is characterized by low subscriber densities, longer loop lengths, lower duct availability, and consequently higher infrastructure cost compared to high-competition areas.

Service providers, network operators, and Internet access providers are faced with the challenge of providing higher capacity access to the end user and offering wider services. Consequently, new Internet infrastructure and technologies that are capable of providing high-speed and high-quality services are needed to accommodate multimedia applications with diverse quality of service (QoS) requirements. Until a few years ago, Internet access for residential users was almost exclusively provided via public switched telephone networks (PSTN) over the twisted copper pair. The new quadruple play services (i.e., voice, video, data, and mobility), which require highspeed broadband access, created new challenges for the modern broadband wireless/wired access networks [5]. The new services led to both the development of several different last-mile solutions to make the access network capable of supporting the requirements and a stronger integration of optical and wireless access networks.

2 Next-generation networks (NGNs)

The move toward next-generation networks (NGNs) has significant implications for the technical architecture and design of access network infrastructure, as well as the value chains and business models of electronic communications service provision [6]. This migration has begun to transform the telecommunication sector from distinct single-service markets into converging markets. NGNs allow consumers to choose between different access network technologies to access their service environment Sometimes, the NGN architecture will be limited to the developments of network architectures in the access network (local loop), referred to as the next-generation access network (NGAN).

NGANs are being deployed across the world with technologies such as fiber, copperutilizing xDSL technologies, coaxial cable, powerline communications (PLC), wireless solutions, or hybrid deployment of these technologies. Wireless networks typically use a range of different technologies, including high-speed packet access (HSPA), HSPA+, worldwide interoperability for microwave access (WiMAX), and long-term evolution (LTE). Further, wireline networks are increasingly employing some form of fiber, such as fiber-to-the-home (FTTH) and fiber-to-the-curb/cabinet (FTTC). NGN access in a fixed network was initially a broadband access-based on the copper loops. However, many countries are developing projects to provide higher speed using fiber-based technology, such as very high-speed digital subscriber line (VDSL) or fiber-to-thebuilding/home (FTTB/H). For cable networks, it is of the case that the only voice service is Internet protocol (IP)-based, whereas for mobile networks, the migration to IP voice is more complex [7].

As broadband access networks require considerable investments, before the investment decision is made it is important to compare the different technologies. The investment costs depend on the technology to be used, as well as on the demography of the service area and subscriber and throughput demand forecasts. The choice of a specific technology for NGAN can differ among countries, geographic areas, and operators. In recent years, there has been an increase in the number, coverage, and market share of "alternative" networks or operators, such as resellers, unbundling operators, cable network operators, operators using frequencies for WLL/WiMAX, or operators deploying optical fiber in the local loop [8]. This has resulted in differences in competitive conditions among geographic areas, which has led to increasing arguments (especially from incumbent operators) that geographical aspects should be recognized in market/competition analyses and regulatory decisions. There are several factors that might be responsible for this discrepancy [9]: state and age of the existing network infrastructure; length of the local loop; population density and structure of the housing market; distribution of the number of users and street cabinets for local exchange; level of intermodal competition in the market; willingness to pay for broadband services; and existence of ad hoc national government plans for broadband development.

3 NGN regulation

Broadband in the OECD is still dominated by DSL, but there is an obvious trend emerging to upgrade last-mile access networks to support the new services requirements [2]. To address these network requirements, many carriers in emerging markets must move from legacy platforms toward next-generation solutions with a combination of wireless and wireline technologies, such as WiMAX, IP-Ethernet, and new forms of DSL technology and fiber.

In the past, the residential wireline telephony access network was characterized by monopolistic bottlenecks. With the advent of NGNs, economists began to challenge this view, as convergence sparked the hope for infrastructure competition in the local loop [10]. It is recognized that regulation can inhibit investment on the part of incumbents [7]. In addition, most European regulators argue that a simple withdrawal of regulation is not the most appropriate solution, as it inhibits investments on the part of competitive entrants, which quantitatively are often just as significant as those made by incumbents. The change in regulation can also restrict consumer choice and inhibit competition. For example, when the incumbent operator simultaneously has a monopoly in the access network and activity in the retail market, price regulation is an important issue. Without it, the incumbent can use his or her power in the market to stop or impede the entrance of new operators in the retail market. However, if a regulatory authority rigidly controls the access price, it might reduce the incentive for the incumbent to make investments in the network. The regulatory authority should not increase uncertainties and must provide clear incentives and guidance for the investment required for deploying NGANs [11]. [12] argues that in the case of high Internet penetrations the competition policy could lead to maximum welfare with

market price equal to marginal cost. However, for low-penetration markets the social welfare maximum is not achieved without subsidies to operators or customers.

Regulators should ensure that local loop unbundling (LLU) and sub-loop unbundling, bitstream, the transition to NGA, access to ducts and dark fiber, inside (building) wiring, collocation, and backhaul are defined in a transparent, efficient, and technologically neutral manner [8] (see Figure 1.1).



Fig. 1. Competition levels and locations

Although the cost of bandwidth in the active layer has reduced significantly (and continually) in recent years, the cost of civil works (such as digging and trenching) represents a major barrier for operators to deploy NGA infrastructure. Studies and deployments show that civil infrastructure is the largest proportion of the costs of fixed access deployment (up to 80%). Duct is a critical part of the next-generation access networks and its sharing would reduce or eliminate this capital cost and barrier to entry. However, duct access may need to be complemented by extra civil work to increase infrastructure capacity, the use of dark fiber (where available), or the use of conduits of alternative infrastructure providers. This also highlights that different and/or complementary regulatory tools may be required in different parts of the network [13].

3.1 Segmented regulation

Segmented regulation has been identified as a regulatory framework that can potentially provide both incentives and controls for the deployment of NGNs [14]. OECD regulatory authorities have traditionally adopted a national geographic area focus when framing the geographic scope of telecommunications markets. However, with the increase in the number, coverage, and market share of "alternative" networks (or operators), different competitive conditions between geographic areas have occurred [8]. Based on results of market analyses, economists have suggested that differential regulation should be considered between geographic areas in which facility-based competition has developed and those in which it has not. Competition can be promoted at many levels and locations through contestability and innovation [15].

After the decision of several countries to implement geographic regulations, there has been increased interest in these questions. In the literature on the regulation of future access networks, the discussion on regulation and investment has taken center stage, given the pending infrastructure investments in many countries [16]. The

geographically segmented regulation should aim not only at facilitating deregulation, but also at strengthening regulation in those regions where competition is viewed as ineffective. Then, segmented regulation can assist regulators in ensuring that the regulatory framework they apply is appropriately tailored to the competition situation [8]. Local decisions of a national regulator might lead to inefficiencies deriving from discrepancies between local and global cost-benefit evolutions. Segmented regulation may be helpful because it allows different solutions for the deployment of NGNs in urban and rural areas to evolve at different paces [14].

Figure 2 illustrates a scenario of the differences in competitive circumstances that may warrant geographically segmented regulation. There are geographical differences in conditions of competition, including the number of suppliers and market shares [17]. The deregulation of high-density areas might help to avoid the unnecessary protection of access-based competitors and strengthen incentives to invest in infrastructure. Further, maintaining regulation of low-density areas might promote competition with national offers because alternative operators are enabled to extend geographical coverage.



Fig. 2. Geographically segmented regulation [17]

3.2 Geographic differentiation

The analyses of several regulatory inquiries [15, 16, 18] on the national level show that access providers (usually the incumbent operators and former monopoly operators) are generally in favor of geographic differentiation. For example, a Spanish operator (Telefonica) argues that the geographical segmentation model can push investments and gradual deregulation, which permits to users enjoy the best possible scenario. The operator also defends the notion that differentiated regulation would prevent the increase of the digital divide. In Australia, Telstra argued that geographically segmented regulation will promote competition, giving service providers the appropriate incentives to use and extend alternative infrastructure, and will also promote competition by encouraging other carriers to offer wholesale local services.

For consumers, the impact of geographic differentiation is also important, given the often-repeated statements by politicians and regulators that policy and regulation are

designed to be in the long-term interest of consumers [8]. For business users, the breakup of market analysis to the sub-national level is a source of significant alarm, especially with regard to wholesale broadband access services. For multinational business users, inconsistency of national regulations and the consequent inability to obtain seamless international network services without service quality, costs, and administrative disadvantages is already a serious problem.

4 NGNs challenges

To deliver the new services to end customers, a large variety of access network technologies and architectures are available for operators to include both narrowband and broadband technologies with and without wires. The selection of the best solution requires an understanding of the technical possibilities and limitations of the different alternatives, as well as an understanding of the costs resulting from building and operating the networks. Therefore, the use of cost models for measuring the costs of providing telecommunications services has become commonplace [9].

The advent of NGNs creates new challenges for network operators, service providers and regulators. When network operators want to make investment decisions, they must consider the present utilization and emerging innovative uses of the Internet services (such as P2P applications, video downloads, next generations of videoconferencing, interactive video and television, collaborative gaming, and network-based backups) that lead users to adopt bandwidth intensive behaviors, which imposes additional costs on network operators.

Business modeling is broadly used by operators and regulatory authorities. Operators, existent or new entrants, use models for strategic planning, project analysis and selection, etc. The existent operators (e.g. incumbents) can use business modeling to study tariffs, analyze the cost of services, analyze competition, analyze of alternative technology strategies, business case evaluation, definition of the rollout strategy, appraising alternative investment opportunities and determining economically appropriate cost floors. To new entrants, these models give important information in the deployment of network infrastructures. For example, a cost model, with a series of calculations based on a certain costing methodology, provides the costs that a firm incurs to provide different services using different technologies.

One of the most important roles of any regulatory authority (NRA) is to impose cost oriented pricing to operators with significant market power - regulators require good cost models for the purpose of establishing the prices of regulated telecommunications services. However, without a detailed understanding of the costs of delivering services, regulators cannot impose appropriate rates for either retail or wholesale services [19]. In addition, regulators need the information produced in cost models to define strategies and policies [20].

Cost models deliver several benefits to operators and regulatory bodies. However, [19] contended that a new, accurate, and more flexible cost model for the new multiservice NGN networks are needed. More than ever, not being able to understand the cost drivers and model the costs of an NGN network leads to significant risk for both regulators and network operators. The current models are not adequate when faced with the challenge of delivering a range of new and complex services over a radically different network infrastructure.

4.1 Methodologies for telecommunications modeling and simulation

Several cost methodologies can be adopted by network operators, service providers, and regulators. For example, [20, 21] identified several alternatives for performing telecommunications modeling and simulation: (a) economic models that are used for analyzing dynamics within the telecommunications market; (b) engineering cost models that are used to sum up the capital expenditure (CAPEX) for each network element (e.g., the long-run incremental cost model (LRIC)); (c) techno-economic models that are designed to evaluate deployment scenarios and to support the selection of optimal technology and deployment time; and (d) game-theoretic models that can be used to capture non-cooperative interactions between operators, such as exploring entry strategies and how market outcomes are affected by competition or regulation.

In dynamic and competitive markets, including telecommunications, firms base their decisions on the relationship between prices and forward-looking (or long-run) economic costs - costs that would be incurred if a new service were provided. Forward-looking economic cost computer models might enable regulatory authorities to estimate the forward-looking cost of network facilities and services. In the United States, the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) uses these methodologies as a basis for determining universal service support levels, cost-based access charges, and pricing for interconnection and unbundled network elements [9].

The LRIC methodology is often used by NRAs to determine the cost-orientation of regulated operators and set pricing levels for wholesale services. However, it is also a valuable tool for determining the cost of a single service, whereas a network typically provides multiple services. The European regulatory framework recommends the use of the LRIC standard for controlling dominant operator interconnection rates, which should be cost-oriented [22]. There are two main sub-methodologies for the LRIC. The total service long-run incremental cost (TSLRIC) type considers each service as a cost increment factor. This framework was first developed in the late 1970s and early 1980s to deal with issues surrounding the application of common cost concepts in firms producing more than one product or service [23]. The cost estimate developed using a TSLRIC framework shows the cost a firm would avoid in the long run if it no longer provided the service, holding all of its other production activity constant.

The total element long-run incremental cost (TELRIC) type is based on network elements. It allows the economies of scale achieved by different network elements to be distributed among services in relation to the intensity of use that each service makes of the element. Also assures that the cost allocated to a service is related to its use to the network with respect to the rest of services [22]. If market (or regulated) prices in a competitive framework exceed long-run economic costs, new providers will be attracted to the market; this entrance would be efficient. On the other hand, if prices fall short of economic costs, no new competitor will have an incentive to enter the market. In addition, some incumbent firms may decide to leave.

The techno-economic model enables network managers to evaluate the benefits of innovative technological developments in the context of global economics of the business of telecommunication services. Using a given set of input parameters, this methodology calculates several results, such as cost and revenue, and performs risk and sensitivity analyses that support the management of network operators to elaborate adequate strategic guidelines for the medium-term planning of the network and service evolutions. It is normally implemented in spreadsheets, such as Excel. Moreover, it is useful for comparing the CAPEX of broadband access technologies.

An engineering-economic model starts with an engineering model of the underlying network (physical local exchange network) followed by an economic model that calculates the costs of the projected network. The design of the engineering model usually follows the procedure used in the planning of a realistic network, which involves the choice of system architecture, equipment planning, service and capacity prediction, and infrastructure planning.

Once the costing methodology is chosen, the model can be designed under two main network modeling approaches (see next table): top-down (based on financial accounting) and bottom-up (based on traffic demand). However, it is common to see models that result from the combination of both approaches. Hybrid models combine the advantages of bottom-up and top-down models and, consequently, provide a highquality standard [24].

Table 1. Top-down and bottom-up modeling approaches main characteristics

Top-down approach	Bottom-up approach
Uses the existing network as a starting	The bottom-up modeling approach
point from which an attempt is made to find	represents an efficient cost structure,
the most accurate mapping of cost centers,	objective and based on available information.
costed units of output, and activity-based	Bottom up cost models are an attempt to
allocations [24]. The top-down model uses	determine analytically which network
data from the operator accounts to calculate	components are necessary to efficiently
the costs of particular services.	satisfy a given demand. So, using the traffic
The bottom-up approach involves the	demands, it identifies the required network
development of an engineering-economic	elements to provide the different services.
model to calculate the costs of particular	Based on engineering and economic
network elements and in turn particular	principles, each service is related to the
services.	network elements quantities required for
	producing it and the corresponding cost.

However, the described models for telecommunication analysis do not consider the influence of factors, such as competition, policy, and regulation. Therefore, in this context, game-theoretic models have successfully been used to analyze market dynamics in telecommunications (infrastructure competition). They can also be employed to analyze competition between firms to find a dominant strategy for each player or an equilibrium with which all players are content [21]. Game-theory models are concerned with the analysis of optimal decision making in competitive situations, although it is important to note that game theory does not predict the outcome of competition [21, 25]. Instead, it is a set of mathematical expressions used as a language for logical behavior. Given presumptions about the conducts of players, game theory maps the available strategies of each player in the game. To determine the likely outcome, game theory uses the concept of Nash equilibrium.

Next Generation Networks (NGN) Challenges ...

As seen above, the complexity of business modeling requires the use of software tools for manipulation with input and output parameters, modeling relationships, and calculating results. [26] define a business model as a framework for creating economic, social, and/or other forms of value. However, the term "business model" is used for a broad range of informal and formal descriptions to represent core aspects of a business, including purpose, offerings, strategies, infrastructure, organizational structures, trading practices, and operational processes and policies. Because of its simplicity, Microsoft Excel is frequently used as a general-purpose tool for business modeling, but it is not a good option in cases where more complex techno-economic interactions must be modeled.

5 Conclusions

As seen in the previous paragraphs, in order to meet the emerging demands for broadband services, adequate telecommunication access network designs are crucial for network operators, service providers, and equipment vendors. With the high number of technical candidates and design options for developing access networks, it is necessary to perform calculations to identify cost-efficient combinations of technologies, functionalities, and network structures. In addition, other issues, such as regulatory and competitive aspects, should be considered.

However, competition in telecommunications is more complex than in many other industries because of the nature of communications networks. A correct construction of a techno-economic model permits the minimization of errors in the network development phase and calculation of results, allowing for an evolutionary development of the network solution. The detailed modeling, including offered services, serving area, equipment, operational cost processes, revenues, and other related techno-economic elements, assures a significant conformity between technoeconomic models and real deployment.

References

- [1] P. Chanclou, Z. Belfqih, B. Charbonnier, T. Duong, F. Frank, N. Genay, M. Huchard, P. Guignard, L. Guillo, B. Landousies, A. Pizzinat, H. Ramanitra, F. Saliou, S. Durel, P. Urvoas, M. Ouzzif, and J. Le Masson, "Access network evolution: optical fibre to the subscribers and impact on the metropolitan and home networks," Comptes Rendus Physique, vol. 9, pp. 935-946, 2008.
- [2] OECD, Broadband Growth and Policies in OECD Countries: OECD Publications, 2008.
- [3]H. Galperin, "Wireless Networks and Rural Development: Opportunities for Latin America," Information Technologies and International Development, vol. 2, pp. 47-56, 2005.
- [4]J. P. R. Pereira, "Simulation of Competition in NGNs with a Game Theory Model," in Convergence of Broadband, Broadcast, and Cellular Network Technologies, T. Ramona and M. Gabriel-Miro, Eds., ed Hershey, PA, USA: IGI Global, 2014, pp. 216-243.
- [5] J. P. Pereira and P. Ferreira, "Access networks for mobility: A techno-economic model for broadband access technologies," in Testbeds and Research Infrastructures for the

Development of Networks & Communities and Workshops, 2009. TridentCom 2009. 5th International Conference on, Washington, DC 2009, pp. 221-228.

- [6] J. S. Marcus, D. Elixmann, and C. Wernick, "Next Generation Networks (NGNs)," European Parliament, Brussels2009.
- [7]J. S. Marcus and D. Elixmann, "Regulatory Approaches to NGNs: An International Comparison," Communications & Strategies, vol. 69, p. 21, 2008.
- [8]OECD, "Geographically Segmented Regulation for Telecommunications," OECD Digital Economy Papers, vol. 173, p. 78, 2010.
- [9]J. Pereira, "Use of a Game Theory Model to Simulate Competition in Next Generation Networks," in New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies, Volume 1. vol. 275, Á. Rocha, A. M. Correia, F. B. Tan, and K. A. Stroetmann, Eds., ed: Springer International Publishing, 2014, pp. 387-397.
- [10] ITU, "Ruling the New and Emerging Markets in the Telecommunication Sector," presented at the ITU Workshop on What rules for IP-enabled NGNs?, Geneva, Swiss, 2006.
- [11] R. D. Vega, "NGANs and the geographical segmentation of markets," in OECD Workshop on Fibre Investment and Policy Challenges, Stavanger, Norway, 2008, pp. 1-18.
- [12] Y. Kidokoro, "A model of Internet access when Internet connection speed is upgradable," Information Economics and Policy, vol. 19, pp. 80-94, 2007.
- [13] Analysys-Mason, "Telecoms infrastructure access sample survey of duct access," Ofcom, London2009.
- [14] P. Ferreira, "Modeling Segmented Regulation for Next Generation Networks," presented at the The 36th Research Conference on Communication, Information and Internet Policy, George Mason University School of Law, Arlington, VA, USA, 2008.
- [15] E. Richards, "Future broadband Policy approach to next generation access," Ofcom2007.
- [16] F. Kirsch and C. V. Hirschhausen, "Regulation of Next Generation Networks: Structural Separation, Access Regulation, or no Regulation at all?," in First International Conference on Infrastructure Systems and Services: Building Networks for a Brighter Future (INFRA), Rotterdam, The Netherlands 2008, pp. 1-8.
- [17] U. Stumpf, "Towards geographical differentiation of broadband regulation?," in 3rd Black Sea and Caspian Regulatory Conference, Istanbul, 2008, pp. 1-16.
- [18] P. Xavier, "Geographically Segmented Regulation for Telecommunications," OECD2010.
- [19] H. Collins, "Next Generation Networks Creating a Dedicated Cost Model," InterConnect Communications Ltd, United Kingdom2009.
- [20] D. A. Benitez, A. Estache, D. M. Kennet, and C. A. Ruzzier, "Are Cost Models Useful for Telecoms Regulators in Developing Countries?," SSRN eLibrary, 1999.
- [21] H. M. Sigurdsson, "Techno-Economics of Residential Broadband Deployment (PhD Thesis)," Technical University of Denmark - Center for Information and Communication Technologies, 2007.
- [22] L. R. d. Lope and K. D. Hackbarth, "Cost model for Bitstream Access Services with QoS parameters," Journal of Universal Computer Science, vol. 14, p. 19, 2008.
- [23] KPMG, "Comparison of the Australian Fixed Network Cost Model and the TEA Model," 2009.
- [24] R. Belfin and H. Otruba, "ITU Regulatory Cost Accounting Guide," International Telecommunication Union2010.
- [25] D. Katsianis, A. Gyürke, R. Konkoly, D. Varoutas, and T. Sphicopoulos, "A game theory modeling approach for 3G operators," Netnomics, vol. 8, pp. 71-90, 2007.
- [26] Y.-F. Kuo and S.-N. Yen, "Towards an understanding of the behavioral intention to use 3G mobile value-added services," Comput. Hum. Behav., vol. 25, pp. 103-110, 2009.

Part IV Internet, Business and Social Networks
The Security Policy Application Process: Action Research

Isabel Lopes1 and Pedro Oliveira2

¹Centro ALGORITMI, Universidade do Minho ¹ ²School of Technology and Management, Polytechnic Institute of Bragança, Portugal { isalopes, pedrooli }@ipb.pt

Abstract. It is crucial for companies to acknowledge the need for applying security policies because, without such policies, there is no reliable way to define, implement, and enforce a security plan within an organization. Small and medium sized enterprises (SME) are no exception. Within the organizational universe, SMEs assume a unique relevance due to their high number, which makes information security efficiency a paramount issue. There are several measures which can be implemented in order to ensure the effective protection of information assets, among which the adoption of ISS policies stands out. A recent survey concluded that from 307 SMEs, only 15 indicated to have an ISS policies has not become a reality yet. As an attempt to mitigate this fact, security policies were formulated, implemented and adopted in 10 SMEs which had stated not to have this security measure. These interventions were conceived as Action Research (AR) projects.

Keywords: Formulation, Implementation and Adoption of Information Security Policies, Information Security, Small and Medium Sized Enterprises.

1 Introduction

Security requirements change at a bewildering speed both in large companies and in SMEs. Companies manipulate increasingly more and larger quantities of information, which is why increasingly stricter and wider security controls are essential. The technological process can work as a catalyst of threats, but is not enough on its own to ensure information security [1].

Information security encompasses technology, processes, and people. Technical measures such as passwords, biometrics, and firewalls alone are not sufficient in mitigating threats to information. A combination of measures is required to secure systems and protect information against harm [2].

Within this context, we consider that, in order to achieve organizations' wellness, it is important to implement security measures which take into account the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the information contained in information system IS [3,4] so as to prevent, detect and respond to the threats which such systems are exposed to and therefore, protect information.

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_37

Information security is understood as the maintenance, assurance and compliance with the following features of information:

- Confidentiality: Information assets can only be accessed and handled by users who have permission for that.
- Integrity: The content of information assets must remain unaltered and complete. Any changes made must be recorded ensuring their reliability.
- Availability: Information assets can only be obtained in short term by users who have the appropriate permissions.

Information systems security (ISS) policies consist essentially of documents which guide or regulate the actions of people or systems within the ISS domain [5]. ISS policies are pointed out in literature as one of the main measures to be taken by organizations for protecting their IS.

Considering the fact that this work addresses SMEs, it is essential to define this latter concept. The status of SME is defined in the Decree-Law n. 272/2007 of November 6, according to the companies' number of permanent workers, which must be under 250; the turnover, which must be under or equal to 50 million Euros; and an annual balance-sheet total which must be under or equal to 43 million Euros.

In Table 1, we present the number of workers and their representativeness within Portuguese business.

Type of Enterprise	N. of Workers	Percentage
Micro	1-9	94.6
Small	10-49	4.7
Medium sized	50-249	0.7
SME = 1 + 2 + 3	1-249	99.8

Table 1. Number of workers and percentage in 2012 in Portugal

As shown in the table above, SMEs in Portugal represent 99.8% of business. Their representativeness is extremely high, which makes them deserve more attention in many respects.

The research question that guided this work was to what extent AR methodology is adequate to support the process leading to the adoption of ISS policies.

The aim was to conduct the whole process of applying an ISS policy in 10 SMEs by using the AR research method. Structurally, this paper is organized as follows. After this contextualization of the subject, in section 2, we analyze the process of applying a security policy. Consecutively, we present the main features of the AR research method. In section 4, we describe the efforts made to formulate, implement and adopt ISS policies in 10 SMEs, which is followed by a discussion. Finally, we enumerate the papers' main contribution, and suggestions for future work.

2 Deployment of a security policy

In order to adopt an ISS policy, an organization must follow a sequence of steps, starting by writing the policy, then implementing it, and later on, at predefined moments or whenever circumstances require it, by reviewing its provisions, which

may prompt modifications in the policy. Indeed, this sequence of steps may be viewed as a cycle (figure 1).



Fig. 1. The security policy application process.

The steps of this sequence, which starts with the formulation of the policy and ends with its adoption by the company, are consecutively described per se.

2.1 Formulation

In order to make IS secure, authors such as [6] claim that it is not always easy to write an IS policy document. Actually, the authors of such documents often make use of commercial sources or minutes which are available, and make copies of these documents, which therefore do not reflect the true culture of the organization, thus not resulting in an effective document regarding ISS.

Writing an ISS policy is an essential component for all successful information security efforts. The policies establish the stage for a wide variety of information security efforts [7]. However, the formulation of such a policy is not a straightforward task and depends on a variety of factors.

The formulation of a policy takes place at a planning stage, in most cases as part of a wider security plan which aims to provide adequate protection to IS through a set of security measures and practices [8].

According to [9], the development of a security policy within an organization involves four activities:

- Assessing and understanding the security needs;
- Reviewing the policies and procedures in use, if they happen to exist;
- Defining the protection requirements;
- Formalizing the security policy.

Although there are several contributions which provide guidelines to the formulation of an ISS policy (norms for security management, best practices, etc.), the formulation process represents a very demanding and considerably complex task.

In figure 2, we present a process of ISS policy formulation [10]. This process includes input elements which feed certain activity processes which, in turn, will originate a set of outputs.

It is within the formulation process that efforts must be undertaken in order to conceive policies which have clear goals, guidelines and procedures. Also, it is important to consider the inclusion of a well-defined "exception to the rule" provision, which will provide the policy with a certain level of flexibility which will be needed if circumstances so require [11].

Input	Activities	Output
 Results of the risk evaluation assessment Legal requirements Information on the structure and cultural characteristics of the organization Existing security practices Knowledge of information technology and security controls Guidelines for security management standards and best practice 	 Identify security requirements for the IS Identify required security controls Compile security policy document Write down security procedures Compile the specifications for technical security controls 	 Security policy for IS Specification for countermeasures

Fig. 2. The process of security policy formulation.

Besides what has been said regarding the ISS policy formulation process, it is crucial to know that there is not only one unique method to develop an ISS policy. Factors as diverse as the target audience, the kind of business, the size of the company or the possible existence of an ISS policy play an important role in influencing the ISS policies formulation process.

2.2 Implementation

The implementation of a policy is considered as a set of activities which aim to prescribe what is written in the policy document.

There are six main principles to be considered within the process of implementing an ISS policy [12]:

- 1. The organization will ensure that its information is kept safe and used in an appropriate way;
- 2. The organization will provide clear guidance to human resources regarding information security;
- 3. All human resources working for and on the behalf of the organization will cooperate with the information security policy within the organization;
- 4. The organization will ensure that its human resources know all the relevant guidelines regarding the organization's information security;
- 5. The organization will inform its clients about the way their records will be kept safe as well as of who will have access to them;
- 6. The organization will comply with all the national legislation as well as with the best guidance regarding information security.

The implementation of a policy is the process throughout which policies are turned into guidelines, procedures and lists of what to do and are put into practice by the information system users [10]. Thus, the implementation of an ISS policy can be considered as a set of activities aiming to prescribe what is written in the policy document. The Security Policy Application Process ...

In figure 3, we present a process of ISS policy implementation [10]. This process includes input elements which feed certain activity processes which, in turn, will originate a set of outputs.

Input	Activities	Output
 Security policy document Knowledge on the culture of the organization 	 Provide instructions on the application of the security policy Provide the users of the IS with adequate training and education on the use of the security policy and procedures Monitor and evaluate the use of the security policy Monitor and evaluate security procedures Implement technical and organizational security controls 	 Security awareness Evaluation of the implementation of use of the security policy and the application of security procedures

Fig. 3. The process of security policy implementation

This process ultimately results in the implementation and subsequent conscientiousness of both users and managers regarding the obligation of using the policy with utmost rigor and seriousness.

2.3 Adoption

Due to the nature of the diverse organizations where different and distinct users access and use the IS, the adoption and concomitant compliance with ISS policies is essential to enable the detection of flaws and incoherencies in the adoption process and to lead to their correction.

According to [10], the adoption of a policy includes elements of input, which feed certain procedures of activities, which in turn originate a set of outputs. figure 4 represents a scheme illustrating these authors' view.

Input	Activities	Output
 Evaluation of the use of the Security Policy Established security procedures and work practices that implement the security policy Education and training programs 	 Establish norms that support security management Promote the issue of security to IS users Resolve possible conflicts and difficulties in the application of the security controls Keep users and management informed on the IS security agenda 	 Security culture Proposals and requirements for improving and adjusting the security policy

Fig. 4. The process of security policy adoption

Within the process of adoption of an ISS policy, inputs include the evaluation of the policy during its implementation, the procedures and working practices which implement the security policy, and the users' training and education processes. Based on this information, the following process includes solving possible conflicts and difficulties detected in the application of certain parameters contained in the policy, and keeping users and managers informed on the ISS agenda.

3 Perspectives on Action Research

Both the description of the application of any research method and the lessons learnt from that application require a previous clarification. Such clarification goes from the way the different practitioners understand the research method to the method's main features and the way it is applied, as well as its areas of applicability.

As its name suggests, Action Research is a methodology which has a twofold objective of action and research, as it intends to obtain results in both areas [13]:

Action – the aim is to reach change within a community, organization or program; Research – by increasing understanding by the practitioner, client or community.

Although different authors may have diverse perspectives concerning the usefulness of the AR method, there seem to be broad consensus regarding the method's general architecture. In short, the AR method starts with the detection of a problem, from which some changes are projected aiming to solve the problem. This process is cyclic as when applied to organizations or other social groups, it is unlikely that a problem is considered permanently solved and will rather suffer alterations and require new intervention. Thus, AR constitutes a methodological approach directed towards change: it is not limited to the understanding of phenomena but it also deliberately aims to change those phenomena.

The authors Susman and Evered [14] view a general AR project as a cyclical process, which is referred to by them as the AR cycle. According to their view, the typical AR cycle is composed of five stages: diagnosing; action planning; action taking; evaluating; and specifying learning. Diagnosing is concerned with the identification and definition of a problem to be solved in the client's organization. Action planning considers alternative courses of action to solve the problem. Action taking includes the selection and execution of one course of action. Evaluating comprises the study of the outcomes of the selected course of action. Specifying learning is the stage in which the study accomplished in the previous phases will be structured in the form of general findings.

As suggested in figure 5, the AR cycle takes place just after the Preparation phase. The Diagnosing involves a cooperative work between the researcher and the organization so that a problem to be solved during the research can be clearly identified. This identification has a more limited scope than that of the view expressed in the Preparation phase, and takes into consideration real implementation issues, e.g. the need for pilot projects and the availability of software systems. Following the Diagnosing are the Action Planning, Action Taking and Evaluating stages, all carried out in cooperation between the researcher and the client's organization. The next stage is Specifying Learning, typically carried out only by the researcher. This is the

stage in which the researcher will structure results so as to refine the set of openended questions, yet with appropriate answers to a number of them, and the preliminary model. Here, the researcher will decide if they will either proceed again in the cycle or go out to the Post-evaluation stage, summarized in the next section.



Fig. 5. Five steps AR cycle

Associated with each of the stages included in this model are the following goals:

- Diagnosing Identification of a problematic situation, related to the need of change of a certain organization;
- Action Planning Specification of the organizational actions which must be undertaken in order to solve the problems identified in the diagnostic;
- Action Taking Implementation of the actions previously planned which will supposedly lead to changes;
- Evaluating Assessment of the intended goals achievement and solution;
- Specifying Learning Specification of the knowledge acquired with the introduced change.

4 Action Research applied to the security policy application process

This study involved ten SMEs through direct contact with the correspondent information technology departments and indirect contact with the direction as well as the users of the IS. This work reports on the use and appropriateness of AR applied to the formulation, implementation and adoption of ISS policies, thus contributing as an empirical study on the application of that method in the field of IS.

After drafting the first version of the document, we selected the companies where the joint formulation of the document and its subsequent implementation would take place.

Four essential aspects were taken into account for the selection of the SMEs: The SMEs geographic location; Their dimension; The fact that they did not have an

implemented ISS policy and The fact that they did not know how to formulate an ISS policy.

With regard to the first point, and considering that AR is a participatory research method which requires some time spent on-site in each one of the companies, we limited its implementation to one district in Portugal.

As far as the company dimension is concerned, and bearing in mind that SMEs are composed of Micro, Small and Medium Sized companies, we tried to cover the three types, thus selecting some Micro (1), Small (3) and Medium Sized (6) companies.

After selecting the companies and drafting a first version of the ISS policy, we moved on to the next stage, contacting directly with the head of the information technology department (8 cases) and with the owner of the company (2 cases).

After these steps, the policy document was finalized jointly with the stakeholders mentioned above and we proceeded to its implementation. As far as the adoption of the policies by the companies is concerned, this step was taken 8 months after implementation. This time lag was owed to the fact that not all the policies which are implemented are consecutively adopted. They often fade to oblivion, what is defined in the document is not followed by the information system users, the policies are never reviewed or updated.

In the first stage – Diagnosing – a problematic situation was identified, namely the non adoption of an ISS policy in SMEs. In other words, although the problem was recognized and assumed, the organizations had not been able to create the conditions to change the situation. Such acknowledgement reinforced the conviction that the AR method might prove to be particularly appropriate to change the current practice.

In the second stage of AR – Action Planning – the organizational actions which must be undertaken in order to solve the problems identified in the diagnostic are specified. In the present study, this process started with the drafting of the ISS policy document. We planned to draft the policy following a model proposed by the researcher, but adapted to the reality of each SME in a joint work with the elements from the information technology department.

In the third stage of the AR cycle, called – Action Taking – the planned actions are implemented in the hope that they will lead to some change in the organization. In our study, this stage involved several steps, namely the implementation of the policy; its approval; and its further dissemination.

The fourth stage – Evaluating – assesses whether the goals intended with the implementation of the ISS policy were achieved or not. Such evaluation involves the review of the policy, which must take place on a regular basis and particularly whenever significant changes occur within the company, in order to ensure that the policy continues to fulfill the purposes for which it was implemented. In this study, evaluation was carried out by checking users' compliance with the policy. A review of the policies was not considered necessary at this point.

The last stage – Specifying Learning – takes place in the end, as a conclusion of the whole process. However, this stage is actually present throughout the whole AR cycle. In this study, learning throughout the cycle provided a starting point for a new planning, thus, setting the beginning of a new sequence of the cycle.

The various phases of AR which were explained above are now summarized in Table 2, in which we present the five stages of Susman and Evered (figure 5) model as well as the main facts developed during each of them.

Diagnosing	Action Planning	Action Taking	Evaluating	Specifying
				Learning
-Lack of an ISS	-Providing an ISS	-Implementing	-Checking	-Assessing
policy	policy model	what was	complianc	-Stopping
-Lack of initiative	-Drafting an ISS policy	defined in the	e with the	if the
-Lack of an ISS	document	last stage	policy	problem is
policy model	-Planning the policy		-Checking	solved or if
-Importance of a	implementation		the policy	not,
policy	-Defining ways to		updating	starting a
-Defining a	approve and			second
problem	disseminate the policy			cycle.

Table 2. AR stages in the implementation of an ISS policy

5 Discussion

With this work, above all, we intended to help these SMEs change a concrete situation, which was the non-adoption of an ISS policy, as well as understand that situation and alter it.

The formulation of an ISS policy following the AR method was aimed at the construction of a solution to generate new knowledge useful to the participants on how to implement an ISS policy and improve its practice through successive evaluations and associated changes whenever necessary. Not only did the researchers cooperate in that process, but they also aimed to contribute to the existing knowledge, trying to understand the hindrances faced by organizations in the process of ISS policy adoption and to research on the effectiveness of initiatives put into practice to overcome those difficulties. This dual interest of researchers – helping to change the specific context of practice (Action) and adding to the general knowledge of the ISS policy adoption process (Research) – raises some questions. Since the intervention is based on a cooperative structure, and since the control over intervention by researchers is limited, the clear articulation and negotiation of the goals, views, and interests of the two groups of participants is particularly relevant.

Given the collaborative nature of this study, the insights of the participating researcher were often debated and brought to reflection in order to produce a shared understanding that led to change. Indeed, it was not intended that the researcher would unilaterally propose a change plan, but to build such a plan jointly with the other actors involved in the transformation. Therefore, the model initially proposed by the researchers was merely a prototype, which was altered and shaped to fit each one of the 10 SMEs in a further joint work with the companies.

This research method allows the participants to obtain a very wide knowledge of the company, which enables the formulation, implementation and adoption of a policy which can fit perfectly into the reality of each SME.

An ISS policy must constitute a constructive and protective vehicle and not a mechanism that hinders the good development of the organization's work. Therefore, before formulating a policy, we must take into consideration the company's goals as well as its organizational processes and culture.

6 Conclusion

The results of the study suggest that AR is a promising means for the institutionalization of ISS policies adoption. It can both act as a research method, improving the understanding among researchers about the issues that hinder such adoption, and as a change method, assisting practitioners to overcome barriers that have prevented the formulation, implementation and adoption of ISS policies in SMEs.

Among the works which might be carried out in the future, we highlight the proposal of an ISS policy model, thought up for the national reality, and which may work as a starting point to the adoption of ISS policies by SMEs, so as to invert the reduced number of policies existent in the SMEs. The provision of that document by SMEs and the use of AR as a method for planning and promoting change, in which researchers and practitioners project actions, implement them, and evaluate their impacts, may prove to be two important tools for the institutionalization of ISS policies in organizations.

Acknowledgment

This work has been supported by FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Project Scope UID/CEC/00319/2013

References

- 1. Lopes, I. and Oliveira, P.: Understanding Information Security Culture: A Survey in SMEs. Álvaro Rocha, et al. A Stroetmann. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies, Volume 1. ed. Cham: Springer, 2014, v. 275, pp. 277-286 (2014)
- Da Veiga, A., Eloff, J. H. P.: An Information Security Governance Framework, Information Systems Management, 24:4, pp. 361-372 (2007)
- 3. Kim, D., Solomon, M. G.: Fundamentals of Information Systems Security, Jones and Bartlett Publishers (2010)
- 4. Tipton, H., Krause, M.: Information Security Mangement Handbook. Auerbach Publications (2009)
- 5. de Sá-Soares, F.: A Theory of Action Interpretation of Information Systems Security, PhD Thesis, University of Minho, Guimarães (2005)
- 6. Höne, K., Eloff, J.: Information security policy what do international information security standards say?, Computers & Security 21 (5), pp. 402–409 (2012)
- 7. Wood, C. C.: Writing InfoSec Policies, Computers & Security, 14 (8), pp. 667-674 (1995)
- 8. Peltier, T. R.: ISS, Procedure: a practitioner's reference, CRC Press (1999)
- 9. Hartley, B., Locke, A.: The Process of Security, Business Security Advisor, pp. 22-24, USA (2001)
- 10. Karyda, M., Kiountouzis, E., Kokolakis, S.: Information systems security policies: a contextual perspective, Computers & Security 24 (3) pp. 246-260 (2005)
- 11. Wills, L.: Security Policies: Where to Begin, Security Essentials, 1(4b) (2002)
- Gaunt, N.: Installing an appropriate information security policy, International Journal of Medical Informatics 49(1) pp. 131-134 (1998)
- 13. Dick, B.: A beginner's guide to action research (2000), (Accessed 4 de Dez 2014) www.scu.edu.au/schools/gcm/ar/arp/guide.html
- 14. Susman, G., Evered, R.: An Assessment of the Scientific Merits of Action Research, Administrative Science Quarterly, 23(4), pp 582-603 (1978)

Broadband Access and Digital Divide

João Paulo Ribeiro Pereira

School of Technology and Management, Polytechnic Institute of Bragança (IPB) Portugal jprp@ipb.pt

Abstract. It is recognized that there is a disparity between broadband availability in urban and rural areas. The pre-existing telecommunications infrastructure is generally poor and unevenly distributed in favor of urban centers. In most rural areas, low population density and high deployment costs discourage private investments, creating a negative feedback of limited capacity, high prices, and low service demand. Building telecommunications networks in rural areas is costly. Further, in many cases, there is not a good commercial business case for rural deployments. Whereas established and competitive service providers already offer solutions for urban and suburban areas, there is little or no commitment to connect areas that include smaller towns and rural villages. The deployment of access network broadband services on low-competition areas is characterized by low subscriber densities, longer loop lengths, lower duct availability, and consequently higher infrastructure cost compared to high-competition areas.

Keywords: Access Networks; NGNs; Broadband Access Networks; Digital Divide.

1 Introduction

Communication networks have become a key economic and social infrastructure in OECD economies. The evolution in telecommunication technologies has dramatically changed the dynamics and opportunities in the global economy. The second International Broadband Data Report [1] suggests a positive correlation between broadband adoption and income, population size, and population density. Governments and corporations all over the world recognize that in order to sustain economic growth, substantial changes must be supported [2, 3].

However, there is a broad consensus among economists and policymakers concerning two major phenomena: the EU's economic performance has not matched the ambitions formulated in the Lisbon agenda of 2000 and the EU has not reaped the same benefits from modern ICT as the United States. The EU's economic performance has been particularly disappointing, given the strong expansion of the global and US economies in the first years [4]. Policymakers across Europe have acknowledged this situation and reacted with a number of policy initiatives at both the EU- and national level.

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_38

2 Digital divide

Access to ICT as a development tool for society is recognized as an important political, economic, and social issue. One of the factors mitigating this digital divide is broadband access, not only in urban areas, but also in rural and developing areas. In this context, local communities and governments are taking various steps to foster economic development in urban and suburban areas and to fight the so-called "digital divide" between well-served urban communities and underserved areas.

Despite the fact that 300 million EU citizens (58% of total EU population) live in rural, remote and mountainous areas, only 25% of such areas are covered by fast (download > 30 Mbit/s) or ultra-fast broadband (download > 100 Mbit/s), as compared to around 70% coverage in urban areas (source: EC, 2015). Digital divide between urban and rural areas is therefore a fact of life. However, broadband coverage in rural areas has improved in recent years. In comparison to 2010, the rates have doubled in 2013, but the availability of broadband remains uneven.

As previously mentioned, several governments and organizations recognize that there is a disparity between broadband availability in urban and rural areas. Levels of competition among Internet service providers varies among the different OECD member countries and between rural and urban areas within each country [5]. Rural areas are defined as having a scattered population pattern, including small villages or towns. In these areas, network operators traditionally have found it to be less economically attractive to provide broadband access [6]. In most rural areas, low population density and high deployment costs discourage private investments, creating a negative feedback of limited capacity, high prices, and low service demand [7]. The typical view is that there are too few customers per point of presence (POP), making it too expensive for broadband deployment. Whereas established and competitive service providers already offer solutions for urban and suburban areas, there is little or no commitment to connect areas that include smaller towns and rural villages [8, 9]. The biggest problem for improving the access to broadband is that the private investments are not profitable, due to population dispersion across big areas.

2.1 The situation in rural and remote areas

It is believed that the geographical isolation of rural and remote areas is historically a major obstacle for economic development, cultural interchange, and, in general, access to any type of services. With the advances in telecommunication technologies, the lack of infrastructures in rural and remote areas has increased the "digital gap". It is specifically noted that the use of broadband services is concentrated in urban areas.

The low density of the rural and peripheral areas highly spreads and, with long distances to cover in order to be connected to the telecommunication, networks increase the transport infrastructure cost. Due to this latter point, in order to extend broadband networks to rural and remote areas to 100% of the population, it is not a business for telecommunication operators [10]. The challenge of providing broadband services in rural and remote areas has gained increased attention in recent years. The majority of these areas are not currently covered by cable or DSL.

Broadband can have a much larger impact on the development of rural areas than any other communications infrastructure, including roads, railways, and telephones [11]. Full broadband coverage is highly important for bridging the digital divide. The digital divide refers to the difference in the ability for people to communicate and utilize e-based business and services relative to their geographical location, living standards, and education level.



Fig. 1. Rural areas VS Urban areas

Figure 2 illustrates the discrepancies between urban and rural areas, for fixed broadband technologies. Overall coverage of fixed broadband increased by 2 percentage points in the last two years, but there was a remarkable progress in rural areas from 79.9% in 2011 to 89.8% in 2013.



Fixed broadband coverage in the EU, 2011-2013

Fig. 2. Fixed broadband coverage in the EU: 2011-13

Figure 3 shows, the penetration discrepancies between rural areas and national levels. The rural areas have deficient coverage limit penetration and the late introduction of broadband in those areas has created further delays in take-up.



Next Generation Access includes VDSL, Cable Docsis 3.0 and FTTP. At the end of 2013, Cable Docsis 3.0 had the largest NGA coverage at 41.2%, followed by VDSL (31.2%) and FTTP (14.5%). Developments until 2012 were dominated by the upgrade of cable networks, while VDSL coverage grew by more than 60% in the last two years. NGA networks are currently very much limited to urban areas: rural coverage is only 18.1%, coming mainly from VDSL [12].



Fig. 4. NGA coverage: 2013 (Source: IHS and VVA)

The lack of telecommunication infrastructure in rural areas is primarily due to the high costs of building "last-mile" networks in the communities. Sparseness of the population, difficult terrain in which to install copper pairs, and insufficient revenues to justify costs are some of the reasons for this limitation. The growth of the Internet and rapid deployment of broadband services in urban cities make rural areas more vulnerable to not receiving access to advanced telecommunication and information services. Therefore, it is possible that the digital gap between the information "haves" and "have nots" will widen. The digital society increased the rapid bandwidth demand, which put pressure on the network. Although national networks are frequently upgraded to cope with this demand, a bottleneck remains over the "last (or first) mile" between the costumer and the first node in the network. Building telecommunications networks in rural areas is costly. In addition, in many cases, there is not a good commercial business case for rural deployments. Then, prices for Internet access in some markets remain high, and users might have a limited choice of broadband providers.

Significant shares of copper wirelines in both rural and urban areas have excessive lengths, which prevents high-capacity communication. In rural areas, long xDSL lines often correspond to the scattered population outside of the densely populated areas. Cable operators have extensive coverage in some countries, but their networks are often limited to high- to medium-density housing. As a result, the first 5-10 km wireline access part may be difficult to set up in rural or remote areas. Consequently, alternatives to xDSL must be used to fill the coverage gap. These alternatives are primarily wireless networks, such as BFWA and DTT or DVB-S, with return channels. Forums, such as WiMAX, have demonstrated the possibility of deploying additional wireless networks that are competitive or better than xDSL solutions. In scattered areas, access to fiber backhaul can be difficult to achieve, making wireless technologies, such as satellite or terrestrial radio, an interesting solution, including both point-to-point and point-to-multipoint systems.

As a result, some researchers have begun to question the cost-benefit rationale of extending Internet access to these high-cost, low-income areas. For example, [13] argued that in order to address the informational needs of the rural poor, traditional technologies, such as broadcast radio, provide a more cost-effective alternative. Over the last decade, numerous demonstration projects have been undertaken to demonstrate the benefits of Internet connectivity for a variety of rural development goals. However, long-term sustainability and wider-scale replication are rarely obtained. The reasons are complex, but most researchers point to a combination of poor design and implementation that does not properly account for local conditions, as well as the use of technologies developed for urban markets.

3 Conclusions

There has been significant progress toward reaching rural and remote areas with broadband. However, as previously mentioned, rural areas are unlikely to attract new entrants because they are costly to serve and have insufficient demand. Nevertheless, recent developments in wireless technologies are raising new hopes for sustainable Internet diffusion in rural areas of the developing world. These technologies permit drastic reductions in deployment costs, particularly for last-mile connectivity in low-density areas. Incumbent providers are conducting trials using WiMAX to provide broadband access services to areas in which it is not economical to upgrade DSL. New wireless technologies make possible an infrastructure development model based on community-shared resources, small-scale investments, and user experimentation.

However, these promising new technologies, such as WiMAX, LTE, and PLC, have not been a major part of these broadband deployments. Cable, DSL, satellite, and various fixed-wireless access technologies are still the technologies supplying Internet access to rural areas. New DSL technologies that increase the distance of data transmission have played an important role in this areas. The dramatic cost reduction of DSL equipment during the last several years and the development of smaller units (e.g., mini or micro DSLAMs) have steadily decreased this threshold, although the backhaul costs are still prohibitive in some areas.

Therefore, wireless solutions will play an important role in connecting these areas, but there will likely be greater demand for high-capacity fiber to reach as widely as possible into these areas in order to feed wireless connections. Results of research show that hybrid architectures that combine the advantages of different wireless or wired technologies are central in delivering broadband services to rural areas in a cost-effective manner.

References

- 1. FCC: Second International Broadband Data Report. Federal Communications Commission (2011)
- Pereira, J.P.R.: Effects of NGNs on Market Definition. In: Rocha, A., Correia, A.M., Wilson, T., Stroetmann, K.A. (eds.) Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, vol. 206, pp. 939-949. Springer Berlin Heidelberg (2013)
- 3. Langeheine, B.: Broadband access and (minimum) bandwidth for everyone. In: EuropeanCommission (ed.) WIK International Conference. European Comission (2010)
- 4. Pols, A.: The Role of Information and Communications Technology in Improving Productivity and Economic Growth in Europe: Empirical Evidence and an Industry View of Policy Challenges. In: Tilly, R., Welfens, P., Heise, M. (eds.) 50 Years of EU Economic Dynamics, pp. 183-201. Springer Berlin Heidelberg (2007)
- 5. OECD: Broadband Growth and Policies in OECD Countries. OECD Publications (2008)
- 6. Tardy, I., Braten, L., Bichot, G., Settembre, M., Sesena, J.: Hybrid architecture to achieve true broadband access in rural areas. In: BroadBand Europe, pp. 1-6. (2004)
- Dong, C., Brown, J., Khan, J.Y.: Performance analysis of a distributed 6LoWPAN network for the Smart Grid applications. In: Intelligent Sensors, Sensor Networks and Information Processing (ISSNIP), 2014 IEEE Ninth International Conference on, pp. 1-6. (2014)
- Boscher, C., Hill, N., Laine, P., Candido, A.: Providing Always-on Broadband Access to Under-served Areas. Alcatel Telecommunications Review 127-132 (2004)
- Pereira, J.P.R.: Simulation of Competition in NGNs with a Game Theory Model. In: Ramona, T., Gabriel-Miro, M. (eds.) Convergence of Broadband, Broadcast, and Cellular Network Technologies, pp. 216-243. IGI Global, Hershey, PA, USA (2014)
- 10.Stasiak, M., Glabowski, M., Wisniewski, A., Zwierzykowski, P.: About the Modelling and Dimensioning of Mobile Networks: From GSM to LTE. John Wiley & Sons Inc, United Kingdom (2011)
- 11.Cornu, J., Hughes, G.: Digital Divide and Broadband Territorial Coverage. e Europe Advisory Group (2004)
- 12. EuropeanCommission: Broadband Coverage in Europe 2013. European Comission (2014)
- 13.Galperin, H.: Wireless Networks and Rural Development: Opportunities for Latin America. Information Technologies and International Development 2, 47-56 (2005)

Recommendations for a New Portuguese Teacher Placement System

Danilo Santos¹, Jorge Oliveira^{1,2} e Sá, Luís Paulo Reis^{1,2,3}, Brígida Mónica Faria^{3,4,5}

¹ DSI/EEUM - Departamento de Sistemas de Informação, Escola de Engenharia da Universidade do Minho, Guimarães, Portugal ² Centro ALGORITMI, Universidade do Minho, Guimarães, Portugal ³ LIACC - Laboratório de Inteligência Artificial e Ciência de Computadores, Porto, Portugal ⁴ ESTSP/IPP - Escola Superior de Tecnologia da Saúde do Porto, Instituto Politécnico do Porto, Gaia, Portugal ⁵ INESC-TEC - Instituto de Engenharia de Sistemas e Computadores, Tecnologia e Ciência, Porto, Portugal

danilo92@sapo.pt, {jos,lpreis}dsi.uminho.pt, btf@estsp.ipp.pt

Abstract. Portuguese teacher placements' system is a centralized system managed by the Portuguese government, specifically by the Ministry of Education and Science. It is a system with some issues and, therefore, has been criticized by its stakeholders, mainly by teachers. This paper aims to do a systematic review and a meta-analysis of the Portuguese teacher placements' system. An objective is to understand and describe how similar system works in European Union countries. Another objective is to interview school specialists, in this particular case - teachers, to find solutions for teacher placements' system. Finally, from solutions from European Union countries and from solutions arising from schools' specialists, a set of requirements is identified that the teacher placements' system should take into account, in order to avoid the issues identified.

Keywords: High School; Teaching System; Teacher Placement.

1 Introduction

Whenever a new school year begins in Portugal, the teacher placement system has been criticized because the occurrence of problems, namely: the fact of teachers are placed far from their residential area; the criteria that determine the ranking of teachers for subsequent placement in a school are not fully understood and, possibly, are wrong; and the number of school jobs vacancies is not according of the needs of each school, forcing schools to open additional job vacancies [1] [2].

This impacts and causes disorder to teachers at several levels: at professional level, because, if teachers do not get a job vacancy or teachers only get a part-time job vacancy, this may cause absence or reduction of monthly remuneration; at personal

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_39

level, because it forces the teachers, in most cases, to change their local of residence, sometimes very far from home and friends, causing, every year, the teachers have to start a new life from scratch; and at family level, because, sometimes, this cause a separation from teachers' family (husband's/spouse's and children's).

This system also impacts on students, because if a school job vacancy are not filled on time, may causes a (long) time without classes to a particular discipline, which jeopardize students learning and respective school success. We emphasizes that the teacher placement system affects thousands of teacher candidates to school vacancies and many of them are not placed in a school when many schools are left with unfilled vacancies. Therefore, it is pertinent to describe the process of teachers' placement in Portugal, i.e., what are the criteria used for teachers' placement in a particular school, understand the failures, and thus, improve the process of teachers' placement system.

Portugal is part of the European Union, so it is important to compare the teachers' placement system in Portugal with other European countries and describe the differences between these countries. This study must take into account who knows the education system, i.e. teachers. The main goal is to collect and realize the teachers' opinion about the system that is in place in Portugal and understand they agreement, or not, about replace the existing system by implementing a new system.

This paper presents the following objectives: describe the process at national level; describe the process at other European countries; identify proposals for improvements; and conduct a survey to collect and realize the teachers' opinion about the current process of teachers' placement system.

The paper is organized as follows: Section 2 presents the teacher placement system in Portugal and other European countries. It also presents a comparison between the existing system in Portugal and other European countries; Section 3 describes three proposals to improve the Portuguese teachers' placement system; Section 4 presents the results obtained from the questionnaire done; Section 5 provides a list of recommendations / requirements need to be incorporated into a new teachers' placement system; and finally, conclusions are presented.

2 Teachers Placement System in Portugal

The current system for place teachers in schools vacancies in Portugal is divided into two parts: the internal placement system; and the external placement system [3].

2.1 Internal Placement System

To start the process, a teacher select a Pedagogical Zone Board (PZB), a PZB is a defined territorial region of Portugal, in Figure 1 shows ten Portugal PZB's [4], [5], [6]. After that, a teacher can apply for a certain number of schools by choosing the preference school, i.e., in descending order the teacher refers schools where prefer to work [6].



Figure. 1. Country division into ten PZB's.

If a teacher is placed in a school, it is important to remark, in the next year he/she can change the school by moving to another school with vacancies on the school board, the teacher can do this by Internal Mobility system [7]. After the teacher apply to a PZB or to a school, the teacher placement is independent of the PZB of he/she belongs, i.e., if a teacher wants to apply for an existing school vacancy, from the same PZB or different PZB, he/she can do it if there are school board vacancies, or if there a teacher at this school in the same situation [7]. Here is an example: if a teacher wants to change from one city school to another different city school, for any reason, he/she can do it by providing if there are vacancies at the school where he/she wants to go. It is important to remark, that this process occurs every year.

2.2 External Placement System

Teachers can apply to three different types of schools [5]:

- Schools with autonomy agreement, these schools have autonomy to hire teachers. These are usually schools with students with special features, such art schools, music schools [4] [8];
- Special schools are schools dealing with students from different ethnic groups with disadvantaged social classes, with affected households and who are in degraded areas [4] [9];
- Normal schools [4].

Within the external placement system, teachers firstly apply to normal schools by defining a priority ranking from 1 to 100.

Teachers who have not been placed in a school vacancy, transit to a *Recruitment List*, the teacher in the application form can choose if he/she wants to enter in this *Recruitment List* [10]. The *Recruitment List* aims to identify teachers available, if necessary, to replace teachers that became unable to teach.

With regard to schools with autonomy agreement and special schools [11], teachers who have not been placed transit to a *School Recruitment List* [6].

In the *Recruitment List* teachers are ordered using the formula (1) [5] [19]:

$$PC (final course grade) + DP (experience)$$
(1)

Where PC corresponds to the Professional Classification (final course grade between 10 to 20 points) and DP corresponds to Degree Professional (for every 365 working days is assigned 1 point).

In School Recruitment List teachers are ordered using the following formula (2).

$$PC$$
 (final course grade) + Test Curriculum (questions to teachers) (2)

Where *PC* corresponds to the Professional Classification (final course grade between 10 to 20 points) and *Test_Curriculum* (schools evaluate teachers through a set of questions and at the end the teacher is evaluated by a grade between 0 to 200 points).

2.3 System placement in other European Countries

We performed a brief description of the process of schools vacancies placement / recruitment of teachers in European countries, namely UK (Scotland), Netherlands, Spain, Italy, France and Germany.

The Scottish Government together with the General Teaching Council for Scotland, local authorities, teachers' unions and universities manage the teacher placement process. The method used for the school vacancies placement of teachers, undergoes a process of raising some relevant information such as: the number of existing students; the number of teachers needed; the number of teachers leaving the profession; and the number of teachers entering the profession in the next school year. The system calculates the number of teachers needed to fill the gap between supply and demand. With this, the method permits to hire a precise and exact number of teachers to fill the needs [13].

In Netherlands the placement of teachers is done through an open recruitment, i.e., the responsibility for disclosure of vacancies available for teachers to apply is the responsibility of the schools, sometimes acting in conjunction with local authorities. The schools decide and implement the procedures and methods for teachers' recruitment. Thus, the process for school vacancy placing teachers is a decentralized process, because who decides to hire teachers are schools [14].

In Spain the teacher recruitment method is done through an exam, i.e., if a teacher wants to teach in a public school, he/she must subject to an exam and obtain a positive classification. The process for school vacancy placing teachers is centralized [14].

In Italy the recruitment method used in Italy is through an examination, such as in Spain [14]. The teachers are divided in regions (provinces) and the exam enable to

sort teachers by exam classification in each region [15]. According to Italian legislation, the exam is intended only to form a list of qualified candidates at regional level. In fact, a teacher already contracted is under the Regional School Office, this office belong to the Italian Ministry of Education. On the other hand, teachers without a contract, or temporary contracted, are recruited from a regional list and the contract is made directly with the school [14].

In France there is an exam [13]. Firstly, teachers must have a university grade or equivalent degree to be submitted to exam [16]. If the teachers are approved, they spent a year training at *Institut Universitaire de Formation des Maîtres* (IUFM), with the label of paid trainee teachers. Finally, if teachers are approved at trainee, a school to work is attributed.

In Germany teachers are recruited through a list of candidates and the decision of school vacancies placement is from German State responsibility, although in some *Länder* (states), when are not enough candidates to fill the existing vacancies, local authorities have influence on recruitment [17] [18]. The candidates list is sorted by academic performance, i.e., the final classification of the university graduation. The system in German may have some school vacancies placement delays due to candidate's geographical preferences. The teachers' preferences are taken into account by authorities, which leads to teachers' greater satisfaction [18].

Comparing and analyzing the placement systems from various countries there was a certain balance in terms of systems centralization and decentralization.

3 Improvement Proposals

Due to the complexity of the subject, because it involves political issues, some proposed improvements to the teachers' placement system are not implemented or even divulgated. However, after some research, three proposals are identified.

National Association of Teachers suggested to the Ministry of Education to decentralize the school recruitment list. Finally, suggested to other schools (with autonomy agreement and special schools) the sort criteria should be as follows: 75% for Professional Classification and 25% for other criteria [19].

National Federation of Teachers proposed two different improvement proposals. Firstly, proposed a qualified teachers' sort priority, the process should occurs every year, stabilization of teachers through stabilization of schools vacancies, the ranking of the candidates settle in Professional Classification, and proposed a priority to teachers that have worked at public schools in the last recent years [20]. Secondly, proposed to open a list weekly updated with school vacancies available all school year, suggested augment the number of PZB's, and suggested that all qualified teachers can apply to a school vacancy regardless of the criteria adopted [20].

National Union of Licensed Teachers from Polytechnic and Universities presents a work proposal to Ministry of Education to promote the teaching stability and employment, basically by resizing the number of school vacancies and augment the number of PZB's [21].

4 Quantitative Analysis

To collect teachers' opinions, a survey based in a questionnaire was send to teachers in Portugal in order to identify improvements to the current process of teachers' placement system. This was distributed using the *Qualtrics* online platform.

Statistical tests were applied to show evidence of possible statistical differences between groups of teachers in independent regimes. The Mann-Whitney test for two independent samples and Kruskal-Wallis test for three or more independent samples. The significance level was 0.05.

The following results are intended to firstly characterize the sample. It may be noted that 75% of respondents are female and 25% male. With regard to age, most respondents, 53%, is comprised between 30-40 years, then between 40-50 years old is 31%, with regard to age matched between 50-60 years, represents 11% of respondents, and finally, with only 5%, is the youngest respondents who are between 20-30 years old. See figure 2.



Figure. 2. Sample characteristics.

In Figure 3, in the left graph, 81% of respondents are teaching at the time of response and 19% not. Because 81% of the sample meet the teaching is an asset for this study because they have a better perception of functioning, such as problems with current teacher's placement system. In the right chart, is represented type of school that 81% of respondents is teaching, the majority, 55% of the sample, is found teaching a normal school (represented in blue on the graph), 26% in a school with autonomy agreement (shown in orange in the chart), 11% in special school (TEIP) (represented by gray in the graph) and finally 8% schools is teaching another type (private schools, vocational and education schools) (shown in yellow in the graph).



Figure. 3. Sample analysis I

Moving on to the analysis of the Internal and External school teachers' placement system, it was asked to respondents to rate the system between "Bad", "Reasonable",

"Good" or "very good", see figure 4. The left chart represents the classification of Internal Placement System. Thus, 50% of the sample classifies the placement system as "Bad", 40% classifies it as "Reasonable", 8% rate it as "Good" and only 2% classify the system as "Very Good". The right chart represents the classification of External Placement System. Thus, 68% of respondents rate it as "Bad", 24% classify it as "Reasonable", 7% as "Good" and only 1% as "Very Good". We can conclude that there may be some dissatisfaction with those who interact with both systems due to the classification that they attributed to him.



Figure. 4. Sample analysis II

The Mann-Whitney test is used to see if the classification distribution of Internal and External system by teachers' gender and those who are teaching or not are different. Regarding the type of school that teaches and age groups we used the Kruskal-Wallis test to check the differences in the distribution of the internal and external system classification. See Table 1.

	p values	
	Internal	External
Gender	0.063	0.467
It is to teach	0.094	0.656
Type of school	0.021*	0.113
Age Group	0.013*	0.056

Table. 1. The table shows the cross-checks made after the statistical analysis.

The results demonstrate a significant statistical evidence to assert that the classification of the internal system is considered differently by teachers working in different kind of school and for different age groups, for a significance level of 0.05.

With regard to PZB's division implemented, the respondents' advocates increased number of PZB's, with 58% of responses, 21% of the respondents believes that the division should be done in municipalities, 8% decreased the number existing PZB's, 7% was the division following the division into regions, only 4% of the sample is satisfied with the current division and finally 2% advocated another option, such the elimination of PZB's.

We asked the respondents if they agree with some list of recruitment, 61% of the respondents not agree with any of the recruitment lists, only 27% agree only with the *Recruitment List*, but 7% of the respondents agree with the actual process, that is, with the two recruitment lists, finally, 5% of the respondents agree only with the *School Recruitment List*.

To propose a solution to please everyone, 90% of the respondents agree with the existence of only one list of recruitment and 10% disagreed with the idea.

To determine what is the best formula for sorting teachers in the recruitment list, 41% of the respondents supports the Professional Graduation as principal and fair criteria, 28% believes that the best criteria should be Professional Classification, 21% support the Professional Rating + Curriculum should be the fair formula for sorting teachers and, finally, 10% of the sample believes that the Professional Classification + Service Time should be the most effective way to sort teachers.

5 Recommendations for a new Teacher Placement System in Portugal

Based on problems and issues identified and solutions presented by teachers, a list of suggested recommendations / requirements to the new system has been presented. In table 2 a list of requirements for Internal and External school teachers' placement system is presented. For each requirement, we describe the "Aspect Improve" which describes the problem identified, "Change" describes the proposed solution and "Tips" where the proposed solution is detailed and explained.

Internal Placement System		
To improve	Changes	Suggestions
PZB's	Reduce the size of existing PZB's	Some current PZBs address various districts. By using the district as split area, the number of PZB's increments from ten to eighteen.
External Placement System		
Existing recruitment lists	Only use a recruitment list	All teachers will be placed by a single list and will later be recruited from this list always taking into account the requirements and needs of each school.
Existing formulas placement	Implement a new formula	The Professional Graduation (GP) was the main criteria, especially highlighting the substantive issues. The Professional Classification (CP) was the second criteria mentioned. It considers that the curriculum will be necessary for the criteria, that is, which allows selecting teachers to be able to teaching students with special needs. In the GP criteria, the addition of Teacher Assessment criteria, this assessment will be given by the school where the teacher taught in such a way to evaluate their performance and professionalism. The scale is 0-1 and will have a weight of 50% of GP, the other 50% will be assigned to the corresponding value at the time of service. One option is to assign weights to various criteria.

Table. 2. Requirements to improve the Teachers Placement System.

		Objectively it was not possible to set a weight value for each criteria, but it is noticeable that the GP criteria will have the greatest weight, followed by CP and then Curriculum.
Time delay in the teachers placement system	Reduce the trial period of one month to 10 days.	The teacher placement process is a long time process. One way to reduce this time is to reduce the trial period, i.e., we proposed that a teacher has only 10 working days to decide if he/she wants to stay at a new school. If a teacher chooses to stay at the new school, the teacher leaves the recruiting list and frees the position in the list. If a teacher decides to leave the new school, he/she releases the job place to other candidates.

6 Conclusions

The work presented in this paper has several objectives that were accomplished: Describe the process of teacher's placement system in Portugal; describe the methods that are used in countries of European Union such as UK (Scotland), Netherlands, Spain, France, Italy and Germany and make a comparative analysis with Portugal method of teacher's placement system; identify proposals for improving the system;

collect teacher's opinions about the method and process of teacher's placement system through a questionnaire; analyze the data collected through the questionnaire with quantitative analysis and propose a list of improvements to the teacher's placement system.

The current teacher's placement system in Portugal has issues and errors, particularly because it is a closed system not taking into account some relevant factors to teachers: professional, personal and family. Most countries make use of the open recruitment for the placement of teachers. It appears that there is no great discrepancy in terms of centralization and decentralization of teacher placement system.

There are some proposals to improvements to the current teacher's placement system, but for political reasons, some are not heard or implemented. Making use of a teacher's questionnaire with the goal to gather the teacher's opinion, some improvements to the current teacher's placement system are identified.

Finally, from all the data collected a list of recommendations / requirements was presented to be incorporated into a new teacher's placement system in Portugal.

Acknowledgments

This project was funded by Fundo Europeu de Desenvolvimento Regional (FEDER), by Programa Operacional Factores de Competitividade (POFC) – COMPETE and by Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia, on the Scope of projects: PEstC/EEI/UI0319/2015, PEstC/EEI/UI0027/2015 and POCI-01-0145-FEDER-006961.

References

- Diário de Notícias (DN) Confusão nos concursos: um professor para seis horários diferentes, online, acessed 15/12/2015 from http://www.dn.pt/4758733.html
- CGTP Intersindical Nacional, Revista de Imprensa ID 55778952, Page. 38, and ID 55778933, Page. 47, 2014.
- Diário da República de Portugal, Recrutamento e Seleção do Pessoal Docente, 1st series, Nuber 139, July, 21st, 2009.
- Ministério da Educação e Ciência de Portugal, Decreto-Lei Nº. 83-A/2014, number 99, May, 2014.
- 5. Direção Geral da Administração Escolar (DGAE), Governo de Portugal, Códigos de Agrupamentos e Escolas não agrupadas Manifestação de Preferências para Necessidades Temporárias, June, 2014.
- Santiago, P., Roseveare, D. van Amelsvoort, G., Manzi, J. and Matthews, P., "Teacher Evaluation in Portugal: OECD Review" OECD, July, 2009, online, accessed 15/12/2015, from: http://www.oecd.org/portugal/43327186.pdf
- 7. Direção Geral da Administração Escolar (DGAE), Governo de Portugal, Manual de instruções Mobilidade Interna, vol. 1, August, 2014.
- Ferreira, José M. P., O Impacto do Contrato de autonomia através das perceções dos atores educativos: o caso da Escola-Piloto ES/3 João G. Zarco, MSc Thesis, Universidade Lusófona do Porto, Instituto de Educação 2012, online, accessed 15/12/2015 from: http://recil.grupolusofona.pt/bitstream/handle/10437/2870/Dissertação_JoseFerreira.pdf
- Soares, Margarida, TEIP Territórios Educativos de Intervenção Prioritária e Matosinhos, Ozarfaxinars, e-Journal, number 22, ISSN 1645-9180, 2012, online, acessed 15/12/2015 from: http://www.cfaematosinhos.eu/Ozar_22_MAR.pdf.
- 10. Direção Geral da Administração Escolar (DGAE), Governo de Portugal, Manual de instruções Concurso Externo Extraordinário e Contratação Inicial, volume 01, May, 2014.
- Sindicato dos Educadores e Professores Licenciados (SEPLEU) Mapa com 10 QZP, online, accessed 15/12/2015, from: http://www.sepleu.pt/concursos_13_14/ MAPA_QZP_10.pdf, December, 2014.
- 12. Federação Nacional de Professores (FENPROF), Concursos para a colocação de docentes, February, 2015.
- European Comission, Supporting the Teaching Professions for Better Learning Outcomes, November, 2012, online, accessed 15/12/2015 from: http://eu2013.ie/media/eupresidency/content/documents/Support-the-Teaching-Professionsfor-Better-Learning-Outcomes.pdf
- 14. Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency, Key Data on Teachers and School Leaders in Europe, March, ISBN 978-92-9201-412-4, 2013.
- 15. OECD, Country Background Report for Italy, July, 2003.
- 16. OECD, Country Background Report for France, July, 2003.
- 17. ETUCE & EI Secretariats, Technical Report of EFEE-ETUCE Survey on Recruitment and Retention in the Education Sector, July, 2012.
- 18. OECD, Country Note: Germany, September, 2014.
- Associação Nacional de Professores, Colocação de Professores, Nºumber 227/GP/2014, October, 2014.
- 20. Federação Nacional de Professores (FENPROF), Princípios defendidos pela FENPROF Revisão das normas sobre o concurso, January, 2014.
- 21. Sindicato Nacional dos Professores Licenciados pelos Politécnicos e Universidades, Propostas apresentadas pelo SPLIU, 2013.

Computer Supported Cooperative Work - Exploratory Study on CSCW and Groupware Technologies and its Applicability in the Health Area

Frederico Branco^{1,2}, Ramiro Gonçalves^{1,2}, José Martins^{1,2}, José Bessa¹, Ana Baptista¹

¹ University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Vila Real, Portugal ² INESC TEC and UTAD, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal <u>fbranco@utad.pt, ramiro@utad.pt, jmartins@utad.pt, jmiguelbessa16@gmail.com</u>, <u>a luciabaptista@hotmail.com</u>

Abstract. Since the dawn of human civilization that cooperation among individuals is observed. In the most primitive stage this phenomenon was manifested through hunting groups, progressing to the construction of objects and buildings and in a later phase in the construction of modern society itself. Nowadays with the advent of technology and rise of ICT, collaborative processes across workgroups in organizations have been increasingly supported by this concept. The use of technology for supporting collaborative processes of working groups led to the creation of areas of study as CSCW and Groupware. In the health area, collaborative platforms have been used for supporting medical distance learning, social networks for collaboration, patient monitoring, discussion forums and sharing of medical media content. This paper has the goal of analyzing technological advances and the application of collaborative platforms in the health area, through an exploratory work of literature and application analysis and discussion.

Keywords: CSCW; Collaborative Platforms; Groupware; Health; Case Study.

1 Introduction

Nowadays, the modern society lives in the Information and Knowledge era, often called as Information Society. This concept is often utilized to describe a society and an economy that does the best use possible of the Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs) in order to deal with the information and that take that as a central element of all human activity [1]. With the advent of the ICTs and the Internet, new forms of cooperation emerged between people performing duties, regardless of the area of application. That intentional combination involved in tasks and/or common objectives is associated with the concept of Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW) [2][3]. One of the areas most benefited from the CSCW systems was the Health Care area, given the need to, for instance, obtain information resulting from the cooperation between health professionals with different responsibilities, for the treatment of patients [4].

Under the present work, there was a conceptual study on CSCW and its applicability in healthcare through the analysis of some cooperatives platforms used in this area. The

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

```
DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_40
```

study will allow an understanding of the inherent topics and an identification on the opportunities and challenges that lay ahead, particularly in what concerns the application of the concept to the health area.

2 Conceptual approach about CSCW and Groupware

2.1 Motivations

Collaborative platforms in the past few years have been claiming more and more within organizations as a viable and effective way to support cooperative work, especially when applied in situations where the collaborators are geographically dispersed [5][6].

The use of such platforms have been due to various reasons [7][8]: to facilitate interaction and cooperation between the elements of a work group; more impersonal and less threatening environment which can contribute to increased creativity and cooperation; real-time collaboration with geographically dispersed people; definition of the logic of tasks through work flows optimizing the implementation and coordination of activities; sharing data, information and knowledge through user permissions; incentive to productivity and interpersonal relationship; facilitate the processes of communication between the elements of the work group; overcome professional integration barriers, notably in the case of ethnic minorities; contribution to the era of the Information Society; ongoing cooperative development giving greater autonomy to cooperative groups; dynamic composition of teams between projects or during projects; increased real-time interaction, in geographically distributed teams, exponentiation of creativity, information sharing and knowledge of these elements; reducing travel costs; more comfortable for collaborators who have a disability (temporary or permanent); log of all history of team work collaboration; motivation for collaborators to contribute to the tasks, providing a sense of accomplishment and ownership regarding the artifacts that produces and that has edition/visualization permissions and to incorporate asynchronous communications, makes possible the participation of all team work collaborators, avoiding the feeling of exclusion.

The successful application of the ICTs to support the cooperative work of an organization, much depends on the technological characteristics, as well as the culture, structure and organizational strategy, and on the motivation of the users to use these platforms and the resistance to change they demonstrate to those technology structures [8][9].

2.2 CSCW Characteristics

The organizations are entities that emerged to meet the needs of the society and they are constituted of an intentional and integrated combination of people and technology, inserted into a particular social and economic context and possess a set of objectives [10][11]. The cooperation is characterized by the interdependency of multiple authors that interact among themselves, by the number of participants, what is their function in

the cooperation, the structural complexity of the area of work (interactions and heterogeneity), and the level of specialization of the participants [12].

The CSCW concept can be translated as the set of cooperative processes that unite and involve individuals from a work group, in a way they can work altogether to achieve a specific objective or to effective accomplish a specific task, independently of its physical location and of the synchronism of its communication. For the correct development of CSCW from within the organization, it is important to account for the interdisciplinary questions related to organizational behavior, technology, anthropology, psychology, linguistics, management and administration, as well as the questions about Man-Computer interaction, ergonomics, accessibility and usability [13]. One of the most important characteristics of the CSCW concept is multidisciplinarity. There is a set of disciplines/perspectives to account for so the cooperative application is successful: Artificial Intelligence (to give human characteristics to the systems like to think and to solve problems), Social Theory (human behavior and understanding of the interaction processes between individuals in collective environments), Man-computer Interaction (application of the best practices on interaction between people and computers), Communication (communication protocols to exchange information between system participants) and Distributed Systems (System Information and control decentralization, important for the temporal and spatial distribution of the users) [14].

Beyond the multi-disciplinarity, there is a set of characteristics that must be accounted for those systems to be successful [15]: definition of the common tasks and objectives, definition of the shared environment (which are the participants, which are the permissions that each participant has, what are the resources to share), information sharing, awareness (awareness of the activity of the other participants in the system, providing context for its own action), coordination (availability, organization and management of tasks, resources and information) and synchronicity of the communications (synchronous, i.e. real-time or asynchronous in certain periods of time). The development of a collaborative platform must meet a set of requirements: number of participants on the platform, mapping, file sharing, files version control and definition of a repository to store the information, authentication mechanisms, nonrepudiation assurance, work group task management and integration with other applications that are necessary to ensure fulfilment of the objectives of the work group [16]. Applications of this type must also ensure [17]: 1) Promoting the integration of collaborators in periods of change in order to minimize the negative impacts that may be caused; 2) Allowing remote access to data, regardless of the location of users; 3) Allowing the recovery of information stored in the data repository; 4) Ensuring the data integrity when accessed by more than one user (ensure ACID rules - Atomicity, Consistence, Integrity and Durability); 5) Allowing redefinition of procedures and processes; 6) Deciding whether to build smaller applications and inter-related with existing ones; and 7) Ensuring that the information used in cooperative work is disseminated by all the constituents of the team by the corresponding permissions.

2.3 Groupware

Associated with the concept of CSCW is the concept of Groupware. The main difference between this terms is that in the first, the study center goes through the discovery of new forms of cooperation and exploitation of the potential of the ICTs that support cooperative application for improving the interaction of the participants while the second term is used to describe the technology that supports cooperation groups [18] and is also the term that categorizes collaborative platform [19].

To collaborative groups take advantage of this type of software is important that in its development is accounted for a set of transverse requirements, regardless of the extent to which they apply, notably [8]: a) Given the dynamic nature of the responsibilities of the collaborators, there should be flexibility on the part of the system so that they can be changed; b) Concerning the existence of peer-to-peer communication between the different objects (e.g. duties and activities) located in various work posts; c) Providing awareness mechanisms, that is, there must be mechanisms that allow to know the activities done by other collaborators and the respective sequence of execution; d) Interoperability between applications, support for multiple tasks and working methods, maintenance of behavioral characteristics and scalability of collaborative group; e) Access control through user authentication; f) Ensure security properties for users such as confidentiality, non-repudiation and integrity of communications; and g) Creating a favorable environment to formal collaboration (work) and informal collaboration (socialization), flexible arrangement of users, using digital metaphors for representing real objects in order to give context and achieve greater success in the usability issues of the collaborative platform, as well as in the surroundings of the users.

The groupware applications can be described and organized by the type of function that they make possible. The most common function types in such applications are [20]: 1) Messaging: allow users to communicate synchronously (e.g. exchange of messages via chat like MSN or Facebook chat) and asynchronous (e.g. similar to the operation of e-mail systems); 2) Conference (conversation): provide a common communication channel, with interface (e.g. using metaphors simulating an office) to chat and share content (e.g. simulating the setting of a conventional meeting); 3) Decision Support: access to documentation and information about a particular subject, which is shared among the participants responsible for decision-making processes; 4) Document Management: delivering features such as indexing, searching, creating, editing, removal and distribution of documents, upon the permissions of the employee; 5) Document Version management: access to historical documents, ensure version control and management of change processes; and 6) Work flow: enabling the automation of procedures through the logical definition of the processes.

It is important to define the architecture of groupware applications as to how the collaboration is made. Collaboration management architecture can take three forms [21]: centralized, having a central server on which all data is exchanged via an access point (t-server); replicated, where collaboration is managed by all network peers, and that all data and information is exchanged between all peers equally (peer-to-peer); and hybrid, where it can be seen as a peer-to-peer architecture, where only a few points of the network make manage the collaboration (called master peers) and data and information to be exchanged and who should have access to those. The focus (or center)

of the collaboration should also be well perceived to optimize the use of these collaborative platforms. At this point it is possible to find three types of focus [22]: user, in which the user creates a channel of communication with other collaborators, but is not interested in what these collaborators do in the channel when they are not cooperating with him; topic, in which is saved the entire history of collaboration that goes with it (there are similarities with the publisher/subscriber paradigm); and collaborative environment, wherein the work space is shared by a group of users, but can exist without users (e.g. chat rooms).

In this type of applications other important factor is time, i.e. which are the criteria to perform communications. With regard to this factor, four time scenarios can be identified [20]: synchronous, where collaboration is performed in real time, being implemented locking mechanisms and messages collision detection; asynchronous, where collaboration is made at distinct times, allowing collaborators to perform other tasks without being dependent on the requested employee; mixed, in which cooperation can be done synchronously or asynchronously; sequential (serial or in series) where communication is asynchronous with the exception that when a user must perform a specific task before another employee can continue with other task (e.g. exchange of e-mails). In order to use this type of applications can be observed in four ways [23]: through mobile devices (e.g. tablet, smartphone), via Web browser, through desktop applications or through embedded applications in the operating system of the devices.

2.4 Potential risks and causes of failure

Despite the motivations for the use of computing power to support the cooperative work, there are some associated risks that can lead to failure of such projects. Some of the risks associated with these platforms undergo privacy concerns from the users; intrusion and misuse blocking capabilities of the platforms or changing content/functionality without permission to do so; acquisition cost of these platforms may be too high to yield short/medium-term return; the lack of context in new working practices; dilution of organizational aspects (e.g. Hierarchical); resistance to change on the part of users by not taking active part in the use of these platforms; not understanding the direct advantages of using these applications for users; the systems may not incorporate the natural unpredictability of collaborative work (lack of flexibility in the definition of work flows); Accessibility and usability issues related to the processes of interaction between Man-Computer, which may contain inappropriate use of metaphors, thus, making learning more difficult; failure to meet the established objectives for the use of groupware; interoperability restricted by lack of standards; inefficient communication, making the cooperation processes slower; social risk associated with social exclusion of certain collaborators or inadequacy to new forms of cooperation; feeling of exclusion of collaborators with poor performance and possibility of creating barriers to social interaction causing feelings of estrangement among people [8]. One of the ways used to get around these risks often responsible for failures in this type of project is using the Ethnography. This has been increasingly highlighted by the researchers working on building collaborative platforms, as with classroom analysis of the work environment, one can obtain information relevant to the

construction of work processes and system settings making more realistic and immersive collaboration experience for its users [24].

2.5 Main areas of application

Cooperatives platforms can be applied in different areas of activity of the society, especially the areas of Education, Software Engineering, Health (Telemedicine), Telecommuting, Psychology, e-Learning, Sociology, Culture, Public Administration, Virtual Worlds, Gaming and business transactions supported by the Web, [8][25].

One of the areas in which the use of collaborative platforms to perform tasks is most evidenced is the health area [26] where there have been extensive range collaborative platforms over the last 25 years for different purposes [27]. In the next section the application of such platforms in health care will be addressed.

3 Collaborative Platforms in the Health Area

3.1 Contextualization

Technological developments in information technology has produced equipment with increasingly high quality, capacity, reliability, low cost and reduced size. This has spread the use of computers in various areas and activities [28]. In this range of areas is included the area of Health care, which encompasses complex processes of diagnosis, treatment and prevention of diseases, injuries and other physical or mental, temporary or permanent disabilities. The health care sector is the economically fastest growing in developed countries, as is the case in Western Europe, North America and even in emerging economies like China and India [29]. The processes of data collection, management and use on Health care have a key role in the detection of medical problems, identifying solutions to these problems and designing resources to treat them. Given the importance of these processes is essential that they are streamlined and, for that, the ICTs have being used to improve health services [30]. This behavior, according to the World Health Organization (WHO), allows that, in addition to streamline the processes mentioned above, the collected data shows a higher degree of reliability. During the last 20 years, the explosion of ICTs and the rise of the concepts of CSCW and Groupware dramatically changed the way the collaboration between elements of an organization is made. Another important aspect in the use of ICTs in this area was the influence it had in organizational collaboration processes. One of the success factors to any organization is the organizational and coordination skills among its collaborators, which basically comes down to collaboration [31]. In the case of hospitals, efficient collaboration between doctors and nurses is critical to patient care and for that are used collaborative platforms [32]. Also, differently from the other industrialized areas, health care services are not routine, which makes it difficult to manage the local provision of medical services, especially the operating rooms, and as such is encouraged to use collaborative platforms so there is a knowledge of the activities of other collaborators in order to optimize the occupation of such spaces [33].

3.2 Application of Collaborative Platforms in Health Care

Sermo - Social network for Health care professionals

Social networks aimed at a particular area of expertise, allow professionals to learn through practice, discussion and interaction with other colleagues. Groups of professionals who share a problem and cooperate trying to solve it, are creating their identity and impact in these networks and at the same time building and sharing knowledge that leads to problem solving. Today, there are social networks comprised only of health care professionals that discuss a variety of issues on this area of activity. Health care professionals who use these specialized social networks for its scope of action, causes that they become more experienced in the matters they debate, making it able to act effectively when they encounter discussed situations, making it more productive and efficient, providing better health care to their patients and increasing the success of the organization they represent [34]. The Sermo social network was developed by Daniel Palestrant in September 2006, and is designed only for interaction and cooperation between health professionals, particularly doctors. In this social network, an informal atmosphere is presented where collaborators can expose the clinical cases that they deal with to share knowledge, can expose clinical questions, formulate hypotheses and discuss them in custom topics, asking for opinions to solve problems among many other situations.

Sana - Open Source and Mobile Collaborative Platform

In recent years, with the development of mobile devices and their exponential utilization, health officials have adopted these technologies to support their services. Increasingly, doctors and health care professionals believe that the use of these devices allows to break the limitations of time and space in relations with patients [35]. With these medical devices, doctors can obtain patient data by, for example, Multimedia Messaging Service (MMS), or through the use of Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) is possible to make the recognition of patients present in the waiting rooms of institutions that provide this type of care [36]. Given the advantages of the use of mobile devices in the practice of health care, the collaborative platform Sana was developed for Android mobile devices and was developed by Massachusetts students (MIT) in 2010, with the purpose of providing health care and medical content applied in remote regions, where is difficult to access health resources. This Telemedicine associated platform implements a multi-disciplinary approach to presenting content, trying to overcome resource constraints at the site where the patients are, focusing on the analysis of the situation in which it is located. The application is ideal in situations such as humanitarian disasters (e.g. natural disasters, wars) where it is necessary that health care professionals make screening of the injured on the spot, creating its clinical picture and sending it to facilities that provide health care.

Osmosis - Medical Education

The inter-professional education is the gold standard for Pedagogy in training in areas related to the provision of health care, supporting a set of collaborative practices between professionals ready to develop their capabilities. Collaborative platforms associated with education, particularly in the health sector, allow students/collaborators to get hands-on practice in the specialty they will develop, while they are still studying [37]. An example of collaborative learning platform in Health care is the Osmosis

collaborative platform was developed at John Hopkins School Institute of Medicine in January 2012, is accessed via browser or mobile devices, it is used for teaching contents linked to various health sectors and is used by approximately 20,000 Medical students, has a set of more than 5,000 questions on many different areas of health. Students through this application can respond to custom quizzes on health areas that most interest them. Students can submit their academic plan of disciplines, as well as their workload and examination dates, and the platform calculates which are the most important topics and questions for study to the forthcoming examination.

MCT - Diabetes - Diabetes control

It is widely recognized that the doctor-patient dialogue is critical to successful treatment and patient care. However, the success of the patient treatment not only depend on the doctor's communication skills, but also depends on interactions and cooperation between the parties. This collaborative effort, good interpersonal skills, medical decisions and open exchange of information, all of which is facilitated by the more informal environment created [32]. The collaborative platform MCT-Diabetes was developed by Georgetown University Medical Center so patients with diabetes can control their glucose levels (diabetes) and so they can be tracked and monitored by the health care professionals who are responsible for providing them with medical care. This platform is used through a browser and uses communications over the Internet. The platform allows the patient to decide which health professionals and family members may have access to their levels of triglycerides in the blood and allows communication between all participants through the platform. Patients who do not allow access to this data by health professionals, can print reports and graphs generated by the collaborative platform and show later in medical appointments.

HiperClinica - Study and Research in Cardiology

The HiperClinica collaborative platform is a platform that is used on the Internet and runs on a browser, developed by the Bahia Federal University Hospital in Brazil, with the intention to be used by students, doctors, teachers and nurses of the Cardiology specialty, being classified as a collaborative learning platform. This platform provides textual and visual information used during the discussion of technical sessions between doctors and teachers of the institution in question. The platform allows for discussions of relevant clinical cases of patients who are manifesting the most diverse cardiac conditions, in order to study these clinical cases and to provide the appearance of solutions for these cardiovascular conditions. In relation to clinical cases of patients, the application provides information on: medical history (including information that is not related to their cardiovascular status); laboratory tests; electrocardiograms; X-rays; additional tests; echocardiography, scintigraphy, catheterization, therapeutic behavior, summary of the case and bibliography.

Mediwikis - Medical content Wiki

The platforms known as Wikis are seen as potentially powerful to promote collaborative document management, since they offer the opportunity to students cooperate in the production of knowledge [38]. The Mediwikis collaborative platform was developed at Newcastle University Medical School Institute, is freely accessible and can be accessed through a web browser, and provides content relating to several areas of Health. This platform works similarly to what happens with Wikipedia, meaning that any registered individual can create publications within the Health areas

available, can edit existing publications made available by other collaborators and, in addition, also allows for comments to available publications on the platform.

4 Final Considerations

The use of collaborative platforms enhances the capabilities of the Human being, making it more efficient when collaborating with others. In the health care area, the adoption of ICT, as a support to medical activities, is already happening for some time through various forms, including new techniques and methods of delivering health care services, such as Telemedicine. Collaborative platforms, in addition to incorporating cross-cutting capabilities to any IT platform, may also be used for teaching medical practices, managing humanitarian crises (given the importance of registering injury types and with this give a better support to the patient screening process), or as a means of dissemination of knowledge to the general public. Additionally, these platforms can also be used by healthcare professionals to monitor patients with various health problems, as heart and lung issues, diabetes, among others. The application of collaborative platforms enables closer relationships between patients and physicians, hence increasing the satisfaction of health professionals and the respective promoters of these services associated with them.

The knowledge acquired from this exploratory study will serve as a basis for future work based on three pillars, culminating in a functional prototype of a CSCW platform that will support the University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro Nursing School and the Veterinary Hospital of Vila Real. This platform will be specified in order to support the students learning in both the academic and internship contexts, aggregating planning scales and distribution of tasks combined with a sharing system for collaborative knowledge which takes into account the inherent evaluation of skills.

References

- 1. Castells, M.: The rise of the network society: The information age: Economy, society, and culture. John Wiley & Sons (2011)
- 2. Bowers, J.M., Benford, S.: Studies in computer supported cooperative work: theory, practice, and design. North-Holland (1991)
- Prata, P., Fazendeiro, P., Augusto, C., Azevedo, S., Machado, V.: Ambiente Colaborativo para Avaliação de Cadeias de Abastecimento. RISTI - Revista Ibérica de Sistemas e Tecnologias de Informação 1-15 (2013)
- 4. Kuziemsky, C.E., Varpio, L.: A model of awareness to enhance our understanding of interprofessional collaborative care delivery and health information system design to support it. International journal of medical informatics 80, e150-e160 (2011)
- Counts, S., De Choudhury, M., Diesner, J., Gilbert, E., Gonzalez, M., Keegan, B., Naaman, M., Wallach, H.: Computational social science: CSCW in the social media era. In: Proceedings of the companion publication of the 17th ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work & social computing, pp. 105-108. ACM, (2014)

- Martins, J., Goncalves, R., Pereira, J., Oliveira, T., Cota, M.: Social networks sites adoption at firm level: A literature review. In: CISTI2014 - 9th Iberian Conference on Information Systems and Technologies, pp. 1-6. IEEE, (2014)
- Horn, D.B., Finholt, T.A., Birnholtz, J.P., Motwani, D., Jayaraman, S.: Six degrees of Jonathan Grudin: a social network analysis of the evolution and impact of CSCW research. In: Proceedings of the 2004 ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work, pp. 582-591. ACM, (2004)
- Correia, A.: Caracterização do estado da arte de CSCW. Dep. of Engineering, vol. Master Degree. University of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro (2012)
- Menold, N.: How to use information technology for cooperative work: Development of shared technological frames. Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW) 18, 47-81 (2009)
- Goncalves, R., Branco, F., Martins, J., Santos, V., Pereira, J.: Customer feedback and Internet: Means used by the biggest Portuguese companies. In: e-Business (ICE-B), 2011 Proceedings of the International Conference on, pp. 1-4. (2011)
- 11. Martins, J., Gonçalves, R., Pereira, J., Cota, M.: Iberia 2.0: A way to leverage Web 2.0 in organizations. In: Information Systems and Technologies (CISTI), 2012 7th Iberian Conference on, pp. 1-7. (2012)
- Schmidt, K., Simonee, C.: Coordination mechanisms: Towards a conceptual foundation of CSCW systems design. Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW) 5, 155-200 (1996)
- Oliveira, J.: Sistemas de apoio ao trabalho cooperativo e a sua aplicação no desenvolvimento de sistemas de informação. vol. Dissertação de Mestrado em Informática de Gestão. Universidade do Minho, Braga (1994)
- 14. Ellis, C.A., Gibbs, S.J., Rein, G.: Groupware: some issues and experiences. Communications of the ACM 34, 39-58 (1991)
- Bjorn, P., Bardram, J., Avram, G., Bannon, L., Boden, A., Redmiles, D., De Souza, C., Wulf, V.: Global software development in a CSCW perspective. In: Proceedings of the companion publication of the 17th ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work & social computing, pp. 301-304. ACM, (2014)
- Haper, R.R.: CSCW Requirements and Evaluation, Thomas, P.J. (ed.). Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW) 8, 295-297 (1999)
- 17. Brooke, J.: User interfaces for CSCW systems. CSCW in practice: an Introduction and Case Studies, pp. 23-30. Springer (1993)
- Ellis, C., Wainer, J.: Groupware and Computer Supported Cooperative Work. MIT Press, Massachusetts (2013)
- 19. Bannon, L.J., Schmidt, K.: CSCW-four characters in search of a context. DAIMI Report Series 18, (1989)
- Rama, J., Bishop, J.: A survey and comparison of CSCW groupware applications. In: Proceedings of the 2006 annual research conference of the South African institute of computer scientists and information technologists on IT research in developing countries, pp. 198-205. South African Institute for Computer Scientists and Information Technologists, (2006)
- 21. Rubart, J.: Architecting structure-aware applications. In: Proceedings of the eighteenth conference on Hypertext and hypermedia, pp. 185-188. ACM, (2007)
- 22. Gulliksen, J., Lantz, A., Boivie, I.: User centered design in practice-problems and possibilities. Sweden: Royal Institute of Technology 315, 433 (1999)
- Divitini, M., Farshchian, B.A., Samset, H.: UbiCollab: collaboration support for mobile users. In: Proceedings of the 2004 ACM symposium on Applied computing, pp. 1191-1195. ACM, (2004)
- Iqbal, R., James, A., Gatward, R.: Designing with ethnography: An integrative approach to CSCW design. Advanced Engineering Informatics 19, 81-92 (2005)
- Casalino, N., Draoli, M.: Governance and Organizational Aspects of an Experimental Groupware in the Italian Public Administration to Support Multi-Institutional Partnerships. Information Systems: People, Organizations, Institutions, and Technologies, pp. 81-89. Springer (2010)
- Kaziunas, E., Buyuktur, A.G., Jones, J., Choi, S.W., Hanauer, D.A., Ackerman, M.S.: Transition and Reflection in the Use of Health Information: The Case of Pediatric Bone Marrow Transplant Caregivers. In: Proceedings of the 18th ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing, pp. 1763-1774. ACM, (2015)
- 27. Fitzpatrick, G., Ellingsen, G.: A review of 25 years of CSCW research in healthcare: contributions, challenges and future agendas. Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW) 22, 609-665 (2013)
- Shaikh, A.A., Karjaluoto, H.: Making the most of information technology & systems usage: A literature review, framework and future research agenda. Computers in Human Behavior 49, 541-566 (2015)
- 29. Yang, J.-J., Li, J., Mulder, J., Wang, Y., Chen, S., Wu, H., Wang, Q., Pan, H.: Emerging information technologies for enhanced healthcare. Computers in Industry 69, 3-11 (2015)
- Murdoch, T.B., Detsky, A.S.: The inevitable application of big data to health care. Jama 309, 1351-1352 (2013)
- 31. Patel, H., Pettitt, M., Wilson, J.R.: Factors of collaborative working: A framework for a collaboration model. Applied ergonomics 43, 1-26 (2012)
- Alsos, O.A., Das, A., Svanæs, D.: Mobile health IT: The effect of user interface and form factor on doctor-patient communication. International journal of medical informatics 81, 12-28 (2012)
- Xiao, Y.: Artifacts and collaborative work in healthcare: methodological, theoretical, and technological implications of the tangible. Journal of biomedical informatics 38, 26-33 (2005)
- Jiménez-Zarco, A.I., González-González, I., Saigí-Rubió, F., Torrent-Sellens, J.: The colearning process in healthcare professionals: Assessing user satisfaction in virtual communities of practice. Computers in Human Behavior (2014)
- 35. Wu, L., Li, J.-Y., Fu, C.-Y.: The adoption of mobile healthcare by hospital's professionals: An integrative perspective. Decision Support Systems 51, 587-596 (2011)
- Oztekin, A., Pajouh, F.M., Delen, D., Swim, L.K.: An RFID network design methodology for asset tracking in healthcare. Decision Support Systems 49, 100-109 (2010)
- Judge, M., Polifroni, E., Maruca, A., Hobson, M., Leschak, A., Zakewicz, H.: Evaluation of students' receptiveness and response to an interprofessional learning activity across health care disciplines: An approach toward team development in healthcare. International Journal of Nursing Sciences 2, 93-98 (2015)
- Hadjerrouit, S.: Wiki as a collaborative writing tool in teacher education: Evaluation and suggestions for effective use. Computers in Human Behavior 32, 301-312 (2014)

How Ill is Online Health Care? An Overview on the Iberia Peninsula Health Care Institutions Websites Accessibility Levels

José Martins^{a, b}, Ramiro Gonçalves^{a, b}, Frederico Branco^{a, b}, Jorge Pereira^a, Carlos Peixoto^a, Tânia Rocha^{a, b} ^aUniversity of Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro, Vila Real, Portugal ^bINESC TEC and UTAD, Vila Real, Portugal <u>ramiro@utad.pt, jmartins@utad.pt, fbranco@utad.pt, jorge.pereira@infosistema.com,</u> carlospeixoto76@hotmail.com, trocha@utad.pt

Abstract. The current urge on using Internet for both social and professional tasks, alongside with the existence of over 80 million European citizens with some sort of disability as led to the need for an accessible Web [1]. Given, the also increasing thrive for searching the web for health related information and the assumption of heath care institutions as the creators of this type of information, a research study was developed in order to evaluate the accessibility levels of the Iberian health care institutions. From this study, that used ACESSWEB as the evaluation platform, it was possible to perceive that none of the evaluated websites was WCAG 2.0 compliant and that, despite the poor results, Spanish websites presented more accessibility concerns than the Portuguese. Hence, the situation is critical and a significant effort must be done in order to allow citizens with disabilities to have access to the much needed health related information.

Keywords: eHealth, Iberian Peninsula; Health Care; Web Accessibility; ACESSWEB.

1 Introduction

The advances on Web technologies, mainly perceivable by the urge to use Internet to access information and to interact with others in a social or professional manner, and to use Web applications and systems that provide user directed services, one can easily acknowledge the need for all Web content to become accessible to all users, including those with some sort of disability [2][3]. Despite the inherent social and ethical concern towards Web accessibility, it is mostly regarded as a technical issue associated with Web platforms programming and, as a result, perceived as something whose solution includes very complex redesign and reprogramming operations that require experts on the topics and encompass a very significant cost to organizations [4].

The health topic as long been in the center of discussion when focusing the use of information and communication technologies in the various areas of society [5], and particularly the health care institutions websites are reaching very considerable levels of importance, given the increased use of these platforms, by both patients (customers)

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_41

and health related professionals, as a mean to access resources and information that in other way would be very difficult to attain [6]. Current literature does not provide for an in-depth analysis to the Web accessibility levels of the health care institutions websites, nor provides a methodology for accessing this indicator. With the current work we aim on presenting a methodology focused on website evaluation against WCAG 2.0 and delivering the results on a Web accessibility evaluation process supported by the referred methodology and that used the Iberian health care institutions as its target group.

2 Web Accessibility Background

2.1 Accessibility Applied to Web Environments

As acknowledged by the European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights [1], currently there are over 80 million European citizens with disabilities that need to be granted the right to be fully integrated within society and to use and access all available ICT (Information and Communication Technologies) supported content, including the one that is only available online. The ability of a given Web content to be accessible to all users, including those with some sort of disability, is the exact conceptualization of Web accessibility [3].

In order to achieve an acceptable level of accessibility, websites must follow the guidelines defined by the World Wide Web Consortium (W3C), according to which all Web content must be entirely perceivable, easy to operate, simple to understand and robust enough to be compatible with several agents and assistive technologies [7]. Hence, for Web platform developers and Web content creators to be able to achieve acceptable levels of accessibility, they may choose from two separate approaches. The first available path is considered as more functional given that it focuses its attention on users' limitations and on the viable solutions that can present an answer to those limitations. The second approach is a more technical one, given that it concentrates its efforts on the existing Web technologies uses and customizations as a path to decrease the impact of the obstacles that difficult users correct interaction with existing Web content [8][9].

2.2 Health Care Institutions Online Presence

Health care institutions websites are a crucial key-point on the institutions strategy towards reducing the gap between themselves and their patients. From an overall perspective one can deduce that a hospital website will increase the institutions chances on seizing their potential customers (patients) attention towards the offered services [10].

According to Hwang, McMillan and Lee [11], when a corporation assumes a public presence on the Internet, this should represent a strategic approach directed at communicating with their audiences, spreading their corporate image and, in parallel,

displaying their services. When analyzing this issue from a health care institutions perspective, it is clear that a website it not critical in order for the institution to operate. However, the rate at which patients are gaining abilities and access to a more dynamic, interactive and social Web, they are also developing a new need towards understanding not only how to identify certain symptoms associated with some health issue, but also understand what their hospital has to offer in terms of services and available experts and also, how and when a given health problem can be treated and what might be its impact on the patient's life [10][12].

In the same line, and assuming de Havdu, Eleswarapu, Dabaja and Duke [13] research, the existence of websites associated with health care institutions should serve as the basis to a reliable source of information directed at increase the patients (and their loved ones) knowledge regarding their diagnose and inherent treatment. Despite this, there are still several hospitals who continue to implement policies only directed at delivering to the public a good medical service, diminishing the attention given to create and provide useful and accurate health information, thus improving their communication with the public, and allowing all citizens (including those with some sort of disability), to receive some initial diagnosis and have their doubts taken [14]. Schenker and London [15] argue that the availability of a website that provides insides on a given hospital quality ratings, its treatment policies, specialties and protocols, and its patient decision aid mechanisms, will have a very significant impact on the patient decision towards seeking care or undergo a given medical procedure [16]. Thus, and complying with Raji, Mahmud, Tap and Abubakar [14], in order to be useful to their patients, hospitals websites should assume themselves as easy to use, aesthetically attractive and, most of all, rich in accurate and direct health information.

Hence, considering the normal requirement for a hospital website as its ability to engage patients and allowing them to research health related literature, track health status and medical tests results, make appointments and communicate with health services providers [17][18], it is clear that the referred websites must be easy to use and accessible to all. A straightforward engaging of both patients and their families to health related information and Web based systems will act as a trigger to not only an increase in the overall health care services performance, but also to the establishment of better and more solid relationships between medical experts and patients [19]. The importance of hospital websites quality, ease of use and accessibility has been in the agenda of several authors, who argue that, despite the notorious efforts in bringing the institutions to the Web, there is still a long way to go in order for the referred websites to be easily usable and accessed by all [18][20][21].

The aim of the present study is to explore the accessibility issue of Portuguese and Spanish health care institutions websites by undertaking an evaluative study directed at examining their compliance with W3C Web Content Accessibility Guidelines – WCAG 2.0, and through this achieve a common indicator – Web Accessibility Score – that determines how close from being accessible to its users a given website is.

3 Measuring Accessibility from Health Care Institutions Websites

Aiming at achieving a perception on the accessibility levels of the Iberian health care institutions websites, a research project was designed in a way that from an initial list of institutions websites, an evaluation procedure was executed and the achieved results were discussed until reaching assertive conclusions.

3.1 Evaluation Methodology

The evaluation procedure mentioned above was composed by three different stages: an initial stage where the evaluation target group was defined and analyzed, an intermediate stage where all the target group members' websites were evaluated against WCAG 2.0, and a final stage where the achieved results were treated, analyzed and discussed.

Considering the interesting results presented by the Iberian Peninsula in terms of Internet use and, assuming that the Iberian citizens are very prone to use the Web as a means to attain information and communicate, a decision was made to perceive weather Iberian health care institutions websites were accessible to all Iberian citizens. To do so, a Web accessibility evaluation platform called ACESSWEB was used given its ability to automatically evaluate the full extension of a website against WCAG 2.0 and present the evaluation results in a structured, simple and very usable manner. The ACESSWEB platform has the ability to not only perform Web accessibility evaluations to multiple websites simultaneously, but also has the capacity to process and display the evaluations results in a structured manner. In order for the results analysis to be significantly easier and rapid, the ACESSWEB also allows for users to create their own data analysis schemas and inherent visual dashboards [22].

3.2 Evaluation Target Group Analysis

For the present research project, whose main goal is to present an updated perspective on the Web accessibility levels of Iberia Peninsula health care institutions, an initial effort was made in order to collect, from the various governmental organizations, the details associated with these institutions (name, address, nature and website URL). From this initial effort a list of 1098 institutions was created. When performing a deeper scrutiny to these institutions, 519 of them were public institutions and the remaining 579 had a private nature. In Figure 1 it is possible to perceive the regions, within the Iberia Peninsula, where the referred institutions have their legal headquarters.

Despite our initial target group composition of 1098 institutions, after an initial analysis we reached a final level of only 697 institutions with an online and active website (Figure 2). From this analysis it was also possible to acknowledge that over 140 institutions share the same website, and that even though we are living in a "digital society" almost 250 institutions do not have a website or have one that was offline when we performed the evaluation procedure.



Figure 1 - Geographic distribution of all the analyzed Iberian health care institutions.

From the 579 private institutions that composed the initial target group, over 70% of them had a website that could be evaluated. On the opposite side, from the initial 519 public health care institutions inherent to the target group, only 53% of them could be evaluated.



Figure 2 - Evaluation target group analysis from an Iberian Peninsula Perspective.

4 Results Analysis and Discussion

4.1 Achieved Results

The evaluation procedure was executed with the support of ACESSWEB Web accessibility evaluation platform, which allows for a bulk evaluation of groups of websites against WCAG 2.0. With this in mind, and according to Figure 3, the first task to be performed was transforming the list of health care institutions into a tabular set of records that could be fed to ACESSWEB diagnostic system, which consequently performed the evaluation of those websites. The evaluation raw results were reported by the data visualization service where, through the development of several analytical dashboards, it was possible to comprehend the knowledge extracted from the evaluation

procedure. As an initial consideration it was very interesting to acknowledge that during the evaluation process more than 2.9 million elements (tables, images, html elements, etc.) were evaluated against WCAG 2.0, what brings at light an average of over 2700 elements per website. With this in mind, it was also very important to highlight that the average number of identified WCAG 2.0 errors per website was about: 460 errors for WCAG 2.0 level A errors, 93 for WCAG 2.0 level AA errors and 167 for WCAG 2.0 level AAA errors.



Figure 3 - Evaluation procedure illustration. Adapted from [22].

As Figure 4 mentions, the Web accessibility errors distribution is very similar for both Spain and Portugal, with Portugal leading by a close distance on this category. As a direct result of these errors, none of the evaluated websites from both Spain and Portugal were compliant with WCAG 2.0, thus none of them was totally accessible.



Figure 4 - Average number of detected WCAG 2.0 errors for both Portugal and Spain.

Given the impossibility to closely analyze a WCAG 2.0 compliant website in order to understand how it is built and how it presents its content, authors decided to follow Gonçalves, Martins, Branco, Pereira, Rocha and Peixoto [22] and Kamoun and Almourad [23] approaches, and use a Web accessibility score as the indicator that allows some comparison between all the evaluated websites and that can bring some awareness to the research topic. In this case, the referred score is a simple indicator that relates the number of accessibility errors with the number of evaluated elements $(\frac{\Sigma Errors}{\Sigma Elements})$. In Figure 5 one can visualize the distribution of the project target group according to their Web accessibility score.



Figure 5 – Web accessibility score for the Iberia Peninsula (IP), for Portugal (PT) and for Spain (ES).

Aiming on bringing a much deeper insight on this issue, the mentioned distribution was made not only from an Iberian perspective but also from a country point of view.

4.2 **Results Discussion**

When observing the achieved results, and despite the approached topic (Web accessibility) to be considered as of most importance by, not only the scientific community, but also by government, health care institutions still miss on the goal of having websites accessible to all citizens (patients), hence limiting access to a set of very important health related information by those with some sort of disability. The achieved results show that from the initial 1098 health care institutions almost 200 of them do not have an available website for the public to visit, what indicates that a very important share of the institutions does not believe on the benefits of having an online presence that, at the very least, allows patients to have access to descriptions of the set of services and experts provided by the institutions. On the other hand, it also very interesting to understand that under 2% of the institutions had a registered Web domain that is offline.

Given the proven validity of ACESSWEB evaluation platform in what concerns the evaluation of websites against WCAG 2.0, a decision was made to use this platform as the diagnostic tool for evaluating the 697 heath care institutions websites. After reaching the results from the evaluation there was a need to develop a set of analytical dashboards that allowed, in first hand, to perceive that the average number of accessibility errors was significant in each of the evaluated websites, hence reaching a global average of WCAG 2.0 errors for the Iberia Peninsula that represents an almost inexistent concern towards developing accessible Web content. If this situation may not be subject to an extra unease for the privately held institutions, this is not true to the public ones, given the existence of legal regulations according to which the websites of

public institutions should, at the very least, comply with W3C "WCAG 2.0 Level A" criteria.

Even though the critical situation in what concerns the access to Iberian health care institutions websites, when observing the accessibility score achieved by the evaluated websites from a global perspective, these indicators tend to ensure that the evaluated websites are converging into a positive situation in terms of accessibility given that its overall values are becoming closer to 0 (indicating that the number of errors is much smaller than the number of evaluated elements). However, as Figure 5 clearly indicates, this Iberian perspective is decisively influenced by the Spanish institutions websites, that present better results than the ones presented by the Portuguese institutions who present more than 1 error per each evaluated website element in more than 35% of the sample.

5 Conclusions

5.1 Health Care Institutions Implications

Currently there is a very high demand for online health related information. As health care institutions start to increase their online presence in order to foster the establishment of trust relations with their patients, business managers should endure on a dual sided perspective. In one hand managers should trigger the creation of high quality health related information and highly interactive online services and, on the other hand, they should create policies and strategies towards the creation (and subsequent) maintenance of websites accessible to all, including those with some sort of disability. The existence of poor accessibility compliance with international guidelines immediately creates a misalignment between health care institutions and patients, particularly with those most impelled to consume information resources without having to physically grab them. When considering the existing studies concerning both the directions that a health care institution website should follow and the value inherent to each patient (social, financial, etc.), one can easily conclude that by not presenting accessible websites, health care institutions neglecting people with disabilities and decreasing their chances to transform these users/citizens/patients financial value into business value.

5.2 Final Considerations

Web accessibility is a topic of most relevance for our society and for all of our institutions, not only due to the ethical and moral concerns, but also due to the economic impact that disabled citizens have on their countries' economies. This situation, together with the current need for information regarding disease symptoms, treatments and health care techniques and expert services, makes it extremely important for the websites of those with the majority of the responsibility for creating such information (i.e.: health care institutions), to be fully accessible to all. Given the existence of about

10% of Iberian citizens with some sort of disability, a decision was made to perform a study on the accessibility levels presented by the Iberia Peninsula health care institutions. With this work, 1098 institutions from both Portugal and Spain were analyzed and, despite our best efforts, from this initial group on 697 of them had an online website that could be evaluated. The Web accessibility evaluation was conducted through the use of ACESSWEB websites evaluation platform, whose evaluation results allowed to perceive that the situation of the Iberian health care institutions websites is extremely concerning and that a considerable effort towards improving the current status of things must be done.

References

- 1. http://fra.europa.eu/en/theme/people-disabilities
- Klein, E., Bolfing, A., Riesch, M.: Checking Web Accessibility with the Content Accessibility Checker (CAC). In: Miesenberger, K., Fels, D., Archambault, D., Peňáz, P., Zagler, W. (eds.) Computers Helping People with Special Needs, vol. 8547, pp. 109-112. Springer International Publishing (2014)
- Martins, J.: Avaliação de acessibilidade dos sítios Web das empresas portuguesas. Dep. of Engineering vol. Master Degree. Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro (2008)
- 4. Martín, A., Rossi, G., Cechich, A., Gordillo, S.: Engineering accessible Web applications. An aspect-oriented approach. World Wide Web 13, 419-440 (2010)
- Felizardo, V., Sousa, P., Oliveira, D., Alexandre, C., Garcia, N., Garcia, N.: TICE.Healthy: Integração de soluções TIC para a "Saúde e Qualidade de Vida". RISTI - Revista Ibérica de Sistemas e Tecnologias de Informação 17-32 (2014)
- 6. Randeree, E., Rao, H.: E-health and assurance: curing hospital websites. International Journal of Electronic Healthcare 1, 33-46 (2004)
- Gonçalves, R., Martins, J., Branco, F.: A Review on the Portuguese Enterprises Web Accessibility Levels – A Website Accessibility High Level Improvement Proposal. Procedia Computer Science 27, 176-185 (2014)
- 8. Gilbertson, T., Machin, C.: Guidelines, icons and marketable skills: an accessibility evaluation of 100 web development company homepages. In: Proceedings of the international cross-disciplinary conference on web accessibility, pp. 17. ACM, (2012)
- Martins, J., Barroso, J., Gonçalves, R., Sousa, A., Bacelar, M., Paredes, H.: Transforming e-Procurement Platforms for PEPPOL and WCAG 2.0 Compliance. Information Science and Applications, pp. 973-980. Springer (2015)
- Hakim, L., Deswindi, L.: Assessing the Effects of e-servicescape on Customer Intention: A Study on the Hospital Websites in South Jakarta. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences 169, 227-239 (2015)
- 11. Hwang, J., McMillan, S., Lee, G.: Corporate web sites as advertising: An analysis of function, audience, and message strategy. Journal of Interactive Advertising 3, 10-23 (2003)
- 12. Huang, E., Liu, T., Wang, J.: E-health videos on Chinese hospitals' websites. International Journal of Healthcare Management 7, 273-280 (2014)

- 13. de Haydu, C., Eleswarapu, S.V., Dabaja, A.A., Duke, C.M.: Objective assessment of the oncofertility educational information, available to women, on the websites of NCI-designated cancer centers in the US: do socioeconomic demographic profiles by state make a difference? Fertility and Sterility 104, e262 (2015)
- Raji, S., Mahmud, M., Tap, A., Abubakar, A.: Usability Evaluation of Hospital Websites in Nigeria: What Affects End Users' Preferences? In: Stephanidis, C. (ed.) HCI International 2014 - Posters' Extended Abstracts, vol. 435, pp. 430-434. Springer International Publishing (2014)
- 15. Schenker, Y., London, A.: RIsks of imbalanced information on us hospital websites. JAMA Internal Medicine 175, 441-443 (2015)
- 16. Lin, C., Wittevrongel, L., Moore, L., Beaty, B., Ross, S.: An Internet-based patient-provider communication system: randomized controlled trial. Journal of medical Internet research 7, (2005)
- 17. Robeznieks, A.: Online and on target. Hospitals add sophistication to their websites, improving value to patients. Modern healthcare 41, 32-33 (2011)
- Snyder, K., Ornes, L., Paulson, P.: Engaging Patients Through Your Website. Journal for Healthcare Quality 36, 33-38 (2014)
- 19. Ralston, J., Carrell, D., Reid, R., Anderson, M., Moran, M., Hereford, J.: Patient web services integrated with a shared medical record: patient use and satisfaction. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association 14, 798-806 (2007)
- Silvestre, J., Tomlinson-Hansen, S., Fosnot, J., Taylor, J.: Plastic Surgery Residency Websites: A Critical Analysis of Accessibility and Content. Annals of Plastic Surgery 72, 265-269 (2014)
- Noh, K., Jeong, E., You, Y., Moon, S., Kang, M.: A study on the current status and strategies for improvement of web accessibility compliance of public institutions. J. open innov. 1, 1-17 (2015)
- Gonçalves, R., Martins, J., Branco, F., Pereira, J., Rocha, T., Peixoto, C.: AccessWeb Barometer - A Web Accessibility Evaluation and Analysis Platform. INTERNET 2015 - The Seventh International Conference on Evolving Internet. IARIA, Malta (2015)
- Kamoun, F., Almourad, M.: Accessibility as an integral factor in e-government web site evaluation: The case of Dubai e-government. Information Technology & People 27, 208-228 (2014)

Part V Communication and Journalism in Online Social Networks

Iberian Local Online Media as a Space of Sociability in the Network Society

María Cruz Negreira Rey and Xosé López García

Communication Sciences Department, University of Santiago de Compostela Avenue Castelao, 15872 Santiago de Compostela, Spain cruz.nr@hotmail.com, xose.lopez.garcia@usc.es

Abstract. The evolution of the "network society" over the past five years has resulted in the proliferation of the proximity of online media in the communications ecosystem of the Iberian Peninsula. Portuguese and Spanish hyperlocal media has created a local supply of initiatives involving communities which are promoted with the intention of being present in the network society and, at the same time, existing in the spheres of communication of leading social networks. Although most hyperlocal online media is not part of media groups or cross-border organizations, the fact is they apply fairly similar criteria when designing their strategies for social networks. The analysis of a web-native and hyperlocal media outlet in Portugal and two in Spain (one in Galicia and another in Madrid) shows how proximity is an incentive for renewed forms of technologically mediated communication in local communities.

Keywords: hyperlocal media, hyperlocal journalism, social networks, network society

1 Introduction

Forms of relationships and communications between the different social actors have evolved in recent decades into structures which are more connected, and in which the Internet and new ICT technologies are assumed to create new channels, the experimentation of codes and the configuration of new communications dynamics. This transformation also extends to media, developing online editions of different models to build a complex communications ecosystem in which online media [1] become informative spaces of reference.

In Spain and Portugal, the countries within the Iberian framework of this study, the evolution of the online media industry began over two decades ago. The first Spanish online newspaper appeared in 1994, such as the online publication of the *Boletín Oficial del Estado* and the cultural magazine *El Temps* [2]. A year later, the *Jornal de Notícias* inaugurated online media in Portugal [3].

403

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_42

These twenty years of online journalism in Spain and Portugal place us in a context in which new forms of social and community interaction surrounding the media enable the profitability of new business models, more collaborative and productive structures and greater thematic and geographic specialization. Among the current trends in the development of online media, the growth of hyperlocal media is particularly important. This creates communications spaces in the most immediate area of communities, where social relations between actors are produced both within and outside of the network society itself.

2 Theoretical approaches

2.1 Approach to Hyperlocal Online Media

Hyperlocal online media is a recent phenomenon with its roots in the United States, which has been growing with a strong journalistic basis since 2009 [4]. Such media is edited from the new perspective of hyperlocal journalism, characterized by its geographical orientation and its commitment to the community [5], giving citizens the opportunity to express themselves and create bonds of identity in a globalized cultural context [6].

Among the authors who have defined hyperlocal information and media, Donna Shaw [7] describes these as news websites dedicated to "little stories" pertaining to a particular neighborhood or interest group within a very specific geographical area. Mark Gaser [8] adds that their growth occurs due to the low cost of online publication, which enables the creation of independent hyperlocal news sites with the goal of serving communities neglected by traditional media, thereby fulfilling a vital democratic function. This is echoed by Stone and Miler [9]. To the same end, Crucianelli [10] highlights the variety of sources within hyperlocal media, which accords greater prominence to neighbors and little-explored digital sources.

In addition to these concepts, Flores Vivar [4] explains that the term "hyperlocal" also refers to the combined use of technological applications and GPS through mobile devices, applied to local websites to deliver relevant content not only for a community, but also for any particular individual belonging to it.

Based upon their review of the various uses of this concept, Metzgar, Kurpius and Rowley [11] define hyperlocal media as "geographically-based, community-oriented, original-news reporting organizations indigenous to the web and intended to fill perceived gaps in coverage of an issue or region and to promote civic engagement". The main characteristic of such media is identified by these authors as the proximity of its orientation and its operation in a geographically defined area where news events and audiences coincide. This area can range from a small neighborhood to a city or region [11]. Hyperlocal media is also characterized by a clear community-orientation in the geographic area in which it operates. Although opportunities and the market also determine their agenda, such media seeks to inform about all that affects and worries the community. It covers the spaces forgotten by traditional local media.

The accuracy and usefulness of its coverage evokes the engagement of citizens, who are committed and involved in democratic discussions affecting the future of their community. Moreover, such audience engagement often turns them into the media's, adopting different roles in terms of citizen journalism that, according to Firmstone and Coleman [12], can be those of producers, contributors, sources or participants.

Finally, hyperlocal online media is characterized by its state of being web-native, that is "media formats that exist only on the Internet and media entities whose first distribution channel is the Internet" [13]. The lack of a printed or audiovisual matrix and a recognized business model constitute an economic weakness of such media, which requires them to experience new forms and sources of financing [14]. In web-natives, business and production structures are smaller and more flexible, following less hierarchical and more decentralized models, concentrating the whole production process in the hands of a small group of professionals and a network of collaborators [14].

2.2 Network Society and New Forms of Community Relations in the Context of Proximity

Hyperlocal media plays an important role in advancing social cohesion within the community in which it operates. Following Arias, [15], such online media offers new possibilities and forms of dialogue, encourages users to take action, builds trusted networks, reinforces a sense of identity and creates spaces for civic communication, social and cultural participation.

Forms of communication and community involvement observed in hyperlocal online media arise from the structures of the network society itself, built on information networks based on Internet technology. Castells [16] points out some changes in the socialization of communities, such as the absence of physical boundaries for creating networking affinities, a strengthening of the bonds of physical relationships, the ease with which weak community-based weak are created, as well as the ability to build links between select people through searches.

In addition, the author notes that the stronger physical social networks are, the greater the use of the Internet and its strength. Applied to the hyperlocal community and social movements, the Internet facilitates community mobilization projects which are more flexible, enduring, coordinated and focused on clear objectives based on shared values.

In this context of proximity and the network society, the ties between citizens and journalists are narrowed because the journalist is another member of the community [15]. In the social practice of hyperlocal journalism, actors multiply and develop individual or collective strategies and actions to control both media discourse and community discourse [17].

The opportunity for citizens to participate in local democracy as consumers and producers of information is much higher in hyperlocal online media than in traditional local media. Social networks are consolidating a communications ecology in which the traditional division between institutions, journalists and citizens is no longer centralized, linear or easily controlled because of the ease with which all kinds of messages and audiovisual content can be spread [17].

2.3 Social Networks as a Consolidated Space of Encounters between the Media and Consumers

Social networks are already taken to be areas of convergence and interaction between the media and audiences. Online media designs dissemination strategies through its particular tools and applications. Such media outlets enhance their presence on Facebook and Twitter in order to spread their information, opening up spaces for readers to discuss the news and creating message boards or inboxes to enable the receipt and sharing of texts prepared by citizens [18].

From the perspective of users, social networks allow citizens to be self-reliant on their consumption of proximate information. Thus, they hope that through searching, dissemination and the filtering of news in their social networks, all relevant news items in their community will reach them [19].

According to data from IAB Spain [20], 82% of Spanish Internet users use social networks, which in absolute terms amounts to 14 million users. Commenting on the news is ranked sixth among their more common activities. Taking into account solely Internet use related to news consumption, data from the Digital News Report [21] reveals that Facebook is the most popular social network, used by 52% of users in Spain. WhatsApp is used by 27% to comment on and share news items, making it the second largest social platform in this regard. Twitter and YouTube tie for third place, used by 22% of users to consume, distribute and interact around the news.

In Portugal, the INE [22] also reveals the extensive use of social networks by up to 72% of Internet users. In terms of the consumption of news, OberCom results [23] show that social networks are highly valued as news sources. They constitute the second most used channel, sought out by 66.2% of users, ahead of other traditional sources like printed newspapers. The networks most used to search for and access information are Facebook (98.7%), YouTube (37.6%) and Twitter (7%).

3 Objectives and Methodology

The main objective of this research project is to study the function of hyperlocal online media as a space for the community's socialization on the Internet. More specifically, it seeks to discover the presence and content distribution strategies of the media within mainstream social networks, as well as their capacity to achieve the engagement of users, in the Iberian context of Spain and Portugal.

The selection of the study's objectives is based on exploratory research concerning the situation of active hyperlocal online media in the Iberian Peninsula. Based on the initiatives identified, three hyperlocal media outlets were chosen for in-depth study:

- Somos Malasaña (http://www.somosmalasana.com/): selected for being an online media outlet in the Spanish capital and one of the first hyperlocal initiatives in the country, covering the geographical area of Malasaña in Madrid. It maintains active social profiles on Facebook, Twitter and Google+.
- *O Corvo* (<u>http://ocorvo.pt/</u>): chosen for pertaining to the Portuguese capital and operating in the geographical area of the city of Lisbon. It maintains active profiles on Facebook, Twitter and Vimeo.
- *Pontevedra Viva* (<u>http://pontevedraviva.com/</u>): chosen as it constitutes a space of convergence between the two countries due to linguistic (Galician and Portuguese) and cultural proximity. It also operates in an intermediate geographic area between rural neighborhoods and the city, that is, both within the municipality and the region of which it forms part. It maintains active social profiles both on Facebook and Twitter.

The research is limited to the active profiles of these media outlets on Facebook and Twitter, as these are used by all the three publications. The analysis undertaken with respect to these networks is quantitative and descriptive, using free software tools to provide an overview of social media analytics. To extract data from Facebook, Netvizz V.125 has been used. Tweetchup was employed to analyze Twitter profiles. To select the aforementioned publications for examination from the entirety of the media's vast output, a multistage cluster sampling was conducted between the 22nd of October and the 13th of November, 2015. Data was collected on a daily basis on the following dates: October 22nd, 23rd, 24th, 26th, 27th and 28th and November 8th, 9th, 10th, 11th, 12th and 13th.

The interpretation has been oriented along to axes of community presence in online media networks, the publication and dissemination of content, and the engagement/ conversation between users and the media. A content analysis was undertaken of the five Facebook posts and Tweets with the highest levels of participation in each publication. The main goals and linguistic functions were analyzed following the methodological objectives outlined by Bonini and Sellas [24]. The type of content and the comments were studied following the analytical approach of the Pew Research Center for the study of local news [25].

4 Results

4.1 Community Presence through Social Networks

While the three online media outlets studied have active profiles on both Facebook and Twitter, their weight and importance in the community varies significantly. Weighting the number of followers of each publication within each social network by the number of inhabitants of the geographical area in which they operate, a comparable percentage was obtained of the physical community of online media users which is also present in social networks.

Somos Malasaña receives 55.05% on Facebook and 47.75% on Twitter, followed by *Pontevedra Viva* with 3.93% and 2.95%, respectively, and *O Corvo*, receiving 1.54% on Facebook and 0.04% on Twitter. Significantly in this case, the more hyperlocal the publication, the greater the presence of the community, offering better results in the context of neighborhoods as opposed to municipalities/regions or cities.

4.2 Publication and Distribution Strategies in Social Networks

The multistage sampling conducted over the aforementioned days identified a total of 225 Facebook posts (69 for *Somos Malasaña*, 14 for *O Corvo* and 142 for *Pontevedra Viva*) and 395 tweets (112 for *Somos Malasaña*, 12 for *O Corvo* and 271 for *Pontevedra Viva*). The volume of content published can be summarized in the daily average of posts and tweets. *Somos Malasaña* registered an average of 6 daily posts on Facebook and 9 tweets; Lisbon's *O Corvo* published only one post and one tweet; and *Pontevedra Viva* had an average of 12 posts and 23 tweets.

In terms of overall content, almost all items published are links to online media information (99% of Facebook posts and 93% of tweets). By contrast, only 5% link to text publications, 4% to photos and 0.4% to videos. This reveals that the main use of social networks is as another channel for distribution and attracting web-traffic, leaving little room for other formats more suitable to real participation and dialogue with users.

4.3 Engagement and Conversation with Users

Via their social media platforms, online media publications create a space where readers can participate to varying degrees. On Facebook, the main indicators of such engagement are the number of "likes" a post receives, how many times a post is shared and how many comments it attracts. On Twitter, engagement is apparent in the number of times tweet is listed as a "favorite" and how many times it is re-tweeted.

The publication data shows the intention of online media to promote a space for interaction with the community, and indicators of users' participation the interest that content holds for them. *Somos Malasaña* registers an average of 28 likes, 9 shares and 4 comments per post and 17 favorites and 9 re-tweets per tweet. *O Corvo* registers 25 likes, 17 shares and 2 comments on average per post, and 0 favorites and 0.2 re-tweets per tweet. Lastly, *Pontevedra Viva* registers 28 likes, 20 shares and 4 comments per post, and 2 favorites and 1 re-tweet per tweet. However, it is not enough to merely take note of a phenomenon of active and reciprocal listening, necessary for dialogue and community socialization through online media social networks.

It is, therefore, interesting to observe indicators such as the percentage of comments which reply to other posts on Facebook, as well as the amount of re-tweets, mentions and replies to other Twitter users. In the case of *Somos Malasaña*, 27% of Facebook comments are responses, and 25% of tweets are re-tweets, with 5.4% of responses and users mentioned in 100% of tweets. With respect to *O Corvo*, 12.5% of comments on Facebook are responses, while on Twitter no re-tweets, responses or users mentioned are registered. Finally, in terms of *Pontevedra Viva*, 41% of Facebook comments are responses, whereas on Twitter only 0.4% of tweets are re-tweets, 0.7% are responses and users are mentioned in 45.4% of tweets.

4.4 Publications with the Highest Levels of Participation

The content analysis of the five posts and tweets with the highest rate of participation for each publication is summarized in the aggregate data of the 15 posts and 12 tweets analyzed in total (*O Corvo* only registered two tweets with some form of participation).

In terms of the language used, 100% of the items published on Facebook and Twitter display a referential function which corresponds to informative action. Only 6% of posts and 34% of tweets reveal an expressive function, especially relevant in information on sports. In relation to the objectives pursued, 100% of the posts and tweets seek to spread the news from the media and redirect traffic to their websites. On Twitter, 20% of tweets also advertise external cultural events.

The functions of language and the objectives detected are reinforced by the content type of the items analyzed. All posts and tweets contain a link to online media content, accompanied by a short introductory text (except the posts of *O Corvo*). Hashtags are used in only 7% of posts and 25% of tweets. Mentions are only present on Twitter, in 50% of items published. The widespread presence of links to media content reinforces the referential function and the purpose of disseminating information. Moreover, the low levels of mentions and hashtag-use reveal the limited interest of the media in participating in conversations, listening to or engaging in dialogue with users in the community.

Analysis of the 15 selected items published by the three publications on Facebook reveals a total of 253 comments (82 for *Somos Malasaña*, 21 for *O Corvo* and 150 for *Pontevedra Viva*). Noting the number of key comments and responses generated, a complimentary percentage is visible in the case of *Somos Malasaña* and *Pontevedra Viva*, with 60% comprising key comments and 40% responses. By contrast, *O Corvo* does not register any responses. All these conversations occur on the same day on which a post or tweet was published, with over 90% of the comments appearing within 24 hours of the original post or tweet.

In terms of the type of user-generated content within the comments, 92% only contain text, in 4% of cases text is accompanied by links, and 2% only consist of links. A minor number of comments which combine text with mentions, photos and videos were also registered. With respect to the links recorded, in the case of *Somos Malasaña* comments are made by the publication itself linking to its own related news stories. *O Corvo*'s links are also to the stories by the newspaper, albeit these are linked to by users. By contrast, in the case of *Pontevedra Viva* links are provided by users and link to other Facebook pages and other news media sites.

Concerning users who comment on posts or tweets, a significant percentage of users appear to comment repeatedly, especially within the responses and conversations created around a published item. In the case of *Somos Malasaña*, 20% of users report an average of 2.4 comments, whereas only 12% of *O Corvo's* users comment more than once and reveal an average of 3 inputs. 35% of *Pontevedra Viva*'s users leave an average of 3.8 comments each.

5 Conclusion

The analysis of the three selected hyperlocal online media outlets allows for the comparison of their presence and strategies on social networks, and highlights the strengths and weaknesses of each. *Somos Malasaña* displays greater integration of the community in its network space, has greater experience with different forms of publishing content, and presents stronger indicators reflecting participation and conversation on Twitter. On the other hand, *Pontevedra Viva* is by far the newspaper which publishes more content on its social networks and elicits more conversation on Facebook. By contrast, Lisbon's hyperlocal *O Corvo* does not appear to pursue a strategy of continually publishing items on its social media profiles, offers nearly identical posts on Facebook and Twitter, and generates virtually no participation or conversation on the latter network.

Extrapolating these results to hyperlocal online media in the Iberian context more broadly, it is possible to confirm the important presence of such media outlets within mainstream social networks. So too is it apparent that they pursue content publication strategies which facilitate the integration and participation of community users in the social media platforms. However, publication formats vary little and the greater part thereof are composed of links. Although participation indicators reveal that published content reaches and raises the interest of readers, the closest forms of conversation between them and media outlets, such as via comments, shares or re-tweets, remain a rarity.

Finally, data on conversational indicators between the media and users are markedly low, reflecting the limited attention which the media pay towards contributions from the community, thus preventing a real exchange of ideas. However, the analysis of comments by readers on Facebook shows that the spaces created by the media within social networks offer a site to foster conversation between community members.

In conclusion, we deduce that there is a real need to rethink the space offered by social networks. It is imperative to stop managing these as channels which redirect users to online media, and rather to establish them as a place for listening to and engaging in dialogue with communities and users. Hyperlocal online media may be developing similar strategies to those adopted by major media and communications groups, despite having far fewer economic resources. Nevertheless, this shouldn't prompt them to miss the most important resource them have as hyperlocal entities, namely the knowledge and cooperation of citizens whose social potential as a community is enhanced in the proximity of the network society.

References

- Gago, M. et al.: Población, riqueza y diversidad mediática: análisis de la relación entre cibermedios e indicadores sociales en España. Estudios sobre el Mensaje Periodístico, vol. 12, pp. 305–316 (2006)
- Salaverría, R.: Ciberperiodismo: diez años de prensa digital en España. In: Fernández Sanz, J.J. (ed.) Prensa especializada actual. Doce calas. McGraw-Hill, Madrid (2008)
- Bastos, H.: Origens e evolução do Ciberjornalismo em Portugal: Os primeiros quinze anos (1995-2010). Edições Afrontamento, Porto (2010)
- Flores Vivar, J. M.: Tendencias del periodismo mundial. Periodismo hiperlocal, sinergia de dos entornos. In: Cuadernos de periodistas: revista de la Asociación de la Prensa de Madrid, vol. 29, pp. 38–54 (2014)
- Jerónimo, P.: Ciberjornalismo de proximidade. Redaçoes, jornalistas e notícias online. Labcom, Portugal (2015)
- Bravo, F. C.: O jornalismo hiperlocal na era digital. O contributo e papel do blogue Graciosa Online para a RTP. Facultade de Ciências e Humanas da Universidade de Lisboa, Lisboa (2012)
- Shaw, D.: Really Local: Gannett and other media companies are embracing" hyperlocal" Web sites as a new way of engaging fleeing readers. In: American Journalism Review, vol. 29 (2), pp. 54–58 (2007)
- Glaser, M.: Your Guide to Hyper-Local News. Mediashif, Your Guide to the Digital Media Revolution. Available at: <u>http://mediashift.org/2007/12/your-guide-to-hyper-local-news347/</u> (2007)

- Miller, C.C., Stone, B.: Hyperlocal web sites deliver without newspapers. The New York Times. Available at: <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2009/04/13/technology/start-ups/</u> <u>13hyperlocal.html? r=0</u> (2011)
- 10. Crucianelli, S.: Herramientas digitales para periodistas. Knight Center for Journalims in the Américas, Texas (2010)
- 11. Metzgar, E., Kurpius, D., Rowley, K.: Defining hyperlocal media: Proposing a framework for discussion. In: New Media & Society, vol. 13 (5), pp. 772-787 (2015)
- Firmstone, J., Coleman, S.: Rethinking local communicative spaces: Implications of digital media and citizen journalism for the role of local journalism in engaging citizens. In: Kleis, R. (ed.) Local Journalism: The Decline of Newspapers and the Rise of Digital Media, pp. 117-140. I.B. Tauris, Londres (2015)
- Miel, P., Faris, R.: News and information as digital media come of age. Berkman Center for Internet & Society, Cambridge (USA) (2008)
- García Avilés, J., González Esteban, J.L.: Cibermedios nativos españoles: explorando modelos de rentabilidad. In: Trípodos, vol. 30 (2013)
- Walter Arias, H.: Factores que influyen en la intención de participar en el medio de periodismo hiperlocal y ciudadano sanantoniodeprado.info. Universidad Pontificia Bolivariana, Medellín (2013)
- 16. Castells, M.: Internet y la sociedad red. La factoría, vol. 14, pp. 15 (2001)
- Le Cam, F., Domingo, D.: The Plurality of Journalistic Identities in Local Controversies. In: Kleis, R. (ed.) Local Journalism: The Decline of Newspapers and the Rise of Digital Media, pp. 117-140. I.B. Tauris, Londres (2015)
- Túñez López, M.: Los periódicos en las redes sociales: audiencias, contenido, interactividad y estrategias comerciales. In: Estudios sobre el mensaje periodístico, vol. 18 (1), pp. 221–239 (2012)
- McCollough, K., Crowell, J., Napoli, P.M.: Portrait on the Online Local News Audience. Prepared for the Democracy Fund and the Geraldine R. Dodge Foundation. Rutgers, School of Communication and Information (2015)
- IAB Spain: VI Estudio Redes Sociales IAB Spain. Available on: <u>http://www.iabspain.net/</u> redes-sociales/(2015)
- Negredo, S.: Facebook es el medios social más popular (52%) y WhatsApp el que más crece (27%). Digital News Report. Available on: <u>http://www.digitalnewsreport.es/2015/</u> redes-sociales/ (2015)
- 22. INE: Sociedade da Informação e do Conhecimento Inquérito à Utilização de Tecnologias da Informação e da Comunicação pelas Famílias 2015. Instituto Nacional de Estatística. A v a i l a b l e a t : <u>h t t p s : // w w w . i n e . p t / x p o r t a l / x m a i n ?</u> xpid=INE&xpgid=ine_destaques&DESTAQUESdest_boui=224732374&DESTAQUESmo <u>do=2</u> (2015)
- OberCom: A Internet e o consumo de notícias online em Portugal. OberCom. Available at: http://www.obercom.pt/client/?newsId=548&fileName=internet_2015.pdf (2015)
- Bonini, T., Sellas, T.: Twitter as a public service medium? A content analysis of the Twitter use made by Radio RAI and RNE. In: Communication & Society, vol. 27 (2), pp. 125– 146 (2014)
- 25. Pew Research Center: Local News in a Digital Age. Available at: <u>http://www.journalism.org/2015/03/05/local-news-in-a-digital-age/</u> (2015)

The Use of Social Networks in Interactive Documentary

Jorge Vázquez Herrero, Xosé López García

Novos Medios Research Group University of Santiago de Compostela jorgevazquezh@gmail.com, xose.lopez.garcia@usc.es

Abstract. Interactive documentary is an interactive non-fiction genre, within digital storytelling, that is developed in the diversification period in the digital context and, particularly, on the Internet. The digital convergence of media favors the creation of complex products, characterized by navigation and interaction, as well as new audiences' participation. Social networks open ways for promotion, contribution and personalization of interactive documentary. In this research, we have made a selection of significant projects from the period 2010-2015 and coming from all over the world, in which the development of the genre and the use of social networks have been analyzed.

Keywords: interactive documentary, interactive non-fiction, digital storytelling, social networks, communication.

1 Introduction

The aim of this research is to describe how social networking sites connect with interactive documentary, a booming genre in the digital panorama. There are also some interesting points about production and development of interactive documentary worldwide.

1.1 Documentary and traditional categorization

Firstly, we are getting into a subject supported by two pillars: conventional documentary, also called audiovisual or cinematographic, and interactive media, that represents every platform related to electronic devices and, specially, those developed on the Internet.

Documentary is even becoming more similar to fictional narratives and considering that technology has changed into a more open context, it is still valid that interactive documentary keeps a direct link with reality and tries to give a new point of view to the audience. In that way, Arnau Gifreu takes the multi-perspective definition given by Bill Nichols to refer to documentary as a "mutanting nature as social construction" [6].

Documentary was additionally covered by authors such as Michael Renov or Erik Barnouw, who suggested traditional categorizations besides Nichols. We have considered the categories that Nichols [13] established to speak about representation

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_43

of reality in our analysis: poetic, expository, observational, participatory, reflexive and performative.

However, there are some other genres of audiovisual non-fiction, apart from common cinematographic documentary, that extend the current field and recognize the complex and open context.

1.2 Interactive media and technological convergence

Since the appearance of information technology in the 21st century, there has been an evident evolution in many industries and social areas. The World Wide Web caused a transformation in how we are informed and entertained. Several changes have taken place in our society, such as the development of the hypertext, the popularization of mobile devices and the success of social networking sites.

Until the current situation of digital media, different technologies appeared for spreading culture, actually the Internet was a meaningful advance. In this context, in which the user is producer and consumer at the same time and has a lot of tools that allow him to be heard, interactive documentary is growing.

Technological convergence concerns the whole structure, consequently the audience is being affected. Social networking is the issue that interests us because it is bringing real life to the Internet, therefore, new communities and types of relationships have emerged. Furthermore, this phenomenon is present in interactive documentary.

1.3 Hybridization

Convergence appears on numerous screens (television, Internet, mobile devices, etc.) producing new cultural products for the net characterized by hipertextuality, multimediality, interactivity, memory, instantaneity, customization and ubiquity [3]. Within these new proposals that are not only attached to only one medium, we find transmedia storytelling according to Henry Jenkins [9] and Carlos Scolari [17] and a wide field of interactive non-fiction genres where we can find interactive feature, inside cyberjournalism, interactive essay close to cultural promotion and interactive documentary. In addition, as part of this hybridization, storytelling is reaching all kinds of situations at the moment [16].

2 Interactive documentary

The concept of interactive documentary is unfocused and complex due to its recent appearance and different terminological variations from authors that have written about this subject. In the interactive context, the director of the documentary loses some control of the narrative discourse, favoring user interpretation. Within the diversity of terminology, these terms must be outlined: interactive documentary, multimedia documentary, i-doc, web documentary, webdoc, *docuweb*, living documentary and walk-in documentary. We choose interactive documentary, considering its extended use and open definition.

Even though authors such as Aston & Gaudenzi [1], Favero [4], Gaudenzi [5], Harvey [8], León & Negredo [10], Liuzzi [11], Nash [12] or Porto Renó [14, 15] have worked around the definition, Arnau Gifreu suggests one supported in three aspects: open and complex concept, ambivalence between cinematographic and interactive field and identification as a discourse related to reality. "Interactive online/offline applications, carried out with the intention to represent reality with their own mechanisms from conventional documentaries –modes of representing reality–, and other new, which we will call navigation and interaction modalities, depending on the degree of participation under consideration" [7].

2.1 Categorization of interactive documentary

Beside some features such as loss of control by the author, being an interactive nonfiction genre, based on real facts or circumstances, using hypertext for non-linearity and medium or strong interactivity, according to Berenguer's classification [2], interactive documentary is categorized depending on modalities of navigation and interaction, defined by Gifreu [6].

There are different ways to navigate into the content in a non-linear mode: fragmented, timeline, spatial, testimonial, ramificated, hypertextual, preferential, audiovisual, sound and simulated-immersive. In relation to how the user interacts with the story, there are also some modalities: social or 2.0, generative-contributive and physical-experienced.

In addition, interactive documentary is classified by the representation of reality and the analysis proposed by Gifreu also examines the production, the content, the structure and the relationship between author, text and user. This model was employed in our research to analyze the sample.

2.2 State of the art

The current situation supposes a wide diversity of actors, so it is required to consider them in order to acquire a global knowledge. In the first place, we must point out the production developed by the National Film Board of Canada, as part of the government, because they are promoting interactive documentaries and achieving success in main events. In France we have identified a significant association between Arte, a Franco-German channel, and Upian, a multimedia studio. All over the world, there are other relevant producers like Honkytonk Films, Submarine Channel, VPRO or Helios Design Labs. In Spain there is also some activity from producers such as Barret Films, Mondrian Lab or Yolaperdono. Even public television, RTVE, develops interactive projects in the Audiovisual Innovation Lab. In addition, we must highlight the career of some professionals such as Florian Thalhofer, Samuel Bollendorff or Katerina Cizek, due to their important contribution.

Secondly, the conversation about this genre strengthens and favors its growth. Main references are: i-Docs Conference (United Kingdom), InterDocsBarcelona (Spain) beside WebDox (Belgium), IDFA DocLab (Holland) and other initiatives around digital storytelling and journalism.

Considering that there are not specific awards for interactive documentary, other contests are including it, such as IDFA, Sheffield Doc/Fest, FIGRA, Sundance, Tribeca, World Press Photo, Visa pour l'image, Prix Europa and Emmy Awards.

Relating to research, the work of Arnau Gifreu should be noted, as author of several publications, as well as Sandra Gaudenzi, Denis Porto Renó, Mandy Rose, Julia Scott-Stevenson, Judith Aston, Paolo Favero, Kate Nash, Valentina Moreno and Carles Sora.

3 Methodology

To begin with the analysis of interactive documentary, we established a limited universe for a global evaluation, which ended with a list of 136 projects considering: categorization as interactive documentary, production from the period 2010-2015 and country of origin.

As a result of discretionary sampling, with the condition of having at least one award, and quota sampling, that guarantee representatives from all the period except for the current year, we prepared a brief research sample for a deeper examination.

3.1 Research sample

The sample we analyzed in more detail was composed of 10 interactive documentaries that we list further below. The research focused on features such as production strategies, structure, navigation, interaction or representation of reality, according to the model proposed by Gifreu [6].

The list of interactive documentaries analyzed is: *Prison Valley* (2010), *Out My* Window (2010), *One Millionth Tower* (2011), *Insitu* (2011), *Bear 71* (2012), *Alma, A Tale of Violence* (2012), *Hollow* (2013), *A Short History of the Highrise* (2013), *The And* (2014) and V.O.S.E. (2014).

4 Results

Interactive documentary is going through a diversification period and there is not just one definition. This genre is on the convergence between cinema and interactive media, sometimes next to news or video games. In the analysis we discovered some general trends concerning the 136 documentaries and more specific features focusing on our research sample.

4.1 Global production

There are several countries of origin, though the main production is located in France (20.59%), United States (19.85%) and Canada (12.50%). Other countries like Spain, Holland or Germany are over 3%. Furthermore, international coproductions represent a 12.50% of the global sample with France and Canada at the head. The most repeated association is between Arte and the National Film Board of Canada, which are also the most productive companies.

Paying attention to productions by year, we can differentiate three phases: firstly, 2010 has 13 projects; secondly, 2011-2012 have an average of 22.5 projects; and finally, 2013-2014 have an average of 33.5. Without considering 2015 because it is the current year, a continuing growth has been detected.

The creation of interactive documentaries is supported by important technological advances, for instance, with the standardization of HTML5 or due to the existence of software such as Klynt, Korsakow or Mozilla Popcorn that make it easier.

The web is the main platform to distribute interactive documentaries, but there are some multi-platform, crossmedia and transmedia proposals, such as *Prison Valley* and *Alma, A Tale of Violence*, which employ other extra formats like app, book or TV.

4.2 Navigation and interaction representing reality

As a result of combining several modes of navigation and interaction, interactive documentaries tend to be complex products. They use between two and nine modes, in different degrees. The most common are fragmented, audiovisual, testimonial and hypertextual; also social and generative at a lower level of development. *Prison Valley* and *Hollow* are the most complete documentaries at this point.

In consequence, interactivity implies participation, non-linearity and more personal user experiences; as well as navigation supposes different structures, itineraries and points of view. Cession of the author control and contribution to extend the story are essential ideas in these narratives.

In addition, the documentaries that were analyzed use between three and fives modes to represent reality. The most usual are reflexive, observational and participatory. Those that combine more modes are *Hollow* and *A Short History of the Highrise*.

4.3 Focusing on social networks

On the one hand, we have analyzed how social networking sites interact with interactive documentaries that define the research sample. We conclude that only two of ten projects from the sample have a development deeper than the others. Half of the documentaries have official accounts in the most common social networks, principally Facebook and Twitter, and in some cases they are still updated. The main use of social media related to this genre is promoting the project and publishing news about it, also to keep in contact with users and sharing content within the documentary.

For instance, *Prison Valley* utilizes Facebook as login for the user and this method allows to save the user progress, discuss online in the chat or in the forums about different topics and characters. *Hollow* introduces Instagram to show pictures with #hollerhome tag and Twitter to display the latest tweets about #derecho and #storm, both of them inside the story. Of course, *Prison Valley* and *Hollow* have maintained until now their official profiles in Facebook and Twitter.

On the other hand, we have made an exploration of significant cases that use social networks in the whole selection from the period 2010-2015 and it should be noted that there are some documentaries with different and interesting implementations of them.

Firstly, projects like 18 Days in Egypt and Las Sinsombrero permit the user to participate sending a photo or video from social networking sites. Secondly, Goa Hippy Tribe and Fort McMoney include the Facebook login to save your progress, to access to additional content that is added to your "backpack", to chat or write a comment online and also to answer surveys in the story. Thirdly, Do Not Track and In Limbo are getting closer to personalization in interactive documentary. What they are doing is asking for permission to access the user's accounts in different sites such as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, LinkedIn or Gmail and show some information as part of the story. In consequence the user enjoys an improved experience in which he is involved. Finally, Malvinas30 and @SoldadoM30 to reproduce The Falklands War in first person 30 years later. They also utilize Foursquare for geolocation.

5 Conclusion

Interactive documentary, as an interactive non-fiction genre, is built on different modes of navigation and interaction and it combines several modes to represent reality. Furthermore, subjects are diverse: social topics, urban cultures and personal stories are recurrent. It can be distributed by more than one platform, although the Web is the most common. Letting the user take control, allowing to participate and personalizing the experience are functions associated with interactive documentaries.

As a result of our research, we can say that interactive documentary is growing from three production centres located in France, United States and Canada, beside a relevant international coproduction and minor contributions from many other countries.

These complex products are using social networks with five purposes. In the first place, they are being used to promote the documentaries and publish some news or announcements about the production. In the second place, these tools are utilized to show content from them inside the documentary. Social networks also make possible the contribution of users to extend the story with their own points of view, by sending comments, pictures or videos and sharing the project. In addition, these sites can be the platform to reproduce a story through profiles, for instance, in Facebook or Twitter, where users can interact directly with characters. Lastly, social networks are being used to personalize the user experience including some personal data from the accounts he authorizes within the documentary.

The Use of Social Networks in Interactive Documentary

To sum up the situation, we are face to face with an interesting genre with a prosperous future. Interactive documentary is using new ways to approach reality, such as social networks, which have many possibilities to continue developing and improving the user experience. Other fields in which this genre can grow are live performance, VR, gamification, education and journalism.

References

- 1. Aston, J., Gaudenzi, S. (2012). Interactive Documentary: Setting the Field. *Studies in Documentary Film*. 6 (2), 125–139.
- Berenguer, X. (2007). Una década de interactivos. In J. La Ferla (Ed.), Artes y Medios Audiovisuales. Un estado de situación. Buenos Aires: Aurelia Rivera. http://www.upf.edu/pdi/dcom/xavierberenguer/textos/decada/portada.htm. Accessed 15 November 2015.
- 3. Canavilhas, J. (2014). *Webjornalismo*. 7 características que marcam a diferença, 3–24. Covilhã: Livros LabCom.
- 4. Favero, P. (2013). Getting Our Hands Dirty (Again): Interactive Documentaries and the Meaning of Images in the Digital Age. *Journal of Material Culture*. 18 (3), 259–277.
- Gaudenzi, S. (2013). The Living Documentary: From Representing Reality to Co-Creating Reality in Digital Interactive Documentary (Doctoral thesis, Goldsmiths, University of London). http://research.gold.ac.uk/7997/1/Cultural_thesis_Gaudenzi.pdf. Accessed 15 November 2015.
- Gifreu, A. (2013a). El documental interactivo como nuevo género audiovisual. Estudio de la aparición del nuevo género, aproximación a su definición y propuesta de taxonomía y de modelo de análisis a efectos de evaluación, diseño y producción (Doctoral thesis, Universitat Pompeu Fabra). http://agifreu.com/interactive_documentary/TesisArnauGifreu2012.pdf. Accesed 15 November 2015.
- 7. Gifreu, A. (2013b). *El documental interactivo. Evolución, caracterización y perspectivas de desarrollo*. Barcelona: Editorial UOC.
- Harvey, K. (2012). "Walk-in Documentary": New Paradigms for Game-Based Interactive Storytelling and Experiential Conflict Mediation. *Studies in Documentary Film*, 6 (2), 189–202.
- 9. Jenkins, H. (2006). *Convergence Culture: Where Old and New Media Collide*. New York: New York University Press.
- León, B., & Negredo, S. (2014, January). Documental web: una nueva página para el viejo sueño interactivo. *TELOS*, 96, 82–92. http://telos.fundaciontelefonica.com/Nmerosanteriores/Nmero96/seccion=1291&idioma= es_ES.do. Accessed 15 November 2015.
- Liuzzi, Á. (2015, February). El documental interactivo en la era transmedia: de géneros híbridos y nuevos códigos narrativos. *Obra Digital*, 8, 106–136. http://revistesdigitals.uvic.cat/index.php/obradigital/article/download/52/58. Accessed 15 November 2015.
- 12. Nash, K. (2012). Modes of interactivity: analysing the webdoc. *Media*, *Culture & Society* (34), 2. 195–210.
- 13. Nichols, B. (2001). Introduction to documentary. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- 14. Porto Renó, D. (2012). *Documentários em novas telas*. Tenerife: Sociedad Latina de Comunicación Social.

- 15. Porto Renó, D. (2013). Diversidade de modelos narrativos para documentários transmídia. *Doc On-line*, 14, 93–112. http://www.doc.ubi.pt/14/dossier_denis_reno.pdf. Accessed 15 November 2015.
- 16. Salmon, C. (2008). *Storytelling. La máquina de fabricar historias y formatear las mentes*. Barcelona: Atalaya.
- 17. Scolari, C. (2013). *Narrativas transmedia: cuando todos los medios cuentan*. Barcelona: Centro Libros PAPF.

Study of Political Campaign Ads from Ecuador Employing Heart Rate Variability (HRV)

José Rúas-Araújo¹, Pedro Cuesta-Morales², Xosé Antón Vila-Sobrino²,

 ¹ Facultad de Ciencias Sociales y de la Comunicación, University of Vigo. 36005 Pontevedra (Spain) {joseruas, jose}@uvigo.es
² Department of Computer Science, ESEI, University of Vigo. 32004 Ourense (Spain) {pcuesta, anton}@uvigo.es

Abstract. This work analyzes the impact derived from viewing different political ads (with positive and negative emotional content), belonging to the campaigns of the main candidates to presidential elections of the Republic of Ecuador, celebrated on February 13rd, 2013. To perform this task, a sample of 20 Ecuadorian University students was considered, and the Heart Rate Variability (HRV) of each of the participants was measured when viewing the different electoral ads. The results obtained were analyzed considering the ideology indicated by the students in a former questionnaire. The investigation shows a perspective of neurosciences applied to social sciences, employing tools commonly used in health sciences to measure perception. The results obtained do not show clear variations in the HRV indexes related to viewing the political ads. However, noticeable differences were observed when students were divided into several groups, according to their political ideology.

Keywords: Political advertising, Electoral spots, Heart Rate Variability (HRV).

1 Introduction

1.1 Electoral Spots and negative political advertising

Some basic aspects that guarantee the success of the politic campaigns are the messages (written, oral and audiovisuals), sent to the potential voters. The importance of these campaigns and their influence over the electorate is crucial. A large number of studies analyzing the television impact in different electoral situations can be found in the literature. Results indicate this effect is determined by the tone of the advertisements and the features of the voters [1], [2], [3].

Several authors explain the preference of the voters for audiovisual formats. In this sense, electoral spots are fundamental pieces, since they include, in a short period of time (30-60 seconds) a high amount of information. This is indicated, for example, by Berrocal [4].

Diamond and Bates [5], explain that a third part of a 30-minutes television speech is missed by the audience. However, if the duration of the spot is between 30-60 seconds, no information is missed. Furthermore, individuals can retain between 80-

421

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_44 85% of the visual information of an electoral spot [6]. If the spectator does not pay attention to the spot within the first seven seconds, the spot will fail [7].

The success or failure of an audiovisual spot will depend on the correct agreement between three basic elements [8]: oral (what is spoken or written in the screen), visual (color, perspective, symbols, icons) and audio (voice, songs and music).

Related to the classification of electoral ads, three categories are usually employed: positive, negative and comparative ads. The first group emphasizes the merits that the candidate represents. The second group includes ads that incorporate the weakness of the opponents; and the comparative spots compare both aspects [9].

This negative advertising has been defined by Mark [10], as the actions performed by a candidate to win an electoral process, consists of attacking his/her opponents, instead of highlighting his/her own virtues. The same author distinguishes between negative and dirty campaigns, indicating that the first group is a distorted but real accusation, while the second is based on lies.

Geer [11] analyzed negative advertising in presidential elections of the United States, defining negativity as any criticism from one candidate to another, during a specific campaign. Recent studies include in this definition any type of criticisms and attacks among candidates. On the opposite side, Sigelman and Kugler [12] consider only personal aspects as negative attacks.

Johnson-Cartee and Copeland [13] identify three models of negative argument: 1. Direct attacks, against either a candidate or political party, 2. Direct comparison with an adversary, in those aspects where the candidate is better than the others, and trying to visualize the opponents' limitations, 3. Implicit comparisons in which the opponent is not directly concerned.

It is always interesting to analyze the effect of the electoral spots over the different political parties of the individuals sharing the same principles, as well as of people of different ideology.

When the influence of the electoral spots over the potential voters is studied, it should be considered that each person would process the information in a different way, according to his/her political ideology. In this way, a selective processing of information will be performed.

In fact, this is an important point, since the attention will vary depending not only on the politic ideology, but also on the emotional content of the message to be transmitted in the spot. Recent studies have demonstrated that, in general, population ignores the electoral ads belonging to candidates that represent ideologies that are opposite to their own principles. This means that population ignores political information that can interfere, in a negative sense, with their own ideology [14].

1.2 Emotions and Heart Rate Variability (HRV)

The heart rate can be defined as the number of heart beats by unit of time. It is generally measured in beats per minute. The heart rate is not constant; it varies to adapt to different internal and external stress factors. The heart rate variability (HRV) refers to the alterations, beat to beat, in the heart rhythm. The HRV is the result of balancing the influence between the parasympathetic system (heart rate acceleration) and the sympathetic system (heart rate deceleration) [15]. The study of the HRV

alterations is employed as a noninvasive measure of the status of the cardiovascular system. It can be performed employing a heart rate analysis in both time domain and frequency domain, or even employing nonlinear analysis techniques.

One of the most extended techniques is spectral analysis, which provides a quantitative analysis and evaluation of the neurovegetative system. The low frequency components (LF), with frequencies ranging from 0.04 to 0.15 Hz, are influenced by both the sympathetic and the parasympathetic systems. The high frequency components (HF) contain frequencies higher than 0.15 Hz, and represent the parasympathetic tone, related to the respiratory rhythm [16]. Apart from the LF and HF parameters, other extended spectral index is the ratio LF/HF, employed to measure the balance between both sympathetic and parasympathetic systems.

Until now, HRV analysis has been applied to study the risk of patients suffering from diverse pathologies: diabetes, cardiac transplant, fetal distress, hypertension, congestive heart failure, or cardiomyopathy, among others. It has also been recently applied in the field of psychiatry (schizophrenia, bipolar disorder anxiety) [17]. The HRV analysis related to emotional response is a recent field of study.

It is well-known that the peripheral nervous system prepares the body to perform several actions [18]. These actions can be a response to determined external stimuli (such as image or video visualization), and that cause the appearance of diverse responses. Different response patterns of the peripheral nervous system (such as the heart rate patterns, dermic conductance or facial electromyography) should be affected by different inputs corresponding to emotional reactions. An example of this can be viewing electoral spots [14].

HRV could be employed as a useful measure to analyze the emotional regulation and reactions, and to study differences in the response patterns of the neurovegetative system. For example, the variations suffered by people of different politic ideologies could be analyzed employing spectral parameters, such as the HRV indexes.

In a recent work [19], HRV was analyzed when some volunteers are viewing the electoral ads of the last elections in Galicia (Spain). The simple size was not enough to obtain statistically significant data, but result could indicate that the HRV values in voters with extreme ideologies are lower than in the case of voters with moderate ideology. However, the LF/HF ratio was higher in the first group, which points out a displacement to the sympathetic tone.

The research in the emotion field has taking advantage of diverse sets and standardized materials to cause emotions in laboratory contexts. One of the most extended is the IAPS (International Affective Picture Systems) [20], a collection of more than 1000 photographs with different, quantified emotional content of the mental disorders present as a common feature the alteration of an emotional aspect. The IAPS collection has been employed in a large number of studies related to psychiatric pathologies (schizophrenia, depression, anxiety disorders). For example, the psychophysiological response of patients suffering from schizophrenia who were viewing IAPS images was analyzed, and compared with the response of control subjects [21]. Heart rate, dermic conductance and respiratory rate were measured. Results indicate that patients suffering from schizophrenia significantly increased HR, compared to controls, only when they were viewing positive emotional content images. This can indicate that only positive, nice images affect the physiological responsitivity in schizophrenic patients.

2 Objectives and Methodology

2.1 Objectives

The objective of this research was to analyze the emotional response of a set of individuals while they were watching a set of electoral spots. To perform this analysis, some HRV indexes were measured. This general objective was subdivided into four specific objectives:

- 1. To check for possible differences in HRV indexes between men and women when watching all the six electoral spots.
- 2. To compare the HRV indexes when watching the official spots of the two main candidates (Rafael Correa of "Alianza País" and Guillermo Lasso of the "CREA" party) and the rest that could qualify as negative spots (two against Guillermo Lasso and two against Rafael Correa, of the latter, one direct and another implicit).
- To compare the HRV indexes by dividing the sample according to their ideology, among students who declare themselves as supporters of both right-wing and left-wing ideology parties.
- 4. To analyze if there is correlation between HRV indexes and liking declared by students with the political leaders, with a leading role in the videos.

2.2 Sample and Questionnaire

The sample was composed of twenty students from the Universidad Técnica del Norte (UTN), located in the town of Ibarra, Imbabura, Ecuador. They were students undertaking degrees in Public Relations (15 students: 10 men and 5 women), and Management and Social Development (5 males). Their ages were between 19 and 26.

To ascertain the political orientation of each student, they were asked to indicate where they felt more comfortable, between the far-left (responses of 4 students), the center-left (2 students), liberal right (13 students) and the conservative right (1 student).

Similarly, to confirm the answers to the previous question about their political identification, they were asked to indicate the position, on a 1-10 scale, where they were best identified, being 1 the leftmost position and 10 the righter position.

Finally, they were asked about their degree of affinity and/or sympathy with the political leaders appearing in the electoral spots. They had to mark their affinity on a 1-5 scale, being 1 the lowest affinity and, 5 the highest.

2.3 Features of the Electoral Spots

Six electoral spots were showed to the students. Two of them corresponded to the official campaigns of President and candidate Rafael Correa, from "Alianza País"

(spot called "The Bicycle"¹, (58 seconds long) and Guillermo Lasso, belonging to the opposition party "CREA", spot called "Here comes the other Ecuador"², (30 seconds long). The other four are of negative publicity about both candidates, two of them against Lasso: "Here comes the other Ecuador / reply"³ (30 seconds long), made on the basis of the official Lasso's video, and "the Feriatta"⁴, (3.29 seconds long) and two against Correa , "The Blablableada Revolution"⁵, (2.17 seconds long), and "Migrants"⁶, (0.43 seconds long). From this group of negative publicity, the first three are of direct attack and the latter ("migrants") are of implicit criticism.

2.4 Heart Rate Recording and Measure of its Variability

In addition to the data obtained through the formularies that each participant should fill in, it was necessary to record the heart rate signal of all participants, while watching the electoral spots. To measure the heart rate, a Polar 'WearLink' chest strap with Bluetooth was used.



Fig. 1. Example of a hear rate record processed with the gHRV tool

Each participant placed the sensor described above, to the chest, then stood in front of the laptop, and proceeded the viewing of the electoral spots (in random order for each participant). During viewing the heart rate was recorded with VARVI tool (Heart Rate Variability analysis in response to Visual Stimuli), a free software tool developed to facilitate the analysis of HRV in response to different visual stimuli. It can be downloaded for free (http://varvi.milegroup.net).

While the student was viewing the spots, the program communicated with the sensor to get the heart rate data and store them in a file, and labeling the different intervals corresponding to the six spots. After each acquisition, two files were

¹ <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xNGWTtRRGig</u>

² <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TSEVJqG17So</u>

³ <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WmaS_Qj-Zis</u>

⁴ https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PyoXbovJwBI

⁵ https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5CgQ5R3h-1c

⁶ https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ySc78jL4X6w

obtained. The first contained the heart rate data, and the second included the tags and time intervals corresponding to each electoral spot. An example of one of this heart rate records is shown in Figure 1.

Once all the records were obtained, processing and spectral analysis were performed. For this task, the RHRV package, developed using the R language (http://www.r-project.org), was used [22]. After removing artifacts a cubic spline interpolation at 4 Hz was applied. Over this equally space hear rate the spectral power was estimated using the STFT (Short Time Fourier Transform). Finally, power in the LF and HF bands and LF/HF ratio were calculated.

As a result, a table with the average values of the HRV, LF, HF and LF/HF indexes was collected. These values were obtained for each record and for each electoral spot, that is, 24 values for each individual. Using the data of this table, different studies were performed. They will be described in the next section.

3 Results

In this Section, before verifying if the main goals of the study were reached, global patterns for HRV in the whole sample were analyzed. In this way, HRV spectral indexes were calculated for all the population of the study, when they were viewing the different electoral spots. No significant differences were found in any HRV index.

Next, some HRV indexes were analyzed to check if the specific objectives of the paper were achieved. The results obtained will be described in the next paragraphs.



Fig. 2. Comparison of the LF parameter for both men and women

3.1 Gender Analysis

Scientific works showing differences in HRV indexes between women and men can be found in the literature [23]. In this work, we have previously verified this results,
since the existence of these differences can be help to better understand the other analyses.

First, the average value for the four indexes (LF, HF, LF/HF and HRV) was calculated for all the participants in the study. Significant differences were found between genders. In particular, men presented higher values for HRV, LF and the LF/HF ratio. Figure 2 shows an example of the LF values corresponding to both men and women.

Next to the global analysis, the comparison was repeated for each gender, for the 6 electoral spots included in the study, to analyze if significant differences appear when viewing the spots. No differences were found.

3.2 Comparison of the Official and Negative Spots

To achieve the second goal of this work, the HRV obtained for the official videos of the two main candidates (Rafael Correa and Guillermo Lasso) and the negative spots (two corresponding to implicit criticisms and two of explicit criticisms) were also compared in this study. No noticeable differences have been detected.

Considering the differences between genders previously described, the study was repeated for both men and women separately. The results were similar, and no differences were obtained in the values of the spectral parameters.

3.3 Ideology Analysis

As stated before, participants had to fill in a questionnaire and questions related to their political identification. They had to indicate on a 1-10 scale the political option where they felt best identified, being 1 the leftmost position and 10 the righter position. The responses of the participants were considered to analyze the ideology. To perform this task, students were divided into two groups. Students with a political identification value ranging from 1 to 4 were considered as belonging to left-wing ideology (5 students), being the right-wing subjects those with a response between 7 and 10 (10 participants). The rest of students, with intermediate values in their political identification (5-6), were discarded.

In this study, the greatest differences were found in the HRV indexes when the participants were viewing the electoral spots. The LF values were higher for the leftwing ideology students, than for the right-wing ideology ones, when viewing all the spots, with the only exception of the spot of negative publicity against Guillermo Lasso ("Here comes the other Ecuador / Reply"). The HF values were greater for right-wing students for the majority of the spots, apart from the spot of negative publicity against Rafael Correa ("Migrants" or "The other bike"). Related to the LF/HF ration, students with left-wing ideology presented higher values than the right-wing students. This difference is even more evident when viewing the official spots from Correa ("The bicycle") and Lasso ("Here comes the other Ecuador ").



Fig. 3. LF/HF ratio for students of left-wing and right-wing ideologies

Figure 3 shows the LF/HF ratio for the left-wing ideology students, versus the right-wing ideology participants. Differences can be observed. As it is showed in Figure 4, these differences become even greater when the official spots are viewed.



Fig. 4. LF/HF ratio by ideology for the official spots of Correa and Lasso

3.4 Analysis by Friendliness of Candidates

In this later analysis, we tried to find a relationship between HRV indexes and the liking of students for the candidates. After analyzing the responses of students about their identification with the various candidates, we noted that in many cases the opinions were so similar that did not allow us to establish groups. We selected the 4 candidates in which the variation of opinions was wide enough to differentiate two

groups. We added the score given to all of them (range 4-20) and divided the 20 students into two groups, one with students that showed greater liking for them (score 9-12, 8 people) and those who showed less sympathy (score 4-8, 12 people). For this comparison, we selected the spot called "The Feriatta", because it contains an explicit criticism against capitalism and banking.

From the four HRV indexes analyzed, only the LF/HF ratio shows significant differences. The group of students with higher scores also showed higher values for the LF/HF ratio.

4 Discussion and Conclusions

The analysis on the 20 Ecuadorian University students to observe their HRV indexes when watching some electoral spots, and their correlation with the declared ideology, do not show results statistically significant. This can be due to the reduced small sample size employed in the study. However, some interesting differences appear.

There were no differences were observed in the perception of the spots related with the gender. Neither correlation seems to exist between sympathy shown by the students for each of the political leaders, and the HRV values when viewing the spots.

Also, there were no significant differences were observed when comparing the official spots of Rafael Correa and Guillermo Lasso against those of criticism and negative publicity (explicit and implicit), although in the study by ideology, some differences were obtained between negative and positive spots, even although they were not significant.

The most significant differences appeared in the analysis by ideology. Students who declare themselves as supporters of right-wing ideology have a greater variability at high frequencies, and more reduced values at low frequencies. Differences in the measurement of perception conditioned by ideology were already observed in a previous experiment on electoral spots viewing [19], in the sense that the electorate that showed radical political ideologies has higher HRV than people whose political ideology is more moderate.

However, the truth is that a larger sample of evidence would be needed, to check possible variations in the impact of negative political advertising as opposed to positive one, and to see if the different reactions depending on the ideology declared by participants remains or even is accentuated.

It is also difficult to interpret the reason of some changes in the detected cardiac parameters, since this would require combining these results with other tools or techniques, such as qualitative analysis (interviews, focus groups), in addition to the questionnaire applied to all of students.

The contrast between these results and others that can be performed would certainly help to provide new and better evidence.

Furthermore, beyond the details of this specific experiment, we consider the relevance and suitability of the use of the tools and techniques of neuroscience applied to social sciences, as well as the combination of both in the study of human behavior and social relations, beyond the field of health and medicine, for future research, exceeding the initial exploratory approaches.

References

- 1. Chang, Ch.: The impact of emotion elicited by print political advertising on candidate evaluation. Media Psychology, 3, 91-118 (2001).
- 2. Pinkleton, B.E.: The effects of negative comparative political advertising on candidate evaluations and advertising evaluations. Journal of Advertising, 26, 19-29 (1997).
- Iyengar, S., Hahn, K.: Red media, blue media: Evidence of ideological selectivity in media use. Journal of Communication, 59, 19-39 (2009).
- 4. Berrocal, S.: Comunicación política en televisión y nuevos medios. Ariel, Barcelona (2003).
- 5. Diamond, E., & Bates, S. The spot: The rise of political advertising on TV. Mit Press. (1992).
- 6. Devlin, L. P. Campaign Commercials. Society, 22. (1985).
- 7. Rúas, J.: Manual del Candidato Electoral. Catarata, Madrid (2011).
- Nelson, J. S., & Boynton, G. R. Video rhetorics: Televised advertising in American politics (Vol. 1). University of Illinois Press. (1997).
- 9. Shapiro, M., Rieger, R.H.: Comparing positive and negative political advertising on radio. Journalism Quarterly, 69, 135-145 (1992).
- 10. Mark, D.: Going Dirty. The art of Negative Campaigning. Rowman Littlefield Publisheers Inc., New York (2006).
- 11. Geer, J.: Those Negative Ads Are a Positive Thing. In: Political Campaigns. Opposing Viewpoints Series. Greenhaven Press, New York (2006).
- Sigelman, L. Kugler, M.: Why is Research on the Effects of Negative Campaigning so Inconclusive? Understanding Citizens's. Percepcions of Negative. Journal of Politics, 65, 142-160 (2003).
- 13. Johnson-Cartee, K., Copeland, G.A.: Negative Political Advertising: coming of age. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, New Jersey (1991).
- 14. Wang, Z., Morey, A., Srivastava, J.: Motivated selective attention during political ad processing: the dynamic interplay between emotional ad content and candidate evaluation. Communication Research, 30, 1-38 (2012).
- 15. Malik, M., Camm, A. J.: Heart rate variability. New York: Futura Publishing Company. (1995).
- Akselrod, S., Gordon, D., Ubel, F. A., Shannon, D. C., Berger, A. C., Cohen, R. J.: Power spectrum analysis of heart rate fluctuation: a quantitative probe of beat-to-beat cardiovascular control. Science 213 (4504), pp. 220-222 (1981).
- 17. Kamath, M. V., Watanabe, M., Upton, A. (Eds.): Heart rate variability (HRV) signal analysis: clinical applications. CRC Press. (2012).
- 18. Cacioppo, J. T., Berntson, G. G.: Relationship between attitudes and evaluative space: a critical review, with emphasis on the separability of positive and negative substrates. Psychological bulletin, 115(3), 401. (1994).
- Rodríguez-Liñares, L., Cuesta, P., Méndez, A., Vila, X.A., Lado, M.J.: ¿Afectan los Spots Electorales al Ritmo Cardíaco?, Proceedings of the XIII International Conference Ibercom, 3559-3570. (2013).
- 20. Lang, P. J., Bradley, M. M., Cuthbert, B. N.: International affective picture system (IAPS): Affective ratings of pictures and instruction manual. Technical report A-8. (2008).
- Hempel, R. J., Tulen, J. H., van Beveren, N. J., van Steenis, H. G., Mulder, P. G., Hengeveld, M. W.: Physiological responsivity to emotional pictures in schizophrenia. Journal of psychiatric research, 39(5), 509-518. (2005).
- Rodríguez-Liñares, L., Méndez, A. J., Lado, M. J., Olivieri, D. N., Vila, X. A., Gómez-Conde, I.: An open source tool for heart rate variability spectral analysis. Computer methods and programs in biomedicine, 103(1), 39-50. (2011).
- 23. Yukishita, T., Lee, K., Kim, S., Yumoto, Y., Kobayashi, A., Shirasawa, T., Kobayashi, H.: Age and Sex-Dependent Alterations in Heart Rate Variability Profiling the Characteristics of Men and Women in Their 30s. Anti-Aging Medicine, 7(8), 94-99. (2010).

Contents in the television of Ecuador. Incidence of the digital transition and the regulation

Abel Suing^{1.1} and Carlos Ortiz¹

 1 Department of Communication, ECU -Digital Group. Universidad Técnica Particular de Loja, San Cayetano high s / n, Champagnat street , CP 11-01-608 , Loja, Ecuador.

{Abel.Suing, Carlos.Ortiz} ccortiz@utpl.edu.ec

Abstract. In the television of Ecuador a commercial model has predominated. It has not allowed the production of national content, situation that in recent years has changed thanks to the transition to Terrestrial Digital Television and the implementation of the Communications Law that promotes, both technically and legally, the domestic production to meet the demand for quality content. In addition, the digital phenomenon and the regulation in communication would allow to meet the right to communication. The research presents the changes in the composition of content of private television of Ecuador between 2010 and 2015; and the findings of media actors. The effectiveness and exploitation of technological and legal changes will depend on the ability of agreements between companies, society and the government.

Keywords: Television digital; audiovisual regulation; TV content; Audiovisual production; Audiences

1 Introduction

In 2013, Ecuador began the regular broadcasting of digital terrestrial television (DTT) based on the Brazilian-type ISDB-T standard, that same year the Communications Law was approved, that pretends to influence the effective exercise to the right of the communication. In this new framework, DTT would contribute to the promotion and development of a range of programs with better quality of picture and sound, allowing the availability of more frequencies thanks to the digital dividend.

The analogue blackout is scheduled for December 31, 2018, however there remain uncertainties about growth prospects and the supposed benefits that will go along with the DTT [1] because the digital television affects the model of production and the business of content providers [2] opening the market to new operators to democratize access to information, although the process may derive in concentration and loss of diversity like it happened in Spain [3].

Without proper safeguards the implantation of the DTT can cause restriction of the political and social pluralism expanding the number of channels without qualifying the content or not allowing diversification of formats, programs, and actors in the system. Beyond the technological aspirations, it should not be forgotten that the contents are true axis of the digitalization of television [4].

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_45

International experiences as Freeview that provide DTT in the UK suggest a line of development that would likely set the course of the sector in the coming years and that demands more interactivity and diversity of the offer. Otherwise, the idea of DTT as innovation can be questioned by not improving the choices offered either through the channels of cable, satellite or IPTV [5].

To consolidate a system of commercialized television is obvious that in Ecuador, it can replicate the tendency to exclude a significant portion of the population that depends on the open television signal [6]. The transition to the DTT requires an increase of hours to meet specific niche audience, but the structure and resulting offer does not guarantee a diversification of the sector. The key to the transformation of the audiovisual ecosystem depends on the diversity of access, content and services open to the public that really meet the needs of users [7].

"Digital technology has allowed the reduction in size and cost of information and communication equipment; It shortened the time required to collect, edit, compile, store and retrieve content "[8] but it does not mean that the demands attributed to the technological modernization process are made.

Thus, the Communications Law of Ecuador, *in spanish Ley Orgánica de Cominucación de Ecuador* (LOC) aims to develop, protect and regulate, at the administrative level, the exercise of communication rights constitutionally established. For that, Article 60 provides that television content is classified as: informative, opinion, formative / educational / cultural, entertainment, sports; and advertising; and Article 97 states that the audiovisual media, whose signal is of domestic origin, would give in a progressive way at least 60% of its daily programming in the schedule suitable for all ages, the spread of content in domestic production, including 10% of independent production.

The Technical Committee for the Implementation of DTT (CITDT) of Ecuador reported in March 2012 that in the emission of the television stations foreign productions are favored [9], which recommended the dubbing of content, change of formats, recording in HD, light, scenery and even makeup to enhance national audiovisual production and have sufficient hours of programming under the new regulatory framework [1].

In this first analysis of the impact of the new public policy in communication, it is evidenced the need to know what the composition of content on the Ecuadorian television and determine, prospectively, if it is able to meet the legal standard required by the LOC, in order to seize the opportunities of the digital transition guaranteeing the rights of the audience.

According to analysis applied in other Latin American countries, it is known that television reproduces logics of market that dominate foreign contents with little room for local production content, which negatively affects the development of the national audiovisual industry [10].

The hypotheses of the research are: 1) The offer of contents of Ecuadorian television is not balanced in relation to the classification that disposes the LOC; 2) The proportion of own production of the Ecuadorian private and confiscated television stationsis¹ is less than 50% of the total hours broadcasted and must improve fundamentally in contents of fiction.

2 Methodology

The methodology is qualitative and quantitative. Statistics published by the International Center for Advanced Studies in Communications for Latin America (CIESPAL) were reviewed, as well as the reports of 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 of the Latin American Observatory of Television Fiction (OBITEL) and data from the Group of Contents of the Inter institutional Technical Committee for the introduction of the DTT. The statistics correspond to private and confiscated television stations, the information of public television "Ecuador TV" is not included because the orientation and funding are different than the purposes of commercial television. Furthermore, important informants representing private and state media were consulted to determine the willingness to comply with the regulations of the LOC.

It also quantified the time transmitted in private and confiscated television stations, in January 2015, between 6:00 am and 18:00, because the 60% of content suitable for all audiences to be met by national stations corresponds to this schedule.

3 Results

According to hours of content to be broadcasted on Ecuadorian television (Table 1) there is a clear imbalance in favor of entertainment, about two thirds are soap operas, movies, contests, reality shows, cartoons and children's programs, among others; third of hours shown between 2010 and 2013, are occupied by different genres of entertainment.

Genres	2010	2011	2012	2013	Media
Informative	18,0%	17,4%	19,5%	23,6%	19,5%
Of opinion	3,0%	2,6%	5,2%	4.4%	3,8%
Formative / educative / cultural	2,9%	0,6%	2,9%	5,5%	3,0%
Entertainment	67,8%	67,8%	61,6%	53.4%	62,7%
Sports	5,9%	8,0%	6,0%	6.1%	6,5%
Advertising	2,5%	3,6%	4,8%	7,0%	4,5%
Total	100,0%	100,0%	100,0%	100,0%	100,0%

Table 1. Contents in open Television, according to LOC

Source: Compiled from reports OBITEL 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014

The origin of programming (Table 2) from Monday through Friday is mostly national, weekends are foreign, local production of large operators is mainly news and sports or entertainment shows [1]. The composition of the programming, despite their high rating, does not meet the expectations that households have [11].

Ecuavisa, TC Televisión and Canal Uno lead the production of national content but the last two transmit the most game, entertainment and sports shows. The numbers for domestic fiction production are minimal (Table 3), nine out of ten premiered fiction contents are of foreign origin.

Station	Shedule	Monda	Monday - Friday		- Sunday
Station		Nat.	Foreign	Nat.	Foreign
Gama TV	6:00 - 18:00	46%	54%	52%	48%
Teleamazonas	6:00 - 18:00	72%	28%	33%	67%
RTS	6:00 - 18:00	63%	37%	29%	71%
Ecuavisa	6:00 - 18:00	79%	21%	60%	40%
TC Televisión	6:00 - 18:00	78%	22%	50%	50%
Canal UNO	6:00 - 18:00	50%	50%	63%	37%
Average		65%	35%	48%	52%

Table 2. Origin of programming 2015

Source: Compiled from programming schedules to January 2015

Table 3. Origin of fiction premieres

Years	Variables	Ecuador	International*	Totals
	Hours	305:09	2288:17	2593:26
2010	%	11,8	88,2	100,0
	Hours	189:00	3060:00	3249:00
2011	%	5,8	94,2	100,0
	Hours	234:00	2686:45	2920:45
2012	%	8,0	92,0	100,0
	Hours	530:24	3314:02	3844:26
2013	%	13,8	86,2	100,0

^{*2010} and 2011 correspond to Latin America; 2012 and 2013 correspond to Iberoamerica Source: Compiled from reports OBITEL 2011, 2012, 2013

The high costs of production to feed the program schedule tend to impose the criterion of favoring the "productions based on contests, talk shows, music, and content of low complexity of production, among others. Additionally, the cost of producing a soap opera in the country is higher than buying a foreign one" [1]. A problem identified by independent producers is the lack of resources to produce quality. Although there are qualified staff, the general environmental conditions are not adequate, especially for the low financial capacity of audiovisual production and the radio and television companies that prevent from modifying the dominant tendency in the national audiovisual structure.

In the interviews done, it was established that some stations seek to ensure programming that reaches the percentage set in the LOC. In his argument the interviewees underline that the national levels are not the taste or habits of the public, claiming that audiences are still not used to seeing national television, or even they underestimate the local content, so it will be difficult to meet the demands of a new regulatory framework.

The interviewees point as an urgent solution; putting together a competitive and balanced program schedule with new offer of native programming. That is the case of, for example, the RTU station, which has local production and purchases content. The channel is broadcast the percentage of production required by the LOC, covering spaces with domestic production, but it has not yet invested in equipment for quality programs at an international level. The opinion of the technicians from RTU is there is not enough Ecuadorian production to meet the proportion, either trained staff or a national system for the dramatic production.

The proportion of 60% of national production in the usual emissions, media of higher capacity may do it, but it is possible that small media do not meet the standards established in the Law. An opportunity to do so, recognized by the heads of media interviewed, is the specialized educational television and university production. Most interviewees acknowledge that the information and cultural programming produced by institutions of higher education, among others, can have a major role in the new audiovisual ecosystem, as long as schools take a proactive role of professional quality audiovisual production.

The tendency in Ecuador is that the channels broadcast in high definition, which involves technical quality of content. To ensure a sufficient service for the multiplication of channels provided with DTT, the Group Contents of CITDT works with the ministries of Education, Culture and the National Film Board of Ecuador to make a national repository of educational, cultural and health production available to the operators.

4 Discussion and conclusions

The offer of Ecuadorian television is unbalanced in relation to the classification of content disposed by the LOC. There is a much higher portion of entertainment at the expense of genres that could help the development of the community. Ecuadorian television, viewed from its contents, it is not plural and democratic. This situation requires changes that in front of the implementation of DTT will demand that the work in multidisciplinary teams is oriented to various genres and topics.

Television does not respond to social demands, a situation that would lead to the analogue blackout takes place in adverse conditions, from the point of view of the needs of viewers, especially if we consider the economic structures of the existing operators in the audiovisual market.

The proportion of the own production of the private and confiscated Ecuadorian television stations, in January 2015 is on average 56%. Some stations meet the proportion disposed by the LOC: 60%, but their production do not cover all genres, revealing a high degree of homogeneity in the offer.

The production of fiction, important in the demand for new content, such as soap operas, is basically foreign, resulting that only 10% of all hours broadcasted is of Ecuadorian origin. Market rationality prevails, despite the legislative change in programming policy. Facing an uncertain scenario and the lack of clarity regarding the business model in emerging screens and incipient consumption practices like the Internet, national operators tend to seek competition by reducing production costs, which eventually means less fiction, more content of syndication and dominance of the foreign product.

Ecuadorian television model, whose origin is historically commercial, favors unrelated contents to national realities, it clearly imposes the domain of the audiovisual environment of potential audiovisual of the region like Mexico.

The alternative to this dependence appears to be in the agreements between local authorities, regional and the state to link the entertainment industry and the educational system, and, therefore to fulfill the existing audiovisual lack. In this sense, it is vital the role of the media that are called to meet the demands of the public with quality and specialized content [12].

National audiences expect that there will be changes in the contents of information, education, and culture. But it's worth mentioning that the potential new entrants to the industry, the role of internet and mobile communication devices or second screens imply a change of what we call broadcast TV to a complex environment and probably unbalanced because by incorporating other services and digital content many sectors of the population may be marginalized.

Finally, the analysis of the interviews show that all stations are working to meet national production percentage, but they should improve the relation by genres because the highest proportion in television are entertainment content. There are opportunities for independent producers to develop content in genres such as education, culture and political information.

The first hypothesis is accepted: The offer of contents of Ecuadorian television is not balanced in relation to the classification that disposes the LOC. But it should be noted that new actors such as educational institutions or groups as CIESPAL can fuel the demand for quality that the manufacturers of the media try to transform the structure of the existing programming. The second hypothesis is rejected to the data in Chart 2

The conformation of a national repository of content that responds to the plan of the Group of Contents CITDT, may favor the operators with a bank of cultural, educational, health and technology programs to renew and diversify programming.

The future scenario is an open field of opportunities and challenges. Some willingness and commitment is found in Ecuador to meet the LOC but there is a lack of policies to guide and encourage coordinated actions by companies and new actors in the communication system. The effectiveness and use of current technological and legal changes will depend mainly on the ability of agreements between companies, society and government. The LOC is only the first step.

4.1 Footnotes

¹In Ecuador, there are still bided television stations Gama TV and TC Television, which belonged to the owners of failed banks in the national financial crisis of 1999. As a result of this economic crisis, the stations were confiscated by the state in return of guarantee deposits. TV stations with national coverage are seven: four private (RTC, Ecuavisa, Teleamazonas and Canal UNO), a public (Ecuador TV) and the two confiscated ones.

5 References

- CITDT GAC.: "Informe CITDT GAC 2012 001"; retrieved on January 4, 2013, from http://www.telecomunicaciones.gob.ec/wp-content/uploads/downloads/2013/02/Informe-CITDT-GAC-2012-001.pdf, (2012).
- Hernández, M.: "Estado del arte, generación y uso del conocimiento sobre televisión digital terrestre (TDT) en Colombia", en *Revista Razón y Palabra*. Núm. 70. México: ITESM Campus Estado de México, Proyecto Internet; retrieved on October 30, 2013, from <u>http://www.razonypalabra.org.mx/N/N70/14%20Hernandez_revisado.pdf</u>, (2009).

- Bustamante, E.: "La TDT como laboratorio de tendencias y escenarios". En Albornoz, Luis y García-Leiva, María (Eds.) (2012): La televisión digital terrestre. Buenos Aires: La Crujía, (2012).
- 4. Román, M.: "TDT en España y dividendo digital", en *Revista Estudio sobre el Mensaje Periodístico*. Vol. 18, número especial noviembre 2012. Madrid: Universidad Complutense; retrieved on October 30, 2013, from http://revistas.ucm.es/index.php/ESMP/article/view/40959, pp. 801 809, (2012).
- Bustamante, E.: "La TDT: Barómetro de la política... y de la investigación", en *Revista Sphera Pública*. Investigación en España sobre la TDT. Nº 9. Murcia: Quaderna Editorial, pp. 7 14, (2009).
- Hellín, P. Rojo, P. and San Nicolás, C.: "La televisión digital terrestre en Murcia". Sevilla: Comunicación Social, (2009).
- Fernández, F. and Goldenberg, S.: "Aplicaciones interactivas para la televisión digital en Chile", en *Revista Cuadernos de Información*. Núm. 22, – 2, Santiago de Chile: Universidad Católica, pp. 6 – 17, (2008).
- Arroyo, L., Becerra, M., García, A. and Santamaría, O.: "Cajas Mágicas: El renacimiento de la televisión pública en América Latina". Madrid: Tecnos, (2013).
- 9. Orozco, G. and Vassallo, M. (Coord.): "Memoria social y ficción televisiva en los países Iberoamericanos: OBITEL 2013". Porto Alegre: Editora Meridional, (2013).
- Crovi, D., Toussaint, F.: "El incierto futuro de la TDT mexicana". En Badillo, A. y Sierra, F. (Eds.) (2011): La transición a la televisión digital terrestre en Iberoamérica: diagnóstico y perspectiva. Quito: CIESPAL, (2011).
- 11. Bucheli, H.: "Estudio del impacto socio económico de la implementación de la televisión digital terrestre en Ecuador". Quito: CIESPAL, (2009).
- 12. Sierra, F.: "Televisión digital terrestre y cultura audiovisual en España. Nuevos retos del servicio público", en *Revista Mexicana de Ciencias Políticas y Sociales*, vol. LI, núm. 206, mayo-agosto, México: Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, pp. 95-103, (2009).

Looking for a place in social media without getting trapped in networks

Xosé López García, Ana Isabel Rodríguez Vázquez, Xosé Soengas.

¹University of Santiago de Compostela, Avenue Castelao, s/n-North Campus, 15782-Santiago de Compostela, Spain xose.lopez.garcia@usc.es, aisabelrdoriguezvazquez@gmail.com, jose.soengas@usc.es

Abstract. Journalism today is looking for new ways to ensure its survival in a context of reconfiguration of media and communication processes. It tests several options, even it is aware that it is at risk of being trapped in some dimensions of the digital world. As the change progresses, there arise renewed proposals, placed between traditional and huge technological companies and social networks (namely, Google and Facebook), which appear as symptoms of a new era. And, while we wait for the hypothetical arrival of that improved background, both media and journalism look for their own room in social networks (from journalism in streaming to slow journalism). Their main goal is to experiment and to ensure their role in the networked society¹.

Keywords: Journalism, media trends, social networks, Networked Society.

1 Introduction

As the construction of the new era of the Information and Knowledge Society advances, within a changing and retrievable background, the media ecosystem offers a new scene. At present, journalism remains as a social communication technique whose main goal is to provide citizens with useful information for daily life. While there are many developments in communication service (mobile communication,

¹ The present paper belongs to the research Project of the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness, entitled "Innovation and Development of cybermedia in Spain. Architecture of the media interactivity on multiple devices: formats of information, conversation, and services." Reference: CSO2012-38467-C03-03. Also, this text has been elaborated within the framework of the works developed by Novos Medios Research Group, which are funded with the "Programa de Consolidación e Estruturación de Unidades de investigación Competitivas" (reference GPC2014/049) of the Regional Ministry of Culture and Education from the Xunta de Galicia.

mobile broadband) and the Internet penetration have been steadily [1]², the uses and consumptions of information change, since news have also done it, due to the emergence of mobile communications and the new social dimension (social networks environment) [2]. Social networking sites become the nerve centre of communication processes.

The above-mentioned report [3] places social networks as the second leading media among the Internet users under 35 –in Spain-, only behind traditional television. Platforms like Twitter and Facebook have exceeded printed press as the main information source, even users between 35 and 44. Trends indicate a progressive increase of social networks as information source during the course of this year, confirmed in the successive updates of this report. Also, it should be noted that, in Spain, some studies estimate at about 82 per cent the web users from 18-55 consuming social networks, which represents more than 14 million users [4]. According to another work, the estimated number at the end of 2014 was over 17 million users [5]. Being Facebook, Google+, and Twitter the most employed networks.

The data regarding the number social network users around the world have led the media, both digital and traditional, to design strategies to meet their new challenges, which not only include being and participating in social networks, but also looking for formulas to maximise their social media activity. The main goal of the media is to search for an space in which generate, through journalistic messages, users flows from social networks and; but, at the same time, they are trying to be able to act without getting trapped by the main companies created around these successful networks.

The main media and many journalists occupying positions of responsibility in cybermedia claim that, in the current setting, it is impossible to live on the margins of social networks but, at the same time, they are looking for strategies in order to maintain the essential elements of journalism [6].

2 Theoretical approaches

The phenomenon of social networking, journalism and the media has been in the spotlight of many scientific work of our academic environment: many papers on digital networks management are compiled in two notebooks from the *Revista Latina de Comunicación* [7], as well as some sociological analysis on networks [8]; many aspects that link networks and journalism [9]; and research on the way journalists use social networks [10]. At international level, it should be highlighted the work of the Reuters Institute, in which many international scholars participate, and the Latin-American studies from Alejandro Rost [11], European researchers as Kaplan y

² A team coordinated by Alberto Ureña and integrated by Elena Valdecasa, María Pilar Ballestero and Olga Ureña has produced the report of the Observatorio Nacional de las Telecomunicaciones y la Sociedad de la Información.

Haenlein [12], and North-American scholars [13] on the use of Facebook, among others.

The main researchers working on social networks have been united in stating that this phenomenon has a great power on present societies. Their works note that the virtual world represents another step forward on the road of technological, social, and economic changes that are transforming the interactions between humans [14]. This involves changes in the communication processes and in journalism itself. The popularity of these networks, their incidence on news consumption, and the number of users continue to grow in 2015 [15]³.

This is interesting for our analysis, since the change process in journalism, its deep transformation [16], and the result of the development of the present information technologies, have given rise to a complex communication environment. It is a highly dynamic scene that is feedback by a heavy scheme of interconnected nodes, which instantly update web contents [17]. Understanding the role journalism is looking for in the new scenario, requires the analysis on the boundaries of journalism in the networked society [18], which seek to establish the reference frameworks for journalism in the networked society and in the social networking space.

3 New challenges

The rise of social networks and the changes in the news consumption makes unavoidable the debate on the boundaries of journalism in the new setting, and the way of addressing the new challenges. There is no question that the digital scenario has opened up new opportunities for journalism that, via its professional culture developed for more than a century, can create contents with features of the new technological environment.

Multimedia [19], interactivity [20], participation [21]; customization [22]; memory or documentation [23], mobility and the use of new formats [24], are some of the main dimensions that should be considered by the new media.

In order to provide opportunities for the development of the defining features of cybermedia, the major networks are offering innovative resources and initiatives for the media. For example, in May 2015, some media started to publish contents directly on Facebook thank to its service Instant Articles; and, in October 2015, Google presented its project to accelerate the mobile web with many newspapers, including the Spanish El País⁴. This rapprochement between news companies and social networks has opened up a renewed path to intervene in the networked scenario,

³ Studies carried out by the Pew Research Center in 2015 are available in: <u>http://www.pewresearch.org/topics/social-networking/</u>. The study on the social use of media (2005-2015) is of particular relevance with respect to the evolution of the media and social networks (Social Media Usage: 2005-2015).

⁴ El País reported on the project with a piece of news in which assured that digital press reinvent itself with a new open and universal format. Accessible on: <u>http://tecnologia.elpais.com/tecnologia/2015/10/06/actualidad/1444160150_620828.html</u>. Consulted: 5th November 2015.

especially in connection with the use and consumption of information from mobile devices.

While awaiting concrete projects and results of these channels for collaboration, it seems that a new phase begins, in which the benefits of media being present in social networks will have to be analysed. What is for sure is that the media doing journalism will continue to provide various proposals, going from live news –both native digital media and traditional media-, to the so-called "slow journalism" or in-depth journalism, with long pieces and careful stories.

From the journalistic field, there is a deep conviction that the future of the profession is based on telling good stories [25] with the current technologies and for connected citizens, who have access to messages from a wide range of sources and need to have the best information possible to take daily decisions.

Good non-fiction stories continue to confirm the central core of journalism, but the challenge today is to get clear and effective pieces, using all the available technologies and resources. The application of some of the current technologies, formats, platforms, broadcast channels and receiving devices, has to be at the service of that goal, since the essence of journalism still lies in what is happening.

Nevertheless, the debate is still opened and it appears that there will be a coexistence of diverse initiatives: hyperlocal and global media, both with sustainable enterprises. In both cases, the boundaries of journalism, the participation in social networks, and the new ways of telling non-fiction stories are some of the main debates of professional associations, the media, as well as some journalists and researchers from the field of Communication Science.

4 Windows in social networks

The presence in social networks (RRSS) is common to the vast majority of journalistic initiatives on the network. An analysis on the use of social networks by the main Spanish media shows the strategies of media for getting closer to their publics, as well as the users engagement through their participation in RRSS. To carry out this study, a sample of the 30 main media has been selected: the ten newspapers with the largest number of readers (Marca, El País, As, El Mundo, La Vanguardia, La Voz de Galicia, Mundo Deportivo, El Periódico, ABC and Sport); the ten radio broadcasters with the largest number of listeners (Ser, Onda Cero, Cope, RNE, Rac1, Catalunya Radio, esRadio, Canal Sur Radio, Radio Euskadi and Radio Galega); and the ten television channels with the largest audience share (Telecinco, Antena3, TV3, Aragón TV, La1 of RTVE, TVG, Canal Sur, EITB2, La Sexta and Cuatro), according to the consumption data of the EGM and Kantar Media –first semester 2015-. On each of these cases, there has been a monitoring of the presence of the medium -its main brand- in the most popular social networks: Facebook, Twitter, Google+ and Youtube. Also, it has been opened the option "another networks" in order to explore the specific offers of each medium in emergent RRSS, but finally it has not been considered because only a few media were using RRSS as Instagram or Pinterest.

Looking for a Place in Social Media ...

The positioning strategies in social networks of the observed media are not entirely homogeneous and differences depend, basically, on the support. The data obtained⁵ show that the Spanish press and television present a clear trend towards two social networks: Facebook and Twitter. The total of selected media has a strategic visibility endorsed by the number of users and the largest number of followers is located on Facebook (the press has 4.977.131 followers and the television has 19.083.218). The main bet of the radio is Twitter, since all the stations have a specific #hashtag, but not all of them have accounts on Facebook. Broadcasters such as Rac1, Canal Sur Radio and Radio Euskadi do not have their own profile. The visibility strategy of the radio also coincides with the attitude of the public, since the RRSS with the largest number of users is Twitter in those stations with profile and #hashtag (1.930.782 users have the radio on this social network and 728.911 users have it on Facebook).

There are also strategic differences regarding concentration and diversification of the media of the sample set with more than one profile on Facebook (13 for the different editions and many specific accounts such as Voz Natura). The spread of #hashtag on Twitter is the most common factor of the analysed media (El País has 49 secondary accounts, El Mundo 61, ABC 32, Cadena Ser 101, Onda Cero 77 and La Sexta 69). But there are many media that opts for regrouping and concentration in one brand (that is the case of the newspaper Sport, of the radio stations Cope, esRadio, Radio Euskadi and Radio Galega, as well as the TVG).

Also, data reveal that the strategic power of media in social networks is more pronounced in the consolidated networks, and is reduced in the emergent ones, such as Instagram and Pinterest. This last network is only used by 6 of the 30 analysed media (Marca, ABC, El Periódico, RNE, La1 de RTVE and Antena3).

Figure 1 and tables 1, 2, 3 and 4 show the total number of followers of the 30 analysed media and a breakdown of each social network:



Fig. 1. Social networks users (RRSS) by medium.

⁵ Analysis performed by Cruz Negreira during the first week of November 2015, within the framework of the research project carried out by Novos Medios.



Table1. Social networks users (RRSS) in press.

Table 2. Social networks users (RRSS) in the radio.



Table 3. Social networks users (RRSS) in TV.



Considering social networks, convergence is more evident in press, while the radio offer is not still adapted to the new scenario. This phenomenon can be mainly seen in the use of networks where pictures play the main role: if almost 100% of printed media has their own YouTube channel and an open account on Instagram (only ABC is not present in YouTube and La Voz de Galicia does not have Instagram), radio stations still live on the margins of these two RRSS: only Cadena Ser, Onda Cero and Catalunya Radio are active in YouTube, and the only broadcaster with Instagram is Cadena Ser (373.529 followers in Facebook, 852.000 in Twitter, 4.108 in Google+, 10.405 in YouTube and 9.851 in Instagram).

5 Conclusion

At present, the media developing journalism and professional groups are united by their common interest in the search for new paths for its survival within a process of reconfiguration of the media scene. This shared desire is manifested in the products essays and the intervention formulas in the communication background, in order to meet the challenges of the Information and Knowledge Society. In particular, these challenges are related to the evolution of mobile communications and the widespread use of social networks in communication processes.

Both media and journalists agree that, in the third decade of the third millennium, they cannot be on the fringes of social networks, but at the same time, are aware of the risk of getting trapped in some dimensions of the conversational process of the digital streets. Hence their shy partnership agreements with the main social networks for experimenting renewed communication formulas in the networked society.

As the change process and the reconfiguration in the media scene advance, renewed proposals emerge in traditional industries and the main technological companies and social networks (especially, Google and Facebook). These initiatives seem to be symptoms of a new era for the content industry. For the time being, the goal is to test and open new paths to ensure the survival of journalism within a scenario in which communication is ubiquitous.

From this analysis it was firstly shown that the connection, conversation, and participation strategy, which strengthens the "social version" of traditional media, is still concentrated on a double scene of fortitude and leadership: Facebook and Twitter. Nevertheless, the strategic weight of these two networks is different depending on the medium: while the press and television find the support of their users on Facebook, the radio has Twitter as its main ally in the digital context. But there is a lack of homogeneity in the use of social networks is. Mass media does not have the same strategies when begging for concentration or diversity of accounts and profiles –the main brand or opening various specific accounts depending on the section and program-; and the convergence levels applied to RRSS where pictures are at the fore (press and radio). Meanwhile, newspapers are beginning to offer new video and photography services via YouTube channels and Instagram accounts. On the contrary, radio stations are resistant to experiment with image resources and do not have visibility on these networks.

This work confirms the trend of the high level of users engagement with the media through, essentially, Facebook (33.608.998), but also the emergence of Instagram (976.462), where there are innovative experiences and professional profiles in the field of journalism.

References

- 1. ONTSI: La Sociedad en Red. Informe annual 2014, http://www.ontsi.red.es/ontsi/es/estudios-informes/informe-anual-la-sociedad-en-red-2014edici%C3%B3n-2015
- Reuters Institut: Digital News Report 2015, https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/sites/default/files/Reuters%20Institute%20Digital%2 0News%20Report%202015_Full%20Report.pdf
- 3. Reuters Institut: Digital News Report 2014 España, http://www.unav.edu/documents/3786985/0/Reuters-Institute-Digital-News-Report-2014-Espana.pdf
- IAB: VI Estudio Redes Sociales de IAB Spain, http://www.iabspain.net/wpcontent/uploads/downloads/2015/01/Estudio Anual Redes Sociales 2015.pdf
- 5. Online Business School: Social Media 2015, http://landings.projectmanagement.obsedu.com/informe-social-media-2015
- Kovach, B., Rosentiel, T.: The Elements of Journalism: What Newspeople Should Know and the Public Should Expect. Crown Publishers, New York (2001)
- Campos, F. (coord.): Investigación y gestión de las redes digitales. Cuadernos Artesanos de Comunicación, nº 50-51. Latina de Comunicación Social, Tenerife (2013)
- 8. Requena, F. (ed.): Análisis de redes sociales. Orígenes, teorías y aplicaciones. CIS, Madrid (2003)
- 9. Noguera, J.M.: Redes y periodismo. UOC, Barcelona (2012)
- Herrero, E.: Los periodistas y las redes sociales en España: del 11M al 15M (2004-2011). Universidad Carlos III, Madrid (2013)
- 11. Rost, A.: Modelos de uso y gestión de redes sociales en el periodismo (2012)
- 12. Kaplan, A.M., Haenlein, M.: Social media: back to the roots and back to the future. In: Journal of Systems and Information Technology, vol. 14, pp. 101-104 (2012)
- 13. Hampton, K., Session, L.; Marlow, C.: Why most Facebook users get more than they give The effect of Facebook "power users" on everybody else (2012)
- 14. Christakis, N.A.; Fowler, J.: Conectados: El sorprendente poder de las redes sociales y cómo nos afectan. Taurus, Barcelona (2010)
- 15. Pew Research Center: Mobil Messaging and Social Media (2015)
- Casero, A.: Contenidos periodísticos y nuevos modelos de negocio: evaluación de servicios digitales. In: El Profesional de la Información, vol. 21, pp. 341-346 (2012)
- 17. Cruz, J., Suárez, J.C.: Ética de la participación ciudadana en los discursos periodísticos digitales. In: El Profesional de la Información, vol. 21, pp. 375-380 (2012)
- 18. Carlson, M.; Lewis, S.C. (eds.): Boundaries of Journalism. Professionalism, Practices and Participation. Routledge, London-New York (2015)
- 19. Deuze, M.: What is multimedia journalism?. In: Journalism Studies, vol. 5, pp. 139-152 (2004)
- 20. Scolari, C.A.: Hipermediaciones. Elementos para una teoría de la Comunicación Digital Interactiva. Gedisa, Barcelona (2008)
- Masip, P., Guallar, J., Suau, J., Ruiz, C., Peralta, M.: News and Social Networks audience behavior. In: El Profesional de la Información, vol. 24, pp. 363-370 (2015)

- Thurman, N.: Making "The daily me": technology, economics and habit in the mainstream assimilation of personalized news. In: Journalism: Theory, Practice & Criticism, vol. 12, pp. 395-415 (2011)
- Guallar, J.: Prensa digital en 2011-2012. In: Baiget, T., Guallar, J. (coord.): Anuario ThinkEPI 2013. Análisis de tendencias en Información y Comunicación. EPI SCP, Barcelona (2013)
- 24. Westlund, O.: The production and consumption of mobile news. In Goggin, G., Hjorth, L. (eds.): The mobile media companion. Routledge, New York (2014)
- 25. Boynton, R.S.: El Nuevo periodismo. Conversaciones sobre el oficio con los mejores escritores estadounidenses de no ficción. Ediciones de la Universidad de Barcelona, Barcelona (2015)

Competing Tourist Destinations and their Positioning on the Social Medium Facebook: Ecuador, Colombia and Pern

María-Magdalena Rodríguez-Fernández¹, Clide Rodríguez-Vázquez¹, Christian-Stalin Viñán-Merecí², Valentín-Aleiandro Martínez-Fernández¹,

¹ Department of Economic Analysis and Business Administration University of A Coruna, Spain ² Department of Business Studies. Section Tourism and Hospitality University Técnica Particular de Loja, Ecuador {María-Magdalena Rodríguez-Fernández, Clide Rodríguez-Vázquez, Christian-Stalin Viñán-Merecí, Valentín-Alejandro Martínez-Fernández, magdalena.rodriguez@udc.es, crodriguezv@udc.es, csvinan@utpl.edu.ec, valejand@udc.es

Abstract. Today's tourist industry is characterised by its increasingly profitable and competitive nature, forcing destinations to seek forms of differentiation in order to attract greater numbers of tourists. However, this is challenging task, and tourism promoters and managers are required to plan and design effective marketing strategies tailored to communicate and highlight the tourist attractions of their destinations. In this sense, adapting to the new scenario created by social media has revolutionized communication. Destinations are now required to make full use of the advantages these communication tools offer. The aim of this research is to analyse the tourist positioning of Ecuador, Colombia and Peru on Facebook. The conclusions indicate that the countries the social medium analysed should improve their optimisation strategies in order to take full advantage of the interactive potential Facebook offers, thereby optimising their future position as tourist destinations.

Keywords: Tourist destination, Promotion, Positioning, Social Medium, Facebook.

1 Introduction

Tourist destinations compete for differentiation, and in this sense promoters and managers are required to design suitable communication strategies, tailored to securing strategic positions in the tourist's mind in order to secure higher visitor numbers as well as increased revenue and investment for the country in question, with the corresponding positive impact on its economy.

In order to achieve this, it is vital to realise that times have changed; the incursion of Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs) has radically altered the way

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_47

travellers access information, plan their trips and share their experiences [1] [2] [3]. It has also led to a change in the pattern of both tourist supply and demand.

In terms of supply, social media, as online platforms for the dissemination of content and communicating and sharing information, have revolutionized the way tourist destinations are promoted.

Trends among tourists have also changed with regards to demand. They are now better-informed and more easily-influenced, unquestionably due to the impact of social media, which has converted Internet users into authentic protagonists, as their opinions and recommendations are extremely useful in obtaining more detailed information as to preferred tourist destinations and thereby contribute to the decision to choose one destination over another. In the light of this changing scenario, this study analyses the case of three destinations in South America and which compete with one another in order to differentiate themselves and attract the greatest number of tourists: Ecuador, Colombia and Peru. They all have two things in common: a coastline and mountains, and therefore sun and sand and inland tourism form the basis for the most appealing products for visitors.

This study aims to determine their position on one of the most popular social media - Facebook – in order to discover whether they are making optimum use of this tool. Should this prove not to be the case, it will also define those aspects that must be reconsidered in order to enhance this position.

2 Tourist Destinations and Promotion on Social Media

According to Bigné [4], a tourist destination is a combination of tourist products capable of offering tourists an integrated experience [...], which can be subjectively interpreted by consumers in accordance with their travel itinerary, cultural knowledge, reason for travel, level of education and prior experience.

Ejarque [5] defines it as a series of resources that are sufficiently attractive to induce travellers to make the necessary efforts to travel there. From a demand perspective, Bull [6] classifies it as the city, region or country visitors travel to, considering it to be their main objective, therefore offering a vision of a precisely defined geographical area.

In terms of supply, a tourist destination comprises a set of tourism facilities and services made up of multiple attributes that together generate its appeal [7]. These attributes include historic sites, beaches, mountain ranges, parks, landscapes, etc. In other words, all the services and facilities that satisfy tourists' needs when travelling.

The definitions given above reveal some of the defining characteristics of a destination and the reasons for the tourists' choice, focusing in particular on attributes associated with subjectivity, experiences, efforts, objectives, etc. This implies that each destination is open to multiple interpretations by visitors, which will vary in accordance with the type of tourism they are seeking, their expectations and previous experiences, etc. In short, the tourist destination is a series of factors that facilitate a tourist experience in a certain place and satisfies tourists' needs.

It is therefore essential for tourism promoters and managers to dedicate time and effort to planning communication strategies in line with the nature of the destination they represent. Furthermore, they must be aware that online promotion, including the use of social media, currently plays a crucial role, as it allows for more interactive communication with consumers. Social media platforms have thus become a new means for the dissemination and promotion of tourist destinations. Recent studies have shown the rising numbers of visitors that generate content on 2.0 platforms and use the information available in these media when planning their trips.

A social medium is understood to be a group of people with some type of shared interests who communicate online, where participants may or may not know one another personally, and where the network also allows for the sharing of knowledge and experiences through the use of Internet-based applications [8].

The use of social media by tourist organisations and destinations provides them with a greater insight into travellers' needs and preferences. Social media have therefore become an endless source of information, converting them into an essential tool for countries. In this sense, Kang and Schuett [9], Munar and Steen [10] and Hudson and Thal [11] claim that a significant part of the image today's consumers have of a destination, together with their assessment of it and decision to visit, is constructed via the Internet and the social media in particular.

As Mich and Baggio [12] have stated, *Facebook* is currently the most popular social medium [13] [14]. Indeed, it is positioned as the principal tool in the online tourist industry and is the most popular with tourists at all stages of the travel experience: before, during and after their trip.

3 Competing Tourist Destinations: Ecuador, Colombia and Peru

The scope of this study extends to three countries situated in the West of South America. They compete with one another in the tourism industry, and all three have sufficient tourism attractions, including coastal and mountain destinations, to be able to position themselves at the forefront of the industry. Furthermore, their governments undertake specific actions aimed at taking advantage of the resources that identify, differentiate and distinguish these destinations. Below is a brief description of the characteristics of these destinations.

	ECUADOR
Official Name	Republic of Ecuador.
Located	Located in the Northwest of South America and bordering with
	Colombia, Peru and the Pacific Ocean.
Altitude/Extension	Extension 270.670 km ² with an altitude of 2850 meters.
Climate	The climate is tropical, with temperatures of 50°F to 70°F in the mountains, 60°F to 80°F on the coast. In the rain forest the weather is constant: rainy, humid and warm. The Galapagos Islands: sunny between December and May although the temperature drops from June to November.
Population	14,483,499.

Table 1. Destinations

Economic Activity	Oil makes up 40% of all exports, in addition to bananas, flowers, cocoa, shrimps, sugar cane, rice, cotton, corn, palmitos, coffee,
	wood and tourism.
Places of Interest	Quito is called 'the Face of God' Guayaquil is known as 'the Pearl
	of the Pacific; Cuenca is the third largest region and the Galapagos
Language	Spanish
Observations	Home to the UNESCO, Ohanaq Ñan World Heritage Site
	COLOMBIA
Official Name	Republic of Colombia
Located	It is located at the northern end of South America, bordering to the
	north with the Republic of Panama and the Caribbean Sea, to the
	East with the republics of Venezuela and Brazil, to the south by the
	republics of Peru and Ecuador, and to the west by the Pacific Ocean.
Altitude/Extension	Extension 2,070,408 km ² with an altitude of 5,550 meters.
Climate	A warm chimate with average temperatures of around 73.2 F which covers 80% of the extension of the country
Population	47.662.000.
Economic Activity	Oil and coal production, production of gold, emerald, silver and
, ,	platinum, flowers, coffee, sugar cane, bananas, textiles, food,
	beverages, automobiles, rubber, hospitality and tourism.
Places of Interest	The historic city of Cartegena has been declared a UNESCO World
	Heritage Site; St. Martha for having in a single destination: Sierra
	Nevada mountain range, rain forest and coast. San Andres boasts
Language	Snanish
Observations	Home to the UNESCO Ohanag Nan World Heritage Site.
	PERU
Official Name	Republic of Peru
Located	Peru is located in the western part of South America. Its territory
	borders with Ecuador and Colombia to the north, with Brazil and
	Bolivia to the east, Chile to the south and the Pacific Ocean to the
A 14:4 J = / []4	west.
Altitude/Extension	Extension 1,285,215.0 km2 with an attitude of 2,500 meters.
Climate	The climate in the mountains is dry and temperate with major
	variations in temperatures during the course of the day. The north
	coast enjoys year-round sunshine, whilst on the central and southern
	coasts temperatures are mild.
Population	31,151,643.
Economic Activity	Primary Sector: Agriculture, Livestock Breeding, Fishing and
	Mining; Secondary Sector: Industry Tertiary Sector: Transport,
	Trade, Communications and Tourism.
Places of Interest	The inca Trail of the historic city of Cusco Machin Picchin or the
	Sacred City of the Incas and the Capital Lima
Language	Sacred City of the Incas and the Capital Lima. Spanish and Ouechua.

Source: Authors' own from tourist destination websites

4 Methodology

The online tool *LikeAlyzer* (http://www.likealyzer.com/) was used to analyse the position of Ecuador, Colombia and Peru as tourist destinations on the social medium *Facebook*. This decision was made for several reasons: firstly it allows for the measurement of the parameters of interest for the purpose of this study; secondly it analyses fan page efficiency; furthermore, it contributes to detecting problems and providing solutions; and lastly, it is available free of charge.

The procedure was based on identifying those government organisations that use Facebook to promote tourism, and secondly, on the observation of the corresponding fanpages in order to analyse the following parameters: Content, Interactivity and Visibility. It must be stated that the choice of these parameters is in line with a study carried out by Huertas, Setó and Míguez [15]. It was carried out between 13th October and 13th November 2015.

The aspects analysed in each item are listed below:

Content: Post format (photographs, videos, links, status, etc.); Post rate and Information type (suggestions, complaints, questions, acknowledgements, etc.)

Interactivity: Loyalty or engagement; User reactions and Fans' publications

Visibility: Number of followers or fans; Number of 'Likes'; Shares (the number of times a post has been shared); Post length; Timing (the time of day when most posts are uploaded); Hashtags and Favourite sites

Tourist Destinations	Url	Fan page
Ecuador	www.turismo.gob.ec	https://www.facebook.com
		/MinisterioTurismoEcuador
Colombia	www.mincit.gov.co/	https://www.facebook.com
		/MincomercioCo
Peru	www.mincetur.gob.pe/	https://www.facebook.com
		/minceturperu

Table 2. Domain registration and Fan page

Source: Authors' own from tourist destination websites

5 Results: Content, Interactivity and Visibility

This section discusses the results obtained from the measurements of the parameters Content, Interactivity and Visibility.

Content should centre much of the tourist destinations' efforts to attract customers, and therefore fanpages should be the object of continuous updates. However, once the customers' attention has been caught, it is essential to work to maintain it and generate competitive advantages that will boost their loyalty and the destination's positioning.

The first results regarding the content of the *Facebook* pages analysed correspond to the item 'post format' and its influence. An initial approach confirms that images/photographs are the most uniformly and generalised means used to boost content visibility.

As shown in Table 3, Peru, which only employs 2 formats (photographs and videos) in order to disseminate its content, uses photographs for the vast majority of its posts (83.3%), compared with 79.2% in the case of Ecuador and Colombia, which use a wider variety of formats (photographs, videos and links).

In all three cases this type of post is the most common, although other formats such as videos and links also play an important role in disseminating content. However, in this study they do not have a particular impact.

Regarding 'post rate' (Table 3), Ecuador lies ahead of its competitors with an average of 19.86 posts per day. This would be extremely effective if the destination used this high rate to interact with its fans. However, the posts would appear to be of little interest, as the amount of feedback is low. In the other two cases, Colombia, with an average of 1.24 posts per day, effectively encourages user interaction, whilst Peru, with an average of 3.32 publications, also fails to generate sufficient response as it is unsuccessful in generating interest in its site.

	ECUADOR	COLOMBIA	PERU		
	Posts	per type	rate*		
Photos	79.2%	79.2%	83.3%		
Video	12.5%	8.3%	16.7%		
Link	8.3%	12.5%			
Status					
Others					
Posts per day					
	19.86	1.24	3.32		

Table 3. Posts per type, per day and rate

* At the time of analysis 13/11/2015. Source: Authors' own from Likealyzer

Finally, the analysis of 'information type' revealed that although acknowledgements, suggestions and comments were made, in all three cases the number of questions asked was very low. This prevents the pages from motivating their fans, fomenting visibility or obtaining key responses that may prove crucial in determining a destination's sales and marketing strategy.

The Interactivity parameter considered the degree of 'loyalty or engagement' (see Table 4), which measures reactions, 'Likes', comments and shares. In order to calculate engagement, *LikeAlyzer* divides the PTAT (*People Talking About This*) by the number of 'Likes'. According to this tool, in order to be successful on Facebook, the result must be higher than 7%.

A comparison of the number of people that react to the daily posts and the degree of engagement generated reveals that a high number of 'Likes', albeit not in all cases, leads to a higher degree of engagement. Therefore, Peru, which has more than 200,000 fans, only manages to generate a reaction of 2.84% (5,676 people) to its mere three posts a day, whilst Colombia, which has far fewer fans (22,406), manages 2.54% with a single post per day. In the case of Ecuador, which has 59,986 fans, the degree of engagement is over 3%, with its almost 60,000 fans reacting to its 19 posts per day.

However, it is true that the ratio is extremely low in relation to the number of posts, leading us to reflect that in addition to the actual number, it is also essential to monitor fans' reaction and their interaction with them.

	ECUADOR	COLOMBIA	PERU
Fans*	59,986	22,406	200,126
Post per day*	19.86	1.24	3.32
PTAT**	1,850	568	676
Engagement	3.08%	2.54%	2.84%

Table 4. Fans, Post per day, PTAT and Engagement

* At the time of analysis 13/11/2015; ** People talking about this of the last month. Source: Authors' own from *Likealyzer*

A further item that allows for the measurement of interactivity is users reactions or responses in relation to the types of posts published. Analysing the post types and comparing them with the reactions they produce provides the 'response rate'.

Figure 1. Page's top posts. Top 5 Posts. From 13/10/2015 to 13/11/2015



Source: Authors' own from Likealyzer

As shown in Figure 1, posts featuring photographs and videos are the most successful, generating the greatest number of responses and therefore interaction, especially 'Likes' followed by shares and lastly comments. There is a sole exception to this trend: four photographs published by Colombia over the last month and that have been shared 1,305 times and received 898 likes. In all cases the best reactions are generated by photographs posted during the following time bands: Ecuador between 3 p.m. and 6 p.m. (GMT); Colombia between 12 midnight and 3 a.m. (GMT); and Peru between 12 noon and 5 p.m. (GMT).

The final parameter analysed are the 'fans' posts on each fanpage' and the responses made by community managers. All destinations should encourage people to interact with them, enabling their fans to upload posts on their pages. However, neither Colombia or Peru allow access to their profiles, preventing a two-way flow of communication and thereby making interactivity and visibility far more complex and much less effective. The opposite is true in the case of Ecuador, which does allow its fans to post, although surprisingly it fails to respond to their comments. Indeed, the almost 60,000 followers of this fan page that tend to post comments particularly between 12 midnight and 2 a.m. (GMT), and especially on Fridays, never receive an answer. This side of communication is therefore neglected, which may eventually cause users to stop visiting the page.

In the case of Visibility, a series of parameters were analysed to determine the best ways to boost their presence on the Internet. In this sense, the 'number of fans' is the most significant criterion. Table 5 shows that Peru, with 200,126 fans, is the destination that generates the greatest amount of interest, followed, albeit at a considerable distance, by Ecuador with 59,986 and Colombia with 22,406. The results obtained by Peru are significant because the high number of fans indicates that much more could be done to position this country as a successful tourist destination.

The average number of 'Likes' comments or shares each post generates is another indicator that provides useful information in terms of visibility. Although Peru obtains a higher average (218) than the other two countries, particularly with the photographs posted between 12 noon and 3 p.m. (GMT), it could activate an even higher number of followers by launching updates and events of interest. Also worthy of note is the poor result obtained by Ecuador (an average of 33), considering that it has almost 60,000 fans and 20 posts per day. These results indicate that the posts fail to hold any particular appeal and generate practically no visibility.

Other aspects that contribute to measuring visibility are timing, post length, the hashtags used in the posts or the favourite sites for interaction.

Timing refers to the period of the day when the posts are most effective and motivate more followers. In this case, it must be noted that none of the destinations analysed achieve a satisfactory degree of coordination, although Ecuador and Peru come close. The analysis of another item, 'post length', reveals that in the case of all three destinations the number of characters varies between 100 and 500. This is highly valued by the fans, generating more and better quality interaction. Finally, the results obtained from the analysis of the hashtags and favourite sites indicate that all three destinations make use of the former, as it provides them with greater visibility on other social media such as *Twitter*. As for the latter, and although all three countries interact with more than 10 sites, Ecuador and Peru stand out due to the appropriateness of their choice of sites they regularly relate to, as they are closely linked to the world of travel and leisure, thereby boosting their visibility as destinations.

	ECUADOR	COLOMBIA	PERU
Fans*	59,986	22,406	200,126
Post per day*	19.86	1.24	3.32
Likes**, Comments & Shares	33	120	218
Timing	Way off	Off	Way off
Length of posts***	Between 100/500	Between 100/500	Between 100/500
Hashtags	Using	Using	Using
Pages liked	Yes>10	Yes>10	Yes>10

Table 5. Fans, post per day, likes, comments & Shares per post

* At the time of analysis 13/11/2015; **rate per post; *** characters. Source: Authors' own from *Likealyzer*

6 Conclusions

Early 21st century trends in travel and tourism reveal an increasingly competitive market in which two-way communication, proactive promotion, interaction with customers and enhanced visibility are all capable of generating major competitive advantages. If, in addition to this, we add the development and application of information technologies, we are faced with a situation whereby tourist destinations are required to come up with increasingly aggressive and efficient strategies in order to attract tourism consumers.

In the light of this scenario, social media are playing an increasingly central role in terms of their contribution to the promotion and marketing of tourist destinations by favouring contact with tourists, sharing content and boosting visibility and virality.

In relation to this, the analysis of the fanpages of Ecuador, Colombia and Peru as competing tourist destinations has provided the following results:

In terms of the content the fanpages generate through their post formats, the results indicate that there is considerable room for improvement, as only three formats are used: photography, which generates the highest degree of interaction, videos and links. This points to the need for greater variety and dialogue in order to create more interesting and attractive sites which in turn would boost engagement, loyalty and interactivity.

With regards to interactivity, it must be stated that generating a large number of posts does not always lead to increased engagement, and therefore the destinations would be advised to monitor their posts more closely, thereby boosting interactivity. Indeed, the relevance of the role played by social media in improving customer relations and therefore the degree of engagement has been proved [16]. Consequently, any attempts to increase the number of 'Likes' could include adopting the following strategies: direct conversations with consumers; the organization of events, competitions or promotions; encouraging and rewarding loyalty; or encouraging users to collaborate with the generation of content.

The data obtained from the final item analysed, visibility, should lead destinations to reflect on the fact that although the number of fans is naturally a key factor in generating this parameter, they should also seek to improve each customer's participation and conversion rates. The analysis showed that the timing of the posts is a crucial element in securing a minimum degree of interaction and scope for the communications posted. In this sense, none of the three destinations achieve a perfect degree of coordination, and their presence can therefore be considered lacking in effectiveness.

In relation to the information obtained and the fanpage data analysed, we can conclude that the concept of the social medium Facebook as a tool for communication and sales does not appear to have been sufficiently thought out. Likewise, it can be seen that although all three destinations occupy a significant position in South America's tourist industry, the strategies applied lack clearly laid-out objectives, leading to a low degree of operational effectiveness and lost opportunities.

The recommendation would be for all three destinations to establish more effective marketing strategies for application on the social media, in which planning must play a vital role, as well as the identification of specific, measurable, feasible and realistic objectives of a fixed duration.

Acknowledgments. This work was sponsored by the Prometeo Project of the Secretaría de Educación Superior, Ciencia, Tecnología e Innovación of the Republic of Ecuador. PROMETEO-CEB-008-2015. It was also developed as part of the activities of the Red Internacional de Investigación de Gestión de la Comunicación (R2014 / 026 XESCOM), supported by the Consellería de Cultura, Educación y Ordenación Universitaria of the Xunta de Galicia where are integrated the groups iMARKA research of the University of A Coruña (España) and Innovación y Nueva Empresa of the University Técnica Particular of Loja (Ecuador) and to which the authors belong. The author Valentín-Alejandro Martínez-Fernández is also part of Project Prometeo-Senescyt.

References

- 1. Senecal, S., Nantel, J.: The influence of online product recommendations on consumers' online choices. Journal of Retailing. 80 (2), 159--169 (2004)
- Buhalis, D., Law, R.: Progress in information technology and tourism management: 20 years on and 10 years after the internet the state of eTourism research. Tourism Management. 29 (4), 609--623 (2008)
- 3. Xiang, Z., Gretzel, U.: Role of social media in online travel information search. Tourism Management. 31 (2), 179--188 (2012)
- Bigné, E.: Marketing de destinos turísticos, análisis y estrategias de desarrollo. ESIC, Madrid (2000)
- 5. Ejarque, J.: Destinos turísticos de éxito. Pirámide, Madrid (2005)
- 6. Bull, A.: La economía del sector turístico. Alianza, Madrid (1994)
- 7. Hu, Y., Ritchie, J.R.: Measuring Destination Attractiveness: A Contextual. Approach. Journal of Travel Research. 32 (2), 25--34 (1993)
- 8. Carballar, J. A.: Twitter: Marketing Personal y Professional. RC Libros, Madrid (2011)
- Kang, M., Schuett, M.: Determinants of Sharing Travel Experiences in Social Media. Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing. 30(1-2), 93--107 (2013)

- 10. Munar, A., Steen, J.: Motivations for sharing tourism experiences through social media. Tourism Management. 43, 46--54 (2014)
- Hudson, S., Thal, K.: The Impact of Social Media on the Consumer Decision Process: Implications for Tourism Marketing. Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing. 30 (1-2), 156--160 (2013)
- 12. Mich, L., Baggio, R.: Evaluating Facebook pages for small hotels: a systematic aproach. Information Technology & Tourism. 15 (3), 209--231 (2015)
- 13. THE COCKTAIL ANALYSIS: I Oleada del Observatorio de Redes Sociales. Tcanalysis, http://tcanalysis.com/blog/*post*/informe-ebooks
- 14. IAB: VI Estudio Redes Sociales de IAB, http://www.iabspain.net.
- Huertas, A., Setó, D., Miguez, M.: Comunicación de Destinos Turísticos a través de las Redes Sociales. El Profesional de la Información. 24(1), 15--21 (2014)
- 16. Merodio, J.: Marketing en redes sociales, http://www.bubok.es/libros/191596/

The Importance of Social Capital in Higher Education. A Study of the Facebook Fan Pages

Mercedes Teijeiro-Álvarez¹, Clide Rodríguez-Vázquez¹, Félix Blázquez-Lozano¹

¹ Department of Economic Analysis and Business Administration University of A Coruna, Spain

Abstract. The objective of this paper is to analyze the importance of social media in improving knowledge exchange, which may be reflected in improving the quality of higher education institutions. For this purpose, we study the relevance of three Spanish universities in Facebook. Although the importance of Facebook has been demonstrated in education, very few researches provide concrete evidence on its use as a mean of communication. Findings reveal that Facebook has an important role in terms of Social Capital by identifying communication strategies in order to achieve a higher efficiency, brand image and reputation.

Keywords: Higher Education, Social Capital, knowledge, network, Facebook.

1 Introduction

The globalization of the world has produced a series of worldwide changes where knowledge becomes a crucial element in the company. These changes are creating a new generation of knowledge enables the development of competences required by companies to survive in a competitive context [1]. In this context, the value of a business is directly related to intangible assets rather than physical assets, such as: company image, customer loyalty, employee satisfaction, innovation, organizational culture, staff with appropriate skills, etc. [2]. All these intangible assets are commonly named Intellectual Capital and has become the most valuable resource for companies to improve their competitive advantage and key determinant in the process of value creation [3].

The origin of Intellectual Capital is placed in the early 90s when a group of firms such as Skandia, Dow Chemicals and Canadian Imperial Bank use this concept to make reference to all intangible assets. These pioneers firms developed their respective Intellectual Capital Models that represented the first assumptions and principles of the Intellectual Capital theory [4]. Since then, many definitions of the Intellectual Capital have proliferated, but all of these have common characteristics: the accumulation of knowledge and the capacity of these intangible assets to generate value for the organization.

In the knowledge-based approach, most papers establish that Intellectual Capital it is integrated by three main components: Human Capital, Structural Capital and Social Capital [5]. Human Capital is defined as the knowledge that each worker possesses, develops and accumulates, it's a knowledge mix that employees have with respect to

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_48

their work, skills, leadership skills, capacity to assume risks and give solution to problems [6]. Structural Capital is the institutionalized knowledge and codified experience held and used through databases, patents, manuals, structures, systems and processes and Social Capital is the result of the organization's relationships with its stakeholders, which encourage the exchange of knowledge among different networks [7].

There is increasing consensus among social sciences disciplines about the importance of social capital concept. They suggested that the present and future of business survival lies in networks of relationships among individual and organizations rather than traditional modes of competition [8] [9]. This is particularly important in knowledge-intensive sector such as high technology industries or universities. Research on networks is increasingly focused on understanding how the social context in which firms are embedded influences their behavior in terms of knowledge exchange, as can be seen from the extensive research available [10] [11].Nevertheless, social capital has been explored the least in the Intellectual Capital literature [12], that is why in this paper we look in more detail at the role of social capital in universities and more specifically we adopt a network approach based on the relevance of universities web sites in Facebook, as a form of social status or reputation .

We carry out our empirical study in three universities of Spain. Two of them are considered as the most important Spanish universities in rankings and the third one is the university which we belong to.

The objectives of the study are to:

• Show the web performance of the universities studied and its situation in the Webometric ranking in the following items: presence, impact, openness and excellence.

• Identify web contents of the Facebook pages through post per type, post per day and type of information as photos and videos shared by the institutions analyzed or the number of links they are using.

• Identify the interactivity of the Facebook pages associated with the engagement and the web user response.

• Identify the visibility of the Facebook pages analyzed. For that purpose we considered the number of "likes" and the average of likes, comments and shares values.

2 Theoretical Framework

The most important higher education institutions argue that new relationships are needed in order to achieve the purpose of globalization and improve their internationalization. This new context is having implications for the Higher Education as a whole. The characteristics of social relationships and the networks these result in, can influence the ability of Universities to access, transfer, absorb and apply knowledge [13].

To date research community has established that users of information prefer other colleagues, friends or family members as their preferred source of information [14]. This new form of information has led in the setting up of webs of relationships to access information from one another [15]. These new relationship are called "social media",

that is, forms of electronic communication (as Web sites for social networking) through which users create online communities to share information, ideas.

Researchers have been examining the role that social media plays as an important item of Social capital in university. Some of the studies have highlighted in the University students' use of Social Networking System (SNS), in particular, in learning outcomes of SNS in the higher education classroom [16] [17]. Selwyn argued that exist three interrelated concepts should motivate the use of social media in higher education: the changing nature of the new student (highly connected and creative); the changing relationship that university learner has with transmission of knowledge and the importance of "user driven" education [18] [19].

Another research line about this topic is its use for marketing purposes. Stockey [20], surveyed 30 universities which use Facebook, twitter and Youtube with the objective of study 7 items; engagement, listening, relationships, trust, authenticity, visibility and branding. The conclusions showed that the engagement was lacking despite the high presence of social media in their platforms. Hand (2011) in his research about "Canada: Social Media on Campus and Its Discontents" [21] has found that the use of social media to communicate with students promote transparency. Sturgeon and Walker [22] found that even though the beginning of using Facebook was "to keep an eye" on their children or other family members, the result was that they saw its academic benefits.

Facebook is one of the most frequently visited among social networking sites. It was developed during the 2004 as a Harvard-only social network site, but it has expanded rapidly from its original site to the entire world getting a great numbers of registered users. Although the importance of Facebook has been demonstrated in education [23], it isn't still seen as a professional social network [24]. That is the reason why in this paper we'll focus in the characteristics of Facebook pages in three universities of Spain.

One of these is the highest-ranked Spanish university "University of Barcelona". This University was established in 1450, which makes it one of the oldest higher education institutions in the world. The University of Barcelona is placed at 166th in the 2015/16 QS World University Rankings.

The second of these is a much younger institution "Universidad Autónoma de Madrid". It was established in 1968, and it's currently ranked at 186th place in the QS World University Rankings and 9th in the QS Top 50 under 50 de 2015.

The last one is the university we belong to "University of A Coruña". In the 2015 edition the University of A Coruña occupies the position number 999 in the Center for World University Rankings (CWUR) and the 40th for the 71 Spanish universities analyzed (public and private).

3 Methodology

Before showing the results of our Fanpage analysis, it may be useful to review the results of these three university in the Webometrics Ranking. This ranking is designed in such a way as provide a good indicator of social universities capital. In this ranking it is considered both official publications and informal internal communication, which can be relieved by the intensity and type of activity of the university on the web.

The Webometrics ranking is built as follows:

Activity (50%) and it's composed of three items:

Presence (1/3). The global volume of contents published on the university web domains as indexed by Google.

Openness (1/3). It takes into account the number of files published in dedicated websites according to the academic search engine Google Scholar.

Excellence (1/3). It takes into account the academic papers published in high impact international journals.

Visibility (50%). The quality of the contents is evaluated through the "impact", counting all the external inlinks that the University webdomain receives from third parties. The link visibility data is collected from the two most important providers of this information: Majestic SEO and ahrefs.

University	World	Spanish	Presence	Impact	Openness	Excellence
	Rank	Rank	Rank	Rank	Rank	Rank
U. of Barcelona	145	3	264	342	125	102
U. Autónoma de Madrid	256	10	486	483	338	218
U. of A Coruña	713	34	847	1055	509	975

Table 1. Ranking web of universities studied

Source: Author's own from Webometrics, 2015

For the purpose of our study we used the online LikeAlyzer (http://www.likealyzer.com/). This interface allows us to know aspects related with the effectiveness of a Fanpage and helps to identify problems. In accordance with the research conducted by Huertas, et al. [24], the items analyzed were web contents, level of interactivity and visibility.

4 Findings

The research was carried out between 20 October and 20 November 2015. The aspects relating to each item were:

Web contents: Post per type, post per day and type of information.

Interactivity: Engagement and web user response.

Visibility: Number of "fans", likes and shares (average).

Table 2. Domain registration and Fanpage of universities analyzed

University	url	Fanpage
U. of Barcelona (UB)	http://www.ub.edu	https://www.facebook.com/Univers
		itatdeBarcelona
U. Autónoma of Madrid (UAM)	http://www.uam.es/	https://www.facebook.com/universi
		dadautonomademadrid
U. of A Coruña (UDC)	http://www.udc.es	https://www.facebook.com/udc.gal
Source: Author's own		

Source: Author's own

4.1 Facebook Contents

Post per type and its influence. The most commonly tops used to encourage the visibility of their contents have been: photos in the case of Barcelona and Madrid and status in Coruña. As the table 3 shows, the most information of University Autónoma of Madrid is provided through images (79.2%), although it's also used the video (16.7%) and links (4.2%). In the case of University of Barcelona, emphasis is placed in photos too (62.5%), but also it was decided to use in a very high percentage links (33.3%). Unlike this trend, the University of A Coruña publish more than half of its posts through "status" (58.3%) what gives it a differentiating factor.

As can be appreciated on Table 3, the wide range of publications is important, this fact provides a greater visibility and keeps their users connected and entertained, which promotes interaction.

	BARCELONA	MADRID	CORUÑA
	Posts	per type	rate*
Photos	62.5%	79.2%	29.2%
Video	4.2%	16.7%	
Link	33.3%	4.2%	12.,5%
Status			58.3%
Others			
	Po	sts per day	
	1.07	2.52	4.02

Table 3. Posts per type, per day and rate

* At the time of analysis 20/11/2015.

Source: Author's own from LikeAlyzer

Post per day. University of A Coruña with 4.02 post per day overtakes the other two, which enables to interact more effectively with its fans, generate more interest and, therefore, to increase the chances of feedback.

Type of information. Although comments, acknowledgements and indications, have been made, they were very few questions in all cases. It's important the three universities increase the number of questions in order to activate the web user response leading to greater visibility for their web page and to provide them with answers that may be important on student's perception of their University.

4.2 Facebook Interactivity

Engagement. The Engagement Rate is calculated by taking the total PTAT (people talking about this: likes, comments and shares) and divide by the total number of fans. The result of this rate should be over 7% to succeed in Facebook, from the LikeAlyzer view (Table 4).
	BARCELONA	MADRID	CORUÑA
Fans*	76,296	55,873	14,636
Post per day*	1.07	2.52	4.02
PTAT**	4,803	1,072	1,165
Engagement	6.3%	1.92%	7.96%

Table 4. Fans, Post per day, PTAT and Engagement

* At the time of analysis 20/11/2015; ** People talking about this of the last month. Source: Author's own from LikeAlyzer

When comparing the number of people who respond to daily posts with engagement rate we can detect differences between universities. In the case of Barcelona with over 76,000 fans, only get a engagement of 6.3%, while for Coruña with a significantly lower number of fans achieve a rate close 8%. Madrid doesn't get even a rate engagement of 2% because their nearly 56,000 fans are not responding to post per day. These results lead us to conclude that the number of post per day is not just important, but also to increase the following of those posts and the fans interactivity.

Web user response: when we compare the engagement with the type of post (figure 1), we note than Barcelona and Madrid's fans seems to responding best to photos, in the case of Coruña photos and links gave the most successful. The best results when your followers seem to be most active are: in Barcelona between 15h - 18h, Madrid between 12h-15h and Coruña between 21h and 24h (GMT in all cases).



Figure 1. Page's top posts. Top 5 Posts. From 20/10/2015 to 20/11/2015

Source: Author's own from LikeAlyzer

The Importance of Social Capital in Higher Education ...

4.3 Visibility

This item focuses on those aspects to help improve their presence of Facebook.

Number of fans. It's the most important aspect of visibility (table 5). Barcelona with 76,296 fans is the most visited page, followed by Madrid with 55,873 fans and Coruña with just 14,636. Special attention should be given to Barcelona with only a post per day has the largest number of fans. If this university rises the number of post per day it's probably that increase its visibility considerably.

Tal	ble 5.	Fans, pos	t per day	7, likes,	comments	&	Shares	per	post
-----	--------	-----------	-----------	-----------	----------	---	--------	-----	------

	BARCELONA	MADRID	CORUÑA
Fans*	76,296	55,873	14,636
Post per day*	1.07	2.52	4.02
Likes**, Comments & Shares	378	39	46

* At the time of analysis 20/11/2015; **rate per post Source: Author's own from LikeAlyzer

Likes, comments and shares. The average values of likes, comments and shares by post are other aspects which provide useful information about visibility. In this regard, while Barcelona has achieved better results than the other institutions, it could increase its engaged follower promoting events or initiatives more interesting. It's striking that Madrid possesses the lowest results in relation to great number of fans and its almost 3 post per day, what it means that its post are very little attractive and consequently its visibility is non-significant.

5 Conclusions

The objective of this paper has been to analyze the importance of social media in three Spanish universities and more specifically the relevance of universities web sites in Facebook, as a form of social capital.

Previous research has already showed the importance of web universities sites for social networking in order to access and transfer knowledge and to improve their internationalization.

The results about the Fan pages in the universities studied, confirm that they have a correct variety in their posts, specially photos, videos and links and in the case of University of A Coruña the status is important too. Results also show that fans seems to responding best to photos. As a consequence of these our first recommendation is to increase their use. This is particularly important in the case of University Autónoma of Madrid, as a tool that could generate a greater interaction and visibility.

On the other hand, it is important to point out that these institutions have focused, almost exclusively, in spreading information rather than receiving information. Our second recommendation is that questions and comments should be asked to fans and they should be responded more quickly. This is an effective way of achieving a correct engagement rate because fans will appreciate if they can feel part of higher education community

Finally, it is recommended that these universities analyze the profile of their fans, which are their interests-based social media and in particular Facebook, with the intention of increasing their engagement.

References

- 1. Muniz, N.M., Ariza-Montes, J.A., Molina, H. How Scientific Links combine to thrive Academic Research in Universities: A Social Network Analysis Approach on the generation of knowledge. Asia-Pacific Edu Res. 24 (4): 613--623 (2015).
- Teijeiro, M., García, M. T., Mariz, R. M. La gestión del capital humano en el marco de la teoría del capital intelectual: una guía de indicadores. Economía Industrial. 378, 45--57 (2010).
- 3. Nahapiet, J.,Ghoshal, S. Social capital, intellectual capital, and the organizational advantage. Academy of Management Review. 23(2), 242--266 (1998).
- 4. Viedma, J. M. In Search of an Intellectual Capital Comprehensive Theory. The Electronic Journal of Knowledge Management. 5 (2), 245 -- 256 (2007).
- 5. Subramaniam M., Youndt Ma. The influence of intellectual capital on the types of innovative capabilities. Academy of Management Journal. 48(3), 450--463 (2005).
- 6. Bozbura, F.T., Beskese, A., Kahraman, C. Prioritization of human capital measurement indicators using fuzzy AHP. Expert System and Applications. 32(4), 1100--1112 (2007).
- Díez-Vial, I., Montoro-Sánchez, A. Social capital as a driver of local knowledge exchange: a social network analysis. Knowledge Management Research & Practice. 12, 276-288 (2014).
- 8. Hitt, M.A., Lee, H., Yucel, E.: The importance of Social Capital to the Management of Multinational Enterprises: Relational Networks among Asian and Western Firms. Asia Pacific Journal of Management. 19, 353--372 (2002).
- 9. Adler, P.S., Kwon. S.-W.: Social Capital: Prospects for a New Concept". Academy of Management Review. 24, 17--40 (2002).
- Yli -Renko, H., Autio, E., Sapienza, H.J. Social capital, knowledge acquisition, and knowledge exploitation in young technology-based firms. Strategic Management Journal. 22(6–7), 587--613 (2001).
- 11. Moran P. Structural vs. relational embeddedness: social capital and managerial performance. Strategic Management Journal. 26(12), 1129--1151 (2005).
- Martín-de-Castro G., Delgado-Verde M., Navas-López J.E., López-Sáez, P. Towards 'an intellectual capital-based view of the firm': origins and nature. Journal of Business Ethics. 98 (4), 649--662 (2011).
- 13. Ter Wal, A.L.J. Networks and geography in the economics of knowledge flows: a commentary. Quality & Quantity. 45, 1059-1063 (2011).3.
- 14. Meghaghab, G., Search Engines, Link Analysis, and Users' Behavior, http://book.google.com/books
- 15. Utulu, S.C., Okoye, M.A.: Application of social capital theory to Nigerian university web sites. The Electronic Library. 28, 171--183 (2010).
- Ellison, N.B., Steinfield, C., Lampe, C. The Benefits of Facebook "Friends:" Social Capital and College Students' Use of Online Social Network Site. Journal Of Computer-Mediated Communication. 12, 1143--1168. (2007).

- Madge, C., Meek, J., Wellens, J., & Hooley, T. Facebook, social integration and informal learning at university: It is more for socialising and talking to friends about work than for actually doing work. Learning, Media and Technology, 34(2), 141–155 (2009).
- 18. Selwyn, N. Looking beyond learning: Notes towards the critical study of educational technology. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, 26(1), 65--73 (2010).
- 19. Tess, P. A. The role of social media in higher education classes (real and virtual) A literature review. Comput. Hum. Behav. 29 (5),A60–A68 (2013).
- Stockley, D., Blessinger, P., Wankel, C., Voss, K. A., Kumar, A. The value of social media: are universities successfully engaging their audience?. J. Appl. Res. High. Educ.. 5 (2), 156–172 (2013).
- 21. Canada: Social media on campus and its discontents, http://www.universityworldnews.com/ article.php?story=20111021215650409.
- Sturgeon, C.M., Walker, C. Faculty on Facebook: Confirm or Deny?, <u>http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/</u>ED504605.pdf.
- Junco, R., Gail A. Cole-Avent An Introduction to Technologies Commonly Used by College Students. New Directions For Student Services. 124, 3—17 (2008)
- Huertas, A., Setó, D., Miguez, M. Comunicación de Destinos Turísticos a través de las Redes Sociales. El Profesional de la Información. 24(1), 15—21 (2014).

Management of social networks of the audiovisual project "EnchufeTV"

Carlos Ortiz^{1.1}, Geovanna Salazar¹ and Abel Suing¹,

¹ Department of Communication, ECU -Digital Group. Universidad Técnica Particular de Loja, San Cayetano high s / n, Champagnat street , CP 11-01-608 , Loja, Ecuador.

{Carlos.Ortiz, Geovanna.Salazar, Abel.Suing} ccortiz@utpl.edu.ec

Abstract. In this research work, the management of the social networks of the transmedia project "EnchufeTV" is analyzed. The methodology is quantitative and qualitative, four monitoring tools of social media ware applied to gather information and collect statistical data between June and July 2015. The research was complemented by interviews to experts in the subject. It can be seen that social media is the ideal platform for new content, viralization and wider dissemination and expansion of the content, although EnchufeTV does not fully exploits the advantages of social media and it does not post in large-scale. It is ratified that projects such as "EnchufeTV" mean a breakthrough in terms of audiovisual content on the Web in Ecuador.

Keywords: Audiovisual embodiment; Social media; Humor; digital TV

1 Introduction

Advances in the Web 2.0 have boosted social networking. From personal communications to virtual communications. Each platform is a set of broad media services and relationships, because these platforms have become multimedia communication processes in a broad sense [1].

Relationships and interactivity generated by social networks have become the object of many organizations that have seen in them a platform to expand and promote their product. Castells [2] defined as a network society a social structure that is composed of activated networks by digital communication technologies and information based on microelectronics. The growth of users in the network could be explained by globalization, but also by the rising of the middle class in Ecuador between 2003 and 2012 which grew a 35% [3].

To Mendieta [4], with social networking audience it does not reduced but it improves the tracking them. In addition, conversations in social networks increase the consumption of live TV, so they are considered as a trading partner. Social networking has changed the consumption of audiovisual material, constituting what is called Social TV, based on communicative interaction, boosting the expectations of the audience and keeping the interest before, during and after the broadcast [5].

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_49

The possibilities for interaction and participation in Web 2.0 propose new forms of relationship between media companies and the society, as well as the media presence in social networks to promote their contents. Also, current technology allows to measure and to meet the media audiences' increasingly accurate and complete, thus facilitating the advent of the ideal of the personalized content and the advertising one to one [6].

The media requires new ways of displaying information, that are attractive, useful and personalized. The creation of a new language is not an option but an obligation for sheer survival and competitiveness. Reinvent every day strategic vision and qualified personnel not yet abundant [7]. In this context, the popularity of social networks among the current society makes a clear need to thrive in use and activity [8].

The media is interested in creating their own social network to catch and target population groups that may be of commercial interest. Although they are not considered themselves as a business and seem to suffer from some speculative bubble, what is clear, is that immersion of users in these networks and the time spent in them continue growing [9].

Overcrowding, immediacy and responsiveness have made brands to think that the Internet is a more participatory and proactive context. "It's the Web 2.0 philosophy converted into social space for communication between different users and participants who take advantage of the tools of production and content management to interact and exchange material [10].

In Ecuador, Internet usage grew rapidly in recent years. According to the Ministry of Telecommunications and Information Society, in 2013, 66 of every 100 people used the Internet. These numbers are 11 times higher than in 2006, where they were only 6 out of every 100 users. The number of Facebook users reached 7 million in 2015, of the 2.8 million registered users in 2011. Until December 2014, Internet users in the country reached 13,231,169 [11].

With this background information, it is important to know which image is projected on social networks. "When we monitor them, we refer specifically to know the particulars, views, interactions, scope or impact of a brand, product, service or program" [12].

This research work aims to analyze the management and handling of social networks of the EnchufeTV program, the questions to be asked are: Managing social networking of the EnchufeTV program will benefit its channel? Is there feedback from the Web series in each of its social networks? The research hypotheses are: 1) EnchufeTV does not make proper use and exploitation of social networks; 2) EnchufeTV posts content periodically.

2 Methodology

The methodology is quantitative and qualitative. With Google Trends and SocialMention it is evaluated the positioning in social networks of the EnchufeTV project, date of analysis July 27, 2015. The tool, Follow the hashtag allowed to yield figures around conversations of EnchufeTV in Twitter during the week from the18th to 28th of July, 2015. Finally, with the Fanpage Karma on Facebook the statistics from 21st to 28th of June 2015 were analyzed.

Management of Social Networks ...

To strengthen the quantitative information, there were made interviews with experts in the matter: Francisco Campos Freire, professor of the Department of Communication Sciences of the University of Santiago de Compostela; Direito Sabela, a member of the research group Novos Media Santiago de Compostela and Carlos Correa, head of Networking and Planning at the Center for Entrepreneurship Prendho.

3 Results

On July 27, 2015 the positioning in the network of the word EnchufeTV is tabulated. In addition to quantifying the number of entries and access to the comments, a semantic analysis of content was made for a more descriptive assessment of the contents, highlighting the following parameters: 50% strength; sentiment 1:3, 7% passion and 47% reach. The amount of feedback was also obtained during the research in real time that were 2 positive, 5 negative and 99 neutral. In the top words, it can be seen that the 3 greatest impact are related to the EnchufeTV project and its members.

Figure 1. Searches the term EnchufeTV



Source: Solialmention

Figure 2 search variables appear over time on EnchufeTV (abscissa axis). The vertical axis represents the frequency with which they have searched globally, with its peak in July 2015, in which EnchufeTV got into a controversial case on its scketch "Trailer del Chavo (La Película)", launched on July 6, 2015. Public opinion and the media echoed the video, generating thousands of positive and negative comments of the audiovisual web project.

Figure 2. Evolution searches for the term EnchufeTV



Source: Google Trends

Hashtags make it easier for people to find and follow discussions on trademarks, events and promotions. The tool Follow the Hashtag was chosen for the analysis, useful for understanding conversations in Twitter through useful and coherent graphics through the hashtag EnchufeTV. Figure 3 shows that the day where the hashtag EnchufeTV got a greater scope and impact was the July 24, 2015 at 19:00, reaching the highest point within the research time.

Figure 3. Day of greater scope and impact of the hashtag #EnchufeTV



Source: Follow the hashtag

In Figure 4, the daily publications that EnchufeTV made during the investigation period are shown. It is obtained as a result that Friday was the day where most publications were made, with a total of 5. Although the application Fanpage Karma indicates that best results were obtained at other times, on Mondays, Tuesdays and Wednesdays, indicating 3 posts each day. Sunday is the day where fewer publications are made.



Figure 4. Number of daily publications of EnchufeTv in the social network Facebook

Francisco Camps stressed that the main advantages that provide social networking and digital media are accessibility, the ability to freely reach a lot of people and that basically there is no need for a fee to access to them. "With new technologies networks have expanded their extension, their relationships, and they have formed multiple nodes that are establishing different connections and constitute the most important relationship of technology with social networks".

He says that a great number of audiovisual productions designed exclusively for the Web are starting to be seen, and large productions like Netflix or Amazon are providing such productions. "Distributors content, which originally came from traditional media, are beginning to be digital native producers and it's something that is being imposed".

Sabela Direito said that although social networks were born as a system of exchange of messages between friends and family, they currently have a position that has been growing over time. "Basically, all companies, communication channels and television, social networks are present in the different programs that are broadcasted mainly on Facebook or Twitter, but they are starting to bet for networks that are timidly developing like Instagram or Google+".

Sabela says that in recent years the user has had an evolution to be more active, not as an individual posting things, but as a person who follows the accounts, the content that others post. "People are more active but also more participatory because there is certain feedback established with other users".

Carlos Correa says that some years ago the communication was unidirectional, the media conveyed a message, they also had the power whether to pass or not those issues that were of interest. The company only consumed these contents and did not give them feedback. "With internet we are all potentially content creators, then, we are not just hungry for information, but rather eager for conversation".

He notes that "A cold news, it is not only of interest, but it is now possible to qualify with views, opinions or viewpoints. Thus, the Internet has provided us with a set of tools to generate conversation and broadcast content through audio, video, text or a mixture of all of them".

4 Discussion and conclusions

Social networks provide notable advantages to transmedia projects as EnchufeTV, the immediacy and speed of dissemination of content, exchange of views with those who receive the content, gratuity use and achieve a digital identity on the Web through the audiovisual material produced stand out.

Despite the benefits, according to data obtained through research, EnchufeTV only emphasizes social networks when launching a new production, at which more movement is denoted in the social networking profiles. The rest of the week a low activity regarding to publications and new content is evidenced.

Profiles with decreased activity has not meant an obstacle when attract followers. The different accounts in social networks of EnchufeTV show an increasing trend in the number of followers, denoting that the material published by the Web series is of public interest and captures their attention.

Among social networks, Twitter is perhaps the most dynamic. Search through a hashtag is best reflected an interest or preference. With EnchufeTV, it's observed that the name of the project and its members a representative number of mentions were made through hashtags.

The interaction in social networks between transmedia series and the audience is practically null, it is not even evidenced when promoting a new production. While a new video generates activity by fans through comments, EnchufeTV response to criticism or value judgments, both positive and negative is not shown.

5 Hyphotesis testing

1) EnchufeTV does not make proper use and exploitation of social networks.

According to research, this hypothesis is tested. Although EnchufeTV maintains profiles on social media, these are used when a new sketch is issued or a controversial video emerges. There is no interaction with the audience.

2) EnchufeTV posts content in large-scale.

This hypothesis is rejected. The transmedia series broadcast content but at very low levels. As it is demonstrated in the analysis of weekly publications of EnchufeTV, the day with the highest number of updates reached a five, a low number for an audiovisual project of this magnitude.

6 References

- 1. Cebrián, M.: "Desarrollos del periodismo en Internet". Zamora: Comunicación Social, (2009).
- 2. Castells, M.: "Comunicación y poder". Madrid: Alianza Editorial Chravolin, (2009).
- 3. Orozco, G. and Vassallo, M. (Coord): "ECUADOR: se dicta le ley, crece la ficción, se desafía la creatividad: OBITEL 2014". Porto Alegre: Editora Meridional, (2014).
- 4. Mendieta, A.: "Tendencias de vanguardia en comunicación". Madrid: Editorial ACCI, (2013).

Management of Social Networks ...

- 5. Caldevilla, D.: "Análisis audiovisual y publicitario actuales". Madrid: Editorial Visión Libros, (2013).
- 6. Cabrera, M.: "Evolución tecnológica y cibermedios". Zamora: Comunicación Social, 2010.
- 7. Domínguez, E.: "El cuarto bit: una década de reflexiones sobre periodismo e Internet. Barcelona: Editorial UOC, (2010).
- 8. Esteve, F. and Nieto, J.: "Nuevos restos del periodismo especializado". Madrid: Schedas Editorial, (2014).
- 9. Verdú, V.: "La investigación científica de los medios de comunicación". Barcelona: Bosch Casa Editorial, (2005).
- Campos, F. "Introducción a la investigación y gestión de las redes sociales digitales", en Revista Latina de Comunicación Social. Núm. 50, 2011. Tenerife: Sociedad Latina de Comunicación Social; retrieved on November 20, from http://www.revistalatinacs.org/068/cuadernos/cac50.pdf, pp. 7- 44, (2015).
- 11. Diario El Comercio, "El uso de Internet en Ecuador creció 11 veces en 7 años"; retrieved on November 20, from <u>www.elcomercio.com/tendencias/ecuador-Internet-datos-tecnologia-usuarios.htm</u>, (2015).
- 12. Gómez, F.: "El pequeño libro de las redes sociales". Barcelona: Parangona Realización Editorial, S. A., (2010).

Leading Ecuadorian Companies in the Wine Tourism Sector and their Positioning on the Social Medium Facebook

María-Magdalena Rodríguez-Fernández¹, Eva Sánchez-Amboage¹, Ronald-Kleiner Toledo-Macas² and Valentín-Alejandro Martínez-Fernández¹

1 Department of Economic Analysis and Business Administration University of A Coruna, Spain 2 Department of Business Studies. Section Business Management University Técnica Particular de Loja, Ecuador {María-Magdalena Rodríguez-Fernández, Eva Sánchez-Amboage, Ronald-Kleiner Toledo-Macas, Valentín-Alejandro Martínez-Fernández, magdalena.rodriguez@udc.es,

eva.amboaxe@gmail.com.rktoledo@utpl.edu.ec. valeiand@udc.es

Abstract. In recent years wine tourism has contributed to the positive evolution of tourist destinations, providing opportunities for development for local economies through the generation of employment and its multiplying effects on other transversal sectors. Oenology gives tourists the chance to discover more about local culture and enjoy sensorial experiences and sensations whilst indulging in the pleasure of tasting a region's traditional wines. In this sense, and in the specific case of Ecuador, the presence of prestigious wine-making companies with an excellent national and international reputation contribute to boosting wine tourism. Mention must be made of two of the country's leading wine producers: 'Dos Hemisferios', situated in the province of Guayas, in the region of Playas, and the 'Chaupi Estancia Winery', in the province of Pichincha, in Yaruquí. This study aims to identify the positioning of these companies, as representatives of Ecuador's wine industry, on the social medium Facebook. The conclusions point to the need to take advantage of the opportunities social media offer today as a communication channel, in order to improve the position of wine tourism in Ecuador.

Key words: Wine Tourism, Social Media, Facebook, Positioning, Ecuador

1 Introduction

Although the motivations that drive modern day tourists have changed, and are becoming increasingly diverse and plural, they all share a common need, that of

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_50

"living unique experiences". Experiencing sensations, emotions or reliving pleasurable moments are key factors in generating the desire to visit a destination.

Wine tourism is seen as a means of satisfying some of these wishes.

Wine, a natural beverage obtained from the fermentation of grapes, is one of the principal products of gastronomy: not only is it considered a drink of prestige, but it is also widely used in food preparation. The popularity of this resource has led to a growing interest in gastronomy and wine tourism, attributable to a large degree to the promotion campaigns targeting destinations associated with oenology.

With regards to tourist communication, it is important to stress that changes in our environment stemming from the arrival of information and communication technologies (ICTs), in which social media play a crucial role, have led to the inclusion of new promotion strategies in order to reach customers effectively.

In the light of this context, this study aims to analyze the positioning on Facebook of two of Ecuador's leading wineries: 'Dos Hemisferios' and 'Chaupi Estancia Winery'. The choice of these companies as the scope of our study is due to the fact that they are at the forefront of oenology in Ecuador: their wines and brands enjoy an excellent national and international reputation, as proved by the numerous prizes and awards received over the years. Furthermore, both companies offer visitors the chance to tour their vineyards and wineries and taste their wines.

2 Wine Tourism

Wine, like gastronomy, forms an essential part of the culture and history of any region, reflecting its identity and forming an essential part of its heritage [1].

Oenotourism, wine tourism or even vinitourism refers to "consumer behaviour, a strategy for the development of the geographical area and the wine market of that area, and also an opportunity for wineries to promote and sell their products directly to consumers" [2].

As stated by Millán and Dancausa [3] and Molina, Gómez and Estéban [4] in recent years this type of tourism has been the subject of a considerable amount of scientific literature in different countries. This vast amount of literature indicates the tremendous interest generated by this type of tourism. One of the contributing factors is its capacity to revitalize a destination by involving all three sectors of the economy: the primary sector, through vine growing; the secondary sector, through the wine making process; and the tertiary sector, due to the variety of services involved (tourism, gastronomy, the retail trade, etc.).

According to Mowforth [5], if alternative tourism represents all those trips made in order to carry out recreational activities in direct contact with nature, and forms of cultural expression that motivate visitors to discover, enjoy and take part in their conservation, then wine tourism can be included in this classification.

In their study of the motivations and experiences that drive the wine tourist to visit and enjoy a destination, Hall and Sharples [6] consider wine tourism to be "visitation to vineyards, wineries, wine festivals and wine shows for which grape wine regions are the main motivating factor for visitors". Leading Ecuadorian Companies in the Wine Tourism ...

In short, wine tourism attempts to promote the winemaking resources of a specific region through a wide range of wine-based cultural elements, in order to boost the social and economic development of the territory. In this sense, 'Dos Hemisferios' and 'Chaupi Estancia Winery' boast more than sufficient resources in order to contribute to this development.

3 'Dos Hemisferios' and 'Chaupi Estancia Winery': at the forefront of Ecuador's Winemaking Sector

Ecuador is home to a number of leading companies dedicated to the production and sale of wine. The most important of these include 'Dos Hemisferios', 'Chaupi Estancia Winery', 'La Toscana' and 'Vinos Don César' [7].

In the alcoholic beverages market, wine is the third most popular drink amongst middle class Ecuadorians, after beer and whisky¹.

The most popular varieties consumed in the country include Cabernet Sauvignon, Malbec, Syrah, Merlot Tempranillo and Pinot Noir.

For the purpose of this study we have selected just two of the four companies mentioned, due to the reasons described above. Characteristics such as their location, details of their production and sales or the prizes and awards received are given in Table 1.

	DOS HEMISFERIOS	CHAUPI ESTANCIA WINERY		
Location	Guayas (in San Miguel del Morro de Cantón Playas)	Yaruquí (parish in the metropolitan district of Quito)		
Production and Sales	National and International	National and International		
Types of Wines	White and Red	White and Red		
Variety	Caberbet Sauvignon, Malbec, Merlot, Pinot Noir, Shiraz and Chardonnay.	The first was Palomino, originally from Jerez, Spain. Today it has 32.		

Table 1. "Dos Hemisferios" and Chaupi Estancia Winery"

¹http://www.hoy.com.ec/noticias-ecuador/la-importacion-y-el-consumo-de-vino-en-el-ecuador-aumento-496366.html

Brands	Bruma, Del Morro, Enigma, Paradoja and Travesía.	Palomino Fino, Pinot Noir, Meritage "Alyce", "Alyce" Gran Reserva, Chardonnay- Viognie.
Prizes and Awards	Two mentions in 2009 for the best white wine "Enigma 2008" and best red wine "Paradoja 2007". Three silver medals "Enigma 2008", "Bruma Reserva Red 2007" and "Paradoja 2008", in 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively. Three gold medals "Enigma 2008", in 2010 and "Paradoja 2007", in 2010. Grand Gold Medal awarded to "Travesía 2009", in 2011.	Two special mentions at the Decanter World Wine Awards in London.
Wine Tourism	Tours of the vineyards and wine-tasting sessions.	Guided tours of the vineyards, wine-tasting sessions and the possibility of attending cocktail receptions and picnics.

Source: Author's own from Acosta and Monge [7].

4 Online Communication via Social Media in Tourism

Within the field of information and communication technologies (ICTs), the social media have emerged as a new format for the dissemination of tourism companies. Recent studies have pointed to a growing number of tourists that generate content on 2.0 platforms and use the information available on social media when planning their trips.

Among these social media, *Facebook* occupies a dominant position. The most popular social medium of all time, it is positioned at the forefront of the online tourism industry and is used by tourists at all stages of the travel experience [8].

In recent years, advertising investment in these interactive media has increased dramatically, attributable to the rise in the Internet penetration rate among the world's population. In the light of this, Buhalis [9] stressed the need to adapt to these technologies. In the late 90s, he claimed that those companies that failed to establish a presence in the electronic marketplace would face serious short-term disadvantages, characterised by a sharp drop in their market share. Likewise, Álvarez, Benamou,

Fernández and Solé [10]; Heerschap, Ortega, Priem and Offermans, [11]; Theodosiou and Katsikea [12] and Hudson and Thal [13], defend the idea of a clear transformation among sectors due to the Internet and its ongoing evolution, which naturally includes the tourist industry.

From the traveller's perspective, Wichels [14], Lange and Elliot [15] and Llodrá [16], posit that the social media influence tourists' decisions. Wichels [14] draws attention to the fact that the modern day tourist has access to multiple information sources and channels.

In the light of this new scenario, and with regards to tourist promotion, it is essential for companies to adapt their strategies to the new forms of online communication, which pose a series of challenges. At all events, their presence on the social media is crucial.

According to Rodríguez and Sánchez [17], having a *Facebook* profile impacts positively on the positioning of tourist companies, and therefore optimizing their presence on the social media is essential. However, their mere presence is insufficient: what is required is the correct use of these media in order to achieve the desired results. These aspects have proved decisive in our approach to this study.

5 Methodology

The aim of this study is to analyze the Facebook positioning of two winemaking companies: 'Dos Hemisferios' and 'Chaupi Estancia Winery' in order to detect positive and negative aspects of the promotion strategies implemented through this channel and to provide, where appropriate, a series of recommendations that would enable the companies to optimize their presence in online media in order to improve their positioning in the future.

According to Babbie [18], those cases in which the problem is in its preliminary phases, the issue is new and data difficult to obtain are related to research of an exploratory nature. At the same time, we are dealing with two case studies, defined by Serrano [19], situations that aim to acquire knowledge based on individual circumstances. This study is in line with this methodology.

However, this study is also of a qualitative nature as the research tools employed include documentary analysis through the observation of the fanpages at www.facebook.com/vinosdoshemisferios/ and www.facebook.com/ChaupiEstancia.

Fanpage Karma, http://www.fanpagekarma.com/, was used to analyze these fanpages. This is an online tool used for the analysis of social media and the monitoring of networks such as Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, Google+ and Instagram. The study was carried out over a year, from 1/11/2014 to 1/11/2015. The items used in for the fanpage analysis were Visibility and Interactivity.

In terms of *Visibility*, the study was addressed from three perspectives: on the one hand, that defined by Cavalganti and Sobejano [20] as "influence"; namely the number of followers a brand has on the various social media. This is considered to be the most important variable, and is often the only one taken into consideration. This may be a mistake, as the group of fans alone does not mean that the strategy or objectives of a certain fanpage have been met.

In addition to the recognition conferred on the number of fans, Huertas, Setó and Míguez [21] posit that visibility can also be measured in each post, taking into consideration the number of 'Likes', comments and shares.

Finally, another point for consideration is that the number of posts also impacts on the visibility of a page: the higher the number of posts published, the greater the chances of the information reaching more people. According to Internet República [22], the average number of channel updates on Facebook should be between 3 and 5 posts a week, an aspect that has been taken into consideration in our analysis.

As for Interactivity, Brodie, Ilic, Juric and Hollebeek [23] see engagement as the

interaction of experiences between consumers, the brand and other community members. In order to calculate this, Cvijikj and Michahelles [24], Huertas, Setó and Míguez [21], Valerio, Herrera, Herrera and Rodríguez [25] use the following formula:

Engagement = [likes+comments+shared posts/No. fans] x 100.

This parameter provides an insight into the company's communication and interactivity with the users of its virtual community. A high engagement rate indicates that a brand has managed to connect with its Facebook fans. In some cases, it is claimed that the engagement rate should be higher than 7%, as stipulated by the online tool *LikeAlyzer*²; however, other authors and tools such as *Fanpage Karma*, do not establish any minimum score in this respect.

Leung and Bai [26] claim that securing fans' participation in a Facebook page ensures that they are more likely to return to the page in question. In other words, a high engagement rate indicates that the social media activity is being carried out correctly, managing to involve the community members. This item therefore sheds light on the interaction between a page and its fans; in other words, it provides information regarding the number of people that comment on, share or like one of the posts.

6 Results of the Facebook Positioning of 'Dos Hemisferios' and 'Chaupi Estancia Winery'

This section contains the discussion of the results for the analysis of the Visibility and Interactivity items for each of the companies. The *Fanpage Karma* tool was used and the objective was to analyze the companies' position on this social medium.

As the following table shows, there are significant differences between 'Dos Hemisferios' and 'Chaupi Estancia' in terms of *Visibility*, with the former obtaining far higher results than the latter in all cases.

² http://likealyzer.com/es

Table 2: Fanpage feasibility analysis

	Fans	Post	Likes	Comments	Shares
Dos Hemisferios	22,589	462	16,292	732	5,482
Chaupi Estancia	1,679	6	8	0	0

Source: Author's own from Fanpage Karma

The number of fans and posts, together with the likes, comments and shares for each post, indicate that 'Dos Hemisferios' is far better positioned on the social medium than 'Chaupi Estancia'.

An analysis of the number of posts reveals that 'Dos Hemisferios' exceeds the minimum number recommended by Internet República [22] of between 3 and 5 posts a week. Indeed, it publishes an average of 9 posts per week, a figure that is higher than the total number of posts published by 'Chaupi Estancia' over the entire year.

In the case of 'Dos Hemisferios', the contents of the posts that generate the greatest visibility are centred on information about the company and the wine products, prize draws, health and wine, the awards received by the brand and the history of wine in Ecuador.

A further aspect worthy of comment is that practically all the posts feature photographs, and the writing style is direct and commercial in tone, employing recurring copy such as "Could we ask for anything more?" in reference to one of its products. As for the times selected for uploading comment, these vary from day to day and do not follow a pre-established pattern.

In the case of 'Chaupi Estancia', the number of posts is extremely low, just six. The analysis of the number of 'Likes', comments and shares shows that the posts fail to generate any reaction from fans. In the light of this, the company would be well-advised to reconsider its strategy. The *Interactivity* analysis provided the following results:

	Engagement
Dos Hemisferios	99%
Chaupi Estancia	0.47%

-				-				
	ahl	0	·z.	Lonnogo	intoroo	+ 1 x 7 1 +	11000	17010
	ап			Failbage	merac	11 V II	v ana	VSIS
-		•••	•••	1 anpage			,	.,

Source: Author's own from Fanpage Karma

The information obtained regarding visibility provided a brief insight into the degree of engagement, and the analysis of the above table confirms the considerable differences that exist between the online promotion of 'Dos Hemisferios' and 'Chaupi Estancia'. The extremely low rate obtained by 'Chaupi Estancia' is attributable to the small number of posts and the low participation rate of its online community, resulting in only a negligible degree of interactivity. Considering the data provided by this parameter, it is clear that 'Dos Hemisferios' does know how to interact with its fans, achieving an engagement rate of almost 100%.

7 Conclusions

Today, consumers lie at the centre of any business, and it is therefore essential to be able to connect with them and build up long-term relationships. For this reason, tourist companies and organizations should make use of those platforms that enable them to contact their clients, realizing that they are seeking interactions and relationships that provide added value. The social media are positioned as the perfect platforms from which to connect with users in a direct and personalised way.

In the light of this situation, the companies analyzed here, both situated at the forefront of the wine tourism sector in Ecuador, must be fully aware of the crucial role social media play as a communication and advertising tool.

The results of this study into the Facebook positioning of 'Dos Hemisferios' and 'Chaupi Estancia Winery' reveal a clear difference between the two companies.

Both reflect the different types of companies we can encounter on the social media. 'Dos Hemisferios' is in line with those companies that choose to adapt to the new communication channels, incorporating them into their everyday business activity, whilst 'Chaupi Estancia', for reasons that are unknown to us, falls into the category of those companies that have to date failed to adapt and take advantage of the opportunities offered by the social media.

In short, in our analysis, 'Dos Hemisferios' obtained good results in terms of its Visibility and Interactivity in the online channel, benefiting from a strong position on Facebook. In contrast, 'Chaupi Estancia' failed to reach anywhere near the same level. The recommendation is therefore for this company to carry out a series of benchmarking studies in order to improve its Visibility and Interactivity and, by extension, its future position on Facebook.

Recommendations to companies wishing to obtain a good online reputation include the following: listening actively to customers, making comments, being accessible by creating communication channels from which to interact with customers, showing empathy and the capacity to listen to and respect consumers' opinions, talking to customers, answering their queries and responding to their opinions, offering an experience that adapts to the brand's objectives, adopting a constructive attitude and analyzing any criticisms in order to learn and grow from them [27]. Apart from these recommendations, we could also add the need to regularly update the online channel, and include visual elements such as photographs and videos offering contents that are both appealing and interesting to users.

In the case of the companies analyzed, awareness of the degree of efficiency of their fanpages is essential, as it will enable them to detect any weaknesses, adopt the necessary measures and thereby contribute to improving their position in the wine tourism sector.

Acknowledgments. This work was sponsored by the Prometeo Project of the Secretaría de Educación Superior, Ciencia, Tecnología e Innovación of the Republic of Ecuador. PROMETEO-CEB-008-2015. It was also developed as part of the activities of the Red Internacional de Investigación de Gestión de la Comunicación (R2014 / 026 XESCOM), supported by the Consellería de Cultura, Educación y Ordenación Universitaria of the Xunta de Galicia where are integrated the groups iMARKA research of the University of A Coruña (España) and Innovación y Nueva

Empresa of the University Técnica Particular of Loja (Ecuador) and to which the authors belong. The author Valentín-Alejandro Martínez- Fernández is also part of Project Prometeo-Senescyt.

References

- 1. Pastor, L.V.: El turismo del vino, otra experiencia de ocio. Deusto, Bilbao (2006)
- 2. Getz, D., Brown, G.: Critical success factors for wine tourism regions: a demand analysis. Tourism Management. 27 (1), 146--158 (2006)
- 3. Millán, M., Dancausa, M.: El desarrollo turístico de zonas rurales en España a partir de la creación de rutas del vino: un análisis DAFO. Teoría y Praxis.12, 52--79 (2012)
- 4. Molina, A., Gómez, M., Esteban, A.: Identificación de segmentos de visitantes enológicos en zonas vinícolas de la Mancha. Papers de turismo. 53, 1--17 (2013)
- 5. Mowforth, M.: Eco-Tourism: Terminology and Definitions. Department of Geographical Sciences, University of Plymouth (1993)
- 6. Hall, C., Sharples, L.: Wine Tourism around the World: Development, Management and Markets. Elsevier Science, Oxford (2000)
- 7. Acosta, E., Monge, E.: El vino poesía para el alma. Kalpana. 11, 32--41 (2014)
- 8. Mich, L., Baggio, R.: Evaluating Facebook pages for small hotels: a systematic aproach. Information Technology & Tourism. 15 (3), 209--231 (2015)
- 9. Buhalis, D.: Strategic use of information techonologies in the tourism industry. Tourism Management. 19 (5), 409--421 (1998)
- 10. Álvarez, I., Benamou, J., Fernández, J., Solé, C.: España conecta: cómo transforma internet la economía española. http://www.espanaconecta.es/pdf/Spanish Executive Summary.pdf
- 11. Heerschap, N., Ortega, S., Priem, A., Offermans, M.: Innovation of tourism statistics through the use of new big data sources. In: 12th Global Forum on Tourism Statistics, Prague, CZ (2014)
- 12. Theodosiou, M., Katsikea, E.: Antecedents and performance of electronic business adoption in the hotel industry. European Journal of Marketing. 46 (1/2), 258--83 (2012)
- Hudson, S., Thal, K.: The Impact of Social Media on the Consumer Decision Process: Implications for Tourism Marketing. Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing. 30 (1-2), 156--160 (2013)
- Wichels, S.: Nuevos desafíos en Relaciones Públicas 2.0: La creciente influencia de las plataformas de online review en Turismo. Revista Internacional de Relaciones Públicas. 4 (7), 197--216 (2014)
- Lange, W., Elliot, S.: Understanding the role of Social Media in destination Marketing. Tourismos: An International Multidisciplinary Journal of Tourism. 7 (1), 193--211 (2012)
- 16. Llodrá, I.: Gestión de la imagen del destino en el contexto del turismo 2.0: Recomendaciones estratégicas para las Organizaciones de Marketing de los Destinos (OMD).Tesis Doctoral, Universidad de Castilla La Mancha (2013)
- Rodríguez, C., Sánchez, M.: La influencia de la presencia en Redes Sociales sobre el grado de ocupación de los establecimientos turísticos. http://www.congresoaecit.org/influencia-de-la-presencia-en-redes-sociales-sobre-elgrado-de-ocupaci/congress-papers/102/
- 18. Babie, E.: The practice of social research. Thomson Wadsworth, USA (2007)
- 19. Serrano, A., Martínez, E.: La Brecha Digital. Mitos y realidades. http://www.labrechadigital.org/labrecha/LaBrechaDigital_MitosyRealidades.pdf
- 20. Cabalganti, J., Sobejano, J.: Social Media IOR las relaciones como moneda de rentabilidad. Bubok Publishing, Madrid (2011)

- Huertas, A., Setó, D., Miguez, M.: Comunicación de Destinos Turísticos a través de las Redes Sociales. El Profesional de la Información. 24 (1), 15--21 (2014)
- 22. Internet República.: Estudio la Banca a Examen en las Redes Sociales. http://www.slideshare.net/slideshow/embed_code/11256128
- 23. Brodie, R., Ilic, A., Juric, B., Hollebeek, L.: Consumer engagement in a virtual brand community: An exploratory analysis. Journal of Business Research. 66 (1), 105--114 (2011)
- 24. Cvijikj, I., Michahelles, F.: Online Engagemet factors on Facebook Brand pages. Social Network Analysis and Mining. *3* (4), 843—861 (2013)
- 25. Valerio, G., Herrera, N., Herrera, D., Rodríguez, M.: En Facebook el tamaño sí importa. Engagement y el impacto de la longitud del mensaje en las fanpages de las universidades mexicanas. http://www.revista.unam.mx/vol.15/num2/art12/
- Leung, X., Bai, B.: How Motivation, Opportunity, and Ability Impact Travelers' Social Media Involvement and Revisit Intention. Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing. 30 (1-2), 58--77 (2013)
- Guzmán, V., Romero, N., Cerrato, N., García, B., Rosado, E., Manzano, I., Montalvo, B.: Curso en community management. Fundación UNED, Madrid (2011)

Innovation as the Key for the Future of Public Service Media

Tania F. Lombao, Andrea Valencia-Bermúdez, Francisco Campos (t.lombao@gmail.com, andrea.v.bermudez@gmail.com, francisco.campos.freire@gmail.com) University of Santiago de Compostela

Abstract. Digitisation has modified the way we use the media and the needs of society, which has led public media to expand the development of their mission with new and improved services. The EU28 State public media are devoting part of their efforts –particularly regarding to the economic part- to innovation and development actions in order to reinforce their position in an increasingly competitive market. This research presents an assessment of the progress in innovation of these corporations until mid-2015, giving particular emphasis to web platforms, apps, smart TV and laboratory of ideas. The methodology to undertake such study is based on the analysis of the departments and reports on innovation and development of every European state public media.

Keywords: Public Service Media, Innovation, Public Service, Digitization, apps, smart TV, web platform, Media Labs.

1 Introduction

As a result of the innovation process in the media scene, the role of public service media (PSM) is being challenged, notably in relation to their scope for action in a new scenario marked by new distribution platforms such as the Internet and mobile platforms.

New services are seen as the natural development of their content offer and, consequently, as the essential funding sources, those that allow them to guarantee their business viability within an increasingly fragmented and competitive space. Once again, commercial companies do not want to compete with public service media since both of them fight for their audiences.

PSM argue that the values and objectives linked to their services have acquired a more relevant dimension in the digital scenario, with the objectives of ensuring the editorial independence against economic and industrial concentration and giving the public a diversified offer as an alternative to the homogenization of programming schedules. Likewise, public service media may also take advantage of the new framework to set high quality standards for the production of content, to defend the status quo of journalism rules, and to ensure the maintenance of pluralism and social representativeness, which are not automatically achieved only by making an abundant

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_51

supply. In fact, the new possibilities offered by digital technologies involve, together with the synergies generated by a distribution platform, are seen as an opportunity to establish a better public service and to better carry out their duties [1].

Against this background, and having the intention to justify the way in which a specific offer content or service meets the goals included in the definition of public service media, it came on the scene the public value assessment of content supply, in order to analyse whether or not it should be included. Also, evaluation of concepts such as proportionality, funding and impact on the market are also becoming important. These keys helped to start processes of redefining public service media in Europe and implementing public value tests.

In addition to redefining their commitments, the emergence of a cross-platform media environment, together with the extension of their activities, forced public operators to adapt their internal structure and operational logics. With regard to the organization, the great challenge is to evolve from a production's vertical structure towards a space in which content and services must be delivered in a wide range of media and platforms [2].

As a result, content and services should be designed and produced considering the potential of cross-media strategies and cross-platform synergies. This evolution requires a change in professional routines and an adaptation of production procedures. Also, the management culture should also be modified in order to take full advantage of structural changes.

2 Innovation and Public Service

Managers of Public Service Media should be aware of the ongoing transformation processes and all the implications for their performance. Also, a multi-platform and cross-media structures should be focused on providing the public with the tools they need and the interaction with political and market players should lead to new attempts, initiatives, and action plans [3].

Commercial media companies want public service media to be subjected to heavy restrictions to restrict their participation in digital activities. Nevertheless, state and supranational policies consider that PSM have the right to present on all the available platforms, since that ensures their universality and the achievement of their public service mission. In this regard, innovation remains the best option to preserve these media.

If public service media are not able to adapt themselves to the evolution of the needs and requests of their public, they will lose their social support and, consequently, their legitimacy as public services [3; 4].

The discussion on adaptation of PSM to the new media scene differs from country to country, and the level of conflict of each case depends on different variables [5]:

- Legal and social status and relevance of public service institutions.
- Size, weight and relevance of PSM operators and their activities within the national market.

Innovation as the Key for the Future ...

- Level of multiplatform expansion of public service operators as compared to commercial players.
- Size and capacity to influence of commercial lobbies.
- Conjuncture of the national market.
- Legal tradition and level of detail of media regulations.
- Institutionalization and development of media accountability.

A discussion on how innovation should be included and performed on PSM, we should take into account the recommendations drafted by the European Commission in its communications on the application of state aid rules to public broadcasters (2001, 2009). According to the EC, four criteria are to be considering when assessing public service media activities:

- 1. A clear definition of public service, including the kind of services that it should provide.
- 2. The role of public service operator should be explicitly attributed to a media institution.
- 3. Public service funding should be proportional to the activities carried out, which need to be clearly related to the defined remit.
- 4. Regular and efficient monitoring of public service should be implemented.

As a result of these recommendations, many countries such as the United Kingdom, Germany, the Netherlands, Denmark, Sweden, Norway and the Flanders region (Belgium), have addressed the public value tests. Commercial operators argue that accountability operators ex and post will best serve the promotion of innovation, one of the main goals conferred to PSM. In any case, public media should not apply the same criteria, since they are not only focused on a market-based approach. If public and commercial media do not have the same objectives, assessment methodologies must rest on different benchmarks or indicators.

Moreover, if accountability requirements for public media are too restrictive, then PSM will invest greater effort in meeting the need of authorities rather than responding to citizens' demands. However, it should be analysed if these tests have a positive impact on the provision of public service. In fact, PSM can develop a tool for improving the quality and adequacy of their contents and services [6].

In 2014, The European Broadcasting Union published the report *PSM Values Review*, a tool composed by six elements of the mission of public service media in the new digital context: universality, independence, accountability, excellence, diversity and innovation.

In terms of planning and developing innovation, the EBU challenges public service media to ask themselves the following questions: How do you define innovation? What does your mandate/legislation say? How do you evaluate your performance? How do you communicate your performance? What are your best practices and longer-term goals? What do you do to distinguish yourself from your competitors?

3 Research objectives and methodology

This research aims to analyse the level of innovation of the EU28 state public corporations, since it is considered as the key element for the renovation and adaptation process in the digital scenario, in which PSM are required to defend their legitimacy as public operators, a remote mission from their main competitors.

The method employed to know research, development, and innovation initiatives of these media is the content analysis of PSM reports and publications with regard to this issue. Each and every one new product, system and mechanism has been individually assessed.

The present study was carried out in the first half of 2015, and the results were lastly revised in that summer.

4 Results and discussion

The present study on innovation in PSM of the European Union again shows that, at the European level, there are two levels of technological development. There are clear differences between corporations of the so-called leading European states and those Member States that recently joined the Union.

In any case, as it usually happens, it also identifies common innovations in distribution of products and audiovisual services, as shown in Table 1.

INNOVATION: COMMON SERVICES
1. Web platform
2. Live contents
3. Use of some social networks
4. Mobile platforms
5. Customization
Source: prepared by the authors

 Table 1. Common innovations of European public media (2015)

All the corporations analysed, with the exception of Bulgaria, Croatia, Slovakia, Greece and Hungary, launched web platforms, be it through their own websites or another online addresses. PSM use these services to publish all their contents, and broadcast live, streaming, or podcast. The differences are mainly in the typology of platform, with different design and operability ranges.

From the social TV point of view, all of them have profiles on social networks, being Facebook, Twitter and Google+ the analysed in this report. All this data on technological improvements related to distribution of contents can be consulted on their corporate website.

Finally, the customization of contents has a twofold benefit. On the one hand, this makes it easy for users to access to products in which they are interested. The process is simple: you open an account on the website or platform, indicate your preferences and start enjoying contents and services. In return, PSM receive useful information on

audience's interests. Hence, PSM use these data for their market studies that result in the creation of products. This system makes possible for PSM to have live information on their different audiences, without waiting for the next day's audience data.

Besides digital common advances, each corporation is taking their main steps on the innovation and creativity scenario. They have the will to differentiate themselves from competitors and to guarantee their role of public service in an increasingly fragmented and competitive world. The table below compares the most significant differences between operators.

INNOVATION: DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PSM						
Content	Distribution					
Radio broadcasts with image	• Smart TV (HbbTV)					
• Lab of ideas an multimedia centre	Red button					
• Tools for testing products	Second screen					
Collaborative projects between countries	• Smart consoles, glasses					
	and watches					

Table 2. Differences in innovation services of European public media (2015)

Source: prepared by the authors.

From the content perspective, there are four main lines:

- 1. *Radio broadcasts with image:* Some of the PSM with public radio services are working to include improvements and to increase their attractiveness to young audiences, far away from traditional media. This is why the ORF from Austria and the RTÉ from Ireland explicitly include the intention of incorporating video an image in radio services.
- 2. Lab of ideas, think tanks, and multimedia centres: A great number of public media are implementing labs of ideas or innovation labs, that is to say, departments responsible for creating new products and services on the basis of audience needs. Also known as multimedia centres, these divisions are mainly focused on the creation of audiovisual contents without forgetting the area of distribution. Corporations that report on their labs of ideas are: RTBF and VRT from Belgium, RTVSLO from Slovenia, RTVE from Spain, ERR from Estonia, FT from France and CT from Czech Republic. The BBC from the United Kingdom is also working on this system, as explained below.
- 3. Tools for testing products: The BBC launched Taster, a mechanism to involve audiences in the assessment of new products and services before their broadcasting. Collaboration of the public is requested, and then there is a selection of people capable of making assessments. This is a pioneering initiative between European PSM, and it is based on collective intelligence, on paying attention to audience, the future consumer of new products.

It is intrinsically linked to customization. The digital setting walks towards a fragmentation and diversification of public, who will increasingly access the contents through multiplatform and mobile devices. In this sense, knowing beforehand whether a product is going to work or not how it will turn out becomes an advantage from an economic and productive point of view.

4. *Collaborative projects between countries*: Public media from Greece and Lithuania include two collaborative projects in their innovation strategies. The first one is based on sharing digital contents with Greece related to relationships between these two areas; the second project consists of disseminating through new technologies all the audio files about the relation of Lithuania and the European Union.

In this context, the RTÉ from Ireland also has a commitment for the internationalization with the launch of a premium services to provide visibility of their contents abroad.

From the innovation perspective, there are ambitious projects, but they are included in innovation reports since their essence, based on collaboration between countries or with the European Union, are likely to be important creative aspects for European PSM.

From the distribution perspective, there are four identified work lines:

- 1. *Smart TV (HbbTV):* A large part of the EU28 public service media presents smart TV projects, developed through the international standard HbbTV, which allows the TV consumption of products and services and at the same time offers additional information. PSM that report on this issue are ZDF from Germany, ORF from Austria and RTVE from Spain.
- 2. Red button: PSM from Spain, Ireland, the Netherlands, Poland, United Kingdom, and Czech Republic dedicate a considerable part of their efforts on innovation to improve the red button of the remote control. Through this service, they offer complementary services to improve users' experience, with live videos, information, pictures, and even music related to the program they are watching.
- 3. *Second screen:* Apart from the red button, some of the analysed corporations complement their products through second screen services, that is to say, through the connection between television devices and another device (mobile phone and tablet, for example). The RTP from Portugal is the most active in this regard.
- 4. *Smart consoles, glasses and watches:* Some PSM, such as the RTBF from Belgium, is experimenting with the launching of products and services to be consumed in smart consoles, glasses, and watches.

Also, there is a third point that affects both contents and distribution:

1. *Redeployment of staff.* The adaptation to the digital setting entails the reorganization of staff from public service media and, consequently, the creation of new departments and divisions that, in turn, should have heads to lead projects. That is why in recent years it is taking place a massive increase of senior appointments to drive the ships of digital innovation.

This issue is the cornerstone of technological and digital development of corporations. The Irish RTÉ and the English BBC do not forget this aspect,

since they are the most aware of the need to have people trained for driving innovation processes, creating synergies and enhancing competitive differentiation.

5 Conclusion

Nothing will ever be the same again. Traditional broadcasting, as we know it, will continue opening the way to new strategies based on connected TV and second screen, with content broadcasting that will be increasingly complemented by additional services.

1. *Web platform*. Every corporation needs to launch an online platform dedicated exclusively to the provision of live streaming and podcast radio and television content. It is a service that is run separately from the website, whose function is to be a container of news, programming, video and audio services, and corporate information. It should be highlighted the model of BBC iPlayer, an online platform on which the British corporation provides all their video and audio contents and allows users to register, create communities and deepen the customization. The platform interface is characterized by the presentation of videos relating to channels.

2. *Mobile Apps*. Besides corporate platforms for Android and iOS, provision should be made for the possibility of developing free apps targeted at various audiences and specialized in different subjects, from the weather information up to games, as some public media are testing. These services with reduced production costs make the difference for the audience.

3. Customization. The possibility of registration on the PSM websites is extremely to access customized services. The creation of personal spaces should be linked to a platform on which users report their interests. Also, PSM should guarantee the opportunity to send comments, share and recommend contents, and encourage the creation of communities related to their products and services.

4. *Radio innovation*. Corporations should study the opportunities for R&D on the radio. That requires an analysis of the projects developed by European corporations, as the Belgian VRT and the Irish RTÉ, with the digital broadcasting of radio programs with image.

5. *Think Tanks or Innovation Labs*. It is important to strengthen the functions of the labs, the germ of truly innovative projects, which place public companies in a strong position compared to their competitors. Further work is needed in this area, as well as in interactive applications for the second screen and the red button service.

6. *Tools for testing products*. It is suitable to analyse the option to test the widespread use of audience test for all kind of new products. In recent years, the BBC has successfully developed its *Taster tool*.

7. *Smart TV*. To enhance the potential of the international standard HbbTV. Audiences are increasingly demanding and want more and better services. Connected TV is the present, so PSM should make special efforts on this issue.

8. Multi-device reception. Audiences want to consume products and services of radio

and television in other kind of devices different from computers, mobile phones and tablets. We refer to glasses, watches and consoles. There is not, for now, a widespread trend, but it should be considered due to the fleeting technological developments in recent years.

9. Social networks. It shall be positive to progress on the creation of attractive and dynamic content for social networks. There is a need to develop social media guidelines to advise professionals on the use of social networks, t provide guidance on language and writing publications, interaction, generation of media discussion, participation, feedback control, advertising and legal issues.

10. Reorganization of staff. If PSM want innovation to be successful and fruitful, they need to adapt and train their workers. For this it is essential to develop training programs aimed at certain departments, and to create areas exclusively dedicated to design, develop and test ideas. This shall entail the creation of new departments and leadership roles.

6 References

- 1. Suárez Candel, R. (2010): "Digitalizing terrestrial broadcasting: public policy and public service issues". In: *Communication, Politics & Culture*, 43(2), 99-117.
- 2. Lowe, G. F. (2009): "Beyond Altruism. Why Public Participation in Public Service Media Matters". En Lowe, G. F. *The Public in Public Service Media*. Goteborg: Nordicom.
- Nissen, C. (2006): "Public Service Media in the Information Society". Report prepared for the Council of Europe's Group of Specialists on Public Service Broadcasting in the Information Society (MC-S-PSB). Strasbourg: Council of Europe.
- 4. Trappel, Josef (2008): "Online Media Within the Public Service Realm? Reasons to Include Online into the Public Service Mission". In: Convergence, Jg. 14(3), S. 313-322.
- Suárez Candel, R (2012): "Adapting Public Service to the Multiplatform Scenario: Challenges, Opportunities and Risks". In: Working Papers of the Hans-Bredow Institute, 25. Hamburg: Hans-Bredow Institute for Media Research.
- 6. Jakubowicz, K. (2007): *Public Service Broadcasting: A New Beginning, or the Beginning of the End?*. Knowledge Politics.
- European Broadcasting Union (2014): "PSM values review. The tool". Available on: http://www3.ebu.ch/files/live/sites/ebu/files/Knowledge/Publication%20Library/EBU-PSM-Values-Review-Tool.pdf

Data, native advertising and ad blockers revolutionize the media business models

Francisco Campos-Freire, Laura Seijo Vigo and Sabela Direito-Rebollal

Faculty of Science Communication (University of Santiago de Compostela), Castelao's Avenue, North Campus. 15782 Santiago de Compostela, Spain (francisco.campos.freire@gmail.com, laura.seijo.vigo94@gmail.com, sabeladireito@hotmail.com)

Abstract. Through the last hundred years, the innovation of media relied on the technologies of distribution and dissemination of contents, that innovation has now moved to business models. Radio and TV borrow the funding model of advertising, initiated by the press, which then pierce the web. Digital technologies impact not only the forms of distribution of content but also its marketing models, monetization and financing as well as strategies and alliances that media organizations must adapt to new competitive scenarios. This article examines the changes brought about by innovation in business models for marketing advertising and in the product or service information both in the press and on traditional television.

Keywords: innovation, business models, Big Data, native and programmatic advertising, ad blockers, pay television.

1 Introduction

The purpose of this communication is to analyze the impact caused by the introduction of broadcast technologies, programming, data analysis and control of advertising, added to the distribution of information and entertainment digital content from the media. We take as references several emerging business models of the press and television. In particular, we focus on the introduction of programmatic and native advertising models as well as the emergence of tools of adverse reaction to those forms of attracting attention and persuasion represented by the so-called advertisement blockers.

We also note note the change and impact that is occurring in the form of commercializing the pay television (from traditional channels and platforms to new aggregators or infomediaries such as Netflix, Amazon and Hulu) and their effects on the economy of the traditional media. The effects of innovation not only affect the traditional media but also the new media because generalist digital social networks (Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, etc.) have new competitors (Whatsapp, Snapchat, Line, Viber, etc.) that gather a bigger number of social messaging. Innovation processes are

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_52

at an even increasing pace, and life cycles are shorter, both for the services and businesses [1].

The hypothesis with which we work is that innovation in distribution and marketing processes is what will revolutionize and disrupt business models of traditional media. To test this issue a prospective analytical observation of trends documents, databases and operating accounts of major media companies is conducted. Used as primary sources of research reports from Entertainment and Media Outlook PWC (2015-2019) [2], WorldTrendsDatabase WAN-IFRA (2014) [3], EBU EBU, ACT, European Audiovisual Observatory, media groups listed companies and specialized studies on the topics covered by the subject matter. We complement these primary sources with the results of a survey of 350 communication companies in Spain within the Barometer of Communication Management (2015) [4] performed by the XESCOM Network and New Media's Research Group at the University of Santiago de Compostela (Spain).

2 Theoretical approaches

OECD [5] defines innovation as "the introduction of a product (good or service) or process, new or significantly improved, or the incorporation of a new method for marketing or organization, applied to business practices, to work organization or external relations". Innovation, theorized by Shumpeter (1943) [6] as inventive or creative entrepreneurship, may be incremental (continuist) or disruptive (which completely changes the rules of competition of companies and sectors). Traditional companies develop incremental innovation but rarely cause the disruptive, which is more typical of the new competitors, due to the difficulty of adapting to breakthrough business models [7].

The international economic organization mentioned above distinguishes four types of innovation in: product, as the introduction of a new good or service or significantly improved on its characteristics or uses. Process as an implementation of a new method of production or distribution or significantly improved. Marketing, and the implementation of a method that involves significant changes in product design or packaging, placement, promotion or price, and organizational, as the implementation of a new organizational method in business practices, either in production or in external relations, or both at once [5].

The elements of traditional marketing are the four Ps: product, price, promotion and place (distribution). But the current marketing requires more than the four Ps strategies, especially in regard to the value of the product or service and the relations to be established with the target customers. That is why we speak of marketing of the fifth P (the prosumer, a user and consumer at the same time) or the 6 Rs: relationship, retention, profitability, reference, recovery and reactivation. This new dimension of marketing means putting the receiver of the goods or services in the heart of the strategy process and the business model [8].

The concept of business model is one of the most recurrent in professional and academic descriptions of recent years, as a kind of invocation, which is used when, is not quite known what to do to improve the economic and commercial results. The business model is not the same as the funding model, even if they are directly linked. The first embraces the entire marketing process and the second articulates funding sources, and is also a part of the business model. The business model is the way in which a company seeks to generate revenues and profits, bringing value to one or different customer segments through different flows and networks of relationships [9].

The business model describes the foundations through which an organization creates, captures and provides value [10], [11]. Embraces at least the following nine elements: 1) Markets, customers, segments and target customers. 2) Value proposition and value of the product/service. 3) Channels of distribution, sales and communication. 4) Customer relationship system. 5) Key resources (essential asset of value in the product or service). 6) Key activities for a workable model. 7) Key associations (network of suppliers and partners). 8) Prices and volume of income and prices. 9) Structure and types of costs.

The two business models of traditional media are the sale or lease of the product or service and advertising, which often exploit jointly or independently. Traditional press combines both models, except when it is financed through advertising to be distributed free, as does the general radio and television broadcasting. Also visual media (radiotelevision and film) exploit the payment model combined with different forms of advertising. The advertising model is based on the attention economy [12], which consists in getting measured audience to sell them to advertising brands quantifying the impact of the contact (GRP, gross rating point) as the price. On the Internet that contact is recorded, tracked and analyzed through fingerprint.

The evolution and breakdown of the business models of the media caused throughout history the emergence of various forms of advertising (bartering, product placement, merchandising, sponsorship) and selling the product or service (block sale, subscription, paywall, freemium-premium, pay per view, micropayment, etc.). These new forms of marketing were emerging as the competitiveness of traditional systems started to saturate. Native and programmatic advertising are two recent innovations –the first one, evolutionary and the second, rupturist– of the media market. Both represent alternative paths to other breakthrough innovations caused by advertising blockers and new quantifying systems for audiences.

3 Changing media markets

The sale of half a million copies of newspapers represents 56% of the income of press, which are distributed everyday worldwide through an approximated 12,000 different headings. The press is going through a profound change in its business model. A significant loss of advertising revenue and sales in hard copy has been recorded, due to falling circulation. At the same time, the press is maintaining digital audiences on account of increased online access, especially through mobile devices, according to the World Association of Newspapers [13].



Fig. 1. The evolution of income from press (data in millions of dollars). Source: WorldTrends Data Base de WAN-IFRA, 2015.

Press reached 179.000 billion in 2014 from its printed product (circulation), 87,000 million from advertising and 9,000 million in digital sales. The printing business at global scale still has 93% of all income. But as can be seen in Table 2, the business model of digital media evolves differently than the printed model because sales revenue for digital accesses (paywall) grow more slowly than online advertising, 30% of it comes from mobile phones; which it is estimated to reach 52,000 million in 2017, according to WAN-IFRA [13].



Fig. 2. Incomes from digital press (data in millions of dollars). Source: WAN-INFRA WorldTrends Data Base, 2015.

The evolution of the press distribution is very different within each continent. Circulation increased 16% in Asia, but decreased significantly in the West, between 20% and 10%, respectively, in Europe and Australia as well as in North America. Out of ten printed newspapers with the largest circulation in the world, nine are from Asia. The one that tops the list, The Yomiuri Shimbun, is Japanese (9.1 million copies). There is only one from the United States (USA Today, 4.1 million).



Fig. 3. Global press circulation. Source: WAN-IFRA WorldTrends Data Base, 2015.

Online advertising increased by 20% according to predictions of the Global Entertainment and Media Outlook 2015-2019 PWC's report while commercial revenues of conventional television slow down and stagnate around 4.1%. It is estimated that in 2019 Internet will overtake television's advertising, and mobile device advertisements will pass that of the traditional screen. The Internet search advertising is expected to grow 35%, from 53,000 million in 2014 to 85,000 million in 2019.



Fig. 4. Advertising on TV, internet and mobile devices. Source: Global Entertainment and Media Outlook 2015-2019 (PWC 2015).

Multiscreen television consumption and multichannel distribution, like the Over-thetop (OTT) system are changing marketing advertising models. Table 5 shows the evolution of the growth of mobile advertising revenues and decrease of linear digital television. Consumption of video on demand, through individualized downloads, disrupts the traditional model advertising, closely related to linear programming of content and advertising measurement of their audiences. The new television is increasing independent of linear programming [14] and the access to devices.



Fig. 5. Evolution of mobile and TV advertising. Source: Global Entertainment and Media Outlook 2015-2019 (PWC 2015).

4 New systems and forms of advertising

The change of the distribution channel on the printed press and radio broadcasting system to the Internet opened the barriers of circulation and access to content, altering the production models, valuation and monetization of audiences. The power control over the content moves from producers programmers to consumers receivers and intermediation platforms from infomediaries. Users gain freedom of use and consumption, giving a part of its fingerprint, in exchange for access to content through infomediaries (Google, Apple, Facebook, Amazon), who take advantage to quantify and monetize their role as gatekeepers. Thus, control of the audience and their data passes from media to Infomediaries; and with it, the new business models.

Programmatic advertising, which is one of those new models, is based on real-time bidding (RTB, Real TimingBidding) of an investment offer of a brand, a change on the demand for best audience data to its planned campaign, between all digital media
connected to the system. It is a captive model of large platforms that have huge robotised inventories of digital audience data from which schedule bids, according to prospects of revenue and audience profiles. According to Magna Global, half of the investments made in the US in 2017 and a third of those in Germany will be of programmatic advertising. This model unleashes a commercial battle between Google, Apple and Facebook for control metrics for users data and the relation with producers of content. There's also a variation on the calculation systems of Return on Investment (ROI) and Return on Advertising Spending (ROAS).

Facing this programmatic commercial power of GAFAnomics (Google, Apple, Facebook, Amazon) –superpowers that in 2020 may become the first world economic potential [15]– Large movements of rejection and release of power are developed in support of users. The ad blockers are applications developed since 2006 that allow users to skip commercials with the same logic that once many people used VCRs to avoid advertising of linear programming and now do the same by the use of streaming.

Native advertising, a trend emerged from the crisis of the traditional model (saturation and rejection of massive or invasive campaigns, loss of confidence of advertisers, etc), is an euphemistic term used to present it as if it were a journalistic genre or pure entertainment, appealing to capture users' interest and experience. That is why it tries to use the journalistic and fiction genres and apply them to advertising communication, not without strong ethical and deontological tensions with professionals and the social responsibility of enterprises. It's really not a new form because such advertising communications had been traditionally named advertorials. What is new is that intends to ignore or bypass the blocking of conventional advertising.

Other ways of renewing business model of traditional media are intensive use of sponsorship, bartering (payment of production), product placement (introduce advertising within the product) and user data to fund distribution. This is part of what YouTube does, which has become the global television century, displacing CNN to state category. Along the short video format, self-production of users and social network distribution that defines Youtube, the platform models from Netflix, Hulu and Amazon, that are robbing traditional markets to traditional broadcaster from television traditional payment. In the press business, the paywall it tries to gain income through subscriptions and direct sales to digital access, although slows free mass circulation, necessary to offset advertising. Available data from paywall business in digital media ranges from 7% in UK and 14% in Finland, with a global average of 10% [16], [13].

5 Conclusions

New media and business models are extensions and remediation, continuist or breakthrough, from traditional media transformed into social metamedia [17], [18], [19]. Innovation has become the center of competitive strategy, focusing mainly on distribution and marketing processes. Trends determine the specialization and innovation in applications (Periscope, 360, Hyperlapse, augmented and virtual reality); robotics; gamification; disintermediation and P2P; image recognition; metaverses deployment; cognitive and predictive analysis algorithms; and the optimization of tools and application in mobile communications.

The competitive advantage [20] of technological innovation processes of distribution and marketing have conquered the infomediaries and their large platforms, because they have established direct contact with users, turning them prosumers [21], [22]. Traditional media are left, for the time being, with the product and the possibility of innovation on its organization. Although for distribution and marketing the product, traditional media increasingly calls on those that control most of the data. The battle being waged, therefore, it is the data, registration, inventory, measuring, standarization, homologation, analysis, quantification, valuation and monetization.

The next focus of competition in the media sector points to the content and the application of creativity and innovation to experience around the technologies of artificial intelligence [23], [24] and virtual reality [25], [26]. No doubt that the prosumer experience of navigation enriches even more through virtual immersion. It is the competitive landscape in which are also positioning some media and important infomediaries. What remains to be seen is whether these innovations will move immediately to the business models or their evolution will be slower.

Mention recognition

This article is part of the research conducted at the Faculty of Communication Sciences of the University of Santiago de Compostela (USC) by members of the International Research Network Communication Management (R2014/026 XESCOM) supported on a competitive basis by the Consellería de Cultura, Educación y Ordenación Universitaria de la Xunta de Galicia (Spain) and the Prometeo project SENESCYT of Ecuador, in universities Technological University of Loja (UTPL) and Pontificia Católica de Ibarra (PUCESI).

References

- 1. Fine, C.H.: El nuevo ciclo empresarial. Ventajas competitivas en la era de la velocidad. Paidós, Barcelona (2000).
- PWC: Global Entertainment and Media Outlook 2015-2019. Available on: http:// www.pwc.com/gx/en/industries/entertainment-media/outlook.html (2015).
- 3. WAN: World Trends Database 2014. Asociación Mundial de Diarios, WAN-IFRA. Available n: www.wan-ifra.org (2015).
- 4. XESCOM: Barómetro de Gestión de la Comunicación. Survey of 350 Spanish media companies, conducted by the network XESCOM and Research Group Novos Medios in the Faculty of Communication at the University of Santiago de Compostela. Available on: http://novosmedios.org/xescom/?lang=es (2015)
- 5. OCDE: The OECD innovation strategy: Getting a head start on tomorrow. Available on: http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org (2010).
- Schumpeter, J.A.: Capitalism, socialism and democracy. London: Routledge, London (1943).
- 7. Campos-Freire, F.: Adaptación de los medios tradicionales a la innovación de los metamedios. El Profesional de la Información, 24 (4), 441--450 (2015).
- 8. Kotler, P.: Fundamentos del marketing. Addison-Wesley, Madrid (2015).
- Osterwalder, A., Pigneur, Y., Tucci, C.L.: Clarifying Business Models: origins, present, and future of the concept. Communications of the Association for Information Systems, 16, 1--25 (2005).
- 10. Osterwalder, A.: The Business ModelOntology. A proposition in a design science approach. University of Lausanne: Lausanne (doctoral thesis) (2004).
- 11. Goyanes, M.: Estrategias y modelos de negocio: Aclaración de conceptos y terminología de la prensa en Internet. Estudios sobre el Mensaje Periodístico, 1, 419--431 (2013).
- 12. Davenport, T.H., Beck, J.C.: La economía de la atención: el nuevo valor de los negocios. Paidós, Barcelona (2002).
- 13. WAN-IFRA: The impact of programmatic advertising on news publishers. Report Shaping the Future of News Publishers. Available on: www.wan-ifra.org (2015).
- 14. Paracuellos, J.Ch., Benghozi, P.J.: Télévision. L'ére du numérique. La Documentation Française, París (2011).
- 15. Fabernovel: "GAFAnomics, 4 super powers to out perform in the network economy". Available on: www.fabernovel.com (2014).
- 16. Picard, R.G.: Twilight or New Dawn of Journalism. Evidence from the changing news ecosystem. Journalism Studies, 15 (5), 500--510 (2014).
- 17. Bolter, J.D., Grusin, R.: Remediation. Understanding New Media. MIT Press, Cambridge (2000).
- Manovich, L.: El lenguaje de los nuevos medios de comunicación: la imagen en la era digital. Paidós, Barcelona (2005).
- 19. Manovich, L.: Software Takes Command. Bloomsbury Academic, New York (2013).
- 20. Porter, M. E.: Ser competitivo. Ediciones Deusto, Barcelona (2009).
- 21. Tofler, A.: La tercera ola. Barcelona: Paza&Janés, Barcelona (1980).
- 22. Islas, O.: Internet 2.0. El territorio digital de los prosumidores. Revista de Estudios Culturales, 3 (5), 43-- 63 (2010).
- 23. Copeland, J.: Inteligencia artificial. Alianza Editorial, Madrid (1996).
- 24. Norving, P., Russell, S.: Inteligencia artificial. Pearson, Madrid (2004).
- 25. Lèvy, P.: ¿Qué es lo virtual? Paidós, Barcelona (1999).
- 26. Rheingold, H.: Realidad virtual: los mundos artificiales generados por ordenador modificarán nuestras vidas. Gedisa, Barcelona (2009).

Possibilities and limits of virtual ethnography as a research technique for political and corporate communication

Pablo Vázquez-Sande, Andrea Valencia-Bermúdez {blinho87@gmail.com, andrea.v.bermudez}@gmail.com University of Santiago de Compostela

Abstract. The emergence of virtual environments as a context, as a tool, and as a research objective (in other words, the Internet as a new anthropological space), has led to the adoption of new specific techniques to apprehend these new fields, and not only as sources. Virtual environments are also seeen as universes in which take place communication processes that, without entirely disengage from from those produced in physical settings, have some pecularities that require a new approach methodology. Therefore, this theoretical article is intended to serve as critical review of the virtual ethnography, while analyzing the limits and possibilities of this technique in the fields of political and corporate communication, since this tool can be very useful in this fields.

Keywords: Virtual ethnography – ethnocommunication – political communication – corporate communication.

1 Introduction

1.1. Definition of virtual ethnography

Since the emergence of the concept of virtual ethnography, the main discussion has been focused on its hypothetical autonomy as regards the classical ethnography. In this regard, two opposing trends appeared: those who defend that virtual ethnography has distinctive elements, and those who believe that it is the application of the classic ethnography to a new object of study, the Internet.

This face-to-face has been produced in parallel with the development of two ranges of determinism (technical and social) that tackles the technology impact in social sciences from two opposing perspectives, while theoreticians such as Carmona consider neither technology acts independently from the social to finally mould it, nor the social stands as the head of technological development [1].

In any case, Sören [2] summarizes the ten principles that Hine [3] attributes to virtual ethnography, deriving from reflection on how to deal with the three categories of limitations that affect the cyberspace (changes in the role of time and space, changes in communication, and changes in the role of social media):

1. Understand the Internet as a place to create new communicative spaces of interaction.

2. The Internet as an interconnected communication space with face-to-face interaction and not as an aloof communication space.

3. The evolution from a "multi-located" (i.e., it can be performed in several communities at the same time) to one that sees it as fluid, dynamic and mobile.

4. Due to its fluency, ethnography is reformulated with the subject of study and follows the flow of interactions toward new spaces.

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_53

5. This research technique has as challenge the configuration between the virtual and real worlds.

6. The immersion in the context of study is intermittent, as the interaction in these spaces.

7. The bias of virtual ethnography, face with the holistic aspiration of the classical technique.

8. It requires interaction of the researcher with technology through the medium conducting ethnography.

9. Any interaction with informants is valid.

10. It is characterized by a continuous reformulation and adaptation to the virtual environment.

It is, therefore, the response of the ethnographic method to a new reality emerged with the rise of ICT [2], so that it is intended an implication and integration of online and offline life, rather than seeking to work towards a model that highlights the differences between classical and virtual ethnography. As far as we are concerned, it is vital to overcome that opposed vision in benefit of an holistic model that incorporates an overlap and integration of online and offline fields. Doing the opposite means incorporating a barrier from research that does not exist in the empirical ground, where the coexistence and integration of both areas is accepted quite naturally from a theoretical and daily practice point of view.

Thus, instead of begging for a virtual ethnography that, as proposed by Ramírez [4], distinguishes between two areas of study (online ethnography and outline ethnography), we consider it more opportune to approach this new technique from an integral point of view, especially when the influxes of online and offline universes are increasing, and synergies between them discourage a methodology against nature and with borders.

As is to be expected, the advent of a new methodology always implies the emergence, or at least the review, of the support techniques [5], even though in the case of the virtual ethnography there is the circular premise that "devices are not only tools, but mediating elements that change practices, institutions and individuals and have effects on ethnographic practices" [6].

In any case, the essential features of ethnography as a social research technique remain, albeit adapted to the new digital environment [7]: the phenomenological character, the relatively persistent permanence -now reduced- of the ethnographer, the holistic and naturalistic vision -reduced but still an aspiration- and the inductive nature -participant observation is intermittent but remains the base. –

All of this regardless of the diversity of terminology related to this technique [8]: cyber-ethnography, cyberspace ethnography, virtual ethnography, media anthropology, mediated ethnography, and ethnography through the Internet. All of these notions share the object of analysis of this new sociability [9], derived from the Internet as an everyday device that promotes the formation of more or less stable communities, with attention to the new schemes of proposed relations: human-machine, nature-culture and biology / robotic-techno-science [8].

3 Ethnocommunication

Virtual ethnography is a suitable technique to use in a variety of scientific fields, from anthropology to psychology or sociology, to communication, where the ethnoinformative practices allow us to analyse interactions with communication purposes between users, users and media, and users and communication agents-. Therefore, it should be clear that "ethnography as research methodology is not restricted to social anthropology" [15], while the social and sociological component cannot be disregarded. This technique is focused on the study of social interactions on the Internet, where practices, meanings and cultural identities intermingle through various channels" [9].

Also, this technique should be approached from the perspective of a multisemiotics ethnography¹ [13], taking into account that it is "one of the most innovative areas of what, in general terms, is known as qualitative research in communication science [...] where it is being produced a disintegration of the observation "place", and it is being strengthened researchers attention to the 'interaction', in the abstract, ubiquitous and decentralized" [10].

From the first time that the concept of "ethnography of communication" was theorized in 1964 in the *American Anthropologist* journal by the socio-linguist Dell Hymes², there have been identified a number of trends using this qualitative technique, as Soriano notes [10]:

a) Media-centrist Ethnography: the study of news production processes in newsrooms, especially in the 70s, which represents the beginning of the breakdown of material frontiers of the fieldwork.

b) Relationships between journalists - sources: the study of human relationships between editors and information agents.

c) Audience reception: careful observation of the immediate environment in which micro-social reception processes of the media are produced.

d) Virtual ethnographies, for which practices described in 1.1. may be applied.

In any case, much of the application possibilities of this technique lie, as Sören notes [2b], in social networks and, more particularly, in "understanding the use given to them by individuals" [2b]. For this reason, it is proposed a threefold approach to these environments: as a research tool, due to the high rate of penetration and the high degree of data segmentation; as a data source, both of individuals and their interactions; and as a context where the action happens, "from the everyday life of narratives made by individuals about common events, to more thorough interactions on political issues" [2b].

As it has been shown, the four noted research areas point the role of the media as essential agents in the process, while from our perspective it is crucial to implement virtual ethnography in non-mediated models, precisely under new contexts arising on the net, not only as a communication channel but also as a communicative product itself.

In other words, it is about using this technique in the field of corporate communication, in line with the rise of research in this field, which allows leaving behind methodological proposals focused exclusively on processes in which media are involved.

¹ It allows new procedures to access to information; consolidates data validation by creating new crossings to compare sources (...); to analyze and interpret information without leaving a textual format, since interviews and conversations are directly written; opens new ways for organizing interpretation and argumentation; and allows cross-referencing and development of links to media (text, picture, video, sound, etc.) in all phases of the investigation [15].

 $^{^{2}}$ In its beginning, this concept was related with a double anthropological approach to the problems of language: the first is to transcend the fragmented contributions of the disciplines mentioned above [ethno-linguistic, psycholinguistic ...] and move to directly investigate the use of language in situational contexts; and, secondly, you have to move away from the linguistic form as a framework for the community context, investigating communicative areas as a whol, and that any use of channels and codes of communication should be seen as resources applied by members of the community [10].

4 Political and institutional communication

Boundaries between political and institutional communication are not the aim of this research (works on this issue may be found at García Orosa and Vázquez Sande [11] and Vázquez Sande [12], but they are taken as areas of interest in which it is possible to implement virtual ethnography as a technique.

For this purpose, we would probably find ourselves in the land of corporate communication that targets a wider audience, since one of their essential features is that they are targeted to universal receivers, delimited by the territorial boundaries of the institution limits, independently that sometimes it can be used segmentation techniques that favour a more effective relationship.

In any case, it seems underniably there is growing interest in political communication around the academia. This is not only reflected in the increase of PhD thesis focused on this discipline, but also in the emergence of research groups with expertise in the field. Simultneously, it is taking place a remarkable professionalization in this domain, which contributes to academic progress in this matter.

Therefore, we consider it appropriate and relevant to analyze what are the possibilities and limits of use of virtual ethnography in the fields of corporate and institutional communication, land with boundaries sometimes blurred, and whose clear distinction may contribute this research technique, characterized by the development and ongoing review of the subject, which also allows it to adapt to changes currently affecting the Spanish political ecosystem.

5 Methodology

Our research is divided into three consecutive parts, mainly using two techniques: bibliographic review and in-depth interviews with experts, with the aim of responding to our two research questions: What are the thematic lines that, within the political and institutional communication, have applied virtual ethnography in the Hispano-American environment? What are the potentials and limits of this technique in both disciplines?

For this purpose, it has been madde thorough review of published research in recent years, combining this technique to each of the two disciplines in search engines and specific platforms that allow us to detect papers, articles and books (and chapters), so that we can get an accurate reflection as faithful as possible.

Subsequently, it is made a reflection on possibilities of virtual ethnography, and the limits that can be imposed as a research technique from the perspective of the socio-political context itself and the uses of the Internet, among other conditions.

Once this work is done, it was conducted a semistructured in-depth interview with the expert Israel Márquez, one of the most authorised spokesmen in Spain regarding the implementation of this technique, in order to outline the conclusions at which we arrived.

6 Results

As it has been explained, the first part of the analysis was a revision of Hispano-American research on our area of interest in which virtual ethnography had been used as a technique. We have used search engines linking "political communication" to "virtual ethnography", and "institutional communication" to "virtual ethnography". This procedure helped us to obtain this exiguous relation:

> "Construcción del candidato -marca en las redes sociales. El uso de Twitter y Facebook en las elecciones a presidente en España, 2011"

(Figueroa, González and Núñez, 2012³.)

- "Grafitis políticos: pintadas y participación política de los jóvenes" (Reyes and Daza, 2012⁴.)
- "Redes sociales virtuales. Más allá de la mediación tecnológica" (García and Uscátegui, 2011⁵.)
- "Acción colectiva y movimientos sociales en las redes digitales. Aspectos históricos y metodológicos" (Sádaba, 2012⁶.)
- "Jóvenes en la red: ¿hacia un espacio público virtual?" (García, 2012⁷.)

As it can be concluded, the small number of investigations, most of them in the Hispano-American context, are so far oriented, almost exclusively, to electoral participation, leaving on the margin a great number of subjects that could use this technique.

And, on that subject, we will discuss other research lines in which virtual ethnography could be used to study issues related to political and corporate communication. Therefore, it is proposed a Decalogue on which we integrate ethnography proposals from the organization and the receptors to which it may be applied the participant observation and semi-structured interviews as key tools of this technique:

1. The motivations of a group of citizens who follow various political or several parties in a particular social network to find out why they are taking that decision, in order to further analyse the relationship established between them, to check whether the information obtained is useful to determine their intention to vote (if what these directly interested sources share a virtual has electoral impact or influence).

2. With a group of informants declaring themselves undecided or abstaining, it could be analysed if the fact of being exposed to political stimuli in social networks (via political parties profiles or accounts on social networks; via content published by the media; and via personal contacts) affects its final decision to vote and, if so, who to vote for.

3. Placing ourselves in an organization ethnography, identify the reasons of the presence or absence of a political party, candidate or institution on emergent social platforms such as Snapchat and Periscope, and establish whether or not the familiarisation with the virtual environment is a push factor pressuring the use of these tools.

4. In the case of specific social networks for party supporters, it could be investigated what kind of reactions cause in the community: if it increases their feeling of belonging by engaging with this tool of internal communication; if it is done as a reflexive action, without getting involved to a greater extent; or if it affects on the way they share content on the virtual community.

5. From the determination of a community of users from a political party or another institution and its rival, it may be analysed how is established the discourse

³ Available on the website: <u>http://www.alice-comunicacionpolitica.com/abrir-ponencia.php?f=247-</u> F50000ad22471342180050-ponencia-1.pdf. It should be noted that, while authors affirm that they have

⁴ Available on the website: http://ibero-

revistas.metabiblioteca.org/index.php/ripsicologia/article/view/240/208

⁵ Available on the website: <u>http://www.acorn-redecom.org/papers/2011Gil_Espanol.pdf</u>

⁶ Sádaba, Igor (2012): "Acción colectiva y movimientos sociales en las redes digitales. Aspectos históricos y metodológicos" in *ARBOR Ciencia, Pensamiento y Cultura*, 188.

⁷ Available on the website: <u>http://catalogo.ulima.edu.pe/conferencias/felafacs2012/eje2/36.pdf</u>

between the two and how that conflict is reflected in this receptors study.

6. Analyse the motivations of participation in a community of active citizens in institutional platforms on websites that collect ideas (i.e., through initiatives such as participatory budgeting) or included as a citizen control, with the aim of establishing models of encouragement to other members group and encourage more dynamic participation from the government administration.

7. In a crisis situation, identify the main sources of information used by citizens, in order to know the role played by digital administration channels. Also, interviews may help to see the causes of these patterns of behaviour and to establish the guidelines for the re-legitimization of the institutional action and, thus, make the entity become a source of reference in these contexts of particular sensitivity.

8. Taking "anonymous" informant profiles on social networks as subjects for the research (i.e., whose features and activity do not allow to verify who is behind in the offline world), and who, nevertheless, have an active participation and interaction with any politician or institution, identify the reasons for this deliberate "anonymity" and study how the behaviour patterns would change in the event of intervention from a "real" profile (that is, when the person is clearly identifiable⁸), while there are studied the relationships with other users between the virtual and real identity.

9. Studying, within a community of informants who access corporate information and relate to the entity through a mobile app, the reasons why they use that formula and analyse the correlation between the use of that tool / channel and the degree of participation and involvement.

10. Analyse professional routines and relationships established in the team of electoral campaigns in the digital realm, even determining how these interactions are played out of the Internet, using a model of mixed ethnography.

As we have seen, it has been suggested an extensive list of research areas that show the diversity of virtual environments in which this technique may be applied (social networks, websites, mobile apps...); publics (captives, unconcerned, undecided...); situations... In short, a wide range of axes on which the virtual ethnography can be used in the field of political and corporate communication, but on the understanding that it is a relative few explored field.

Perhaps the reasons could be related to their limitations, from our perspective, on the use of the virtual ethnography in these two areas, reflecting intrinsic difficulties of the technique itself that increase when applied to these areas due to their particularities. In this sense, we believe it is essential to pay attention to these four factors that, in our view, limit the scope of the virtual ethnography in our areas of interest:

1. The special secrecy of political parties, which will hamper the development of research within these organizations when blocking the access to ethnographers. If virtual ethnography encounters this difficulty to develop research within the issuer circle, it will be more likely to happen in the case of political parties or politicians themselves.

They carry out strategic activities in which decisions are restricted to very few people (in some cases, to a leader and his top advisor); so keepers would deny

⁸ Not surprisingly, the subjects "are anonymous and are presented with multiple identities" [15], while one of the strengths of this technique is used, "there are clear advantages to develop ethnography in cyberspace when the subject of study (...) makes anonymity and digital mediation, which allows Internet, a boon for inquiries among these study subjects "[15].

access to ethnographers (and therefore would prevent their immersion in the field to perform a slow, sustained and systematic observation). Also, the researcher would have information and may reveal issues that surely do not concern the centres of power in a more and more competitive context, in which public image is an essential asset, so it is not difficult to guess the reluctance of these organizations to participate in such projects.

2. The changing dynamics on the field of political communication, derived from the professionalization of the sector, of the great advances implemented by academia, of changing contexts that it is living (specially from the electoral point of view in Spain); conflict with one of the essential features of the virtual ethnography, the most time-consuming research technique. It is therefore a high risk of starting a project that could become quickly out-dated, due to the giddy pace of political and corporate areas, since they are subjected to socio-political pressures of multiple contexts.

3. One of the peculiarities of this research technique is the inability to universalize results, since it focuses on the singular and the particular. This factor, together with the cyclical and contingent elements of each campaign and institution, make conclusions to have a reduced and very specific impact, due to the high territorialized component of our fields of study, which contrasts with the analysis of de-territorialized communities, a typical aspect of virtual ethnography, where geography is contingent but not decisive.

4. The difficulty of creating that long lasting trust relationship ("rapport") due to the issues under discussion, probably because of the delay in the implementation of a democratic system in Spain. In the case of a virtual ethnography of receivers, there is a notable reluctance to participate in this research. Something similar happens with virtual ethnographies of organizations where, in addition, the absence of previous similar projects becomes a reason to decide not to collaborate.

5 Discussion and conclusions

The use of virtual ethnography in the field of political and corporate communication is still residual, and not only because it is a recent research technique, but also because there are a number of specific features in both areas that limit the use of this methodological tool. Among them, we refer to the difficulty of generating strong relationships between ethnographers and informants because of the social reluctance to tackle political issues (probably because of a democratic deficit derived from the delay in the consolidation of a democracy in Spain); the secrecy of the organizations because of the high strategic component of institutions and parties; the limitation issues which as particular to establish general guidelines; and the fast pace of change of these institutions (both public and private), which may cause rapid obsolescence for a research technique that, by nature, is the most time-consuming.

Nevertheless, it has been proposed a Decalogue of lines of research in which, in our opinion, the use of virtual ethnography is relevant, since it is a technique that enables us to better meet our objectives. Thus, we have outlined proposals that include both virtual ethnographies of the organization and receivers, integrating initiatives from different virtual environments (social networks, apps, websites ...) and with different study communities.

Therefore, the use of virtual ethnography in the political and corporate communication is a methodological challenge, since there is an almost total lack of background, which shall not preclude the settlement of this technique in this fields, as it is the only one that allows us to explore areas that so far have not focused the attention of researchers on political and corporate communication.

6 References

- 1. Carmona, J. (2011): "Tensiones de la etnografía virtual: teoría, metodología y ética en el estudio de la comunicación mediada por computador" en *Revista Faro*, 13, <u>http://web.upla.cl/revistafaro/n13/art03.htm</u>
- Sören, A (2014): "Etnografia virtual nº 1: Principios de la Etnografia virtual (Christine Hine, 2004)", <u>http://blog.isdfundacion.org/2014/11/24/etnografiavirtual-no-1-principios-de-la-etnografia-virtual-christine-hine-2004/</u> Sören, A (2014b): "Etnografia virtual nº 2: Etnografia virtual en redes sociales: el caso de Facebook (Hei-Man, 2008)", <u>http://blog.isdfundacion.org/2014/12/01/etnografia-virtual-no-2-etnografiavirtual-en-redes-sociales-el-caso-de-facebook-hei-man-2008/</u>
- 3. Hine, C. (2004): *Etnografia virtual*. Barcelona: UOC.
- Ramírez, F. (2015): "La etnografía virtual: los desafíos metodológicos de la Investigación social", <u>http://manualdelinvestigador.blogspot.com.es/2015/04/laetnografía-virtual-los-desafíos.html</u>
- Fernández, N. and Chao, P. (2015): "Investigación etnográfica virtual, competencia del tutor y asesor a distancia. Método y experiencias", <u>http://reposital.cuaed.unam.mx:8080/jspui/bitstream/123456789/3671/1/VE13.05</u> <u>9.pdf</u>
- 6. Ardèvol, e. and Vayreda, a. (2002): *La mediación tecnológica en la práctica etnográfica*. Barcelona: UOC.
- 7. Del Rincón, D. (1997): *Metodologies qualitatives orientades a la comprensió*. Barcelona: UOC.
- Fernández, C. and Ortiz, Á. (2013): "Consideraciones a la ciberetnografía: una propuesta para el estudio de las expresiones juveniles" in Ovalle, P. and Ongay, L. (coords.): *Making of: la práctica de la investigación sociocultural*. Mexicali: Universidad Autónoma de Baja California.
- 9. Domínguez, D., Beaulieu, A. et al. (2007): "Etnografía virtual" in *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 8 (3).
- 10. Soriano, J. (2014): "Las nuevas reglas de la etnografía de la comunicación", http://portalcomunicacion.com/uploads/pdf/30_esp.pdf
- 11. García Orosa, B. and Vázquez Sande, P. (2012): "Los gabinetes de prensa institucionales en los ayuntamientos españoles en Internet" in *Estudios sobre el Mensaje Periodístico*, 18. Madrid: Universidad Complutense.
- Vázquez Sande, P. (2015): "Tuits institucionales: del servicio ciudadano a la proclama política" en Actas VII Congreso Latina de Comunicación Social "La pantalla insomne", http://www.ravistalatinges.org/15SLCS/2015_libro/023_Vazquez.pdf.

http://www.revistalatinacs.org/15SLCS/2015_libro/023_Vazquez.pdf

- 13. Mason, B. y Dicks, B. (1999): "The Digital Ethnographer" en *Cybersociology, Issue 6: Research Methodology Online.*
- Mosquera, M. (2008): "De la Etnografía antropológica a la Etnografía virtual. Estudio de las relaciones sociales mediadas por Internet" in *Fermentum*, 53.
- 15. Ruiz, M. (2008): "Ciberetnografía: comunidad y territorio en el entorno virtual" in Ardèvol, E., Estalella, A. and Domínguez, D.: *La mediación tecnológica en la práctica etnográfica*. Donostia: Ankulegi Antropologia Elkartea.

Digital convergence in Ecuadorian media: some strengths and weaknesses

Diana Rivera-Rogel¹, Claudia Rodríguez-Hidalgo¹ and Mayra Gonzales¹

¹ Department of Communication, ECU-Digital Group. Universidad Técnica Particular de Loja, San Cayetano high s /n, Champagnat street, CP 11-01-608, Loja, Ecuador.

{Diana Rivera-Rogel, Claudia Rodríguez-Hidalgo, Mayra Gonzales¹} drivera@utpl.edu.ec

Abstract. Convergence in mass media goes beyond the simple integration of the act of production, the usage of multi-media, and remodeling management. It refers to a multi-dimensional process that affects the technological, business, and professional fields, as well as users of mass media, thereby promoting the integration of tools, spaces, work methods, and previously disaggregated languages. Ecuadorian media began to seek convergence in 1998. This article analyzes the state of the art of digital convergence in Ecuador based on two case studies: *El Telégrafo* and *El Universo*. The conclusions of this study stress the need for information provider companies to assume the challenges that are implied in reaching audiences that are becoming more and more diverse.

Key words: integration of media production, convergence, multimedia, mass communication.

1. Introduction

The evolution of ICTs has led to the transformation of information providers. This is mainly due to the phenomenon of technological convergence. The integration of media production, the new models of production routines and journalist profiles, as well as multi-media phenomena, and new media narratives are key factors of this change. Moreover, the increase of access to the Internet, the development of social networks, the role of users as pro-consumers, plus the growing usage of mobile devices and new trends in publicity make the Internet an important tool in mass media analysis.

Consequently, many media operators have to operate within the framework of innovation and openness. In this way, they can better meet the needs of readers, while also seeking new forms of doing business that facilitate the financial sustainability of media companies [11].

This article presents an analysis of the state of the art of digital convergence in Ecuador that is based on two case studies: the national newspapers *El Telégrafo* (public) and *El Universo* (private). Furthermore, it describes the main characteristics of the new consumers of media in Ecuador, as well as the professional challenges of journalists regarding the process of ICTs, and information provider needs. The main conclusions of this study thus serve as a starting point for a more ample study of digital convergence in Ecuador, which are applicable in other contexts.

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_54

2. Convergence

According to Ester Appelgren, who is quoted by Moreno [9], it is possible that the first introduction of the concept of convergence was developed by Nicholas Negroponte in 1979, i.e. when he introduced the famous model of convergence that was based on three converging industries: television, radio and cinema. The printing and publicity industry and the computer industry of the time were likewise influential. Ecuadorian media, however, began to seek convergence in 1998. This phenomenon influences other important spheres such as the professional training of journalists, and the re-categorization of the profession, which can only be done with the feedback of actual journalists. Ramón Salaverría et al [18] refer to a process that affects various fields:

A multi-dimensional focus, which is facilitated by the generalized implementation of digital technologies of telecommunication, affects the technological, commercial, professional and editorial aspects of mass media thereby promoting an integration of tools, spaces, work methods, and previously disaggregated languages. The journalists elaborate contents that are distributed via multiple platforms, e.g. by means of individual languages.

On the other hand, the technological revolution facilitates "enables modern print media producers to take advantage of new media, which facilitate audio-visual publications and which are potentially, interactive" [1]. At the same time, it motivates the planning of various forms of reaching the public, for example, by means of downloading documents, organizing chats, forums, or permanent updating news, or interactive maps to tell stories. The user exclusively accesses the contents that are of interest to them, thereby personalizing the information channel. All this propitiates change in the dissemination of information products, and consequently the informative business [16].

Within the context of digitalization, it is important to know how experts define convergence. Regarding journalistic convergence, Historian Armando Piñeiro [14] states that: "The convergence of the media involves the organization of the new information companies, which arise from the fusion and the purchase of different media by the same business produced in the decade of the 1980s and the 1990s".

With regard to the above, Néstor García Canclini [3] holds the view that: "...today digital convergence is articulating multimedia integration, which enables us to see and to listen on a mobile, palm-held device, or audio iPhones, or see images, written text, and promote the transmission of data, by taking photographs and videos, saving them, communicating with others, and instantly receiving new ideas". This view is not journalistic, but anthropological.

García Canclini speaks of reception, compared with Salaverría, who prefers the term "production".

For Jenkins [7], media convergence is not only based on the inter-connection of distribution channels, platforms and technologies, but covers an entire process of cultural transformation that affects the way in which mass media are used. In this regard, Lisy Navarro [10] states that the "online newspaper will convert into a form

of communication that encapsulates the written press, the simultaneousness of the radio, and television images".

The sociologist Manuel Castells, who is cited in García de Torres and Pou [4], guarantees that there are indices of a strategy of convergence on behalf of Internet and software companies, and that traditional communication media will be affected by an insufficient bandwidth.

We cannot talk about success or failure of media convergence seeing that this will depend on the vision and strategy of the company that adopts it: integration, interactivity and hyper-mediality [6].

3. Methodology

This research examines digital convergence in Ecuadorian media. For this study, we revised existing literature about the topic, i.e. with the aim of determining the trends that characterize this phenomenon in the country, such as emerging contexts for the management of information. Media professionals thus have before them a vast challenge.

Within this context, two case studies were selected that help to map out the characteristics of media convergence in Ecuador, namely two national newspapers: El Universo www.eluniverso.com and El Telégrafo www.eltelegrafo.com.ec.

For both of these newspapers, we revised their webpages, i.e. given that in this work did not analyze contents, but structures and tools. This revision was carried out during a short period of time. We can also add to this visits to the media providers and interviews with content editors to discover the dynamics of both forms of media related to the process of convergence.

The selection criteria of the media are reliant upon the nature of them. El Universo is private and *El Telégrafo* is public. Both are circulated nationally and comprise two of the oldest in the country.

The objective is to influence the trend of the work that is managed by public and private media in the country, as well as to determine the strengths and weaknesses of convergence in the technological, commercial and professional fields.

4. Ecuador on the path towards convergence: a general overview

In the first instance, the network was only used to build presence, that is, where there was a complete 'switch' of the contents in the paper version. This milestone was experienced in the nineties. In 1995, the newspaper Hoy published its first online edition.

Between 1997 and 2000, we witnessed a standard growth in online newspapers. Conversely, between 2001 and 2005 no data were recorded. Whereas, for 2006, there were 22 newspapers on the Web. This number was mantained until 2008. From that time until today, the number has increased to 10 daily newspapers.

<i>Box 1:</i> GROWTH OF CYBER-NEWSPAPERS												
YEAR	1997	1998	1999	2000	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013

NUMBER OF	7	9	10	13	22	22	22	29	30	30	31	32
DAILES												

Source: The author with information from the fourth report about Hispanic dailies on the Internet (1997-2000), WAN (2007), with data from 2006 and WAN (2009), with data from 2008.

In second phase, some changes were produced in the content. Thanks to the inclusion of new technology, the image was being adapted to the new environment.

In 2009, *El Universo*, changed its structure and introduced a new image to its readers. Likewise, *online* newsrooms were organized, which involved hiring a different team to the printed press so that it could organize, prepare and publish information on the *Web*.

The same thing happened to *El Telégrafo*, who while renewing their printed editions and after being seized by the State, implemented their *website* and subsequently the applications for mobile devices.

Currently, a vast number of Ecuadorian dailies implemented a model that was more or less integrated among the digital and printed media production companies. In a certain way, they developed models that were adapted to the reality of the environment- i.e. related to the evolution of ICTs.

5. Case Studies: El Universo and El Telégrafo

El Universo. Founded by Ismael Pérez Pazmiño, its first publication circulated on September 16, 1921. Several years later, in 1957, it was endowed with the slogan "The biggest national daily".

Its institutional website <u>www.eluniverso.com</u> states that the company has evolved as a result of technological and journalistic changes, which has required alterations in its infrastructure. For this reason, the newspaper has been produced in different locations- each of which is adopted to its time and current situation.

El Universo was put online in 1996. At first, only two people were in charge of updating the *website*. Then, there were four. During that same year, the newspaper had no newsroom. With the passage of time, however, small teams were put together. Since January 2011, journalists from the print and digital version have been working in the same physical space, but without incurring the full adoption of a convergence by the media. The Assistant Editor is currently the link between the two editions.

El Universo has been on the Web for 19 years, and is currently published in three different platforms:

1. Websites.

2. Social networks: Facebook <u>www.facebook.com/eluniversoec</u>: 877,039 likes; Twitter: <u>www.twitter.com/eluniversocom</u>: 1,2 M followers; Instagram: <u>https://instagram.com/eluniversocom</u>: 48.9K followers.

The newsroom is comprised of the following: a content editor or chief editor, an assistant editor, eight digital journalists, two videographers, three we developers, a web-master and responsable for Marketing. To this we can add a technical department

that gives maintenance to all the products of *El Universo*, which comprises seven people, five IT staff, and two designers.

The basic characteristics of digital newspapers –namely multimediality, hypertextuality and interactivity- are moderately developed in *El Universo*, although there is a need to increase an exclusive section for disseminating information in real time, performing live transmissions from news productions or coverage of other media, and online services.

Moreover, it is evident that planning of content was made by thinking about the print editions and not for them and the online platforms, seeing that a great part of the content that is digitally distributed comes from the print publication, while the material is exclusively made for digital platforms is minimal. So, in 2014, only three videos were highlighted in the report of Accountability of *El Universo*².

Regarding the model of interactivity, it is found during the stage of initiation. Fewer tools are provided to the user –social networks, forums, and mobile technology testimony (citizen journalism), which have not been fully exploited. The news, which is what readers need to comment upon, are closed to that possibility. The challenge is to seek, through interactive tools, the greatest journalistic advantage possible, and, of course, to pay careful attention to the audience.

As for the business model of this form of media, which Picard [13] describes as the architecture of the product, its services and information flow are necessary for highlighting some of the factors that have obliged media managers to reformulate the strategies, products, and even the contents of their media, especially since late 2009, i.e. when the Government approved a tax reform that included a 12% tax on a newspaper³.

There are also other measures such as the establishment of a basic salary for communicators and journalists, requirements for the professionalization of journalists, the banning of advertising of products that are considered harmful (junk food, alcohol and tobacco); and the obligation to publish the number of copies that print media sell. All this represents a major blow to the media industry in the country, which has created forced cutbacks, suppressed certain products (media supplements, magazines, etc.), and reduced the circulation of copies, etc.

El Universo, for example, faced heavy criticism and even legal proceedings initiated in 2011 by President Rafael Correa, which was due to a publication of the erstwhile chief columnist of the newspaper, Emilio Palacio, in a column titled: Say no to lies (No a las mentiras), alluding to the Ecuadorian President.

It should be noted that, traditionally, El Universo, joint-stock company, has been one of the biggest newspaper companies of Ecuador. According to the financial report of the Superintendence of Companies of Ecuador (2013), this media recorded losses greater than \$ 2 million and a financial profitability of -0.0701⁴.

² Retrieved from: http://www.eluniverso.com/noticias/2015/03/12/nota/4651466/rendicioncuentas-wwweluniversocom?src=portada on November 15, 2015

³ Retrieved from: <u>http://www.eluniverso.com/2009/12/04/1/1356/aprobado-iva-papel-periodico.html</u> on November 13, 2015.

⁴ Retrieved from: <u>http://www.supercias.gov.ec/consultas/inicio.html?height=578#</u>, on November 14, 2015.

In spite of this, an effort is evidenced by digital publications through its *Web* site, which, according to the ranking <u>www.alexa.com</u>, the *El Universo* website is in seventh place of the most visited sites in the country⁵.

This is because 46% of digital users visit the Websites of newspapers, and the newspapers represent 6% of total Internet visits, 0.8% of pages viewed and 1.1% of the total time spent on digital platforms, according to World Press Trends in its report of 2014⁶.

Within this context, *El Universo* has made changes to the infrastructure and tries to position themselves on the network either through their website or in their social networks. For this, a description of their activities is included on its webpage, and the potential benefits for users and sources of income of which their budgets are supplemented. The business then begins to become increasingly complex-despite innovation, the main income still comes from the sale of copies and print advertising.

El Telégrafo. Founded in Guayaquil on February 16, 1884. It was given this name because Ecuador had access to the telegraph service that year, and was the first newspaper in the country to use that invention.

In 2007, the newspaper, which was on the verge of bankruptcy, was seized by the Ecuadorian State, and a new phase commenced by becoming the first public newspaper in the country. By 2014, more than 50% of the shares of the company belonged to the National Government at the Ministry of Telecommunications and Information Society.

Its website <u>www.telegrafo.com.ec</u> has an average of 1,057,916 visits per month⁷. During an interview Gissel Hidalgo, editor in charge of the Web, says that the work done by the media is not only directed to the website, but also to mobile devices such as iPhone, Android, or Ipads. In that sense, during the last year 4070 applications were downloaded from *El Telégrafo*, 1,718 of which were performed on iPads and 2352 were performed on Android systems.

Social networks: Facebook: <u>www.facebook.com/diarioeltelegrafo</u> that registers a total of 42.919 "likes"; Twitter: @el_telegrafo with 23K followers; Youtube: <u>www.youtube.com/eltelegrafoec</u> con 1.665 subscribers

In terms of structure, this form of media is distributed as follows: a general editorin-chief, a web platform editor, newspaper operators, promoter of social networks. The digital version of *El Telégrafo* has eight digital journalists in Guayaquil, i.e. where the headquarters of the general management of all digital content is located. While in Quito, the capital of Ecuador, four journalists are responsible for the coverage along with a photojournalist with specific functions that are also in charge of the videos: editing, the written segment of each video, etc.

⁵ Retrieved from: <u>http://www.alexa.com/siteinfo/www.eluniverso.com</u>, on November 15, 2015.

⁶ Information retrived from: <u>http://www.wan-ifra.org/reports/2015/10/01/world-press-trends-report-2015</u>, el 14 de noviembre de 2015.

⁷ Retrieved from the Report of Accountability El Telégrafo <u>http://www.telegrafo.com.ec/rendicion-cuentas/internas/interior.html?menu=1.3</u>, on November 11, 2015.

El Telégrafo participates with a minimum percentage in the sale of copies, an is subsidized. Even though, it registered losses of more than \$400,000 in 2013⁸.

El Telégrafo participates with a minimum percentage in the sale of copies, an is subsidized. Even though, it registered losses of more than \$ 400,000 in 2013.

However, this media has a multimedia section, which, although limited to videos, is in considerable number, and are highlighted to amplify information about a theme. Specific sections are observed for photos, infographs, maps, and others.

In as far as the business model, we did not observe personal services for digital users such as live spaces in the writing, supplements, and services that facilitate interaction with the user, more than social networks, which are not located in the media's website. Based on the above, one can say that this diary financially depends on the printed version of *El Telégrafo*. For this reason, specific contents are not being created for the digital user.

Comparing the characteristics of *El Telégrafo* with those of *El Universo*, it is seen that the former is more behind than the latter since there is no integration of newsrooms as such. An example of this is that each one has its own editor. On the other hand, it continues prioritizing the printed version, the contents of which are then reproduced on digital platforms such as websites and social networks.

5.1 International models of convergence

The panorama of digital convergence has motivated the creation of specialized cybermedia with a great emphasis on the participation of users, the integration of news items, innovation in the productive routine, and the incorporation of multimedia resources, among other factors.

Within this context, the General Media Group in Tampa, United States comprises an interesting model of a fusion of digital media writing, which was implemented in 2000. Another model that is highlighted in the United States is The *Washington Post*, which, by means of a project of integration, gathered its printed and digital media in one space.

Other dailies such as *The Times*, *Financial Times*, *The New York Times* and *USA Today* have also integrated their copywriting by taking advantage of the resources that both the written and digital platforms offer.

On the other hand, media such as *http://jn.sapo.pt/paginainicial*; *http://www.nytimes.com* and *www.elpais.com*, renewed their products between 2007 and 2008 – providing a great boost to the participation of the users- a strategy that has significantly grown since 2009.

In the Latin American context, we can highlight the examples of *El Tiempo* from Colombia, *El Comercio* de Perú, *La Nación* from Argentina and *El Mercurio* de Chile as initiators of the process of convergence- achieving notable success.

⁸ Información recuperada de: <u>http://www.supercias.gov.ec/consultas/inicio.html?height=578#</u>, el 15 de noviembre de 2015.

5.2 The new consumer

The increase of digital media in Ecuador is due to greater access to IVTs, plus the low costs of connection, and citizens that need to be informed and communicated to in not only national territory, but also in other geographical spheres [2].

"In the case of the Internet, there is a certain paradox with respect to the recipients of the information. On the one hand, there is the possibility of feedback by the users, which enables the author and the media provider to know better their receptors, to know instantly what they think and feel, and what their queries, preferences, and opinions are. On the other hand, the telematics networks convert the users in a universal auditorium. The message may be distributed, received, and frequently answered at any time and from any place"[5].

Taking as a basis this citation, we can see that today the participation of the user in digital mass media is permanent. This does not occur in traditional media, which could make it restricted per se-such as by sending letters to readers, for example.

For Howard Rheingold, who is cited in Pisani and Piotet [15], the main tools of participation in media are: *blogs*, wikis, RSS, *tagging*, social *bookmarking*, sites to share photos, videos or music, *mashups*, *podcasts*, *moblogs*, and others. These tools were consolidated in 2005 with the *Web* 2.0 concept, and enable the user not only to receive information, but also to exchange ideas.

There are various types of interactivity. Alain Lelu and Jean-Claude Marcovici, as cited in Rost [17], highlight two types of interactivity. However, these are centered on communicative interactivity, which coincides in part with these authors. Bretz, for example, speaks about an interactivity between individuals (communicative interactivity), but makes an additional observation in distinguishing two grades of interactivity: one completely interactive and another one mildly interactive.

5.3 Professional Challenges

The demands of media communication are now different to those that we used to have, says José Rivera Costales⁹, a multimedia journalist from Ecuador. He added that it is not only necessary to know how to redact a journalistic piece, to design a webpage, or write a news article for the radio and to present it, or to do a report, or prepare a news item for television, but it is also about managing hyper-textuality, multi-mediality, interactiveness, and, above all, those which are promoted by the participation of the users, which have made the media open their eyes to this new communication market.

Additionally, a contemporary journalist should be familiarized with cloud-based computing since they are not just tied to a computer; that mobility is basic at that moment. "It is not that important to know whether in the future these had fused completely –giving rise to a new electro-domestic product, but rather think that convergence is operating in a diverse manner: we used various apparatus to satisfy our desire for information, communication, education, and pastime according to the circumstances and needs" [12].

⁹ Personal interview with José Rivera Costales

Digital Convergence in Ecuadorian Media ...

In this sense, it is important to highlight that we are facing a situation in which power is in the user's hands, as well as how they consume information and how the time of profession itself is, compared with those that the media require as training for their journalists, and to incorporate within their companies people who are capable of meeting the needs of the users, and converting them in actions and services in the media, Meyer [8] explains it as follows: "In the same way that the development of modern agriculture led to a demand in variety in processed food, the era of information created a demand for processed information. We need someone who places it in a context, who gives it a theoretical framework, and suggests ways of using it".

Within the context of users, it is important to mention the young public (digital natives), whom, based on their particular characteristics, prefer the consumption of digital media. This implies arduous processes of innovation in media companies, which range from the incorporation of multi-tasking journalists to the creation of sections and contents capable of capturing the audience. However, one should not forget the big audience mayor, which has maintained their fidelity to printed media for several years, and which have the greatest capacity of consumption. This implies the segmentation of audiences with individual contents for each one.

6. Conclusions

La convergence of editorials is a means, not an end. The challenge is, on the one hand, in the training of journalists, and on the other, in the capacity of media companies to assume the challenges that implies meeting audiences with more and more diverse needs.

It could be said that there does not exist an ideal model of convergence, which may be assumed in a general way by all the communication media, given that within its design, the following should be taken into account: the social, economic, political and technological context in which the media are developed, which underscore the trends and needs – both the media and the audiences

The cases that have been analyzed, namely *El Telégrafo* and *El Universo*, are a sign of the integration of newsrooms implies the development of efficient mechanisms in the management of contents, but apart from this, they help to recognize that it is necessary to expand the gamut of services and products aimed at audiences with different needs, because beyond the new structuralization or organization of physical spaces, convergence implies a change of mentality of those who deal with media companies and wish to be part of this great challenge

Both *El Universo* and *El Telégrafo* as a strength of its printed version is that which leads its business models.

The business models of digital media should not only be concerned about creating vast quantities of products and services, but also the quality of these, and that can be adjusted to the needs of the public.

Finally, it is up to Ecuadorian media to describe and innovate the tools for the creation of contents, and take maximum advantage of the latest generation technology. Within this context, it is necessary for mobile technology to be developed and include as an additional element of the work of newspaper newsrooms- namely

that which we should add professional convergence, which helps to innovate the journalistic exercise.

7. References

1. Albornoz, L.: Periodismo digital. Los grandes diarios en la Red. La Crujía Ediciones, Buenos Aires (2006).

2. Coronel, G.: Anuario de las empresas de Comunicación de Ecuador. EdiLoja, Loja (2012).

3. García Canclini, N.: Lectores, espectadores e internautas. Editorial Gedisa, S.A., Barcelona (2007).

4. García de Torres, E., y Pou, M.: Características de la comunicación digital. En Díaz, J., y Salaverría, R. (Coords.), Manual de Redacción ciberperiodística, pp. 49-80. Editorial Ariel, Barcelona (2003).

5. García Jiménez, A. y Rupérez Rubio, P.: Aproximaciones al Periodismo Digital, Editorial Dykinson, Madrid (2007).

6. Igarza, R.: Nuevos medios. Estrategias de convergencia. Ed. Crujía, Buenos Aires (2008).

7. Jenkins, H.: Convergence culture. La cultura de la convergencia de los medios de comunicación. Paidós, Barcelona (2008).

8. Meyer, P.: El periódico élite del futuro. En Espada, A., & Hernández, E. (eds):. El fin de los periódicos. Duomo ediciones, Barcelona (2009).

9. Moreno, P.: Reinventando el periódico: *Una estrategia para la supervivencia de la prensa diaria*. EuroEditions, Madrid (2009).

10. Navarro, L.: Los periódicos online. Editorial Universitaria Potosina, México (2002).

11. Nee, R.C.: Creative Destruction: An Exploratory Study of How Digitally Native News Nonprofits Are Innovating Online Journalism Practices. JMM International Journal on Media Management, 15 (1), pp. 3-22. (2013).

12. Orihuela, J.L.: Sociedad de la información y nuevos medios de comunicación pública: claves para el debate. En Nueva Revista. Disponible en Internet en: http://www.unav.es/digilab/nr/ Consulta: 10 de noviembre de 2015. (2008).

13. Picard, R.G.: Commercialism and newspaper quality. Newspaper Research Journal, 25(1), pp. 54-65. (2004).

14. Piñeiro, A.: Enciclopedia del periodismo (1^a ed.). Valletta Ediciones SRL, Buenos Aires (2006).

15. Pisani, F., y Piotet, D.: La alquimia de las multitudes. Cómo la Web está cambiando el mundo. Paidós, Barcelona (2008).

16. Rojo, P.: El medio ubicuo: tecnologías para la distribución multiplataforma. En Cabrera, M. (Coord.), Evolución tecnológica y cibermedios, pp. 39-54. Comunicación Social, Zamora (2010).

17. Rost, A.: La interactividad en el periódico digital. Tesis doctoral dirigida por Dr. Miquel Rodrigo Alsina. Universidad Autónoma de Barcelona, Barcelona (2006).

18. Salaverría, R., García, J., y Masip, P.: Concepto de convergencia periodística. En López, X., y Pereira, X. (Coord): Convergencia digital. Reconfiguración de los Medios de Comunicación en España, pp. 41-64. Universidad Santiago de Compostela, USC (2010).

Part VI Pervasive Information Systems

Pervasive Patient Timeline for Intensive Care Units

André Braga¹, Filipe Portela^{1, 2}, Manuel F. Santos¹, José Machado¹, António Abelha¹, Álvaro Silva³, and Fernando Rua³

¹Algoritmi Research Centre, University of Minho, Portugal
 ²ESEIG, Porto Polytechnic, Porto, Portugal
 ³ Intensive Care Unit, Centro Hospitalar do Porto, Porto, Portugal
 andre.nevoabraga@gmail.com, {cfp, mfs}@dsi.uminho.pt, {jmac, abelha}@di.uminho.pt
 moreirasilva@me.com; fernandorua.sci@chporto.min-saude.pt

Abstract. This research work explores a new way of presenting and representing information about patients in critical care, which is the use of a timeline to display information. This is accomplished with the development of an interactive Pervasive Patient Timeline able to give to the intensivists an access in real-time to an environment containing patients clinical information from the moment in which the patients are admitted in the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) until their discharge This solution allows the intensivists to analyse data regarding vital signs, medication, exams, data mining predictions, among others. Due to the pervasive features, intensivists can have access to the timeline anywhere and anytime, allowing them to make decisions when they need to be made. This platform is patient-centred and is prepared to support the decision process allowing the intensivists to provide better care to patients due the inclusion of clinical forecasts.

Keywords. Pervasive Patient Timeline, Intensive Medicine, Intensive Care Unit, INTCare, Patient-centred, Timeline

1 Introduction

Over the years, technological devices and information systems have been introduced into medicine with the purpose of increasing the quality and efficiency of the health care facilities in the patient best interest [1, 2].

In the Intensive Medicine field several medical equipment was introduced into the Intensive Care Units (ICU) resulting in an increase of the amount of data available [3] (e.g. ventilators, vital signs monitors) in real-time. The high number of data available can be a problem because they also can be overwhelming to deal with, hindering their ability to combine all the information, analyse it and make a decision [4].

Another important aspect is also the fact that almost all of the device presents the information in its own unique way, be it graphs, tables, text or any other format, resulting in a need of learning about how to interpret each one of the devices.

These reasons gave origin to this research work. In this work a new and interactive platform was developed. It holds in one place data from different data sources (interoperability), homogenizes its representation and sorts it chronologically in order

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_55

to simplify data readability and facilitate the understanding of possible cause-effect relations. Therefore the work focus is to help intensivists in the decision making process. The research project was conducted and implemented in the ICU of the Hospital de Santo António, Centro Hospitalar do Porto.

The Pervasive Patient Timeline is a web platform and it presents several characteristics, such as, real-time data, flexibility, adaptability, interactivity, scalability and one of most important, the pervasive access to its features and the context awareness. With the implementation of these characteristics it focuses on addressing the difficulty associated with dealing with too many information presented in different ways by different devices. The Pervasive Patient Timeline looks to sort chronologically and standardize the presentation of clinical information in one platform by gathering the data from various medical devices and presenting it in its interface. In this way intensivists can have a faster and easier access to all the information that they need to make decisions.

Apart from this introduction, the article consists of other five sections. The second section is the Background focused on contextualizing of the work. It is divided in four sub-sections, such as Intensive Care, the INTCare, the Timeline and Pervasive Healthcare. In section three is presented the research methodology used for the development of this research. The next section talks about the Pervasive Patient Timeline, its development and features. The fifth section discusses the work developed and the results obtained, while the last one, Conclusion, makes final remarks on what was achieved and the importance of the research done.

2 Background

2.1 Intensive Care

In field of Medicine there is a branch called Intensive Medicine (IM) which it is responsible for treating patients in serious health conditions and recover them to a health state and quality of life prior to the conditions affecting them [5]. An Intensive Care Unit (ICU) is a critical environment where patients are usually in coma and they are always being monitored [6]. The life support is done using many technical devices in order to ensure that the patients can get back to the previous health state [7]. These devices, like bedside monitors collect and present patients' data in real-time allowing intensivists to have a better understanding of the patients' condition.

2.2 INTCare

The INTCare system is a Pervasive Decision Support System (PDSS) developed as part of a project with the same name. It is responsible for modernizing the information system of the Intensive Care Unit of the Hospital de Santo António, Centro Hospitalar do Porto (CHP). The system acts autonomously and in real-time, and it is composed by four subsystems that interact between each other through intelligent agents: Data Acquisition, Knowledge Management, Inference and Interface [6, 8]. The purpose of the INTCare system is to help intensivists in the decision making process, by providing capabilities such as monitoring patients' conditions, predict clinical events, like organ failure [9], length of stay [10], readmission [11], among others, and issue alert messages when the patients being monitored have vital signs outside of the normal range [6]. In this way it is ensured that the intensivists have an easier job but also the patients have a better and safer care. The new knowledge that the system provides helps the decision making process

The Pervasive Patient Timeline was developed under the phase II of the INTCare project, therefore it is going to be integrated with the existing INTCare system, taking advantage of its features.

2.3 The Timeline

The timeline is one of many common ways of representing graphically information. Its most characteristic feature, which distinguishes it from others, is the fact that it displays its content sorted chronologically.

The representation of information in a timeline format allows to observe when certain events happened, the duration of the event and the time between the events, overlaps between events, among others. The granularity of the timeline is also an important part of its design, because it will define the level of detail we want for it.

Historically, timelines have always been used to catalogue events of various types, such as, wars, diseases, revolutions, discoveries, epidemics, among others [12]. In the field of medicine they are commonly used in records concerning diseases outbreaks, studies, but also on the daily practice. In Intensive Medicine they are also presented in the monitoring of blood pressure, heart rate, among others [13].

Nowadays with the advances in technology it is possible to visualize and interact with timelines digitally, allowing to change content without having to redo the timeline, with no space limitations, adding categories to the content displayed, among others [14]. Finally the representation of information using timelines allows the observer to see the data sorted chronologically, understand better the relationships between data, especially cause and effect situations.

2.4 Pervasive HealthCare

Pervasive computing is an emerging approach focused on developing intelligent environments where the devices are interconnect and inserted in an environment that offers a continuous, reliable, non-intrusive connectivity with added value. The result of this systems tends to be the improvement of human experience and quality of life without an explicit perception of the underlying interaction between technology [15].

Over the years, technology has evolved towards more pervasive and ubiquitous infrastructures as a result of the increased ease of access to the Internet. As an example of this is the increasing number of mobile devices that are capable of collecting, sharing, storing information [16], but also wireless networks and communications systems [17].

The application of these type of systems and devices on the medicine field makes it possible to create a pervasive healthcare environment where everyone has access to healthcare anywhere and anytime, as a result of the removal of time and location restrictions [17].

Therefore pervasive data can also be seen as data that can be accessed anytime and anywhere. In critical environments, such as Intensive Care Units, where the decisions need to be made at the right time, the complete information needed to make an assessment is not always available there. Being not possible to overcome all medical errors, the pervasive data approaches can facilitate the data distribution. Healthcare quality can be enhanced through the reduction of information redundancy and allowing it to be stored in mobile devices or in situated devices available in the locations where decisions will be made [18]. An example of pervasive data is the system which sent alerts from the monitoring patient system. These alerts are sent when patients are out of the normal range of the attributes monitored.

In general pervasive healthcare helps healthcare professionals by creating an environment allowing them to access information anywhere and anytime.

3 Research Methodology

The development of this research was done under the Design Science Research (DSR) methodology, in order to ensure an appropriate orientation for the research life cycle. The DSR consists in a set of analysis techniques and perspectives use in research in Information Systems. According to Peffers [19], the DSR is composed by six activities: Identify Problem and Motivate, Define Objectives of a Solution, Design and Development, Demonstration, Evaluation and Communication.

In the context of the research, the iteration process had a beginning centred on the problem, having started in the moment of problem definition and its importance. The first activity. Identify Problem and Motivation, is focused in understanding how the implementation of a pervasive timeline could improve the decision making process. In the second activity, Define Objectives of a Solution, the objective of the research was established in which it is the development of a pervasive timeline capable of providing new knowledge and facilitate the decision making process in clinical environments, without space and time restrictions. The third activity, Design and Development, consisted in executing tasks with the purpose of designing the characteristics of the artefact, followed right after by the development of the artefact itself. In the fourth activity, Demonstration, clinical data of patients were incorporated into the pervasive timeline, as a way to simulate and present the disposition of the information in the timeline. The fifth activity, Evaluation, a set of metrics responsible for the evaluation of the Pervasive Patient Timeline performance in the clinical environment was defined. Lastly, in the six activity, Communication, some scientific papers were written and published in journals and conferences, in order to express the importance of this work.

4 Pervasive Patient Timeline

The Pervasive Patient Timeline can be seen as a Clinical Decision Support System (CDSS) having as main objective to support the decision making process of intensivists in clinical environments. It can be done by centralizing data from various data sources making it interoperable and presenting it in a more standardized, concise and easy way to understand. The platform works in real time, without location restrictions and it allows to observe the clinical history of patients from the moment they were admitted into the Intensive Care Unit until their discharge. Therefore it is possible to access to past and present information, but also future predictions through the incorporation of Data Mining models' results into the timeline. The data presented in the timeline is acquired by the INTCare system in real-time and treated through the application of an Extract Transforming and Load (ETL) process to ensure the quality of the information acquired.

4.1 Data Source

The clinical data used for the development of the Pervasive Patient Timeline was provided by the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) of the Hospital de Santo António, Centro Hospitalar do Porto (CHP). The data is retrieved from six different data sources:

- Vital Signs Monitor (VS) this source is where patients' vital signs, such as, temperature, heart rate, blood pressure and many others are measured and presented;
- Laboratory (LAB) the laboratory is responsible for holding the results of patients' exams, like potassium, sodium, leucocytes, urea, among others;
- Drugs System (DS) this system is responsible for recording the therapeutic plans prescribed to the patients;
- Ventilation Monitor (VM) in the ventilation monitors are collected data relative inspired oxygen, pulmonary compliance, positive end-expiratory pressure, among others;
- Electronic Nursing Record (ENR) in this data source are presented all the clinical data validated about patients and human registered;
- Electronic Health Record (EHR) here are kept the data concerning patients' admission and discharge, chronic diseases and such information that describe the medical history of the patients.

4.2 Requirements and Features

The development of this Pervasive Patient Timeline underwent a process of trying existent timeline software and then change and adapt them to the needs of the clinical environment, in order to fulfil the research objective. The choice process was based on an analysis conducted on each of the experimented timelines. The timelines were evaluated based on their features, interface, documentation, development time and extra functionalities. The timeline which was scored highest was selected as the one to use as a base of development. For the development the XAMPP platform was used along with the programming languages, PHP and JavaScript. Oracle SQL was used to treat the data before adding it to the timeline. By the end of the development process the following features were implemented:

Data:

• Possibility of loading into the timeline data retrieved from databases of different data sources.

Granularity:

- Maximum: 15 to 15 min;
- Minimum: Decade to Decade.

Usability:

- Choose a patient from a list to visualize his data in the timeline;
- Choose the type of data to visualize: all data or only critical data;
- Slide horizontally the timeline, in to visualize past and future events;
- While visualizing the timeline, zoom in and zoom out the granularity;
- Filter the categories of data visible in the timeline;
- Adjust the events time according to the time zone;
- Find events by searching for words in title or description;
- Click to go to the next or previous event;
- Define a date and advance to the defined moment.

Event Features:

- Title, absolute values of the first hour and maximum, minimum and average hour values;
- Event description, which can contain text, images, links;
- Events with start and end date;
- Capacity to add events to different categories;
- Indicator called importance level that defines the granularity at which the events can be seen (can be important when there are too many events cluttering the timeline).

Since the Pervasive Patient Timeline is a platform, it has some system requirements that are needed for it to function properly:

- Internet access;
- Interoperability with different systems;
- Context awareness;
- Privacy of access to data presented;
- Continuous access to data;
- Database infrastructure.

As main characteristics of the Pervasive Patient Timeline it is the fact of it works in real-time by presented the data collected in the moment; it is flexible and adaptive, allowing the possibility to add new different events to the timeline (e.g. other data sources, data mining models); it is scalable since it allows the increase of data present in its system; its pervasive aspect makes it possible to access the data from the timeline in any location and anytime and lastly, its interactivity provides a more engaging way of data visualization.

4.3 Timeline Interface

In Figure 1, is an overview of the Pervasive Patient Timeline. In this figure is data concerning a patient admitted into an ICU. Specifically, there is information retrieved from the hospital's VS, VM, LAB, DS, EHR and ENR data sources. In this figure is possible to consult critical events (as red), patient admission information and choosing the data sources. As example of event description of an event is possible consult maximum, minimum and average values of the hour, along with the respective unit.

Pervasive Patient Timeline						linicic	Legenda Info
Doente nº 1647306						► Anàises Clini	
Data Criação do Registo - 2014-12-23						Sinais Vitais Wentilacian	
Bloco Operatório - True						99 Data Mining	
Tipo de Internamento Cirurgia - com cirurgia						Tados Nenhu	m
Glasgow Hospital - 15 (O-4 V-5 M-6)							
Inicio							-
					-	+ VS - ECG_HR	
					Apr 27, 2015 10:00		
					VS - SPO2		
					• 194 - 95.59 MAX - 1	97.06 MIN - 95.59 AVG - 96.33 I	Anedade - %
Vent - PRESSAO PIC	0				+	due anos	
Vent - PRESSAO PICO Vent - PEEP	Vent - PRESSAO PICO	Vent - PRESSÃO PICO	Vent - PRESSAO PICO	Vent - PRESSAO PICO		+vs - sPo2	
Vent - PEEP Vent - PIG2	• Vent - PEEP	Went - PEEP	• Vent - PEEP	• Vent - PEEP	+VS-ECG_HR	₩VS-ECG_HR	
Vent - FIO2 Vent - CSTAT	Vent - FIO2	Vent - FIO2	 Vent - FIO2 	 Vent - FK02 	+VS - ART_SYS	+VS - ART_SYS	
Vent - CSTAT ► AC - LEUCOCITOS	Went - CSTAT	Vent - CSTAT	 Vent - CSTAT 	 Vent - CSTAT 	+VS - ART_DIA	+VS - ART_DIA	
4:00 pm 5:00 pm			19.00 pm				April 12.00
		Anterior A	pr 27, 2015 Seguin	nte			¢ Q

Fig. 1. Example of the Pervasive Patient Timeline

Data mining (DM) predictions which provide the estimated probability for the event that the data mining model covers, were also added to the timeline (Figure 2). With this feature intensivists can start planning ahead before a predicted event occurs. This feature can help reducing costs and manage resources. In this case Data Mining models were developed to predict the vasopressors need [20]. The figure is presenting the probability of a patient need vasopressors in the next hour. Other DM models can be added to the timeline as is predict critical events [21, 22], length of stay [23], outcome, organ failure, sepsis [24] among others,



Fig. 2. Data Mining Models in the Pervasive Patient Timeline

5 Discussion

The use of the Pervasive Patient Timeline intends to provide new knowledge in clinical environments, by allowing intensivists to visualize information aggregated from various data sources in only one place and in an innovative way, i.e., the timeline. Here intensivists can access the information in real-time and without place restrictions, allowing them to consult the data when the need arises. The presentation of data sorted chronologically is another of its main features that eases the understanding of cause-effect relations between data and the finding of patterns, which it is fundamental in a critical environment such is Intensive Care Units.

Its interface provides an easy and intuitive control over the information in the timeline. The Pervasive Patient Timeline holds information related to vital sign monitors, laboratory exams, drugs, ventilation monitors, electronic nurse record and electronic health record. It allows to see past historic data, current data and future predictions by using data mining models to make such predictions. The data presented is part of the INTCare system, so the autonomous agents perform ETL tasks in order to provide data with quality. This task is important because intensivists need retrieve information with quality in which it will result in a more accurate and safer health care given to the patient.

The pervasive aspect of the timeline and the incorporation of data mining models are very important to improve the decision making process. In the first case it makes possible remote access to the timeline content at any moment, and the second because it makes future predictions over the patients' condition, allowing the intensivists to act in advance. Together, the artefact developed allows a more pro-active approach in the patients' best interest.

In the big scope, the Pervasive Patient Timeline allows the intensivists to acquire new lines of thought that lead them to consider relationships between the data that otherwise they would not consider.

6 Conclusion

The development of the Pervasive Patient Timeline showed that a new and innovative way of presenting information can, not only facilitate the job of intensivists, but also increase the quality of care given to patients, through the reduction of medical errors associated to the difficulty in crossing too much information. It covers a new approach in visualizing information which can be adopted in other similar situations. This flexibility allows for an easy addition of new data sources or data mining models in order to increase the amount of data presented on it, and therefore improve the quality of decisions made.

Its pervasiveness allows it to be accessed anytime and anywhere, through various and different devices. This option allows a simpler, accessible and functional access to the data and knowledge provided by the INTCare system.

This work proved the viability of adopting timelines as a way of visualizing clinical data of patients. It highlights the importance of a good and pleasant representation and presentation of the data, which can affect positively the decision of the intensivists, but also the importance of having only one platform that aggregates, homogenizes and displays distinct data, allowing for a faster, easier and intuitive access. Intensivists are also motivated to use the solution developed and its features, particularly the presentation of all patient's data sorted chronologically. Other positive aspect is the possibility of aggregating data from different data sources in the same location and the ability to access its information anywhere and anytime when they need to make decisions.

This new approach is important for Intensive Medicine, an environment with many technological devices that are constantly collecting and processing big amounts of data in real-time. All the collected data (with a date associated) can be incorporated into the Pervasive Patient Timeline in order to help the intensivists to make better and faster decisions in the patient's best interest. In the future some new models and data sources will be incorporated in the pervasive patient timeline. At same time the artefact developed will be also evaluated by the users (intensivists).

Acknowledgements

This work has been supported by FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Project Scope UID/CEC/00319/2013. The authors would like to thank FCT for the financial support through the contract PTDC/EEI-SII/1302/2012 (INTCare II).

References

- Saúde, D. G.: Cuidados Intensivos: Recomendações para o seu desenvolvimento. In: Saúde, D.G.d. (ed.), Lisboa (2003)
- 2. Haux, R., Ammenwerth, E., Winter, A., Brigl, B.: Strategic information management in hospitals: an introduction to hospital information systems. Springer (2004)
- Morris, A., Gardner, A.: Computer Applications. In: Hall, J., Schmidt, G., Wood, L. (eds.) Principles of Critical Care, pp. 500-514. McGraw-Hill, New York (1992)
- Silva, Á.J.B.M.d.: Modelos de intelegência artificial na análise da monitorização de eventos clínicos adversos, disfusão/falência de orgãos e prognóstico do doente crítico (2007)
- Suter, P., Armaganidis, A., Beaufils, F., Bonfill, X., Burchardi, H., Cook, D., Fagot-Largeault, A., Thijs, L., Vesconi, S., Williams, A., Le Gall, J.R., Chang, R.: Predicting outcome in ICU patients. In: Intensive Care Medicine 20, 390-397 (1994)
- Portela, F., Santos, M., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, A., Rua, F.: Pervasive and Intelligent Decision Support in Intensive Medicine – The Complete Picture. In: Information Technology in Bio- and Medical Informatics, vol. 8649, pp. 87-102. Springer International Publishing (2014)
- Ramon, J., Fierens, D., Güiza, F., Meyfroidt, G., Blockeel, H., Bruynooghe, M., Van Den Berghe, G.: Mining data from intensive care patients. In: Advanced Engineering Informatics 21, 243-256 (2007)
- Santos, M.F., Portela, F., Vilas-Boas, M.: Intcare: multi-agent approach for real-time intelligent decision support in intensive medicine. In: ICAART 2011 - International Conference on Agents and Artificial Intelligence. pp 364-369. SciTePress (2011)
- Santos, M.F., Portela, F., Vilas-Boas, M., Silva, A., Rua, F.: Hourly prediction of organ failure and outcome in intensive care based on data mining techniques. In: ICEIS 2010 -

International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems. pp 270-277. SciTePress (2010)

- Veloso, R., Portela, F., Santos, M., Machado, J.M., Abelha, A., Silva, Á., Rua, F.: Realtime data mining models for predicting length of stay in intensive care units. In: KMIS 2014-International Conference on Knowledge Management and Information Sharing (2014)
- 11. Braga, P., Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Rua, F.: Data Mining Models to Predict Patient's Readmission in Intensive Care Units. In: 6th International Conference on Agents and Artificial Intelligence. pp 270-276. SciTePress (2014)
- 12. Rosenberg, D., Grafton, A.: Cartographies of time: A history of the timeline. In: Princeton Architectural Press (2010)
- McDonald, C., Gardner, R.: Computerized Management of Intensive Care Patients. In: Images, Signals and Devices, pp. 31-45. Springer New York (1987)
- 14. Timeglider, http://timeglider.com/
- 15. Cook, D.J., Das, S.K.: How smart are our environments? An updated look at the state of the art. In: Pervasive and mobile computing 3, 53--73 (2007)
- Cook, D.J., Das, S.K.: Pervasive computing at scale: Transforming the state of the art. In: Pervasive and Mobile Computing 8, 22--35 (2012)
- Portela, F., Santos, M., V.-B.M.: A pervasive approach to a real-time intelligent decision support system in intensive medicine. In: CCIS - Communications in Computer and Information Science. Volume 272, 2013, pp 368-381. Springer (2013)
- Varshney, U.: Pervasive Computing. In: Pervasive Healthcare Computing. Springer US (2009)
- Peffers, K., Tuunanen, T., Rothenberger, M.A., Chatterjee, S.: A design science research methodology for information systems research. In: Journal of management information systems 24, 45-77 (2007)
- Braga, A., Portela, F., Santos, M. F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, A., Rua F.: Data Mining to predict the use of Vasopressors in Intensive Medicine Patients. In: Jurnal Teknologi (2016) (accepted for publication)
- 21 Portela, F., Santos, M. F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, A., Rua F.. Real-time Decision Support using Data Mining to predict Blood Pressure Critical Events in Intensive Medicine Patients. In: LNCS - Ambient Intelligence for Health. Volume 9456, 2015, pp 77-90. Springer (2015)
- Portela, F., Santos, M. F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, A., Rua F.. Preventing Patient Cardiac Arrhythmias by Using Data Mining Techniques. In: IECBES 2014 - IEEE. (2015).
- Portela, F., Veloso, R., Oliveira, S., Santos, M. F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, A., Rua F.. Predict hourly patient discharge probability in Intensive Care Units using Data Mining. Indian Journal of Science and Technology. In: Indian Society for Educat (2016) (accepted for publication)
- 24. Gonçalves, J., Portela, F., Santos, M. F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, A., Rua F. Realtime Predictive Analytics for Sepsis Level and Therapeutic Plans in Intensive Care Medicine. In: IJHISI. Volume 9, Issue 3, pp 36-54. IGI Global (2014)

iRecomendYou: A design proposal for the development of a pervasive recommendation system based on student's profile for Ecuador's students' candidature to a scholarship

Filipe Mota Pinto^{1,2}; Mireya Estefania¹; Natalia Cerón¹; Ramiro Andrade¹; Mauricio Campaña¹; ¹ Universidad de las Fuerzas Armadas ESPE, Computer Science Department, Sangolqui – Quito, Ecuador

² Polytechnic Institute of Leiria, Computer Science Department, Leiria, Portugal filipe.pinto@ipleiria.pt; {mechillan; npceron; reandrade5; emcampania}@espe.edu.ec

Abstract. All recognized successful Ecuador's students have the opportunity to apply for a scholarship abroad within a set of relevant world's universities listed on-line on SENESCYT's website. Students are invited to choose from a list with more than 1500 universities. From those, they only have no more information than each university general URL address. Considering student's limitation to compare and analyze all available courses it is frequent to exist students that complaint about their selection due their capacity to understand all available possibilities. Along this work we develop a proposal design for a pervasive recommendation system based on students' profile for scholarship's application based on their profile and universities programs' main characteristics.

Keywords: Pervasive; Recommendation systems; Profiling.

1 Introduction

Actually almost all countries and almost all developed societies had adopted technologies to support their activity. Nowadays is often to have innumerous examples whereas all the process (application, processing and results) is based on technologies. Countless an individual has little or no personal experience to make choices among the various alternatives presented to it. This happens by questions of time (normally on-line procedures don't have too much time to be executed) or by the large alternatives presented – normally impossible to evaluate and consider all of them.

Pervasive systems consists of a large set of networked devices, seemingly invisibly embedded in the environment [12] Pervasive systems research was introduce in '80s at Xerox PARC. From de beginning a diversity of application domains have been proposed for pervasive systems, e.g., education [13], [15], public spaces [16] or health care [17][18].

In this work the proposed design solution it will focuses on the availability and manageability issues of pervasive systems. Here the goal is to find dependability

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_56

mechanisms and structures inside websites contents databases that (1) maximize the information required for support user decision, while (2) minimizing user's involvement cost of operation (basically time and effort). Informally, we it be used the term pervasive to refer to these two requirements [22]. Regarding pervasive computing concept, it admits that computing resources might be perceptible or imperceptible distributed related to the user environment (context-awareness). Context-aware applications promise richer and easier interaction, but the current state of research in this field is still far removed from that vision [14]. That is, users' don't need to understand where system takes place or where to which devices is connected.

Considering options to handle with decision making support, it is possible to identify some scenarios, such as: trusting and using recommendations being passed by others, which can get directly (word of mouth) [2] or given by recommendation texts, reviews of movies and books reviewers, printed newspapers, social networks, among others.

The recommendation systems help to increase the capacity and effectiveness. This nominating process is already well known and established in the social relationship between humans [3].

In a typical recommendation system, there are sources of information (valid and accredited) recognized as recommendations input data, to the system that aggregates and directs (system processing) for individuals potentially viewed interested in this type of advise (target or user). One of the great challenges for this type of systems is to achieve the right mix between the expectations of users and the products, services or people to be recommended to them, that is, define and discover these interests' relationships.

This work focuses the development of design proposal for a recommendation system to solve a specific problem presented by Ecuador's national superior education secretary (SENESCYT): which program should a student select from a list with more than 1500 universities and 3000 possibilities (estimated student options by each scientific area).

From the beginning some conceptual definitions about recommendation and pervasive systems and will be presented (section two and three). Thereafter it will be discussed different sources of data (section four) and the strategy for the recommendation method (section five). Then the architecture is presented (section six) followed by results and conclusion at the closing section.

2 Recommendation systems

The proponents of the first recommendation system called Tapestry [3],[4] coined the term "*filtering collaborative*", aiming to designate a specific type of system in which the filter information was performed with human aid, e.g. the collaboration between stakeholder groups. Thereafter, same authors considered that could have another type of recommendation based on the content, that is, one element just might be considered as recommender if it was familiar, updated and contextualized with the subject: *context-based filtering*. Therefore they assumed that *collaborative filtering* and *content-based filtering* systems are types of recommendation systems applying different approaches, but have the sole purpose of the recommendation.

Others authors [5] highlighted and proposed that there is a third type of filter referred to as demographic information filtering. *Demographic filtering* uses the description of an individual (profile determination) to learn the relationship between a particular item and the type of person that would come to be interested. This approach uses descriptions of people how to get learned the relationship between an item and the type of person who would like this. The user profile is created for classifying users in stereotypes that represent the characteristics of a class of users. Personal data is requested to the user, usually in registration forms, and used as characterization of users and their interests.

Later another's authors [6],[7] introduced two other techniques. In the first, entitled *filtering based on knowledge*, the recommendation of the items is done based on user preferences of inferences and their needs through structured functionally knowledge; the second technique, entitled *utility-based filtering*, the recommendation is made considering the utility of items for a given user.

Currently e-commerce websites are the main players recommendation systems use and exploration. They use different techniques to find the most suitable products to their customers and thus increase profitability. Introduced in July 1996 MyYahoo was the first website to use recommender systems in large proportions, using the customization strategy [8]. Currently, a large number of websites employ recommendation systems to bring the different user types of suggestions, as cross related offerings (something like, "customers who bought X also bought Y item"), or selling items on each customer's favorite categories, among others.

This work focuses the development of a recommendation system to solve a specific problem: which program should a student select from a list with more than 1500 universities

2.1 User profile

The *identity* it is one of the most important related to recommendation objectives where's individuals' objectives, subjectivities and features, emerges. Recommendation systems use individuals' identity in order to provide clues on future behavior and needs of users such as in a given environment where customization becomes effective. In computer science, algorithms used to formalize individuals' identity on a given computing environment are based on *User Profile* determination.

On the web, there are many types of user profiles with different degrees of complexity. They are developed in the context of e-commerce, e-learning and e-community, among many others. Nevertheless there are some researchers [9][10] that had developed shell's for users models pointing, as example, categories of information about users in order to better customize the web applications [9] or to model specific users, such as, model of students' profile for learning activities [10].

The user profile might be used to predict user's needs and behaviors in a computing environment.

To determine a user profile it is necessary to use strategies. On the web, two of the most common forms of user identification are:

- On server: systems' usually provides users with a registration area where's beyond username/password, with personal data such as name, date of birth, sex, address and others. These data is stored in a database on the server. Whenever the user accesses the system, he may make his identification / authentication updating their previously registered login. This mechanism allows the website identify more accurately the user that it connects;
- On the client device: normally use cookies, a mechanism by which a website can identify that particular computer is connecting once again it. This method assumes that the connected machine it is always used by the same person. So to identify the machine, the website is in reality identifying its user. This is a simpler mechanism than the identification through the server, but less reliable, especially if the identified computer is used by more than one person.

Thereafter user identification process, it is possible to collect data about him, implicitly or explicitly, thus allowing the generation and maintenance of their profile. In the explicit collection mode (also known as customization), the user spontaneously indicates what is important to him, improving his profile determination and explicit

3 Web Crawler

Given the current volume of data on the Web, an automatic, methodical process of content indexing becomes extremely necessary. It is in this scenario that the web crawler is present searching, filtering and often persisting content. One of the most powerful known web crawlers is the googlebot, Google's web crawler, he is responsible for scrub the web, looking for new pages to index and analyze whether the existing pages were updated. A Web crawler, which is also known as spider or web robot web, is a software agent used to automate research, data gathering and extraction. Usually trafficked in HTTP along with the TCP/IP model, the most developed robots are meant for the traditional web where *html* documents connected by *hyperlinks, tags* and *keywords* are used to track and meet specific needs as download images and files, mining of e-mail addresses, collection of specific contents for price quote for a particular product or service and can also be developed to aggregate data from various internet sources, among many others conveniences.

These agents are not limited to a specific language actually, since it is possible to extract and apply regular expressions obtained over the contents, any language can be used for the implementation of web crawlers.

The basic structure of running a crawler is not very complex, though the same cannot be said for its implementation. See a model of the basic structure of a crawler in Figure 1.


Fig. 1. web crawler's basic model structure. Adapted from [23]

General web crawler's activity steps goes around a content request, which is set in a scheduler. From the scheduler, a list of URLs is passed to the downloader engine, which acts as a multi-threaded download sniffer. This component is responsible to search over through in order to find out the requested webpages referenced on scheduler. All successful web pages found are saved on a specific storage (text and metadata for post processing). Unsuccessful analyzed URLs are posted in a queue (active queue) in order to be included in new late scheduler. The crawler queue storage also includes a background queue, in order to support background updates, to be programmed in order to update some specific URLs related data. The scheduler alignment and downloader engine (extraction process) are inherent in any process of crawling, regardless its objective or technology used.

As noted previously, the crawling is not tied to a web contents, indeed it is possible to act on various types of sources. Thus it can be used over different protocols such as HTTP SMTP, FTP, and others. Once selected the protocol, the agent take a request to the data source, which ultimately return the desired content, which will be working for the extraction of information. The protocol used in this article will be explained more technically below.

3.1 Web crawler at work

The crawler starts with a list of URLs seeds to visit. This is constructed and introduced at user/system request. During crawling work, the application visits these URLs, it identifies all the possible hyperlinks in each page that corresponds to the overall search objectives. Not all visited URLs revels positive results. Here it was considered three different types of possible outcomes: not correspondent contents; positive contents; unavailable page. Whenever a URL is inaccessible, the application put that address in a queue list. On other side, there is the possibility to select some URLs by their importance to be included on background queue. Each URLs in this queue list is visited periodically (programmer defined) in order to have updated information.

When there is large volume of URLs to explore implies that the crawler can only download a limited number of the web pages within a given time, so it requires to prioritize its downloads. To that end all returned retrieved data (text, metadata, images, among any other type) from analyzed web pages are stored in table, to be delivered and used by the user and also to act as cache for next visit (avoiding all retrieval process over previously visited pages). Generally web crawler's behavior is the outcome of a combination of policies:

- selection policy, to determine and define the URLs to analyze and download;
- *re-visit policy*, to consider the set of URLs that might be considered relevant and therefore to be monitored;
- *politeness policy*, despite this doesn't have direct influence on application results, it should be considered in order to avoid targeted web sites' traffic overload;
- parallelization policy, regarding web crawler running multiple process.

As described in the next section, considering the objectives for the current design proposal these policies were considered in terms of search scheduler, download engine and queue list definition.



4 Design Proposal

Fig. 2. Proposed iRecommendYOU framework design's structure.

The design proposal, as depicted in figure 2 involves three main components: from user side (student's objective fulfillment); web exploration (data gathering from web) and recommendation system (iRecommendYOU). System's workflow begins with

user's profile determination that will determine the set of URLs to be analyzed. Next, using the web crawler application, the system will collect data from related web pages, that will be stored on a data structure. At the end, using a recommendation algorithm, the system will provide the user with the results that better fits with his profile.

4.1 User profiling and objectives fulfillment

User profiles are generally represented as sets of weighted keywords, semantic networks, or weighted concepts, or association rules. Keyword profiles are the simplest to build, but because they fundamentally have to capture and represent all (or most) words. This technique requires a large amount of user feedback in order to learn the terminology by which a topic might be discussed [23].

This proposed user profile system incorporates a registration section where's user's needs introduce some personal preferences (questionnaire) and personal data (curriculum vitae). Moreover students would be are required to fulfill a questionnaire, that will. As illustrated on figure 3, user's profile is determined through two sets of data: the first considering academic preferences and curriculum; the second, related to a questionnaire previously fulfilled by the student. This questionnaire it is presented by SENESCYT in order to have a standard source of data and covers a variety of subjects' information such as students' preferences, professional options or research investigation interests. The profile is constructed using the most keyword descriptors on user's data. The profile module uses a knowledge base in order to search, evaluate and define user's profile



Fig. 3. Users' profile system.

Keyword-based profiles are initially created by extracting keywords from Web pages collected from some information source, e.g., the user's browsing history or Bookmarks[23]. To calculate user's profile it is used the keyword's weighting technic to identify the most important keywords from user's curriculum and questionnaire data. Often the number of words extracted from a single document is capped so that only the top N most highly weighted terms from any page contribute to user's profile [23]. The keyword extractor module will determine final user profile using all keywords extracted and registered on user's profile storage.

4.2 Data gathering

This accomplishment is performed by the web crawler application in order to explore and retrieve data from SENESCYT's universities URLs list (a set of pre selected universities across the world to which students may apply for a scholarship grant).



Fig. 4. Data gathering.

As depicted above on figure 4, the web crawler starts with a single URL, collected from universities url's list, downloads that page, retrieves the links from that page to others, and repeats the process with each of those pages – records analysis. Before long, web crawler discovers links to most of the pages on the Web, although it takes some time to actually visit each of those pages – document indexing.

The implementation of this algorithmic might be developed based on Apache LuceneTM, which is a high-performance, full-featured text search engine library. It is a technology suitable for nearly any application that requires full-text search, especially cross-platform. [24]

4.3 Decision support supported by recommendation systems

The recommendation is performed based on match work between the user profile and the programs that have a set of descriptors and keywords similar or on the same scientific area.

This recommendation system allows on this way a customization, over the short list of programs that meet the user's needs or expectation's [1]. From the computational point of view, one system capable of treating each user individually requires a set of specific functions, as example, through constant selection of related program to user interests, a personalized system can reduce the time they take to find relevant information. The user will have a list of possible programs that match his profile. That list has in each record, the program name, the university, the origin country, the set of keywords used to select the program and a matching estimator between user profile and program descriptor. Over the list the user may perform some actions such as select, download related program and create wish list for future analysis.

The system additionally, may identify relationships between items (e.g., "those who view the program X also analyzed the program Y").

5 Discussion and Conclusions

Considering the lack of information from both sides of the problem (candidates and financed programs) it was necessary to propose a valid solution that allows both, users' profile (student) determination from questionnaire and personal data, and data gathering (programs) work from a single url information. The research work was developed towards a solution that covers data collection (candidates and programs) for automatic filtering and analysis in order to support the recommendation action. The recommendation work would be supported by a set of rules that would be matching users' profile main characteristics with main programs' descriptive (scientific area, research lines and objectives) keywords.

Therefore this paper, based on developed work, presents a possible solution for system development in order to solve a problem presented in a national secretary for superior education and investigation.

All proposed development system and solution are based on related works and also on related bibliography.

For future word it is planed the development of this solution and make it available for the large community of Ecuadorian students that every year looks for scholarship opportunity.

7 References

- 1. Gyara, F., Sachdev, T. Win in the flat world. White paper Infosys Technologies. Available on-line at: http://www.infosys.com/offerings/it-services/informationmanagement/white papers/documents/personalizing-portals.pdf (2008).
- Maes, P.; Shardanand, U. "Social information filtering: Algorithms for automating "word of mouth", In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp: 210-217 (1995).
- 3. Resnick, P. e Varian, H. R. Recommender Systems. Communications of the ACM, New York, 40(3), pp. 55-58, Mar. (1997)
- 4. Goldberg, D., Nichols, D., Oki, B. M., Terry, D. Using collaborative filtering to weave an information Tapestry. Communications of the ACM, New York, 35 (12), pp. 61-70.(1992)
- Montaner, M., López, B., de La Rosa, J.L. A Taxonomy of Recommender Agents on the Internet. Artificial Intelligence Review. Netherlands : Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 285-330, Aug. (2003)
- Burke, R. Hybrid recommender systems: Survey and experiments. User Modeling and User-Adapted Interaction, 12(4) pp:331-370. (2002)
- Guttman, R. H., Moukas, A. G. and Maes, Pattie. Agent-mediated electronic commerce: a survey. Knowl. Eng. Rev., 13(2) pp:147-159 (1998)
- Manber, U.; Patel, A.; Robison, J. Experience with Personalization on Yahoo! Communication of the ACM, New York. (2000)
- Kobsa, A. Generic user modeling systems. In P. Brusilovsky, A. Kobsa, and W. Nejdl, editors, The Adaptive Web, volume 4321 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, chapter 4, pp:136–154. Springer Verlag. (2007)
- 10.Paiva, A. and Self, J.A. Tagus a user and learner modelling workbench. User Model. User-Adapt. Interact., 4(3) pp:197–226. (1995)

- 11.Herlocker, J. L., Konstan, J. A., Terveen, L. G. and Riedl J. T. Evaluating collaborative Filtering recommender systems. ACM Trans.Inf. Syst., 22(1) pp:5-53. (2004)
- 12.Weiser M., Gold R., and Brown J. S. The origins of ubiquitous computing research at PARC in the late 1980s. IBM Systems Journal, 38(4) pp:693–693. (1999)
- Abowd, G. D. Classroom 2000: An experiment with the instrumentation of a living educational environment. IBM Systems Journal, 38(4) pp:508–530, 1999.
- 14 Dey, Anind, Abowd, Gregory and Salber, Daniel. A conceptual framework and a toolkit for supporting the rapid prototyping of context-aware applications. Journal Human-Computer Interaction vol.16, 2, pp 97-166. (2001)
- 15. Chen A., Muntz R.R., Yuen S., Locher I., Park S.I., and Srivastava M.B.. A support infrastructure for the smart kindergarten. IEEE Pervasive Computing, 1(2):49–57 (2002).
- 16. Fleck M., Frid M., Kindberg T., O'Brien-Strain E., Rajani R., and Spasojevic M. From informing to remembering: ubiquitous systems in interactive museums. IEEE Pervasive Computing, 1(2) pp:13 21 (2002).
- 17.Stanford V. Using pervasive computing to deliver elder care. IEEE Pervasive Computing, 1(1) pp:10 13. (2002).
- Portela F, Santos M. F., Vilas-Boas M., A Pervasive Approach to a Real-Time Intelligent Decision Support System in Intensive Medicine in Knowledge Discovery, Knowledge Engineering and Knowledge Management V. 272 of Communications in Computer and Information Science pp 368-381 (2013)
- Edwards, J., McCurley, K. S., and Tomlin, J. A.An adaptive model for optimizing performance of an incremental web crawler. In Proceedings of 10th Conference on World Wide Web (Hong Kong: Elsevier Science):106–113. doi:10.1145/371920.371960. (2001)
- Bidoki, Y., Yazdani, N.; Ghodsnia, P., "FICA: A fast intelligent crawling algorithm", Web Intelligence, IEEE/ACM/WIC International conference on Intelligent agent technology pp: 635-641, (2007)
- Gauch, S., Speretta, M., Chandramouli, A., Micarelli, A.: User Profiles for Personalized Information Access. In: Brusilovsky, P., Kobsa, A., Nejdl, W. (eds.) The Adaptive Web: Methods and Strategies of Web Personalization. LNCS, vol. 4321, pp. 54–89. Springer, Heidelberg (2007)
- Portela F., Santos M. F., Machado J., Abelha A., Álvaro Silva, Rua F. Pervasive and Intelligent Decision Support in Intensive Medicine in Information Technology in Bio and Medical Informatics – The Complete Picture, Lecture Notes in Computer Science V. 8649 pp 87-102 (2014)
- 23. Shkapenyuk, V. and Suel, T. Design and implementation of a high performance distributed web crawler. In Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Data Engineering (ICDE), pages 357-368, San Jose, California. IEEE CS Press. (2002)
- 24. Foundation, T. A. (2011-2012). Apace Lucene Core. http://lucene.apache.org/core/

Pervasive Decision Support to predict football corners and goals by means of data mining

João Gomes¹, Filipe Portela^{1,2} and Manuel F. Santos¹

¹Algoritmi Research Centre, University of Minho, Portugal ²ESEIG, Porto Polytechnic, Porto, Portugal joaogomes0991@gmail.com; {cfp, mfs}@dsi.uminho.pt

Abstract. Football is considered nowadays one of the most popular sports. In the betting world, it has acquired an outstanding position, which moves millions of euros during the period of a single football match. The lack of profitability of football betting users has been stressed as a problem. This lack gave origin to this research proposal, which it is going to analyse the possibility of existing a way to support the users to increase their profits on their bets. Data mining models were induced with the purpose of supporting the gamblers to increase their profits in the medium/long term. Being conscience that the models can fail, the results achieved by four of the seven targets in the models are encouraging and suggest that the system can help to increase the profits. All defined targets have two possible classes to predict, for example, if there are more or less than 7.5 corners in a single game. The data mining models of the targets, more or less than 7.5 corners, 8.5 corners, 1.5 goals and 3.5 goals achieved the pre-defined thresholds. The models were implemented in a prototype, which it is a pervasive decision support system. This system was developed with the purpose to be an interface for any user, both for an expert user as to a user who has no knowledge in football games.

Keywords. Data Mining, Bets, Pervasive Decision Support, Football, Corners, Goals

Introduction 1

Betting on sporting events these days is a fashionable activity. The sport that arouses more interest and it has more fans in the world is football. There are several bookmakers such as is Betfair, Bet365, and Bwin that allow you to perform a wide range of betting, and if you can bet on the outcome, you can bet on the number of goals, number of corners, etc. The number of bookmakers have grown greatly in recent years, leading to the conclusion that this is a profitable business for them at the expense of its users. This project appears with the aim of increasing the betters' profits.

This project is focused on the induction of data mining models. After evaluation these models a Pervasive Decision Support System prototype was implemented. This project distinguishes itself from other platforms due the use of several Data Mining techniques. This article focuses on the release of the first results obtained in the forecast number of goals and corners in the 2013/2014 English Premier League season.

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_57

The methodology used to develop this project was the Design Science Research. This methodology is applied when the goal is to develop technology-based solutions to important and relevant business problems [1].

The best models achieved an accuracy between 78% and 82% to predict 7.5 and 8.5 corners and 1.5 and 3.5 goals.

The article is divided into six sections. The first section contains a brief introduction of the project. In the second section is presented a bibliography review. In the third section is presented the methodology used to develop the project. In the fourth section is displayed the development of the completely practical work. In the fifth section is conducted a discussion of the obtained results in the realized tests to the prototype and in the last section is presented the conclusions and suggestions for future work.

2 Background

2.1 Knowledge Discovery, Data Mining, Decision Support and Pervasive Data

Knowledge Discover in Database (KDD) is a modelling and automatic exploratory analysis of large data repositories. It is an organized process that aims to identify useful patterns, which can be understandable, in large and complex dataset [2]. It is an interactive and iterative process where interaction of a responsible for making decisions is required at various stages [3]. The basic framework is divided in five main steps: Selection, Pre-processing, Transformation, Data Mining and Evaluation [4].

Data Mining is the process of discovering patterns and interesting knowledge in large amounts of data [5]. It is considered a key process to any organization [6]. DM contains technical activities that can be subdivided into two major focuses of research, according to the analysis to be achieved, it can be interpretive or predictive analysis [4].

Decision Support Systems (DSS) can be described as an interactive computer system that supports managers to make decisions related to attributes, goals and objectives, to solve semi-structured and unstructured problems [7]. The purpose is giving support to problems solving them by following the development stages of the decision-making process [8]. Simon [9] defines the decision-making process as having only three phases, Intelligence, Design and Choice. Years later, Simon [10] and many other authors defined a fourth phase, Implementation and a fifth phase Monitoring.

Pervasive computing focus on taking the technology from centre stage to the "background" [11], abstracting the user from its complexities. In order to bring the technology to the background a characteristic named "invisibility" is necessary. This concept means that technology is used unconsciously, removing the need for adaptation or understanding of how to utilize it.

Pervasive Data is the possibility of putting the knowledge achieved by means of Artificial Intelligence techniques (e.g. Data Mining) available anywhere and anytime, running in background being the process totally hidden to the user.

2.2 Football Gambling Support Systems and related work

The activity "bet" is an industry that is expanding. There are more and more bookmakers. The activity focus occurs online, each online betting company has their own odds and betting exchanges. Bets on football matches are the most common. Being the result the bet that moves more money. The bookmakers tend to innovate and other markets have emerged, such as the number of corners and number of goals. This is an interesting area to develop research works. However, it is very difficult to control the game variables. A little change in a game can modify the bet result. Due to this fact, the number of gamblers with big winners is lower. The idea of earning money by making bets is a very interesting subject, but at same time it is very dangerous (the gambler can lose a lot of money).

For that reason, there are several suggesting system on this area. There are some web platforms with the same goals. However, they are not using DM techniques. There are also mobile platforms using mathematical calculations which is the case of applications, "KickOff", "Smart BET Prediction "and "FootWin".

Some scientific studies were conducted in this area. Owramipur et al [12] intend to make the prediction of the results of the Barcelona games in the 2008/2009 season. Joseph et al [13] Effected identical to the previous work, but the team under study was Tottenham. Rotshtein et al [14] effected a study that aims to predict the results of the Finnish League. Tsakonas & Dounias [15] through its study were intended predict the results of the Ukrainian league and what would be the winner of the championship. Nunes & Sousa [16] created a model that predicts the results for the Portuguese league. Ulmer & Fernandez [17] aimed to make the prediction of the English Premier League results. Hucaljuk & Rakipovic [18] did a study in order to predict the results of games in the Champions League. And finally Suzuki et al [19] did a job that has the objective of predicting the outcome of the 2006 world championship.

3 Pervasive Intelligent Decision Support System

3.1 Phase 1

The main purpose of this phase was to identify the problem or opportunity that could be exploited. In this case has emerged one opportunity, to support the gamblers in football games on the decision about which it is the bet more "safe" to carry out in a certain game. This opportunity has been identified after check the increase of the number of bookmakers in the last decade. This reality shows that it is a profitable market for the bookmakers, and therefore detrimental to its users, being in some cases the user profit equal to null. To explore the context a research was carried out in order to understand the business and the environment by gathering information about the business.

First, there was an effort in finding an open-access database containing a high number of statistical variables associated to football matches. After a depth research a database were found (http://www.football-data.co.uk/). This database contains a relevant number of football games variables. Some other variables can be used (e.g. rest time, players ratings) however there is not a database containing this information with the same detail and frequency.

3.2 Phase 2

After a review of the existing information related the statistical data related to football games the dataset was created using the data found on the website "football-dataco.uk", the dataset only contains continuous records between 2000 and 2014 football games involving 41 distinct teams, the variables related to the half-time were not considered. The variables contained in that dataset are Match Date (dd/mm/yy); Home Team; Away Team, Full Time and Half Time Result (H=Home Win, D=Draw, A=Away Win); Crowd Attendance; Name of Match Referee and Betting odds data from several bookmakers. For each team (home and away) the dataset contains: Full Time Goals; Half Time Goals; Team Shots; Shots on Target; Hit Woodwork; Team Corners; Fouls Committed; Offsides; Yellow Cards; Red Cards. This dataset contains information from 5320 games.

After the data are collected, a treatment and data processing phase was executed. For this, it was used an Extract Transforming and Loading (ETL) process which it is presented in the Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. ETL Process

The "PremierLeague" database was fully treated and it only contains the data that will be needed to the DM models (variables present in the final table). This variables are, "season", "day, "month, "year", "home team (HT)", "away team(AT)", and it is also composed by several variables one for each team (Home and Away): "AVG Goals", "AVG Goals Conceded", "AVG Shots", "AVG Shots Conceded", "AVG Shots Target", AVG Shots Target Conceded", "AVG Corners" and "AVG Corners Conceded".

Also in this phase, the Data Mining (DM) models were induced. The models used the data previously processed, which are on the table "PremierLeague", through four distinct DM techniques: Naive Bayes (NB), the Support Vector Machines (SVM), the Decision Trees (DT) and Lazy Learning (LL). To apply these techniques in the induction of the models the Weka tool was used. This tool allows running several algorithms like NaiveBayes, LIBSVM, J48 and Kstar, each one of these algorithms were applied for the above techniques respectively. For the development of the models two different sampling methods were used: Holdout Simple (HS) that uses 66% of the data for training and 34% for testing and the sampling method 10-Folds Cross-Validation (10FCV).

The variables loaded in the table "Premier League" were grouped into different groups to define different scenarios. For this, it was necessary to focus on the characteristics and existing processes in each football game. Each of these groups is composed for two sets, one related to the variables associated to the home team and other by the indicators of the away team. The following groups and the respective variables are Attack (AVG Goals, AVG Shots, AVG Shots Target, and AVG Corners) and Defence (AVG Goals Conceded, AVG Shots Conceded, AVG Shots Target Conceded, and AVG Corners Conceded)

Then it was necessary to define the scenarios through which the DM models would be induced. Eleven scenarios were defined: SA (All Variables), SC (Attack HT and Attack AT), SD (Defence HT and Defence AT), SE (Attack HT and Defence AT), SF (Defence HT and Attack AT), SL (SD+ SE), SO (AVG Corners HT, AVG Corners AT, AVG Corners Conceded HT and AVG Corners Conceded AT), SP (AVG Corners HT and AVG Corners AT), SQ (SC+SD), SR (AVG Goals HT, AVG Goals AT, AVG Goals Conceded HT and AVG Goals Conceded AT) and SS (AVG Goals HT and AVG Goals AT). Therefore, the DM Models (DMM) are composed by:

- Eleven scenarios (SA, SC,...,SS);
- Two sampling methods: 10FCV and HS;
- Four DM techniques: NB, DT, SVM and LL;
- Seven Targets: More or less than "7,5C", "8,5C", "9,5C", "10,5C" corners and more or less than, "1,5G", "2,5G" and "3,5G" goals.

Initially 416 models were induced. 192 related to the target variables related with the number of goals, the "G1,5", "G2,5" and "G3,5" variables and the remaining 224 models were related with the number of corners, "C7,5", "C8,5", "C9,5" and "C10,5". Then for target variables "C7,5", "C8,5", "C9,5", "G1,5 and "G3,5" (which had unbalanced values of the number of instances of each class) 24 more models were induced for each, using the oversampling technique. For each target attribute a total of 121 new models were induced.

To oversampling an existing function in WEKA was executed, namely SMOTE. This function doubles the number of class instances that contains fewer occurrences and it can be used repeatedly until the classes contain a number of similar occurrences.

A DMM can be represented by the following tuple:

$$DMM = \langle \Delta, \alpha, DMT, DMSM, DMTG, SCENVAR \rangle$$
 (1)

Where Δ is the DM rules, α is the DM model configuration, DMSM is the sampling method, DMT is the DM technique, DMTG is the target and SCENVAR are the variables that can be used by each scenario (SA-SS)

For example, if the model chosen is composed by the scenario SO, using as sampling method CV, as DM technique DT and the target which is intended to predict was "3,5G" this tuple can be represented as:

3.3 Phase 3

The third phase of the project is the combination of three distinct phases of the methodologies used for the development of this project. The phase "Evaluation" of the CRISP-DM and the phase "Choice" of the decision-making process. The evaluation of the DM models induced was made in this phase in order to choose which it is the best model to be used. To evaluate all the induced models, the metrics contained in the confusion matrix were used

Using the confusion matrix several metrics can be calculated such as sensitivity, specificity, accuracy and area under curve (AUC). So, to evaluate all the DM models induced four metrics were used.

For each target a set of thresholds were defined to ensure the quality of the models and at the same time facilitate the choice of the best model for each target. If the models do not meet the parameters, it is possible to conclude that the models do not have the quality required to support gamblers in that particular bet. Based on the performed literature review and as it was not possible to contact an expert in football games betting in order to understand what would be the thresholds that models should achieve, the quality parameters were defined with a minimum value of 65% in metrics accuracy, specificity, AUC and sensitivity. Accuracy was considered the most relevant metric to perform the evaluation of the induced models.

In the Table 1 are present the best models obtained for each previously defined target. In the table are only the targets that meet all thresholds

Target	DMSM	Scenario	DMT	Specificity	Sensitivity	Accuracy	AUC
7,5C	HS	SO	LL	89,16	71,34	80,99	0,90
8,5C	10FCV	SO	LL	87,89	68,40	78,32	0,89
1,5G	10FCV	SQ	LL	90,08	71,87	81,65	0,91
3,5G	10FCV	SQ	LL	90,08	71,87	81,65	0,91

 Table 1. Best DM Models (percentage)

These four models were obtained after application of the oversampling technique to the dataset. All models can be represented by an expression, for example, to the target "7,5C" the expression is:

3.4 Phase 4

The fourth phase is composed by the combination of two phases, the "Development" phase of CRISP-DM and "Implementation" phase of the decision-making process. In this phase, the development of the prototype was initialized. This prototype allows the user to make intelligent predictions of various events in real time at football games anywhere and anytime [20, 21], being the system designed following some of pervasive features as is scalability, context awareness and ubiquity.

 $DMM = <\Delta, \alpha, LL, 10FCV, 'C7, 5', HomeTeam, AwayTeam, AVGCornersHT, AVG$ (3) CornersCOncededHT, AVGCornersAT, AVGCornersConcededAT>

It was decided to create a web platform, because this allows easy access from any location in different devices. In the Fig. 2 is presented the architecture by which the prototype can be represented.



Fig. 2. Prototype architecture

To use the prototype, the user starts by entering information necessary for the system know of which the game is intended to make a prediction. This information is stored in a database that is shown in Fig. 2 by the "User Input". The platform will then use this information to make a request through a *.bat* file that automatically starts the process designed in Pentaho tool.

After starting the job in Pentaho, the information previously entered by the user is used by the model DM previously created, "Weka Scoring", which is an existing process of Pentaho, to generate a prediction that it is stored in the database "Prediction".

The generated prediction is then sent to the web platform to be used by the better. In Fig. 3 is the prototype main menu.



Fig. 3. Prototype

In this prototype, the user starts by selecting one of two groups of predictions, a group that includes the predictions related to the number of corners and another with the number of goals. Clicking, for example, in the "Number of Goals" button will emerge two new buttons, the "More or Less than 1.5 Goals" and "More or Less than 3.5 Goals". If you click on one of them emerges the form that the user needs to complete to pass the information to the DM model. After the user fill form it is submitted, automatically and the prediction is presented for the user. The predictions are presented as the possible result and the probability of it occurs. For example, the output can be: *There is 95% probabilities of the number of goals be "More or Less than 1.5 Goals"*.

5 Discussion

To induce the models, for all targets two sampling methods were used, the 10-Folds Cross-Validation (10FCV) and Simple Holdout (HS). Four Data Mining (DM) techniques were also explored: Naive Bayes (NB), Support Vector Machine (SVM), Decision Trees (DT) and Lazy Learning (LL).

The targets that have unbalanced classes, for example, the target "More or less than 1.5 goals" (G1,5) have 74% examples of more than 1.5 goals, which means that there is an imbalance in the model. In these situations, the oversampling technique was used to balance the dataset records.

For each target defined related to the number of corners, 56 DM models were initially induced and in the case of targets associated with the number of goals 64 DM models were induced, also for each target.

The values obtained in metrics do not have a significant variation associated to the sampling method and the DM technique used in the induction of DM models.

The first results obtained in the metrics in each target were weak and did not meet the defined quality parameters. It was then applied the oversampling technique into the dataset to balance the classes of each target. The metric values obtained in the models have substantially improved after the application of this technique having four targets that hit the defined quality parameters, "C8.5", the "C9.5", the "1.5G" and "3.5G". The DM technique that stands out was the LL, with this technique the models obtained best values in the evaluated metrics as can be observed in table 1.

6 Conclusion and Future Work

The objective of this project was to obtain predictive models that will support gamblers to increase their profits. In particular when they are betting on the number of goals or number of corners in a specific football match in order to reduce the risks that have on each placed bet.

Several targets were defined within these two groups. After the DM models were induced, they were evaluated according to the defined thresholds, the models that have value to be entered in the prototype are "C8,5", "C9,5", "G1,5" and "G3,5". These models were obtained after the application of the oversampling technique to the dataset; this technique has substantially improved the values obtained in the evaluated metrics.

Future work will pass for adding new variables to these models, to try different scenarios in order to obtain models with even greater precision to be added later to the prototype. In parallel, the prototype will be converted into a system able to disseminate all the probabilities anywhere and anytime in mobile or situated devices. This prototype also will incorporate the other predictions made in this field related to the final result [22–24].

Acknowledgments

This work has been supported by FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Project Scope UID/CEC/00319/2013.

References

- Hevner, A.R., March, S.T., Park, J., Ram, S.: Design Science in Information Systems Research. MIS Q. 28, 75–105 (2004).
- 2. Maimon, Oded; Rokach, L.: Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery Handbook. (2010).
- Fayyad, U., Piatetsky-Shapiro, G., Smyth, P.: Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining: Towards a Unifying Framework. Kdd (1996).
- Vercellis, C.: Business Intelligence: Data Mining and Optimization for Decision Making. (2009).
- 5. Han, J., Kamber, M., Pei, J.: Data Mining: Concepts and Techniques (2012).
- 6. Turban, E., Sharda, R., Aronson, J.: Business intelligence: a managerial approach (2008).
- Nemati, H.R., Steiger, D.M., Iyer, L.S., Herschel, R.T.: Knowledge warehouse: An architectural integration of knowledge management, decision support, artificial intelligence and data warehousing. In: Decis. Support Syst. 33, 143–161 (2002).
- Shim, J.P., Warkentin, M., Courtney, J.F., Power, D.J., Sharda, R., Carlsson, C.: Past, present, and future of decision support technology. In: Decis. Support Syst. 33, 111–126 (2002).
- 9. Simon, H.A.: The New Science of Management Decision (1960).
- 10. Simon, H. A.: The new science of management. (1977).
- 11. Weiser, M.: The Computer for the 21st Century (1991).
- Owramipur, F., Eskandarian, P., Mozneb, F.S.: Football Result Prediction with Bayesian Network in Spanish League-Barcelona Team. In: Int. J. Comput. Theory Eng. 5, 812–815 (2013).
- Joseph, A, Fenton, N.E., Neil, M.: Predicting football results using Bayesian nets and other machine learning techniques. Knowledge-Based Syst. 19, 544–553 (2006).
- Rotshtein, A.P., Posner, M., Rakityanskaya, A.B., Lev, M., National, V.: Football predictions based on a fuzzy model with genetic and neural tuning. Cybern. Syst. Anal. 41, 619–630 (2005).
- Tsakonas, A, Dounias, G.: Soft computing-based result prediction of football games. First Int. 3, 15–21 (2002).
- 16. Nunes, S., Sousa, M.: Applying data mining techniques to football data from European championships. Actas da 1ª Conferência Metodol. Investig. Científica (2006).
- 17. Ulmer, B., Fernandez, M.: Predicting Soccer Match Results in the English Premier League. 5 (2013).
- 18. Hucaljuk, J., Rakipovic, A.: Predicting football scores using machine learning techniques.

In: 2011 Proc. 34th Int. Conv. MIPRO. 48, 1623–1627 (2011).

- Suzuki, A. K., Salasar, L.E.B., Leite, J.G., Louzada-Neto, F.: A Bayesian approach for predicting match outcomes: The 2006 (Association) Football World Cup. J. Oper. Res. Soc. 61, 1530–1539 (2010).
- Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Gago, P., Silva, Á., Rua, F., Abelha, A., Machado, J., Neves, J.: Enabling Real-time Intelligent Decision Support in Intensive Care. ESM 2011 - 25th Eur. Simul. Model. Conf. Guimarães, Port. EUROSIS (2011).
- Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Silva, Á., Machado, J., Abelha, A.: Enabling a Pervasive approach for Intelligent Decision Support in Intensive Care. In: Communications in Computer and Information Science - ENTERprise Information Systems. pp. 233–243 Sringer (2011).
- Gomes, J., Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Machado, J., Abelha, A.: Predicting 2-way Football Results by means of Data Mining. In. ESM - 29th Eur. Simul. Model. Conf. Leicester, UK. EUROSIS (2015).
- Gomes, J., Portela, F., Santos, M.F.: Decision Support System for predicting Football Game result. In: Computers - 19th International Conference on Circuits, Systems, Communications and Computers - Intelligent Systems and Applications Special Sessions. Series 32, 2015. pp. 348–353 INASE (2015).
- Gomes, J., Portela, F., Santos, M.F.: Real-Time Data Mining Models to Predict Football 2-Way Result. In J. Teknol. Penerbit UTM Press (2016) (accepted for publication).

Towards a Pervasive Data Mining Engine -Architecture overview

Rui Peixoto¹, Filipe Portela^{1,2} and Manuel F. Santos¹

¹Algoritmi Research Centre, University of Minho, Portugal ²ESEIG, Porto Polytechnic, Portugal ruidfpeixoto@gmail.com; {cfp, mfs}@dsi.uminho.pt;

Abstract. Current data mining engines are difficult to use, requiring optimizations by data mining experts in order to provide optimal results. To solve this problem a new concept was devised, by maintaining the functionality of current data mining tools and adding pervasive characteristics such as invisibility and ubiquity which focus on their users, providing better ease of use and usefulness, by providing autonomous and intelligent data mining engine, composed by four major components: database; Middleware (control); Middleware (processing); and interface. These components are interlinked but provide independent scaling, allowing for a system that adapts to the user's needs. A prototype has been developed in order to test the architecture. The results are very promising and showed their functionality and the need for further improvements.

Keywords. Data Mining, Pervasive computing, Data mining Engine

1 Introduction

Nowadays, there are many data mining engines. However these engines are difficult to use and optimizing the results takes a large effort. For this reason a new data mining concept was devised. This concept joins the general characteristics of data mining engines with the characteristics of pervasive computing. By bringing the technology into the "background" it is possible to improve the perceived usefulness and ease of use of data mining tools. The Data Mining Engine (DME) architecture proposed is divided into four major components: Database, Middleware (Control and Processing) and Interface. In fact, it provides, at least, the same services as any other data mining engine with extra features. It also provides fully automatic configuration and autonomous data mining services in any place, and in any device available to all users.

Providing Data Mining functionalities and their results (probabilities, dashboards and alerts) automatically and in real-time to anyone, anywhere and anytime is the main goal of this project. This new solution offers an Intelligent Mining and Knowledge discovery to anyone who wants to make previsions without the need to learn how it works. To assess the concept viability and architecture functionality, a case study was performed using the developed prototype. The achieved results are motivating. A

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_58

complete and autonomous data mining process was executed using real data collected from Intensive Care Unit (ICU) of Centro Hospitalar do Porto (CHP), Porto.

This article contains five sections beyond this section. The second section provides the state of the art on pervasive computing, data mining and data mining engines. The third section provides an overview of why and how the system was conceived and intrinsic features. The major architectural components are described in the section four. In the section five, a case study is conducted making use of a prototype of the system. The article ends with the conclusion and future work.

2 Background

2.1 Pervasive Computing

Pervasive computing (PC) focus on taking the technology from center stage to the "background" [1], abstracting the user from its complexities. In order to bring the technology to the background a characteristic named "invisibility" is necessary. This concept means that technology is used unconsciously, removing the need for adaptation or understanding of how to use it. This implies the capability to identify and adapt the solution to the environment and its users [2]. To make these decisions there are two different approaches possible, creation of specific models for each environment, or dynamic changing models that detect the environment [3] and then adapt to it. Another key characteristic is ubiquity. This means that technology must be everywhere without the necessity of bringing any specific device anywhere we go [1] so that the user is not aware of its presence. We must understand that this problem is more than a technology problem. Yes its technologically complex, it requires a solution which is a distributed and mobile system, among other concerns, but it has a human component mainly in the way its users perceive it. It may also automatically notify the user about pre-defined requests using the best available device or method: situated devices, email, phone application, etc., depending on the user location.

Satyanarayanan [4] considers pervasive computing as an evolution of distributed systems and mobile computing. Most of the challenges are addressed and a direct solution can be implemented into PC. Challenges in distributed systems [5] such as heterogeneity, openness, security, scalability, failure handling, concurrency and transparency must be addressed and resolved. In mobile computing wireless networks, mobility and portability are the challenges to consider and address [6]. As determined earlier pervasive computing bring new challenges [7]: Localized scalability, physical spaces Heterogeneity, Integration, Invisibility, Context awareness and management.

As advantages it allows the technology to be used by all the people, removing the need for adaptation and resistance to change. In more specific situations, pervasive computing allows a greater comfort in life thanks to smart spaces [8], higher productivity with access to information and computation anywhere [1], and automatic devices configuration [9]. Concluding pervasive computing promises a new age of computation, focused on the people with technology in second place, promoting direct, simple and intelligent access to information and services anywhere [10].

2.2 Data Mining

Data Mining (DM) is defined as the application of algorithms to the discovery of patterns in data [11, 12], in order to potentially find useful information. There are two different objectives or categories in Data Mining, prediction and description [13]. Predictive modelling produces a model of a system based on initial data, and its objective is to predict a specific attribute, based on others. If the attribute to be predicted is numeric or continuous, then regression [14] is used, if it is discreet, classification is used [15].

Descriptive modelling creates patterns that describe data and its objective is to allow the interpretation of those patters. There are four main approaches: Clustering, Summarization, Dependency [16] and times series. Algorithms are implementations of generic models (classification, regression, others). In DM there are different algorithms (decision trees, neural networks, others), some are specific to a model type, and other encompass several model types [17]. This project only attempts to solve classification and regression problems. In order to determine the quality of a model it must be evaluated. To perform this, the simplest way is to divide the data into training and evaluation sets. Normally 1/3 of the data is used for evaluation and the remaining for training [12]. Dividing the data in this faction may not be optimal. To solve this problem, there is a process called stratification, which guarantees that each class is properly represented in both data sets, but this is not enough to guaranty adequate representation. For this a common statistical technique is normally used, called cross-validation. Several different partitions of the same data are created, called folds. These two methods [12] are the ones available in the prototype although the architecture allows for other methods to be implemented. There are several metrics [12] to evaluate a prediction model depending on the problem objective / model type. Scoring functions quantify the fit quality of the model created, its usefulness is to compare the fit between the models [14]. Without scoring functions it is impossible to determine the best model or even optimize the parameters of the model or to find the probability associated to a target.

2.3 Process

Specifically for this architecture a four stage data mining process is used, composed of Extract Transformation Load (ETL), Modelling, Model Induction and Evaluation. Each stage is composed by several tasks. ETL is composed of data collection, exploration analysis, data transformation and data selection. Modelling is composed of model selection and model configuration. Model Induction has no sub tasks. Evaluation is composed of model evaluation, process result evaluation and scoring. At any time the process can be returned to the any previous task in the process. The process ends when the model evaluation coincides with the process evaluation target.

2.4 Data mining engine and similar engines

Data mining engine is a mechanism that offers a set of data mining services to its clients. It can be seen as if it was a black box, everything done inside is invisible to its users, only displaying its services as an input and output. The services can be at a process level or very specific tasks, it depends on the data mining engine capabilities.

There are many data mining engines, ranging from specific tools only providing data mining services, to business intelligence packages with data mining functionalities [18].

Engines like R, Weka, Knime, Rapid miner are well known in the data mining world, but they all suffer from the same problem, ease of use. Data mining engines are considered more difficult to use than other information technology [19], being the two most important factors in tools adoption the ease of use and perceived usefulness. This new engine tackles these two factors. Its perceived ease of use is increased by providing a fully automated process, removing the need of a specialized data mining expert and bringing the potential of data mining to everyone. The perceived usefulness of the data mining engine is increased by autonomous optimization and notification system.

3 The concept

From the limitations facing current data mining engines a new concept emerged. By joining the characteristics of pervasive computing and data mining a new engine was developed. By devising the system as a distributed systems it can serve multiple users in multiple places/devices. Pervasive computing also goes much further than a concern for user interface, it requires the system to perform tasks without user intervention, by recording the entire process a knowledge base is created for the system and to apply Data Mining algorithms to make better decisions (e.g. first model to use). It will use past processes to make its decisions. This allows the system to mold to its users, even user choices will be reflected in future system choices. To better understand how this was accomplished this new engine is capable of:

- Scaling according to the needs The system can run on single or multiple server, and can scale each component independently according to the number of processes and users.
- Multiple users The system is online and designed to service simultaneous users.
- Services anywhere and in any device As it is a web application it can be accessed from any place from any device.
- Uses other engines for data mining tasks The system is capable of using other engines to run its data mining tasks, it basically is an abstraction on top of other data mining tasks. The system does not implement new algorithms, it uses code and libraries already deployed to support any data mining service.
- Services to other engines for data mining tasks Because of its ease of use, online availability and minimal configuration it can be easily used by other programs for easy access to data mining services.

Service to:

 Novices – Because of its automatic process, novice users can start using data mining services without needing to understand the technical necessities. The only minimal knowledge required is a business knowledge in order to understand the significance of the results.

- Experts Because of the pervasive characteristics, the system must respond to the expectations of its users, providing an environment to expert users, able to perform any task than other DME provides, adding some extra features. Services that are:
- Automatic/Optimized The system provides several levels of abstraction and automation. This provides many possible ways to operate the system, combining expert knowledge and system knowledge to suite every user expectation. The system also provides optimization at several steps, such as data selection and model configuration for example.
- Concurrency Because of its design, it is capable of running multiple models in concurrency, limited only by the physical resources available.

4 Architecture

4.1 Requirements and Features

This project has several requirements derived from the three areas regarding pervasive computing and data mining itself. The requirements are:

- Scalable In order to meet this requirement a distributed system solution with some component replication was selected. This was done in order to provide not only scalability but also better performance according to the task at hand.
- Available in every device and operating system For this requirement a web solution was designed, requiring only an html browser application in the device.
- Physical The physical requirements of the system are as broad as the possible environments. It can run on a single machine, for small data mining projects, to multiple servers providing resources for large companies.

The main features are:

- Pervasive/Ubiquitous The system is always available anywhere in any device.
- Distributed system The system operates in several machines, performing its tasks in specific environments, being the access remote to the server.
- Persistence The entire system is stored in the database, including its decisions.
- Automatic configuration The system requires none or minimal configurations.
- Expert/Novice The system provides an interface for varying types of users.
- Optimization The system has built an optimization process, removing the need for manual optimization of the entire process.
- As a service The system is designed to support multiple users and working as a service, not as a desktop application.
- Adaptability Allow easy implementation of new models and data mining engines, allowing the customization even to specific areas of data mining.
- Scalability by component The system provides scalability by component. Allowing a better suit of the hardware resources and performance concerns.
- Multiuser The system is designed to work with simultaneous users.
- Privacy Because it is a multiuser environment the system allows for the encryption of that, for privacy and security reasons.

4.2 Benefits

The principal benefit is the possibility to use DM efficiently without years of training. All tools require making choices that impact significantly the results and without experience it is impossible to know which is best. Also running all manually or making your own tool to automatize the process is time consuming or impossible to some users. It can also be very useful as a learning tool seeing as the system runs automatically the user is able to view every choice it makes. On a more technical note, it supports new tools/algorithms that may arise, as it uses other tools to provide its modelling services, without having to make major changes to the system.

4.3 Description

As mentioned before, this architecture (until now) only solves classification and regression problems. It internally uses some descriptive modeling, joined with prediction to attempt to run the better probabilistic model first. Because of this the architecture is far more complex than the simple process explained earlier. This architecture is composed of four major components: Database – Responsible for the persistence of the system; Middleware (Control) – Composed of the three other components, it manages all the decisions, the servers and the process; Middleware (Processing) – Component where almost all of the processing is performed, it runs the models and the ETL; Interface – Handles all client operations to the system. These four components are in constant communication and require each other to properly function and each component is responsible for its own fault tolerance. Each major components is comprised of several sub-components. Each components is described in the sub-sections below.

a) Database

A major component of the system, it provides persistence for the entire system. But it is more than a way to save data. The system runs completely on top of the database (DB). Many events are triggered when a change is detected, some processes are notified at the Middleware level, but no task is started without the confirmation of the database. The system simply does not work without the database. The communication is constant and intensive (requiring high physical resources), this is a conscious and intentional decision. Today the systems are very responsive and reliable, by delegating responsibilities to the database, synchronization efforts at the Middleware level are alleviated by preventing common problems of synchronization at the middleware level. Because of the requirements, the DB is responsible for its own scaling, an independent system. Allowing the administrator to implement a DB that handles the load required is depending on the user's needs. Requiring only that the connecter is changed according to the DB. Implementation is very important on this subject, currently any SQL DB is easy to implement as long as a java connecter exists to that DB system.

b) Middleware (Processing)

Comprised of one or multiple servers. All the ETL, modelling, evaluation and scoring tasks are performed in this layer. As a performance and diversity concern, it allows any other data mining tool functioning on this system. Engines such as R, Weka can be used

to perform any of the tasks, even if a new engine appears, as long as a command line is available it can be used as a component in this system. This functionality allows incredible adaptability, requiring minimal implementation. This can be achieved by creating a connector for each tool that is able to perform datamining task. By defining the entry and end point of each task, as long as these stay the same, the engine is able to perform these tasks. This can be achieved by programing scripts for each task in the control and send it to processing by the connector. Due to the fact of each task being independent to any other task, specific tools can be inserted to perform only specific tasks. For instance the ETL can be performed on R and the modeling on Weka or viceversa, because each task is recorded on the database, any other tool can continue the process where it was stopped. The only requirement for this system not failing, is for the entry and exit points to be the same. For example, if two models are to be performed, one in R and another in Weka, both models will load same data, and it will record the same information (necessary for the next task), this ensures that implementations are compatible with the current process. The differences are in the task itself, not in the process. All the tasks are available, allowing them to be called from the control/interface, or from other software/devices. The scalability issues are solved by replicating processing servers. Several servers of the same type can be started. The system will scale linearly, as each server processes only one model at a time, if there are ten models to be performed and ten physical servers available they will start one in each server. This example was for modeling process but the same tasks is applied to all other tasks. Several ETL servers can be started depending on the needs of the system. This is not possible in a standard desktop data mining engine (DMEs available in the market at the moment).

c) Middleware (Control)

The core of the system, capable of individual scaling with repetition in each of the sub components except server control, that requires scaling throw partition responsibility.

- Server Control Responsible for the processing servers, it controls the starting of all the ETL, modelling, scoring and evaluation tasks. It determines the available servers and assigns the priority tasks for each server. Every single task started in Middleware (Processing) has to go through server control.
- Modelling Control Responsible for generating all the scripts for running and configuration of each individual algorithm implemented in the system. It is a separate system to allow a better division of the code, so that future implementations of new models are easier to perform and comprehend without compromising the integrity of the entire system.
- Process Control Responsible for the entire DM process it provides individual calls to each DM task, allowing for each individual task to be performed at any time. It also controls the flow of the process, which tasks are performed and in what order. The process is terminated when the target evaluation result is reached, this target can be the default of the system or defined by the user.
- Decision Support System (DSS) It is where the major decisions are made: transformation, data selection and modelling. To make these decisions, several DM processes are induced. Using the data accumulated from previous processes, a model is created in order to score new data presented to the system. When a decision is requested the DSS always uses the best model

available at that time. The system automatically maintains the model or change when a deviation is detected.

d) Interface

Composed by one or more webservers (depending on number of users). It is able to scaling independently of the other major components. It provides access to data mining services, configuration to the user and administrator, notification medium for the user, and reviewing the results. The notification can also be made by email or message. The interface also provides a different layout (interface) for each type of user.

- Simple Provides nothing more than dataset loading, define the prediction target, and show the current results. It is designed to be as simple as possible providing only information strictly necessary.
- Advanced On top of the simple functionalities it provides information on the decisions made and the current stage of the process. It allows the user to define any task manually or a mix of manual and automatic task. For example it allows the automatic selection of attributes and model. It also allows the change of evaluation stopping target.

5 Case Study

A first version of the solution was tested using real data collected by INTCare project [20, 21] in the ICU of CHP. The current development still does not have a graphical interface but already implements a partial process, from start to finish. The automatic transformations and the intelligent system inside DSS are not implemented. Excluding these features the system is up and running on a server with two R processing threads, a MySQL database and a java Middleware. The system loads the data, selects the model and performs the induction, evaluation and scoring, stopping when the target evaluation is reached. The dataset used has 214709 records, 32 columns with information about patient vital signs. The target is a numeric field with two possibilities (1 – critical, 0 – stable). The goal was to predict if the patient is in critical or stable condition [22].

The process starts with the input of the dataset. This is done manually by the user, as well as selection the column for the target. The system automatically loads the dataset and generates descriptive statistics about the dataset (column data type, number of classes, max, min, and others). After loading is complete, the model is selected. A set of predefined configurations was selected by the system, according to the priority levels defined to each configuration, this information is stored in the database. After the configuration is terminated, the system detects which servers are available and assigns the models for induction. The instructions for processing are sent from the control to the processing, and the model is created, evaluated and all the results are saved directly to the database. When this is finished the control is notified, and the process checks if the evaluation target is reached using the scoring process, otherwise a new model is assigned to be inducted. The system records all the available metrics. In this test the metric used was relative absolute error, defined at the start as 25%. The target evaluation was reached on the 4th model and the system stopped. As mentioned above, it still does not have a graphical interface as such the user notification is not yet

implemented. All the request, even the request for loading initial data is recorded in the database, and the server control is then notified. The processing server access directly to the databases to minimize transactions, when it finishes the request, it notifies the server control and/or process control depending on the task it is performing. After model selection is determined and the configurations are defined in the database, the server control allocates the script to the processing server. When evaluation target is not reached, the connector notifies process control with an unsuccessful status. The process control then determines if new models or parameters are needed.

6 Conclusion and Future Work

In this paper was presented a new data mining engine with pervasive characteristics. Although the system is still in development, the concept is well defined and a working prototype was deployed. Its capabilities for simple and fast data mining services is undeniable. The tested prototype is capable of looking for optimal results, and the architecture works as expected providing the base for future and improved developments. On a more specific note, it is apparent that the information generated by the system provides useful information for all types of users, be either for new users learning how data mining works, at home or in school environments, or by expert users, providing new, unexplored paths to achieve the same or better goals.

At the moment many possible data mining approaches are explored with minimal knowledge of which will produce the best results, improving the system in this subject is the real challenge. We cannot also ignore that the system is designed to learn from itself, requiring more time to produce better results.

The main difference between the DME proposed and the existing one is in the concept novelty and in the architecture. This approach is totally new for the scientific community. From the development made it can be concluded that the characteristics of pervasive computing and data mining can indeed be joined to create a new concept as explained in this article. The architecture presented has already proven it can minimize the technical expertise needed to use a data mining engine. A case study demonstrated that interesting results can be attained by the system. Nevertheless it does seem that the architecture devised is capable of performing and reaching the goals defined in the project, requiring improvements in the decision support system.

Briefly and as main gain with this solution the user only need to load a dataset, choose a target and then click in start. Then the system is responsible by treating the data, induce and evaluate the models. Finally the scoring tasks is performed and all the probabilities are presented to the user.

Future research should be focused in the decision support system and in a statistic module. Two major features will be included in the system. First, a clustering approach as a description and prediction modelling. The clusters allow not only for one more type of data mining but also to explore large datasets. Second another descriptive data mining techniques to provide metadata to the cluster modelling. This way, better and dynamic models can be created. So in the future the models does not need to have predefined classes, the cluster can be used to decide which classes should be considered based in their relation with the target.

Acknowledgment

This work has been supported by FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Project Scope UID/CEC/00319/2013 and the contract PTDC/EEI-SII/1302/2012.

References

- 1. Weiser, M.: The computer for the 21st century. In. Sci. Am. 265, 94–104 (1991).
- 2. Weiser, M.: Some computer science issues in ubiquitous computing. Commun. ACM. 36, 75-84 (1993).
- Lyytinen, K., Yoo, Y.: Issues and challenges in Ubiquitous computing. Commun. ACM. 45, 63–96 (2002).
- Satyanarayanan, M.: Pervasive computing: Vision and challenges. Pers. Commun. IEEE. 8, 10–17 (2001).
- Coulouris, G.F., Dollimore, J., Kindberg, T.: Distributed systems: concepts and design. pearson education (2005).
- Forman, G.H., Zahorjan, J.: The challenges of mobile computing. In. Computer (Long. Beach. Calif). 27, 38–47 (1994).
- Saha, D., Mukherjee, A.: Pervasive computing: a paradigm for the 21st century. In. Computer (Long. Beach. Calif). 36, 25–31 (2003).
- 8. Mark, W.: Turning pervasive computing into mediated spaces. IBM Syst. J. 38, 677–692 (1999).
- Banavar, G., Beck, J., Gluzberg, E., Munson, J., Sussman, J., Zukowski, D.: Challenges: an application model for pervasive computing. In: Proceedings of the 6th annual international conference on Mobile computing and networking. pp. 266–274 (2000).
- Ye, J., Dobson, S., Nixon, P.: An overview of pervasive computing systems. In: Ambient Intelligence with Microsystems. pp. 3–17. Springer (2008).
- Fayyad, U.M., Piatetsky-Shapiro, G., Smyth, P., others: Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining: Towards a Unifying Framework. In: KDD. pp. 82–88 (1996).
- 12. Witten, I.H., Frank, E., Mark, A.: Data Mining: Practical machine learning tools and techniques, (2011).
- Kantardzic, M.: Data-Mining Concepts. Data Min. Concepts, Model. Methods, Algorithms, Second Ed. 1–25 (2011).
- 14. Hand, D.J., Mannila, H., Smyth, P.: Principles of data mining. MIT press (2001).
- Bradley, P.S., Fayyad, U.M., Mangasarian, O.L.: Mathematical programming for data mining: formulations and challenges. In. INFORMS J. Comput. 11, 217–238 (1999).
- Fayyad, U., Piatetsky-Shapiro, G., Smyth, P.: From data mining to knowledge discovery in databases. AI Mag. 17, 37 (1996).
- 17. Giraud-Carrier, C., Povel, O.: Characterising data mining software. Intell. Data Anal. 7, 181–192 (2003).
- Mikut, R., Reischl, M.: Data mining tools. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Data Min. Knowl. Discov. 1, 431– 443 (2011).
- Huang, T.C.-K., Liu, C.-C., Chang, D.-C.: An empirical investigation of factors influencing the adoption of data mining tools. Int. J. Inf. Manage. 32, 257–270 (2012).
- Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, Á., Rua, F.: Pervasive and intelligent decision support in intensive medicine--the complete picture. In: Information Technology in Bio-and Medical Informatics. pp. 87–102. Springer (2014).
- Aguiar, J., Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, Á., Rua, F., Pinto, F.: Pervasive information systems to intensive care medicine: technology aceptance model. In. ICEIS 2013 - 15th International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems. pp 177-184. SciTePress (2013).
- Portela, F., Gago, P., Santos, M.F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, Á., Rua, F.: Implementing a Pervasive Real-Time Intelligent System for Tracking Critical Events with Intensive Care Patients. In: Int. J. Healthc. Inf. Syst. Informatics. 8, 1–16 (2013).

Pervasive Adaptive Data Acquisition Gateway for Critical Healthcare

Sérgio Oliveira¹, Filipe Portela^{1,2}, Manuel F. Santos¹, José Machado¹, and António Abelha¹

¹Algoritmi Research Centre, University of Minho, Portugal ²ESEIG, Porto Polytechnic, Porto, Portugal sergiomdcoliveira@gmail.com; {cfp, mfs}@dsi.uminho.pt; {jmac, abelha}@di.uminho.pt;

Abstract. The data acquisition process in real-time is fundamental to provide appropriate services and improve health professionals decision. In this paper a pervasive adaptive data acquisition architecture of medical devices (e.g. vital signs, ventilators and sensors) is presented. The architecture was deployed in a real context in an Intensive Care Unit. It is providing clinical data in real-time to the INTCare system. The gateway is composed by several agents able to collect a set of patients' variables (vital signs, ventilation) across the network. The paper shows as example the ventilation acquisition process. The clients are installed in a machine near the patient bed. Then they are connected to the ventilators and the data monitored is sent to a multithreading server which using Health Level Seven protocols records the data in the database. The agents associated to gateway are able to collect, analyse, interpret and store the data in the repository. This gateway is composed by a fault tolerant system that ensures a data store in the database even if the agents are disconnected. The gateway is pervasive, universal, and interoperable and it is able to adapt to any service using streaming data.

Keywords: Gateway, Pervasive Data, Vital Signs, Ventilation Data, Medical Devices, Real-time, Data Streaming, Data processing, Sensors, Adaptability.

1 Introduction

In critical healthcare environments the patients are typically connected to medical devices by sensors. There are a set of sensors able to monitoring the patient condition to the monitors (e.g., vital signs and ventilation). However in many cases these data only are shown in the monitors and they are not stored in database. They are considered temporary values. Having conscience of the problems associated to a delay recording and data loss and how the services can benefit with the introduction of this data in the database (clinical data available to be consulted in real-time), a universal gateway was designed and implemented. This gateway is able to collect patient data in real-time, independent of the medical device used. A report from the Institute of Medicine [1] presents a set of new concerns arising from the increase of information technologies in healthcare and the needs of it support the patients. One of the concerns is related to data quality. This problems can be overcame by implementing systems able to automate

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_59

some clinical workflow as is the introduction of autonomous system to acquire the data monitored. In summary, integration of information systems in the healthcare environment has provided the opportunity for improvements in work, being the tasks performed faster, more consistently and with less cost [2].

The main goal of this work is developing a pervasive universal and adaptive system able to collect the monitoring data in real-time. The system should be prepared to collect data from a set of medical devices / sensors connected to the patient (eg. ventilator and vital signs monitor) and using an ethernet network approach to provide data streaming. The proposed system complements the existing architecture in Intensive Care Unit (ICU) of Centro Hospitalar do Porto. Actually the ventilators are only used to consult the values in a single moment. The monitored data are not stored in the database. In this context there is the need to create a system capable of collecting these data. In order to overcome this problem, it was developed a pervasive universal gateway that was integrated in the data acquisition subsystem. It is able to collect all patient data (being ventilated) in real-time, making them available for consult and analysis. This gateway presents as main features: adaptability, universality, autonomy, pervasiveness and fault tolerance, data streaming from sensors, data acquisition and data processing in real-time.

This paper is organized in five section. In the second section, it is covered a background of the work. The gateway data acquisition requirements and their characteristics are presented in the third section. The third section also presents the interaction between Client-Ventilator and Client-Server, it is presented the algorithm used to create the Health Level Seven (HL7) messages, the failure mechanism and the system to control the Client versions. In section four is made a discussion of the work and finally the concluding remarks are made in the fifth section.

2 Background

2.1 INTCare

INTCare is a research project which gave origin to a Pervasive Intelligent Decision Support System (IDSS) with the same name to Intensive Care Units. It is able to support physicians and nurses decision process in real-time [3]. INTCare take advantages of data streaming, intelligent agents and an autonomous Extract, Transformation and Loading (ETL) process. INTCare is able to support the decision making process by providing new knowledge in real-time [4]. INTCare is composed by semi-autonomous agents responsible for several tasks in real-time, as example: Data acquisition from sensors and medical devices; data streaming; data processing and transformation and induction of data mining models. These tasks do not require human intervention. The Data acquisition subsystem is based in the sensory processing tasks using intelligent agents. When a patient is admitted to an ICU, the clinical staff connects several sensors to the body. These sensors are prepared to collect patient clinical data as is vital signs and ventilation values. In the case of ventilation system, the sensors are connected to the ventilator which is prepared to receive all the signs sent by the sensors. The data received are shown in the ventilator monitor. INTCare interferes in this phase by developing a gateway able to process and collect these data to a database. The process starts when the data arrives to the ventilator. The data are received through a gateway and they are packed into HL7 messages. Then the data are stored on the database by another agent. Automatic data acquisition and consequently data streaming eliminates transcription errors, improves the records quality and allows the assembly of large electronic archives of data [5]. The system characteristics were defined taking into account the environment, the information needs and Data Mining requirements. These characteristics are fundamental for the development of a universal and adaptive gateway [6] providing data acquisition in real-time.

2.2 Interoperability and Pervasive Health

The biggest challenge of this work is to ensure the interoperability of consistent communication of information between all the hospital system and platforms. It should allowing a data streaming process provided by heterogeneous systems [7]. To facilitate the process is necessary defining a communication protocol / language.

The Health Level 7 (HL7) is a language composed by a set of patterns where the interoperability perspective is evident. HL7 help to improving the communication processes that handle with information [8]. Given this context the Agency for Integration, Archive and Diffusion of Medical Information (AIDA) were used [9] as a gateway support. One of the Interoperability change is Pervasive HealthCare. Pervasive in Healthcare (PH) can be defined as a "system for providing healthcare to anyone, anytime and anywhere by removing restraints of time and place, while enhancing the quality of health care" [10]. This approach is based on the information that are stored and available online [11]. In the field, the implementation of PH solution has technical and administrative obstacles, such as resistance to significant changes in the area of technology and information systems [12]. As a solution it is recommended to put the necessary information available electronically, complemented by predictive models that can help clinicians make better decisions in real time [13].

3 Gateway

The first requirements and the interaction between the client and server was already presented [14]. This section makes a short introduction of the system requirements and the interaction existing between client and server. Then the new features are presented.

3.1 System Requirements

In this section functional and technical requirements for developing the gateway are presented. As functional requirements: Client communication with ventilator must be done through the RS-232 port; The server must be able to receive messages from different clients (data acquired through client communication with the monitors ventilation); Store the data into a database; Create HL7 messages for communication between the systems; Efficiently treatment of exceptions; Log and alert system (mail sending when an error occurred); Secondary mechanisms for controlling data missing.

As technical requirements: Low disk space and restricted memory usage. The processes of data acquisition and data storing are supported by intelligent agents. These agents are programed to make their tasks autonomously and in real-time. The gateway was developed in python taking advantage from the several libraries existing in this field.

3.2 Interaction between Client and Server

The Clients are installed in computer associated to the ventilator. Each Client is waiting by the ventilator message. These messages are produced after a signal be measured by the patient sensors. Then the Client receives the message and performs some changes (formatting) in order to send it to the Server in a universal format (HL7) through ethernet network. In order to provide a deeper understanding of the Gateway, a use case diagram, according to the modelling language UML (Unified Modelling Language), is presented in Figure 1.



Fig. 1. Use Case Gateway

As mentioned in the first version already published [14], In Figure 1 is possible observe the interactions between the system and the user. "However and since there are not human interactions presented in this functional unit, the interlocutors (client and server) presented are an integral part of the system. The client and server are two integral parts, each of which performs a set of tasks necessary to provide all the functionalities of the gateway. To demonstrate the interactions between objects and scenarios performed by the methods or operations through two operations, a sequence diagrams were depicted.

Figure 2 elucidates how the data is acquired through Client and from the ventilator. The Client (Ventilator (X) - where X is an individual ventilator) performs a set of messages exchanged between two objects: Port RS-232 and Ventilator. Initially the Client has to identify if there is any Serial port installed that supports Client execution. If yes, it sends a message (MSG) identified by the ventilator port. Then, the Ventilator sends a message with the respective values of the fields requested by the Client. Finally, the Client receives the message sent by the Ventilator and chooses the set of fields that will be introduced, creates a message according VL syntax and sent it to the Server."



Fig. 2. Client Sequence Diagram

Figure 3 presents the sequence diagram of the operations made during the data streaming process from the Client to the server through Agent HL7. This diagram is a sequence of the diagram presented in figure 2. The Server System receives the message and then it identifies the Client IP and the patient Bed associated to this message. Then a request is sent to the database to identify which is the patient that is being monitored in those bed. Then, the collected data are correctly identified (there is a match between the data collected and the combination of patient identification (PID) and patient bed in the Electronic Health Records). At the end, the Server System updates the message (adding the PID) and sends the data collected from the patient for Agent HL7.



Fig. 3. Server Sequence Diagram

Sequence diagrams of Figures 2 and 3 represent the operations performed by the Gateway developed. The Client and the Server System are responsible to ensure an integral communication between heterogeneous systems parts.

3.3 Server parallel processing

The Server is always listening for Client messages. When a message is received by the server, it is instantiated one high-level threading class. This message implicitly gives

origin to a new task. Each task is responsible for the creation of all HL7 messages and sent it to the multi-task server. In case of the server is receiving a new message but if it has not yet finished running (is processing the last message received) it creates a new task. Always this situation is verified the Server creates a new task with parallel processing. The developed Server is a distributed processing system.

3.4 Create and sending Health Level Seven messages

When the Server creates a new task, the database is queried to know who owns the received message. Then it proceeds to the process of creation and sending of HL7 messages. The next algorithm presents all the process.

Algorithm 1 - Create and send HL7 message to the Agent HL7					
Require: date_number, date_value, process, name, bed and fields					
1:	Function create HL7 message (date number, process, name, bed,				
	value_fields, num_fields, service)				
2:	For all fields Do				
3:	MSH=Create segment MSH with (name, date number, generateID)				
4:	PID=Create segment PID with (process, name)				
5:	PV1=Create segment PV1 with (bed)				
6.	OBR=Create segment OBR with (num_fields, name, date_number,				
0.	service, bed)				
7:	OBX=Create segment OBX with (field)				
8:	MSGHL7= Concatenate (MSH, PID, PV1, OBR, OBX)				
9:	Call function SEND_MSGHL7(MSGHL7)				
10:	Function SEND_MSGHL7(MSG="empty")				
11:	If MSG != "empty" Then				
12:	Send MSG for Agent HL7				
13:	Wait for Ack				
14:	Else				
15:	Print "MSG is empty"				
16:	If $Ack == -1$ Then				
17:	Call booking engine				
18:	Else				
19:	Print "Successfully received message"				

The first function of the represented algorithm generates an HL7 message. The number of messages generated it is directly dependent of the number of fields collected. For example if the ventilator collects 10 fields then the respective task will send 10 HL7 messages for Agent HL7. Then, the second function is created and it is identified whether the Agent HL7 is receiving messages. Table 1 describes the segments used in the HL7 message created:

```
MSH|^~\&|NAME_IDNET|MSG_ID1||ORU^R01|MSG_ID2|P|2.3.1
PID|1||PATIENT_ID||NAME^PATIENT
PV1|1|U|BED_NUMBER
OBR|1|||NAME_IDNET|||MSG_DATE|SERVER_DATE
OBX|1|SM|VARIABLE_ID||VARIABLE_VALUE||||||R|||MSG_DATE
ID_SERVICE^BED_NUMBER||^AUTOMATIC
```

Segment	Description
MSH	Message Header
PID	Patient Identification
PV1	Patient Visit
OBR	Observation Request
OBX	Observation/Result

Table 1. HL7	Segments a	and Description
--------------	------------	-----------------

All the messages sent to HL7 agent must have the presented structure. The five represented segments must be sent in the same message. If some segment is missing the HL7 agent did not process the message properly. Another important aspect for the message to be processed by the Server it is the message ID. The ID of each message cannot be repeated, in this case an automatic ID is created based in message date (timestamp number), the service ID and a continuous and non-repeatable number.

3.5 Reserve Engines

The reserve engines is a failure tolerant system able to ensure a continuous data storing, even if there is some problems in the HL7 process. The server receives messages from Clients and it has as priority handling the messages and sending them to the Agent HL7. However if for some reason the Agent HL7 is down, a set of mechanisms are automatically activated. With goal to avoid losing messages, two extra mechanisms able to store the messages not stored by the agent were developed. The first extra mechanism (second mechanism) is triggered in the case of Agent HL7 fails. This mechanism sends the message directly to the database. In fact it gets and processes all the received message and creates several messages in SOL. Then the Server insert each of the messages into the database. The SQL message data are the same presented in HL7 messages, only the shape of segments differs. In extreme cases when the database is down it is need to activate the third mechanism (second extra). The third mechanism is only called when the first and second storing mechanisms are unable to store the data sent by the Clients. The third mechanism does not send data to any server or agent. It stores the data locally on files. The files are generated in two formats (.sql and .hl7). The messages generated (in HL7 and SQL) in the previous mechanism are not lost, they are stored locally on files for future processing. Each file has the messages generated by each mechanism, i.e., it has all the information provided by a Client in the message. Later it is possible to take the files generated and insert the information by the HL7 Server or put it directly into the Database. Once they are generated two files with the same information only it is possible to select a format to store the data in the database. One flowchart was designed to represent the process above described.

Figure 4 is focused in demonstrating the mechanism developed, their conditions and server actions. Briefly when the first message is received, the number of fields (variables) are counted. Then it is verified if the message received can be converted in a HL7 message. If yes, the message is created and it is sent to the server agent. Then and after the agent storing the message in the database it sends an acknowledged (ACK) message. This process is repeated for all the message fields. In case of ACK failure, the agent will convert the first message in Sql code and he will store it directly in the

database. In case of database connection fails, the data will be stored in a file. This is a three steps process and only if one steps fails the following task is activated.



Fig. 4. Flowchart of Server mechanisms

3.6 Starting and Alerting Systems

The Server which are receiving the messages from ventilators and Agent HL7 has a restart mechanism. This mechanism was developed in a file Batch to automate the tasks. Each Agent is associated to a Server and it is composed by a set of commands. This Agent can start the Servers always they are not running. The agent checks periodically (5 min) if the Servers are running or not. Additionally, it was implemented a warning system to inform the state of Servers and Agent HL7. This system sends an email periodically to inform the state of the gateway. So it is possible to know whether the Servers and the Agent HL7 failed / are down. In case of the down time be long, it is sent an email informing that the servers and the Agent HL7 are still off.

3.7 Control gateway versions

The development of an interoperable gateway will provide greater ease of use in the future. It can be applied to other ventilation system monitors since it was developed a module capable of controlling clients' versions. This module was developed for three reasons: The ventilation systems may change; It is need to change the fields that are collected and there were changes in system settings: values, IP and Port. A Client is always waiting to receive a message with an order to update the software. If the client do not receive any message to make an update, it continues to make their work. When

the Client receives a message, it identifies if it is an update message and if the message was written in a local file. Then the Clients software version are updated. At the end, all the Ventilator Clients will be with the most recent version and up-to-date.

4 Discussion

The development of a gateway system to collect data from ventilators and the sensors connected to the patients provides a new way of consulting and view clinical values. The spectrum of values collection provides a better understanding of changes in the patients values. Thus, the system has demonstrated to be useful, due to be interoperable with many data acquisition devices and it can be easily adaptable to other environments, providing a data streaming in real-time. The fact of being used a universal language (HL7) makes this gateway a universal solution, because it can connect to others clinical system and the data can be used for several other goals. The gateway developed ensures that there are not data loss, due to the development of two extra acquisition mechanisms. The alert system can be used to restart the HL7 Agent and Server and sending emails containning their status. All the development and implementation process was followed by health professionals. Their contribution was valuable to develop a most sensitive system. The data collected are then presented to the medical staff using interfaces already developed, as is INTCare Monitoring System.

5 Conclusion

This paper presented the development of a pervasive and adaptive data acquisition system. The gateway was developed and incorporated in a real hospital system: INTCare. The data streaming is made in real-time and the data acquisition system allows for greater data collection capabilities, giving useful information in order to, for example, predict clinical condition. In order to develop a viable system, a high number of functional and technical requirements that demonstrates to be essential for the proper functioning of the system were taken into account. The system configuration was also important to make all systems interoperable enabling the communication between different systems.

The gateway has already collect around 2 million of ventilation data (in the last three months) from the sensors / ventilator. This situation would not be possible with manual registration. These data are providing to healthcare professionals a greater insight into the state of patients regarding to the respiratory system. It has also provided the development of Data Mining models to make predictions related to barotrauma and patient extubating [15, 16]. The fact of being pervasive, all the technicians can access to their settings anywhere and anytime and the information provided by the ventilator are always available. Additionally it sends emails when something is not working well. All of this development are an important pointing to the researchers in order to have an interoperable, universal and pervasive system able to ensure a full data acquisition in critical healthcare environments. For the future it is expected improving the gateway by adding security flaws and deploying the gateway in other hospital services.

Acknowledgements

This work has been supported by FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Project Scope UID/CEC/00319/2013 and the contract PTDC/EEI-SII/1302/2012.

References

- 1. Berry, A. Milosevic, Z.: Real-Time Analytics for Legacy Data Streams in Health: Monitoring Health Data Quality, In: EDOC, 2013 17th IEEE International, 2013, pp. 91–100 (2013)
- Dwivedi, A., Bali, R., Naguib, R.: Building New Healthcare Management Paradigms: A Case for Healthcare Knowledge Management, In: Healthcare Knowledge Management Issues, Advances, and Successes (2006)
- Portela, F., Santos, M. F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, Á., Rua, F.: Pervasive and Intelligent Decision Support in Intensive Medicine – The Complete Picture. In: Information Technology in M. Bursa, S. Khuri, and M. E. Renda, Bio- and Medical Informatics 2014, Eds. Springer International Publishing, pp. 87–102 (2014)
- Portela, F., Santos, M. F., Silva, Á.: Towards Pervasive and Intelligent Decision Support in Intensive Medicine – A Data Stream Mining Approach. In: AIM Journal (2016 (accepted).
- Santos, M. F., Portela, F., Vilas-Boas, M., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Neves, J., Silva, A., Rua, F.: Information Architecture for Intelligent Decision Support in Intensive Medicine, In: W. Trans. on Comp., vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 810–819 (2009)
- Portela, F., Gago, P., Santos, M. F., Silva, Á., Rua, F., Machado, J.: Knowledge discovery for pervasive and real-time intelligent decision support in intensive care medicine. In: KMIS - Knowledge Management and Information Sharing (2011)
- Gibbons, P., A. N., Flewelling, T., Jepsen, T., Larson, J., Ritter, J., R. M., Selover, S., Stanford, J.: Coming to Terms: Scoping Interoperability for Health Care Health Level Seven EHR Interoperability Work Group (2007)
- Blobel, E., Engel, K., Pharow, P.: Semantic interoperability--HL7 Version 3 compared to advanced architecture standards. In: Methods Inf Med, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 343–353 (2006)
- Cardoso, L., Marins, F., Portela, F., Santos, M., Abelha, A., Machado, J.: The Next Generation of Interoperability Agents in Healthcare. In: International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 5349–5371 (2014)
- Park, H.-A.: Pervasive Healthcare Computing: EMR/EHR, Wireless and Health Monitoring. In; Healthc Inform Res, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 89–91, Mar (2011)
- 11. Mikkonen, M., Väyrynen, S., Ikonen, V., Heikkilä, M. O.: User and Concept Studies As Tools in Developing Mobile Communication Services for the Elderly. In: Personal Ubiquitous Comput (2002)
- Varshney, U.: Location Management for Mobile Commerce Applications in Wireless Internet Environment, In: ACM Trans. Internet Technol., vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 236–255, (2003).
- 13. Portela, F. Pervasive intelligent decision support in critical health care, PhD Thesis, Dec (2013)
- Oliveira, S., Portela, C.F., Santos, M.F.: Pervasive Universal Gateway for Medical Devices. In: Recent Advances in Electrical Engineering and Education Technologies 205-210 (2014)
- Oliveira, S., Portela, F., Santos, M. F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva A., Rua F.: Intelligent Decision Support to predict patient Barotrauma risk in Intensive Care Units. In: Elsevier (ed.) Procedia Technology. Volume 64, 2015, pp 626-634. Elsevier (2015)
- Oliveira, S. Portela, F., Santos, M. F., Neves, J., Silva, A., Rua F.: Feature selection for detecting patients with weaning failures in Intensive Medicine. In: CPS (ed.) Mathematical Methods and Computational Techniques II. Volume 50, pp 195-200 (2015)
Part VII Healthcare Information Systems: Interoperability, Security and Efficiency

Predicting Triage Waiting Time in Maternity Emergency Care by means of Data Mining

Sónia Pereira¹, Luís Torres¹, Filipe Portela^{1,2}, Manuel F. Santos¹, José Machado¹, and António Abelha¹

¹Algoritmi Centre, University of Minho, Portugal ²ESEIG, Porto Polytechnic b7004@dps.uminho.pt; luistorres1792@gmail.com; {cfp, mfs}@dsi.uminho.pt; {jmac, abelha}@di.uminho.pt

Abstract. Healthcare organizations often benefit from information technologies as well as embedded decision support systems, which improve the quality of services and help preventing complications and adverse events. In Centro Materno Infantil do Norte (CMIN), the maternal and perinatal care unit of Centro Hospitalar of Oporto (CHP), an intelligent pre-triage system is implemented, aiming to prioritize patients in need of gynaecology and obstetrics care in two classes: urgent and consultation. The system is designed to evade emergency problems such as incorrect triage outcomes and extensive triage waiting times. The current study intends to improve the triage system, and therefore, optimize the patient workflow through the emergency room, by predicting the triage waiting time comprised between the patient triage and their medical admission. For this purpose, data mining (DM) techniques are induced in selected information provided by the information technologies implemented in CMIN. The DM models achieved accuracy values of approximately 94% with a five range target distribution, which not only allow obtaining confident prediction models, but also identify the variables that stand as direct inducers to the triage waiting times.

Keywords. Data Mining, Real data, Obstetrics Care, Maternity Care, Gynaecology and Obstetrics Care, Emergency Room, Triage Systems, Triage Waiting Time, Interoperability, Intelligence Decision Support System.

1 Introduction

Healthcare professionals are increasingly turning to clinical decision support systems (CDSS) as well as health information technologies that provide hospitals with patientspecific assessments and recommendations to aid clinical decision making [1] [2]. In the emergency department (ED), triage CDSSs are used in order to optimize the patient workflow, improving the quality of care and reduce the risks associated to prolonged waiting lists [3] [4]. The most common triage systems are the classification system with five levels of severity, such as the Emergency Severity Index (ESI) and the Manchester Triage System (MTS), efficient in general emergency units [5].

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_60

In the maternity emergency care, these triage systems became inadequate for their lack of flexibility addressing the specific patients that attend the gynaecology and obstetrics (GO) care services, such as pregnant women at different gestation stages and conditions [5] [6]. Accordingly, the emergency care of GO in CMIN resorts to a pretriage system, developed in CHP, specified to categorize women in emergency (URG) and consultation (ARGO) classes. The system integrates the intelligent CDSS implemented in CMIN and allows increase patient's safety [5].

The current study aims to predict the patients' waiting time – the time between the patient's triage and their clinical admission, through the induction of data mining (DM) models. The research is based on real data provided by the information systems used in CMIN to collect and store the patients' clinical records. After inducing DM techniques in several data scenarios, the case study achieved useful knowledge to support the maternity emergency room, since the best DM models reached accuracy values of approximately 94%, concerning a five range target dataset. The prediction of triage waiting times helps the emergency service identify the clinical and environmental features leading to longer waiting times. It assists the professionals prioritizing patients and operations, as well as avoiding medical errors, overcrowding and patient elopement.

This article includes five sections in addition to the introduction. The second section presents the context and related work, and the study description follows in section three. Section four tracks the data mining process following the Cross Industry Standard Process for Data Mining (CRISP-DM) phases. Formerly, section five contains a discussion about the obtained results, while the last section includes the conclusions and future directions to the accomplished work.

2 Background and Related Work

2.1 Context

In maternity care, a variety of gynaecology and obstetrics (GO) conditions are presented, since labour assessment issues to antepartum fetus threatening symptoms [6]. An adequate triage system has to be flexible and dedicated to GO guidelines, in order to provide patients with the proper care.

This study focus on the prediction of the patient's waiting time between the triage and the medical admission, which can be essential to the improvement of the GO emergency room patient flow and satisfaction.

2.2 Pre-triage System for Gynaecology and Obstetrics Care in CMIN

In CMIN, the maternity emergency room has to provide patients with proper GO services such as evaluation of labour, fetal examination and obstetric nurture. In this context, a specific emergency pre-triage system is implemented in CMIN since 2010 and establishes clinical priorities according to the severity of the patients' clinical condition. The triage is based on a set of predefined queries in form if rules of a decision

tree. The pre-triage system is inserted in the intelligent decision support system (IDSS) developed and currently deployed in CHP that supports this process, indicating the triage result (urgent or consultation) [5]. The IDSS is an interactive and adaptable system, which uses artificial intelligence techniques and decision models to answer a question. The presence of the IDSS offers a better understanding of the patient's real state [6]. Currently, the pre-triage system helps increasing patient safety for women in need of immediate care and reducing high-risk care in low-risk patients, maximizing the use of resources [7].

2.3 Interoperability, Archive and Diffusion of Medical Information

This study support data was gathered from distinct information systems (Support Nursing Practice System - SAPE and Electronic Health Record – HER) used at CMIN by the Agency for Integration, Archive and Diffusion of Medical Information (AIDA). The AIDA platform is built on a set of pro-active agents that ensure the standardization of clinical systems, overcoming the medical and administrative complexity of the diverse sources of data from the hospital [8]. By providing this interoperation between the hospital existing systems, this platform allows a suitable information management [9] [10]. The data managed by SAPE, the system supporting nursing practices, regards the records of clinical episodes associated with each patient, as an alternative to the traditional way of saving this information on paper. By the other hand, the EHR system handles storing and retrieving of detailed patient information, as the admission form, assisting monitor, report and improve data on health care quality and safety [11] [12].

2.4 Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining in Healthcare

The knowledge Discovery from Databases (KDD) is a five steps process that aims to identify new valid, meaningful and potentially useful information hidden in large data repositories [13] [14]. First of all, the dataset needs to be chosen, which corresponds to the first step. On the second stage, all the data is cleaned and processed, in order to become consistent. Thereafter, accordingly to the study goal, the data undergoes a transformation so it can be properly explored. The fourth step is the core of all the process, and corresponds to the Data Mining (DM), which is where the knowledge is retrieved from the data, through pattern discovery. Here the DM techniques used will depend on the nature of the problem, which can be segmentation, association, prediction and summarization. Finally, the last phase of the process is to interpret and evaluate the results obtained [15].

Healthcare organizations, which nowadays store most of their data in databases, can benefit a lot from the use of DM techniques. The possible applications go from the identification of effective treatments and best practices (better care to the patients), to anticipating patient's future behaviour and finding solutions concerning institution's management (better services and clinical decisions supported by evidence) [16] [17].

The Intensive Care Unit in CHP employ data mining models to predict patient outcome, readmissions, length of stay and organ failure in real-time, among others [18] [19] [20]. Furthermore, many DM studies have been conducted regarding obstetrics and maternal care, in order to identify services limitations and possible solutions. Among

them, DM classification algorithms were used to predict the type of birth using pregnancy characteristics and to predict events in the voluntary interruption of pregnancy [21] [22]. In these cases, a training set containing a group of attributes was provided, so the classification algorithms could discover relationships between them that would make it possible to predict the outcomes.

3 Methodologies, Materials and Methods

Following the KDD process described in section 2.3, the current study uses SAPE and EHR information to accomplish useful knowledge concerning the maternity emergency triage system. The DM phase applies the Cross Industry Standard Process for Data Mining (CRISP-DM), a sequence of defined six steps that allow to structure and guide the DM process [23]. The six stages are business understanding, data understanding, data preparation, modelling, evaluation and deployment, which support the development of DM models to be used in real environments [24].

A total number of 73330 admissions on CMIN's GO care emergency room are included in the study dataset, comprising a period between 2010-01-06 and 2015-06-25 (1850 days), regarding 31620 women patients. The exploration of the dataset as well as the DM process was performed using the R language and the interface R Studio, for their comprehensiveness and availability. Different classification techniques were considered: Decision Trees (DT), Naïve Bayes (NB), Generalized Linear Models (GLM), Support Vector Machine (SVM) and Neural Networks (NN). The selection of the DM techniques was based on the interpretability of the models, the engine efficiency and their suitability regarding the dataset features.

4 Data Mining Process

The current section describes all the work developed through the DM process, following the KDD process, according to the CRISP-DM phases, having into account the methods and methodologies described previously.

4.1 Business Understanding

The main business goal of the study is to identify the triage features that provide information about the patient waiting time, and therefore, be able to predict it. The prediction of the triage waiting times in the emergency room of the CMIN's GO unit will contribute to the improvement of the triage process.

Thus, the DM aims to develop accurate models able to predict the triage waiting time from the environmental and personal attributes available in the collected data. Decent results can be used by the CMIN's IDSS, enhancing the quality of services among the patient satisfaction.

4.2 Data Understanding

The study dataset meets the data provided by the information systems SAPE and EHR, considering a set of attributes available at triage time. A total of 17 variables were considered, some of those environmental features: the day of the week, the part of the day, the month, the day of the month, the part of the month, the trimester, the hour, the season of the year, the identification number (ID) of the triage professional and their medical specialty, the number of triage professionals working (NTP) and the number of patients waiting in the room (NPW). Additionally, it also considers the age and the gestation weeks (in case of pregnancy) of the patient, as well as their triage result, triage module and motive of visit.

In order to better understand these attributes and their relation with the prediction of triage waiting times, table 1 presents detailed information about some variables and their percentage of occurrence in the dataset. Accordingly, table 2 shows some statistical measures regarding the numerical variables of the study.

Variable	Class	Percentage	Variable	Class	Percentage
Day of the Week	Sunday	10.23%	Trimester	First Quarter	25.14%
	Monday	18.69%		Second Quarter	27.94%
	Tuesday	14.56%		Third Quarter	24.51%
	Wednesday	15.09%		Last Quarter	22.41%
	Thursday	15.29%	Station	Winter	23.76%
	Friday	14.92%		Spring	28.84%
	Saturday	11.22%		Summer	24.81%
Part of the Day	Morning	44.01%		Autumn	22.59%
	Evening	55.73%	Triage Module	URG	49.02%
	Night	0.26%		ARGO	50.98%
Part of the Month	First Third	29.73%	Triage Result	50	50.98%
	Second Third	36.54%		52	48.99%
	Last Third	33.73%		54	0.03%

Table 1. Classes and occurrences of some variables used in the dataset.

Table 2. Statistical measures of the numerical variables of the dataset.

Variable	Min	Max	Avg	Std Dev
NTP	1	63	5.44	3.47
NPW	1	61	1.77	1.92
Age	8	92	32.12	10.53
Gestation Weeks	0	46	11.23	15.40

The target variable *Triage Waiting Time* (TWT) was divided in different range approaches in order to obtained good data mining models. In a first approach, the target was simply distributed in two ranges, separated by the variable mean value. It allowed evaluating the relation between the selected variables and the study's aim, confirming its suitability to predict the triage waiting time, and subsequently, obtaining useful statistical results. On the other hand, following a more clinical approach, the target TWT was organized having into account the categories of emergency of the Manchester

Triage System (MTS). The category of emergency is associated with a maximum waiting time until the patient is attended by the doctor, regarding their condition. Table 3 highlights these approaches' ranges and occurances.

ID	Approach	Class	Distribution	Percentage
1	Simple Split	0	0 - 17 minutes	96.28%
		1	18 – 516 minutes	3.72%
2	MTS	0	0-5 minutes	63.82%
		1	6 – 10 minutes	24.98%
		2	11 – 60 minutes	9.56%
		3	61 – 120 minutes	0.68%
		4	121 - 516 minutes	0.96%

Table 3. Distributions of the target variable through the different assigned approaches.

4.3 Data Preparation

The cleaning and processing of a target dataset are important tasks of the data mining process, allowing the transformation of EHR and SAPE information in valuable information. Firstly, the desired attributes are attained from raw records. For instance, the temporal variables were obtained by processing the entrance, triage and admission hours and dates. Similarly, the number of patients and triage professionals available at the emergency room for a particular record required creating procedures to concatenate the dataset entries given the record's specifications. The noise instances, such as duplicates, inconsistences and missing values are removed from the dataset.

As visible in table 3, there is a disproportion concerning the distribution of the target variable TWT in the three last approaches. In order to provide the study with a balance target dataset, the technique of oversampling was implemented. It consists in replicating the lower target ranges, until a composed dataset is obtained.

4.4 Modelling

Once the datasets are ready, the DM models are induced using the DM techniques presented in section 3: DT, NB, GML, SVM and NN, using R miner and the algorithms and configurations featured in table 1. The sampling method Holdout Sampling was applied, having 30% of the dataset composing the testing set, and the remaining 60% used for training. In order to identify which variables influence the triage waiting time the most, the dataset attributes were combined, generating ten different scenarios to test the DM techniques:

- S0: {All variables}
- S1: {Day of the week, Part of the day, Trimester, Hour, Season, Triage Module, Motive}
- S2: {NTP, NPW, Triage Module, Triage Result}
- S3: {Age, Gestation Weeks, Day of the week, Part of the day, Trimester, Hour, Season, NTP, NPW, Triage Module, Motive}
- S4: {Month, Day, Hour, ID professional, NPW, Motive, Triage Result}

- S5: {Age, Day of the week, Part of the day, Day of the month, Part of the month, Season, NTP, Triage Module, Triage Result }
- S6: {Month, Day of the month, Part of the month, Trimester, Season, Motive, Triage Module}
- S7: {Day of the week, Part of the day, Hour, Module}
- S8: {Age, Gestation Weeks, Day of the month, Season, NTP, NPW, Triage Module, Triage Result, Motive}
- S9: {Age, Gestation Weeks, Trimester, NTP, NPW, Triage Result}

Each DM model (DMM) can be identified by equation 1.

$$DMM_m = DMT_v \times A_b \times T \times S_i \tag{1}$$

 DMT_Y refers to the DM technique, A_b is the target approach, T_s represents the sampling method and S_i identifies the scenario. A total of 100 models were induced (10 scenarios * 5 techniques * 1 sampling method * 2 target approaches).

4.5 Evaluation

The evaluation of the models considered the accuracy statistic metric described in equation 2. The accuracy is estimated through the results provided by the confusion matrix (CMX) of each model.

$$Accuracy = TP/(TP+FT+TN+FN)$$
⁽²⁾

The CMX contains four types of results: the number of True Positives (TP), False Positives (FP), True Negatives (TN) and False Negatives (FN). The CMX along with the accuracy result were obtained automatically using the package 'caret' in R Studio.

The best results concerning the DM techniques, scenarios and target approaches are exposed in table 4.

Approach	DMT	Accuracy	DMT	Accuracy	DMT	Accuracy	DMT	Accuracy
1	Sce	nario 0	Sce	nario 3	Sce	nario 4	Sce	nario 8
	DT	0.9359	DT	0.8982	DT	0.8670	DT	0.8614
	GML	0.8006	GML	0.7954	NB	0.7505	GML	0.7950
	NN	0.7846	NN	0.8041	GML	0.7915	SVM	0.7979
2	Sce	nario 0	Scenario 3		ario 3 Scer		Sce	nario 9
	DT	0.7494	DT	0.7081	DT	0.7277	DT	0.6636

 Table 4. Best accuracy results in view of the best DM technique and scenario for each target approach

Overall, the best DM models were attained by inducing decision trees (DT). Regarding the attributes, scenario 0 presents best accuracy values, showing that the selected variables influence indeed the triage waiting times in the maternity emergency room.

4.6 Deployment

The best DM models, as well as the new knowledge obtained about the attributes that influence the triage waiting times in the GO unit of maternity emergency room are reported to the maternity care unit of CMIN, being implemented in the IDSS and the Business Intelligence (BI) platform in use in CHP [25]. The BI platform supports the clinical and administrative decision process, concerning the care and the patients.

5 Discussion

As presented in table 4, the study achieved worthy results for all the persuaded target distributions, allowing sensible predictions of the triage waiting times and therefore, the support to the CMIN's triage process. It is up to the healthcare professionals to choose which target approach could be most beneficial to the melioration of the maternity emergency room patient flow. On the one hand, the first approach, which classifies the admissions in two classes according to the mean triage waiting time in the last 5 years, is the most opportune regarding statistical grounds. On the other hand, if the most clinical fitting approach would be classify the triage waiting times concerning the levels of severity; the second approach should be persuaded. Table 5 briefs the best models to predicting the triage waiting times.

 Table 5. Top DM models that present the higher values of accuracy in view of the best target approaches

Target Approach	Scenario	DMT	Accuracy
1	0	DT	0.9359
2	0	DT	0.7494

Another useful contribution of the study is the identification of the dataset attributes as enhancers to the patients' triage waiting time. Variables as the number of patients present in the waiting room, the number of triage professionals working at the moment and some temporal variables can be used to identify outstanding situations in the triage process, and therefore, improve the healthcare services.

In a real time environment, physicians can rely on the DM models to send warnings informing about the triage waiting time itself, but also about workflow issues and uncommon or risk conditions. Consequently, the physicians can be observant and alert to special cases and can put the patients on watch accordingly, allowing the healthcare institution saving resources and time.

6 Conclusions and Future Work

By means of real data obtained from CMIN's information systems SAPE and EHR, it is possible to prove the viability of using DM models to predict the triage waiting time, in maternity emergency room, through environmental and individual characteristics of the GO unit and patients. Clinically suitable results were achieved regarding the accuracy metric, by inducing the DM technique Decision Trees on data from scenario 0, achieving approximately 96% of accuracy, when using a five level target approach. The best DM models to predict the triage waiting times can also be used to implement a time tracker in the emergency room, since studies indicate that the awareness of waiting times increases the individuals' satisfaction and reduces anxiety and unattended leaves [26]. Accordingly, the best models and the results achieved will be included in the IDSS and the BI platforms, allowing the improvement of the GO patient flow and satisfaction, supporting the physicians' decision-making, leading to quality improvements in the maternity care. Applying the present DM strategy on a different setting or environment could represent a significant step to evince the support decision solutions benefits on improving the quality of the emergency services, by aiding both health professionals and patients.

Acknowledgments

This work has been supported by FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Project Scope UID/CEC/00319/2013.

References

- 1. Kawamoto, K., Houlihan, C., Balas, E., Lobach, D.: Impriving clinical practice using clinical decision support systems: a systematic review of trials to identify features critical to success. In: BMJ, 1-8 (2005)
- Haynes, R., Wilczynski, N.: Effects of computerized clinical decision support systems on practitioner performance and patient outcomes: Methods of a decision-maker-researcher partnership systematic review. In: Implementation Science 5 (12), 1-8 (2010)
- Kaushal, A., Zhao, Y., Peng, Q., Strome, T., Weldon, E., Zhang, M., Chochinov, A.: Evaluation of fast track strategies using agent-based simulation modeling to reduce waiting time in a hospital emergency department. In: Socio-Economic Planning Sciences 50, 18-31 (2015)
- Bergs, J., Verelst, S., Gillet, J.-B., Deboutte, P., Vandoren, C., Vandijck, D.: The number of patients simultaneously present at the emergency department as an indicator of unsafe waiting times: A receiver operated curve-based evaluation. In: Int Emerg. Nursing (2014)
- Abelha, A., Pereira, E., Brandão, A., Portela, F., Santos, M., Machado, J., Braga, J.: Improving Quality of Services in Maternity Care Triage System. In: International Journal of E-Health and Medical Communications 6 (2), 10-26 (2015)
- Cabral, A., Pina, C., Machado, H., Abelha, A., Salazar, M., Quintas, C., Portela, F., Machado, J., Neves, J., Santos, M.: Data Acquisition Process for an Intelligent Decision Support in Gynecology and Obstetrics Emergency Triage. In: CENTERIS, 223-232 (2011)
- Pereira, E., Brandão, A., Salazar, M., Portela, F., Santos, M., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Braga, J.: Pre-Triage Decision Support Improvement in Maternity Care by means of Data Mining. In: Integration of Data Mining in Business Intelligence Systems, 175-192 (2014)
- 8. Abelha, A., Machado, J., Santos, M., Allegro, S., Rua, F., Paiva, M., Neves, J.: Agency for Integration, Diffusion and Archive of Medical Information. In: IASTED (2002)

- Abelha, A., Analide, C., Machado, J., Neves, J., Santos, M., and Novais, P.: Ambient intelligence and simulation in health care virtual scenarios. In: Establishing the Foundation of Collaborative Networks, 461-468 (2007)
- Peixoto, H., Santos, M., Abelha, A., Machado, J.: Intelligence in Interoperability with AIDA. In: 20th International Symposium on Methodologies for Intelligent Systems (2012)
- Cardoso, L., Marins, F., Portela, F., Santos, M., Abelha, A., Machado, J.: The Next Generation of Interoperability Agents in Healthcare. In: Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 11, 5349-5371 (2014)
- Portela, F., Cabral, A., Abelha, A., Salazar, M., Quintas, C., Machado, J., Santos, M.: Knowledge Acquisition Process for Intelligent Decision Support in Critical Health Care. In: Healthcare Administration: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications, (2014)
- Frawley, W., Piatetsky-Shapiro, G., Matheus, C.: Knowledge discovery in databases: An overview. In: AI magazine 13(3), 57 (1992)
- 14. Fayyad, U., Piatetsky-Shapiro, G., Smyth, P.: From data mining to knowledge discovery in databases. In: AI magazine 17 (3), 37 (1996)
- Maimon, O., Rokach, L.: Introduction to Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining. In: Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery Handbook, 1-17 (2005)
- Yoo, I., Alafaireet, P., Marinov, M., Pena-Hernandez, K., Gopidi, R., Chang, J.-F., Hua, L.: Data Mining in Healthcare and Biomedicine: A Survey of the Literature. In: J Med Syst 36, 2431–2448 (2012)
- 17. Obenshain, M.: Application of data mining techniques to healthcare data. In: Infection Control 25(08), 690-695 (2004)
- Braga, P., Portela, F., Santos, M., Rua, F.: Data mining models to predict patient's readmission in intensive care units. In : ICAART 2014 - 6th International Conference on Agents and Artificial Intelligence. pp 270-276. SciTePress. (2014)
- Portela, F., Santos, M., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, Á.: Pervasive and Intelligent Decision Support in Critical Health Care Using Ensembles. In: LNCS. Information Technology in Bio-and Medical Informatics Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1-16 (2013)
- Veloso, R., Portela, F., Santos, M., Sila, Á., Rua, F., Abelha, A., Machado, J.: A Clustering Approach for Predicting Readmissions in Intensive Medicine. In: Procedia Technology 16, 1307-1316 (2014)
- Pereira, S., Portela, F., Santos, M., Machado, J., Abelha, A.: Predicting Type of Delivery by Identification of Obstetric Risk Factors through Data Mining. Procedia Computer Science. In: HCIST 2015 - Healthy and Secure People (2015)
- Brandão, A., Pereira, E., Portela, F., Santos, M., Abelha, A., Machado, J.: Managing Voluntary Interruption of Pregnancy using Data Mining. In: Procedia Technology 16, 1297–1306 (2014)
- Shafique, U., Qaiser, H.: A Comparative Study of Data Mining Process Models (KDD, CRISP-DM and SEMMA). In: Int. Journal of Innovation and Scientific Research (2014)
- 24. Chapman, P., Clinton, J., Kerber, R., Khabaza, T., Reinartz, T., Shearer, C., Wirth, R.: CRISP-DM 1.0 Step-by-step data mining guide (2000)
- 25. Pereira, E., Brandão, A., Portela, F., Santos, M., Machado, J., Abelha, A.: Business Intelligence in Maternity Care. In: IDEAS (2014)
- Shaikh, S., Witting, M., Winters, M., Brodeur, M., Jerrad, D.: Support for a waiting room time tracker: a survey of patients waiting in an urban. In: ED. Journal of Emergency Medicine (2013)

Critical Events in Mechanically Ventilated Patients

Filipe Portela^{1,2}, Manuel F. Santos¹, José Machado¹, António Abelha¹, Álvaro Silva³, and Fernando Rua³

 ¹Algoritmi Research Centre, University of Minho, Portugal
 ²ESEIG, Porto Polytechnic, Porto, Portugal
 ³ Intensive Care Unit, Centro Hospitalar do Porto, Porto, Portugal {cfp, mfs}@dsi.uminho.pt; {jmac, abelha}@di.uminho.pt moreirasilva@me.com; fernandorua.sci@chporto.min-saude.pt

Abstract. Mechanical Ventilation is an artificial way to help a Patient to breathe. This procedure is used to support patients with respiratory diseases however in many cases it can provoke lung damages, Acute Respiratory Diseases or organ failure. With the goal to early detect possible patient breath problems a set of limit values was defined to some variables monitored by the ventilator (Average Ventilation Pressure, Compliance Dynamic, Flow, Peak, Plateau and Support Pressure, Positive end-expiratory pressure, Respiratory Rate) in order to create critical events. A critical event is verified when a patient has a value higher or lower than the normal range defined for a certain period of time. The values were defined after elaborate a literature review and meeting with physicians specialized in the area. This work uses data streaming and intelligent agents to process the values collected in real-time and classify them as critical or not. Real data provided by an Intensive Care Unit were used to design and test the solution. In this study it was possible to understand the importance of introduce critical events for Mechanically Ventilated Patients. In some cases a value is considered critical (can trigger an alarm) however it is a single event (instantaneous) and it has not a clinical significance for the patient. The introduction of critical events which crosses a range of values and a predefined duration contributes to improve the decision-making process by decreasing the number of false positives and having a better comprehension of the patient condition.

Keywords. Critical Events, Intensive Care, INTCare, Ventilated Patients, Data Acquisition, Real-Time, Streaming Data, Interoperability.

1 Introduction

The process of ventilating a patient using artificial techniques is complex and it involves a set of concerns. By default a set of variables is defined in the ventilator according to the patient needs. Then the ventilator is prepared to monitoring the patient condition by collecting a set of patient values (e.g. Plateau Pressure, PEEP, Respiratory Rate, others). Typically these data are shown in the ventilator monitor

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_61

and they are partial recorded (only the first value of the hour is considered) in an electronic platform or manual sheet.

To a better decision it is fundamental to have a system able to collect and process the data in real-time. In this sense a data acquisition architecture was designed. The architecture developed uses interoperability, streaming data and intelligent agents to store the patient data in the database. After this process a huge volume of data is available to be consulted by the clinicians in order to make the best decision. However and although the high number of data available, the physicians do not have time to read and understand all the data available in the right moment. In order to support and facilitate this analysis the Critical Events (CE) concept [1] was adopted and it was associated to ventilation variables. The concept was initially applied to vital signs variables [2]. This process was defined using the knowledge obtained through a literature review and after meeting with physicians. The process was tested and it was defined taking in attention the Intensive Care Units (ICUs) particularities.

ICU is a unit where the patients with severe diseases are admitted. In most cases they are needing mechanical ventilation. This work is framed in the INTCare project [3, 4] and it was evaluated using real data provided by the Intensive Care Unit of Centro Hospitalar do Porto, Hospital Santo António. The introduction of critical events [5, 6] has as main goal decreasing the number of false positives and finding an alternative way to avoid the noise alerts presented in the ventilators [7]. Generally the alerts are turned off because they are very noisy and they interfere in the environment. With this new solution an event only is considered serious if a patient has a critical value for a pre-defined period of time. This solution contributes to outwit false positives provided by the ventilator. All the values collected are validated before being used by the agent responsible to categorize the value as critical or not.

As already mentioned all the definition process was based in clinical evidences. The definition of the values was made after meetings with the intensivists and after reading clinical works.

The goal of this work was achieved and as result the critical events concept was defined to mechanically ventilated patients. At same time a platform was developed to show the results and alert the clinicians about the patient condition, i.e., when the patient is with a critical event.

This paper is divided in seven sections. After a brief introduction of the work the concepts are addressed and the project is presented in section 2. Section 3 presents the data acquisition architecture designed. Section 4 presents the critical events ranges and how it is calculated. Then in section 5 a dataset was analysed in terms of critical events and their results are presented. Section 6 makes a conclusion of the work and finally in section 7 there is some points of future work.

2 Background

2.1 Mechanical Ventilation

A patient is connected to a ventilator when he cannot breathing from natural ways. Mechanical ventilation is used to support the patient in their respiratory functions. Mechanical ventilation in Intensive Care Units is considered an essential, life-saving therapy for patients with critical illness and respiratory failures [8].

The ventilators were developed with a second goal: to generate alarms when patients become disconnected or they are having critical ventilator events [7]. "All ventilators are now designed to detect critical events and are equipped with alarms. However, these alarms are only audible peeps that often are difficult to hear outside of the patient's room. Moreover, the large number of false-positive alarms generated by bedside monitoring devices exacerbates this problem because ventilator alarms can blend in with other accustomed sounds of the intensive care unit" [7].

According to a CDC study [8] Ventilator-associated pneumonia (VAP), sepsis, Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS), pulmonary embolism, barotrauma, and pulmonary edema are among the complications that can occur in the patients. The ventilator events are identified by using a combination of objective criteria: deterioration in respiratory status after a period of stability or improvement on the ventilator, evidence of infection or inflammation, and laboratory evidence of respiratory infection [8].

In this work and having in consideration the definitions above mentioned the goal is to give a new importance to the variables continuous monitored by the ventilator. By combining the values and their duration it is possible defining a set of values from a specific variable as a critical event.

2.2 Intensive Care Units

Intensive Care Units (ICUs) provide intensive care (treatment and monitoring) for people in a critically ill situation or unstable condition [2]. In ICUs are patients which needs a continuing medical attention and support to keep their body functioning (e.g. respiratory system). This type of support is essentially done recurring to technology and to the care of intensivists (nurses and physicians) [9].

Respiratory failure is one of the most common causes of ICU admission and 75% of the patients require mechanical ventilation. Despite of their benefits, these procedures might have some serious drawbacks like contributing to the lung's injury. Mechanical ventilation can have negative effects and its mortality rate ranges from 41% to 65% [10]. The number of re-intubations vary from 2% to 25% [11].

An automatic control of the mechanical ventilation can significantly improve the patient care in the ICUs, reduce the mortality and morbidity rates associated with provision of inappropriate ventilator treatments and reduce healthcare costs.

2.3 INTCare

INTCare is a research project designed to Intensive Care Medicine. This project gave origin to two platforms: patient monitoring and decision support. INTCare architecture is based in a multi-agent system [12].

Using INTCare is possible monitoring patients in real-time. It is possible store, process and analyse data automatically collected from bedside monitors (vital signs and ventilators), therapeutics and laboratory or manually recorded in the platform.

Using intelligent agents all the data are processed and a set of indicators and medical scores is presented to the intensivists.

The second platform is an Intelligent Decision Support System (IDSS). This platform uses ensemble data mining to predict clinical events (e.g. organ failure, patient outcome, length of stay, barotrauma among others). The use of critical events [1, 13] improves the sensitivity of the data mining models [1, 14-16]. Now this project is focused in the respiratory system and in predicting the occurrence of barotrauma [17]. With the development of this new approach and the definition of critical events to the ventilation, the influence of these variables will be studied in the models already induced [18-20].

3 Data acquisition architecture

This section presents the architecture (Figure 1) developed to collect the data from the ventilators using data streaming. To support this architecture a set of intelligent agents [21, 22] is used. First a ventilator is connected to a patient. This ventilator is able to monitoring all the patient respiratory variables. To have a correct identification of the patient, a procedure is used to confirm which patient is using the ventilator. This procedure will consult the Electronic Health Record (EHR) and analyse which patient is admitted in the bed near the ventilator that is collecting the data.

Then the gateway is prepared to send a message to the ventilator with the information about which variables were chosen to be collected. Then and after the ventilator receives the message all the results associated to the variables chosen are sent by the ventilator to the gateway. This process is continuous. Then the received results are processed by the Ventilation Acquisition agent in order to create Health Level Seven (HL7) [23] messages. This message is divided in two levels: header and data. After these messages be stored in the temporary tables a pre-processing agent is executed to analyse the values. This agent has the responsibility to verify if a value is valid and if it is critical or not. Then the pre-processing agent will analyse the last values collected and verify if they can be considered a critical event or not. The preprocessing agent uses the data presented in the critical events table (table 1) to make their job. This agent is responsible by understanding the significance of a value in a specific variable (each time a new value arrives). When a value lower or higher than the normal range appears for the first time, this agent starts recording an event. Then all the values collected are analysed. The event will be closed only (with a finish date) when a normal value arrives, until then the agent will continue counting the event duration. After finishing the event, the agent will verify the significance of the event duration. If the event duration is higher than the time defined as normal, the event is considered critical, otherwise it is normal.

Finally the information attained (events data) by the agent is stored in the database.



Fig. 1. Data Acquisition Architecture

4 Critical Events in ventilation

As mentioned the critical events (CE) range were defined after a depth literature review about the influence of each variable has in the patient condition and a meeting with experts in this area.

Table 1 presents a set of variables that can be used to define critical events. The Min Normal and Max Normal are the normal values (range). The columns Min and Max value are used to validate the values, i.e., it is the minimum and maximum value that a ventilator can monitoring. The values out of this range are considered noise values and they are not considered in the CE calculation process. The time (in minutes) is used to define an event as critical.

To calculate the CE an agent is used. The pre-processing agent is responsible by verifying if a set of values are lower than Min Normal or Higher than Max Normal with a duration upper than the time defined. Firstly this agent has to validate the values collected and verify if each value collected is in the normal range. Then if both conditions are verified a critical event is defined.

For example in the case of Positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) an event is considered critical when a patient has a PEEP higher than 0 and lower than 20 and at same time all the values collected are lower than 5 and upper than 15 for a period higher than 10 minutes.

Variable	Units	Min Normal	Max Normal	Min Value	Max Value	Time
Average Ventilation	cmH2O	6	25	0	40	10
Pressure (AVP)						
Compliance Dynamic	mL/cmH2O	21	43	0	250	30
(CDYN)						
Flow	litters per minute	20	80	20	250	10
Peak Pressure	cmH2O	8	50	0	100	10

Table 1. Ventilation critical events definition

Variable	Units	Min	Max	Min	Max	Time
	0	Normal	Normal	Value	Value	11
PEEP	cmH2O	5	15	0	20	10
Plateau Pressure	cmH2O	8	30	0	100	10
Respiratory Rate	breaths per minute	8	25	1	200	10
Support Pressure	cmH2O	6	26	1	100	10

5 Data Analysis

After create the CE it was possible to make an analysis of the data collected using real data provided by ICU of Centro Hospitalar do Porto. This analysis had in consideration the data collected from 2015, 1, January and 2015, 31, June. This data corresponds to 67 ventilated patients.

Table 2 presents the number of values collected and how many values are critical. Then it was studied the values duration and if they can represent a critical event. In the critical events column it is the number of events categorized as 1 (critical). In the column Critical Events Time is the number of events categorized as 1 and they had a duration upper than the time presented in table 1. The percentage represents a values ratio. This ratio is presented in figure 2.

As can be observed in table 2, Compliance Dynamic (CDYN) is the variable which present more values out of the normal range with a percentage of 41.79%.

In the case of Critic Events is interesting verify than in average most of the events are not critical, i.e., they did not have a significant duration. In this case Average Ventilation Pressure (AVP) is the most critical variable with a percentage of critic events higher than 62%.

It is important to note that the normal events (values between the normal ranges) were not considered in this analysis.

Variable	Critical Value	All Values	Critical Value%	Critical Events	Critical Events	Critical Events
				Time		Time %
AVP	618	61733	1.00%	545	871	62.57%
CDYN	24360	58293	41.79%	522	895	58.32%
Flow	848	51311	1.65%	19	35	54.29%
Peak Pressure	2708	61653	4.39%	365	775	47.10%
PEEP	10910	61985	17.60%	32	68	47.06%
Plateau Pressure	5584	61312	9.11%	103	404	25.50%
RR	1576	50768	3.10%	44	80	55.00%
Support Pressure	510	14639	3.48%	29	61	47.54%

Table 2. Ventilation Values and Critical Events in an ICU

Figure 2 presents the number of critical events verified in this ICU during the last 6 months. For example analysing the Plateau Pressure there is a considerable number of

critical values (9.11%) but from these only 25.5% has a duration upper than 10 minutes and it is considered a critical event. In the opposite site it is AVP with 1% of critical values being 62.57% of these values considered as critical events.



Fig. 2. Data analysis distribution

6 Conclusion

In this work a new concept was associated to mechanical ventilation. Critical Events were introduced in order to better categorize a patient. CE help the intensivist to have a better comprehension of patient condition without to have to look to the ventilator all the time.

As mentioned in the background, typically the ventilator alarms are shut down due to their noise. With this new concept, a set of patient values can be considered a critical event or not instead of being used a single value.

Intelligent Agents are used to process all the results collected automatically and in real-time. These agents follows a set of rules pre-defined. First the values are validated and categorized as critical or not using table 1 by the agent. Then and having in consideration the event duration a set of values is defined as critical or not. As can be observed in the analysis made there are a set of patients values that are constant collected and can active an alarm but they are considered a noise value.

With this new concept only the values with clinical relevance are considered – in case of a patient is suffering a values variation out of the normal range for a determined period of time. With this work it was also possible observe a set of negative values, i.e., out of the acceptable range (e.g. plateau pressure equal to - 9). Beside this fact validating the values is true important in order to avoid false positives and to have a correct calculation of critical events.

The system developed is intelligent because it is able to analyse the values collected, understanding if it is or not critic basing their decision in the value range

and in the event duration. In parallel it is able to automatically and in real-time processing all the values collected and send alerts when some abnormal value is verified or a patient is in risk due to the event duration. A patient tracking system [24] also was developed using the concept presented in this paper.

Some study are being performed using Critic Events [25]. Data Mining models are being induced and the results are very promising (blood pressure [26], arrhythmias [27]).

The goal of this paper was not to study the Critical Events impact but analyse the possibility to introduce CE in the ventilation variables. Section 5 was fundamental to present a possible analysis of the data collected using the CE concept. As main contribution of this work it is the definition of critical events to ventilation and their applicability in the Intensive Care Units. With this work the researchers has a new approach that can be considered in future studies.

7 Future Work

In the future it is fundamental study the real influence of critical events in the patient condition by developing data mining models using this variable. For example CE can be used to improve Data Mining models in order to predict Barotrauma or Early extubation. At same time it is necessary to finish the development of the alert platform.

Acknowledgements

This work has been supported by FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Project Scope UID/CEC/00319/2013.

The authors would like to thank FCT (Foundation of Science and Technology, Portugal) for the financial support through the contract PTDC/EEI-SII/1302/2012 (INTCare II).

References

- Portela, F., Gago, P., Santos, M.F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, Á., Rua, F.: Implementing a Pervasive Real-time Intelligent System for Tracking Critical Events with Intensive Care Patients. In: IJHISI - International Journal of Healthcare Information Systems and Informatics. Issue 4, pp 1-16. IGI Global (2013)
- Silva, Á., Cortez, P., Santos, M.F., Gomes, L., Neves, J.: Rating organ failure via adverse events using data mining in the intensive care unit. In: Artificial Intelligence in Medicine 43, 179-193 (2008)
- Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, Á., Rua, F.: Pervasive and intelligent decision support in Intensive Medicine–the complete picture. In: Information Technology in Bio-and Medical Informatics, pp. 87-102. Springer (2014)

- Portela, F., Aguiar, J., Santos, M. F., Silva, A. Rua, F.: Pervasive Intelligent Decision Support System - Technology Acceptance in Intensive Care Units. In: Springer (ed.) Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. Springer (2013)
- Curtis, J.R., Engelberg, R.A., Bensink, M.E., Ramsey, S.D.: End-of-life care in the intensive care unit: can we simultaneously increase quality and reduce costs? In: American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine 186, 587-592 (2012)
- 6. Keegan, M.T., Gajic, O., Afessa, B.: Severity of illness scoring systems in the intensive care unit. In: Critical care medicine 39, 163 (2011)
- Evans, R.S., Johnson, K.V., Flint, V.B., Kinder, T., Lyon, C.R., Hawley, W.L., Vawdrey, D.K., Thomsen, G.E.: Enhanced notification of critical ventilator events. In: Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association 12, 589-595 (2005)
- 8. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, http://www.cdc.gov/
- 9. Alasad, J.: Managing technology in the intensive care unit: the nurses' experience. In: International Journal of Nursing Studies 39, 407-413 (2002)
- 10. Fauci, A.S.: Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine, 17e. Silverchair Science: Minion (2008)
- 11. Tehrani, F.T.: Automatic control of mechanical ventilation. Part 2: the existing techniques and future trends. In: Journal of clinical monitoring and computing 22, 417-424 (2008)
- Santos, M.F., Portela, F., Vilas-Boas, M., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Neves, J.: INTCARE -Multi-agent approach for real-time Intelligent Decision Support in Intensive Medicine. In: 3rd International Conference on Agents and Artificial Intelligence (*ICAART*) (2011)
- Portela, F., Gago, P., Santos, M. F., Silva, A., Rua, F.: Intelligent and Real Time Data Acquisition and Evaluation to Determine Critical Events in Intensive Medicine. In: HCist'2012 - International Conference on Health and Social Care Information Systems and Technologies. Elsevier (2012)
- Portela, F. Veloso, R., Oliveira, S., Santos, M.F., Abelha, A., Machado, J., Silva, A. Rua, F.: Predict hourly patient discharge probability in Intensive Care Units using Data Mining. In: Indian Journal of Science and Technology. Indian Society for Educat (2016). (accepted for publication)
- Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, Á.: Pervasive and Intelligent Decision Support in Critical Health Care Using Ensembles. In: Information Technology in Bio-and Medical Informatics, pp. 1-16. Springer Berlin Heidelberg (2013)
- Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Machado, J., Silva, Á., Rua, F., Abelha, A.: Intelligent Data Acquisition and Scoring System for Intensive Medicine. In: Springer (ed.) Lecture Notes in Computer Science - Information Technology in Bio- and Medical Informatics, vol. 7451/2012, pp. 1-15, Viena, Austria (2012)
- 17. Hoo, G.W.S.: Barotrauma and Mechanical Ventilation. pp. 24. Medscape (2009)
- Oliveira, S., Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, Á., Rua, F.: Predicting Plateau Pressure in Intensive Medicine for Ventilated Patients. In: New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies, pp. 179-188. Springer (2015)
- Oliveira, S. Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, Á., Rua, F.: Characterizing Barotrauma Patients in ICU - Clustering Data Mining using ventilator variables. In: Springer (ed.) Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence (LNAI), Volume 9273, 2015, pp 122-127. Springer (2015)
- Oliveira, S. Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, Á., Rua, F.: Intelligent Decision Support to predict patient Barotrauma risk in Intensive Care Units. In: Elsevier (ed.) In: Procedia Technology, Volume 64, 2015, pp 626-634. Elsevier (2015)
- Cardoso, L., Marins, F., Portela, F., Santos, M., Abelha, A., Machado, J.: The Next Generation of Interoperability Agents in Healthcare. In: International journal of environmental research and public health 11, 5349-5371 (2014)

- Marins, F., Cardoso, L., Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Abelha, A., Machado, J.: Improving High Availability and Reliability of Health Interoperability Systems. In: New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies, Volume 2, pp. 207-216. Springer (2014)
- Hooda, J.S., Dogdu, E., Sunderraman, R.: Health Level-7 compliant clinical patient records system. pp. 259-263. ACM (2004)
- Portela, F., Oliveira, S., Santos, M.F., Abelha, A. Machado, J.: A Real-Time Intelligent System for tracking patient condition. In: Springer (ed.) LNCS - Ambient Intelligence for Health, vol. 9456, Springer (2015)
- Santos, M.F., Portela, F.: Enabling Ubiquitous Data Mining in Intensive Care Features selection and data pre-processing. In: publication, a.t. (ed.) 13th International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems, pp. 6, Beijing, China (2011)
- Portela, F., Santos, M. F., Abelha, A., Machado, J., Rua F., Silva, A.: Real-time Decision Support using Data Mining to predict Blood Pressure Critical Events in Intensive Medicine Patients. In: Springer (ed.) Lecture Notes in Computer Science (LNCS) - Ambient Intelligence for Health, vol. 9456, Springer (2015)
- Portela, F., Santos, M. F., Abelha, A., Machado, J., Rua F., Silva, A.: Preventing Patient Cardiac Arrhythmias by Using Data Mining Techniques. In: 2014 IEEE Conference on Biomedical Engineering and Sciences (2014)

Optimization techniques to detect early ventilation extubation in Intensive Care Units

Pedro Oliveira¹, Filipe Portela^{1,2}, Manuel F. Santos¹, José Machado¹, António Abelha¹, Álvaro Silva³, and Fernando Rua³

¹Algoritmi Research Centre, University of Minho, Portugal
 ²ESEIG, Porto Polytechnic, Porto, Portugal
 ³ Intensive Care Unit, Centro Hospitalar do Porto, Porto, Portugal
 a61565@alunos.uminho.pt, {cfp, mfs}@dsi.uminho.pt, {jmac, abelha}@di.uminho.pt
 moreirasilva@me.com; fernandorua.sci@chporto.min-saude.pt

Abstract. The decision support models in intensive care units are developed to support medical staff in their decision making process. However, the optimization of these models is particularly difficult to apply due to dynamic, complex and multidisciplinary nature. Thus, there is a constant research and development of new algorithms capable of extracting knowledge from large volumes of data, in order to obtain better predictive results than the current algorithms. To test the optimization techniques a case study with real data provided by INTCare project was explored. This data is concerning to extubation cases. In this dataset, several models like Evolutionary Fuzzy Rule Learning, Lazy Learning, Decision Trees and many others were analysed in order to detect early extubation. The hydrids Decision Trees Genetic Algorithm, Supervised Classifier System and KNNAdaptive obtained the most accurate rate 93.2%, 93.1%, 92.97% respectively, thus showing their feasibility to work in a real environment.

Keywords. Optimization techniques; Decision Support Systems; Machine Learning; Heuristics; Intensive Care Units Extubation.

1 Introduction

This work is part of an evaluative study integrated in INTCare project. INTCare is an Intelligent Decision Support Systems (IDSS). It is implemented in the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) of the Hospital Centre of Porto (CHP). This IDSS is based on intelligent agents and data mining models [1] that seek to automate tasks and to predict clinical events in order to help the diagnosis and treatment of patients by providing new knowledge able to help them to recover to his previous health state. This type of patients is usually admitted to the ICU where it is possible to monitoring and maintaining their physiological functions through life support devices. These units provide a continuous patient monitoring of vital signs as well as a constant analysis of each organ system: neurological, respiratory, hepatic, haematological, cardiovascular and kidney [2]. At the same time, many of those patients are mechanically ventilated. Around 75% of the admitted patients to ICU require assisted ventilation to support breath function, with an

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_62

automatic mechanical control that can improve the quality of patient care. A well-done extubation process can reduce the risk in provoking lung injuries and reduce the morbidity and mortality rates associated with provision of inappropriate cases of ventilation. To enhance this process urges the use of optimization techniques to improve the models already developed by Oliveira et al. [3]. An exhaustive literature review for this work was made and several optimization techniques applied to local and global solutions were found. These techniques are used to interpret the collective behaviours and evolution of species or adapting both making them hybridizing to overcome some or other weakness from one to another.

The results take in consideration the performance of the method present in the system, statistical classification tests, the predictive acuity and representation derivation of the solution more user friendly. To assess the efficiency of the optimization techniques in this case study, 63 techniques were explored to insight the viability of improving the INTCare system. Decision Trees Genetic Algorithm (DT_GA), sUpervised Classifier System (UCS) and K-Nearest Neighbours Adaptive algorithm (KNNAdaptive), with results 93.2%, 93.1% and 92.97% respectively, achieved the best accuracy rates. These models are important to determine the best time to extubation, through the characteristics of these patients.

The present paper is divided in five sections, Introduction of the theme, explanation of the Background scenario, Materials and Methods taken in consideration; CRISP-DM sub phases to guide the work, and Conclusion and future work.

2 Background

2.1 Intensive Care Units

People who have serious illnesses are usually admitted to the intensive care units (ICU) so that it is possible to keep their vital physiological functions through various media devices, such as medical devices (ventilators, vital signs machines, etc.) until they have their organs functioning independently again [4].

The bulk heterogeneous information processing becomes critical, which makes the extremely complex environments in intensive care units taking into account the amount of data that it is necessary consider by medical teams [5]. This reality exposes the fragility of the teams and a few existing decision support models in situations where the decision time on the analysis of multiple variables is critical. The optimization techniques have interdisciplinary characteristics able to optimize the solutions and decisions. For example, these techniques are capable of anticipating the decision making process on a patient while maintaining a monitoring of its vital functions, ensuring their safety and helping to realize the best treatment.

2.2 Mechanical ventilation weaning and extubation

A patient intubation case happens when the respiratory system fails in oxygenation, carbon dioxide elimination or both [6]. The goal of artificial ventilation intubation is to

reduce lung injury due to over distention. In current days, mechanical ventilation is very important to treat many different illnesses, but is relatively costly [7].

In ICU, the weaning process is gradual and it is considered successful when a patient can breathe by himself for a period upper than one hour. Actually there is a set of IDSS to ventilators, an expert advisory system or an automatic control of ventilation [3], however, most of them are rule-based, turning them into static models and not adaptive.

The extubation process is based on clinical knowledge and medical assumption [8] creating a tentative-error procedure. This happens because the ventilators are only used to consult the patient values; the unused data is not stored in any database or file, resulting in a waste of data that could be transformed in information and up ways into knowledge to help the decision-making process.

2.3 Optimization

In medicine, optimization has become ubiquitous [9]. The use of computing power for applications in the medical field has opened up many questions and challenging problems inherent in these communities. The mathematical techniques (continuous and discrete) play an increasingly important role in understanding of several critical problems in medicine. Of course, optimization is one fundamental tool due to the limitation of the resources involved and the need for better decision-making in the shortest time possible [9]. An optimization algorithm is an iterative process where after a certain number of iterations may converge to a solution that ideally will be the optimal solution to the problem. During the interactions that occur in the process, the solutions that emerge are state of evolution that are drawn according to mathematical equations or set of rules for convergent solutions of a self-organizing system. As a result, their ability to represent a self-organizing system shows us some emerging features and its ability to evolve.

Briefly, course, discontinuous, Single-solution based, Population-based, Guided search, Unguided search and hybrid methods are described as some of the most important features for this type of optimization methods [10]. If it is possible to provide a balance between diversification and intensification, the metaheuristics techniques will be successful in a given optimization problem. The increase is needed in the search for parts in space with high quality solutions. It is important finding some promising areas on the accumulated research experience. The main differences between the existing meta-heuristics relate to their particular way of achieving this balance [11]. The classification criteria can be used for the meta-heuristics, in terms of the features that follow in the search, memory feature, kind of neighbour holding used or the number of current solutions created through iterations.

2.4 Population based methods

Dealing with a set (population) solutions instead of an initial solution. Most studies based on these methods are related to Evolutionary Computation (EC) inspired by Darwin's theory, where the population of individuals is modified through recombination, genetic operators and swarm intelligence (SI). Here the idea is to create computational intelligence to explore simple analogies of social interactions rather than purely individual cognitive abilities [12] in how the simulation of evolution structure their subjects, objectives, through processes of selection, recombination and mutation breeding in order to develop better solutions [13]. In general, the following algorithm serves as an example for the methods addressed in this study.

<i>Incontinue</i> <i>Compatation</i>

Algorithm	- EC					
1 Initialize	1 Initialize the population with random individuals					
2 Evaluate each individual						
3 Repeat						
4	Select country					
5	Recombine pairs of parents					
6	Mutate descendants					
7	Evaluate new individuals					
8	Select individuals for the next generation					
9 <i>Until</i> the	9 <i>Until</i> the stop criterion is satisfied					

3 Materials and Methods

A literature review about optimization techniques to support decision models already elaborated was taken in consideration [14]. To explore optimization KEEL (Knowledge Extraction based on Evolutionary Learning) [15] algorithms were used. This tool allow evaluating evolutionary algorithms in Data mining problems, but also in Machine Learning questions. In this work, methods like Evolutionary Fuzzy Rule Learning, Lazy Learning, Evolutionary Crisp Rule Learning, Prototype Generation, Fuzzy Instance Based Learning, Decision Trees, Crisp Rule Learning, Neural Networks and Evolutionary Prototype Selection were analysed and explored.

Even without any explicit Data Mining technique been used, the Cross Industry Standard Process for Data Mining (CRISP-DM) methodology was chosen to guide this study. CRISP-DM is divided in six phases, Business Understanding, Data Understanding, Data preparation, Modelling, Evaluation and Deploy.

4 Knowledge Discover Process

The following sections were divided according to CRISP-DM phases.

4.1 Business Understanding

This work was proposed to find optimization techniques in order to improve the INTCare system on predicting the best time to a successful extubation. It is also expected creating knowledge to help clinical teams to make better decisions in ICU scenario. The data used for these experiments were from other work already carried out, in the Centro Hospitalar do Porto (CHP) [3]. The study aimed to identify a set of

Optimization Techniques to Detect Early ...

features / variables associated to a successful extubation. Most of the data provided by INTCare system was already characterized and transformed. The dataset created resulted from the application of DM techniques, more specifically the creation of clusters, using the k-means algorithm and k-medoids based the partition principle and sensitivity difference extreme values [3].

4.2 Data Understanding

The dataset used correspond to 50 patients in a total of 24295 records with fifteen fields from the ventilators in the ICU of CHP, collected between 2014-09-19 and 2015-02-03. Each record is composed by the following variables:

- Pressure support setting in cmH2O;
- End inspiratory pressure in cmH2O;
- Dynamic compliance (CDYN) in mL/cmH2O;
- Static compliance (CSTAT) from inspiratory pause manoeuvre in mL/cmH2O;
- Mean airway pressure in cmH2O;
- Maximum circuit pressure in cmH2O;
- Static resistance (RSTAT) from inspiratory pause manoeuvre in cmH2O/L/s;
- O2% setting;
- Peak flow setting in litters per minute;
- Tidal volume setting in litters;
- Respiratory rate setting in breaths per minute;
- Exhaled tidal volume in litters;
- PEEP or PEEP Low setting in cmH2O.

4.3 Data preparation

To prepare the data, after a brief check, a feature selection algorithm present in KEEL was used. This algorithm allowed determining the most preponderant variables in the dataset. Reaching the results, a new dataset with 14139 records to use on the techniques as inputs was created. The following

Table 1 describes what each input variable means their average, standard deviation and variance.

Description	\overline{x}	σ	s^2
Peak flow setting in litters per minute (F12)	24.00	23.55	554.86
O2% setting (F13)	49.75	7.65	58.56
PEEP or PEEP Low setting in cmH2O (F15)	5.09	1.05	1.11
Pressure support setting in cmH2O (F26)	14.11	3.60	12.98

Table 1. Description and distribution of the inputs

Exhaled tidal volume in litters (F35)	0.52	0.16	0.02
Maximum circuit pressure in cmH2O (F38)	20.53	3.86	14.95
Description	\overline{x}	σ	s^2
Mean airway pressure in cmH2O (F39)	10.50	1.84	3.40
End inspiratory pressure in cmH2O (F40)	19.98	3.85	14.86
Dynamic compliance in mL/cmH2O (F65)	45.75	40.18	1615.23

As output, the Target variable translates three events. When the value is 0, means that it was not possible to extubate the patient, when the value is 1 the patient was extubated but after some time, he needed to be ventilated again and when the value is 2, the patient was extubated with success. As can be observed Fig. 1 shows a limitation in successes cases.



Fig. 1. Output representation from the received data

After that, the dataset was partitioned using cross validation presented by Dietterich in 1998 [16].

4.4 Modelling

In this work only the algorithms proposed after the year 2000 were considered. After elaborate the experiments some algorithms were excluded due to their huge process time consuming and unsuccessful results.

Several experiments were compromised, making them inconclusive, despite being tested. Altogether 63 algorithms tests were conducted, which included 10 models Evolutionary Fuzzy Rule Learning, 16 Evolutionary Crisp Rule Learning, 4 Lazy Learning, 7 Prototype Generation 5 Fuzzy Instance based Learning, 7 Decision Trees, 5 Crisp Rule Learning, 4 Artificial Neural Networks and 5 Evolutionary Prototype Selection with selection criteria as the global average acuity (the set of test data).

To the case study, the configurations presented in Table 2 were used.

Algorithm	Parameters
	Confidence: 0.25, instances per leaf: 2, genetic algorithm approach: GA-
DT_GA	LARGE-SN, threshold S to consider a small disjunt:10, number of total
	generations for the GA: 50, number of chromosomes in the population: 200,
	crossover probability: 0.8, mutation probability: 0.01
	Number of explores: 100.000, population size: 6400, delta: 0.1, nu: 10, Acc:
UCS	0.99, pX: 0.8, pM: 0.04, theta_ga: 50, theta_del: 50, theta_sub: 500,
	doGASubsumption: true, type of selection: RWS, tournament size: 0.4, type
	of mutation: free, type of crossover: 2PT, r: 0.6, m: 0.1,
KNNAdaptive	K value: 1, distance function: euclidean

Table 2. Parameter settings of the algorithms

4.5 Evaluation

After an exhaustive test made in KEEL the top 3 techniques / results was selected. The hybrid algorithm Decision Trees Genetic Algorithm (DT_GA) [17], the fuzzy rules, learning classifier systems and data mining supervised Classifier System (UCS) [18] and K-Nearest Neighbours Adaptive algorithm (KNNAdaptive) [19]. These algorithms are the best optimization techniques to improve the decision making process to determine the conditions for successful extubation in intensive care units.

To DT_GA, the parameters defined in KEEL obtained a 93.2% accuracy rate, to UCS, the set parameters achieved one accuracy rate of 93.1% and finally to the KNNAdaptive algorithm yielded a 92.97% accuracy rate.

Table 3 show the average results in the Friedman test [20], Multiple test [20] and Contrast Estimation [21]. Table 4 presents confidence matrix for three trust levels: 99%, 95% and 90%.

Median error in classification						
Friedman test Multiple test Contrast Estimat						
DT GA	0.06	0.06	0.06			
UCS	0.07	0.07	0.07			
KNNAdaptive	0.07	0.07	0.07			
p-value confidence matrix						
	DT GA	UCS	KNNAdaptive			
DT_GA	0.00	0.09	0.25			
UCS	0.00	0.00	0.96			
UNINIA de adires	0.00	0.00	0.00			

Table 3. Classification test of the best techniques

DT_GA technique have high interpretability of results by the user. Figure 2 show an example of the sheets (rules) for the case 2 (successful extubation) and table 5 the execution time need to achieve the global average by algorithm.



Fig. 2. Decision trees rules created by DT_GA algorithm

Fable 5.	Global	average	acuity	and	execution	time (of th	e best	techniques
----------	--------	---------	--------	-----	-----------	--------	-------	--------	------------

Algorithm	Global average	Execution time
DT_GA	93.2%	4 minutes
UCS	93.1%	4 minutes
KNNAdaptive	92.97%	2 minutes

4.6 Deploy

The best optimization technique to apply in the ICU for this case study was the DT_GA, not only because the predictive accuracy, but also for the interpretability of the results. It shows the value range of the variables to consider in detecting an early extubation and medical teams can take into consideration with the representation of these variables value. These optimization models will be added to INTCare system in order to improve the Data Mining models.

5 Conclusion and future work

Continuing the studies already made in INTCare [3, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, and 28] in the field of respiratory system and data mining a new approach was explored.

Throughout this work, the study has been extended by a quantitative research based on a benchmarking process, where several existing optimization techniques able to be included in these models were explored. After an extensive and appropriate literature review [14] the most adequate techniques were explored in KEEL. A total of 63 experiments were made.

Evolutionary models: Crisp Rule Learning, Lazy Learning and Decision Trees were selected. The best results were achieved by DT_GA techniques, UCS and KNNAdaptive with the accuracy rate of 93.2%, 93.1% and 92.97% respectively.

In the future, these models will be incorporated in INTCare system in order to improve the results and optimize the support system already implemented to predict ventilator extubation. The technical aspects of introducing new procedures should be described in detail in order to provide necessary instructions for medical assistance which have to able to interpret the collected data. Moreover, there is a need to analyze the implementation effectiveness of optimization techniques presented in the article and further research on feedback given by medical professionals.

Acknowledgments

This work has been supported by FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Project Scope UID/CEC/00319/2013. The authors would like to thank FCT for the financial support through the contract PTDC/EEI-SII/1302/2012 (INTCare II).

References

- Santos, M.F., Portela, F., Vilas-Boas, M.: INTCARE -Multi-agent Approach for Real-time Intelligent Decision Support in Intensive Medicine. In: ICAART 2011 - International Conference on Agents and Artificial Intelligence. pp 364-369. SciTePress. (2011)
- Portela, F., Pinto, Santos, M. F.: Data Mining Predictive Models For Pervasive Intelligent Decision Support In Intensive Care Medicine. In: KMIS 2012 - Knowledge Management and Information Sharing. pp 81-88. SciTePress (2012)
- Oliveira, S., Portela, F., Santos, M. F., Neves, J., Silva, Á. Rua, F.: Feature selection for detecting patients with weaning failures in Intensive Medicine. In: Mathematics and Computers in Sciences and Industry. Volume 50, pp 195-200. CPS (2015)
- Ramon, J., Fierens, D., Güiza, F., Meyfroidt, G., Blockeel, H., Bruynooghe, M., & Van Den Berghe, G.: Mining data from intensive care patients. In: Advanced Engineering Informatics, 21(3), 243–256. doi:10.1016/j.aei.2006.12.002. (2007)
- De Turck, F., Decruyenaere, J., Thysebaert, P., Van Hoecke, S., Volckaert, B., Danneels, C., De Moor, G.: Design of a flexible platform for execution of medical decision support agents in the intensive care unit. In: Computers in Biology and Medicine, 37, 97–112. 2007)
- 6. Kaynar, A. and Sharma, S.: Respiratory Failure. 39. Available: http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/167981-print. Accessed Dec, 2015
- Tehrani, F. T.: Automatic control of mechanical ventilation. Part 2: the existing techniques and future trends. In: Journal of clinical monitoring and computing, vol. 22, pp. 417-424. (2008)
- 8. Stawicki, S. P.: Mechanical ventilation: weaning and extubation (2007)
- 9. Alves, C. J. S., Pardalos, M. P., Vicente, L. N.: In: Optimization in Medicine, Springer Optimization and its Applications Series, Vol. 12. Springer (2008)
- 10. Gilli, M., & Winker, P.: A review of heuristic optimization methods in econometrics. In: Heuristic Optimization Methods in Econometrics (2008)
- Birattari, M., Paquete, L., Stützle, T., Varrentrapp, K.: Classification of Metaheuristics and Design of Experiments for the Analysis of Components, In: Technical Report AIDA-01-05, FG Intellektik, FB Informatik, Technische Universität Darmstadt, Darmstadt, Germany. (2001)
- Boussaïd, I., Lepagnot, J., & Siarry, P.: A survey on optimization metaheuristics. In: Information Sciences, 237, 82–117 (2013)

- Bäck, T.: Evolutionary Algorithms in Theory and Practice: Evolution Strategies, Evolutionary Programming, Genetic Algorithms, Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK. (1996)
- Oliveira, P., Portela, C.F., Santos, M.F., Silva, Á., Machado, J., Abelha, A.: Machine Learning: an overview of optimization techniques. In: Recente Advances in Computer Science, Series 32, 2015, pp 51-56. INASE (2015)
- Alcalá-Fdez, J., Sánchez, L., Garcia, S., del Jesus, M.J., Ventura, S. Garrel, J.M., Otero, J., Romero, C., Bacardit, J., Rivas, V.M., Fernández, J.C., Herrera, F.: KEEL: A Software Tool to Assess Evolutionary Algorithms to Data Mining Problems. Soft Computing 13:3 (2009)
- 16. Dietterich, T.G.: Approximate Statistical Tests for Comparing Supervised Classification Learning Algorithms. In: Neural Computation 10:7 (1998)
- Carvalho, D.R., Freitas, A., A.: A hybrid decision tree/genetic algorithm method for data mining. In: Information Sciences 163:1, 13-35 (2004)
- Bernadó-Mansilla, E., Garrel, J., M.: Accuracy-Based Learning Classifier Systems: Models, Analysis and Applications to Classification Tasks. In: Evolutionary Computation 11:3, 209-238 (2003)
- Wang, J., Neskovic, P., Cooper, L., N.: Improving nearest neighbor rule with a simple adaptative distance measure. In: Pattern Recognition Letters 28, 207-213 (2007)
- Sheskin, D.: Handbook of parametric and nonparametric statistical procedures. Chapman and Hall/CRC (2003)
- Doksum, K.: Robust procedures for some linear models with one observation per cell. In: Annals of Mathematical Statistics 38, 878-883 (1967)
- Portela, F., Santos, M., Machado, J., Silva, A., Abelha. A. Pervasive and Intelligent Decision Support in Critical Health Care using Ensemble. In: Lecture Notes in Computer Science (LNCS) - Information Technology in Bio- and Medical Informatics. Volume 8060, 2013, pp 1-16. ISBN: 978-3-642-40093-3. Springer (2013)
- Portela, F., Santos, M., Machado, J., Silva, A., Abelha. A.: Pervasive Ensemble Data Mining Models to Predict Organ Failure and Patient Outcome in Intensive Medicine. In: Communications in Computer and Information Science. Volume 415, 2013, pp 410-425. ISBN: 978-3-642-54104-9. Springer (2013)
- Portela, F., Santos, M., Vilas-Boas, M., Rua, F., Silva, A., Neves, J.: Real-time Intelligent decision support in intensive medicine. In: KMIS 2010-International Conference on Knowledge Management and Information Sharing, Valência, Espanha, p. 7 (2010)
- Oliveira, S., Portela, F., Santos, M., Machado, J., Silva, A., Abelha. A, Rua, F.: Predicting Plateau Pressure in Intensive Medicine for Ventilated patients. In: Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing (WorldCist 2015 - Healthcare Information Systems: Interoperability, Security and Efficiency Workshop). Volume 354, 2015, pp 179-188. ISBN: 978-3-319-16527-1. Springer (2015)
- Portela, C.F., Santos, M.F., Silva, Á., Machado, J., Abelha, A.: Enabling a Pervasive Approach for Intelligent Decision Support in Critical Health Care. In: Cruz-Cunha, M.M., Varajão, J., Powell, P., Martinho, R. (eds.) CENTERIS 2011, Part III. CCIS, vol. 221, pp. 233–243. Springer, Heidelberg (2011)
- Portela, F., Santos, M.F., Vilas-Boas, M.: A Pervasive Approach to a Real-Time Intelligent Decision Support System in Intensive Medicine. In: Fred, A., Dietz, J.L.G., Liu, K., Filipe, J. (eds.) IC3K 2010. CCIS, vol. 272, pp. 368–381. Springer, Heidelberg (2013)
- Portela, F., Santos, M. F., Machado, J., Abelha, A., Silva, Á., Rua, F.: Pervasive and intelligent decision support in intensive medicine--the complete picture. In: Lecture Notes in Computer Science (LNCS) - Information Technology in Bio- and Medical Informatics. Volume 8649, 2014, pp 87-102. Springer (2014)

Comorbidity coding trends in hospital administrative databases

Alberto Freitas, Isabel Lema, Altamiro da Costa-Pereira

Department of Health Information and Decision Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, University of Porto, Portugal CINTESIS - Center for Health Technology and Services Research, Portugal {alberto,ilema, altamiro}@med.up.pt

Abstract. Comorbidities are related to an increase in hospital costs, hospital mortality and length-of-stay. The analysis of inpatient comorbidities is therefore important for hospital management, for epidemiological studies, and for health services research and planning. In this paper we study the annual evolution of coded comorbidities in administrative databases. We used data from Portuguese hospitals over a period of eleven years (2000-2010). We identified comorbidities in 7,034,213 inpatient episodes using both the Elixhauser and the Charslon/Deyo comorbidity methods. Our results clearly evidenced a positive association between the number of secondary diagnosis and coded comorbidities. We argue that the increased number of comorbidities over time is mostly related to an increase in the quality of coded data. Data analysts, researchers and decision makers should always be aware of possible data quality bias, such as completeness, when using administrative databases.

Keywords: ICD-9-CM, comorbidity, coding and classification, administrative data, data quality

1 Introduction

A comorbidity is a secondary diagnosis, i.e., a disease condition, other than the principal diagnosis, already present at the time patient is admitted. The presence of comorbidities may have consequences at various levels as, for instance, mortality, quality of life, utilization of health resources and treatment strategies.

Several studies showed that there is a relation between specific patient comorbidities and an increase (or decrease) in hospital costs, hospital mortality and length-ofstay [1–3]. In fact, due to this association with health outcomes, the study and assessment of comorbidities assumes special importance for health services research, for epidemiological and clinical studies, and also for financing and health care planning.

Comorbidities are patient preexisting conditions that should be controlled when using administrative data [1, 4]. In administrative databases, comorbidities can be identified using ICD-9-CM (International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification) codes associated to secondary diagnoses [5].

In this context, the quality and the volume of the data coded can naturally have influence in the proportion of identified comorbidity conditions. This is especially im-

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_63

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies,

portant in the study of trends or in any analysis over time. Comorbidities should also be used in risk-adjustment of health outcomes (e.g., mortality) to induce, for instance, a more fair comparison between health institutions.

The study of the number of coded secondary diagnoses is important to understand the evolution in the proportion of identified comorbidities [6]. This number is increasing over years and consequently the number of identified comorbidities is also continuously increasing. This evolution is not necessarily related to an increase in the severity of patients treated.

This paper aims to study the evolution of comorbidities over time using administrative data, and was carried out under the CUTEheart project, Comparative use of technologies for coronary heart disease, an international partnership between the Harvard Medical School and the Faculties of Medicine from the Universities of Lisbon and Porto in Portugal.

1.1 Administrative data

Administrative data (also known as billing or claims data) is routinely collected, commonly available, relatively inexpensive, and involves large amounts of data. Although with some data quality problems [7, 8], administrative data is a valuable source for measuring quality of care. It has a standard format and can be used for many purposes, such as research or public reporting [9]. This datasets typically contains demographic data (e.g., age, gender), "administrative data" (length of stay, type of admission, payer, discharge status, diagnosis related group) and ICD-9-CM codes for clinical data (diagnostics, procedures, external causes) [10].

1.2 Comorbidity classification systems

Comorbidity scores are often used for epidemiological studies and health service research [11]. These scores can be calculated using different data sources, such as ICD-9-CM data, as in the Elixhauser [2] and Charlson indexes [12], and pharmacy claims, as in the RxRisk-V score [13]. These three examples are the most commonly used methods for measuring comorbidities. Next we briefly describe these methods, and give particular emphasis to the two methods that use administrative data (ICD-9-CM).

Charlson et al. [12] defined a weighted index to classify comorbid conditions associated with an increased risk of mortality. In the original definition, the index was calculated using 19 conditions with different assigned weights for each condition (1, 2, 3 or 6), considering the risk of death of each condition. For instance, 'congestive heart failure' had a weight of 1, 'leukemia' had a weight of 2, and 'AIDS' had a weight of 6. There are many variations of this index, including one of the most used, the Deyo et al. adaptation for use with ICD-9-CM administrative databases [1].

The method proposed by Elixhauser et al., [2] also used ICD-9-CM codes in the definition of a list of 30 comorbidity conditions. The performed study showed that the developed measures were associated with an important increase in length of stay, hospital charges, and hospital mortality. After that, several studies pointed out that Elixhauser method has better mortality prediction than the Charlson method [5, 14].

Comorbidity Coding Trends in Hospital ...

The RxRisk-V is a comorbidity index based on computerized data from hospital pharmacies with good results in the prediction of total health costs [15].

2 Methods

We used data from hospitalizations in acute care public hospitals, with discharges between years 2000 and 2010. This dataset included inpatient episodes (outpatient episodes were excluded) in all Portuguese acute care hospitals, representing nearly 85% of all hospitalizations in Portugal. The access to the data was provided by the Ministry of Health's Central Authority for Health Services.

As in other comorbidity studies, for instance in the study performed by Elixhauser et al. [2], we excluded pediatric (age below 18 years) and obstetrical episodes. Patients discharged to another institution or transferred to/from other hospitals were also excluded. The initial dataset contained 14,873,703 (inpatient and outpatient) episodes and, after applying the exclusion criteria, 7,034,213 episodes were eligible for analysis.

Comorbidities were identified using the two most widely used comorbidity approaches, the Elixhauser [2] and the Charslon/Deyo methods [1]. Specifically, we used the updated version (enhanced ICD-9-CM) proposed by Quan et al. [16]. ICD-9-CM codes for the definition of these two methods can be seen in Appendix A.

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 21.

3 Results

Table 1 and 2 presents the proportion of identified comorbidities in inpatient episodes with discharges in years 2000 and 2010, for Elixhauser and Charslon/Deyo methods. As we can see, the majority of comorbidities significantly increased from year 2000 to year 2010. Some of them increased more than 100% ('Hypothyroidism' increased 326%). The average comorbidity increase was of 75% for Elixhauser method and of 55% for Charslon/Deyo method. On the other hand, some comorbidities continuously decreased during this period of eleven years. For instance, 'Peptic ulcer disease' decreased 24% and 'AIDS/H1V' decreased 23%.

The average number of Elixhauser comorbidities continuously increased from 0.70 in 2000 to 1.27 in 2010 (81% more). For Charslon/Deyo the increase was of 48%, from 0.66 in 2000 up to 0.98 in 2010. As we can see in Figure 1, this continuous increase is clearly associated to the increase in the number of secondary diagnosis. On average, in 2000, 1.71 secondary diagnosis were coded in each inpatient episode while, in 2010, this proportion was of 3.31 (94% more). In fact, in year 2000, the proportion of episodes with at least one coded secondary diagnosis was 65% and, 10 years later, this proportion was 80%.

Elixhauser comorbidities	2000	2010	Increase
Congestive heart failure	4.5	7.5	67
Cardiac arrhythmias	6.0	10.8	82
Valvular disease	1.5	2.7	80
Pulmonary circulation disorders	0.7	1.1	67
Peripheral vascular disorders	1.0	1.7	76
Hypertension, uncomplicated	12.8	26.5	107
Hypertension, complicated	1.5	4.5	194
Paralysis	0.7	0.8	7
Other neurological disorders	1.8	3.5	92
Chronic pulmonary disease	4.0	6.6	65
Diabetes. uncomplicated	6.2	13.3	112
Diabetes. complicated	2.4	2.2	-11
Hypothyroidism	0.4	1.9	326
Renal failure	2.6	5.9	124
Liver disease	2.4	3.3	37
Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding	0.4	0.4	-13
AIDS/H1V	0.3	0.2	-23
Lymphoma	0.4	0.6	54
Metastatic cancer	3.2	4.0	27
Solid tumor without metastasis	3.5	3.7	7
Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases	0.6	0.9	52
Coagulopathy	0.7	1.4	100
Obesity	1.5	5.2	237
Weight loss	0.8	1.0	22
Fluid and electrolyte disorders	3.6	6.9	90
Blood loss anemia	0.8	0.7	-12
Deficiency anemia	1.1	1.7	51
Alcohol abuse	2.8	3.6	26
Drug abuse	0.7	0.7	-9
Psychoses	0.3	0.5	81
Depression	1.1	3.5	206

Table 1. Comparison of the proportion of identified Elixhauser comorbidities in episodes with discharges in 2000 and 2010



Fig. 1. Average number of secondary diagnoses and of comorbidity indexes (Elixhauser and Charslon/Deyo), per hospital inpatient episode, per discharge year

Table 2. Comparison of the proportio	n of identified	Charlson/Deyo	comorbidities in	episodes
with discharges in 2000 and 2010				

Charlson/ Deyo comorbidities	2000	2010	Increase
Myocardial infarction	1.0	2.0	99
Congestive heart failure	4.5	7.5	67
Peripheral vascular disease	1.0	1.7	76
Cerebrovascular disease	4.0	5.8	45
Dementia	1.0	2.3	132
Chronic pulmonary disease	4.0	6.6	65
Rheumatic disease	0.4	0.7	87
Peptic ulcer disease	0.7	0.5	-24
Mild liver disease	1.8	2.7	55
Diabetes without chronic complication	7.7	13.7	77
Diabetes with chronic complication	1.0	1.8	83
Hemiplegia or paraplegia	0.8	1.0	16
Renal disease	2.7	5.9	121
Any malignancy, including lymphoma and leukemia,			
except malignant neoplasm of skin	4.1	4.6	13
Moderate or severe liver disease	0.9	1.0	10
Metastatic solid tumor	3.2	4.0	27
AIDS/HIV	0.3	0.2	-23
4 Discussion

Our results underlined a continuous increase in the number of collected and coded secondary diagnosis in hospital administrative databases. This increase obviously leads to a general increase in the number of identified comorbidities, as we saw for the two used comorbidities methods. In this context, any analysis or interpretation of administrative data, particularly when using data from secondary diagnosis or from any other not mandatory data (for instance, medical or surgical procedures) should always consider these possible limitations.

The comorbidities are associated with greater use of hospital resources and, in 2010, 60% of analyzed episodes had at least one identified Elixhauser comorbidity, i.e., there is an important role of comorbidities in hospital admissions.

The proportion of episodes with Elixhauser comorbidities increased from 42.3% to 59.4% in the period between 2000 and 2010. As we stated, the number of secondary diagnoses coded is associated with this increase but we think it is not the only factor responsible for this. In fact, we found a great variability in the proportion of comorbidities, we emphasized that the evolution is not equal for all comorbidities, and we even showed that, for some comorbidities, the proportion decreased over time.

5 Conclusion

In this article we studied the evolution of comorbidities using the most common, widely used, methods for administrative data. We showed that the number of secondary diagnosis and, consequently, the number of identified comorbidities, is continuously increasing. We argued that the amount in the increase of comorbidities is mostly related to more, and possibly better, coded data (secondary diagnosis coded with ICD-9-CM), and not necessarily due to a real increase in the number of comorbidities associated to hospital patients. That is, there is not necessarily a so high increase in the severity of treated patients.

Data analysts and decision makers should be aware of possible data quality problems, such as completeness and accuracy. Administrative data is a useful, costeffective source of information, and is increasingly being used for several purposes, for instance, for performance evaluation, hospital financing, and to evaluate the impact of healthcare policies. However, much work is still needed to develop health information systems and increase the quality of this routinely collected data.

Expert domain knowledge about all the steps related to data collection, processing, and analysis must be considered when using and analyzing healthcare data. All the steps involved in the process of healthcare delivery should be adequately understood in order to correctly analyze data and interpret results.

Acknowledgments. This work was supported by FEDER through Programa Operacional Factores de Competitividade – COMPETE and by National Funds through FCT – Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia within the research project "Comparative Use of Technologies for Coronary Heart Disease", reference HMSP-ICT/0013/2011. The authors wish also to thank the Portuguese Ministry of Health's Authority for Health Services (Administração Central do Sistema de Saúde I. P. – ACSS) for providing access to national hospitalizations data.

References

- Deyo RA, Cherkin DC, Ciol MA. Adapting a clinical comorbidity index for use with ICD-9-CM administrative databases. J Clin Epidemiol. 1992 Jun;45(6):613-9.
- 2. Elixhauser A, Steiner C, Harris DR, Coffey RM. Comorbidity measures for use with administrative data. Med Care. 1998 Jan;36(1):8-27.
- 3. Zhu H, Hill MD. Stroke: the Elixhauser Index for comorbidity adjustment of in-hospital case fatality. Neurology. 2008 Jul 22;71(4):283-7.
- 4. Kuwabara K, Imanaka Y, Matsuda S, Fushimi K, Hashimoto H, Ishikawa KB, Horiguchi H, Hayashida K, Fujimori K. The association of the number of comorbidities and complications with length of stay, hospital mortality and LOS high outlier, based on administrative data. Environ Health Prev Med. 2008 May;13(3):130-7.
- 5. Southern DA, Quan H, Ghali WA. Comparison of the Elixhauser and Charlson/Deyo methods of comorbidity measurement in administrative data. Med Care. 2004 Apr;42(4):355-60.
- Iezzoni LI, Foley SM, Daley J, Hughes J, Fisher ES, Heeren T. Comorbidities, complications, and coding bias. Does the number of diagnosis codes matter in predicting in-hospital mortality? JAMA. 1992 Apr 22-29;267(16):2197-203.
- Freitas A, Silva-Costa T, Lopes F, Garcia-Lema I, Teixeira-Pinto A, Brazdil P, Costa-Pereira A. Factors influencing hospital high length of stay outliers. BMC Health Serv Res. 2012 Aug 20;12:265.
- 8. Peabody JW, Luck J, Jain S, Bertenthal D, Glassman P. Assessing the accuracy of administrative data in health information systems. Med Care 2004, 42:1066-1072.
- 9. Price J, Estrada CA, Thompson D. Administrative data versus corrected administrative data. Am J Med Qual 2003, 18(1):38-45.
- Iezzoni LI. Assessing quality using administrative data. Ann Intern Med 1997, 127(8 Pt 2): 666-74.
- 11. de Groot V, Beckerman H, Lankhorst GJ, Bouter LM. How to measure comorbidity. a critical review of available methods. J Clin Epidemiol. 2003 Mar;56(3):221-9.
- Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis. 1987;40(5):373-83.
- Fishman PA, Goodman MJ, Hornbrook MC, Meenan RT, Bachman DJ, O'Keeffe Rosetti MC. Risk adjustment using automated ambulatory pharmacy data: the RxRisk model. Med Care. 2003 Jan;41(1):84-99.
- Dominick KL, Dudley TK, Coffman CJ, Bosworth HB. Comparison of three comorbidity measures for predicting health service use in patients with osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2005 Oct 15;53(5):666-72.
- Sales AE, Liu CF, Sloan KL, Malkin J, Fishman PA, Rosen AK, Loveland S, Paul Nichol W, Suzuki NT, Perrin E, Sharp ND, Todd-Stenberg J. Predicting costs of care using a pharmacy-based measure risk adjustment in a veteran population. Med Care. 2003 Jun;41(6):753-60.
- Quan H, Sundararajan V, Halfon P, Fong A, Burnand B, Luthi JC, Saunders LD, Beck CA, Feasby TE, Ghali WA. Coding algorithms for defining comorbidities in ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data. Med Care. 2005 Nov;43(11):1130-9.

Appendix A

1 able 3. ICD-9-CM codes for the identification of Elixnauser comorbiditie	Table 3. ICD-9	O-CM codes for th	e identification o	f Elixhauser	comorbidities
---	----------------	-------------------	--------------------	--------------	---------------

Congestive heart failure 398.91, 402.01, 402.01, 404.01, 404.03, 404.11, 404.13, 404.91, 404.93, 425.4 -425.9, 428.x Cardiac arrhythmias 426.0, 426.13, 426.7, 426.9, 426.10, 426.12, 427.0, -427.4, 427.6, -427.9, 785.0, 996.01, 996.04, V45.0, V53.3 Pulmonary circulation disorders 093.2, 394.x -397.x, 424.x, 746.3 -746.6, V42.2, V43.3 Pulmonary circulation disorders 093.0, 437.3, 440.x, 441.x, 443.1, -443.9, 447.1, 557.1, 557.9, V43.4 Hypertension, uncomplicated 401.x Hypertension, complicated 402.x -405.x Paralysis 334.1, 342.x, 343.x, 344.0, 344.6, 344.9 Other neurological disorders 331.9, 332.0, 332.1, 333.4, 333.5, 333.9, 2, 334.x -335.x, 336.2, 340.x, 341.x, 345.x, 348.1, 348.3, 780.3, 784.3 Chronic pulmonary disease 416.8, 416.9, 490.x -505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8 Diabetes, uncomplicated 250.0 -250.3 Diabetes, complicated 260250.3 Diabetes, complicated 260.2, 270.3, 070.32, 070.44, 070.4, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0 -456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.5, 573.8, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.33, 070.44, 070.4, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0 -456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2, 572.8, 573.8, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/HIV 042.x -044.x	Elixhauser comorbidities	Enhanced ICD-9-CM codes
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Congestive heart failure	398.91, 402.01, 402.11. 402.91, 404.01, 404.03, 404.11, 404.13,
Cardiac arrhythmias 426.0, 426.13, 426.7, 426.9, 426.10, 426.12, 427.0-427.4, 427.6- 427.9, 785.0, 996.01, 996.04, V45.0, V53.3 Valvular disease 093.2, 394.x-397.x, 424.x, 746.3-746.6, V42.2, V43.3 Pulmonary circulation disorders 415.0, 415.1, 416.x, 417.0, 417.8, 417.9 Peripheral vascular disorders 093.0, 437.3, 440.x, 441.x, 443.1-443.9, 447.1, 557.1, 557.9, V43.4 Hypertension, uncomplicated 401.x Hypertension, complicated 402.x-405.x Paralysis 331.9, 332.0, 332.1, 333.4, 333.5, 33.90, 334.x-335.x, 336.2, 340.x, 341.x, 345.x, 348.1, 348.3, 780.3, 784.3 Chronic pulmonary disease 416.8, 416.9, 490.x-505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8 Diabetes, uncomplicated 250.0-250.3 Diabetes, uncomplicated 240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8 Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.32, 070.32, 070.34, 070.54, 070.54, 070.9, 456.0-456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2-572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/HIV 042.x-044.x Lymphoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x-199.x		404.91, 404.93, 425.4–425.9, 428.x
427.9, 785.0, 996.01, 996.04, V45.0, V53.3 Valvular disease 093.2, 394.x-397.x, 424.x, 746.3-746.6, V42.2, V43.3 Pulmonary circulation disorders 415.0, 415.1, 416.x, 417.0, 417.8, 417.9 Peripheral vascular disorders 093.0, 437.3, 440.x, 441.x, 443.1-443.9, 447.1, 557.1, 557.9, V43.4 Hypertension, uncomplicated 401.x Hypertension, complicated 402.x-405.x Paralysis 334.1, 342.x, 343.x, 344.0, 344.6, 344.9 Other neurological disorders 331.9, 332.0, 332.1, 333.4, 333.5, 333.92, 334.x-335.x, 336.2, 340.x, 341.x, 345.x, 348.1, 348.3, 780.3, 784.3 Chronic pulmonary disease 416.8, 416.9, 400505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8 Diabetes, complicated 250.0-250.9 Hypothyroidism 2409, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8 Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.33, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.54, 070.9, 456.0 -456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2 -572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, 573.9, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/HIV 042.x-044.x 12/9mbroma Lymphoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6	Cardiac arrhythmias	426.0, 426.13, 426.7, 426.9, 426.10, 426.12, 427.0-427.4, 427.6-
Valvular disease 093.2, 394.x-397.x, 424.x, 746.3-746.6, V42.2, V43.3 Pulmonary circulation disorders 415.0, 415.1, 416.x, 417.0, 417.8, 417.9 Peripheral vascular disorders 093.0, 437.3, 440.x, 441.x, 443.1-443.9, 447.1, 557.1, 557.9, V43.4 Hypertension, uncomplicated 401.x Hypertension, complicated 402.x-405.x Paralysis 334.1, 342.x, 343.x, 344.0, 344.6, 344.9 Other neurological disorders 331.9, 332.0, 332.1, 333.4, 333.5, 333.92, 334.x-335.x, 336.2, 340.x, 341.x, 345.x, 348.1, 348.3, 780.3, 784.3 Chronic pulmonary disease 416.8, 416.9, 490.x-505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8 Diabetes, uncomplicated 250.0-250.3 Diabetes, complicated 250.0-250.9 Hypothyroidism 240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8 Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.32, 070.32, 070.32, 070.34, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0-456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.9-572.8, 573.8, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/HIV 042.x-044.x Lymphoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196x7199.x		427.9, 785.0, 996.01, 996.04, V45.0, V53.3
Pulmonary circulation disorders 415.0, 415.1, 416.x, 417.0, 417.8, 417.9 Peripheral vascular disorders 093.0, 437.3, 440.x, 441.x, 443.1–443.9, 447.1, 557.1, 557.9, V43.4 Hypertension, uncomplicated 401.x Hypertension, complicated 402.x–405.x Paralysis 334.1, 342.x, 343.x, 344.0, 344.6, 344.9 Other neurological disorders 331.9, 332.0, 332.1, 333.4, 333.5, 333.92, 334.x–335.x, 336.2, 340.x, 341.x, 345.x, 348.1, 348.3, 780.3, 784.3 Chronic pulmonary disease 416.8, 416.9, 490.x–505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8 Diabetes, uncomplicated 250.0–250.3 Diabetes, complicated 260.4–250.9 Hypothyroidism 240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8 Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0–456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2–572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/HIV 042.x–044.x Lymphoma 200.x–202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.8, 287.1, 287.3–287.5 Obdesity 278.0 Weight lo	Valvular disease	093.2, 394.x-397.x, 424.x, 746.3-746.6, V42.2, V43.3
Peripheral vascular disorders 093.0, 437.3, 440.x, 441.x, 443.1–443.9, 447.1, 557.1, 557.9, V43.4 Hypertension, uncomplicated 401.x Hypertension, complicated 402.x–405.x Paralysis 334.1, 342.x, 343.x, 344.0, 344.6, 344.9 Other neurological disorders 331.9, 332.0, 332.1, 333.4, 333.5, 333.92, 334.x–335.x, 336.2, 340.x, 341.x, 345.x, 348.1, 348.3, 780.3, 784.3 Chronic pulmonary disease 416.8, 416.9, 490.x–505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8 Diabetes, uncomplicated 250.4–250.9 Hypothyroidism 240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8 Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0–456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2–572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/HIV 042.x–044.x Lymphoma 200.x–202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x–199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x–172.x, 174.x–195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 260.x–263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Cogalopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3–287.5 <td>Pulmonary circulation disorders</td> <td>415.0, 415.1, 416.x, 417.0, 417.8, 417.9</td>	Pulmonary circulation disorders	415.0, 415.1, 416.x, 417.0, 417.8, 417.9
V43.4Hypertension, uncomplicated401.xHypertension, complicated402.x-405.xParalysis334.1, 342.x, 343.x, 344.0, 344.6, 344.9Other neurological disorders331.9, 332.0, 332.1, 333.4, 333.5, 333.92, 334.x-335.x, 336.2, 340.x, 341.x, 345.x, 348.1, 348.3, 780.3, 784.3Chronic pulmonary disease416.8, 416.9, 490.x-505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8Diabetes, uncomplicated250.0-250.3Diabetes, complicated250.0-250.3Phypothyroidism240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8Renal failure403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.xLiver disease070.22, 070.23, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0-456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2-572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9AIDS/HIV042.x-044.xLymphoma200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6Metastatic cancer196.x-199.xSolid tumor without metastasis140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.xRheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases253.6, 276.xBlood loss anemia280.280.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4Fluid and electrolyte disorders253.6, 276.xBlood loss anemia280.1-280.9, 281.xAlcohol abuse265.2, 291.1-291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 35.5, 57.1-571.3, 980.x, V11.3Drug abuse292.x, 304.x, 305.2-305.9, V65.42Psychoses293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.64, 296.54, 297.x, 298.xDeconstruct296.2, 205.6, 205.4,	Peripheral vascular disorders	093.0, 437.3, 440.x, 441.x, 443.1–443.9, 447.1, 557.1, 557.9,
Hypertension, uncomplicated 401.x Hypertension, complicated 402.x-405.x Paralysis 334.1, 342.x, 343.x, 344.0, 344.6, 344.9 Other neurological disorders 331.9, 332.0, 332.1, 333.4, 333.5, 333.92, 334.x-335.x, 336.2, 340.x, 341.x, 345.x, 348.1, 348.3, 780.3, 784.3 Chronic pulmonary disease 416.8, 416.9, 490.x-505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8 Diabetes, uncomplicated 250.0-250.3 Diabetes, complicated 250.4-250.9 Hypothyroidism 240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8 Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0-456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2-572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/H1V 042.x-044.x Lymphoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x-199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Veight loss 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders		V43.4
Hypertension, complicated 402.x-405.x Paralysis 334.1, 342.x, 343.x, 344.0, 344.6, 344.9 Other neurological disorders 331.9, 332.0, 332.1, 333.4, 333.5, 333.92, 334.x-335.x, 336.2, 340.x, 341.x, 345.x, 348.1, 348.3, 780.3, 784.3 Chronic pulmonary disease 416.8, 416.9, 490.x-505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8 Diabetes, uncomplicated 250.0-250.3 Diabetes, complicated 250.4-250.9 Hypothyroidism 240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8 Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.32, 070.34, 070.64, 070.64, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0-456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2-572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/H1V 042.x-044.x Lymphoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x-199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1-280	Hypertension, uncomplicated	401.x
Paralysis 334.1, 342.x, 343.x, 344.0, 344.6, 344.9 Other neurological disorders 331.9, 332.0, 332.1, 333.4, 333.5, 333.92, 334.x–335.x, 336.2, 340.x, 341.x, 345.x, 348.1, 348.3, 780.3, 784.3 Chronic pulmonary disease 416.8, 416.9, 490.x–505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8 Diabetes, uncomplicated 250.0–250.3 Diabetes, complicated 250.4–250.9 Hypothyroidism 240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8 Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0–456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2–572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/H1V 042.x–044.x Lymphoma 200.x–202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x–199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x, 172.x, 174.x–195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 260.x–263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.0	Hypertension, complicated	402.x-405.x
Other neurological disorders 331.9, 332.0, 332.1, 333.4, 333.5, 333.92, 334.x-335.x, 336.2, 340.x, 341.x, 345.x, 348.1, 348.3, 780.3, 784.3 Chronic pulmonary disease 416.8, 416.9, 490.x-505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8 Diabetes, uncomplicated 250.4-250.9 Hypothyroidism 240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8 Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0-456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2-572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/H1V 042.x-044.x Lymphoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x-199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia<	Paralysis	334.1, 342.x, 343.x, 344.0, 344.6, 344.9
$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	Other neurological disorders	331.9, 332.0, 332.1, 333.4, 333.5, 333.92, 334.x–335.x, 336.2,
Chronic pulmonary disease 416.8, 416.9, 490.x~505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8 Diabetes, uncomplicated 250.0~250.3 Diabetes, complicated 250.4~250.9 Hypothyroidism 240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8 Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0~456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2~572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/HIV 042.x~044.x Lymphoma 200.x~202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x~199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x~172.x, 174.x~195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 446.x, 701.0, 710.0, 710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3-287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x~263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 265.2, 291.1~291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.5, 571.2, 571.3, 980.x, V11.3		340.x, 341.x, 345.x, 348.1, 348.3, 780.3, 784.3
Diabetes, uncomplicated 250.0–250.3 Diabetes, complicated 250.4–250.9 Hypothyroidism 240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8 Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0–456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2–572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/HIV 042.x–044.x Lymphoma 200.x–202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x–199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x–172.x, 174.x–195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 246.x, 701.0, 710.0, 710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3–287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x–263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1–280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1–291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0–571.3, 980.x, V11.3 <td>Chronic pulmonary disease</td> <td>416.8, 416.9, 490.x–505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8</td>	Chronic pulmonary disease	416.8, 416.9, 490.x–505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8
Diabetes, complicated 250.4–250.9 Hypothyroidism 240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8 Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0–456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2–572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/HIV 042.x–044.x Lymphoma 200.x–202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x–199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x–172.x, 174.x–195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 246.x, 228.7, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3–287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x–263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1–280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1–291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0–571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2–305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293	Diabetes, uncomplicated	250.0-250.3
Hypothyroidism 240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8 Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 582.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.64, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0-456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2-572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/HIV 042.x-044.x Lymphoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x-199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 446.x, 701.0, 710.0, 710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3-287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1-280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1-291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0-571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2-305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.4	Diabetes, complicated	250.4–250.9
Renal failure 403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0-456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2-572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/HIV 042.x-044.x Lymphoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x-199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 446.x, 701.0, 710.0, 710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3-287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1-280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1-291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0-571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2-305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x	Hypothyroidism	240.9, 243.x, 244.x, 246.1, 246.8
404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x Liver disease 070.22, 070.23, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0–456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2–572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/H1V 042.x–044.x Lymphoma 200.x–202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x–199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x–172.x, 174.x–195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 446.x, 701.0, 710.0–710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3–287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1–280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1–291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0–571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2–305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x	Renal failure	403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92,
Liver disease 070.22, 070.32, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9, 456.0-456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2-572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/H1V 042.x-044.x Lymphoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x-199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 446.x, 701.0, 710.0-710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.8, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3-287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1-280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1-291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0-571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2-305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x		404.93, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x
456.0-456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2-572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7 Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/H1V 042.x-044.x Lymphoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x-199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 446.x, 701.0, 710.0-710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3-287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1-280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1-291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0-571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2-305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x	Liver disease	070.22, 070.23, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9,
573.9, 442./ Peptic ulcer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 533.7, 533.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/HIV 042.x-044.x Lymphoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x-199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 446.x, 701.0, 710.0-710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3-287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1-280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1-291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0-571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2-305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x		456.0–456.2, 570.x, 571.x, 572.2–572.8, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8,
Peptic licer disease excluding bleeding 531.7, 531.9, 532.7, 532.9, 535.7, 535.9, 534.7, 534.9 AIDS/H1V 042.x-044.x Lymphoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x-199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 446.x, 701.0, 710.0-710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3-287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1-280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1-291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0-571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2-305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x	Dentional and income and a dimension	5/5.9, V42.7
AIDS/ITIV 042.X-044.X Lymphoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x-199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 446.x, 701.0, 710.0-710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3-287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1-280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1-291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0-571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2-305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x		042 - 044 -
Lymptoma 200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.6 Metastatic cancer 196.x-199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 446.x, 701.0, 710.0-710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3-287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1-280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1-291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0-571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2-305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x	AIDS/H1V	042.X=044.X
Metastatic cancer 196.x-199.x Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 446.x, 701.0, 710.0-710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3-287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1-280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1-291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0-571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2-305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x		200.x-202.x, 203.0, 238.0
Solid tumor without metastasis 140.x-1/2.x, 1/4.x-195.x Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 446.x, 701.0, 710.0–710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3–287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x–263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1–280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1–291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0–571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2–305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x	Metastatic cancer	196.x-199.x
Returnation arthritis/collagen vascular diseases 446.x, 701.0, 710.4, 710.8, 710.9, 711.2, 714.x, 719.3, 720.x, 725.x, 728.5, 728.89, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3–287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x–263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1–280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1–291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0–571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2–305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x	Solid tumor without metastasis	140.x-1/2.x, 1/4.x-195.x
720.x, 725.x, 725.3, 728.39, 729.30 Coagulopathy 286.x, 287.1, 287.3–287.5 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x–263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1–280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1–291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0–571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2–305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.44, 296.44, 296.44, 297.x, 298.x	Rheumatoid arthritis/collagen vascular diseases	446.x, /01.0, /10.0–/10.4, /10.8, /10.9, /11.2, /14.x, /19.3,
Coagnopany 280.x, 287.1, 287.3–287.3 Obesity 278.0 Weight loss 260.x–263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1–280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1–291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0–571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2–305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.44, 296.44, 296.44, 297.x, 298.x	Casaulanathu	20.4, 725.4, 726.5, 728.69, 729.50
Obstry 278.0 Weight loss 260.x-263.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1-280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1-291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0-571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2-305.9, V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x Drug abuse 204.2, 206.5, 204.5, 200.5, 201.4, 206.54, 297.x, 298.x	Obagity	280.X, 287.1, 287.3–287.3
Weight loss 200.x-205.x, 783.2, 799.4 Fluid and electrolyte disorders 253.6, 276.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1-280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1-291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0-571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2-305.9, V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x Drug abuse 200.2, 200.6, 200.6, 200.6, 420.00	Weight loss	278.0 260 x 262 x 782 2 700 4
Print and electrolyte disorders 253.0, 270.x Blood loss anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1–280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1–291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0–571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2–305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x Drug abuse 200.2, 200.5	Fluid and algotrolyte disorders	200.x-205.x, 785.2, 799.4
Biodross anemia 280.0 Deficiency anemia 280.1–280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1–291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0–571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2–305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x Drug abuse 202.2, 200.5, 200.6, 200.6, 200.6, 200.5, 201.4, 200.54, 297.x, 298.x	Pland loss anomia	255.0, 270.X
Dericency arenna 200.1-280.9, 281.x Alcohol abuse 265.2, 291.1-291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 303.0, 303.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0-571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2-305.9, V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.14, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x	Deficiency anomic	280.1.280.0.281.
Alconol abuse 205.2, 291.1–291.3, 291.9, 305.0, 305.9, 305.0, 557.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0–571.3, 980.x, V11.3 Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2–305.9, V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.14, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x Drug abuse 206.2, 200.5, 200.6, 200.7, 200.7, 201.4, 200.7, 200.7, 201.4, 200.7, 201.4, 200.7, 201.4, 200.7, 201.4, 200.7, 201.4, 200.7, 20	Alashalahara	260.1-260.9, 261.8
Drug abuse 292.x, 304.x, 305.2–305.9. V65.42 Psychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.14, 296.14, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x Drug abuse 200.2, 200.5, 200.4, 200.7, 201.4, 200.44, 200.7, 201.4, 201.4, 201	Alconol abuse	205.2, 291.1–291.3, 291.5, 291.9, 305.0, 305.9, 305.0, 357.5, 425.5, 535.3, 571.0–571.3, 980 x, V11.3
Prychoses 293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.14, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x Democing 200.2, 200.5, 200.4, 200.7, 201.4	Drug abuse	292.x. 304.x. 305.2–305.9. V65.42
	Psychoses	293.8, 295.x, 296.04, 296.14, 296.44, 296.54, 297.x, 298.x
Depression 296.2, 296.3, 296.5, 300.4, 309.X, 311	Depression	296.2, 296.3, 296.5, 300.4, 309.x, 311

Adapted from: Quan H, et al. Coding algorithms for defining Comorbidities in ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data. Med Care. 2005 Nov; 43(11):1130-9.

Charlson/ Deyo comorbidities	Enhanced ICD-9-CM codes
Myocardial infarction	410.x, 412.x
Congestive heart failure	398.91, 402.01, 402.11, 402.91, 404.01, 404.03, 404.11, 404.13, 404.91, 404.93, 425.4–425.9, 428.x
Peripheral vascular disease	093.0, 437.3, 440.x, 441.x, 443.1–443.9, 47.1, 557.1, 557.9, V43.4
Cerebrovascular disease	362.34, 430.x-438.x
Dementia	290.x, 294.1, 331.2
Chronic pulmonary disease	416.8, 416.9, 490.x-505.x, 506.4, 508.1, 508.8
Rheumatic disease	446.5, 710.0–710.4, 714.0–714.2, 714.8, 725.x
Peptic ulcer disease	531.x-534.x
Mild liver disease	070.22, 070.23, 070.32, 070.33, 070.44, 070.54, 070.6, 070.9, 570.x, 571.x, 573.3, 573.4, 573.8, 573.9, V42.7
Diabetes without chronic complication	250.0-250.3, 250.8, 250.9
Diabetes with chronic complication	250.4–250.7
Hemiplegia or paraplegia	334.1, 342.x, 343.x, 344.0–344.6, 344.9
Renal disease	403.01, 403.11, 403.91, 404.02, 404.03, 404.12, 404.13, 404.92, 404.93, 582.x, 583.0–583.7, 585.x, 586.x, 588.0, V42.0, V45.1, V56.x
Any malignancy, including lymphoma and leukemia, except malignant neoplasm of skin	140.x-172.x, 174.x-195.8, 200.x-208.x, 238.6
Moderate or severe liver disease	456.0-456.2, 572.2-572.8
Metastatic solid tumor	196.x-199.x
AIDS/HIV	042.x-044.x

Table 4. ICD-9-CM codes for the identification of Charlson/ Deyo comorbidities.

Adapted from: Quan H, et al. Coding algorithms for defining Comorbidities in ICD-9-CM and ICD-10 administrative data. Med Care. 2005 Nov; 43(11):1130-9.

Part VIII Intelligent Systems

Social Simulation of Rescue Teams' Dynamic Planning

João Ulisses, Rosaldo J. F. Rossetti, João E. Almeida, Brígida Mónica Faria

LIACC – Artificial Intelligence and Computer Science Laboratory Department of Informatics Engineering Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto Rua Roberto Frias, S/N, 4200-465, Porto, Portugal {jp.ulisses, rossetti, joao.emilio.almeida}@fe.up.pt,

INESC-TEC - Instituto de Engenharia de Sistemas e Computadores, Tecnologia e Ciência, Porto, Portugal Polytechnic Institute of Porto (ESTSP-IPP) Rua Dr. Roberto Frias, S/N 4200 - 465 Porto, Portugal btf@estsp.ipp.pt

Abstract. This paper focuses on an approach to dynamic planning, for an emergency ambient such as team rescue in indoors fire. First a graph is generated as the simulation runs, creating an effect similar to means-end analysis as each fire trying to reach the firefighter. This graph is updated in real time, improving the solution performance and reacting to new fires. The firefighter creates a plan based on this graph, using shortest weighed paths algorithms, these weights are updated dynamically, they do not only contain the distance but they also contain the importance to reach that node, so a important node to reach costs less for a firefighter to get there. All this together allows real time solutions to be generated, and self improving solutions to be made in the plan. This algorithm is to be integrated on a framework that simulates physics and collisions, and using a navigation mesh and agent perceptions to aid in calculation of a 3D shortest path.

Keywords: Social Simulation, Multi-Agent System, Dynamic Planning, Graph Generation, Team Cooperation

1 Introduction

Fire drills are expensive, the firefighter education is very poor in Portugal and according to a few interviews done and a visit made to the Franco's fire-fighter headquarter in city of Porto. A simulation could help in both cases by simulating certain scenarios where the firefighter would be and allowing him to explore what could happen, but more important, to be tutored on what he should do.

A lot of related work has been done in forest fires such as [1, 2], in indoor fires the situation is different and so must be the strategies used.

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_64

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI: 10.1007/078.2.210.21207.8.44

Planning algorithms can help the firefighter decide and why take that decision, ending up in learning, these solutions should take into account the reactive dynamics of the ambient and the information we perceive from the surroundings, requiring practice. Another work has been done here, specially related to the agents perceptions in a 3D world with ray cast and path-finding algorithms that would change the weight of the agent task. The agents in the 3D simulation also use a dynamic navigation mesh, so it is easier for them to avoid obstacles and calculate the shortest path between multiple floors, generally taking the stairs. The focus of this paper is on the plan itself, creating a hybrid algorithm based on multiple other generic algorithms. The plan here will be generated on a 2D scenario so it can be integrated later on a 3D by changing the way the short-path is calculated. The current framework does not simulate the fire behaviour realistically yet and it is simulated by a random algorithm, this to test the constant reactiveness of the firefighter team, but later on a more realistic way to simulate fire events can be integrated by using other fire-simulation frameworks or their algorithms if available, which one is best is still being researched, specially for 3D scenarios with stairs. People in the simulation will be walking randomly, this later on could have realistic human behaviour which are being studied to be replicated, this people get injured when they cross fires. In the 3D simulation more realistic scenarios are tested for example the agent taking the role as a person will try to run away from fire. After showing the algorithm and improvements done in the 2D simulation conclusions of the algorithms and their results are presented.

The framework will be a continuation of project SPEED [3, 4, 5, 6], but turned into rescue teams, keeping the idea that serious games can be used to train these teams and extending it with the use of agents to be used for nonplayable characters and team members.

The final framework should be able to certificate firefighters, giving them the skills needed for their job, this paper is a continuation of work presented in [7] The final version of the project will have a great social impact through helping firefighter training [8, 9] and certification, with scientific innovation falling within categories such as human behaviour elicitation and modelling to feature bots in multiplayer serious games environments and agents in social simulation of pedestrian evacuation in emergency scenarios such as fire, similar examples are [3, 4, 5, 6].

Planning and scheduling techniques can be used in firefighter and rescue scenarios for a better organisation and strategy planning, later allowing the system to show and explain for example what a firefighter is doing and why. The planning strategies that were used are hybrid, a mix of multiple ideas from generic algorithms and solutions of similar problems such as the multi-travelling salesman, however the problem should have cooperative teams and reactive planning. Other ideas were about the leadership such as [10, 11, 12]. State machines, spanning trees, priority lists, dynamic programming were studied in order to come up with this hybrid solution, trying to take something of each that would allow to create a proper relative solution to the problem. This relative solution means that it changes with the problem, but more importantly it means that it is or tries to be, very direct to the problem, very related, much like the seed is to the generation of the problem.

2 Method

The method used takes small steps and tries different techniques and tests them to show the way they can improve the algorithm overall.

Technology used was Netlogo, despite previous work was made in Unity3D, this is because Netlogo offers a more agent-based syntax and a different interface which would improve the simulation for reactive planning and testing. NetLogo's scheduling mechanism is completely deterministic. Given the same code and the same initial conditions, the same thing will always happen, if the same version of NetLogo is used.

Problem simulation

The problem is similar to the one presented in the 3D simulation platform[7], there was a scenario with a certain number of fires in certain rooms, with a team of firefighters to solve those, all these were distributed in the generated rooms. On Netlogo all the positions are random, and the firefighters start in the middle. People will walk randomly, eventually bumping into fire, while on Unity3D they try to run away.

Netlogo simulation allows to create a number of people, firefighters or starting fires, the fires will be created as the simulation goes. On the right there will be some monitors displaying important information relatively to the first 3 firefighters, this information contains, their target, their closest objective, overall list of objectives sorted by importance, the weight to the most important tasks, what is the task of the most important tasks that has less weight, and the plan and the objective that each firefighter is doing and calculating every iteration.

The goals for the firefighters are: no person can be burnt (a person too much time near a fire); have the least people in near fire or most people rescued; have least number of fires or most fires extinguished; archive previously mention objectives in shortest amount of time possible.

Prolog was first attempt of creating a short path plan [13], and it could be connected to Netlogo code through netprologo extension, since it is a extension it can access the Netlogo code, which has his variables updated dynamical, however the network extension that already comes with Netlogo works for creating shortpaths and other utilities for this problem and simulation. In the future framework the simulation will tested netprologo or YAP which is type of Prolog that allows dynamic data through mutables and show how these can be useful in comparing multiple solutions or plans that different team members generate in a team rescue scenario.

Generic Solutions were taken into consideration due their advantages, such as: Market/Agent Distribute tasks based on trust, this trust could be based on their performance and equipment for a certain task; Constraint Programming Consistency good for reactive/dynamic problems as this one; Reactive Planning/Dynamic Planning, Condition-action rules, Finite State Machines. All these techniques were used in certain ways in the current version of the framework done in Netlogo in form of a hybrid algorithm.

Allocating Tasks according to [14], were initially planned, they will be a later step of this framework, as tasks need to be ordered for a team. Tasks could have cooperation constraints such as a fire too strong requiring a number of fire-fighters and some water resource.

Travelling salesman problem and multiple travelling salesman problem [15] is a problem similar to the problem presented, as their are tasks that must be visited, these tasks can be done by multiple firefighters or distributed for a faster result, however due to the dynamic nature of the presented problem, it is harder to calculate a circuit for each firefighter for whenever a new fire or a person in trouble appears, however techniques like 2-opt [16] and similar were studied as they could be ran in parallel, similar to what is done the Netlogo framework.

The proposed algorithm is a hybrid similar to [17], based on other algorithms mentioned before. Generating the graph is the first step, as firefighter will use the graph to decide where they will go, this is generated as the simulation goes and adapts to new situations by being reactive. The people in need of help create links to the closest fire or other people in need of help and to a closest fire, this allows people to be in the graph, and when a new one comes, they automatically join. Fires link to the closest fire they have, and if they have more than 3 links, they delete those and link to the closest fire again, when a new fire comes it will be always linked to the graph. This conditions guarantee there won't be too many points disconnected, and that the firefighter can create sort of a journey by going through them and since this is made reactivity, it is good for emergency situations.



Fig. 1: Color orange(truck) represents the firefighters, red(plant) represents fire, greens are people walking randomly and yellows are people that need help.

Each link contains a variable that is updated constantly, the weight, this is the distance between the two nodes and the importance to reach that node from the first one, the importance is a relation to how long that node has been waiting to be helped or solved by the firefighter in relation to the one that needs most help, this will make the firefighter pick a path with the most important nodes to visit and all the information is updated dynamical. The priority list is a list that stores all the firefighter goals in order of importance. The firefighter gets into the graph by creating links with everything in radius of 5 to simulate his vision and creates a link with the closest fire or person, from those he building the shortest path. The shortest path is made by creating a list of nodes to visit to reach a possible goal, the goal will be one of the top 5 most important tasks for each firefighter, the one that is picked is the one with least weight, being a hybrid of most important and closest. When two firefighters have the same objective, one asks another to change his plan, making him go somewhere else, that is better for him at the moment, he will not change if that plan or path is inevitable.

3 Results

The tests use deterministic seeds so they can easily be replicated and improved. Since genetic algorithms are not used, the problem variables that are defined at start such as random position of objects and the random movement of people are things that make the solution constantly changing, the whole algorithm is about making a relation from the problem to the solution constantly, being updated overtime, this update must be fast and smart enough to save people in a emergency. The first type of tests made were a survival style, if one person in the simulation is burnt the simulation stops. For a person to be burnt it has to have reached a certain number of ticks, ticks are a step in the algorithm for Netlogo. Different tests were conducted to test the robustness of the algorithm and making the problem harder as the algorithm was improved.

In the first tests the simulation stops when a person is burnt, for a person to be burnt a person must have touched fire and changed his state to needing help, which then by each tick on that state increases a variable, when that variable reaches a certain ammount the person is destroyed.

Table 1: These tests had the following set up: Each seed is a different scenario, 300 people, 50 fires and were interrupted when a person was burnt (10000 ticks without being rescued).

Seed 1	People N	umber 300	Fire Number 50 Person Burnt at 5000 ticks) ticks					
Version 2.9 Name:										Ticks:	
closest TARGET FIRES AND PEOPLE								24197 tick	s		
link1 fire with other fires link2 people with closest fire TARGET FIRE								27182 ticks			
link1 fire with other fires link2 people with closest people and closest fire TARGET FIRES								13975 tick	s		
link1 fire with other fires link2 people with closest people and closest fire TARGET PEOPLE							61468 tick	s			
link1 fire with other fires link2 people with closest people and closest fire TARGET FIRES AND PEOPLE							68336 tick	s			
link1 fire with closest turtleset link2 people with closest people and closest fire TARGET FIRES AND PEOPLE							150702 tic	ks			

People N	umber 300	Fire Num	ber 50	Person Bu	rnt at 5000	ticks	firefighte	rlink and c	alculatewe	ight can be	on/off
Fire-Figh	ter 3.2 link1 fire with	closest tur	tleset link2 people w	ith closest	people an	d closest fi	ire TARGET	FIRES AND	PEOPLE		
seed 1:	off/off 90019 ticks		on/on 441569 ticks								
seed 2:	off/off 35325 ticks		on/on 532218 ticks								
seed 3:	off/off 167142 ticks		on/on 571527 ticks								
Fire-Figh	ter 3.2 link1 fire with	closest 3 fi	res link2 people with	n closest pe	ople and c	losest fire	TARGET FI	RES AND P	EOPLE		
seed 1:	off/off 4303455+ tic	ks	on/on 1406906 ticks								
seed 2:	off/off 877281 ticks		on/on 455397 ticks								
seed 3:	off/off 663899 ticks		on/on 507190 ticks								

Table 2: Firefighterlink and Calculateweight variables can be on/off and can changed in runtime, they update a few variables for the user to see.

Table 3: As the algorithm improved, the survival time was getting harder to reach, therefor the number of people were increased to 500 from 300 people.

People Number 500	Fire Num	ber 50	Person Bu	ırnt at 5000 ticks	Stop at w	hen a person is burnt
Fire-Fighter 3.4 weightpath	seed 1:	5437725 ticks	seed 2:	3731442 ticks	seed 3:	2359764 ticks

Table 4: Version 3.5 tries to understand how many tasks should be saved, this is similar to work done later in 4.0 with dynamic numbers. 3.8 allows to instance multiple firefighters, instead of being static three firefighters.

People Number 500	Fire Number 50		Person Burnt at 5000 tic	ks		
Fire-Fighter 3.4 weightpath	seed 1: 5018 ticks	seed 2:	72714 tick seed 3: see	ed 3: 5865 ticks seed 4	1: 5020 ticks seed 5:	5011 ticks
Fire-Fighter 3.5	seed 1: 45136 tick	seed 2:	5000 ticks seed 3: see	ed 3: 48300 tick seed 4	1: 116353 tic seed 5:	5031 ticks
Fire-Fighter 3.5.1	seed 1: 156323 tid	seed 2:	49321 tick seed 3: see	ed 3: 299777 tic seed 4	132232 tic seed 5:	419655 ticks
Fire-Fighter 3.6 all tasks	seed 1: 5000 ticks	seed 2:	5008 ticks seed 3: see	ed 3: 5000 ticks seed	1: 7707 ticks seed 5:	5000 ticks
Fire-Fighter 3.6 5 tasks	seed 1: 78902 tick	seed 2:	126029 tic seed 3: se	ed 3: 21994 tick seed 4	1: 5020 ticks seed 5:	154937 ticks

Table 5: 3.9 version makes firefighters tell other firefighter to go do other plans if they have the same objective, this makes them spread.

People N	umber 500	Fire Num	ber 50		Person Burnt at 5000 ticks			Stop at wh	nen a perso	on is burnt
Fire-Fighter 3.9 spread										
seed 1:	8614466+ ticks	seed 2:	8813107+	ticks	seed 3:	8591828+	ticks			

Table 6: This test used 500 people, 50 fires, 3 firefighters, spawn fire every 100 ticks, 200 if the number of firefighters is 10 times lower than the number of fires (to avoid fires completely out-man the firefighters) and stops at 50000 ticks.

Fire Num	ber 50	New Fire every 100	ew Fire every 100 ticks; 200 if the number of firefighters is small						
People N	umber 300	Person B	urnt at 5000 ticks	Stop Simulation a	t 50000 ticks				
Fire-Fight	ter 3.8.1 ins	stance firefighter							
seed 1:	burnt: 0	rescued: 17431	extinguished: 540	count fires: 6	count peoples with rescue = true: 82				
seed 2:	burnt: 0	rescued: 16479	extinguished: 532	count fires: 9	count peoples with rescue = true: 201				
seed 3:	burnt: 0	rescued: 16904	extinguished: 540	count fires: 7	count peoples with rescue = true: 91				
Fire-Fighter 3.9.1 spread									
seed 1:	burnt: 0	rescued: 9616	extinguished: 542	count fires: 3	count peoples with rescue = true: 33				
seed 2:	burnt: 0	rescued: 9207	extinguished: 543	count fires: 3	count peoples with rescue = true: 27				
seed 3:	burnt: 0	rescued: 9771	extinguished: 543	count fires: 4	count peoples with rescue = true: 57				
Fire-Fight	ter 4.0 Imp	ortance (div 20) + 5							
seed 1:	burnt: 0	rescued: 10731	extinguished: 544	count fires: 2	count peoples with rescue = true: 15				
seed 2:	burnt: 0	rescued: 10173	extinguished: 546	count fires: 2	count peoples with rescue = true: 13				
seed 3:	burnt: 0	rescued: 10838	extinguished: 543	count fires: 4	count peoples with rescue = true: 46				

Social Simulation of Rescue ...

3.8.1 and 3.9.1 run the same algorithm as 3.8. and 3.9 respectively, but have their code store data such as the number of fires extinguished and the number of people rescued. On versions prior to 4.0 when the firefighter makes a plan, he just considered the 5 most important tasks, now this was changed to a dynamic value based on how many tasks that exist, to a minimum of 5, and the number increases a bit the bigger the number of tasks.

Table 7: These versions ran on Java Eclipse IDE, to test performance and to easily run multiple times with different parameters.

Fire Nun	nber 50	New Fire	every 10	00 ticks; 200 if the num	nber of firefighters i	s small						
People N	Number 500)	Person	Burnt at 5000 ticks	Stop Simulation a	t 1000 ticks						
FireFight	ter 4.1 Java	.nlogo										
seed 1:	burnt: 0	rescued:	180	extinguished: 20	count fires: 35	count pe	oples with	rescue = tr	ue: 431	Time: 114	.22854626	8 Seconds
seed 2:	burnt: 0	rescued: 5	537	extinguished: 42	count fires: 16	count per	oples with	rescue = tr	ue: 226	Time: 59.	948002784	Seconds
seed 3:	burnt: 0	rescued:	194	extinguished: 17	count fires: 38	count per	oples with	rescue = tr	ue: 439	Time: 99.	883700603	Seconds
FireFight	ter 4.2 BDI I	NO GUI.nlo	go									
seed 1:	burnt: 0	rescued: :	188	extinguished: 20	count fires: 35	ount peo	ples with i	rescue = tru	ie: 443	Time: 111	.25569420	7 Seconds
seed 2:	burnt: 0	rescued: 5	507	extinguished: 41	count fires: 17	count pe	oples with	rescue = tr	ue: 262	Time: 66.	954862641	Seconds
seed 3:	burnt: 0	rescued:	191	extinguished: 20	count fires: 35	count per	oples with	rescue = tr	ue: 426	Time: 104	.78446771	3 Seconds
FireFight	ter 4.2 BDI.	nlogo										
seed 1:	burnt: 0	rescued: 2	200	extinguished: 19	count fires: 36	count per	oples with	rescue = tr	ue: 434	Time: 115	.34523691	7 Seconds
seed 2:	burnt: 0	rescued: 4	173	extinguished: 41	count fires: 17	count per	oples with	rescue = tr	ue: 260	Time: 67.	275974899	Seconds
seed 3:	burnt: 0	rescued: 2	202	extinguished: 19	count fires: 36	count pe	oples with	rescue = tr	ue: 436	Time: 104	.21691953	1 Seconds

Firefighter 4.1 JAVA version does not change the algorithm itself, but adds output prints and better inputs for Netlogo. A Java application was created to test scenarios in a more comfortable way. For this version multiple types of interface where tested, the first one, Java opened Netlogo itself, the second opened a jframe with the Netlogo interface, and the third is the headless, with no interface, the only integration is with the output from Netlogo that goes to the Java. From this result other simulations can be run, depending on this result if so is desired, this will have potential later for machine learning.

Firefighter 4.2 BDI changed the interface to better explain the beliefs desire and intentions in this framework, the name is due it was highly based on BDI architectures. It also improved some Java compatibilities with the simulation but the algorithm itself remained, as it could be considered a BDI architecture before. The new Java version allows to queue up multiple simulation scenarios, and a JAR was created. There was also created the same version of Netlogo with no interface, since Java does not make use of Netlogo interface, and in Java it can be tested which one runs faster.

Beliefs Desires and Intentions (BDI) architecture [18, 19] on planning situations allowing agents reasoning to be closer to human reasoning can important for this framework to solve the firefighting problem and improve team or cooperation planning. BDI architecture alike implemented in this simulation allows the user to see the reasoning in real time, and understand why an agent did certain actions, or why the agent is planning in a specific way by understanding the atomic decisions and reactions while doing plan, with some future adjustments it will be possible to deliver this information in a way to teach and give skills to the firefighters and their teams, as their behaviours and their cooperation will be in that plan and taken into consideration on their reasoning. Right now it is possible to see the beliefs, the desires and the intentions of three firefighters, but all firefighters use their own reasoning to archive a goal, creating their own plans and archiving their plans in their own way and communicating with other firefighters to try to spread the work. The architecture should be able to create plans similar to [20] which the authors gave us a sample of their project in which use BDI architecture and planning structure, that project allowed us to get some ideas on how we were doing something similar and how we could improve our current plans creating hybrid solution integrating multiple different parts algorithms in a single one, reactivity accepting all information and depending on time to answer, to prepare a plan. This BDI architecture alike used in this project allows the study of firefighters and their interaction with the simulation and how they perceive the plans. This is to be even integrated with the serious game simulation as mentioned before, where a real firefighter can be part of a team in a simulation with other humans or bots running this algorithm.

4 Conclusion and Discussion

Greedy algorithms were the first to tr since they have a quick reaction, needed for these emergencies, however they let people die too often, as they worry more about what is close to them and not people in real trouble. Algorithms that use too much information, waste too much time deciding what to do, causing them not to answer in time for people in desperate need.

Generic algorithms do not solve the problem, as they often have problem with reactivity or complexity of the scenario, they were mostly built into static scenarios and when the scenario changes the firefighters can't afford to create a new plan from the start, despite this they were taken into account allowing to build a hybrid solution to benefit what from they do best.

Genetic algorithms are too random to always work and then hard to improve, this hybrid solution is related to the solution, so the solution only changes if the problem changes, allowing more reactiveness and quick search on what is new adding to what is old, while genetic algorithms have to everything search again because they do not know if a combination of new and old could be better.

This hybrid solution is in fact trying to get direct solutions for the problem, whenever it changes, the drawback is that it takes time to build up the information, however as information is added procedurally and in parallel, the solutions are made based on what knowledge the system has, upgrading the solution as new information arrives, allowing it a reactive harmony. This works sort of a fantasy hivemind which are similar to swarm algorithms, but sharing all the information and updating that information dynamically and allowing small parts to think as a whole. This way of thinking can also be used for teamwork cooperation to answer non-static problems and emergencies.

5 Future Work

Burnout is the fatigue, stress, emotion disturbance which is more common in emergency situations [21, 22], this will be done in later versions of the framework.

Team Behaviours must be studied to see which one is better, such as: cooperative (working together to save most people); Competitive (countering what other firefighters could get); Egoistic (maximising their "points" gained); Altruistic (going to the people that needs most help). Right now, only Egoistic and Altruistic are implemented, but others will be implemented in the future, similar to what has been done in entertainment games using prolog in [23, 24], taking in consideration how these bots act with humans and the human satisfaction in using them or even being able to find out they are actually bots.

This algorithm is to be integrated on a framework that simulates physics and collisions, and using a navigation mesh and agent perceptions to aid in calculation of a 3D shortest path. This step is already done and it is being currently tested by players to understand their inputs so the agents can also replicate human behaviours.

Possible integration with Unity3D is still being tested, it is possible to run a jar with a Netlogo execution through Unity3D's android libraries, however this means it would only work on android mobiles. However is it expected that Unity3D will allow java or someway to read java in Unity3D will be found soon as Unity3D's android libraries allow to do so at cost of implementation time.

References

- Luis Sarmento, Daniel Moura, and Eugénio Oliveira. "Fighting Fire with Fear". In: *Proceedings of EUMAS-04*. Barcelona: Springer, 2004, pp. 627– 634.
- [2] Eugénio Oliveira and Luis Sarmento. "Emotional Advantage for Adaptability and Autonomy". In: AAMAS '03 - 2nd Joint Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multi-Agent Systems (2003).
- [3] Rosaldo JF Rossetti et al. "Playing transportation seriously: Applications of serious games to artificial transportation systems". In: *IEEE Intelligent* Systems 4 (2013), pp. 107–112.
- [4] João Emílio Almeida et al. "Serious games for the Elicitation of way-finding behaviours in emergency situations". In: Information Systems and Technologies (CISTI), 2014 9th Iberian Conference on. IEEE. 2014, pp. 1–7.
- [5] Elisabete Cordeiro et al. "Human Behavior Under Fire Situations Portuguese Population". In: Fire and Evacuation Modeling Technical Conference (Aug. 2011), pp. 15–16.
- [6] José Fernando Silva et al. "A Serious Games for EVAcuation Training". In: (2013), pp. 1–6.
- [7] João Ulisses, João E. Almeida, and Rosaldo J. F. Rossetti. "RAIN in Indoor Rescue Training". In: 10th Iberian Conference on Information Systems and Technologies, (June 2015). Aveiro, Portugal, pp. 1255–1260.
- [8] Carlos Ferreira de Castro and José M. Barreira Abrantes. "Combate a Incêndios Urbanos e Industriais". Escola Nacional de Bombeiros, Sintra, 2005 (in Portuguese). 2005.

- [9] Artur Gomes. Busca e salvamento. (in Portuguese). Sintra: Escola Nacional de Bombeiros, 2005.
- [10] Linda Plotnick et al. "Leadership Roles and Communication Issues in Partially Distributed Emergency Response Software Development Teams: A Pilot Study". In: Proceedings of the 41st Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (2008).
- [11] Seyedali Mirjalili. How effective is the GreyWolf optimizer in training multi-layer perceptrons. New York: Springer Science+Business Media, 2015.
- [12] Markus Waibel, Dario Floreano, and Laurent Keller. A Quantitative Test of Hamilton's Rule for the Evolution of Altruism. May. 2011.
- [13] João Santos and Ricardo Rocha. "A team-based scheduling model for interfacing or-parallel prolog engines". In: Computer Science and Information Systems 11.4 (2014), pp. 1435–1454.
- [14] Han-Lim Choi, Andrew K. Whitten, and P. Jonathan. "Decentralized Task Allocation for Heterogeneous Teams with Cooperation Constraints". In: American Control Conference iott Waterfront (June 2010). Baltimore, MD.
- [15] Fred Glover. "Ejection chains, reference structures and alternating path methods for traveling salesman problems". In: *Discrete Applied Mathematics* 65.1 (1996), pp. 223–253.
- [16] David S. Johnson and Lyle A. McGeoch. "The traveling salesman problem: A case study in local optimization". In: *Local search in combinatorial optimization* 1 (1997), pp. 215–310.
- [17] Rjab Hajlaoui, Mariem Gzara, and Abdelaziz Dammak. "Hybrid Model for Solving Multi-Objective Problems Using Evolutionary Algorithm and Tabu Search". In: (2011).
- [18] Frank Dignum et al. "Towards socially sophisticated BDI agents". In: (2000), pp. 111–118.
- [19] Sakellariou Ilias, Petros Kefalas, and Ioanna Stamatopoulou. "Enhancing NetLogo to simulate BDI communicating agents". In: AI: Theories, Models and Applications. Berlin: Springer, 2008, pp. 263–275.
- [20] Jonathan Wiens and Dagmar Monett. "Using BDI-extended NetLogo Agents in Undergraduate CS Research and Teaching". In: (2013). Ed. by The Steering.
- [21] Natália Vara and Cristina Queirós Marina Kaiseler. "Coping strategies and emotions as predictors of burnout risk among firefighters". In: In Riscos: naturais, antropomórficos e mistos (2013). (in Portuguese), pp. 585–598.
- [22] Sheila Giardini Murta and Bartholomeu Tôrres Tróccoli. "Firefighters' occupational stress: intervention effects based on needs assessment". In: *Estudos de Psicologia, Campinas* 24.1 (2007). (in Portuguese), pp. 41–51.
- [23] Grzegorz Jaskiewicz. "Logic Programming as Scripting Language for Bots in Computer Games–Research Overview". In: arXiv:1405.3795 (2014).
- [24] Grzegorz Jaskiewicz. "Prolog-Scripted Tactics Negotiation and Coordinated Team Actionsfor Counter-Strike Game Bots". In: (2014).

Monitoring Clusters in the Telecom Industry

Gonçalo Pereira¹ and João Mendes-Moreira¹²

 Faculdade de Engenharia da Universidade do Porto, R. Dr. Roberto Frias, 4200-465 Porto, Portugal
 LIAAD-INESC TEC, Campus da FEUP, R. Dr. Roberto Frias, 4200-465 Porto, Portugal

{gpereira,jmoreira}@fe.up.pt

Abstract. In the past years, data has become increasingly fast and volatile, making the ability to track its evolution an highly significant part of the value extraction process. In this work we present a framework to monitor evolution of clusters and present its use on real world data. We develop a framework over a previous one by Oliveira and Gama from 2013. Its biggest contribution is the addition of the concept of *control area*. This area will create a region around the cluster where it is still possible to establish associations with clusters from other time points.It aims to expand the search scope for cluster associations while diminishing the number of false positives. Changes to the transition definitions and detection algorithm are also introduced to accommodate the existence of this area. We demonstrate this framework at work in a real world scenario testing it with a telecom industry dataset and make a detailed analysis of the obtained results.

Keywords: Clusters, Evolution, Monitoring

1 Introduction

The use of clustering techniques is highly popular in the data analysis field. These techniques however are usually applied to static data on a particular time interval. However, in several businesses, data characteristics can change meaningfully along time, leading to possibly harmful business decisions. The telecom industry deals every day with a large amount of data on phone calls, SMSs, etc... This data comprehends information about the clients. The ability to understand how the clients profiles evolve along time can bring insights for marketing giving opportunity to new types of services and promotions. We explore the use of cluster monitoring techniques in a large scale scenario of the telecommunications industry. We aim to track the clusters representing the various types of users and see how they evolve along time, taking into account the four events that may occur to the clusters as the time progresses: survival, death, splitting and merging. This may allow us to obtain information previously hidden, like user trends and other unexplored dynamics, which can provide new key understandings on user activity. We explore a new variant of the comprehension technique

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_65

used for clustering monitoring, which makes uses of an area surrounding each cluster dubbed *control area* in the process of event detection.

In section 2 we will make an overview of the current work in the area, specially the one by Oliveira and Gama [1] in which this work is based on. In section 3 we will discuss the clusters characterization and introduce the developed framework. In section 4 we will present our experiments and the results. We then conclude with a summary and the discussion of future work.

2 Related Work

As previously stated, this project has been heavily influenced by Oliveira and Gama's [1] work on cluster monitoring. In this work they propose the MEC framework which provides a characterization and tracking mechanism for the detection of cluster transitions through time. This framework, adopts two main strategies for cluster characterization, one of representation by enumeration and another of representation by comprehension. Each of these will have an associated tracking method. When a cluster is characterized through enumeration it will track transitions through graphs. When a cluster is characterized through comprehension it will track transitions by observing overlapping cluster areas. The use of MEC's enumeration framework is further explored using Economy and Finance data [2]. In this paper we further explore the use of the comprehension method through a variant framework.

MONIC is another framework in this field [3]. Similarly to Oliveira and Gama's [1] work, it also makes use of an enumeration based characterization to track and interpret the evolution of a cluster. MONIC+ [4] is an extension of MONIC which analyses the topology of the clusters in order to capture the cluster-type-specific transitions.

There have also been several approaches who make use of the spatio-temporal space [5][6][7]. These approaches are usually applied to data streams and are dependent on the clustering algorithm used.

3 Developed Framework

Clusters are represented by comprehension as delineated by Oliveira and Gama [1], this method was chosen as it didn't require to store all cluster elements in memory. Three measures are defined: Centrality, density and dispersion. The centrality of the clusters corresponds to the cluster centroids. The density is represented by the radius. Dispersion in this context assumes the objects will be spherical in space. The radius of a centroid is obtained by calculating the average distance between the centroid and all points inside the cluster.

Furthermore another element is added to the cluster, which is the main contribution of this work: the *control area*. This area takes into account the positions of all other clusters in the space. It is defined as a spherical area with the cluster's centroid as its center where the radius is the sum between the cluster's radius and half of the distance between its radius and the radius of the closest neighbouring cluster.

It's important to note that in reality, it is rare a cluster being perfectly spherical with an even dispersion of elements inside of it. An high concentration in a cluster extremity might cause a situation where the radius of two clusters overlap. In this situation the cluster's *control area* will be the radius and the overlapping areas will be considered contested by both clusters.

To monitor the evolution of a set of clusters through several points in time, two types of transitions are employed: external and internal. These transitions have already been defined in the current literature [1][3]. External transitions relate to how a cluster changes in regard to the space and its neighbours, while internal transitions relate to changes in the cluster's constitution.

Through the use of external transitions it's possible to track how the clusters evolves through time in relation to the space. Five external transitions were defined to that effect:

- Birth: A new cluster appears;
- Death: A cluster disappears;
- Merge: Elements of two or more clusters in the previous time interval form a new cluster;
- Split: Elements of a single cluster in the previous time interval form two or more clusters;
- Survival: A cluster from the previous time interval remains in the current interval with no or minor changes.

To assess the occurrence of such transitions, a framework was created that accommodates the existence of the *control areas* in its detection algorithm.

C(T) represents the cluster set in a T time point and $C(T + \Delta t)$ represents the cluster set in the following time point after a Δt interval. A birth occurs in a cluster of $C(T + \Delta t)$ when the distance between each of the centroids in the clusters of C(T) and a centroid in the cluster $C(T + \Delta t)$ is larger than the *control area* of the C(T) clusters. This will represent that the new cluster's centroid doesn't intersect any of the clusters of the previous time point. Therefore if the control area of a cluster in C(T) doesn't intersect with any of the centroids of the clusters in $C(T + \Delta t)$ it is considered that it dies. If indeed an intersection exists, it can signal one of two events: A survival when a centroid cluster is located inside the *control area* or a split when two or more are present.

Merge detection follows a slightly different process: when the *control area* of a cluster in $C(T + \Delta t)$ contains the centroids of two or more clusters of C(T), it is considered that a merge occurred. When two survivals occur on the same cluster, which might happen when a centroid is located in a contested area, it is likewise considered that a merge occurred.

This use of the *control area* expands the transition search scope, allowing the detection of possible transition associations with clusters farther in the space. Such scope permits the capture of information that might have proven to be difficult in certain situations, for example in fast moving clusters.

A transition should only be signalled when a *control area* intersects with a centroid, instead of when it overlaps with the radius or another *control area* of a cluster in $C(T + \Delta t)[1]$. This decision was implemented with the intent diminishing the number of transitions detected, consequence of the larger search space resulting from the *control areas*. Moreover it helps to diminish the number of hits when the clusters are adjacent to each other and exists little variance in position between each time frame.

The internal transitions represent the internal changes that a cluster may suffer through time. Two main internal values were monitored to keep track of these transitions: the size and density of the cluster. Size of the cluster corresponds directly to the number of elements in a cluster, while the density of a cluster represent the compactness of a cluster. To observe them the statistical data regarding the size of a cluster and its radius for all the time intervals was stored.

4 Case study

4.1 Data set and pre-processing

A data set was provided containing information related to all the calls of a telecom provider in December 2012. To study the evolution of the user behaviour over time, the profiles of the active users of every six hour interval in the first 15 days of December were extracted. Using the available information the following template for features of the user profiles was created: Average duration of a phone call, number of incoming calls, number of outgoing calls, number of calls made in a land network, number of calls made in an mobile network, number of calls made in the same network, number of services calls made, number of calls that do not belong to any of the previous categories, number of voice-mails and number of dropped calls

Through the use of this profiling it estimated that in average each time break has 917356 distinct users. This information is then normalized through the use of Z transformation to create a standard scale between all the call counters and the average duration in order to ensure that all features have equal importance. The X-means algorithm [8] is used to extract the clusters for each time interval. This algorithm allows the computation of the optimal number of clusters for each time interval, unlike other commonly used algorithms (e.g.K-Means). Such flexibility aims to accurately portray how the number of clusters evolves throughout the time, without requiring multiple runs of K-means in search of the optimal k. Each of the clusters is identified by the following: the assigned number during the creation process, the day of the month and the 6 hour interval it belongs to, e.g. $C_0(2,3)$ represents the first cluster of unique users during the December 2nd [12 : 00 - 18 : 00] interval. When the cluster number is not specified like in C(2,3), it means the cluster set as a whole in the specified time period is being addressed.

Visualizing the evolution of high dimensional data such as the present one can be challenging. Therefore Multidimensional Scaling was used to reduce the



Fig. 1. RMSE for Multidimensional Scaling using different number of features



Fig. 2. Evolution from Dec. 1st, 2012 to Dec. 5th, 2012

number of dimensions to a K manageable amount. Taking into account that by reducing dimension, errors are introduced, the root mean-square deviation between the distance matrices of the current dataset and of the possible scaled down sets was analysed to search for the optimal value for K.

By analysing figure 1 it is observable that, according to the elbow curve [9], the ideal value of K is 3. The scaled down clustering results of the first five days of December can be seen in 2 were the y-axis represents the normalized values as described in section 4.1.

In the majority of the cases four clusters were obtained with the X-means. However, four exceptions are present where only two clusters are created: on the



Fig. 3. Dec. 8th at 18:00 to Dec. 9th at 00:00 transitions

December 1st [18:00-24:00] interval, on the December 4th [00:00-06:00] interval, on the December 7th [00:00-06:00] interval and on the December 14th [00:00-06:00] interval. There is also a situation where three clusters are created on the December 3rd [00:00-06:00] interval. After evaluating the internal proprieties of these clusters, it can be observed that these cases seem to correspond to intervals of low user activity.

To verify whether the figures correspond faithfully to the evolution of the original dataset, the most outlying clusters were compared with the corresponding original clusters. To this end two outlier cases in each extreme of the Y axis were analysed, the clusters $C_2(3;2)$, $C_1(8;3)$, $C_1(13;1)$ and $C_3(14;2)$. The RMSE between the distances of the original clusters and the scaled down ones were calculated and errors of 0.0718086 for $C_2(3;2)$, 0.08701041 for $C_1(8;3)$, 0.00174967 for $C_1(13;1)$ and 0.065321 for $C_3(14;2)$ were obtained. These RMSE values are quite negligible, only inducing in errors in situations where several points are adjacent. Which are within an acceptable margin of errors as it was more important to convey the general evolution through time.

4.2 Empirical validation

Some example cases were analysed to validate the framework at work, beginning with the $C(8;4) \rightarrow C(9;1)$ transitions(figure 3).

This case exemplifies a situation where only survivals and deaths are detected. The following survivals are signalled: $C_0(8;4) \rightarrow C_1(9;1), C_2(8;4) \rightarrow C_3(9;1), C_3(8;4) \rightarrow C_2(9;1)$, meanwhile $C_1(8;4)$ dies. These results are validated through the extraction of the distance matrix for evaluating whether the distances do indeed conform with the transitions.

Through the distance matrix in table 1 it can be seen that in fact the survivals correspond to transitions where both clusters are quite close. Meanwhile the only death is relatively distant from all the clusters in the following set. The $C(3;2) \rightarrow C(3;3)$ in figure 4 exemplifies a situation where merges and splits occur simultaneously.

	$C_0(9;1)$	$C_1(9;1)$	$C_2(9;1)$	$C_3(9;1)$
$C_0(8;4)$	0.776	0.008	2.608	2.893
$C_1(8;4)$	3.789	4.545	6.399	7.313
$C_2(8;4)$	3.819	3.105	2.490	0.216
$C_3(8;4))$	3.174	2.798	0.186	2.479

Table 1. Distance matrix for the Dec. 8th at 18:00 to Dec. 9th at 00:00 transitions



Fig. 4. December 3rd at 06:00 to 12:00 transitions

Table 2. Distance matrix for the December 3rd 06:00 to 12:00 transit	tions
--	-------

	$C_0(3;3)$	$C_1(3;3)$	$C_2(3;3)$	$C_3(3;3)$
$C_0(3;2)$	0.085	3.469	2.617	10.065
$C_1(3;2)$	0.261	3.617	2.441	9.794
$C_2(3;2)$	11.044	12.204	10.801	1.061
$C_3(3;2)$	2.526	5.896	0.052	9.695

This is also a situation where a cluster is the result of the merge of three other clusters ({ $C_0(3;2), C_1(3;2), C_3(3;2)$ } $\rightarrow C_0(3;3)$) with one of these clusters being also part of a split ($C_3(3;2) \rightarrow (C_0(3;3), C_2(3;3)$). Furthermore there is a survival from ($C_2(3;2) \rightarrow C_3(3;3)$). In this case the transitions continue to be associated with the shortest distances as shown in table 2. Sometimes situations occur where there are no transitions in a cluster despite the fact that it is closer to a future cluster than other clusters that have transitions with it. This is consequence of the influence of the *control area* in the detection process. By analysing its internal proprieties, it can be seen in such cases that a large radius allows association with farther away a clusters and vice-versa. Regarding the cluster sizes, we can verify that cluster that split originate smaller clusters (e.g. $C_2(3;3)$) and clusters originated from merges have larger sizes (e.g. $C_0(3;3)$).

	$C_0(2;1)$	$C_1(2;1)$	$C_2(2;1)$	$C_3(2;1)$
$C_0(1;4)$	2.482	3.194	0.556	9.167
$C_1(1;4)$	0.124	0.821	1.987	9.976

Table 3. Distance matrix for the Dec. 1st at 18:00 to Dec. 2nd at 00:00 transitions

Finally there are the $C(1;4) \rightarrow C(2;1)$ situation. This case exemplifies a situation where transitions exist between different size cluster sets. Two transitions are present: a three part split of $C_0(1;4)$ into $\{C_0(2;1), C_1(2;1), C_2(2;1)\}$ and a merge of $C_0(1;4)$ and $C_1(1;4)$ into $C_0(2;1)$. Once again the framework is able to detect the appropriate transitions in relation to the distances of table 3. The reason why $C_1(1;4) \rightarrow C_1(2;1)$ and $C_1(1;4) \rightarrow C_2(2;1)$ are not signalled as transitions while $C_0(1;4)$ has transitions with larger distances is an example of the presence of a large *control area*.

4.3 Comparison with the MEC framework

The same data set was also run with the MEC comprehension framework to provide comparative results. The MEC results obtained were considered unsatisfactory in comparison with our framework. For a significant amount of transitions each cluster is split into the majority, if not all, of clusters of the next time period, as seen in table 4. Such results makes it very hard to infer any useful information regarding the cluster evolution.

Table 4. Frameworks comparison

Our Framework	MEC framework
$C_0(8;4) \to C_1(9;1);$	$C_0(8;4) \rightarrow \{C_0(9;1), C_1(9;1), C_2(9;1), C_3(9;1)\};$
$C_2(8;4) \rightarrow C_3(9;1);$	$C_2(8;4) \rightarrow \{C_0(9;1), C_2(9;1), C_3(9;1)\};$
$C_3(8;4) \to C_2(9;1);$	$C_3(8;4) \rightarrow \{C_0(9;1), C_1(9;1), C_2(9;1), C_3(9;1)\};$
$C_1(8;4) \rightarrow \{\}; \{\} \rightarrow C_0(9;1);$	$C_1(8;4) \to \{\};$

This occurs in the MEC framework due to the fact it signals a transition whenever the radius of clusters in T_i and $T_i + \Delta t$ intersect. In situations where clusters are adjacent and there is little variance in position through time this might occur. Our framework successfully avoids this issue through the use of the control area and transition signalling only when it intersects with a centroid.

4.4 Discussion

During the 15 day time period analysed, only the initial first cluster survives through all the observed time intervals without interruptions, suffering only changes on its position assignment in each time interval. In certain situations it splits itself into two new clusters and merges again in the next time interval as seen in $(C_0(3;3) \rightarrow \{C_0(3;4), C_1(3;4)\} \rightarrow C_1(4;1))$ and $(C_1(15;2) \rightarrow \{C_0(15;3), C_1(15;3)\} \rightarrow C_1(15, 4))$. Furthermore there is also a split instance where one of the branches will merge into another cluster in the following time interval, leaving the other branch as the continuation ($C_1(13;3) \rightarrow \{C_0(13;4), C_1(13;4)\}$, $C_0(13;4) \rightarrow C_1(14;1)$). This cluster is characterized by consistently being the largest cluster in each time point and being exceptionally dense. An analyse of the cluster centroids showed that data distribution in this cluster is always balanced. So it can be concluded that this cluster identifies the average user with no exceptional characteristics.

Splits occur often during the evolution: 54% of all transitions contain at least one split. The reason for this common occurrence is most likely the extended search scope that is consequence of the use of the *control areas*. It may also reflect the fact that the clustering covers a highly concentrated dataset without huge variations through time. Worthy of note is the existence of four complete total dismemberments where parts of a single cluster go to all clusters of the next time interval $(C_2(3;3) \rightarrow \{C_0(3;4), C_1(3;4), C_2(3;4), C_3(3;4)\}, C_0(4;1) \rightarrow$ $\{C_0(4;2), C_1(4;2), C_2(4;2), C_3(4;2)\}), (C_2(7;1) \rightarrow \{C_0(7;2), C_1(7;2), C_2(7;2),$ $C_3(7;2)\})$ and $(C_3 (9;3) \rightarrow \{C_0(9;4), C_1(9;4), C_2(9;4), C_3(9;4)\})$. These, like most of the splits, tend to be associated with clusters of large internal dispersion and low size where the radius is above average and which are usually represented by the points farthest from the X axis in figure 2. Therefore it can be concluded that the splits tend to occur when the clustering algorithm creates a large cluster for highly skewed elements.

Likewise merges are very common: 61.7% of all transitions contain at least one. The majority of the merges occur when parts of existing clusters resulting of a split are absorbed by others, although there is also a sizeable amount of pure merges where two clusters are fully absorbed into a new one. This tends to happen in 2-size cluster set intervals. Unlike the splits, there is no discernible situation where the merges consistently happen. However the merged clusters do tend to have above average size. Moreover they are only skewed when there are noticeable differences between merged clusters.

In search of seasonality, the evolution between the two weeks was also compared. A parallel analysis was performed focused on the weekly homologous time intervals. An identical cluster is detected when the framework signals a survival between clusters of homologous time intervals.

In all observed instances between both time points it was found there is always at least one pair of identical clusters. Only in three instances all the cluster set is identical $C(3;4) \simeq C(10;4)$, $C(4;2) \simeq C(11;2)$ and $C(5;4) \simeq C(12;4)$. It is sensible to assume that there is always some similar behaviours during homologue periods but only Mondays and Wednesday during the [18:00-24:00] period and Tuesdays during the [06:00-12:00] period the behaviours are exactly the same. Further study is required to verify whether this is a recurring pattern.

5 Conclusions

In this paper a cluster monitoring framework and its use in a real world scenario are presented. It introduces some key changes to the MEC framework, the major of which is the *control area*. This addition extends the search scope for possible transitions and cluster associations in fast moving data. Furthermore the transition detection process was adapted for these modifications. This framework was tested with real telecom data. The extracted transitions reflected accurately the evolution of the clusters. An analysis of the results is done to detect evolutionary trends and pattern seasonality, as well as on how the cluster characteristics affect transitions.

Future works aims to improve this framework by making the *control area* reflect the density and dispersion of cluster. Through these improvements clusters with large radius and number of elements will have larger *control areas* and therefore an larger influence.

Moreover not all clustering algorithms model spherical clusters like the K-Means, so adapting this framework to those algorithms is part of the future plans. Expanding the analysis scope in search of possible evolutionary patterns is also a current objectives.

Acknowledgements. This work was financed by WeDo Technologies that also provided the data.

References

- M. Oliveira and J. Gama, "MEC: Monitoring cluster's transitions," in Proceedings of the 5th Starting AI Researchers Symposium, IOS Press, 2010.
- M. Oliveira and J. Gama, "A framework to monitor clusters evolution applied to economy and finance problems," *Intelligent Data Analysis*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 93–11, 2012.
- M. Spiliopoulou, I. Ntoutsi, Y. Theodoridis, and R. Schult, "Monic: modeling and monitoring cluster transitions," in *Proceedings of the 12th ACM SIGKDD interna*tional conference on Knowledge discovery and data mining, ACM, 2006.
- I. Ntoutsi, M. Spiliopoulou, and Y. Theodoridis, "Tracing cluster transitions for different cluster types," *Control and Cybernetics*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 239–259, 2009.
- P. Kalnis, N.Mamoulis, and S.Bakiras, "On discovering moving clusters in spatiotemporal data," in Advances in Spatial and Temporal Databases, 9th Int. Symposium, Springer-Verlag, 2005.
- C. C. Aggarwal, "On change diagnosis in evolving data streams," *IEEE Transactions* on Knowledge and Data Engineering, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 587–600, 2005.
- H. Yang, S. Parthasarathy, and S. Mehta, "A generalized framework for mining spatio-temporal patterns in scientific data," in *Proceedings of the 7th ACM SIGKDD* international conference on Knowledge discovery in data mining, ACM, 2005.
- D. Pelleg and A. W. Moore, "X-means: Extending k-means with efficient estimation of the number of clusters," in *Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Machine Learning*, Morgan Kaufmann Publishers Inc., 2000.
- N. Jaworska and A. C. Anastasova, "A review of multidimensional scaling (mds) and its utility in various psychological domains," *Tutorials in Quantitative Methods* for Psychology, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2009.

An Approach for Assessing the Distribution of Reporting Delay in Portuguese AIDS Data

Alexandra Oliveira^{1,2}, A. Rita Gaio^{1,3}, Joaquim Pinto da Costa^{1,3}, and Luís Paulo Reis^{4,5}

 ¹ CMUP - Centro de Matemática da Universidade do Porto, Porto, Portugal
 ² ESTSP-IPP - Escola Superior Tecnologia da Saúde do Porto - Instituto Politécnico do Porto, Porto, Portugal
 ³ FCUP - Faculdade de Ciências da Universidade do Porto, Porto, Portugal

⁴ DSI/EEUM - Departamento de Sistemas de Informação, Escola de Engenharia da Universidade do Minho, Guimarães, Portugal

 $^5\,$ LIACC - Laboratório de Inteligência Artificial e Ciência de Computadores, Porto,

Portugal

aao@estsp.ipp.pt
argaio@fc.up.pt
jpcosta@fc.up.pt
lpreis@dsi.uminho.pt

Abstract. HIV/AIDS epidemic is an important public health problem. The burden of the epidemic is estimated from surveillance systems data. The collected information is incomplete, making the estimation a challenging task and the reported trends often biased. The most common incomplete-data problems, in this kind of data, are due to underdiagnosis and reporting delays, mainly in the most recent years. This is a classical problem for imputation methodologies. In this paper we study the distribution of AIDS reporting delays through a mix approach, combining longitudinal K-means with the generalized least squares method. While the former identifies homogeneous delay patterns, the latter estimated longitudinal regression curves. We found that a 2-cluster structure is appropriated to accommodate the heterogeneity in reporting delay on HIV/AIDS data and that the corresponding estimated delay curves are almost stationary over time.

Keywords: HIV/AIDS, reporting delay, KML, GLS, incomplete data, imputation method

1 Introduction

The Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) is an infectious agent that attacks the immune system cells. Without a strong immune system, the body becomes very susceptible to serious opportunistic illness. When the severe symptoms emerge , it is said that the individual has acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS).

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_66

In 2009, the UNAIDS estimated that the prevalence (percentage of infected individuals within the population) of this disease in Portugal was about 0.6%. This correspond to having 42000 people, aged between 15 and 49 years old, living with HIV. So, HIV/AIDS is an important public health problem in Portugal.

The HIV/AIDS epidemic trend is monitored by a specific surveillance system. The collected data is vital to assess the general health care needs, long-term health-policy planning, general disease-prevention education programmes [1]... But data is incomplete and, therefore, the trends are biased.

The main reasons for this missing data are due to the under - diagnosis in all HIV/AIDS stages, under-reporting and to delays in reporting. So, the surveillance data should be adjusted for more accurate trends estimation [2,3].

This is a problem of incomplete data and imputation, that is, filling in missing data by some plausible values [5, 1, 4]. A solution may rely on a method that generates a probability model relating the complete data set, consisting of both observed values and missing values, and a set of parameters. The goal is to use the observations to generate a predictive distribution for the missing values [6].

Traditionally, the reporting delay distribution has been estimated from the conditional or unconditional log-likelihood [5]. Also, usually this distribution is assumed as stationary, not depending on the time of diagnosis [7–11, 13].

In this paper we study the distribution of AIDS reporting delays through a mix approach, combining longitudinal K-means with the generalized least squares method. While the former identifies homogeneous delay patterns, the latter estimated longitudinal regression curves.

In section 2 we describe the main characteristics of the Portuguese epidemic and identify the main sources of missing data in the present surveillance system. The problem of incomplete data is addressed in section 3. In section 4 we present main results concerning the identification of the clusters and the longitudinal curves. Finally, we present the conclusions from the study.

2 Portuguese epidemic and surveillance system data

Since 1983, the number of HIV/AIDS cases reported until the present, places Portugal as one of the most infected countries in Europe [14]. The epidemic is concentrated on high-risk and hard-to-reach sub-populations, , thus hindering a timely diagnosis.

All stages of HIV/AIDS (asymptomatic, AIDS related complex, AIDS), changes from one state to the other, and death should be reported to the portuguese Center for the Transmissible Diseases (CVDET - Centro de Vigilância Epidemiológica das Doenças Transmissíveis) within 48 hours after the appropriate event, by the filling in of the notification form (in paper format). This procedure is only mandatory from 2005 onwards [15].

Over the years, the notification procedure has suffered some changes that may be related to the quality of the reports. Here we point out the following:

1. in 1988, the reporting form was altered and more variables were included;

- 2. in 1993, tuberculosis was included as an AIDS defining disease;
- 3. in 1996, highly active anti-retroviral therapy (HAART), with a well-known impact on the patients survival rate, was introduced;
- 4. in 2005 the notification forms were re-structured;
- 5. in 2009 the CVDET was re-structured [3].

The under-diagnosis, under-reporting and high percentage of notification form entries with "unknown" or "blank" responses, are well known problems of the portuguese notification system [3].

3 Incomplete data - The method

As the need for medical care is much higher in late-stage infections, the under diagnosis is less likely to occur in AIDS cases. We will therefore restrict ourselves only to this stage in the following analysis.

The reporting delay is defined as the time mediating from HIV/AIDS diagnosis and the report of this event at national level [2].

The first case diagnosed (and reported) it will be represented by 0 and x^* represents the end of the observation period. So the time interval $[0, x^*]$ represents the time diagnosis observed. Let this time interval be divided into 3 months-unit length. The same division is set to reporting delay time interval.

The AIDS cases are then cross-classified by the diagnosis and reporting delay quarter. We denote by X_{ij} the annual percentage of AIDS cases that were diagnosed in quarter *i* and have a reporting delay falling into quarter *j*. Fixing a reporting delay quarter, one can observe a delay pattern over time.

We now proceed as follows:

- 1. identification of homogeneous patterns for the observed delays considering that there is no bias. The clustering is performed by a longitudinal version of the K-means algorithm. This step identifies the tendencies across the reporting delays, thus reducing the number of curves of reporting delays to be considered.
- evaluation of the effects of the reporting delays and date of diagnoses on the evolution of the epidemic (percent-wise). We use linear regression with estimation performed by generalized least squares, thus allowing for hereoscedastic. We will consider only cases diagnosed until 2008 due to the reporting delay.
- 3. Imputation on X_{ij} according to the obtained results.

4 Results and discussion

The number of AIDS cases diagnosed per year exhibited an increasing trend between 1983 and the year 2000, four years after the introduction of HART. Since then, the numbers of diagnosed cases have been steadily decreasing. When the notification became mandatory a slight growth was observed, as pictured in Fig. 1. In the lower panel of that figure, we have included information about the historical events that may be introducing bias in the prevalence numbers. Coincidence (or not), the prevalence of AIDS curve changes slightly at these moments.



Fig. 1. Number of AIDS cases diagnosed in Portugal per year of diagnostic and historical events in HIV/AIDS history and notification system

Due to the lack of understanding of the HIV infection development throughout its first years, we will consider only cases diagnosed after June 1986.

4.1 Longitudinal K-means

Figure 2 depicts the reporting delays that are registered in the national AIDS surveillance system. The delays were grouped into trimesters and the annual percentage of cases within each diagnosis year is represented.

The most recent year (lighted region) does not seem to be describing the real situation as several cases have not been notified yet.

It can be seen that the majority of cases are reported within 3 months after diagnosis but some are still being reported with more than one year of delay. For the sake of clarity, delays longer than 18 months are omitted from figures 2 and 3.

The longer delays, e.g. more than 6 months, have a almost constant behaviour through time not exceeding the 10% of cases (figure 3).

Graphical inspection may suggest a 2-cluster structure since the delay curve (0,3] is fully separated from the rest. But due to epidemiological interest it is important to explore other clustering structures.

Since clustering analysis is an exploratory method, 2, 3 and 4-cluster structures, each of them with 40 randomly chosen starting points were studied. The



Fig. 2. Percentage of AIDS cases per diagnosis and delay quarters. The lighted region identifies those (recent) years that have to be corrected.



Fig. 3. Percentage of AIDS cases per quarter of diagnosis and delay quarter longer than 3 months

longitudinal K-means algorithm, considering the euclidean distance with the Gower adjustment and implemented via Expectation-Maximization, was applied. The optimal number of clusters was determined with the help of several criteria: Calinsky and Harabatz, Ray and Turi, Davies and Bouldin, and the Bayesian and Akaike Information Criteria (BIC and AIC, respectively). The higher these values, the better is the solution. All should ideally agree and be as large as possible except BIC and AIC that should be low [16].

For the reporting delays and considering partitions from 2 to 4 clusters, the behaviour of the quality criteria is represented in figure 4. The clustering result for 3 classes is described in table 1.



Fig. 4. Quality Criteria for longitudinal clustering. 0 - Calinsky and Harabatz; 1 - Calinsky and Harabatz2; 3 - Calinsky and Harabatz3; 4 -Ray and Turi; 5 -Davies and Bouldin; 6 - Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC); 7 - BIC with correction for finite sample size; 8- Akaike Information Criterion (AIC); 9- AIC with correction for finite sample size

Tal	ble	1.	Description	of	analyse	d c	lusters
-----	-----	----	-------------	----	---------	-----	---------

Number of Clusters	Clusters ID
2	C1: $(0,3]$; C2: >3 months
3	C1: $(0,3]$; C2: $(3,6]$; C3: >6 months
4	C1: $(0,3]$; C2: $(3,6]$; C3: $(6,9]$; C4: >9 months

From the analysis of figure 4 and table 1 we consider 2-clustered structure.

4.2 Generalised least squared

Since the number of AIDS cases in the most recent diagnosis are biased due to the effect of reporting delay, it was removed from the adjusted time evolution model, the latest 4 years were removed.

The general equation of the adjusted time evolution model for the reporting delay curves is described in 1.

$$X_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 i + \beta_2 i * C2$$

$$X_i = 0.0227 + 0.0036i + (-0.0032)i * C2$$
(1)

were X_i is the annual percentage of AIDS cases, *i* is the year of diagnosis and C2 is as described in table 1 (the reference level is the cluster (0,3]).

The year of diagnosis have an significant effect on the model for incidence of AIDS cross-classified as the interaction term between the clusters and time for a significance level of 0.05.

The model predicted that, with an increase of one year in diagnosis time, the annual percentage of AIDS cases as an increase of 0.0036 (p < 0.001) in delay (0,3], in delay > 3 an increase of 0.0004 (p < 0.001). The main effects and the interaction effect are described in table 3.

 Table 2. Model for the AIDS percentage cross-classified by year of diagnosis and reporting delay quarter

Variable	Estimated coefficient	Estimated Standard	Error t-value	P-value
Intercept	0.0227	0.0057	4.0135	< 0.001
Year of diagnosis	0.0036	0.0003	10.9577	< 0.001
Year of diagnosis : C2	-0.0032	0.0004	-8.7336	< 0.001

The homocedasticity and normality of the model residuals was studied by graphical analysis and this assumptions did not seem to be compromised.

Individuals delay curves models can be drawn from (1) and this models can be used for estimating the expected percentage of cases for each delay.

 Table 3. Individual models for the annual AIDS percentage cross-classified by diagnosis

 year and reporting delay quarter

Reporting delay	Estimated model
(0,3]	$X_i = 0.4236 + 0.0036i$
> 3	$X_i = 0.4236 + 0.0004i$

5 Conclusions and future work

Considering the Portuguese notification system, it can be seen that majority of cases were reported with delay in (0,3]. This longitudinal pattern is completely separated from the other curves and delays longer than 9 months have very close trajectories. These delays less than 10% of cases each. So, for modelling, and considering the epidemiological and surveillance relevance, we can consider the partitions of (0,3] and more than 3 months.

From the longitudinal model we can conclude that the delay curves are almost constant over time. Individuals delay curves can be used to estimate the corresponding delay distribution.

For future work we propose introducing in the delay model, co-variates with the historical changes in the Portuguese surveillance system, the region were diagnosis occurred, the probable group of transmission of HIV/AIDS. We also propose applying the method to other data sources for validation propose.

Acknowledgments. This work has been partially funded by the European Regional Development Fund through the programme COMPETE by FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia in the scope of the projects: PEst -C /MAT/UI0144/2013 and PEst -UID/CEC/00027/2015.

References

- Barnard, J. and Meng, X.-L. Applications of multiple imputation in medical studies: from AIDS to NHANES Statistical Methods in Medical Research, SAGE Publications, 1999, 8, 17-36
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control/WHO Regional Office for Europe. HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2011. Stockholm: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control; 2012.
- Mauch, S. Situational Assessment of the HIV/AIDS Notification System A Portuguese Experience National Coordination For HIV Infection, 2009.
- Oliveira, A., Costa, J. and Gaio, A.R., 2014, June. The incidence of AIDS in Portugal adjusted for reporting delay and underreporting. In Information Systems and Technologies (CISTI), 2014 9th Iberian Conference on (pp. 1-5). IEEE.
- Pagano, M.; Tu, X. M.; De Gruttola, V., MaWhinney, S. Regression analysis of censored and truncated data: estimating reporting-delay distributions and AIDS incidence from surveillance data Biometrics, JSTOR, 1994, 1203-1214.
- Newgard, C. D. and Haukoos, J. S. Advanced Statistics: Missing Data in Clinical Research - Part 2: Multiple Imputation Academic Emergency Medicine, Blackwell Publishing Ltd, 2007, 14, 669-678
- 7. Rosenberg, P. A simple correction of AIDS surveillance data for reporting delays J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 1990, 3, 49-54
- 8. Harris, J. E. Reporting delays and the incidence of AIDS. Journal of the American Statistical Association, Taylor and Francis Group, 1990, 85, 915-924
- Brookmeyer, R. and Liao, J. Statistical modelling of the AIDS epidemic for forecasting health care needs, Biometrics, JSTOR, 1990, 1151-1163

- Brookmeyer, R. and Damiano, A. Statistical methods for short-term projections of AIDS incidence, Statistics in Medicine, Wiley Online Library, 1989, 8, 23-34
- Brookmeyer, R. and Gail, M. H. A method for obtaining short-term projections and lower bounds on the size of the AIDS epidemic, Journal of the American Statistical Association, Taylor and Francis Group, 1988, 83, 301
- Kalbfleisch, J.and Lawless, J., Regression models for right truncated data with applications to AIDS incubation times and reporting lags, Statistica Sinica, World Scientific Publishing, 1991, 1, 19-32.
- Green, T. A. Using surveillance data to monitor trends in the AIDS epidemic Statistics in Medicine, Wiley Online Library, 1998, 17, 143-154
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control / WHO Regional Office for Europe, Hiv / aids surveillance in europe 2008, Tech. report, Stockholm: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control
- 15. Portaria n. 258/2005 de 16 de Março. Diário da Repúbic
la n.53/2005 I Série B. Ministério da Saúde. Lisboa
- Genolini C, Falissard B. KmL: k-means for longitudinal data. Comput Stat 2010; 25: 317-328
- 17. Sterne, J. A. C.; White, I. R.; Carlin, J. B.; Spratt, M.; Royston, P.; Kenward, M. G.; Wood, A. M. and Carpenter, J. R. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls BMJ, BMJ Publishing Group Ltd, 2009, 338
- Rubin, D. B., Multiple imputation for nonresponse in surveys, John Wiley and Sons, 2004, 81
- Heitjan, D. F. Annotation: what can be done about missing data? approaches to imputation. American Journal of Public Health, American Public Health Association, 1997, 87, 548-550

Part IX Semantics for Humanities Resources

OntoMP, an Ontology to build The Museum of the Person

Ricardo G. Martini¹, Cristiana Araújo¹, José João Almeida¹, and Pedro Rangel Henriques¹

Algoritmi Research Centre, Department of Informatics University of Minho - Gualtar - 4710-057, Braga, Portugal rgm@algoritmi.uminho.pt,decristianaaraujo@hotmail.com,{jj,prh}@di.uminho.pt

Abstract. This paper is concerned with the creation of a specific ontology for the knowledge repository of the Museum of the Person (Museu da Pessoa). The Museum of the Person assets are composed of several interviews (collected previously for a large cultural project) involving common people, to perpetuate their life stories.

The museum holds an heterogeneous collection of XML documents. In such format, the collection items are many times not recognizable and understandable by the visitors who wish to explore it. Therefore, we intend to use an ontology that allows a conceptual navigation over the available information, enabling the visitors to extract knowledge during the visit to these life stories.

So, this paper aims at presenting the ontology we have developed using CIDOC Conceptual Reference Model (CIDOC-CRM)[1] to enable visitors to lookup individual life stories, read them, and also intercross information among a cluster of life stories to build up the story of a company/institution or to study social behaviors and customs.

Keywords: Ontologies, Virtual Museums, Museum of the Person, CIDOC-CRM

Introduction 1

Virtual Museums are increasingly in vogue, because society is more and more concerned with preserving the cultural heritage and making it accessible to anyone with an interest in studying it.

According to Werner Schweibenz, a Virtual Museum (VM) is "a logically related collection of digital objects composed in a variety of media which, ... lends itself to transcending traditional methods of communicating and interacting with visitors...; it has no real place or space ..." [2].

A Virtual Museum, analogously to a traditional museum, also acquires, conserves, and exhibits the heritage of humanity¹ creating a delightful environment

¹ In such cases, intangible objects, or immaterial things, according to: http://www. unesco.org/culture/ich/index.php?lg=en&pg=00022#art2. Accessed: 17-12-2015

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_67
for pleasure or enjoyment, as well as an appropriate place for learning, and research. This type of museum allows people to interrelate information among different stories, to study social phenomena, natural disasters, migrations, season's customs, among others.

The project discussed here is concerned with the creation of a VM that exhibits life stories of common citizens. More exactly, we are rebuilding the Portuguese version of the global Museum of the Person (depicted from here by MP) that connects individuals and groups through sharing their life stories². MP is located in Brazil, Portugal, USA, and Canada.

The museum's holdings are a set of XML documents and our aim is to build a virtual museum using $CaVa^3$, a Learning Spaces (LS) generator that receives a specification about the LS (using the known vocabulary of the museum curators) as input and generates the final virtual museum web application. This vocabulary has the terms of the literature and the terms of the Cultural Heritage, based on the used ontology. So, a conceptual navigation is available to the visitor of the virtual exhibition rooms [3]. To generate the LS [4] with CaVa, the documents repository must be specified using an ontology [5, 6].

In this paper we will discuss the process of reverse engineering the MP structure in order to obtain a museum standard format view. This process can be split into the two steps described below, as depicted in Figure 1:

- 1. Reverse engineering of MP (from MP to MP ontology);
- Mapping the museum standard format view (from MP ontology to CIDOC-CRM [7]).



Fig. 1. Reverse Engineering and mapping of MP

Following the diagram of Figure 1, the paper is structured as follows. In Section 2 the Museum of the Person and its documents are described. Based on that description, on the *thesaurus*, and on the DTD's inherited, a first draft of

² http://www.museumoftheperson.org/about/ Accessed: 17-12-2015

³ CaVa stands for the Portuguese term Construção de Ambientes Virtuais de Aprendizagem. In english: Learning Virtual Environments Generator

an ontology for the Museum of the Person is presented in Section 3. Then, in Section 4 that ontology is specified according to CIDOC-CRM standard. Finally, in Section 5, a synthesis of the study is presented and some suggestions for future work are discussed.

2 The Museum of the Person documents

MP was born in Brazil, São Paulo, in 1991, created by a group of historians who decided to build the country's history using testimonials of ordinary people [8–10]. This is still an alive project accessible at http://www.museudapessoa.net. MP aims at gathering testimonials from human being, famous or anonymous, to perpetuate his history [11,9].

From the life stories of individuals, the objective is to write up the stories of families, communities, or institutions [9]. This museum deals with common people, human beings, not with physical objects usually composing the traditional museum assets. Its "art collection" is made up of intangible or immaterial things. In this case, the alive objects are used as informers, reporting the events and emotions they experienced [11]. Actually, the narrators, to report their life stories during a predefined structured interview⁴, remember events and particular situations they have participated in. These memories will act as a basic element for social research, because the set of life stories allows to reconstruct a social universe [11].

The workflow adopted by Museum of the Person technicians to acquire common people life stories is expressed below:

- a. The report of a participant is recorded (audio or video) by an interviewer. Although every interview is a unique thing, interviewers guide to some predefined topics in order to cover the entire life story;
- b. Interviews are transcribed;
- c. Transcriptions are annotated in XML, marking events, self contained stories, etc.;
- d. XML interviews may be used to produce several outputs.

Life stories are evidences in support of facts or statements attested by common people carrying a social and historical character, which must be preserved and processed to become an immeasurable human heritage [11].

The MP's collection consists of XML documents connected to each participant. Typically each interview is split into three parts [8]:

- mini-biography and personal data, such as name, date and place of birth, and job. This information is placed in a separate document, called BI;
- two versions of the interview: the text of the original interview, and the edited document;

The interview file refers to the raw interview; it contains all the questions asked and the narrator's answers.

⁴ Recorded in a tape or a film.

The edited file (an example can be seen in Listing 1.1) is a plain text, structured by themes that define small portions of a person's life story. In this format, a life history may give rise to thematic stories (eg, dating, childhood, craft, among others).

Both interview and edited files contain metadata, tagging to define important testimony zones. Examples of this marks are given like institution names, jobs, places, etc.;

- photographs and their subtitles. The subtitle document contains a section for each photo or scanned document as file name and a caption. This caption includes a description of the image and the date, and wherever possible the name of the stakeholder.

Beside the interviews, there is also a *thesaurus* that includes key concepts mentioned in the stories. These concepts are linked by hierarchical relationships, namely: Broader term (BT) / Narrower term (NT) (superclass and subclass, respectively); Has (HAS) / Part-of (POF); Use instead (USE) / Used for (UF); Instance (INST) / Instance of (IOF); and Related term (RT).

As mentioned, the edited interview is in XML format, according to a Document Type Definition (DTD) defined specially for this purpose. It is composed of: identification of the deponent, episode, ancestry, descent, childhood, house, education, tradition, religion, quotidian, migration, place, dating, marriage, office, life's philosophy, event, photograph, among others. Listing 1.1 displays a small excerpt from the MP DTD.

```
1 <?xml version="1.0"?>
2
3 <!ENTITY %histVidaElem "p | identificacao | episodio |
educacao | ascendencia | descendencia | infancia | evento
| ... ">
4
5 <!ELEMENT mp ((%histVidaElem;)+)>
```

Listing 1.1. Excerpt of the *Edited Interview* DTD

The root element (mp) of our Museum of the Person is a life story composed of life story elements. Each life history contains alternative elements, such as a paragraph (p), an identification (identificacao), an episode (episodio), an ancestry reference (ascendencia), an event (evento), etc. The event element (evento) is defined as follows (Listing 1.2):

```
1 <! ELEMENT evento (%texto;)>
2 <! ATTLIST evento
    ano CDATA #REQUIRED
3
    mes CDATA #IMPLIED
4
    dia CDATA #IMPLIED
5
    local CDATA #IMPLIED
6
    eixo CDATA #IMPLIED
7
    titulo CDATA #IMPLIED
8
    descricao CDATA #IMPLIED
9
    relevancia (Alta | Media | Baixa) "Media"
10
11 >
```

Listing 1.2. DTD excerpt to describe an Event (Evento)

An element (evento) is defined as (%texto), an XML Entity previously introduced also has a set of alternative elements: a paragraph (p), an episode, a theme, among others. As attributes of the element (evento) we have: year (ano), month (mes), day (dia), place (local), type (eixo), title (titulo), description (descricao), and relevance (relevancia), all of type CDATA (simple text).

Section 3 outlines how we have described MP's life stories as an ontology, aiming at creating a more abstract and formal level of description.

3 OntoMP, an ontology for Museum of the Person

From the DTD and *thesaurus* introduced and briefly explained in the previous section, it was possible to build OntoMP, an ontology for MP.

The first step was an exhaustive extraction of the concepts present in the life stories. After a long analysis phase we came up with the following list: people (pessoa), ancestry (ascendência), offspring(descendência), house (casa), job (profissão), education (educação), episode (episódio), dating (namoro), accident (acidente), migration (migração), festivity (festividade), political event (evento político), catastrophic event (evento catastrófico), marriage (casamento), birth (nascimento), dream (sonho), childhood (infância), uses (costumes), quotidian (quotidiano), leisure (lazer), religion (religião), life's philosophy (filosofia de vida).

In this phase relations were also identified: performs (exerce), depicted (éRetratada), visits (visita), lives (vive), receives (recebe), tells (narra), has (tem), enrolls (participa), has-type (tipo), occurs (ocorre), refers to (dizRespeito).

After the extraction phase we built an ontology for the MP using the concepts and relations above. Then we realized that we could still add some more concepts to make a more complete ontology. We add: marital status (estadoCívil), sex (sexo), literacy (habilitações literárias), political party (partido político), first communion (primeira comunhão), death (morte), baptism (batismo), and photos (fotos).

As illustrated in Figure 2, OntoMP has the ability to breakdown the raw story into logically related elements. In this way, the museum visitor can have a conceptual navigation over the collection.

4 CIDOC-CRM

CIDOC-CRM is a formal ontology planned to aid in the integration, mediation, and interchange of heterogeneous cultural heritage information [1].



Fig. 2. An instance of OntoMP for Maria Cacheira life story (fragment)

More precisely, it specifies the semantics of museums documentation and document structures in cultural heritage in terms of a formal ontology. Summing up, CIDOC-CRM can be described as the curated knowledge of museums [1].

However, it is so broad and defined at a high abstract level that it can be adapted to any kind of museum. So this work uses CIDOC-CRM as a conceptual reference model to characterize Museum of the Person holdings, aiming to describe all dataset based on a standard ontology.

The core of CIDOC-CRM is based on seven concepts (*Temporal Entities*, *Events*, *Actors*, *Time-Spans*, *Conceptual Objects*, *Physical Things*, and *Places*). CIDOC-CRM is an event-based ontology, so its main concept is related with *Temporal Entities*. As an event-based ontology, it should contain *Time-Spans* and *Places* related with it. Besides, *Actors* and *Conceptual Objects* or/and *Physical Things* also should be related with an event.

CIDOC-CRM ontology can be synthesized⁵ as Actors participate in Temporal Entities/Events, which affect or refer to Conceptual Objects/Physical Things within Time-Spans at Places. All of these concepts can be related to Appellations and Types. Appellations denote a specific instance of some class, serving to identify it. Types are used to denote terms of controlled vocabularies that characterize and classify instances of the CIDOC-CRM ontology.

CIDOC-CRM ontology has name conventions that must be followed. The concepts and relations names start with the capital letters "E" (Entity) and "P"

⁵ Notice that CIDOC-CRM ontology is not composed only by these concepts. These are the core of the ontology.

(Property), respectively. Names are followed by identification numbers (e.g. E21 Person, E5 Event, P11 participated in, P152 has parents, etc.).

Section 4.1 explains how the Portuguese Museum of the Person collection was described in the standard CIDOC-CRM ontology.

4.1 A CIDOC-CRM version of OntoMP

After the construction of the OntoMP (see previous section), the next stage was to describe it in a standard ontology used for museums, CIDOC-CRM. The ontology was built up having in mind the need to keep it fully compatible with the original, avoiding to add or modify any class. This is demonstrated in Figure 3, which portrays the instantiation of CIDOC-CRM with a concrete life story (just a fragment is shown). For illustrative purposes, this fragment is the same that is depicted in Figure 2.

According to the abstract layer of the CIDOC-CRM ontology in Figure 3: A life story (E31 Document) is about (P129) a person (E21 Person) and contains photos (E38 Image) concerning this person.

Looking at the concrete layer of that ontology, we read that: Maria Cacheira (E21 Person), participated in the (E5 Event) of her (E67 Birth). This event occurred at (E52 Time Span)—that is identified by (P78) 1946-10-08, an (E50 Date)—and at a (E53 Place)—that is identified by (P87) Afurada, an (E44 Place Appellation).

In this fragment of *Maria Cacheira*'s life story there are other concepts that were identified in Section 3. All these concepts, in CIDOC-CRM version, are described as (E55) Type because they characterize a (E21) Person and its instances. To exemplify that approach, consider the following case: *Maria Cacheira* (E21 Person) has type (P2) Peixeira e Empregada de limpeza (E55 Type Job).

To sum up, notice that Figure 3 shows a description of a specific life story (partial view) mapping the life story concepts and relations into standard CIDOC-CRM elements. In this way (following this standard representation) it will be possible to query systematically the knowledge repository to explore it.

The full diagrams for OntoMP (abstract ontology and instances) and their CIDOC-CRM version are available at www.di.uminho.pt/~gepl/OntoMP.

5 Conclusion

Along this paper we have proposed the development of an ontology to describe the collection of the Portuguese Museum of the Person, in order to enable a conceptual navigation over the museum's assets aiming at extracting knowledge from the different life stories (individually or intercrossed).

The work here reported is a part of a larger project aimed at the automatic generation of exhibition rooms (Learning Spaces) resorting to a framework called CaVa. The present case study was built upon a large repository of life stories collected in the past, in different places under different social research topics, and



Fig. 3. An instance of CIDOC-CRM version of OntoMP for Maria Cacheira life story (fragment)

archived as structured eXtensible Markup Language documents. So, we did not start the ontology design from scratch; on the other way around, we performed a reverse engineering process on the referred legacy repository.

After building the abstract layer of the ontology that we call OntoMP, we instantiate it with various stories. This exercise was useful to tune OntoMP. Then we converted OntoMP to a CIDOC-CRM compatible form ontology with the objective of adopt a standard format used in the museums area. This way we preserve the interoperability of our repository for further exploration and knowledge extraction.

The next task, to realize the main project, is to build a virtual Learning Spaces (in this case, a Virtual Museum) to tell the world those picturesque and impressive life stories, and to extract knowledge about our society along the last decades connecting and relating the individual testimonials.

As future work, we intend to research how to extend CIDOC-CRM with $FOAF^6$ (*Friend of a Friend*) network to better describe (i.e., to describe in a more natural way) some of the specific concepts intrinsic to the Museum of the Person. This is because FOAF is an ontology precisely oriented to talk about people; in that sense, FOAF has a descriptive vocabulary specific to individuals, their activities and their relations with other persons.

Acknowledgments: This work has been supported by FCT – Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia within the Project Scope: UID/CEC/00319/2013. The work of Ricardo G. Martini is supported by CNPq, grant 201772/2014-0.

⁶ Homepage: http://www.foaf-project.org/

References

- 1. ICOM/CIDOC: Definition of the cidoc conceptual reference model. Technical report, ICOM/CIDOC (May 2015)
- Schweibenz, W.: The development of virtual museums. In: Virtual Museums. Volume 57(3). ICOM (2004)
- 3. Martini, R.: Formal Description and Automatic Generation of Learning Spaces based on Ontologies. Phd pre-thesis, Universidade do Minho (2015)
- 4. Goos, M.: Creating learning spaces. The Annual Clements/Foyster Lecture (2006)
- 5. Gruber, T.R.: Toward principles for the design of ontologies used for knowledge sharing. In: International Journal of Human-Computer Studies, Kluwer Academic Publishers (1993) 907–928
- Studer, R., Benjamins, V.R., Fensel, D.: Knowledge engineering: Principles and methods. Data Knowl. Eng. (1998) 161–197
- 7. Oldman, D., Labs, C.: The CIDOC Conceptual Reference Model (CIDOC-CRM): PRIMER. International Council of Museums (ICOM) **1** (July 2014)
- Simões, A., Almeida, J.J.: Histórias de Vida + Processamento Estrutural = Museu da Pessoa. In: XATA 2003 — XML: Aplicações e Tecnologias Associadas, Braga, Portugal, UM (2003) 16
- 9. Stafford, P.B.: Museum of person. Technical report (2015)
- Worcman, K.: The museum of the person. In: Virtual Museums. Volume 57(3). ICOM (2004)
- Almeida, J.J., Rocha, J.G., Henriques, P.R., Moreira, S., Simões, A.: Museu da Pessoa – arquitectura. In: Encontro Nacional da Associação de Bibliotecários, Arquivista e Documentalistas, ABAD'01, BAD (2001)

Part X Emerging Trends and Challenges in Business Process Management

Towards Ontology-based Anti-Patterns for the Verification of Business Process Behavior

Jorge Roa¹, Emiliano Revnares¹, María Laura Caliusco¹, Pablo Villarreal¹

¹ CIDISI Research Center, UTN Santa Fe, B. Lavaysse 610, S3004EWB Santa Fe, Argentina. {iroa, ereynares, mcaliusc, pvillarr}@frsf.utn.edu.ar

Abstract. A business process model defines how an organization perform its activities. Since the incorrect definition of business processes behavior may increase costs and development time, it is required the verification of process behavior. Verification methods based on anti-patterns are a promising approach to deal with this issue, but their informal definition may lead to ambiguities and different interpretations of what problem a given anti-pattern represents, and how it should be applied or implemented to detect behavioral errors in process models. The aim of this paper is to assess the feasibility of business process behavior verification by means of the ontological specification of behavioral anti-patterns. The study is based on the detection of anti-patterns in a BPMN process model by exploiting a set of standard ontological reasoning services.

Keywords: business process management, control flow verification, anti-pattern, ontology

Introduction 1

A business process model focuses on showing a process in the activity level, subprocesses, and the control flow between them [1]. The control flow allows defining the behavior of a business process, and refers to how an organization will perform its activities. BPMN [2] is the standard language for modeling business processes.

Since the incorrect definition of the behavior of business processes may increase costs and development time, it is required the verification of process behavior. In business process models there are different combinations of constructs that could lead to problems in their behaviors, such as deadlocks, lacks of synchronizations, livelocks, or dead activities [3].

For existing verification methods [3,4,5,6,7], supporting complex constructs of a process modeling language (such as those for advanced synchronization, cancellation and exception management, multiple instances, etc.) may decrease verification performance. Performance is usually improved when omitting this type of constructs. Verification methods based on anti-patterns are a promising approach to deal with this tradeoff, since they can support different type of constructs and improve response time [4,9].

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

A behavioral anti-pattern of business processes is a predefined and well-known situation of a deficient specification of the control flow of business processes.

Different anti-patterns have been proposed for business processes [4,8,9,10,11]. Although anti-patterns may improve the performance of verification methods, existing approaches may lead to erroneous conclusions about the behavior of a process, such as indicating an error even though the process behavior is correct [11] (also known as false positive cases). A worst situation could occur if a process has an error and the error is not detected by the verification method (also known as false negative cases). Besides this, anti-patterns are usually informally defined by examples with textual or graphical descriptions [4,8,9,10] or with informal languages [11]. This may lead to ambiguities and different interpretations of what problem a given anti-pattern represents, and how it should be applied or implemented to detect behavioral errors in process models.

To cope with these issues, we propose the use of ontologies to formally represent anti-patterns avoiding ambiguities. Ontologies have been traditionally used to check properties of the data perspective of business processes [12,13], rather than the control flow (or behavioral) perspective. But ontologies can also be used to check properties in the control flow perspective of business processes by means of anti-patterns.

The aim of this paper is to assess the feasibility of business process behavior verification by means of the ontological specification of behavioral anti-patterns. Such feasibility study is based on the detection of anti-patterns in a BPMN process model by exploiting a set of standard ontological reasoning services, and a set of requirements that should be met when verifying business process behavior by means of anti-patterns. This work is structured as follows. Section 2 introduces the concepts of ontologies. Section 3 presents the business process verification with ontology-based anti-patterns. Finally, Section 4 establishes a discussion and presents future work.

2 Ontologies

Ontology is envisioned as a structure defining concepts used to represent knowledge and their relationships. An ontology model is composed of concepts, relations, a concept hierarchy or taxonomy, a function that relates the concepts non-taxonomically, and a set of ontology axioms expressed in a logical language. Breitman and Leite [15] present a formal definition of ontology.

OWL 2 language (OWL 2) is the latest version of an ontology language with formally defined meaning [16]. An OWL 2 ontology is a formal description of a domain of interest interpreted under a standardized semantics that allows useful inferences to be drawn. The Semantic Web Rule Language (SWRL) is a proposal aimed at extending the set of OWL 2 axioms to include Horn-like rules, enabling their combination with an OWL 2 knowledge base [17]. It defines an OWL model theoretic semantics to provide a formal meaning for OWL ontologies including such rules. The rules are of the form of an implication between an antecedent and a consequent. The intended meaning can be read as: whenever the conditions specified in the body hold, then the conditions specified in the head must also hold. Both the body and the head consist of zero or more atoms. Multiple atoms are treated as a conjunction. Atoms in these rules can be of the form 'C(x)', 'P(x,y)', 'sameAs(x,y)' or 'differentFrom(x,y)', where 'C' is an OWL 2 description, 'P' is an OWL 2 property, and 'x' and 'y' are either variables, OWL 2 individuals, or OWL 2 data values. The sameAs(x,y)' atom holds if 'x' is interpreted as the same object as 'y', while the 'differentFrom(x,y)' atom holds if 'x' and 'y' are interpreted as different objects. Additionally, SWRL provides a set of built-ins that allows to extend the language by means of predefined functions. Built-ins for comparisons, mathematical operations, string operations, and date, time and intervals manipulations can be cited among the most used ones.

3 Ontology-based verification of business process anti-patterns

The verification of business process behavior with anti-patterns must meet the following requirements:

- 1. *Formal specification*: anti-patterns must be clearly stated and must not contain ambiguities that could lead to different interpretations of the problem an anti-pattern represents.
- 2. *Performance*: response time for detecting anti-patterns in a process model must be performed in real-time with no delays.
- 3. *Response*: the verification of business process behavior must return the exact combination of elements leading behavioral errors, and a set of alternative solutions to fix them.
- 4. *Precision*: false negative cases must be avoided, whereas false positive cases should be minimized.

Figure 1 shows a BPMN process model with deadlocks and lack of synchronization. In order to describe errors, we employ the concept of token. A token traverses the sequence flows and pass through the elements in the process model. Dijkman, Dumas and Ouyang [5] present a detailed description of the behavioral semantics of BPMN constructs and how tokens are used to describe the behavior of process models. In the process of Figure 1, gateway *parallel1* diverges the control flow throw sequence flows *sf3*, *sf4*, and *sf5*, from which the process may reach five behavioral errors:

- 1. Gateway *parallel5* has a deadlock: the behavioral semantics of the parallel gateway establishes that it will be activated if there is at least one token on each incoming sequence flow. From *sf3*, it is possible to reach the exclusive gateway *xor1*. If sequence flow *sf10*, instead of *sf9*, receives a token, then end event *end1* will be reached. This means that sequence flow *sf22* will not receive a token, and hence, *parallel5* will not be activated, causing a deadlock.
- 2. Gateway *parallel5* has a deadlock: from *sf4*, it is possible to reach *subprocess1*. If the intermediate catch event *intermediate1* of this subprocess is activated, end event *end2* will be reached. This means that sequence flow *sf29* will not receive a token, and hence, *parallel5* will not be activated, causing a deadlock.

3. Activity *a11* may be a dead activity: gateway *parallel4* of subprocess *subprocess1* allows the parallel execution of activity *a11* and end event *terminate1*. This implies that activity *a11* may be dead, since *terminate1* will impede or abort its execution.



Fig. 1. BPMN model with behavioral errors.

Towards Ontology-based Anti-Patterns ...

- 4. Gateway *xor4* has a lack of synchronization: the behavioral semantics of the exclusive gateway establishes that each token arriving at any incoming sequence flow activates the gateway. From *sf5*, it is possible to reach gateway *parallel2*, which allows the parallel execution of activities a8, and a9. These activities converge with the exclusive gateway *xor4*. Since both activities are parallel, exclusive gateway *xor4* will be activated twice, generating multiple instances in the output of sequence flow *sf28*, which is usually an undesired situation that may cause collateral effects
- 5. Gateway *parallel3* has a deadlock: since exclusive gateway *xor4* produces two tokens in sequence flow *sf28*, once *parallel3* is activated a token will remain in sequence flow *sf28*, causing a deadlock in *parallel3*.

To support the verification of business process models, we propose that anti-patterns must be formalized with a formal ontological specification of a business process modeling language. The structure of a given process model must be represented as an instantiation of the ontological specification, enabling the specification and subsequent detection of specific constraints, i.e. the behavioral anti-patterns. An ontological formalization of the BPMN specification is presented in [14], where elements, attributes, and properties of BPMN are formalized by means of the OWL2 language. We extended this ontology for BPMN with a set of SWRL rules representing four behavioral anti-patterns. Following, an informal description of each anti-pattern is presented together with its corresponding formalization and implementation by means of SWRL expressions¹.

Anti-Pattern 1 (AP-1). It is met whenever the flow diverges and converges by means of parallel gateways ('r', 'x') and one of the parallel paths has an exclusive gateway ('y') from which is possible to reach an end event ('t').

SWRL implementation of AP-1

```
endEvent(?t),exclusiveGateway(?y),parallelGateway(?r),
parallelGateway(?x),isDirectlyReachableBy(?t, ?y),
isReachableBy(?x, ?y),isReachableBy(?y, ?r)
-> generateAP-1(?t, true)
```

Anti-Pattern 2 (AP-2). It is met whenever the flow diverges and converges by means of parallel gateways ('t', 'x') and some of the paths has an intermediate catch event of type time ('z') from which is possible to reach an end event ('y').

SWRL implementation of AP-2

```
endEvent(?y),intermediateCatchEvent(?z),
parallelGateway(?t),parallelGateway(?x),subProcess(?r),
isDirectlyReachableBy(?y, ?z),isReachableBy(?r, ?t),
```

¹ A full ontology modeling the presented anti-patterns and the exemplified BPMN process model can be found in https://goo.gl/oLPIZD.

```
isReachableBy(?x, ?r),has_flowElement(?r, ?y),
has_flowElement(?r, ?z) -> generateAP-2(?y, true)
```

Anti-Pattern 3 (AP-3). It is met whenever the flow diverges by means of a parallel gateway ('x'), and from such gateway, it is possible to reach an end event of type terminate ('y'), and the gateway has another parallel path from which it is possible to reach at least one activity ('z').

SWRL implementation of AP-3

```
activity(?z),endTerminateEvent(?y),parallelGateway(?x),
sequenceFlow(?r),sequenceFlow(?t),has_sourceRef(?r, ?x),
has_sourceRef(?t, ?x),has_targetRef(?r, ?z),
has_targetRef(?t, ?y) -> generateAP-3(?y, true)
```

Anti-Pattern 4 (AP-4). It is met whenever the flow diverges by means of a parallel gateway ('x') and two or more of the diverging paths converge by means of an exclusive gateway ('y').

SWRL implementation of AP-4

```
exclusiveGateway(?y),parallelGateway(?x),
isReachableBy(?y, ?x) -> generateAP-4(?y, true)
```

Anti-pattern implementation was performed by means of Protégé - a free and open source ontology editor - and the Pellet inference engine, which provides sound-andcomplete reasoning services². Figure 2 depicts the chain of logical entailments involved on the automated detection of the AP-3 over the process illustrated in Figure 1. Due to space limitations, just the detection of AP-3 is presented. Anti-patterns AP-1, AP-2, AP-3, and AP-4 can be detected by using the ontology accompanying this article.

4 Discussion and Future Work

Existing anti-patterns for business processes [4,8,9,10] are informally described, which may lead to ambiguities. In practice, this implies that algorithms that implement anti-patterns may lead to erroneous conclusions about process model behavior. Furthermore, if a process model has an error it will not be possible to know beforehand whether the problem is in the algorithm, because of a faulty implementation, or in the rule because of a deficient design. This is a key issue, since some anti-patterns could be tricky.

By using semantic technologies, business process anti-patterns can be formalized with SWRL rules. The main advantage of using SWRL rules is that: (1) they formally

² Support, downloads and documentation about the integration of Protégé editor and Pellet inference engine can be found in http://protege.stanford.edu

describe anti-patterns, and hence, avoid ambiguities, and (2) they can be directly executed by standardized ontology reasoners. In practice, this implies that there is no need to implement a proprietary algorithm for anti-patterns in a given programming language. This is important, since the reasoner will never fail, whereas a proprietary algorithm may fail. If a process model has an error, and the reasoner does not detect such error, then it will be clear that the SWRL must be fixed. Although it is well-known that SWRL may have performance issues, ontologies can be stored on a graph-based database improving the performance of reasoners.



Fig. 2. Automated detection of the AP-3 over the process example.

Response returned by the reasoner provides information about the elements causing a given behavioral error, but it also shows how it came up to such conclusion. Figure 2 shows the inferences of the reasoner on the detection of the anti-pattern 3. Besides assessing the types of the involved elements, the row 7 of the response presents the rule that activated the detection of the anti-pattern.

The information provided by the reasoner is valuable to help designers fixing errors in the model. For instance, see error 5 in the example of Figure 1. The deadlock in *parallel3* is not rooted on *parallel3*, but on *xor4*. However, *xor4* is the cause of error 4. This means that error 5 is a direct consequence of error 4, and hence, fixing error 4 will fix error 5. The response given by the reasoner is key to cope with these type of issues. Such response will be considered in future works with the aim to provide a set of alternative solutions to fix them.

Finally, with respect to false positive and false negative cases, we expect that the formalization of anti-patterns with ontologies makes checking the correctness of anti-patterns easier, which could minimize false positives and false negatives cases. To confirm this, as future work, we propose an empirical evaluation considering different experiments with a repository of process models. Such study must be contrasted with results from existing verification methods [6,7]. In particular, false negative cases could be increased if the number of specified anti-patterns is insufficient to cover all possible errors that can occur in a process model. To cope with this issue, future work is also concerned with proposing a systematic approach to discover and specify behavioral anti-patterns of BPMN.

Acknowledgements. The authors are grateful to Universidad Tecnológica Nacional (UTN), Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), and Agencia Nacional de Promoción Científica y Tecnológica (ANPCyT) for their financial support.

References

- 1. Weske, M.: Business process management: concepts, languages, architectures. Springer Science & Business Media (2012)
- Object Management Group (OMG), Business Process Model and Notation (BPMN) Version 2.0, http://www.omg.org/spec/BPMN/2.0/
- van der Aalst, W.: The application of Petri nets to workflow management. Journal of Circuits, Systems, and Computers 8(1), 21--66 (1998)
- 4. Koehler, J., Vanhatalo, J.: Process anti-patterns: How to avoid the common traps of business process modeling. IBM WebSphere Developer Technical Journal 10(2), 4 (2007)
- Dijkman, R., Dumas, M., and Ouyang, C.: Semantics and analysis of business process models in BPMN. Information and Software Technology 50(12), 1281--1294 (2008)
- Fahland, D., Favre, C., Jobstmann, B., Koehler, J., Lohmann, N., Völzer, H., Wolf, K.: Instantaneous Soundness Checking of Industrial Business Process Models. In Dayal, U., Eder, J., Koehler, J., Reijers, H. (eds.) BPM, vol. 5701, pp 278--293 (2009)

- Roa, J., Chiotti, O., Villarreal, P.: Behavior Alignment and Control Flow Verification of Process and Service Choreographies. Journal of Universal Computer Science 18(17), 2383--2406 (2012)
- van Dongen, B., Mendling, J., van der Aalst, W.: Structural patterns for soundness of business process models. In: 10th IEEE International Enterprise Distributed Object Computing Conference (EDOC06), pp. 116--128. IEEE, Hong Kong (2006)
- Kühne, S., Kern, H., Gruhn, V., Laue, R.: Business process modeling with continuous validation. Journal of Software Maintenance and Evolution: Research and Practice 22 (6-7) 547--566 (2010)
- Han, Z., Gong, P., Zhang, L., Ling, J., Huang, W.: Definition and detection of control-flow anti-patterns in process models. In: IEEE 37th Annual Computer Software and Applications Conference Workshops (COMPSACW), pp. 433--438. IEEE, Kyoto (2013)
- 11. Laue, R., Awad, A.: Visualization of business process modeling anti patterns. Electronic Communications of the EASST 25 (2010)
- Hepp, M., Leymann, F., Domingue, J., Wahler, A., & Fensel, D.: Semantic business process management: A vision towards using semantic web services for business process management. In: IEEE International Conference on e-Business Engineering, pp. 535--540. IEEE, Beijing (2005)
- Becker, J., Pfeiffer, D., Räckers, M., Falk, T., & Czerwonka, M.: Semantic business process modelling and analysis. In: vom Brocke, J. and Rosemann, M. (eds.) Handbook on Business Process Management vol. 1, pp. 187--217. Springer Berlin Heidelberg (2015)
- Rospocher, M., Ghidini, C, Serafini, L.: An ontology for the Business Process Modelling Notation. Formal Ontology in Information Systems: Proceedings of the Eighth International Conference (FOIS2014), vol. 267, pp. 133-146. IOS Press, Rio de Janeiro (2014)
- Breitman, K., Leite, J.: Lexicon based ontology construction. In C. Lucena, A. Garcia, A. Romanovsky, J. Castro, P. S. C. Alencar (eds.) Software engineering for multi-agent systems II. LNCS, vol. 2940, pp. 41--45. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg (2004)
- World Wide Web Consortium (W3C), OWL 2 web ontology language. Document overview, http://www.w3.org/TR/owl2-overview/
- 17. World Wide Web Consortium (W3C), SWRL: A semantic web rule language combining OWL and RuleML, http://www.w3.org/Submission/SWRL/

Part XI Computer Supported Qualitative Analysis

Building a Relationship with the Supervisor: An Exploratory Study

Catarina Brandão¹, Cláudia Henrique¹, José Miguez¹

¹ Faculdade de Psicologia e de Ciências da Educação, Universidade do Porto Rua Alfredo Allen 4200-135 Porto, Portugal {catarina, miguez}@fpce.up.pt; claudiah_c@hotmail.com

Abstract. There is little knowledge regarding how the relationship between supervisors and subordinates is built. This study focuses on that process, according to the subordinates' perspective – cognitions, behaviours and emotions. We conducted a qualitative study, gathering data from 12 subordinates using the Critical Incident Technique. Results show there are four types of supervisors' behaviours that influence the process of building a relationship with the subordinate, including caregiving and fight (the two most stressed). The supervisors' caregiving behaviour is associated with the subordinates' positive emotion and careseeking behaviour. On the other hand, supervisor's fight behaviours are associated with negative emotions and the activation of the subordinate's self defence system. Consistently, we see that the first event that impacted the relationship were events where the supervisor had a caregiving or fight behaviour. It's important that supervisors understand the impact of their dominant behaviours particularly at the early stages of the relationship.

Keywords: Supervisors-Subordinates; Caregiving; Fight; Critical Incident Technique.

1 Introduction

This paper uses attachment theory to understand behaviour at work and focuses on the process of building a relationship with the work supervisor, considering the subordinate's perspective, behaviours and emotions. Literature has noted that a person's success or failure in a new organization (or work position) is largely dependent on the new member's social interactions since his first day at work, which can be a very stressful moment [1]. Several authors have identified the phases of a worker's integration process, distinguishing basically three sequential moments: setting in, breaking in, and settling in [2]. In a first moment the person accesses information regarding the organization but he isn't yet an effective member of the system. The second phase starts when he is admitted and becomes an organizational member; it goes from the first day at the organization until the end of the experimental period of work. The last phase happens when the member's self-concept has suffered changes, he has new relationships, values and behaviours [3]. When in the organization the new member will develop several work relationships, which are

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_69

fundamental to the success of his work role and well-being. Literature has stressed specifically the importance of the bond between supervisors and subordinates (e.g. [4] [5] [6] [7]). However, there is little information regarding the process of building a relationship with one's supervisor and which events influence this process [4].

Building on the literature that considers workplace events fundamental to understand attitudes and behaviours at work [8] our purpose in this paper is to explore the relational dynamics between subordinates and supervisors, identifying the work events that influence and shape this relationship. This knowledge may help to design organizational integration and development processes, creating more favourable conditions for a positive relationship between supervisors and subordinates.

The rest of the paper proceeds as follows. We begin reviewing the literature on relationships at work and on what attachment theory informs us regarding the supervisors-subordinates relationship. Next we explain the method used to explore the dynamics of this relationship, more precisely, the events that impact and shape it. The findings are then presented and the paper concludes with a discussion on the implications our findings may have for the research on the subject.

1.1 The Relationship Between supervisors and subordinates

People develop relationships with those with whom they work, establishing various work bonds that differ regarding the level of strength and direction [9]. These relationships are influenced by various factors [10] and result in functional or dysfunctional relationships. According to the Leader Member Exchange Theory, supervisors act differently with subordinates (e.g. [11] [12] [13]), according to their own availability, energy, time and resources [11]. Consequently, supervisors will develop high quality relationship with some members, demonstrating greater support and availability towards them. These subordinates form the endogroup and receive and exert a greater influence than those members who develop a low quality relationship with the supervisor, forming the exogroup [14]. Relationships with these members are more distanced and restricted to the organizational formal roles.

Subordinates in a high quality relationship display more physical and mental effort and reciprocation behaviours that benefit the leader and the organization [15] [13]. They tend to be autonomous, creative [16] [17], engaged, satisfied, loyal, and motivated and better performers [18] [19] [20]. Given their higher interaction with the supervisor, they receive more support, confidence and encouragement and they have a greater access to formal and informal rewards [11]. On the other hand, subordinates in a low quality relationship acknowledge they receive a differential treatment, and feel excluded. This has a negative impact in the relationship, on performance, satisfaction and motivation [18] [13]. When we consider these relationships in a developmental perspective, we can say that high quality relationships to a more initial phase. In this context developmental phase does not mean "time", but the quality of the process occurring between supervisors and subordinates. Despite considering it valid and very interesting, it seems to us that this approach isn't sufficiently dynamic, not fully addressing the developmental nature of individuals and groups in organizational systems (which may be more or less mature) nor the leaders' and subordinates' idiosyncratic characteristics, such as attachment experiences.

1.2 Contributions of attachment theory to understanding the supervisorsubordinate relationship

Attachment theory is one of today's main theories regarding the social and emotional developing process of human beings [21]. It states that we develop attachment bonds with others, and that the need of security is fundamental in order for us to experience well-being throughout life. As adults we can develop attachment bonds with those with whom we interact the most, namely our friends, romantic partner and supervisor. The quality of these bonds can give us a subjective sensation of physical and/or psychological security [22] [23] or exactly the opposite.

Being a supervisor refers, first and foremost, to a process between two selves that influence each other and learn with one another [24]. The interaction between both creates a bond that several authors (e.g. [4] [25] [26]) consider that should be approached using Bowlby's attachment theory [27] [28] [29]. This perspective states that the leader, like the parental figure, plays a guiding, mentor and caregiver role, holding a higher position towards subordinates. Good supervisors, such as good parents, are responsive, supportive and seek to promote the subordinate's autonomy. They promote the necessary conditions for the subordinate's personal development, the acquisition of knowledge and his active participation; they set limits and rules; they are flexible and do not judge [30]. In our experience doing intervention with subordinates¹ we have noticed that it is not often that the supervisor acts as a fear free caregiver that supports the subordinate's reducing his fear system's activation. It is mainly the opposite; he acts as one of the main activators of the fear system. When those from whom we expect support and caregiving are the ones that activate our fear system, the result is extremely negative, reducing our self-esteem and creativity.

The experience of wellbeing and the capacity to explore is related with our sense of self. When our self-esteem is working we can ask for help and support and we have the energy and vitality to pursue our goals and the goals of the organization. There is a relationship/interaction between the feeling of self-esteem and the "self defence system" – how well we are able to protect the self from treats from the organizational experience, and how quickly we can recover from these. Our self defence system responds through our fear system and careseeking system. The fear system is helpful to survive, but it uses only our resources and we don't access resources of potential caregivers, for instance the leader or colleagues. When the fear system is aroused we can Fight (criticism, dominant ways of relating to others), Flight (withdrawal or submissive ways of relating to others) or Freeze (loss of our ability to think clearly).

When a worker acknowledges the supervisor competence and looks at him for help (careseeking) regarding a work issue (e.g. solving a problem or supporting a decision) a symbolic relationship develops between them, forming (ideally) an attachment bond between the subordinate (that seeks help) and a responsive supervisor as a fear free

¹ In the context of MBA courses.

caregiver. The supervisor will act as a caregiver and the subordinate as a careseeker [4] [25] [26] [30].

According to Game [4] not only do we have a global relational model, but we also develop specific relational models, which (according to its designation) are specific to a parent, a romantic partner and, more relevant to this paper, the work supervisor. But we still don't know how long it takes to develop this type of relational model. And, in general, there is little knowledge regarding the construction of a relationship with the supervisor. Gabarro (1987, cit in [4]) found that broader working relationships develop according to one's trustworthiness and how open one can be in the relationship during the early weeks of acquaintance, and are then tested and confirmed over several months. Building on these ideas, we consider fundamental to explore how the relationship between supervisors and subordinates is built. Hence, we developed an exploratory and descriptive research study with this aim.

2 Method

Data was gathered from 12 participants, all working students, nine female. Participants' had a mean age of 37.25 years old (DP=12.37), an organizational tenure of M=10.52 years, and were in a relation with the current supervisor M=5.03 years (between one and 19 years).

Given our research questions (see Table 1) our gathering data instrument was the Critical Incident Technique [31] applied in the context of interviews.

	Research Question	Goal				
1 st	Which events impact the building of a relationship between supervisor and	Identify the events the subordinate considers that built the relationship with his supervisor.				
2 nd	subordinate? How does the subordinate experiences	Explore the subordinate's behavioral,				
3 rd	What impact does the event have in the relationship building process?	Identify the event's impact on the building of the relationship				

 Table 1. The Study's Research Questions

After testing the instrument, participants were presented an arrow drawn on a paper, which visually represented a time line. The beginning of the arrow, at the right, represented the present and it moved to the left, that represented the past (following [32]). We asked participants to think on their relation with the current supervisor and describe critical incidents (ci) that had influenced the building of their relationship, positioning those events in the time line. Regarding each ci the participants had to describe the context of the event (what was happening and who was involved), the supervisor's and the subordinate's behaviour, how the event ended, how the subordinate read the supervisor's behaviour, his emotions in the event and the event's impact on the relation. These items were adopted as quality criteria and only critical incidents that presented this information were considered in the analysis.

Building a Relationship with the Supervisor ...

The interviews' transcriptions were sent to the participants by e-mail, and they were asked to enrich some of the data and validate the transcripts. Four participants gave us feedback. Data was analysed using content analysis [33], with the support of NVivo10 [34], given this software's potential [35]. After a first exploratory analysis of the data we developed a coding scheme with deductive and inductive categories associated to each research question. At this moment we considered in the analysis only the ci that met the quality criteria, resulting in 57 critical incidents, with a mean of 4.75 per participant.

3 Findings and discussion

Some of the events described by subordinates as having had an impact on their relation with the supervisor were events where the supervisor adopted a behaviour towards the subordinate and he reacted (*«she offered me the job (...) I accepted with pleasure»*, ci 44²). Others were events that didn't directly involve the subordinate, but had a behaviour towards the supervisor (*«I told* [the supervisor] *"This is unacceptable (...) if I were you I would report on him"*», ci 40) or towards a co-worker (*«I said (...)"beware*, [the supervisor] *told everybody that you were working."*», ci 15). And we also find events where the subordinate doesn't interact with the supervisor but listens to something regarding him, which had an impact on their relationship (*«I heard that (...) when he ran for supervisor (...) [he] wasn't fair with other colleagues*», ci 17).

3.1 Which events impact the building of a relationship between supervisor and subordinate?

The analysis show that in 59,76% of the events (which influenced the building of the relationship between the supervisor and the subordinate) the supervisors adopted a caregiving behaviour. The second most frequent category was that of fight behaviours. Also of note is the fact that in some of the events the supervisor had a careseeking behaviour and there is also a case where he had a freeze behaviour (see Table 2). Caregiving behaviours were specifically in the form of supporting the subordinate in resolving issues, giving positive feedback, use of humour, defending, and sharing inside information. According to Kahn [9] the supervisor's caregiving behaviours are emotional acts that involve the transference of emotions through sharing information, giving counselling and being available. The fact that subordinates select events where the supervisor did caregiving in the form of positive feedback, instructions and use of humour, demonstrates the importance of these behaviours in the relationship. It also shows the importance for the subordinate to feel he is in a supportive relationship, where there is empathy, communication, collaboration and sharing. This not only shapes the relationship, but will also have an influence in the worker's individual performance [24].

² Refers to the critical incident that integrates the excerpt and the number of that critical incident in our data base.

Behavior	CI	%	Excerpt
Caregiving	33	57,89	«He said he had read my CV and they were very interested in my work ()
Fight	20	35,09	He asked me if I was available to go to a job interview, that they would love having me working with them» (ci 16) «a situation of making fun "ah I want to talk to the director, but maybe it's
			better if you go, since you are his sweetheart" () It was stupid, because it had nothing to do with me, it was her business, but she () said, like "oh I don't know, maybe the training center will grab your work theme and then, you sure are going to the director, since you are his sweetheart"» (ci 13)
Careseeking	3	5,26	«he began speaking about her [a girlfriend], tears running then he got up () spoke to me quietly, I told him () "let me work, this is urgent". After a while he gets up and goes by the window, we were working on the fourth floor, and he goes to the window and says he will throw himself» (ci 57)
Freeze	1	1,75	«She said "he was nervous ah he [man who insulted the supervisor] is absolutely right"» (ci 40)

 Table 2.
 Supervisor's behaviour in the event

It's important to consider the presence of the fight behaviour in these events, which refers to the supervisor adopting a dominant behaviour, mainly towards the subordinate. This behaviour was in the form of authority abuse, criticizing, and adopting an irregular conduct, for instance. It is also worth noting the excerpt referring to critical incident number 16 (in Table 2), demonstrating that the integration process does in fact begins before becoming an organizational member [2] and that events in this phase involving the [future] subordinate and the [future] supervisor will influence their relationship, being sort of a first building block of the relationship.

3.2. How does the subordinate experience the event?

Results suggest that subordinates tend to have their self defence system activated in the events that, according to them, impacted their relationship with the supervisor, adopting fight, freeze or flight behaviours (see Table 3).

Behaviour	CI	%	Excerpt			
Self defence						
Dominance	15	26,32	«I said I would inform the union if she didn't do that to me			
(fight)			() I even said to her "write whatever you want, I will talk with human resources"» (ci 36)			
Submission	11	19,30	«I gave up, I pretended I did not hear () The more I valued			
(freeze or flight)			it the more she would bother me» (flight, ci 13)			
Careseeking	14	24,56	<i>«I asked the supervisor's help, for him to be at the next opportunity</i> [with the client]» (ci 03)			
Exploration mode	11	19,30	«I had the need to get clarity as to what they wanted» (ci 01)			
Caregiving	6	10,53	«I remained his confidant () I () said "it's not that tragic			
			() you will fall in love again"» (ci 59)			

 Table 3.
 Subordinate's behaviour in the event

Building a Relationship with the Supervisor ...

Fight, freeze or flight behaviours are adopted when the individual's sense of wellbeing is diminished [36] [37] and the subordinate acts in order to survive and recover from the situation, and, possibly, enter an exploratory mode, which will enable him to focus on work, look for information, try different solutions when facing challenges, etc. We stress this result, given the importance of the quality of the relationship between supervisors and subordinates. Careseeking behaviours are also worth noting, considering that subordinates tend to look at supervisors for support and guidance and it's fundamental that these remain available and responsive, so that in moments where subordinates look for help, supervisors are able to give support through caregiving.

When we consider the behaviour that was adopted by the subordinate according to the supervisor's behaviour in the event (Figure 1) it's interesting to note that subordinates adopted careseeking and exploration behaviours when the supervisor did caregiving. When the supervisor advises, when he shows he is available and helps the subordinate to manage stressful situations he acts as a caregiver, and this puts the subordinate in an exploratory mode, focusing attention on goals, challenges and the development of skills [37]. On the other hand, when the supervisor had a fight behaviour the subordinate did the same (fight) or entered a submission mode. Hence, the supervisor's fight behaviour seems to activate the subordinate's self defence system. Specifically regarding the submission mode, literature [38] points that hierarchical inequalities, social norms of emotional expression and sometimes a fear of retaliation may lead the subordinate to restrict his emotional expression in the workplace and avoid confrontation with the supervisor. Finally, we see that the supervisor's careseeking behaviour seems to activate the subordinate's caregiving system.



Figure 1. The subordinate's behaviour according to the supervisor's behaviour.

Research question two also focused on the emotions that the subordinate experienced in the event. Subordinates associated a positive emotion to 60,83% of the events (*«Pride, surprise, satisfaction, happiness»*, ci 19), whilst the rest of the events were associated to negative emotions (*«I was angry, I was angry, I was upset because I thought it did not make any sense we were in that mess»*, ci 11). Abusive and hostile behaviour adopted by a supervisor often results in negative consequences, particularly

in terms of subordinate's dissatisfaction and high levels of stress [38]. Despite subordinates sometimes avoiding confrontation, the frustration associated with abuse and injustice may lead to the direct involvement in conflicts with the supervisor [38] [39]. This may explain the subordinates' fight behaviours on some of the events, instead of being submissive.

3.3 What impact does the event have in the relationship building process?

Our final research question has to do with the impact that the event had on the relationship between the subordinate and the supervisor. We could identify positive and negative consequences, with the positive impact being slightly more frequent (57,89%). It meant a greater confidence and proximity with the supervisor, the subordinate being self-confident and motivated. The negative impact (observed in 42,11% of the events) was in the form of the subordinate's disappointment, conflicts and difficulties in the relationship, emotional detachment and moving to a state of alert regarding the relationship and specifically regarding the supervisor's behaviour.

It's also important to consider the impact of the event on the relationship according to the supervisors' behaviour (see Table 4) in order to better understand how subordinates experience the events in the relationship. When the supervisor supports the subordinates solving problems or constraints (caregiving) the event has a positive impact in the relationship. The supervisor acts as a safe haven, enhancing the subordinate's confidence that he will be there for him in a responsive way [25] [30]. On the other hand, when the supervisor has an abusive or hostile behaviour (fight) the event has a negative consequence. Note that, according to the subordinate, the supervisor's careseeking behaviour also had a negative impact in the relationship.

Behaviour	-	Excerpt	+	Excerpt
Caregiving	1	«sometimes it comes to my mind, and	32	«I felt that he trusts me ()» (ci
		I don't like it of course () disappointment perhaps» (ci 51)		19)
Fight	19	«It is not that I fear her physically,	1	«Indeed it at this point she does
		but sometimes I think, I don't know if		not get much from me. () She
		one day () I try to be hyper-vigilant		does not try to play me ()» (ci
		because I'm afraid» (ci 19)		15)
Careseeking	3	«I was in a trap because I had no	0	
		chance to get out, he was my		
		supervisor» (ci 59)		
Freeze	1	«I got angry () I was angry and I	0	
		told her that, I told her» (ci 40)		
Subtotal	24	(42,11%)	33 ((57,89%)

Table 4.	Event's	impact	according	to the	supervisors'	behaviour

Note: negative impact is represented by "-" and positive impact is represented by "+".

As already mentioned we asked participants to consider the relationship with the supervisor in an evolutionary perspective, describing a first event that influenced the relationship. The analysis shows that participants when prompted to identify that first

event focus on caregiving and fight behaviours (see Figure 2). This is interesting since these behaviours are almost the opposite from each other. Caregiving is associated with the good leader [30]; fight behaviours are associated with the activation of the other's self defence system [37]. According to Figure 1 (above) in the events where the supervisor had a fight behaviour the subordinate's self defence system was activated, with the adoption of fight or entering a submission mode. We can speculate that these were the most influential events to the relationship, since these were the ones that subordinates decided to highlight.



Figure 2. The behaviour adopted by the supervisor at the 1st event described by subordinates

4 Final ideas

It's important that organizations guarantee that in the first interaction with subordinates, supervisors have caregiving behaviours. The fact that these were the behaviours at the event that subordinates decided to describe first stresses their importance to the relationship supervisor-subordinate. Caregiving behaviours activate the subordinate's exploratory mode and have a positive impact on the relationship. On the other hand, it is crucial that careseeking and fight behaviours are absent particularly in this phase of the relationship. Attachment theory shows that these behaviours when adopted by parents, have a negative impact on children (e.g. [27] [28] [29]). We also see this in the relationship between supervisors and subordinates [9], with our study providing further evidence to that effect. Our work stresses the need to raise awareness among supervisors to the impact that their behaviours have on subordinates and the importance of the quality of their relationship to the subordinate's well-being and performance. This awareness could be accomplished through intervention using methods such as the Critical Incident Technique, where supervisors could learn to identify behavioural patterns and the activation of their fear system, understanding how to reduce it and be a more effective caregiver, creating conditions for subordinates to explore [37].

Authors (e.g. [37]) stress the value of understanding that someone may have different attachments styles in different relationships. Our results support this and the idea of the development of a relational model specific to one's supervisor. Future research should adopt qualitative longitudinal designs in order to better understand the relations between the different events on the supervisor-subordinate relationship and how these are experienced by subordinates and supervisors, gathering data from organizational members since their first day at work. Longitudinal designs would make it possible for us to gain a better understanding of the timings in the process of building a relationship with one's supervisor. This is a promising and exciting area, as we realize the importance of considering people's attachment experiences in understanding how we experience work.

References

- Mosquera, P.: Integração e Acolhimento. Gestão de Recursos Humanos. Contextos, Processos e Técnicas (3^a Ed.) In Caetano, A., Vala, J. (Org.s) Cap. X. Editora RH, Lisboa (2007)
- Feldman, D. C.: A practical program for employee socialization. Organizational Dynamics, 5(2), 64-80 (1976)
- 3. Porter, L. W., Lawler, E. E., Hackman, J. R.: Behavior in organizations. McGraw-Hill, London (1975)
- 4. Game, A. M.: Negative emotions in supervisory relationships: the role of relational models. Human Relations, 61(3), 355-393 (2008)
- 5. Ilies, R., Nahrgang, J. D., Morgeson, F. P.: Leader-member exchange and citizenship behaviors: A meta-analysis. Journal of Applied Psychology, 92(1), 269-277 (2007)
- Judge, T. A., Piccolo, R. F., Ilies, R.: The forgotten ones? The validity of consideration and initiating structure in leadership research. Journal of Applied Psychology, 89(1), 36-51 (2004)
- Katz, D., Kahn, R.: Psicologia Social das Organizações (3ª Ed.) (Auriphedo Simões, Trad.). Atlas, São Paulo (1987)
- Weiss, H. M., Cropanzano, R. J.: Affective events theory: A theoretical discussion of the structure, causes, and consequences of affective experience at work. In Staw, B. M., Cummings, L. L. (Eds.). Research in Organizational Behavior, 18, 1–74. JAI Press, Greenwich, CT (1996)
- 9. Kahn, W. A.: Caring for the Caregivers: patterns of organizational caregiving. Administrative Science Quarterly, 38(4), 539-563 (1993)
- 10.Korsgaard, M. A., Brodt, S. E., Whitener, E. M.: Trust in the face of conflict: the role of managerial trustworthy behavior and organizational context. Journal of Applied Psychology, 87(2), 312-319 (2002)
- 11.Dienesch, R. M., Liden, R. C.: Leader-member exchange model of leadership: A critique and further development. Academy of Management Review, 11(3), 618-634 (1986)
- 12.Liden, R. C., Maslyn, J.M.: Multidimensionality of leader-member exchange: An empirical assessment through scale development. Journal of Management, 24(1), 43-72 (1998)
- 13.Sparrowe, R. T., Liden, R. C.: Process and structure in leader-member exchange. Academy of Management Review, 22(2), 522-552 (1997)
- 14.Walumbwa, F. O., Mayer, D. M., Wang, P., Wang, H., Workman, K., Christensen, A. L.: Linking ethical leadership to employee performance: The roles of leader-member exchange, self-efficacy, and organizational identification. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 115(2), 204-215 (2011)
- 15.Colquitt, J. A., Scott, B. A., LePine, J. A.: Trust, trustworthiness, and trust propensity: A meta-analytic test of their unique relationship with risk taking and job performance. Journal of Applied psychology, 92(4), 909-927 (2007)
- 16.Tierney, P., Farmer, S. M., Graen, G. B.: An examination of leadership and employee creativity: the relevance of traits and relationships. Personnel Psychology, 52, 591- 620 (1999)
- 17.Volmer, J., Spurk, D., Niessen, C.: Leader-member exchange (LMX), job autonomy, and creative work involvement. The Leadership Quarterly, 23, 456-465 (2012)

- 18.Dunegan, K. J., Duchon, D., Uhl-Bien, M.: Examining the link between leader-member exchange and subordinate performance: The role of task analyzability and variety as moderators. Journal of Management, 18 (1), 59-76 (1992)
- 19.Landy, F. J., Conte, J. M.: Work in the 21st century: An introduction to Industrial and organizational Psychology (3^a Ed). McGraw-Hill, New York (2010)
- 20. Vecchio, R. P., Griffeth, R. W., Hom, P. W.: The predictive utility of the vertical dyad linkage approach. The Journal of Social Psychology, 126(5), 617-625 (2001)
- 21.Ronen, S., Mikulincer, M.: Predicting employee' satisfaction and burnout from managers' attachment and caregiving orientations. European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 21(6), 828-849 (2012)
- 22.Feeney, B. C., Collins, N. L.: Interpersonal safe haven and secure base caregiving processes in adulthood. In Rholes, W. S., Simpson, J. A. (Eds.), Adult attachment: Theory, research, and clinical implications. The Guilford Press, New York (2004)
- 23.Fraley, R. C., Brumbaugh, C. C.: A dynamical systems approach to conceptualizing and studying stability and change in attachment security. In Rholes, W. S., Simpson, J. A. (Eds.), Adult attachment: Theory, research, and clinical implications. The Guilford Press, New York (2004)
- 24.Storm, C., Todd, T., Sprenkle, D., Morgan, M.: Gaps between MFT supervision assumptions and common practice: suggested best practices. Journal of Marital and Family Therapy, 27(1), 227-239 (2001)
- Hazan, C., Shaver, P. R.: Love and work: an attachment-theoretical perspective. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 59(2), 270-280 (1990)
- 26.Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. Attachment in adulthood: structure, dynamics and change. The Guilford Press, New York (2007)
- 27.Bowlby, J.: Attachment (2ª Ed., Vol. 1). Basic Books, New York (1978)
- 28.Bowlby, J.: The making and breaking of affectional bonds. Brunner-Routledge, London (1979)
- 29.Bowlby, J.: A Secure Base: Parent-Child Attachment and Healthy Human Development. Basic Books, London (1988)
- 30.Popper, M., Mayseless, O.: Back to basics: applying a parenting perspective to transformational leadership. The Leadership Quarterly, 14, 41-65 (2003)
- 31.Flanagan, J. C.: The critical incident technique. Psychological Bulletin, 51(4), 327-358 (1954)
- 32.Chell, E.: Critical incident technique. In C. Cassel, G. Symon (Eds.), Essential guide to qualitative methods in organizational research. London: Sage Publications Ltd. (2004)
- 33.Bardin, L.: Análise de conteúdo. Edições 70: Persona, Lisboa (2009)
- 34.QSR NVivo version 10.0; Copyright QSR International Pty, Ldt.
- 35.Brandão, C., Miguez, J.: Using NVivo to Evaluate a Program of Goal Corrected Emphatic Attunement Skills: A Case Study in the Context of Higher Education. In Rocha, A., Correia, A. M., Costanzo, S., Reis, L. P. (Eds.), New contributions in information systems and technologies, Vol.2 Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. Springer, Dordrecht (p. 223-333) (2015)
- 36.LeDoux, J.: O Cérebro Emocional: As Misteriosas Estruturas da Vida Emocional. Cascais: Editora Pergaminhos (2000)
- 37.Heard, D., Lake, B., McCluskey, U.: Attachment Therapy with Adolescents and Adults: Theory and Practice Post Bowlby (Revised Edition ed.). Karnac Books, London (2009)
- 38.Carlson, D., Ferfuson, M., Hunter, E., Whitten, D.: Abusive supervision and work-family conflict: the path through emotional labor and burnout. The Leadership Quarterly, 23(5), 849-854 (2012)
- 39.Zellars, K., Tepper, B., Duffy, M.: Abusive supervision and subordinates' organizational citizenships behavior. Journal of Applied Psychology, 87(6), 1068-1076 (2002)

Part XII Human-Machine Interfaces in Automation, Robotics and Mechanics

On the present state-of-the-art of a component importance analysis for complex technical systems

Leszek Chybowski¹. Katarzyna Gawdzińska¹.

¹ Maritime University of Szczecin, Faculty of Marine Engineering, 1-2 Waly Chrobrego St., 70-500 Szczecin, Poland {l.chybowski, k.gawdzinska}@am.szczecin.pl

Abstract. The paper presents the present state-of-the-art of a component importance analysis for complex technical systems. We used a sea vessel as an example of the complex technical system. We showed selected statistics of ship operation losses. We highlighted a necessity of further development of importance analysis methods for machinery operation. We presented a description and diagrams of qualitative and quantitative importance analysis. We pointed out the most significant problems of complex technical systems modelling. We introduced a multi-criteria system component importance analysis. Basic criteria for a system component quality evaluation have been presented. We described some factors influencing importance of the technical system components.

Keywords: importance analysis, complex system, human-machine interfaces, machinery, quality criteria, multicriteria analysis.

1 Introduction

The main goal of the paper is to show the present state-of-the-art and possible ways of development in terms of applying the multicriteria analysis of components importance to evaluate the operation of complex technical systems (CTS) under risk and uncertainty, and especially to introduce system operation characteristics and describe its interaction with the environment. The proposed methods will enable a selection of important criteria to be made at the very beginning of the system analysis.

The chain which is as reliable as its weakest link is the symbol of reliability and safety for a technical system consisting of many elements/subsystems. This model, however, is seldom true for today's machinery where elements composing a whole are not connected in series but become a complex multifunctional structure [1, 2]. Moreover, it is all too often the case that taking into account different evaluation criteria it turns out that not always the "weak links" are the most significant for sustaining the proper quality of the operational process. High reliability of technical systems is certainly a precondition for their safe and effective exploitation [3, 4].

There is often a need for increasing system reliability by modifying the system structure or improving reliability of selected components [5, 6]. Reliability theory concentrates on intact system operation and allows for estimating measure values that

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_70

describe absence of susceptibility to damages, availability and exploitation safety [7]. With regard to a system as a whole, basic dependability measures are important information as for intact system operation but as far as system components go, these measures give very general information on their vulnerability and, except for a series reliability structure, are unable to describe the impact of a component on the whole system. The components impact on the system i.e. system tolerance for its components failure, is both connected with components dependability characteristics and system structure where a particular component is located.

For example in waterborne transport, applying modern technical solutions to improve exploitation safety by e.g. introducing the so called unmanned engine rooms, results in an increased construction complexity of a power plant but its higher reliability [8, 9, 10]. Additionally, progress in materials science and engineering [4, 11], new methods in technical diagnostics and improved maintenance procedures greatly contribute to higher ship reliability and durability and to shorter idle time in ship operation (mean time to repair). This in turn extends mean time between failures and decreases the overall costs of spare parts during ship operation.

Despite a significant improvement of ship technical systems reliability, safety and reduction of environmental impact [8, 9, 10], maritime disasters still happen and they result in: loss of life and health deterioration of passengers and crew and material damage connected with serious ship breakdown or sinking. For instance, according to the statistical data provided for year 2012 by the Allianz Group, by 25 November 106 ships had been reported lost - that is 16% more cases when compared to the previous year 2011 (91 ships) but 27% fewer in comparison to a 10-year average number of lost vessels equal to 146 ships reported in one year [12]. The statistics for industrial disasters show that most of dangerous situations are human-caused (70-90% of faults in a given population) to be followed by machinery failures during normal operation (8-30%) and 1-2% force majeure [13, 14]. The consequences of such events might be very serious, let the case of Costa Concordia, an Italian cruise ship running aground off an Italian coast, or Rabaul Queen, capsized near Papua New Guinea, be their most illustrative examples both causing loss of life.

Modern vessels are of increasingly bigger size to improve their deadweight tonnage. They often carry toxic and dangerous substances (crude oil, chemical substances, fertilisers, LPG, LNG) which are hazards for the natural environment. For example, oil tanker Exxon Valdez which ran aground in 1989 near Alaska, as a result of hull rupture spilt huge amounts of crude oil into the sea (at least 41.000 m3) and contaminated ca. 1.900 km of coastline. The biological consequences of this catastrophe are still visible. Similarly oil tanker Prestige, which sank near Spain in 2002, caused huge economic loss polluting thousands of kilometers of coastline in France and Spain and causing great harm to the local fishing industry [12].

Provided examples of disasters indicate that it is extremely significant to analyse the impact of the subsystem faults in complex systems (such as vessels and their propulsion systems) on the system operation. This analysis enables to locate the connected system components whose interaction might pose threat to safety and result in partial or complete system damage.

System sensitivity analysis (failure tolerance by the system), including components importance analysis in the structure of complex technical systems, is interdisciplinary and is part of fundamental research, more precisely - system theory.

It is also tackled by reliability theory, safety theory, exploitation theory and economics [15, 16, 17, 18].

The present state-of-the-art of a component importance analysis for complex technical systems will be shown in the next chapter. Additionally, a necessity of further development of importance analysis methods for machinery operation will be presented.

2 State-of-the-art

There are many definitions of the word *system* [18]. It can be assumed that system S is a given functional whole exposed to a two-way interaction with the environment and expressed as an ordered pair comprised of a set of elements E and sequence U described as system-forming relations:

$$S = \langle E, U \rangle \tag{1}$$

Sequence U is defined as *system structure* in the literature. The structure may reflect a general system description (*general structure*), system construction (*construction structure*), system operation (*functional structure*), evaluation process of the technical condition (*diagnostic structure*) and may represent the technical condition of the system based on the technical condition of its components (*reliability structure*).

The system reliability structure depends on [18]:

- the system composition level assumed for the analysis and method of its division into elements;
- functional relations between system components;
- the criteria taken to assume a given component or system technical condition to be in a down state;
- the function performed by the system.

Every reliability structure might be represented by means of sets of characteristic system components referred to as minimal cut-sets (system failure oriented analysis) or minimal path-sets (system intact oriented analysis). Some structures are not useful for the CTS analysis because of the existence of the so called *passive components*, i.e. the ones that do not affect the reliability system state. The structures containing passive components might be reduced because for the description of the system components state and the whole system state, the function of the argument number lesser than the total number of components is sufficient [19].

Among the reduction resistant structures we can indicate the ones where the component restoration might cause system failure or component failure might cause system restoration. Such structures, known as incoherent in the published literature [18, 19, 20, 21], hardly ever exist in real life and are not applied to a prevailing number of technical objects. For that reason, in the following work only coherent structures will be taken into account.

The CTS such as marine power plants are difficult to be described because:

- they are renewable or partly renewable;
- their functional and reliability structure is time-dependant;

- they are complex, have a hierarchical structure and multilevel feedback;
- their failures are partly- or totally dependent on each other;
- we know the response to a determined range and character of inputs and disturbances;
- they have many kinds of reservation (redundancy relations are unknown and form overlapping sets);
- their reliability structure, despite the existence of known and selected basic functional components in it, is often completely or mostly unknown.

System importance measures have been introduced to describe the influence that the change of the system component reliability state has onto the whole system reliability state [13, 20]. Usually during the analysis of the technical system reliability, an analyst concentrates on identifying the most sensitive components whose reliability must be improved to optimally increase the reliability of the whole system (components importance measures). The measures may be determined depending on:

- the system structure (Fig. 1a); then they are qualitative measures (e.g. minimal cut set order, Birnbaum's structural importance measure);
- the system structure and system components reliability characteristics (Fig. 1b); then they are quantitative measures (e.g. Birnbaum, Bergman, Lambert, Natvig, Barlow-Proshan or Vessely-Fussell reliability measures etc.).

Analogically the minimal cut-set importance is considered (local importance measures). It is connected with searching for the so called "weak links" in the system i.e. the most unreliable components and components groups (so called importance analysis). Importance measures express the reliability criterion above all as basic and only, so they do not directly express failure consequences for exploitation safety and maintenance costs (searching for "weak links" [18, 19, 20]). The authors' scientific interests concentrate on components importance analysis and simultaneous evaluation of failure consequence for selected criteria.

Although reliability theory goes back a hundred years, the concept of reliability in terms of its quality accompanies the civilisation of man for a very long time. It results from the fact that for man it is very significant to determine if the undertaken activities were successful or not [18]. In this sense, a reliable operation of CTS such as a marine power plant and its subsystems is a priority. Modern ships must meet growing needs of the goods market. Increasing the effectiveness of meeting the needs means here that bigger amounts of goods are transported, over longer distances, in shorter periods of time and possibly shortest ship loading and unloading periods. Simultaneously, the necessity to minimize the ship maintenance costs resulted in ship crew reduction which in turn brings about the necessity to implement additional automated systems insuring the continuity and safety of ship exploitation process.



Fig. 1. Process of components importance and components groups evaluation in the system reliability structure [18]: a) qualitative analysis, b) quantitative analysis

Due to limited applicability of reliability importance measures and earlier specified characteristics of complex technical systems, it is obligatory to develop methods enabling to single out a set of important components in the system for selected importance criteria. It can be the main goal of the research projects. It is especially significant with reference to highly complex systems characterised by a big amount of information and high uncertainty of the analysis (Fig. 2).


Fig. 2. Uncertainty - Knowledge Relations [22]

Components importance analysis is strictly connected with system sensitivity evaluation consisting

in [23]:

- separating parameters (factors) for which a small change of the value results in a big change of the value for external characteristics;
- studying the influence of sensitive parameters on the system effectiveness by verifying the influence of these parameters on the system characteristics;
- forced modification of harmful sensitivity influence and exposing useful sensitivity by changing the system structure.

A general index of system quality described by elements of set W in time T can be expressed by [23]:

$$I(\overline{W},T) = \int_{0}^{T} \rho_{1}(\overline{W},\theta) [\Delta f_{1}(\overline{W},\theta,t)]^{\chi_{1}} dt + \int_{0}^{T} \rho_{2}(\overline{W},\theta) [\Delta f_{2}(\overline{W},\theta,t)]^{\chi_{2}} dt + \dots + \int_{0}^{T} \rho_{m}(\overline{W},\theta) [\Delta f_{m}(\overline{W},\theta,t)]^{\chi_{m}} dt$$
(2)

where:

t – short time understood as independent variable of system operation dynamics;

 θ – long time understood as independent variable of system development process.

however:

$$\Delta f_1(\overline{W},\theta,t) = f_{01}(\overline{W},\theta,t) - f_1(\overline{W},\theta,t),$$

••••••

$$\Delta f_m(W,\theta,t) = f_{0m}(W,\theta,t) - f_m(W,\theta,t),$$

There are many kinds of sensitivity, including parameter, structural, structural and parameter, exploitation and dynamic sensitivity. The structural and parameter sensitivity describes the influence of the size and quantity of components on system characteristics. The index (1) can be written as:

$$I(\overline{W},\theta,t) = \sum_{i=1}^{i=n_1} \int_{0}^{T} \rho_1(\overline{W},t) [\Delta f_i(\overline{W},\theta,t)]^{\chi_i} dt + \sum_{i=1}^{i=n_2} \int_{0}^{T} \rho_1(\overline{W},t) [\Delta f_i(\overline{W},\theta,t)]^{\chi_i} dt + \sum_{i=1}^{i=n_1} \int_{0}^{T} \rho_1(\overline{W},t) [\Delta f_i(\overline{W},\theta,t)]^{\chi_i} dt$$
(3)

Particular summants of the formula (3) describe successively the quality of system components, relation quality between the components and the sum of integrals expressing the quality of components and relations between them.

In general and from a given point of view, an important component is the one which has a proper set of parameters with values taken a priori within an allowed range of variation. Maciej Woropay [19] as *importance* understands the ability of "vertical interaction" (hierarchical relations: subsystem-metasystem) of subsystem failure and its influence onto the task performance of metasystems at a given decomposition level. The system importance is a function dependent on the level of conditions fulfillment which are determined by criteria k_q [19]:

$$I = f(k_1, k_2, \dots, k_q, \dots, k_{q_k}), \ q = 1, \ 2 \dots n_k$$
(4)

where:

 n_k – number of criteria.

System components importance might be defined by a set of criteria. The bigger the number of criteria, the more detailed is the component (subsystem) importance evaluation for the system operation. In the published literature [19, 24] we can find the term "evaluation criteria weight coefficients" (hereinafter referred to as criteria relevance) which need to be distinguished from "importance criteria".

3 Final conclusion

Criteria relevance refers to a selection of given criteria and determining their weight coefficients to calculate a given importance measure. This approach is useful in the first stage of system components importance evaluation i.e. the selection of importance criteria and measures describing importance according to selected criteria. In [24] taking into account the process quality factor, many characteristics connected with criteria relevance have been pointed out in Table 1.

No		Name	The criterion informs on
	1	Safety	Protection or threat to life or health
	2	Benefit	Gained benefits or achieved effects
	3	Cost	Incurred costs
	4	Reliability	Reliability, susceptibility to breakdown or absence of operation efficiency
	5	Novelty	Novelty, fashion or time factors
	6	Effectiveness	Proper task fulfillment
	7	Exactness	Purpose and compatibility of application
	8	Usability	Durability, running hours and operation time
	9	Faultiness	Flaws, faults and fidelity
	10	Appearance	Shape harmony, colour, aesthetic impressions

Table 1. A set of universal importance criteria [24].

If $\Phi(f)$ is a numerical function of the system state which represents a given number for every function f of function space, then the condition concerning checking if value $\Phi(f)$ is within the arranged interval [a,b] of the allowed variables is considered as importance evaluation criterion [19]

$$a \le \Phi(f) \le b \tag{5}$$

Reliability importance analysis aims at determining which system component is the most important for its operation taking into account an optimal value of a given reliability measure, e.g. which component mostly affects the system availability, expected time-to-failure or which component most probably will bring about the system breakdown. The term *importance* is closely connected with *sensitivity* and sometimes they are used interchangeably in the professional literature. In [21] sensitivity is defined as a partial derivative of reliability function R with respect to reliability r_i of *i-th* system component. This definition is identical with Birnbaum's reliability importance measure:

$$P_i^D = \frac{\partial R}{\partial r_i} \tag{6}$$

According to relation (6) components importance depends on two basic factors:

- system components reliability characteristics;
- system reliability structure.

In the presented approach, the more important the component is, the bigger is its absence of susceptibility to damages and the more its location in the reliability structure resembles an independent component in series reliability structure. The thesis is not confirmed in reality because, as said at the beginning, to comprehensively evaluate components importance it is necessary to determine the consequences of their failures. For instance, a crankshaft of a combustion engine has very high reliability but when it fails, the engine is out of use for a reasonably long time which qualifies this component as very important. Hence, CTS components importance depends on [18]:

- reliability characteristics of system components,
- system reliability structure,
- results of system components failure.

References

- 1. Zolkiewski, S., Pioskowik D.: Robot control and online programming by human gestures using a kinect motion sensor. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, Vol. 275. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies. 593-605 (2014).
- Zolkiewski, S.: Diagnostics and transversal vibrations control of rotating beam by means of Campbell diagrams. Key Engineering Materials, Vol. 588, 91-100. doi:10.4028/www.scientific.net/KEM.588.91 (2014)
- 3. Derlukiewicz, D., Ptak, M.: Conceptual Design of Means of Transport Harnessing Human PowerNew Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 2, 365-373, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-16528-8_34 (2015)

- 4. Zalewski, R., Szmidt, T.: Application of Special Granular Structures for semi-active damping of lateral beam vibrations. Engineering Structures 65, 13-20 (2014)
- Chybowski, L.: Application of External Events Vectors for Defining Reliability Structure of Fishing Vessels power, Propulsion and Technological Plant. PJoES, Vol. 18, No. 2A, 45–50 (2009)
- Chybowski, L., Zolkiewski, S.:, Basic reliability structures of complex technical systems. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, Volume 354, Springer International Publishing, 333-342, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-16528-8_31 (2015)
- 7. Žurek, J., Zieja, M., Smalko, Z.: The Reliability Estimation Of Structural Components With Some Selected Failure Model. PSAM11 & ESREL, Helsinki (2012)
- Gawdzińska, K., Chybowski, L., Przetakiewicz, W.: Proper matrix-reinforcement bonding in cast metal matrix composites as a factor of their good quality. Archives of Civil and Mechanical Engineering, doi 10.1016/j.acme.2015.11.004 (2015)
- Laskowski, R., Chybowski, L., Gawdzińska, K.: An engine room simulator as a tool for environmental education of marine engineers. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, Volume 354, Springer International Publishing 311-322, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-16528-8 29 (2015)
- 10. Chybowski, L., Laskowski, R., Gawdzińska, K.: An overview of systems supplying water into the combustion chamber of diesel engines to decrease the amount of nitrogen oxides in exhaust gas. Journal of Marine Science and Technology, Vol. 20, No. 3, Springer Japan, 393-405, doi: 10.1007/s00773-015-0303-8 (2015)
- 11.Szmidt, T., Zalewski, R.: Inertially excited beam vibrations damped by Vacuum Packed Particles. Smart Materials and Structures 23 (10), 105026 (2014)
- 12. Stareńczak P., Statystyki wypadków na morzu w 2012 roku, a utrzymujący się trend spadkowy. Portal Morski. http:// www.portalmorski.pl, access: 15.12.2014
- 13.Kuo, W., Zhu, X.: Importance measures in reliability, risk, and optimization. Principles and application. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. (2012)
- 14. The Juran's Quality Handbook. Juran, M.J., Godfrey, A.B. (Eds.). Ed. V, McGraw-Hill (1999)
- 15.Zanoli, S.M., Astolfi, G.J., Marczyk, J.: Complexity-based methodology for Fault Diagnosis: application on a centrifugal machine. Analysis and Control of Chaotic Systems, Volume 3, Part 1. Cancún (2012)
- 16.Zolkiewski S., Galuszka K.: Remote control of industry robots using mobile devices. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. Vol. 354 New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies. p. 323-332 (2015).
- 17.Ptak, M., Konarzewski K.: Numerical Technologies for Vulnerable Road User Safety Enhancement New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 2, 355-364, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-16528-8_33 (2015)
- Chybowski, L.: Ważność elementów w strukturze złożonych systemów technicznych. ITE-PIB, Radom – Szczecin (2014)
- 19. Woropay, M.: Metoda budowy wielopoziomowych systemów do badania niezawodności z elementów o wyznaczonej a piori istotności. Rozprawy nr 18. ATR, Bydgoszcz (1983)
- 20.Espiritu, J.F., Coit, d.W., Prakash, U.: Component criticality importance measures for the power industry. Electric Power Systems Research 77, 407–420 (2007)
- 21.Karanta, I.: Importance measures for the dynamic flowgraph methodology. CHARISMA Project. Research report VTT-R-00525-11, Helsinki (2011)

- 22.Natke, H.G.: Systems Technik Systems Engineering. Lecture Notes, CRI, Hannover Universitaet (1993)
- 23. Ziemba, S., Jarominek, W., Staniszewski, R.: Problemy teorii systemów. Ossolineum, Wrocław (1980)
- 24. Kolman, R.: Sterowanie jakością wytwarzania. Politechnika Gdańska, Gdańsk (1994)
- 25.Gawdzińska, K.: Quality Features of Metal Matrix Composite Castings. Archives of Metallurgy and Materials 58, Issue 3 (2013) 659-662, doi: 10.2478/amm-2013-0051

On the possibilities of applying the AHP method to a multi-criteria component importance analysis of complex technical objects

Leszek Chybowski¹, Katarzyna Gawdzińska¹,

¹ Maritime University of Szczecin, Faculty of Marine Engineering, 1-2 Waly Chrobrego St., 70-500 Szczecin, Poland {l.chybowski, k.gawdzinska}@am.szczecin.pl

Abstract. The paper presents selected issues in the area of modelling a complex technical system structure. We presented the main types of a real technical system reservation. We showed selected proposals of a component redundancy description. We presented a black-box model of the system and described our own concept of qualitative-quantitative analysis of the complex technical system component importance. We also showed a possibility of applying the AHP method to a multi-criteria importance analysis. Some research achievements in this area and propositions for further development of a multi-criteria component analysis have been shown.

Keywords: importance analysis, complex system, human-machine interfaces, machinery, AHP, expert opinion, importance criteria, multicriteria analysis.

1 Introduction

During complex system operation, transformation of any component into a downstate leads to the whole system's down-state and is characteristic for systems with a non-redundant coherent reliability structure. It happens in the case of the series reliability structure. The series reliability structure usually reflects a real reliability structure and is theoretical which enables to determine the system reliability considering the most pessimistic scenario. In real technical objects there exist many redundant structures, both known and impossible to be identified. In practice we always deal with redundant structures [1, 2].

The definitions for redundant and non-redundant structures are not precise and will be made precise as a result of the carried out analysis. The imprecision is about many kinds of redundancies and increasing complexity of modern systems. Fig. 1 illustrates the most important kinds of redundancies. A detailed description of redundancies is presented in [3] among others. So far structural redundancy has been described most precisely. It consists in multiplying components in the system in order to improve its reliability. Making use of redundant components in the reliability structure is called *reservation*. According to [4, 5, 6] the component importance decreases together with its reliability increase and increase of reservation level of a given component.

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_71



Fig. 1. Basic kinds of redundancies in complex technical systems [4]

The classification in Fig. 1 does not show other unidentified kinds of redundancies. Real systems are characterised by the simultaneous existence of many kinds of redundancies in them. Moreover, in every real system there exist time inertia as well as known and unknown feedback of streams of information, mass and energy, collectively affecting system characteristics as a whole. To describe systems of the kind, the *black box* is useful. It enables to model the cause-and-effect relations and according to [3] is a *default reliability structure*. [8] presents a redundancy measure based on the system model in the form of a black box (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. System with redundant reliability structure as black box [8]

Every technical system contains some important components in its structure which need to be identified. 1941 Juran used the Pareto Principle in his studies on production quality and observed that 80% of the effects come from 20% of the causes. The research on components importance in technical systems have shown so far that important components make ca. 20% of all system components and simultaneously decide in 80-85% about the system reliability [9, 10]. Limited applicability of importance measures and difficulties in full and accurate description of complex technical systems causes the necessity to create methods which would select a set of important components in the system according to defined importance criteria.

It is advised to overview of modelling methods of CTS reliability structure [4, 11] and propose new solutions for:

- modelling the system reliability structure change during operation by means of an external event vector describing the change of the system configuration in different operational states;
- modelling the operational state change, analysing reservation in the system and comparing different reliability structures by means of a complex number plane.

In his research conducted so far, the authors have placed his main focus on the evaluation of components failure influence on the whole system operation, including the consequences of these failures with respect to reliability, exploitation safety [12, 13] and its costs effectiveness (profitability) [14, 15]. The usefulness of the most significant components importance measures (known also as relevance or sensitivity measures and describing the results of CTS components failure) has been analysed, including Birnbaum, Bergman, Lambert, Natvig, Barlow-Proshan or Vessely-Fussell reliability measures as well as Risk Achievement Worth (RAW) and Risk Reduction Worth (RRW) [20].

The authors have analysed in detail the applicability of qualitative and quantitative parameters as well as analytic and simulation measures. The results showed a limited applicability of the above mentioned measures because of some difficulties (lack of information about the form of function for system components reliability, lack of information about the real reliability structure of the system etc.) and insufficient consideration of failure consequences (concentration on the so called problem of "weak links"). As a solution, the authors have proposed and proved the applicability of a comprehensive qualitative and quantitative methodology of CTS components importance evaluation with regard to the criteria of exploitation safety, costs effectiveness and reliability and to do it used the AHP – Analytical Hierarchy Process [4, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30].

The research results and the data collected by the authors so far are extremely important for further research whose outcome will be an easy-to-apply methodology on importance analysis of CTS components taking into account available incomplete and uncertain data on the system structure and operation and making it possible to use quantitative data (failure statistical information, repair costs, accidents at work etc.) and qualitative data (expert methods: AHP, subjective probability). This research methodology will enable a system analysis to be made taking into consideration more importance criteria than have been taken so far and will contribute to the development of a method for selecting components which are important because of certain selected criteria.

2 Methodology

The system structure can be described as a relation between a cause (event $A \in X$) and an effect in the form of an unwanted event $B \in Y$ [8] and in this sense mutual relations between the events form a system structure. If event *A* is a cause (of e.g. a fault in the system with probability Pr(A)>1) and event *B* is an effect (of e.g. limited system operation), then conditional probability Pr(B|A) contains information about the redundancy in a given system. The system reservation can be expressed by a redundancy measure:

$$N = \frac{\Pr(A) - \Pr(B \mid A)}{\Pr(A)} \tag{1}$$

Measure (1) is within the interval [0,1], in extreme cases if N=0 (event A always causes event B) then we deal with a lack of redundancy. In the case when N=1 (event A has no influence on event B), the system shows full redundancy. There is a relation between measure $N \in [0,1]$ and more general measure $N_n \in (1,\infty)$ [3]:

$$N_n = \lim_{k \to N} \left(\frac{1}{1-k} \right) = \frac{\Pr(A)}{\Pr(B \mid A)}$$
(2)

The overall importance evaluation should, because of the difficulties behind the quantification of criteria such as exploitation safety, consider qualitative and quantitative approaches i.e. when there is a lack of information on the relevance and importance measure values of given criteria e.g. exploitation safety, expert methods are proposed to be applied, including the ones which are based on subjective probability [16]. The formalism of determining the subjective probability distribution was proposed by DeGroot [16]. For a defined set of events *S* and σ -field of this set, for events *A* and *B* belonging to this σ -field, if the occurrence of event *A* is at least as probable as of event *B*, then every probability distribution *P* assigned to σ -field is in accordance with a weak possibility relation expressed as:

$$P(A) \le P(B) \Leftrightarrow A \sim \prec B \tag{3}$$

The determination of quantitative parameters describing components importance using expert methods is presented in [4] by means of AHP.

Using expert methods, such as subjective probability application, is one of the ways to collect information about the system. For research conducted so far showing importance analysis as its subject, simple theoretical systems with independent events and introduced elementary interactions with the environment have been used. The process of qualitative and quantitative analysis of CTS components importance is deeply described in [4]. According to this approach, as a result of the analysed technical system identification and modelling, we obtain its reliability structure representation (a model of the structure) and reliability models of system components which together create a system reliability model.

Preliminary components importance can thus be determined based on an unreliability function of a given component $F_i(t)$ and number of path-sets x_i that an *i*-th component is a member of. As x we define the total system path-sets number [4]:

$$I(t) = f[F_i(t), x_i, x]$$

$$\tag{4}$$

Another step is to select quantitative importance measures in order to apply them to a system model as well as qualitative importance measures to apply them to a system structure model. Information about components reliability characteristics and failure consequences is completed by means of databases on reliability and expert knowledge [4, 18]. As a result of the analysis, selected importance measure estimators and a ranking of components importance are determined for every importance measure. On the basis of the results a conclusion is drawn about the analysed technical system construction and the effectiveness of the operational procedures in use.

The research results demonstrated in proved that accurate importance evaluation of components and groups of components in the CTS reliability structure is not possible when only quantitative or qualitative methods are used [19, 20]. The research has been undertaken to develop the methods currently in use so that their application enables a more effective CTS components importance analysis to be made [4]. Moreover, it is significant to broaden the scope of the analysis and to analyse groups of components as well as their mutual interaction and its influence on the total consequences (seeking "disadvantageous coincidences"). It refers to the situation when as a result of the occurrence of two (or more) events (failures) A and B, the total severity (effect on the environment) is greater (negative coincidence) or much greater (catastrophic coincidence) than the sum of particular events effect:

$$S(A+B) > S(A) + S(B) \text{ or } S(A+B) \Longrightarrow S(A) + S(B)$$
(5)

For instance, the total effect of simultaneous failure of front and rear brake of a car will be much greater than the sum of their failure effects separately.

When there is a lack of information about components vulnerability and failure consequences, it is possible to obtain the missing data about the system operation from experts by means of a survey (Fig. 3). In this approach, the expert knowledge will be used to determine the relative relevance criteria for importance evaluation and to determine system components importance for the selected criteria. In the process of importance evaluation, the analyst is supposed to determine the analysis criteria and draw final conclusions from the components importance evaluation. Similar activities are planned to be used in an expert system to be developed under the following research.



Fig. 3. Process of multicriteria components importance analysis with incomplete data about the system [4]

To determine the criteria relevance and components importance, the AHP method, developed in the 1970s by Thomas L. Saaty, will be used. The AHP is one of the multicriteria methods of hierarchical decision problem analysis [29]. It allows to decompose a complex decision problem and make a result ranking for the finite set of alternatives w_i according to selected importance criteria k_i . Fig. 4 shows an example hierarchical structure of a decision making process (according to AHP) for a problem of ordering five analysed alternatives in terms of six different criteria.



Fig. 4. Example hierarchical structure of a decision making process AHP [20]

The AHP method has been used in many areas such as: management, political science, transport, sociology or manufacturing engineering. It has also been used in the theory of decision making to select a given product from among a wide assortment according to selected criteria of product importance evaluation. As proposed in, the method may well be used to indicate the most important components E_i in a system, i.e. components belonging to many assortment groups. Such an attitude allows to indicate the most important components according to selected importance criteria k_i (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Structure of evalution process of system components importance based on AHP [4]

The AHP method can be applied in the components importance analysis for the system reliability structure by using it in two stages:

- 1. Determination of components importance criteria and their relations in terms of their ability to be quantified. This allows to build a multicriteria model of system components importance with calculated weight coefficients for the criteria of reliability, safety, repair costs of the component which failed and others.
- Determination of mutual importance relation between system components according to all analysed criteria which allows to obtain the final importance ranking of system components.

After creating a hierarchical problem model by means of the AHP method and pairwise comparison, relative criteria (alternatives) relevance is determined as a level of their dominance relation. The range of the allowed dominance levels is between 1 and 9. The relative alternative relevance index - criterion k_i superiority over criterion k_i – is expressed by a_{ij} according to the formula:

$$a_{ij} = \frac{e_i}{e_j}, \ i, j = 1, 2...n$$
 (6)

where: e_i – absolute criterion rank k_i ,

 e_i – absolute criterion rank k_i ,

while $a_{ii} \in \{1, 2..., 9\}$.

By means of grades aggregation in the model hierarchical structure, an aggregated values matrix is created and is the basis for the creation of a reduced grades matrix giving final grades determined for the main criteria, main alternatives and grading alternatives.

The fact that the AHP method gives a possibility to obtain importance measure values useful in practice and allowing to analyse the importance of CTS components and that the method is simple, it can be widely applied in dependability theory. Its particular advantage is the possibility it gives to quantify qualitative measures, such as the importance measures according to the criterion *safety* shown in the paper, which often are difficult to be described by means of numbers.

Using the AHP method requires to calculate the consistency ratio C_R every time which makes it possible to simultaneously evaluate the mutual relations matrix obtained on the basis of the expert opinions. When C_R is too high, obviously there are some conflicts in the analysed data which can be corrected at the very start. Owing to that, analyses carried out by means of other than the AHP methods, can be made on the basis of correct, reliable data.

In [4] an exemplification of methods has been provided by means of selected ship engine room subsystems. Importance rankings have been compared in terms of different measures and criteria.

3 Final conclusion

To evaluate the usefulness of the developed models of multicriteria importance analysis they can be implemented in an expert system supporting the system analysis (e.g. using mechanical characteristics of a system [21, 22, 23]). The system can support the work of experts and analysts operating complex technical systems. To develop the system in question, professional software supporting the multicriteria analysis will be used in research which is made by world-known companies such as: Isograph Software (Reliability Workbench, Isolib libraries), Sydvest Software (Fault Tree Analysis Academic Version) and Reliasoft Corporation (BlockSim, Weibull++, ALTA, xFMEA). Also the authors' own codes will be applied. Comparative analyses will be carried out by means of MS Excel. All the codes are in the possession of the author and so are the databases giving information about the structure and operation of marine power plants.

Methods and measures developed as a result of the following research will make importance analysis possible while there is a lack of full information about relations existing in analysed systems and about components dependability characteristics of CTS. What is more, the methods will enable to develop indicators useful in engine operation, including importance rankings of system components for different ranges of information about the analysed object, especially when:

- only basic functional elements of the system are known and there is a lack of information about the reliability structure;
- only the reliability structure of the system in known;
- dependability characteristics for selected components are known and relations between selected system components;
- system dependability structure is known and dependability characteristics for selected components.

So far the authors have done a group of activities necessary to achieve the goal of the research i.e.:

- identified factors justifying the need to modify the evaluation tools of components importance and groups of components in CTS;
- made an overview of well-known importance measures and structure models for CTS and (based on the published literature) critical analysis of other researchers' achievements in the topic area of components importance evaluation in CTS;
- standardised terminology in terms of components importance analysis and description of system reliability structure;
- collected statistical data about components failures in marine power plants systems;
- made an overview of selected, well-known in reliability theory modelling methods of reliability structure and reservation in CTS;
- developed qualitative and quantitative multicriteria methodology of CTS importance evaluation, the use of the AHP method included [20].

The future research is connected with a group of objectives to be achieved such as:

On the Possibilities of Applying the AHP Method ...

- applying in practice a modified reservation method developed in [3, 7, 8]; using methods proposed in [16] (subjective probability);
- developing an expanded approach to the evaluation of system components importance by means of qualitative and quantitative models;
- components importance evaluation for selected technical systems (exemplified by a marine power plant or shipyard systems) by means of the proposed methods [28, 30];
- building an expert system supporting the process of multicriteria analysis of CTS components importance, including the selection of methodology and measures to evaluate importance depending on the quantity of information [24, 25];
- evaluating the influence of the applied methodology and selected importance measures (qualitative and quantitative) on the obtained importance rankings of components and groups of components by a comparative analysis of these rankings [24, 26, 27];
- discussing the well-known and newly developed methods of components importance evaluation in system reliability structure with examples.

References

- 1. Zolkiewski, S., Pioskowik D.: Robot control and online programming by human gestures using a kinect motion sensor. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, Vol. 275. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies. 593-605 (2014)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Diagnostics and transversal vibrations control of rotating beam by means of Campbell diagrams. Key Engineering Materials, Vol. 588, 91-100. doi:10.4028/www.scientific.net/KEM.588.91 (2014)
- 3. Jaźwiński, J., Smalko, Z.: Rozważania na temat właściwości systemów nadmiarowych. Okrętownictwo i Oceanotechnika. WUPS, Szczecin (2006)
- Chybowski, L.: Ważność elementów w strukturze złożonych systemów technicznych. ITE-PIB, Radom – Szczecin (2014)
- Chybowski, L.: Application of External Events Vectors for Defining Reliability Structure of Fishing Vessels power, Propulsion and Technological Plant. PJoES, Vol. 18, No. 2A, 45–50 (2009)
- Chybowski L., Zolkiewski S.:, Basic reliability structures of complex technical systems. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, Volume 354, Springer International Publishing, 333-342, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-16528-8_31 (2015)
- Karanta, I.: Importance measures for the dynamic flowgraph methodology. CHARISMA Project. Research report VTT-R-00525-11, Helsinki. (2011) http://www.vtt.fi/inf/julkaisut/muut/2011/VTT-R-00525-11.pdf [access: 01.06.2015]
- Smalko, Z., Jaźwiński, J.: Domyślne nadmiary systemu działaniowego statku powietrznego. XXXII Zimowa Szkoła Niezawodności, KBM PAN, Szczyrk, 319–330 (2004)
- 9. The Juran's Quality Handbook. Juran, M.J., Godfrey, A.B. (Eds.). Ed. V, McGraw-Hill (1999)
- 10. Woropay, M.: Metoda budowy wielopoziomowych systemów do badania niezawodności z elementów o wyznaczonej a piori istotności. Rozprawy nr 18. ATR, Bydgoszcz (1983)

- Koziolek, S., Derlukiewicz, D., Ptak, M.: Design Process Innovation of Mechanical Objects with the Use of Design for Six Sigma Methodology. Solid State Phenomena., vol. 165, 274-279, doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/SSP.165.274 (2010)
- Gawdzińska, K., Chybowski, L., Przetakiewicz, W.: Proper matrix-reinforcement bonding in cast metal matrix composites as a factor of their good quality. Archives of Civil and Mechanical Engineering, doi 10.1016/j.acme.2015.11.004 (2015)
- 13. Zolkiewski, S., Testing composite materials connected in bolt joints. Journal of Vibroengineering 13, 4 (2011) 817-822.
- Chybowski, L., Laskowski, R., Gawdzińska, K.: An overview of systems supplying water into the combustion chamber of diesel engines to decrease the amount of nitrogen oxides in exhaust gas. Journal of Marine Science and Technology, Vol. 20, No. 3, Springer Japan, 393-405, doi: 10.1007/s00773-015-0303-8 (2015)
- Espiritu, J.F., Coit, d.W., Prakash, U.: Component criticality importance measures for the power industry. Electric Power Systems Research 77, 407–420 (2007)
- Brandowski, A., Grabski, F.: Zbiory rozmyte i prawdopodobieństwo subiektywne w zagadnieniach estymacji parametrów niezawodności i bezpieczeństwa. Teoretyczne podstawy badań niezawodności i bezpieczeństwa. T 2. ITWL, Warszawa, 49–58 (2001)
- 17. DeGroot, M.H.: Optymalne decyzje statystyczne. PWN, Warszawa (1981)
- Laskowski, R., Chybowski, L., Gawdzińska, K.: An engine room simulator as a tool for environmental education of marine engineers. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, Volume 354, Springer International Publishing 311-322, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-16528-8 29 (2015)
- 19. Marczyk, J.: A New Theory of Risk and Rating. New tools for surviving in a complex and turbulent economy. Editrice, Uni service, Trento (2011)
- 20. Saaty, T.L.: The Analytic Hierarchy Process. New York: McGraw Hill (1980)
- Karliński, J., Ptak, M., Działak, P., Rusiński, E.: Strength analysis of bus superstructure according to Regulation No. 66 of UN/ECE. Archives of Civil and Mechanical Engineering, 2014, vol. 14, 342-353, doi: 10.1016/j.acme.2013.12.001 (2014)
- Zalewski, R., Szmidt, T.: Application of Special Granular Structures for semi-active damping of lateral beam vibrations. Engineering Structures 65, 13-20 (2014)
- 23. Bajkowski, J., M., Zalewski, R.: Transient response analysis of a steel beam with vacuum packed particles. Mechanics Research Communications 60, 1-6 (2014)
- 24. Kuo, W., Zhu, X.: Importance measures in reliability, risk, and optimization. Principles and application. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. (2012)
- Gawdzińska, K.: Quality Features of Metal Matrix Composite Castings. Archives of Metallurgy and Materials 58, Issue 3 (2013) 659-662, doi: 10.2478/amm-2013-0051
- 26. Pahl, G., Beitz, W.: Nauka Konstruowania. WNT (1984)
- 27. Dietrych, J.: System i Konstrukcja. WNT (1985)
- Matulja, T., Fafandjel, N., Zamarin, A.: Methodology for Shipyard Production Areas Optimal Layout Design. Journal of Shipbulding, Vol. 60, No. 4, 369-377 (2009)
- 29. Saaty, T.: The Analytic Hierarchy Process. McGraw-Hill, Inc. USA, (1980)
- Hadjina, M., Fafandjel, N., Matulja. T.: Shipbuilding Production Process Design Methodology Using Computer Simulation. Journal of Shipbulding, Vol. 66, No. 2, 77-91 (2015)

Proactive Failure Prevention by Human-Machine Interface in Remote-Controlled Demolition Robots

Damian Derlukiewicz¹, Mariusz Ptak¹, Sebastian Koziołek¹

¹ Wrocław University of Technology, Department of Machine Design and Research, Lukasiewicza 7/9, 50-371 Wroclaw, Poland Damian Derlukiewicz, <u>damian.derlukiewicz@pwr.edu.pl</u> Mariusz Ptak, <u>mariusz.ptak@pwr.edu.pl</u> Sebastian Koziołek, <u>sebastian.koziolek@pwr.edu.pl</u>

Abstract. The objective of the paper is to design an advanced Humane Machine Interface implemented in remote-controlled robot for demolition works. The paper includes the use of Design Thinking methodology in the conceptual design process for determined user-machine problems. The experimental testing with high-speed camera and vibrometer were performed to obtain the input data for numerical analysis. Then the finite element method simulations were carried out to provide the assumptions for HMI solution. Finally, a novel arm-mounted HMI status/caution/warning lighting was designed and executed in the robot controller. The system notifies the operator about the load capacity and warns the operator about leading the arm in resonant frequency, which is a main cause of the reported robot's arm fatigue failure.

Keywords: human-controlled machines, design thinking, demolition robot, HMI (human-machine interface), conceptual design, resonant frequency, Finite Element Method

1 Introduction

A demolition robot is a multi-functional, remote-controlled machine, which is designed to be operated in severe, work conditions such high temperature, dust, radiation or noise. It is widely used in demolition operations in concrete and metallurgy industries as well as transporting or handling the leakages of severe toxins or nuclear materials in emergency and rescuing works [1–4]. As complex as this kind of mechanical equipment, study on mechanical performance purely of individual part or component is not enough and it is necessary to research the dynamic performances of the basic machine. Taking demolition robot of a certain model as researching object, a 3D model is established with CAD/CAE i.e. Autodesk Inventor and NX Nastran.

The reconstruction and demolition of existing buildings are connected with the necessity of dismantling or demolition of a building element or parts of the structure. In these works, the most frequently used excavators are heavy machines with variable demolishing gear [5–7]. These works are considered as not workforce-demanding provided some heavy equipment may enter the place of demolition and range of work

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_72

does not lead to hazard for a machine operator. Progressively, thanks to the advanced technology used for demolition, there are some remotely-controlled robots [8–11]. Due to their small size, it is possible to demolition ceilings, and also difficult to reach places for large machines. Also the safety aspects of an operator (rollover, falling objects) are crucial – Fig 1.



Fig. 1. Demolition robot and its operator with a remote control during various works (courtesy of ARCAD Ltd [12]).

The radio-controlled demolition machines represent today's most advanced technology in this field. They provide a high level of safety and comfort while working through a completely remote and wireless control devices. The machine's operator can operate the robot outside its zone of influence, far from demolition site or crushed elements. In addition, through the use of electric power and the use of lightweight hydraulic hammers or jaw crushing, electric robots allow reducing noise and vibration [13–16].

Demolition robots, due to their small size and weight in the range of $1\div5$ tons (depending on model), suite for limited space, where there are no heavy demolition equipment. However, the most important is that in narrowed areas where previously only men could work with hand tools, demolition achieve performance comparable with heavy equipment demolishing machines. Depending on needs, the robots can work with different demolishing hardware, including light hydraulic hammers, cutting heads or jaw crushing-cutting. Remote-controlled robots are designed for different types of demolition work in construction, but they are also effectively used in the cement industry and manufacturing.

However, unlike in cab-type machines, a remote-controlled machine does not transfer any force feedback to the operator. Therefore, an unbiased judgment concerning the work-load, forces or shock capabilities of a robot arm is a challenge. In addition, when the work conditions are dusty and noisy, a proper estimation about actual machine condition is hardly possible – even for an experienced operator. Basing on ARCAD Ltd reports, a company using various demolition robots, a wrong estimation about the conditions of the robot often leads robot's arm in its natural

frequency of vibration. It is reported, that working in the resonant frequency, even beyond the operator's awareness, has caused numbers of failure in the robot arm structure. The main problem occurring during operation of a demolition machine is fracture in second member of its arm system (Fig 2.). This construction defect excludes the machine from work and increases downtime and influences customer's opinion [17, 18].



Fig. 2. Fatigue failure on the robot arm due to works in resonant frequency during the demolition process.

2 Methodology – design process

Working machines as the demolition robot are the result of the technical engineering design process. Design process consists of main stages such as: Idea (input data – technical assumptions), Research, Conceptual Design, Concept Development (preliminary design, technical design), Prototyping, Documentation, that leads to Implementation. Apart of the stages of Idea and research, the conceptual design has become essential in the successful implementation of construction projects in industrial plants. Companies perceive that key decisions early in the design of conceptual engineering tasks faster and have a tremendous impact on the performance of the entire plant [19].

The most general definition of the design gives [20, 21], where the design is a process that leads to human activities, from the initial state (the problem to solve – the need to meet) to the final state, which is the desired result (system = an article, object, organization, process or computer program) that meets the established requirements.

It is also important at the conceptual design process to understand the problem and to define the requirements and restrictions [22]. This is crucial when we design with the interaction of the machine with the human. The assumptions to the design should take into consideration not only the technical requirements of the client or the machine parameters, but also the requirements and standards of the main user – an operator. This sometimes is overlooked during the designing of the working machines.

The problem is not so significant when the operator is situated on the machine, because there is a strong connectivity between them as well as the interaction of the operator with the machine. The issue is where the machine is remotely controlled. As it was mention, the operator controls the machine by the remote controller but always from the distance. This reframes the operator's cognitive and sense perception during the operating process. Considering that during the designing of the machine, the interaction between the human (an operator) and the machine should be taken into consideration more preciously. One of the methodologies that focus more on the user – i.e. the operator – is Design Thinking.

Design Thinking methodology is a deeply human process, that taps into abilities we all have but get disregarded by more conventional problem-solving practices. The design thinking methodology consists of five stages presented in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Design Thinking process [23, 24].

The first stage of Design Thinking, Empathize is a deep understanding of user needs and problems. The key is to identify the hidden and intuitive factors that influence human choices and behavior. Subsequent there is Define, at this stage, the information gathered during the Empathy, should be summarize to define what the right problem is. This stage requires breaking the framework of thought and habits that restrict the field of vision.

In the next stage, which is Ideate, the activities should be focused on generating as many possible solutions to the problem defined. This requires not only the merits of a strong, but also above all the courage in the creation of new, unconventional solutions and containment evaluation and critique the ideas of other team members. Stage should be completed with the assessment and the democratic choice of the best idea based on which the prototype is created. The basic tool in this stage is a process of brainstorming.

In the next stage of Prototype, the physical prototype is formed, but its structure does not rely on the formation of complex models with characteristics similar to the final product. The main purpose of prototyping is the ability to present visually the idea of users and rapid feedback on solutions. At the next stage of Test, the selected solution is tested in the real environment. It is important first of all to define the parameters necessary to meet in order to clearly determine the outcome of the test. Applying the Design Thinking into the conceptual design process of the demolition robot allows determining the crucial user-machine interaction problems, such as:

- user positioned apart of the machine structure,
- lack of the structure condition felt by user,
- there is no machine force feedback,
- user focuses on the working place not at the machine,
- user in the safety area (allows a user to go with the machine to maximum load),
- a machine is treated as a remote controlled toy.

In order to prove, that the operator during the operating process cannot see the high frequency vibrations, that are dangerous for the structure of the working arm, the experimental testing and finite element method calculations were performed.

3 Experimental testing

The motivation to carry out the research and implement the HMI into an existing demolition robot owned by ARCAD Ltd was frequent cracking of a machine arm. It must be notice this paper is not focused on the construction enhancement. Hitherto, it is to introduce a system which enables an operator to be notify about the load capacity of the machine and potential conditions which may lead to machine failure such as arm fatigue crack, extensive engine or whole structure vibrations [16, 25].

Speed selected points of the arm were examined by optical method using a highspeed camera Phantom V12 (Fig. 4). Modal analysis was performed using the vibrometer Commtest VB7. The results of the high-speed camera were analyzed by TEMA Motion, which allowed for the generation of waveforms displacement, velocity and acceleration points located on the arm during operation (Fig. 5-6).



Fig. 4. Tracked points in TEMA Motion photogrammetric software – footage recorded by high-speed camera Phantom (left) and standard camera (right).



Fig. 5. Average velocity and acceleration runs for marker points (#1 and #2) during a 500ms interval.



Fig. 6. Frequency amplitude spectrum from the recorded accelerometer attached to the robot arm.

The obtained data were used to determine the extortion system used in the study while numerical modal analysis [14]. The results obtained by numerical simulation were compared with those of the arm during the operation acquired from measurements made using the vibrometer.

4 Numerical simulations

The data obtained from experimental testing with high-speed camera were used for appliance of real life boundary conditions to the numerical model. Based on this data dynamic extortion acting on the working arm was applied. The analysis of numerical model was carried out in NX Nastran. Basing on 3D CAD model of demolition robot a computational model was further constructed. First stage of creating discretized model was to create geometrical model of the arm system. Members of arm systems used for construction machines, therein demolition machines, are thin body elements so therefore authors decided to create thin shell model [26, 27]. Connections between parts of the model were simulated by 1D connections. The hydraulic pistons were exchanged for stiff rods and tubes to reduce computational time. In order to simulate hydraulic breaker SB145 the authors decided to replace it with 0D point mass element weighing 145kg. The mechanism connection is processed with node coupling manner so that a finite element model of the basic machine is set up. The model is solved with Lanczos method and then natural vibratory frequencies and modal vibratory models are obtained, which lays a basis for further dynamic analysis.

The biggest stress resulting from vibrations of the model are obtained for frequency of 89Hz. The maximum value of Huber-Mises-Hencky (H-M-H) stress in this case about 20MPa (Fig. 7).



Fig. 7. H-M-H stress map [MPa] of the robot arm for the frequency of 89Hz.

Higher stresses can also be found on the top shelf of the second arm member of the arm system. Maximum H-M-H stress acting on arm members is 20MPa. The stress does not exceed maximum yield strength of the material. However, it has to be noted that impact nature of hydraulic breakers work causes fatigue fracture of steel elements of arm members as it was already mentioned.

5 Solution

Conducting the design process with use of Design Thinking methodology enabled the authors to specify the crucial user problems. Additionally, the combination of performed experimental testing and finite element method analysis provided the information about the unfavorable effort and frequency states of the machine in the operation process. The information gathered during the Design Thinking stage, was summarize to define what was the right problem. This stage provides the breaking the framework of thought and habits that restrict the field of vision. These activities should

lead in the creation of new, unconventional solutions that identifies the hidden and intuitive factors that influence human choices and behavior, of the machine operator.

The possible solution received from the Design Thinking methodology is the HMI application as the status/caution/warning visual system, which allows the operator to identify constantly the effort and frequency state of the machine (Fig. 8).



Fig. 8. Robot arm equipment with HMI lighting system (the arrow indicates) showing the work effort and overloading conditions

The robot operator is constantly informed about the load capacity and any hazardous state which may lead the arm to work in resonant frequency. This is executed by a compact strain gauge and 3-axis acidometer hermetically fixed on the inner section of the arm and wired-connected CPU next to the control panel.

The robot is featured with the arm-mounted HMI status/caution/warning lights and an LCD display on the remote panel and an optional audible alarm. The advanced warning is given when 90% load capacity is reached. At >99% of the load or working in resonant frequency there is an audible alarm, manipulator vibration (force feedback) and all red lighting start blinking to notify the operator (Fig.9). The LCD on operator's manipulator also shows load percentage and load status light similar to these on the arm.



Fig. 9. Focus on the HMI lighting on the robot arm (left) and the established lighting code (right) for the work effort of the arm.

6 Conclusions

Unlike in cab-type machines, a remote-controlled machine does not transfer any force feedback to the operator. Therefore, an objective judgment concerning the workload, forces or operating frequencies of a robot arm is a challenge even for experienced operators. To determine the warning stages of the operating conditions of the demolition robot the experimental testing, such as high-speed camera recording and vibrometer measurement were conducted. The presented demolition robot is a multi-functional, remote-controlled machine using HMI, which is designed to be operated in severe work conditions.

Conceptual design process of the working machine as the demolition robot focuses mainly on the first stage of the designing of a concept in the verification of the design assumptions and regulations. The design thinking methodology, that was used, provides a set of common values that drive innovation: these values are mainly creativity, ambidextrous thinking, teamwork, focus on the end user curiosity. This activity allows better understanding of the problem that concerns the final customer.

The use of advanced numerical simulations to estimate the dangerous states of the structure of the machine, at the designing stage enables to elaborate the HMI warning control system of the machine operation. It is possible to apply at the simulation any possible varieties of boundary conditions to the machine, which allows estimating the behavior of any element of the machine. The results provide the information that is an input data to the designed status/caution/warning visual system.

Combination of different methodologies, such as Design Thinking, numerical simulations and experimental testing allowed the authors to more preciously determine the designing requirements and assumptions. That will definitely result in innovative and unconventional solutions that identify the hidden and intuitive need of the user – the robot operator.

References

- Corucci, F., Ruffaldi, E.: Toward Autonomous Robots for Demolitions in Unstructured Environments. In: Intelligent Autonomous Systems 13. pp. 1515–1532 (2016).
- Ciupe, V., Maniu, I.: New Trends in Service Robotics. In: New Trends in Medical and Service Robots. pp. 57–74 (2014).
- Żółkiewski, S., Galuszka, K.: Remote Control of Industry Robots Using Mobile Devices. In: New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. pp. 323–332 (2015).
- Chybowski, L., Laskowski, R., Gawdzińska, K.: An overview of systems supplying water into the combustion chamber of diesel engines to decrease the amount of nitrogen oxides in exhaust gas. J. Mar. Sci. Technol. 20, 393–405 (2015).
- Karliński, J., Rusiński, E., Smolnicki, T.: Protective structures for construction and mining machine operators. Autom. Constr. 17, 232–244 (2008).
- 6. Karliński, J., Ptak, M., Działak, P.: Simulation tests of roll-over protection structure. Arch. Civ. Mech. Eng. 13, 57–63 (2013).
- Chybowski, L.: Qualitative and Quantitative Multi-Criteria Models of the Importance of the Components in Reliability Structure of a Complex Technical System. J. KONBIN. 24, (2012).
- 8. Żółkiewski, S., Galuszka, K.: Handheld Device Applications for Remote Control of

Industrial Robots. In: New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. pp. 343–353 (2015).

- 9. Gautam, A.K., Vasu, V., Raju, U.S.N.: Human Machine Interface for controlling a robot using image processing. Procedia Eng. 97, 291–298 (2014).
- Moldovan, C., Craciun, A., Dolga, V., Lovasz, E.C., Maniu, I., Sticlaru, C.: On the Development of a Voice and Gesture Based HMI for the Control of a Mobile Robot. Appl. Mech. Mater. 762, 201–204 (2015).
- Żółkiewski, S., Pioskowik, D.: Robot Control and Online Programming by Human Gestures Using a Kinect Motion Sensor. In: Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies. pp. 593–604 (2014).
- 12. Jakubowski, K.: ARCAD budownictwo, http://www.rozbiorkitechniczne.pl/en/contact us.
- Zalewski, R., Rutkowski, M.: New Controllable Sound Absorbers Made of Vacuum Packed Particles. In: New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. pp. 299–309 (2015).
- 14. Żołkiewski, S.: Vibrations of beams with a variable cross-section fixed on rotational rigid disks. Lat. Am. J. Solids Struct. 10, 39–57 (2013).
- Żółkiewski, S.: Diagnostics and Transversal Vibrations Control of Rotating Beam by Means of Campbell Diagrams. Key Eng. Mater. 588, 91–100 (2013).
- Chybowski, L., Żółkiewski, S.: Basic Reliability Structures of Complex Technical Systems. In: New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. pp. 333–342 (2015).
- Czmochowski, J., Górski, A., Paduchowicz, M., Rusiński, E.: Numerical and experimental identification of vibration convection chamber of fluid power boiler. J. Vibroengineering. 14, 151–156 (2012).
- Rusiński, E., Moczko, P., Odyjas, P., Pietrusiak, D.: Investigation of vibrations of a main centrifugal fan used in mine ventilation. Arch. Civ. Mech. Eng. 14, 569–579 (2014).
- Gero, J.S.: Computational Models of Innovative and Creative Design Processes. Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change. 64, 183–196 (2000).
- Rusiński, E., Koziołek, S., Jamroziak, K.: Critical to Quality Factors of Engineering Design Process of Armoured Vehicles. Solid State Phenom. 280–284. (2010).
- Dorst, K., Cross, N.: Creativity in the design process: co-evolution of problem–solution. Des. Stud. 22, 425–437 (2001).
- 22. Derlukiewicz, D., Ptak, M.: Conceptual Design of Means of Transport Harnessing Human Power. New Contrib. Inf. Syst. Technol. (2015).
- Koh, J.H.L., Chai, C.S., Wong, B., Hong, H.-Y.: Design Thinking and Preservice Teachers. In: Design Thinking for Education. pp. 67–86. Springer Singapore, Singapore (2015).
- 24. Braun E., Moreland J., Sanders E., G.C.: Designers in Design Thinking. Proc. E&PDE 2014 16th Int. Conf. Eng. Prod. Des. (2014).
- 25. Czmochowski, J., Moczko, P., Odyjas, P., Pietrusiak, D.: Tests of rotary machines vibrations in steady and unsteady states on the basis of large diameter centrifugal fans. Eksploat. i Niezawodn. 16, 211–216 (2014).
- Fernandes, F.A.O., de Sousa, R.J.A.: Finite element analysis of helmeted oblique impacts and head injury evaluation with a commercial road helmet. Struct. Eng. Mech. 48, 661–679 (2013).
- Bartczak, B., Gierczycka, D., Gronostajski, Z., Polak, S., Tobota, A.: The use of thinwalled sections for energy absorbing components: a review. Arch. Civ. Mech. Eng. 10, 5–19 (2010).

Gamota-Filisko model for Vacuum Packed Particles

Robert Zalewski¹, Paweł Chodkiewicz¹ and Łukasz Skoniecki¹

¹Faculty of Automotive and Construction Machinery Engineering, Warsaw, Poland

Abstract. In this paper authors would like to introduce a new controllable structure, in some aspects similar to MR fluids, which is composed on the basis of granular material. Loose material is initially placed in a deformable hermetic encapsulation (basically made of soft polymer), equipped in a special valve. In the next step, an internal pressure is pumped out of the structure and so called "underpressure" is generated.

Keywords: Vacuum Packed Particles, modeling, jamming, experiments

1 Introduction

At the present time more and more scientific works are dedicated to developing of modern materials and structures, which allow for controlling their global physical properties according to existing, unpredictable operational conditions.

Traditional meaning of a term "mechanics of materials", often encountered in engineering language as a strength of materials, now is changing. The fundamental objective of this scientific field, which is providing an endurance of selected parts of a whole construction or device, is more often achieved by applying the new group of materials, so called "intelligent materials" or also described as "smart structures".

In this paper the authors would like to present a new controllable material, in some aspects similar to MR fluids, which is composed on the basis of loose grains. Granular material is initially placed in a deformable hermetic encapsulation (basically made of soft polymer), equipped in a special valve. In the next step, an internal pressure is pumped out of the structure and so called "underpressure" is generated. This change in the structure, called as a jamming mechanism" appears as a considerable increase in the apparent stiffness. Vacuum Packed Particles (VPP), when a high underpressure value is applied, seem to reveal typical properties of solid (semisolid) state. The magnitude of this change is fully controlled by the range of generated internal underpressure.

A phenomenological model, developed for description of MR fluids nonlinear behavior, that is numerically tractable and additionally efficiently represents the behavior of a VPP testing specimen is considered.

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445,

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_73

VPPs are in some aspects granular analogs of ER and MR fluids [1]. Loose grains can be compared to polarizable particles. Internal pressure is an equivalent of a carrier liquid. The impact of an electric or magnetic field is replaced by underpressure. Pumping out an air from the granular systems results in increasing "inter-granular" frictional forces acting between single grains. Also some grains displacements are observable for greater underpressure values. Described phenomenon is comparable to application of an electric or magnetic field to ER, MR fluids resulting in chains forming [7, 11].

2 EXPERIMENTS

Uniaxial cyclic loading tests on granular structures placed in a tight space with underpressure have been conducted basing on the cylindrical sample, filled with four different types of granular materials (polypropylene, polystyrene, polymethacrylate, ABS). The scheme and dimensions of a testing specimen are depicted in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. a) Structural scheme of a testing specimen; 1-handles, 2-steel discs, 3-loose grains, 4-plastomer encapsulation, 5-vacuum valve.

In all cases the shape and dimensions of a single grain were the same (cylindrical; diameter 1 mm, length 1 mm). The range of applied underpressures was from 0.01 to 0.09 MPa.

To take full advantage of the unusual features of the VPPs in engineering applications, a suitable model has to be developed that can accurately imitate the behavior of a testing sample. The experimental stand was prepared for purpose of obtaining the VPP's response data fundamental for the identification process. In this setup, the MTS 809 universal tensile testing machine was employed to drive a specimen. The vacuum pump, made by AGA Labor, was used to control the internal underpressure value. The whole measurement apparatus is illustrated in Fig. 2.

Using this experimental setup, different types of dynamic responses can be measured and recorded for a wide range of prescribed displacement wave forms.



Fig. 2. Experimental stand: a) MTS 809 tensile testing machine; b) data acquisition system; c) vacuum pump AGA Labor

In this paper only triangle excitation rule was taken into consideration. Firstly, the sample was subjected to initial compression displacement $x_0=8$ mm. In the next stage, the proper value of internal underpressure was generated. Afterwards, the sample was mounted into the handles of universal testing machine and a kinematic excitation rule was applied. This stage is illustrated in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Process of a sample displacement a) free sample; b) initial displacement; c, d) sample subjected to triangular excitation rule $\Delta x=\pm 7$ mm.

In this paper only results for specimens filled with polypropylene grains and various underpressure values (0.02; 0.04; 0.06; 0.08 MPa) are taken into consideration. Although the response of VPP on applied excitation strongly depends on strain rate,

the impact of this factor on mechanical characteristics is omitted. This problem is discussed in details in [10].

The response of the VPP sample do to 0.5 Hz trapezoid excitation with an amplitude of 7 mm and various underpressure levels is shown in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4. Stress- Strain loops for polypropylene grains and a) 0.02 MPa, b) 0.04 MPa, c) 0.06 MPa, d) 0.08 MPa.

It is worth mentioning that the underpressure parameter is a very convenient factor changing considerably damping characteristics. In all cases depicted in Fig. 3, the cyclic loading loops have a kidney-like shape. It is strictly related to the nonsymmetrical behavior of VPPs. Elongated samples behave totally different than compressed.

Basing on the data depicted in Fig. 4 it can be noticed that for compression of the testing specimen under underpressure p=0.02 MPa by Δx =-7 mm almost three times less force is required that for underpressure p=0.08 MPa.

3 Model

Former works of authors [11, 12, 13] were focused on modeling and experimental research of other, more commercialized, smart structures which are MR fluids. In some aspects, VPP are similar to mentioned fluids. Similarities and dissimilarities of both intelligent materials were discussed in [7].

In this paper to describe a nonlinear, non-symmetrical behavior of VPP, a modified Gamota-Filisko model was used [2, 4, 5]. This rheological model was firstly established for description of controllable electrorheological fluids (ER fluids). Than it was adopted to currently more popular magnetorheological (MR) materials. Having in mind some similarities between intelligent fluids and VPP, authors assumed, that

the Gamota-Filisko rheological model is a suitable tool for description the response of VPP on applied kinematical excitation.

The mechanical scheme of Gamota-Filisko model is depicted in Fig. 5.



Fig. 5. Mechanical scheme of Gamota-Filisko model.

The model consists of the Bingham model (i.e., a frictional element in parallel with a dashpot) in series with a standard model of a linear solid [6, 9]. The governing equations for this model are given by

$$F = k_1 \cdot (x_2 - x_1) + c_1 (\dot{x}_2 - \dot{x}_1) = c \cdot \dot{x}_1 + f_f \cdot \operatorname{sgn}(\dot{x}_1) = k_2 (x_3 - x_2), \qquad |F| > f_f \qquad (1)$$

$$F = k_1 \cdot (x_2 - x_1) + c_1 \cdot \dot{x}_2 = k_2 (x_3 - x_2), \qquad |F| \le f_f$$
⁽²⁾

where c is the damping coefficient connected with the Bingham model and k1, k2 and c1 are associated with linear solid material. It is worth mentioning, that for $|F| \le f_f, \dot{x}_1 = 0.$

The Gamota-Filisko model given by (1, 2) is developed for description of symmetrical cyclic loading loops, typical for MR and ER fluids [4]. As it was observed in Fig. 3, typical experimental data acquired for VPP is strongly non-symmetrical.

In this paper the authors proposed some modifications in the G-F model to introduce the non-symmetric response of the tested specimen. Initially proposed parameters: c, c_1 , k, k_1 and f_f have been changed into c_t , c_{1t} , k_{1t} , k_{2t} , f_{ft} and c_c , c_{1c} , k_{1c} , k_{2c} , f_{fc} . Lower indexes "t" and "c" are related to traction and compression responses of VPP respectively.

The modified Gamota-Filisko model for VPP is given by

$$F = k_{1t} \cdot (x_{2t} - x_{1t}) + c_{1t} (\dot{x}_{2t} - \dot{x}_{1t}) = c_t \cdot \dot{x}_{1t} + f_{ft} \operatorname{sgn}(\dot{x}_{1t}) = k_{2t} (x_{3t} - x_{2t}), \ F > f_{ft},$$
(3)

$$F = k_{1t} \cdot (x_{2t} - x_{1t}) + c_{1t} \cdot \dot{x}_{2t} = k_{2t} (x_{3t} - x_{2t}), \ F \in \langle 0, f_{jt} \rangle$$
⁽⁴⁾

$$F = k_{1c} \cdot (x_{2c} - x_{1c}) + c_{1c} (\dot{x}_{2c} - \dot{x}_{1c}) = c_c \cdot \dot{x}_{1c} + f_{fc} \cdot \operatorname{sgn}(\dot{x}_{1c}) = k_{2c} (x_{3c} - x_{2c}),$$
(5)
$$F \le -f_c,$$

R. Zalewski et al.

$$F = k_{1t} \cdot (x_{2c} - x_{1c}) + c_{1c} \cdot \dot{x}_{2c} = k_{2c} (x_{3c} - x_{2c}), \ F \in (-f_{fc}, 0)$$
(6)

A schematic of this model is depicted in Fig. 6.



Fig. 6. Modified Gamota-Filisko model.

Parameters for the modified Gamota-Filisko model were determined to fit the 0.5 Hz kinematic excitation. Numerical results for considered values of applied underpressures are depicted in Fig. 7. Only stabilized cycles are taken into considerations. Numerical data correspond to the direct experimental results presented in Fig. 4.



Fig. 7. Numerical stress-strain loops for polypropylene grains and a) 0.02 MPa, b) 0.04 MPa, c) 0.06 MPa, d) 0.08 MPa.

4 Conclusions

This paper presents a new type of controllable materials. Vacuum Packed Particles in some technical applications (damping of vibrations [14, 15, 16], noise reduction screens, impact loading dampers [8], composites [17, 18], or robots control [19, 20, 21]) can compete with well commercialized devices working on the basis of MR or ER fluids. The biggest advantage of VPP over the previously mentioned smart fluids is their price. From the economic point of view, easily accessible granular materials are much more attractive than MR or ER fluids.

The phenomenological behavior of VPP is more complex than intelligent fluids. Experimentally acquired cyclic loading loops for VPP are non-symmetric, which makes commonly used rheological models inadequate.

Modified Gamota-Filisko model has been used for description of the VPP behavior. Discussed model can portray the stress-strain behavior of the VPP quite well.

The biggest disadvantage of the numerical model is its stiffness. It makes Equations (3-6) very difficult to deal with numerically. This feature was also observed in [3] or [4].

References

- 1. BajkowskI J.: Modelling, mathematical description, simulation and experimental research of magnetorheological damper with influence of temperature. Machine Dynamics Problems, vol. 28, No 3, pp. 9-15, (2004)
- Chybowski L., Żółkiewski S., Basic reliability structures of complex technical systems. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, 354, 333-342, Springer International Publishing 2015
- Ehrgott, R.C., Masri, S.F.: Structural Control Applications of an Electrorheological Device Proceedings of the International Workshop o Structural Control, USC Publication Number CE-9311, pp. 115-129, (1994)
- 4. Gamota, D.R., Filisko, F.E.: Dynamic Mechanical Studies of Electrorheological Materials. Moderate Frequecies. Journal of rheology, Vol. 35, pp. 39-425, (1991)
- Laskowski R., Chybowski L., Gawdzińska K., An engine room simulator as a tool for environmental education of marine engineers, New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, 354, 311-322 Springer International Publishing (2015)
- 6. Makowski M., Zalewski R.: Vibration analysis for vehicle with vacuum packed particles suspension. Journal Of Theoretical And Applied Mechanics, 53, 1, 109-117, (2015)
- Ptak, M., Konarzewski, K., Numerical Technologies for Vulnerable Road User Safety Enhancement. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 2, 355-364, Springer International Publishing (2015)
- Shames, I.H. Cozzarelli, F.A.: Elastic and Inelastic Stress Analysis, Pentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, pp. 120-122, (1992)

- 9. Spencer B.F, Dyke SJ, Sain M.K., Carlson M.K.: Phenomenological model of a magnetorheological damper. ASCE Journal of Engineering Mechanics, (1996)
- 10. Szmidt, T.; Zalewski, R.: Inertially excited beam vibrations damped by Vacuum Packed Particles, Smart Materials And Structures, 23, 10, 105026, (2014)
- 11. Zalewski, R.; Nachman, J., Shillor, M.; et al.: Dynamic model for a magnetorheological damper. Applied Mathematical Modelling, 38, 9-10, pp. 2366-2376, (2014)
- Zalewski R., Pyrz M., Wolszakiewicz T.: Modeling of Solid Propellants Viscoplastic Behavior Using Evolutionary Algorithms. Central European Journal Of Energetic Materials, 7, 4,pp. 289-300, (2010)
- 13. Zalewski R., Szmidt T.: Application of Special Granular Structures for semi-active damping of lateral beam vibrations, Engineering Structures, 65, pp. 13-20, (2014)
- Żółkiewski, S.: Damped Vibrations Problem Of Beams Fixed On The Rotational Disk. International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos 21, pp. 3033–3041, (2011)
- 15. Zolkiewski, S.: Diagnostics and transversal vibrations control of rotating beam by means of Campbell diagrams. Key Engineering Materials 588, 91-100 (2014)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Vibrations of beams with a variable cross-section fixed on rotational rigid disks. Latin American Journal of Solids and Structures, 10, 39-57 (2013)
- Zolkiewski, S.: On force-deflection diagrams of fibre-metal composites connected by means of bolt joints. International Journal of Materials and Product Technology 50, 3/4, 230-243 (2015)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Testing composite materials connected in bolt joints. Journal of Vibroengineering 13, 4, 817-822 (2011)
- Zolkiewski, S., Pioskowik, D.: Robot control and online programming by human gestures using a kinect motion sensor. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies 275, 593-605 (2014)
- Zolkiewski, S., Galuszka, K.: Handheld device applications for remote control of industrial robots. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies 354, 343-353 (2015)
- Zolkiewski, S., Galuszka, K.: Remote control of industry robots using mobile devices. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies 354, 323-332 (2015)

Designing process of the drone's passive safety system

Piotr Bartkowski¹, Robert Zalewski¹

¹Warsaw University of Technology, Institute of Machines Design Fundamentals

bartkowski piotr@onet.pl, robertzalewski@wp.pl

Abstract. In this paper the authors would like to introduce a new air-bag's prototype suitable for protecting valuable objects mounted on the drones. The experimental research results are presented for typical air-bag's textile material. Laboratory tests were a base for the material's model calibration process. The numerical simulations for proposed air-bag's prototype were carried out in the LS-Dyna environment. Proposed solution seems to be a reasonable device for prevent the drone's equipment from unexpected accidents.

Keywords: Air-bag, drone, modeling, experiments, LS-Dyna, air-bag prototype

1 Introduction

Drones are becoming more and more popular in army as well as in the industry. Such unmanned objects are very often equipped with advanced and expensive hi-tech devices or even weapons. The main objective of this paper is to propose the design concept of a special air-bag for valuable devices being carried by drones. This paper includes the experimental part aimed at obtaining the real response of the typical airbag textile material. Basing on the experimental data, in the next stage, the FEM nonlinear model is validated. Having the reliable numerical model of the air-bag's material, the concept of the air-bag module mounted onto a typical unmanned aerial vehicle is presented.

2 Experimental tests and model calibration

2.1 Test

The objective of the experimental research was to obtain the data for numerical model using Finite Element Method. Because of orthotropic properties of the air-bag's textile material, two kinds of samples were prepared [4]. According to standards described in the literature devoted to experimental research of textile composites [6, 12], the first investigated sample (sample 0/90) was prepared for simple uniaxial tensile test, the second one (sample (45/-45) was tested by bias-extension test [7]. The 0/90 and (45/-

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_74

45) descriptions correspond to the directions of the fibers in the investigated air-bag's samples. Schemes of the testing specimens have been depicted in fig. 1 a,b.



Fig. 1. Air-bag's material testing specimens: a) sample (0/90), b) sample (45/-45)

Samples were investigated using universal tensile testing machine (fig. 2). The strain in material was measured by 3D non-contact deformation measuring system – ARAMIS (fig. 3) [9]. Such system is a powerful tool for both statically and dynamically loaded objects [10] and seems to be the unique solution delivering complete 3D surfaces, displacement and strain results where a large number of traditional measuring devices are required (strain gauges, LVDTs extensometers, etc.)



Fig. 2. Testing machine



Fig. 3. ARAMIS system

During the test, the force was measured by testing machine sensors. The graphs showing force in function of strain $F=f(\varepsilon)$ are depicted in figs. 4 and 5. The averaged and transformed to 2'nd Piola-Kirchoff stress versus Green-Lagrange strain characteristics were implemented to FE model prepared in LS-DYNA environment.





Fig. 4. Typical uniaxial results for (0/90) sample



ARAMIS system takes a set of photos during a test and as a result the displacement and strain are calculated. Fig. 6 depicts the sequence of photos including strain fields recorded during a single uniaxial experiment.



Fig. 6. Photos recorded by the ARAMIS system's
2.2 Validation process of FE model.

In the second step the FE model of the material sample was prepared to perform a validation process. Calibration process of the non-classical, multi-parameter and nonlinear materials' models is quite a complex task [18]. To recognize an original response of the tested material on applied loading a lot of complex laboratory tests have to be carried out [1]. On the basis of obtained results, in the next step the mathematical formulation is proposed to capture extraordinary features of the investigated structure [16]. In the final stage the classical inverse problem consisting of the selected materials' model identification has to be solved [19]. Investigated in this paper air-bag's material is a typical example of the non-classical structure. In the literature we can encounter many papers related to the modeling problems of such class of materials [5, 11]. In this paper the direct experimental characteristics (figs. 4 and 5) were implemented to the LS-Dyna environment, where all further numerical simulations were conducted [3, 15]. Considered model had the same dimensions as tested samples. Also the boundary conditions were applied according to the experiment (fig. 7). Material data used in the model as it was previously mentioned were taken directly from the tests. In the final stage the direct experimental results were compared to the numerical response of the material. The verification process is illustrated in fig. 8.



Fig. 7. FE model of the material sample



Fig. 8. Results of simulation and test

3 The drone's air-bag concept

To save humans or valuable objects from harmful vibrations or impact loadings [13, 14] very often sophisticated smart materials are used [8, 17]. In this paper the innovative air-bag concept is proposed to protect valuable camera mounted on the drone.

After the air-bag's material identification process the design process of original protecting device was started. The requested air-bag was intended to secure the expensive thermal imaging camera mounted on a flying object in the case of accident.

It was assumed that the flying platform breaks down and starts to falling down at the altitude of 2.5 meters. Two crash scenarios were assumed: perpendicular to the ground surface and at 30-degree angle to the ground. It was assumed that the construction of the drone can be destroyed but the camera must be protected and remain undamaged. The producer of the equipment claims that the camera is able to transfer an acceleration equals to 30g provided that the duration of the load will be no longer that 35 ms.

3.1 FE model

It was necessary to develop the FE model of the drone. The FE model was prepared in the HyperMesh preprocessor. The model consisted of 2D shell elements as well as 3D solids. An average elements' size was 4 mm. Construction was built of plastic as well as a metal parts. The material distribution in the construction is precisely described in Fig. 9. The thermal imaging camera was modeled in a conventional way as a rigid body.



Fig. 9. FE model of the investigated unmanned aerial vehicle

Before calculation process was started a preliminary air-bag concept was essential. Due to the shape of the gyroplane and the fact that camera has to have a wide range of visibility, the air-bag prototype had to consist of two parts. It was necessary to fulfill all design assumptions. In the real construction two airbag parts could be connected, after launching, by Velcro fastenings. In FEM it was modeled by a special contact type. Parameters of the maximum force of the typical Velcro was based on the literature. The parameters of the air-bag's material were taken from experiments described at the beginning of this paper.

3.2 Numerical calculations – FEM

After completion of the model, the calculation process was started. To obtain an appropriate characteristic of the air-bag it was necessary to perform a lot of iteration loops. The most important parameter was an acceleration of the camera. An effort of the structure as well as air-bag's material behavior were analyzed. Because of the orthotropic properties of the air-bag's material, instead of the Huber-von Mises, the Hill Yield Criterium, was used in the evaluation process. Fig. 10 shows the behavior of the air-bag in the first crash scenario. Fig. 11 depicts the contour of the equivalent plastic strain of the drone's structure. The air-bag's stress contour is presented in fig. 12. As the final result the calculated acceleration of the camera is shown (figs. 13, 14).





Fig. 10. Air-bag's behavior during the crash





Fig. 11. Plastic strain

Fig. 12. Stress contour



Fig. 13. Acceleration of the camera in the first crash scenario (perpendicular to the ground)



Fig. 14. Acceleration of the camera in the second crash scenario (30-degree angle to the ground)

Data depicted in figs. 13 and 14 revealed, that the calculated acceleration values do not exceed the assumed by the camera's manufacturer operational limits. In the author's opinion it proves that the proposed solution is realiable.

4 Conclusions

Conducted simulations revealed a technical capability of the proposed drone's air-bag project. All design assumptions were fulfilled. The project was developed basing on the models verified with the experiments, what exactly fits in the contemporary way of the design.

Proposed in this paper models of the drone and air-bag were in some way simplified. Real dynamics of such complex rotating systems is very complicated [23, 24]. Consequently, the real behavior of investigated system could be much more problematical. Contemporary control interfaces are aided by remote control methods e.g. [20-22].

To confirm the correctness of the proposed approach to the discussed problem more complex numerical simulations are required. In the final stage, the experimental research, carried out on the real object, is necessary to verify the proposed numerical approach and real composite material strength [25, 26].

5 Bibliography

- Chybowski L., Żółkiewski S., Basic reliability structures of complex technical systems. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, 354, 333-342, Springer International Publishing 2015
- Derlukiewicz, M., Ptak, M.: Conceptual Design of Means of Transport Harnessing Human Power. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 354, 365-373 (2015)
- 3. Dubois D., Forsberg J.: Using LS-OPT for Parameter Identification and MAT_FABRIC with FORM=-14. 9th European LS-DYNA Conference (2013)
- Harrison P., Clifford M.J., Long A.C.: Shear characterization of viscous woven textile composites: a comparison between picture frame and bias extension experiments. Composites Science and Technology, 64, 10–11, 1453–1465, (2004)
- Hirth A., Haufe A., Olovsson L.: Airbag Simulation with LS-DYNA Past Present Future. LS-DYNA Andwenderforum, Frankenthal, (2007).
- Johnson A.F.: Rheological model for the forming of fabric-reinforced thermoplastic sheets. Compos. Manuf., 6, 153–160 (1995)
- Laskowski R., Chybowski L., Gawdzińska K., An engine room simulator as a tool for environmental education of marine engineers, New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, 354, 311-322 Springer International Publishing (2015)
- Makowski M., Zalewski R.: Vibration analysis for vehicle with vacuum packed particles suspension. Journal Of Theoretical And Applied Mechanics, 53, 1, 109-117 (2015)
- McGuinness G.B., Canavan R.A., Nestor T.A., O'Bradaigh C.M.: A picture-frame intraply shearing test for sheet-forming of composite materials. Proceedings of ASME Materials Division, MD-vol. 69-2IMECE p. 1107–18 (1995)

- McGuinness GB, Bradaigh CMO.: Development of rheological models for forming flows and picture-frame shear testing of fabric reinforced thermoplastic sheets. Journal of Non-Newtonian Fluid Mechanics 73, 1–28 (1997)
- 11. Mohammed, U.; Lekakou, C.; Dong, L. and Bader, M.G.: Shear deformation and micromechanics of woven fabrics Composites: Part A. Elsevier, 299-308 (2000)
- Potter K.: Bias extension measurements on cross-plied unidirectional prepreg. Compos. Part A: Appl. Sci. Manuf., 33 63–73 (2002)
- Ptak, M., Rusiński, E., Karliński, J., Dragan, S.: Evaluation of kinematics of SUV to pedestrian impact-lower leg impactor and dummy approach. Archives of Civil and Mechanical Engineering 12, 68–73 (2012)
- Ptak, M., Konarzewski, K., Numerical Technologies for Vulnerable Road User Safety Enhancement. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 2, 355-364, Springer International Publishing (2015)
- Schlenger, M.: A New Model for Simulation of Fabric Leakage in LS-DYNA. LS-DYNA Forum, Bamberg, D-III-7-22, (2010)
- 16. Szmidt, T.; Zalewski, R.: Inertially excited beam vibrations damped by Vacuum Packed Particles. Smart Materials And Structures, 23, 10, 105026, (2014)
- 17. Zalewski, R.; Nachman, J.; Shillor, M.: et al., Dynamic model for a magnetorheological damper. Applied Mathematical Modelling, 38, 9-10, 2366-2376, (2014)
- Zalewski R., Pyrz M., Wolszakiewicz T.: Modeling of Solid Propellants Viscoplastic Behavior Using Evolutionary Algorithms. Central European Journal Of Energetic Materials, 7, 4, 289-300, (2010)
- 19. Zalewski R., Szmidt T.: Application of Special Granular Structures for semi-active damping of lateral beam vibrations. Engineering Structures, 65, 13-20, (2014)
- Zolkiewski, S., Pioskowik, D.: Robot control and online programming by human gestures using a kinect motion sensor. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies 275, 593-605 (2014)
- Zolkiewski, S., Galuszka, K.: Handheld device applications for remote control of industrial robots. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies 354, 343-353 (2015)
- Zolkiewski, S., Galuszka, K.: Remote control of industry robots using mobile devices. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies 354, 323-332 (2015)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Diagnostics and transversal vibrations control of rotating beam by means of Campbell diagrams. Key Engineering Materials 588, 91-100 (2014)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Vibrations of beams with a variable cross-section fixed on rotational rigid disks. Latin American Journal of Solids and Structures, 10, 39-57 (2013)
- Zolkiewski, S.: On force-deflection diagrams of fibre-metal composites connected by means of bolt joints. International Journal of Materials and Product Technology 50, 3/4, 230-243 (2015)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Testing composite materials connected in bolt joints. Journal of Vibroengineering 13, 4, 817-822 (2011)

Machining interface and adapter for industrial robots

Slawomir Zolkiewski*

Silesian University of Technology, Institute of Engineering Processes Automation and Integrated Manufacturing Systems, 18a Konarskiego Str., 44-100 Gliwice, Poland slawomir.zolkiewski@polsl.pl http://www.polsl.pl/en

Abstract. Comparing with existing market solutions the low budget solution for milling robots is presented in this work. For robot milling purposes the milling adapter was designed, modelled and manufactured. Some exemplary low cost conceptions of fixing adapter for milling ends were shown. Milling robots can be used for obtaining specific demanded structure by means of carving away material from any type of pattern. Unquestionable advantage of milling robots is easy integration with any type of manufacturing process and strong possibility of automation. Using a different robot made or a manufacturer's brand it is possible to obtain solutions providing high speeds, high level of automation, easy operation and maximum reliability together with increased performance and productivity.

Keywords: industrial robots, milling by means of robot, machining, interface, adapter

1 Introduction

Constantly increasing level of industrialization, the growth requirements of product quality and lower prices while maintaining the quality and competitiveness of the impact on manufacturers who increasingly are inclined to introduce robotic production systems. Machining by means of industrial robots can ensure better performance (e.g. increased rate of feed, automatic adjustment, flexible work conditions) than in the conventional machining method. It is possible to obtain significant decrement in cutting force in milling by means of robot in comparison with a conventional miller [19]. The major problem of milling by means of industrial robots is its accuracy, however it can be significantly increased by using a feedback loop between robot deformation and actual milling parameters. The main reasons for the accuracy problems are connected with insufficient robot stiffness.

 * Corresponding author

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_75

In [19] the direct end milling method using an articulated robot in the machining of aluminum building materials was presented. A small diameter of end mill (3mm) and a high-speed spindle were assumed to reduce the cutting force in order to reduce the effect of the low stiffness of the considered robot.

At present the remote control and media sharing of various home devices are popular standards and nothing special for home users. It is most common using these devices in the same local network [20]. In recent years this trend moved from home applications to industrial implementations. Some of those implementations are connected with industrial robots. Instrumentation of industrial robots is composed of various types of sensors for tracking information about any changes in the workspace. Manufacturers of robots are still looking more and sophisticated solutions searching the answer for increasing level of complexity of such a type systems. The manufacturers offer additional modules to increase its functionality but the costs offered by them are many times higher than the costs of their existing equivalents [26].

In practical industrial uses, there are the online and offline programming. In the online programming, the teach pendant is used to manually move the wrist or joints to the intended position and orientation at each stage of the robot task. Appropriate positions and orientations are sent to the robot control system and a robot programme is then written. [4, 6, 16, 26].

In SMEs a very popular technological solution is an automated flexible production cell. The main weakness of such a type cell is the complexity of maintaining. In the paper [5] authors provide a comprehensive review of the recent research progresses on the programming methods for industrial robots, including online programming, offline programming, and programming using Augmented Reality (AR).

Today many scientific research are focused on multi robot control, safe control, force control, 3D vision, remote robot supervision and wireless communication [26]. Brogardh in his work [4] discuss and present the technical challenges that the robot manufacturers meet. He claims that model-based control is now a key technology for the control of industrial robots and models. A very interesting idea of remote service of robots was described by Osch, Bera and others in [15]. Many theoretical and experimental studies concerning different control models can be applied in human-machine interface, some of them will be considered in future works e.g. [9, 11–13, 17, 23–25, 30–35]. Milling robots can be used for obtaining specific demanded structure by means of carving away material from any type of pattern. Unquestionable advantage of milling robots is easy integration with any type of manufacturing process and strong possibility of automation. Using a different robot made or a manufacturer's brand it is possible to obtain solutions providing high speeds, high level of automation, easy operation and maximum reliability together with increased performance and productivity.

2 Research stand

The aim of the paper is to present the idea and low cost implementation of the milling by means of industrial robots.

In Fig. 1 the simplified programming structure for industrial robots is shown.



Fig. 1. Exemplary simplified programming structure for milling robots

Inside the control system of the FMS (flexible manufacturing system) communication protocols (OPC, MPI, Profibus, TCP/IP, WAP) were combined. Profibus DP (Decentralized Peripherals standardized in IEC 61158) was used to control sensors and actuators through a programmable logic controller (PLC). Profibus network was preferred to automatically adjust the communication between devices of dissimilar groups and types. The communication delivers more flexibility and no limitation according to the choice of supplier. In this approach all necessary devices could be combined each other. The OPC (Object linking and embedding for Process Control) protocol was used to convert a hardware communication protocol to process data. The MPI protocol was used to communicate the PC unit with the PLC (by PC USB ADAPTER). The concept and implementation of the online programming, controlling and monitoring of the industrial robot motion space is based on the integration of elements (hardware and software) of the flexible manufacturing system in the one laboratory stand (Fig. 2 shows the laboratory stand).

The laboratory stand (Fig. 2) consists of:

- R30iA controller equipped with: the Profibus slot, teach pendant, and network card.
- industrial robot FANUC ArcMate 100iC with the robot track.
- extension card PCI Softing Profiboard PB-IF-1MS.
- logic controller PLC Siemens S7-300 CPU 315 2DP,
- Simatic USB Adapter,



Fig. 2. Remote robot control stand. 1 robot controller, 2 industrial robot, 3 PLC controller, 4 communication adapter, 5 laptop, 6 tablet, 7 safety curtains [26]

Machining Interface and Adapter for Industrial Robots

- safety light curtains,
- tablet computer with WAN,
- PC unit.
- Wires (robot cables, Profibus cable, MPI to USB, Ethernet, etc.).

Three adapter conceptions were developed for the purpose of cooperation with a pneumatic milling machine of a standard type (e.g. Bosch model D-70745). A milling machine was automated using an electro-pneumatic system. Of course it is possible to use different type of miller. The chosen one was used only for presentation purposes (for milling in expanded polystyrene material). Exemplary miller working parameters are presented in (Tab. 1)

Table 1. Selected miller working parameters

Maximal compressed air pressure [bar]	6,3
Rotational speed [rpm]	2200
Weight as per EPTA [kg]	0,4

In (Fig. 3) the first conception of a robot adapter for a miller is presented. The handle consists of a rectangular profile rod welded to the adapter ring.



Fig. 3. First conception of a robot adapter for a miller [22]

In (Fig. 4) the second conception of a robot adapter for a miller is presented. The handle is made of round steel rods.



Fig. 4. Second conception of a robot adapter for a miller [22]

In (Fig. 5) the third conception of a robot adapter for a miller is presented. The ring is attached to a flexible material part by welding clamp. After inserting the miller the ring is clamped with two screws and nuts.

In combination with multi-objective optimisation, the best adapter conception have been developed. A human decision maker played an important role in the optimization process. Robot operators and field experts were asked for preference information concerning minimizing cost while maximizing reliability and safety while manufacturing an adapter, and maximizing operation performance whilst minimizing adapters flexibility. As important criterion construction simplicity, maximal range and distance from a robots end, perceived noise level, operating comfort and servicing facility were used. Multiple Pareto optimal solutions for a multi-objective optimization problem were obtained. After approximation and final calculation the second conception was selected for realization. In (Fig. 6) the final realized conception of a robot adapter for miller is shown.

In (Tab. 2) the calculated and assumed parameters for a milling robot are juxtaposed.

Table 2. Calculated and assumed parameters for milling by means of a robot

Type of a milling end	8 cutting edges	2 cutting edges
Feed rate [m/min]	150	75
Depth of cut [mm]	15	8
Maximal travelling speed [mm/min]	5000	1000
Robot velocity in the mode of $T1=250$ mm/s [%]	10	10



Fig. 5. Third conception of a robot adapter for a miller [22]



 ${\bf Fig.}\ {\bf 6.}\ {\rm Chosen\ milling\ end\ conception}$

In project's realization the following versions of applications and libraries were required: Windows 7 Professional, LabVIEW 2013 [14] (LabVIEW 2013 English, LabVIEW 2013 Control Design and Simulation Module, LabVIEW Datalogging and Supervisory Control Module, NI Vision Developent Module 2013, LabVIEW Internet Toolkit 2013, LabVIEW FTP Toolkit), S7/S5 OPC Server Deltalogic (Configuration: 3.4.2.0, OPC server - application: 4.10.2.9117, OPC server - service: 4.10.2.9.9117), Siemens Step 7, Hardware drivers (card PB-IF-1MS), Browsers (e.g. MS IE or Google Chrome). The following hardware and software were used for a human gestures control system implementation. The operator can control the miller intuitively using only his/her hands. The detailed information on the control system was depicted in [26]. More information will be presented in the future works.

Many scientific publications [2, 3, 27, 30-35] propose detailed mathematical methods and algorithms based on vector analysis as well as methods of signal analysis which were used to obtain the results of the following integrated robot control systems [26, 36, 37].

3 Final remarks

In this work, in order to present the low costs solutions (comparing with market offers) for milling end adapters of industrial robots the exemplary adapters conceptions were shown. The behavior of end milling with a high-speed eight and two cutting edges spindle were tested. Additionally, milling experiments, which especially paid attention to feed rate, milling depth, travelling speed, robot velocity and cutting accuracy were carried out. For controlling miller vibrations and diagnostics the Campbell diagrams can be used [28]. Composite materials can be used for adapters' parts. Some interesting composite solutions were tested in [1, 29, 38]. Modern damping systems could be also considered in the milling damping system such as [21, 23–25].

The future works may be to extend the action to cooperate with the capture technology, which would not only control the robot but also to see the robot. That could be also used as feedback signal during a milling process. A very important thing is to provide proper safety and reliability level in such a type of systems. In literature there are also some positions concerning qualitative and quantitative methods of evaluation the reliability structure for complex technical systems e.g. [7, 8, 10, 18].

When it comes to industrial implementations the proposed solutions are not perfect, but suffice to say that the milling by means of robots does not require a large financial outlay.

References

 Baier, A., Zolkiewski, S.: Initial research of epoxy and polyester warp laminates testing on abrasive wear used in car sheathing. Eksploatacja i Niezawodnosc Maintenance and Reliability 15, 1, 37-43 (2013)

- 2. Bajkowski J.M., Zalewski R.:Transient response analysis of a steel beam with vacuum packed particles, Mechanics Research Communications 60, 1-6, (2014)
- 3. Bokhonsky, A.I., Zolkiewski, S.: Modelling and analysis of elastic systems in motion. Monograph 338. Silesian University of Technology Press, Gliwice (2011)
- 4. Brogardh T.: Present and future robot control development An industrial perspective. Annual Reviews in Control 31, 69-79 (2007)
- Chen, L., Wei, H., Ferryman, J.: A survey of human motion analysis using depth imagery. Pattern Recognition Letters 34, 1995-2006 (2013)
- Chibani, A., Amirat, Y., Mohammeda, S., Matson, E., Hagita, N., Barreto, M.: Ubiquitous robotics: Recent challenges and future trends. Robotics and Autonomous Systems 61, 11621172 (2013)
- Chybowski, L., Laskowski, R., Gawdzinska, K.: An overview of systems supplying water into the combustion chamber of diesel engines to decrease the amount of nitrogen oxides in exhaust gas. Journal of Marine Science and Technology 20, 3, 393-405 (2015)
- Chybowski, L., Zolkiewski, S.: Basic reliability structures of complex technical systems. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 354, 333-342, (2015)
- Derlukiewicz, M., Ptak, M.: Conceptual Design of Means of Transport Harnessing Human Power. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 354, 365-373 (2015)
- Gawdzinska, K., Chybowski, L., Przetakiewicz, W.: Proper matrix-reinforcement bonding in cast metal matrix composites as a factor of their good quality. Archives of Civil and Mechanical Engineering. doi 10.1016/j.acme.2015.11.004
- Karlinski, J., Ptak, M., Dzialak, P., Rusinski, E.: Strength analysis of bus superstructure according to Regulation No. 66 of UN/ECE. Archives of Civil and Mechanical Engineering 14, 342-353 (2014)
- Koziolek, S.; Derlukiewicz, D.; Ptak, M.: Design Process Innovation of Mechanical Objects with the Use of Design for Six Sigma Methodology. Solid State Phenomena 165, 274-279 (2010)
- Laskowski, R., Chybowski, L., Gawdziska, K.: An engine room simulator as a tool for environmental education of marine engineers. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 354, 311-322 (2015)
- National Instruments, http://sine.ni.com/nips/cds/view/p/lang/pl/nid/ 210938
- Osch, M., Bera, D., Hee, K., Koks, Y, Zeegers, H.: Tele-operated service robots: ROSE. Automation in Construction 39 152-160 (2014)
- Pan, Z., Polden, J., Larkin, N., VanDuin, S., Norrish, J.: Recent progress on programming methods for industrial robots. Robotics and Computer-Integrated Manufacturing 28, 87-94 (2012)
- Ptak, M., Konarzewski, K.: Numerical Technologies for Vulnerable Road User Safety Enhancement. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 354, 355-364 (2015)
- Rusinski, E., Koziolek, S., Jamroziak, K.: Quality assurance method for the design and manufacturing process of armoured vehicles. Eksploatacja i Niezawodno - Maintenance and Reliability 3, 70-77 (2009)
- Shin-ichi Matsuoka, Kazunori Shimizu, Nobuyuki Yamazaki, Yoshinari Oki: Highspeed end milling of an articulated robot and its characteristics. Journal of Materials Processing Technology 95, 83-89 (1999)

- Shou-Chih, L., Ti-Hsin, Y., Chih-Cheng, T.: A remote control and media-sharing system using smart devices. Journal of Systems Architecture 60, 671-683 (2014)
- Szmidt, T., Zalewski, R.: Inertially excited beam vibrations damped by Vacuum Packed Particles, Smart Materials and Structures 23, 10, 105026 (2014)
- 22. Widera M., (2012) Rola zestawu w inzynierii produkcji. Projekt i wykonanie koncowki obrobczej do robota FANUC ARC Mate 100iC z torem jezdnym. Master thesis promoted by Zolkiewski S. report. Silesian University of Technology, Gliwice
- Zalewski, R., Pyrz, M.: Experimental study and modeling of polymer granular structures submitted to internal underpressure. Mechanics of Materials 57, 75-85 (2013)
- Zalewski, R., Nachman, J., Shillor, M., Bajkowski, J.: Dynamic Model for a Magnetorheological Damper. Applied Mathematical Modelling 38, 2366-2376 (2014)
- Zalewski, R., Szmidt, T.: Application of Special Granular Structures for semi-active damping of lateral beam vibrations. Engineering Structures 65, 13-20 (2014)
- Zolkiewski, S., Pioskowik, D.: Robot control and online programming by human gestures using a kinect motion sensor. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies 275, 593-605 (2014)
- 27. Zolkiewski, S.: Dynamical analysis of the free-free damped transverse vibratory beam in transportation. Archives of Control Sciences 19, 4, 423-436 (2009)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Diagnostics and transversal vibrations control of rotating beam by means of Campbell diagrams. Key Engineering Materials 588, 91-100 (2014)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Testing composite materials connected in bolt joints. Journal of Vibroengineering 13, 4, 817-822 (2011)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Dynamic Flexibility of Complex Damped Systems Vibrating Transversally in Transportation. Solid State Phenomena 164, 339-342 (2010)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Numerical Application for Dynamic Analysis of Rod and Beam Systems in Transportation. Solid State Phenomena 164, 343-348 (2010)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Attenuation-frequency Characteristics of Beam Systems in Spatial Motion. Solid State Phenomena 164, 349-354 (2010)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Damped Vibrations Problem of Beams Fixed on the Rotational Disk. International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos 21, 10, 3033-3041 (2011)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Dynamic flexibility of the supported-clamped beam in transportation. Journal of Vibroengineering 13, 4, 810-816 (2011)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Vibrations of beams with a variable cross-section fixed on rotational rigid disks. Latin American Journal of Solids and Structures, 10, 39-57 (2013)
- Zolkiewski, S., Galuszka, K.: Handheld device applications for remote control of industrial robots. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies 354, 343-353 (2015)
- Zolkiewski, S., Galuszka, K.: Remote control of industry robots using mobile devices. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies 354, 323-332 (2015)
- Zolkiewski, S.: On force-deflection diagrams of fibre-metal composites connected by means of bolt joints. International Journal of Materials and Product Technology 50, 3/4, 230-243 (2015)

Modelling of a moveable beamlike complex system

Slawomir Zolkiewski*

Silesian University of Technology, Institute of Engineering Processes Automation and Integrated Manufacturing Systems, 18a Konarskiego Str., 44-100 Gliwice, Poland slawomir.zolkiewski@polsl.pl http://www.polsl.pl/en

Abstract. In this paper, the model of the beam with a variable geometry is considered. Thanks to a more accurate model and a better control of systems with variable geometry, one can get a significant reduction in maintenance costs and increase the durability and reliability of the entire system. This article presents a method for modeling the telescope beam of variable length and orientation. Changing the length of the extension element influences a change of the cross-sectional area of the external element and the total change in the stiffness of the system. During rotation, the slender structure vibrations occur, which may cause small relative movements. These local vibrations can change the direction of the resultant force. Because such small movements are not reflected in the geometry, this effect can be considered by changing the stiffness matrix. This effect is called *spin softening*. The global motion of a flexible beam is a composition of rotations and unwanted vibrations, which can be critical if the stiffness of the structure is not high enough, compared with the external dynamic load. The mathematical model of the considered beam is shown. In the model, damping, nonlinearly variable cross section of the component elements, and interactions between principal and relative motions are considered.

Keywords: variable geometry, variable cross-section, beam, vibrations, transportation

1 Introduction

The considered problem focuses on modeling and dynamic analysis of nonlinear beam systems in rotational motion within the context of damping. The major scientific aim of the paper was to elaborate the mathematical model of such a system. There are some commercial scientific descriptions and elaborations frequently used in practice by several companies (e.g., GE, Boing). However, detailed information is not available to the public as all rights are reserved.

 * Corresponding author

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_76

In the following literature [1, 8, 12, 15, 16, 21, 23, 31], it is claimed that the analysis of the given problem should be solved using the superposition method. According to the superposition method, the interactions between the main mechanism and its damping are omitted. What is more, one of the assumptions is that the main motion system is composed of stable elements and that these vibrations from the stable elements never influence the global motion of the mechanism. In addition, many scientific publications [6,7,17,22,24,26,28,33,35,42,45–47] propose detailed mathematical methods, algebraic and topologic, as well as methods of signal analysis that were used to obtain the results of the following systems.

The important problem in understanding the mechanical behavior of rotating systems such as propellers, turbines, helicopter rotors, and other similar mechanisms is the dynamic analysis of a rotating beam while taking into consideration the physical and geometric nonlinearities. To analyze such a system, many mathematical and numerical methods are used; for example, Yokoyama [34] used finite element methods, Lee and Lin [21] considered the vibration of nonuniform rotating beam by omitting the transportation effect, and Yang and Tsao [32] studied the vibration and stability of a blade rotating with various angular velocity. Free spatial vibration of a rotating beam with a nonlinear elastic constraint was studied by Pavic in [25]. Al-Bedoore and Hamdan [1] derived a mathematical method for a deformed, rotating, flexible element. To obtain the dynamic response of spinning tapered Timoshenko beams, Bazoune [5] used FEM. The specific behavior of rotating mechanical systems states the major problem in solid mechanics. Such systems should be controlled to guarantee the safety and reliability of the mechanisms and machines as well as to protect from overall damage. In the monograph [7], an algorithm and a method of determining the dynamic characteristics of linear systems were elaborated. In addition, the significant influence on local vibrations was considered.

The scientific publications that do not come from Silesian University of Technology (e.g. [4, 14, 23, 25, 29]) show the formulated problem in a slightly different way, and the problem of the dynamic flexibility of systems is not considered. Many theoretical studies concerning different mathematical control models can be applied in human-machine interface, some of them will be considered in future works e.g. [36–51]

2 Model of the variable geometry beamlike system in motion

In the paper a model of the variable geometry beam in transportation is considered. The model of the beamlike system is consisted of a rigid rotating hub and two flexible elements; the one beam (a moveable part of length l_1) with a variable cross-section and another (a shank of length l_2) with a round constant cross-section. The cross-section of the moveable beam of l_1 length can be considered both as the beam with a constant (the particular case) or variable cross-section (the general case). All the beams are assumed as the homogeneous ones. The shank is fixed on the hub that is treated as a rigid one (Fig. 1). The hub is rotating round its axis and the movement is described in two reference frames, the global stationary one and the local one. The vibrations in the local reference frame are transferred into the global reference frame with taking into consideration the transportation effect. Formulation of the problem of vibrating variable geometry beams mounted on a rotor's hub is presented. The considered systems are the basis of a further dynamic analysis. The elastic systems are loaded by the transversal forces. The rotor rotates with the angular velocity ω . The orientation of the system is provided by a rotation matrix **Q**.



Fig. 1. Model of the variable geometry beamlike system in spatial motion

The beam parameters used here are: ρ - mass-density, A - cross-sectional area $(A_0$ - constant cross-sectional area of the beam's end, A_1 - changeable stepped cross-sectional area alongside the hole, A_2 - constant cross-sectional area of the shank), l - length of the whole beam as a function of the angular velocity, l_1 - length of the moveable part, l_2 - length of the shank, l_3 - shifted length of the shank outside the moveable part (dependent on the angular velocity), l_4 - length of the part slip into (inside) the moveable part (dependent on the angular velocity), l_5 - length of the unfilled part of the hole (dependent on the angular velocity), l_5 - constant length of the end part of moveable beam, x - location of analyzed cross-section, M - mass of beam, ω - angular velocity, Ω - frequency, \mathbf{Q} - rotation matrix, \mathbf{S} - position vector, F - harmonic force, E - Young modulus, I - geometric moment of inertia, \mathbf{w} - vector of displacement.

The local displacement vector in the local reference frame along the y axis that is to say the amplitudes of vibrations are as follows:

$$\bar{\mathbf{w}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \ w \ 0 \end{bmatrix}^T. \tag{1}$$

 $\bar{\omega}$ - the transportation velocity treated as the angular velocity of the rotational disk with the transversally vibrating beam and for the spacial motion is:

$$\bar{\omega} = \left[\omega_X \; \omega_Y \; \omega_Z = \omega\right]^T. \tag{2}$$

The global displacement vector in the global reference frame is as follows:

$$\bar{\mathbf{w}}_{XYZ} = \begin{bmatrix} w_X \ w_Y \ w_Z \end{bmatrix}^T. \tag{3}$$

The analyzed cross-section is considered along the x axis in the local reference frame and for identifying the analyzed section the position vector is introduced analogous to the position vector of the rod:

$$\bar{\mathbf{S}} = \begin{bmatrix} s(\omega_Z) \ 0 \ 0 \end{bmatrix}^T. \tag{4}$$

The position vector is defined as dependent on the angular velocity and can be also treated as translational displacement. The initial system's configuration is assumed as the folded one. We are interested in the case when the component s of the position vector is: $s \ge l_3$. If s belong to a range between: $l_3 \le s \le l_3 + l_4$ then the analyzed cross-section is complete and equals $A(x) = A_0(x) = A_1(x) + A_2$. In the case of $l_3 + l_4 < s \le l_3 + l_4 + l_5$ the cross-section is equal $A(x) = A_1(x) = A_0(x) - A_2$. Furthermore when $s > l_3 + l_4 + l_5$ the analyzed cross section is $A(x) = A_0(x)$ The length of the whole beamlike system is a function of the angular velocity in relation to the axis Z and can be written as follows:

$$l\left(\omega_Z\right) = l_3\left(\omega_Z\right) + l_1,$$

where l_1 is a constant length of the variable cross-section beam (blade) and l_3 is the length of sliding rod jut out the blade.

2.1 Formalization of the model

The displacement vector in the dynamic frame can be obtained by premultiplication with the corresponding rotation matrix:

$$\overline{\mathbf{r}} = \overline{\mathbf{i}}r_X + \overline{\mathbf{j}}r_Y + \overline{\mathbf{k}}r_Z = \mathbf{Q}\left(\overline{\mathbf{S}} + \overline{\mathbf{w}}\right).$$
(5)

The velocity vector of the analyzed section in the global reference frame obtained as the derivative of the displacement vector:

$$\mathbf{\dot{\bar{r}}} = \mathbf{\bar{i}}v_X + \mathbf{\bar{j}}v_Y + \mathbf{\bar{k}}v_Z = \mathbf{Q}\bar{\omega} \times \left(\mathbf{\bar{S}} + \mathbf{\bar{w}}\right) + \mathbf{Q}\mathbf{\dot{\bar{S}}} + \mathbf{Q}\mathbf{\dot{\bar{w}}}.$$
(6)

According to Genta [14] the kinetic energy can be written as:

$$T = \frac{1}{2} \int_{V} \rho \dot{\mathbf{r}}^{T} \dot{\mathbf{r}} dV.$$
(7)

The kinetic energy in accordance with the Koenigs law defined by the generalized coordinates and the generalized velocities is:

$$T = \frac{1}{2}M(\bar{\mathbf{i}}\dot{r}_X)^2 + \frac{1}{2}M(\bar{\mathbf{j}}\dot{r}_Y)^2 + \frac{1}{2}M(\bar{\mathbf{k}}\dot{r}_Z)^2 =$$

= $\frac{1}{2}M\dot{r}_X^2 + \frac{1}{2}M\dot{r}_Y^2 + \frac{1}{2}M\dot{r}_Z^2,$ (8)

where $\mathbf{\overline{i}}$, $\mathbf{\overline{j}}$, $\mathbf{\overline{k}}$ are versors in the global reference frame. M - the body mass of the beam with the volume V, the cross-section area A and the length s of the analyzed position vector can be described as:

$$M = \int_{V} \rho dV = \int_{0}^{l} \rho A(x) dx, \qquad (9)$$

The individual generalized coordinates and generalized velocities are orthogonal projections of the suitable coordinates and velocities on the axes of the global reference system and can be written as:

$$q_1 = r_X, q_2 = r_Y, q_3 = r_Z,$$

$$\dot{q}_1 = \frac{dq_1}{dt} = \dot{r}_X = v_X, \dot{q}_2 = \frac{dq_2}{dt} = v_Y, \dot{q}_3 = \frac{dq_3}{dt} = v_Z.$$
(10)

The generalized forces acting on the length s of the beam are assumed as follows:

$$F_X = \frac{\partial F_g Q_{11}s}{\partial x}, F_Y = \frac{\partial F_g Q_{21}s}{\partial x}, F_Z = \frac{\partial F_g Q_{31}s}{\partial x}.$$
 (11)

The potential energy is as follows:

$$U = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{l} EI(x) \left(\frac{\partial^2 \bar{\mathbf{w}}^T}{\partial x^2}\right) \left(\frac{\partial^2 \bar{\mathbf{w}}}{\partial x^2}\right) dx.$$
(12)

If the damping of the rod is taken into consideration the dissipation of the energy should be introduced as:

$$D = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{l} b \left[\bar{\omega} \times \mathbf{Q} \left(\bar{\mathbf{S}} + \bar{\mathbf{w}} \right) \right]^{T} \left[\bar{\omega} \times \mathbf{Q} \left(\bar{\mathbf{S}} + \bar{\mathbf{w}} \right) \right] dx +$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{l} b (\mathbf{Q} \dot{\bar{\mathbf{w}}})^{T} (\mathbf{Q} \dot{\bar{\mathbf{w}}}) dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{l} b (\mathbf{Q} \dot{\bar{\mathbf{S}}})^{T} (\mathbf{Q} \dot{\bar{\mathbf{S}}}) dx =$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{l} b (\bar{\mathbf{i}} \dot{r}_{X})^{2} dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{l} b (\bar{\mathbf{j}} \dot{r}_{Y})^{2} dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{l} b (\bar{\mathbf{k}} \dot{r}_{Z})^{2} dx =$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{l} b \dot{r}_{X}^{2} dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{l} b \dot{r}_{Y}^{2} dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{l} b \dot{r}_{Z}^{2} dx,$$
(13)

where $b = \frac{\beta}{\rho A l}$ and β is a damping factor. The initial conditions for the considered system are as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \varphi_X (\omega_Z, 0) = \varphi_{X0}, & \varphi_Y (\omega_Z, 0) = \varphi_{Y0}, \\ \varphi_Z (0) = 0, & \omega_X (0) = 0, \\ \omega_Y (0) = 0, & l_3 (\omega_Z, 0) = l_5 (\omega_Z, 0) = 0, \\ l_4 (\omega_Z, 0) = l_2, & l (\omega_Z, 0) = l_1. \end{cases}$$
(14)

Orientation of the blade is dependent on the working angular velocity assumed as $\omega_Z = \omega$. The blade's orientation can be changed during rotation (e.g. to optimize the system's performance and/or to provide stable work). The orientation can be changed during the working motion by additional rotations in relation to x or y axes with appropriate angular velocity or can be preset before using the system.

At the beginning the system can be preset by rotating at an angle of appropriate value that was presented in the initial conditions.

Apart from that the system can be folded $(l_3=\min=0; l_4=\max=l_2; l_5=\min=0)$ or unfolded $(l_3=\max=l_5; l_4=\min=0)$ and the total diameter can be changed during the rotation. The range of the motion is limited in a span of l_3 . Engineering practical application (with additional limitations) of such a type system can be found in the report "Updating of the Variable Geometry Rotor (VGR) Blade Diameter Change Mechanism Combined with the System of the Centrifugal Force Compensation and Extension of the Range of the Blade Twist Change ISTC Project Unrestricted Summary of Technical Report" [31].

 ${\bf Q}$ - the rotation matrix has the well-known form:

$$\mathbf{Q} = \mathbf{Q}_X \mathbf{Q}_Y \mathbf{Q}_Z = \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & Q_{12} & Q_{13} \\ Q_{21} & Q_{22} & Q_{23} \\ Q_{31} & Q_{32} & Q_{33} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (15)

where:

$$\mathbf{Q}_{X} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 \cos\varphi_{X} - \sin\varphi_{X} \\ 0 \sin\varphi_{X} & \cos\varphi_{X} \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{Q}_{Y} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\varphi_{Y} & 0\sin\varphi_{Y} \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -\sin\varphi_{Y} & 0\cos\varphi_{Y} \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{Q}_{Z} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\varphi_{Z} - \sin\varphi_{Z} & 0 \\ \sin\varphi_{Z} & \cos\varphi_{Z} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(16)

2.2 Equations of motion

The present subsection is devoted to coming to know of the main phenomena related to the variable geometry beamlike system consisted with the variable cross-section beam and the round rod. The presented technical case is the beam with the variable geometry for example the rotor with blades. The function describing the variation of the cross-section can be the linear and nonlinear ones. In cases where the cross-sections is inconstant on the whole beam's length, the dynamic analysis is troublesome but the variation of the cross-section cannot be neglected, especially in terms of the rotational motion. In literature [29, 45, 47] some similar mathematical models (considering beams in motion) can be found. The presented mathematical model is the original approach to the considered problem formulation and formalization. The equations of motion of the analyzed beamlike systems are obtained following the classic method (Lagrange's equation). The derived equations of motion can be presented in the matrix form as follows:

$$\begin{split} \rho A\left(x\right) \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & Q_{12} & Q_{13} \\ Q_{21} & Q_{22} & Q_{23} \\ Q_{31} & Q_{32} & Q_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial^{2} s}{\partial t^{2}} \\ 0 \\ \frac{\partial^{2} w}{\partial t^{2}} \end{bmatrix} - \rho A\left(x\right) \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & Q_{12} & Q_{13} \\ Q_{21} & Q_{22} & Q_{23} \\ Q_{31} & Q_{32} & Q_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ w \frac{\partial s}{\partial t} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} + b \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & Q_{12} & Q_{13} \\ Q_{21} & Q_{22} & Q_{23} \\ Q_{31} & Q_{32} & Q_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -w \omega \\ s \omega \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} + b \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & Q_{12} & Q_{13} \\ Q_{21} & Q_{22} & Q_{23} \\ Q_{31} & Q_{32} & Q_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{\partial w}{\partial t} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} + \rho A\left(x\right) \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & Q_{12} & Q_{13} \\ Q_{21} & Q_{22} & Q_{23} \\ Q_{31} & Q_{32} & Q_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \frac{\partial w}{\partial t} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} + \rho A\left(x\right) \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & Q_{12} & Q_{13} \\ Q_{21} & Q_{22} & Q_{23} \\ Q_{31} & Q_{32} & Q_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{\partial^{4} w}{\partial x^{4}} \end{bmatrix} - 2 \frac{\partial EI\left(x\right)}{\partial x} \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & Q_{12} & Q_{13} \\ Q_{21} & Q_{22} & Q_{23} \\ Q_{31} & Q_{32} & Q_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{\partial^{3} w}{\partial x^{3}} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{\partial^{2} EI\left(x\right)}{\partial x^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & Q_{12} & Q_{13} \\ Q_{21} & Q_{22} & Q_{23} \\ Q_{31} & Q_{32} & Q_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{\partial^{4} w}{\partial x^{4}} \end{bmatrix} - 2 \frac{\partial EI\left(x\right)}{\partial x} \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & Q_{12} & Q_{13} \\ Q_{31} & Q_{32} & Q_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{\partial^{3} w}{\partial x^{3}} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{\partial^{2} EI\left(x\right)}{\partial x^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} Q_{11} & Q_{12} & Q_{13} \\ Q_{21} & Q_{22} & Q_{23} \\ Q_{31} & Q_{32} & Q_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \frac{\partial^{2} w}{\partial x^{2}} \end{bmatrix}$$

in each point of the range $D = \{(x, t), x \in (0, l), t > 0\}$ the solution of the equation (17) coincides with the boundary conditions and the initial conditions.

3 Final remarks

This work is the consideration of the vibration problem of beams fixed on a rotational rigid hub. The most interesting elements of the analysis determine the dynamic state of the system and present the mutual coupling of vibration amplitudes, eigenfrequency, and transportation velocity. Analysis of systems moving with low velocities or vibrating only locally treats the systems as already known models in literature. Due to the obtained results it is possible to confront mathematical models with the known stationary and non-stationary systems.

In mathematical models the internal damping was taken into consideration. The damping forces were assumed as a function of velocities of displacements. The dissipation was defined as a function of angular velocity so transfer was provided in vibrations direction. It also means the damping forces were rotated with the beam. There are many technical applications where the beams fixed on the rotation disk are implemented. Such system types can be put into use for example in turbines, pumps and rotors, etc.

There are many numerical applications dedicated to the dynamic analysis of rotational systems, e.g. DynRot described by Genta [14] or Modyfit [43, 44]. These applications give a possibility of analyzing running systems or designing such types of systems, making modulation of dynamic characteristics possible by changing working parameters or changing geometrical or material parameters. Many scientific publications [3,30,42–47,51] propose detailed mathematical methods and algorithms based on vector analysis as well as methods of signal analysis which were used to obtain the results of the following integrated remote robot control systems. Apart from robot implementations the shown system will be tested in applications connected with transport [11,20,27]. A very important thing is to provide proper safety and reliability level in such a type systems. In literature there are also some positions concerning qualitative and quantitative methods of evaluation the reliability structure for complex technical systems e.g. [2, 9, 10, 13, 18, 19].

References

- 1. Al-Bedoor, B.O., Hamdan, M.N.: Geometrically nonlinear dynamic model of a rotating flexible arm. Journal of Sound and Vibration 240,5972 (2001)
- Baier, A., Zolkiewski, S.: Initial research of epoxy and polyester warp laminates testing on abrasive wear used in car sheathing. Eksploatacja i Niezawodnosc Maintenance and Reliability 15, 1, 37-43 (2013)
- 3. Bajkowski J.M., Zalewski R.:Transient response analysis of a steel beam with vacuum packed particles. Mechanics Research Communications 60, 1-6, (2014)
- 4. Barlas, T.K., Kuik, G.A.M.: Review of state of the art in smart rotor control research for wind turbines. Progress in Aerospace Sciences 46, 127 (2010)
- Bazoune, A., Khulief, Y.A., Stephan, N.G., Mohiuddin, M.A.: Dynamic response of spinning tapered Timoshenko beams using modal reduction. Finite Elements in Analysis and Design 37, 199-219 (2001)
- Bokhonsky, A.I., Zolkiewski, S.: Modelling and analysis of elastic systems in motion. Monograph 338. Silesian University of Technology Press, Gliwice (2011)
- Buchacz, A., Zolkiewski, S.: Charakterystyki dynamiczne zoonych ukadw podatnych z uwzgldnieniem ruchu unoszenia. Monograph 127. Silesian University Press, Gliwice, 162, (2007) in Polish
- 8. Chen, C.L., Chen, L.W.: Random vibration of a rotating blade with external and internal damping by the finite element method. Journal of Sound and Vibration 252, 697-715 (2002)
- Chybowski, L., Laskowski, R., Gawdzinska, K.: An overview of systems supplying water into the combustion chamber of diesel engines to decrease the amount of nitrogen oxides in exhaust gas. Journal of Marine Science and Technology 20, 3, 393-405 (2015)
- Chybowski, L., Zolkiewski, S.: Basic reliability structures of complex technical systems. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 354, 333-342 (2015)
- Derlukiewicz, M., Ptak, M.: Conceptual Design of Means of Transport Harnessing Human Power. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 354, 365-373 (2015)

- Elishakoff, I., Lin, Y.K., Zhu C.P.: Random vibration of uniform beams with varying boundary conditions by the dynamic-edge-effect method. Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering 121, 5975 (1995)
- Gawdzinska, K., Chybowski, L., Przetakiewicz, W.: Proper matrix-reinforcement bonding in cast metal matrix composites as a factor of their good quality. Archives of Civil and Mechanical Engineering. doi 10.1016/j.acme.2015.11.004
- 14. Genta, G.: Dynamics of Rotating Systems. Springer, New York, (2005)
- Ghorashi, M.: Nonlinear analysis of the dynamics of articulated composite rotor blades. Nonlinear Dynamics 67, 1, 227 - 249 (2012)
- 16. Hosseini S.A.A., Khadem S.E.: Free vibration analysis of rotating beams with random properties. Structural Engineering and Mechanics 20, 293312 (2005)
- Jamroziak, K., Bocian, M.; Kulisiewicz, M.: Energy consumption in mechanical systems using a certain nonlinear degenerate model. Journal of Theoretical and Applied Mechanics 51, 4, 827-835 (2013)
- Karlinski, J., Ptak, M., Dzialak, P., Rusinski, E.: Strength analysis of bus superstructure according to Regulation No. 66 of UN/ECE. Archives of Civil and Mechanical Engineering 14, 342-353 (2014)
- Koziolek, S.; Derlukiewicz, D.; Ptak, M.: Design Process Innovation of Mechanical Objects with the Use of Design for Six Sigma Methodology. Solid State Phenomena 165, 274-279 (2010)
- Laskowski, R., Chybowski, L., Gawdziska, K.: An engine room simulator as a tool for environmental education of marine engineers. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 354, 311-322 (2015)
- Lee S.Y., Lin S.M., Lin Y.S.: Instability and vibration of a rotating Timoshenko beam with precone. International Journal of Mechanical Sciences 51, 2, 114-121 (2009)
- Lutes LD, Sarkani S.: Stochastic analysis of structural and mechanical systems. Englewood Cliffs, NJ, Prentice-Hall, (1988)
- Matsunaga, H.: Free vibration and stability of thin elastic beams subjected to axial forces. Journal of Sound and Vibration 191, 5, 917-933 (1996)
- Pan Ke-Qi, Liu Jin-Yang: Geometric nonlinear dynamic analysis of curved beams using curved beam element. Acta Mechanica Sinica 27, 6, 1023-1033 (2011)
- Pavic, G.: Vibration damping, energy and energy flow in rods and beams, Governing formulae and semi-infinite systems. Journal of Sound and Vibration 291, 3-5, 4, 932-962 (2006)
- Pohit, G., Mallik, A.K., Venkatesan C.: Free out-of-plane vibrations of a rotating beam with nonlinear elastomeric constraints. Journal of Sound and Vibration 200, 125 (1999)
- Ptak, M., Konarzewski, K.: Numerical Technologies for Vulnerable Road User Safety Enhancement. New Contributions in Information Systems and Technologies. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 354, 355-364 (2015)
- Sun Shupeng, Chu Shiming, Cao Dengqing: Vibration characteristics of thin rotating cylindrical shells with various boundary conditions. Journal of Sound and Vibration 331, 18, 27, 4170-4186 (2012)
- 29. Szefer, G.: Dynamics of elastic bodies in terms of plane frictional motion. Journal of Theoretical and Applied Mechanics 2, 39 (2001)
- Szmidt, T., Zalewski, R.: Inertially excited beam vibrations damped by Vacuum Packed Particles, Smart Materials and Structures 23, 10, 105026 (2014)

- 31. Turmanidze, R.S., Prangishvili, A.I.: Updating of the Variable Geometry Rotor (VGR) Blade Diameter Change Mechanism Combined with the System of the Centrifugal Force Compensation and Extension of the Range of the Blade Twist Change ISTC Project Unrestricted Summary of Technical Report (2012)
- Yang, S.M., Tsao, S.M.: Dynamic of a pretwisted blade under nonconstant rotating speed. Computers and Structures 62, 64351 (1997)
- Yao, M. H., Chen, Y. P., Zhang, W.: Nonlinear vibrations of blade with varying rotating speed. Nonlinear Dynamics Volume 68, 4, 487 - 504 (2012)
- Yokoyama, T.: Free vibration characteristics of rotating Timoshenko beam. International Journal of Mechanical Sciences 30, 74355 (1988)
- Younesian, D., Esmailzadeh, E.: Vibration suppression of rotating beams using time-varying internal tensile force. Journal of Sound and Vibration 330, 2, 17, 308-320 (2011)
- Zalewski, R., Pyrz, M.: Experimental study and modeling of polymer granular structures submitted to internal underpressure. Mechanics of Materials 57, 75-85 (2013)
- Zalewski, R., Nachman, J., Shillor, M., Bajkowski, J.: Dynamic Model for a Magnetorheological Damper. Applied Mathematical Modelling 38, 2366-2376 (2014)
- Zalewski, R., Szmidt, T.: Application of Special Granular Structures for semi-active damping of lateral beam vibrations. Engineering Structures 65, 13-20 (2014)
- Zolkiewski, S., Pioskowik, D.: Robot control and online programming by human gestures using a kinect motion sensor. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies 275, 593-605 (2014)
- 40. Zolkiewski, S.: Diagnostics and transversal vibrations control of rotating beam by means of Campbell diagrams. Key Engineering Materials 588, 91-100 (2014)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Testing composite materials connected in bolt joints. Journal of Vibroengineering 13, 4, 817-822 (2011)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Dynamic Flexibility of Complex Damped Systems Vibrating Transversally in Transportation. Solid State Phenomena 164, 339-342 (2010)
- 43. Zolkiewski, S.: Numerical Application for Dynamic Analysis of Rod and Beam Systems in Transportation. Solid State Phenomena 164, 343-348 (2010)
- 44. Zolkiewski, S.: Attenuation-frequency Characteristics of Beam Systems in Spatial Motion. Solid State Phenomena 164, 349-354 (2010)
- 45. Zolkiewski, S.: Damped Vibrations Problem of Beams Fixed on the Rotational Disk. International Journal of Bifurcation and Chaos 21, 10, 3033-3041 (2011)
- Zolkiewski, S.: Dynamic flexibility of the supported-clamped beam in transportation. Journal of Vibroengineering 13, 4, 810-816 (2011)
- 47. Zolkiewski, S.: Vibrations of beams with a variable cross-section fixed on rotational rigid disks. Latin American Journal of Solids and Structures, 10, 39-57 (2013)
- Zolkiewski, S., Galuszka, K.: Handheld device applications for remote control of industrial robots. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies 354, 343-353 (2015)
- Zolkiewski, S., Galuszka, K.: Remote control of industry robots using mobile devices. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing. New Perspectives in Information Systems and Technologies 354, 323-332 (2015)
- Zolkiewski, S.: On force-deflection diagrams of fibre-metal composites connected by means of bolt joints. International Journal of Materials and Product Technology 50, 3/4, 230-243 (2015)
- 51. Zolkiewski, S.: Dynamical analysis of the free-free damped transverse vibratory beam in transportation. Archives of Control Sciences 19, 4, 423-436 (2009)

Part XIII Innovation in Information Management

Public Relations in Ecuador: exploratory and descriptive research about career development

Alejandro Alvarez Nobell^{1,1}, Jenny J. Yaguache¹, Fanny Paladines G.¹

 ¹¹ Universidad Nacional de Córdoba - Escuela de Ciencias de la Información, Patricias Argentinas 2424. Parque Chacabuco. Córdoba, Argentina. CP: 5000
 ¹ Universidad Técnica Particular de Loja, San Cayetano high s/n, Champagnat street, CP 11-01-608, Loja, Ecuador.

{Alejandro. Alvarez, Jenny. Yaguache, Fanny. Paladines} aalvareznobell@eci.unc.edu.ar

Abstract. In this digital era, the efforts of the organizations to design a symmetrical and bidirectional model of relation and interest management with the public require the projection of a certain image and prestige as a result of the strategic planning of communication. However, this systemic perspective, where communication becomes a key cross-cutting theme along the organizational process, and which assigns the communication professional an executive role –Dircom–, is not a fixed element on the reality of Ecuadorian companies. This work is the result of research carried out by the Observatorio de la Comunicación Estratégica del Ecuador of the Universidad Técnica Particular de Loja, set up in 2013 to explore the professional profile of business communicators (Dircom).

Key words: public relations, communication, corporate, and corporate social responsibility.

1. Introduction

In Ecuador, large companies are gradually including communication in their strategic planning as an inbuilt structure, especially in the capital cities. In small and mediumsized cities, we can still notice an empirical approach to communication which might lead to puzzling and dysfunctional situations, since it works on an individual basis and shows no clear-cut identification of roles. Public Relations as a comparatively young discipline lacks a large body of scientific research or literature which would allow an expansion of understanding in relation to its status in the country but above all to provide useful and accurate information applicable later in a professional atmosphere. However, in Latin America and Ecuador, in particular, not much research is being done to explore the current status of the profession and its growth and development trends [1]. What has previously been advanced in the field is related to multiple studies, which –over the last few decades– have gone through analysis to determine the career development in strategic communication and public relations worldwide. One of the most important is European Communication Monitor (ECM),

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8_77

a series of reports designed from 2007, on an annual basis, by the European Public Relations Education and Research Association (EUPRERA) and the European Association of Communication Directors (EACD). This study, which is the most representative of the field in Europe, identifies the main features of the European public relations professionals and the organizations where they work, connecting the contextual situations with the disciplines, the communication tools and the strategic topics, as well as their influence on corporate decision-making and their executive roles. In 2014, the Latin American Chapter was put in place (Latin American Communication Monitor), which will present its results in 2015.

In Ecuador, educational institutions have developed several studies researching along the lines of corporate, strategic, organizational and public relations communication. Robles and Yaguache [2]. argue that communication in Public Relations is very incipient in Ecuador compared to other countries in Europe and the continent itself such as in Argentina, Chile and Brazil. If we analyse the historical and current context we only find some limited Public Relations, in most cases social and corporate events, which has led to shortcomings in the potential of the profession.

In effect, in the practice and development of the profession we are facing an environment marked by the absence of literature, ignorance of the profession, limited practice of public relations in social events, the role of public relations personnel being assumed by people outside the required profile and no active professional guilds to foster relationships and identification of lobbyists in the country. It has however managed to find a late interest from the business sector in recognizing the importance of public relations departments and communication as drivers of development within companies, especially those that have public spaces and require the development of internal and external communication strategies.

There have been previous efforts to the *Observatorio*. Those initiatives were developed by the Organizational Communication division of the Technical University of Loja, emphasizing the history of Ecuador in connection with public relations and its current status (mapping of the communication companies in the country, doctoral dissertations developed in the fields of branding, persuasion, social responsibility and social network management) [1] [2]. To that end and within the same field, the Technical University of Loja developed this research -the first *Observatorio*-, whose primary objective is to systematically study the current status and trends of the profession and strategic communication in Ecuador.

2. Theoretical Framework

In November of 2012, in Australia, the 2012 World PR Forum Summary gathered around 800 representatives of 29 countries, with the signature of "The Melbourne Mandate" [3], an statement of functions, responsibilities and principles for the revaluing of public relations and communication management. This effort was promoted by the Global Alliance for Public Relations and Communication Management –representing 160,000 professionals– which aims at advocating for, showing and improving the value of public relations and communication in their organizations, communities and the society at large.

Public Relations in Ecuador ...

Communication in organizations is becoming more and more paramount. Thus, when analyzing organizations by means of a systemic model [4] the person in charge of the communication role should plan, implement and assess the relations with the public in connection with the mission and goals of the organization, monitoring and interacting the whole time with the different current economic, political, cultural, social and environmental settings [5].

When this happens, communication becomes strategic, gets involved in the management processes and turns into a competitiveness factor that adds up essential value to the organization, as long as the results are measured and assessed. To that end, it should be directly related to the strategic planning in public relations (Capriotti, 1999; Xifra, 2005; Matilla, 2008 y 2008b). Large companies gradually include communication as an inbuilt structure in their strategic planning of communication. In small and medium-sized cities, we can still notice an empirical approach to communication which might lead to puzzling and dysfunctional situations, since it works on an individual basis and shows no clear-cut identification of roles.

This reality is not accidental, but rather a causal inheritance of the scientific field of communication itself in organizations. Paradoxically, the relevance of communication charges in the professional field as the total of its scientific and academic standing is still without epistemological agreement or broad consensus, with its various theoretical and research trips a constant and cyclical discussion [6]. Along these lines, back in 1990, the IPRA (International Public Relations Association) published its Gold Paper N° 7 entitled "Public Relations Education-Recommendations and Standards" related to the profile of the person in charge of strategic communication, where the disciplines necessary for the training of a public relations professional are graphically described in a three-concentric circles.

3. Methodology

Research was carried during 2014, along two stages:

a) Exploratory research by means of a background study and the definition of variables and units of analysis;

b) Descriptive research, by means of a digital self-administered closed survey oriented to Public Relations professionals in the country. The sample includes 107 cases, and it was taken at the most well-known public and private companies in the country (Ekos magazine).

Given the framework of this research, an exploratory methodology was selected, since, as expressed by [8], it allows the study of under-researched topics and questions to offer a general outlook on them. This methodology will allow the conceptualization of the key question, the definition of variables and the units of analysis (sampling), all which will eventually be the foundation for the field work towards the next stage.

Descriptive research collects information to identify the status of strategic communication in Ecuador. The report from Ekos Magazine about well-known public and private companies in the country determined the companies that contacted

communication professionals by various means, such as reminder e-mails, telephone calls, training courses offers and research outcomes sharing. 107 answers were received. Having tabulation of data being completed, data was processed through SPSS statistical software.

3.1. Variables of analysis and sampling

Variables taken into account for the online survey included age, academic degree, working city, company type, rank, internal communication management, goal fulfillment, lines of action, external suppliers –agencies–, assessment tools, effective communication tools, use of web 2.0 and 3.0. Furthermore, Dircom skills and knowledge, influence factors, position within the organizational structure, the different areas of the organization and the priority lines of action are included in relation to Dircom.

The question under consideration is the communication professionals for the online survey in the descriptive methodology. The Ekos Magazine report about well-known public and private companies in Ecuador identified the organizations that contacted communication professionals to complete the online survey. Out of a database including 212 communicators, 107 complete answers were selected to work on the sampling.

3.2. Data collection tools

For data collection, Survey Monkey tool was used, which allow for open surveys to be carried out via e-mail invitation. Results were collected in a variety of formats (xls, csv, pdf, spss), which provided for the treatment of gathered information of the selected sample (107 complete surveys) with SPSS, a statistical analysis tool which helped to get the results comparing the different related answers.

4. Results

Public relations is a discipline that in Ecuador has evolved slowly, largely due to the lack of academic support, weak empowerment of the profession, ignorance of what it actually is and entails, positions in organisations being assumed by professionals outside of communication and historical linkage of public relations with social events. We are facing a sparse landscape in the practice of the profession, where each individual or entity is performing their activities in a very distant manner. Although the political, business and government sectors have been the main areas for the development of the profession, in the last decade technological convergence, business growth, the inclusion of NGOs in Ecuador and other digital communication have opened workplaces.

Research results helped to analyze 14 study variables and their interconnectedness. Most relevant data include the presence of "Communication Departments" in just 61.1% of the main Ecuadorian companies and institutions. The organizations that actually have a specific department for this purpose have various denominations for it and these are usually related to Marketing activities, institutional image and Public Relations. In the public sector, many of these departments are the result of a communication strategy imposed by the National Communications Secretariat of Ecuador, in order to publicize the activities and projects of the government of the day. This strategy has produced excellent results and has even become the baseline for the media agenda in the country.

In many organizations, Corporate Communication is understood as an activity involving only external communication with business purposes, excluding internal communication, which in many cases is considered a Human Resources-specific task. Yet another characteristic is that Corporate Communication is administered as an activity of the Marketing and Advertising Departments of the organizations. We will discuss below the results achieved in the different variables.

4.1. Profile of the professionals in charge of communication

The first group of variables and indicators help us approach the profile of the professionals in charge of communication in Ecuadorian companies and organizations. On that account, the median is 35,9 years old. As regards academic education, most of the responders hold a Higher Education degree (43%) in the academic fields of Journalism, Public Relations and Advertising. 23% of the responders hold a Master degree in the areas of Marketing, Communication, Social Sciences, Administration and Human Resources. Also a percentage, albeit minor, addressed the job without a university degree but with a wealth of important experience.



Fig. 1: Academic degrees. Own source

In terms of the geographical distribution, 50% belong to the city of Quito; 12,1% to Guayaquil, the remaining percentage to Esmeraldas, Ibarra, Loja, Machala, Manta, Riobamba, Santo Domingo, Tena, Tulcán, Zamora, Cuenca, among other cities.

Previous research conducted by [9] states that "62.5% of PR agencies are concentrated in the coastal region, specifically in the province of Guayas, and 37.5% in the province Pichincha, Sierra region "; however, the largest number of public sector institution matrices are based in the capital, this being the reason for a higher percentage of communication managers working Quito.

4.2. Work areas

One of the exploratory goals of the *Observatorio* is to investigate the formal environment where Communication and Public Relations activities take place on a daily basis in organizations. In terms of designations (Table 1), in 81,3% of the cases, the designation (regardless of the type of organization) is related to the "Department of Communication". Only 0,9% of the responders made reference to their work area as the "Department of Public Relations".

Designation of the work area	Frequency	Percentage
Department of Communication in a	43	40,2
private company	26	226
public institution	50	55,0
Department of Communication of a	3	2,8
private-public company		
Department of Communication of an	5	4,7
NGO		
Freelance Advisor	12	11,2
Marketing Department	7	6,5
Public Relations Department	1	0,9
Total	107	100,0

Table 1: Work areas. Own source.

Regarding the current position the communication professionals hold in the company/institution, according to the precise designation of the position, the results show a great variety of different findings: 56,1% of responders perform executive roles -at least according to their designation: Communication Coordinator, Communication Director, Manager, and Department Head. In a far lesser extent, 6,5% designate their position as "Public Relations Consultant". The types of organizations involved, 58% are private, 36,4% are public and 4,7% are from the third sector.

Even when it turns out to be exceptional that in 16% of the cases, among the specified areas that constitute the Communication Department "Public Relations" is indicated over "Marketing & Advertising" with 13,5% or even "Protocol" with 7,2%, and the area of "Digital Communication" in the Communication Departments accounts for 13% of the cases.

4.3. Communication Management

The third group of variables was designed to explore the activities of communication management. Like in other regions, internal communication is an area that has developed in relation to other areas of the organization, not necessarily related to communication. In the case of Ecuador (Fig. 4), 45% of responders said they establish and put into practice the strategies with the internal public from the area of Communication itself. In 41% of the cases, these actions are carried out along with the area of Human Resources.



Fig. 2: Digital communication strategies. Own source.

The contribution of communication towards the objectives of the organization is determined by checking whether communication is actually put into practice or not during the strategic planning of the assessment step. Along these lines (Table 2), results show a great diversity of methods and measurement variables, a significant number of which are related to impact assessment, linked to the business objectives of companies (sales or income, and ROI).

Activities with higher assessment are related to digital communication strategies, with 39,9% of cases. 2,6% of responders said that carrying out assessment activities was not important. Meanwhile, impact research in relation to advertisement accounts for a significant 15%, as well as media impact, with 17,6% of the cases.

Breaking down the option "Others", there appear interesting measurement variables, which in certain cases lead to lack of precision in terms of tools, devices and indicators: "no measurement indicators at this moment"; "surveys"; "external surveying"; "market position study"; "fidelity + working environment + brand prestige"; "impact on ATL media"; "impact on public opinion through mass media monitoring"; "increase of patients with knowledge of Nuclear Medicine"; "quality indicator of media corporate image"; "increased prices" and "productivity, motivational level, behavioral changes of the organizational culture, decreased quality errors, service, number of affected people".

Variable	Frecuency	Percentage
Sales or income	23	8,4%
Return on investment (cost-effectiveness ratio)	34	12,5%
Advertisement impact research	41	15,0%
Number of impacts	48	17,6%
Impact measurement on the website and social networks (followers, fans, likes)	59	21,6%
Audience measurement on the web (number of visits, stay time on the website)	50	18,3%
Measurement is not considered of importance	7	2,6%
Other	11	4,0%
Total	273	100,0%

Table 2: Result assessment. Own source.

4.4. Management challenges.

The last group of variables under consideration is related to the prospects of professional performance of communication in Ecuador over the next three years. The main lines of action (Table 3) include digital communication/social media with 22,4%, followed by PR activities, with 20,3%.

Among the factors which will consolidate the position of the communication director in the organization, one particularly stands out with 28,4%, where "Their strategic role will increase in support of decision-making by senior management".

Variable	Nº	Percentage
Consulting, advisory and coaching services	19	6,6%
Lobbying with strategic groups Internal communication	16 55	5,6% 19,2%
Marketing, branding, consumer communication	49	17,1%
Digital communication/ Social media	64	22,4%
RP Activities	58	20,3%
Sponsorship	7	2,4%
Corporate social responsibility	15	5,2%
Others	3	1,0%
Total	286	100,0%

Table 3: Management prospects. Own source.

5. Conclusion

In Latin America and Ecuador, in particular, not much research is being done to explore the current status of the profession and its growth and development trends. Results have been compared against some of the results of the work done by the European Communication Monitor 2014 and the Report about the use of social networks in Spanish companies (*Informe sobre Usos de Redes Sociales en Empresas*) in 2014.

Research included 107 professionals from 13 Ecuadorian cities, much fewer than the 2710 professionals from the 43 European cities. Surveyed professionals were 35, 09 years old average, younger than Europeans, with an average of 40,9 years old. Regarding professional training, 43% hold a Higher education degree and 23% a Master degree in Ecuador, while in Europe, 92,8% of the professionals hold a professional degree ranging from Higher education degree to PhD.

In Ecuador, 40,2% of the professionals work in the department of communication, in private companies, and 33,6% in public companies; 20,6% hold a communication coordinator position and 19,6% are communication directors, 16% work in the PR area, 13,5% in Marketing and Advertising, and 13% in digital communication. While in Europe, three out of four professionals work in the department of communication in organizations, 25,2% are communication consultants who work as freelancers or for agencies; out of this percentage, 43,2% hold a manager or communication director position or they work in only one communication discipline; 28,4% of them are team leaders and 22,5% work in consultancy agencies.

In Europe as wells as in Ecuador, there is an upward trend in the use of the information technologies for the various tasks and activities in the communication area, as shown in the [11], where impact of new technologies and the importance of strategic communication is assessed. It is necessary, then, to find some grounds for dialogue and contributions towards a common goal, moving away from a one-directional behavioral sense and heading to a well-balanced and symmetrical relationship with people.

The results show that the business sector in Ecuador has generated interest in using communication for management development and promotion to achieve selling intangibles such as reputation, credibility and trust; these being the factors to consider when looking at public relations as a strategic asset for executives.

New trends are marked by global demands, transitioning from traditional management to communication cabinets made with clear objectives, setting aside the concept of public relationer to employ the concept of DirCom, as a manager of integrated communication for both internal and external communication.

Finally we must consider that the technological tools and digital environments require a working methodology that knows how to reach a dynamic public and which is permanently connected to the web because in communication, the internet is a vital means of communication as much as traditional media.
5. References

1. Coronel, G. et ál.: "Morfología de los medios y empresas de comunicación del Ecuador", Revista Latina de Comunicación Social. Vol. 67, pp. 511-532. (2012)

2. Robles, R. E. and Yaguache, J.: "Diagnóstico del estado de las relaciones públicas en Ecuador desde el 2000 al 2010". Revista Razón y Palabra. Vol 15, pp. 74. (2010).

3. Halff, J.G., Tisch, D., Gregory, A. and Valin, J.: Melbourne Mandate – key document defining the direction of the global PR industry and endorsed by 160000 professionals. Research Collection Lee Kong Chian School of Business (OpenAccess). Paper 3389. Extracted from http://ink.library.smu.edu.sg/lkcsb_research/3389 (2012)

5. Castillo, A. and Álvarez Nobell, A.: "Evaluación en comunicación estratégica". McGrawHill: Madrid, 120-122 (2015).

6. Parés, M. P.: "Las relaciones públicas, una cienscia social". Anàlisi: quaderns de comunicació i cultura. Vol 34, pp 23-48. (2006).

7. Bertalanffy, L. V.: "Perspectivas en la teoría general de sistemas: estudios científicofilosóficos". Madrid: Alianza. 153-154 (1992).

8. Arias, F.: "El Proyecto de Investigación. Introducción a la metodología científica". 5ta. Fidias G. Arias Odón. 53-55 (2006).

9. Paladines, F. et ál.: "La comunicación integral, un factor determinante en la gestión del a empresa ecuatoriana", Signo y Pensamiento. Vol 32(63), 110-128 (2013).

10. Wright, D. K., Gaunt, R., Leggetter, B., & Zerfass, A.: "Global survey of communications measurement 2009". London: Benchpoint. 210-211 (2009).

11. Verčič, D., Verhoeven, P., & Zerfass, A.: "Key issues of public relations of Europe: Findings from the European Communication Monitor 2007-2014". Revista Internacional de Relaciones Públicas. Vol. 48, pp.5-26. (2014).

12. Colley, R.: Defining Advertising Goals for Measuring Advertising Results, Estados Unidos: Association of National Advertisers. 23-25 (2006).

13. Almansa, A. and Castillo, A.: "Relaciones Públicas y Tecnología de la Comunicación, Análisis de los sitios de prensa virtuales", Organicom. Vol 3, pp.132-149. (2005).

14. Álvarez Nobell, A.: "Medición y Evaluación en Comunicación", Málaga: Instituto de Investigación en Relaciones Públicas (IIRP). (2011)

15. Broom, G. M. and Dozier, D. M. "Using research in public relations: Applications to program management", Englewood Cliffs (NJ): Prentice-Hall. 32-35 (1990)

16. Capriotti, P.: "Planificación estratégica de la Imagen corporative", Barcelona: Ediciones Ariel. 53-59 (1999).

19. Grunig, J. and Hunt, T.: "Dirección de relaciones públicas". Edición adaptada por Jordi Xifra. Madrid: Gestión 2000. 34-38 (2000).

Author Index

A

Abelha, António, 527, 567, 579, 589, 599 Abreu, António, 83 Almeida, João E., 621 Almeida, José João, 235, 653 Alves, Henrique Ferreira, 255 Alves, Victor, 95, 107 Analide, Cesar, 189 Andrade, Ramiro, 537 Araújo, Cristiana, 653 Araújo, Isabel, 235

B

Baptista, Ana, 379 Bartkowski, Piotr, 729 Bastos, Helvia P.P., 143 Bessa, José, 379 Bjeljac, Petar, 117 Blázquez-Lozano, Félix, 461 Borgia, Antonio, 303, 317, 325 Bosse, Rafaela, 73 Braga, André, 527 Branco, Frederico, 379, 391 Brandão, Catarina, 677 Butt, Saad Masood, 3 Butt, Shahid Masood, 3

С

Caetano, Filipe, 13 Caliusco, María Laura, 665 Campaña, Mauricio, 537 Campos, Francisco, 489 Campos-Freire, Francisco, 497 Carvalho, João Vidal, 83 Cerón, Natalia, 537 Chodkiewicz, Paweł, 721 Chybowski, Leszek, 691, 701 Correia-Neto, Jorge, 63 Costanzo, Antonio, 303, 317, 325 Costanzo, Sandra, 303, 317, 325, 333 Cuesta-Morales, Pedro, 421 Cueva, Samanta, 265

D

Daltro, David Wilber Silva, 137 da Silva Hounsell, Marcelo, 73, 245 da Silva, Janimere Soares, 137 da Silva, Leandro Dias, 277 de Almeida Filho, Cicero Cardozo, 137 de Araújo, Fabrísia Ferreira, 277 de Arriba Pérez, Francisco, 169 de Barros Costa, Evandro, 255, 277 de Brito, Yara Pereira, 137 de Carvalho Rodrigues, Heitor Hermeson, 137 de Carvalho, Mayco Farias, 245 da Costa, Joaquim Pinto, 641 da Costa-Pereira, Altamiro, 609 da Cunha, José Antônio, 189 de Omena, Rômulo Afonso Luna Vianna, 255 Derlukiewicz, Damian, 711 Di Massa, Giuseppe, 325, 333 Dimitrijević, Dejan, 117 Dimitrijević, Jelena, 117 Direito-Rebollal, Sabela, 497 Durão, Natércia, 157

Е

e Sá, Jorge Oliveira, 369 Estefania, Mireya, 537

F

Faria, Brígida Mónica, 369, 621 Fernandes, Filipe, 107 Ferreira, Maria João, 157 Ferreira, Marlon Silva, 43 Ferreira, Rafael, 277 Filho, José Vilson Martins, 137 Fiuza, Patricia, 225

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016 Á. Rocha et al. (eds.), *New Advances in Information Systems and Technologies*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 445, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-31307-8 Fonseca, Lucia, 95 Freitas, Alberto, 609 Freund, Ari, 199

G

Gago, Juan Manuel Santos, 169 García, Xosé López, 403, 413, 439 Gasparini, Isabela, 245 Gawdzińska, Katarzyna, 691, 701 Gomes, João, 547 Gonçalves, Ramiro, 379, 391 Gong, Jinjin, 311 Gonzales, Mayra, 515

Н

He, Wencheng, 311 Henrique, Cláudia, 677 Henriques, Pedro Rangel, 653 Herrero, Jorge Vázquez, 413

I

Igor, Zečević, 117

J

Jocić, Marko, 117 Júnior, Marcus Aurélio Cordeiro Piancó, 255

K

Kanagwa, Benjamin, 23 Klemm, Reinhard, 749 Koehler, Isis Magrid, 43, 137 Koziołek, Sebastian, 711

L

Lavrador, Rui, 95 Lema, Isabel, 609 Liu, Bei, 289 Lombao, Tania F., 489 Lopes, Isabel, 353 Lori, Nicolás F., 95

Μ

Machado, Francisco Muller, 43 Machado, Gabriel P.F., 143 Machado, José, 527, 567, 579, 589, 599 Magalhães, Ricardo, 107 Marbán, Oscar, 265 Marques, Gonçalo, 13 Marques, Paulo, 107 Martínez-Fernández, Valentín-Alejandro, 449, 479 Martini, Ricardo G., 653 Martins, José, 379, 391 Melo, Elda, 219 Melo, João, 219 Mendes-Moreira, João, 631 Miguez, José, 677 Mocelin, Roberta Ribas, 225 Mohanna, Shahram, 51 Moreira, Fernando, 157 Moura, Elionai, 189 Mustaro, Pollyana Notargiacomo, 199

Ν

Navarro, Karla Felix, 3 Neto, Marcos José Ferreira, 255 Neto, Vicente Machado, 137 Nobell, Alejandro Alvarez, 761 Ntacyo, Jenard, 23

0

Obradović, Đorđe, 117 Oliveira, Alexandra, 641 Oliveira, Pedro, 353, 599 Oliveira, Sérgio, 567 Onn, Azura, 3 Orach, Sam, 23 Ortin, Francisco, 179 Ortiz, Carlos, 431, 471

P

Paladines, Fanny G., 761 Pargunarajan, Suresh, 33 Passarelli, Brasilina, 209 Peixoto, Carlos, 391 Peixoto, Rui, 557 Pereira, Artur, 95 Pereira, Carla Santos, 157 Pereira, Gonçalo, 631 Pereira, João Paulo Ribeiro, 341, 363 Pereira, Jorge, 391 Pereira, Sónia, 579 Pinto, Filipe Mota, 537 Pitarma, Rui, 13 Portela, Filipe, 527, 547, 557, 567, 579, 589, 599 Ptak, Mariusz, 711

Q

Queiroz, Laize, 63 Quiroga, Jose, 179

R

Raffo, Antonio, 317, 325 Ramalho, Betânia, 219 Ramanathan, Srinivasan Valady, 33 Redchuk, Andrés, 129 Redondo, Jose Manuel, 179 Reis, Luís Paulo, 369, 641 Rey, María Cruz Negreira, 403 Reynares, Emiliano, 665 Rita Gaio, A., 641 Rivera-Rogel, Diana, 515 Roa, Jorge, 665 Rocha, Álvaro, 83 Rocha, Hemilis Joyse Barbosa, 255 Rocha, Tânia, 391 Rodriguez, Germania, 265 Rodríguez, Manuel Caeiro, 169 Rodríguez-Fernández, María-Magdalena, 449, 479 Rodríguez-Hidalgo, Claudia, 515 Rodríguez-Vázquez, Clide, 449, 461 Rossetti, Rosaldo J.F., 621 Rossetti, Rosaldo, 95 Rua, Fernando, 527, 589, 599 Rúas-Araújo, José, 421

S

Salazar, Geovanna, 471 Sánchez-Amboage, Eva, 479 Santos, Carlos, 95 Santos, Danilo, 369 Santos, Manuel F., 527, 547, 557, 567, 579, 589, 599 Scalise, Fabio, 303 Shahri, Ahmad Bakhtiyari, 51 Shorab, Mohammed, 3 Silva, Álvaro, 527, 589, 599 Skoniecki, Łukasz, 721 Smirnov, Georgi, 235 Soares, Antônio Vinicius, 73 Soengas, Xosé, 439 Sousa, Nuno, 95, 107 Souza-Júnior, Marcílio, 63 Sovierzoski, Miguel Antonio, 43, 137 Su,, 289, 297, 311 Suing, Abel, 431, 471 Sundararaman, Arun, 33

Т

Teijeiro-Álvarez, Mercedes, 461 Todorović, Vladimir, 117 Toledo, Aleksander, 255 Toledo-Macas, Ronald-Kleiner, 479 Torres, Luís, 579 Travasso, Rui, 95

U

Ulisses, João, 621

V

Valencia-Bermúdez, Andrea, 489, 507 Vázquez, Ana Isabel Rodríguez, 439 Vázquez-Sande, Pablo, 507 Venneri, Francesca, 333 Versace, Pasquale, 325 Vetritti, Fabiana, 209 Vidal, Inés Maria González, 277 Viggiani, Giuseppe, 325 Vigo, Laura Seijo, 497 Vilar, Guilherme, 63 Vila-Sobrino, Xosé Antón, 421 Villarreal, Pablo, 665 Viñán-Merecí, Christian-Stalin, 449

Х

Xiao, Limin, 289, 297, 311 Xu, Xibin, 289, 297, 311

Y

Yaguache, Jenny J., 761

Z

Zachman, Patricia Paola, 129 Zalewski, Robert, 721, 729 Zeng, Jie, 289, 297, 311 Zhang, Qi, 297 Zolkiewsk, Slawomir, 739, 749 Zolkiewski, Slawomir, 739